

Editors

Diseases in Asian Aquaculture VII

Dr Dr

Diseases in Asian Aquaculture VII

Dr. Melba G. Bondad-Reantaso **Dr. Brian Jones Dr. Flavio Corsin** Prof. Takashi Aoki

DISEASES IN ASIAN AQUACULTURE VII

Bondad-Reantaso, M. G., Jones, J. B., Corsin F. and Aoki, T. (eds.). Proceedings of the Seventh Symposium on Diseases in Asian Aquaculture. Fish Health Section, Asian Fisheries Society, Selangor, Malaysia. 385 pp.

DISEASES IN ASIAN AQUACULTURE VII

Proceedings of the Seventh Symposium on Diseases in Asian Aquaculture 20-26 June 2008 Taipei, Taiwan

Editors Melba G. Bondad-Reantaso, J. Brian Jones Flavio Corsin and Takashi Aoki

> Fish Health Section Asian Fisheries Society November 2011

DISEASES IN ASIAN AQUACULTURE VII Proceedings of the Seventh Symposium on Diseases in Asian Aquaculture 22-26 June 2008 Taipei, Taiwan

Editors: M.G. Bondad-Reantaso J. Brian Jones F. Corsin T. Aoki

ISBN: 978-967-10872-06

Publisher

Fish Health Section, Asian Fisheries Society c/o Laboratory Marine Science and Aquaculture Institute of Bioscience Universiti Putra Malaysia 43400 UPM Serdang, Selangor Malaysia

Copies available from:

The Aquatic Animal Health Research Institute Department of Fisheries Complex, Kasetsart University Campus Jatujak, Bangkok 10900, Thailand Telephone: 66 2 5794122, 5796803 and 5796977 Fax: 66 2 5613993

Fish Health Section, Asian Fisheries Society c/o Laboratory Marine Science and Aquaculture Institute of Bioscience Universiti Putra Malaysia 43400 UPM Serdang, Selangor Malaysia Email: members@asianfisheriessociety.org Website: http://www.asianfisheriessociety.org

Formatting and layout: J.C. Trabucco

© Fish Health Section, Asian Fisheries Society 2011

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form or by any means, electronic, electrostatic, magnetic tape, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without prior permission of the copyright owner.

Contents

Mes Mes Mes	ssage from the President, Asian Fisheries Society ssage from the Chairperson, Fish Health Section ssage from the Editors, DAA VII	xiii xv xvii
	Diseases of finfish	1
01	Significant and emerging parasitic diseases of finfish Kazuo Ogawa	3
02	Recent development in the study and surveillance of koi herpesvirus (KHV) in Asia <i>Gilda D. Lio-Po</i>	13
03	Random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD): a powerful method to differentiate <i>Streptococcus agalactiae</i> strains <i>M. Nur-Nazifah, M.Y. Sabri, M. Zamri-Saad, Siti Zahrah and A.M. Firdaus-Nawi</i>	29
04	Digenean trematodes of cultured grouper (<i>Epinephelus coioides</i> and <i>E. bleekerl</i>) in Khanh Hoa Province, Vietnam Dung The Vo, Glenn Allan Bristow, Dubg Thi Vo, Dung Huu Nguyen, Dung Thi Vo and Thanh Nhon Nguyen Nguyen and Trung Cong Tran	39
05	Parasitic caligid copepods of farmed marine fishes in the Philippines Erlinda R. Cruz-Lacierda, Gregoria Erazo-Pagador, Atsushi Yamamoto and Kazuya Nagasawa	53
06	Laboratory experimental infection of the blood trematode <i>Sanguinicola armata</i> Plehn, 1905 on the freshwater snail <i>Gyraulus convexiusculus</i> (Hutton, 1849) and the Bighead Carp <i>Aristichthys nobilis</i> (Richardson, 1845). <i>Faizah Shaharom-Harrison, Nor Asilah Seman and Suhairi M.</i>	63
	Diseases of Molluscs	73
07	Current trends in the study of molluscan diseases Brian Jones	75
08	Lysozymes in molluscs Keisuke G. Takahashi and Naoki Itoh	93
09	Investigating a mortality outbreak in hatchery cultured tropical abalone, <i>Haliotis</i> <i>asinine</i> L. in Malaysia <i>Beng Chu Kua, Rimatulhana Ramly, M.N. Devakie, Dave Groman and Franck</i> <i>C.J. Berthe</i>	103

10	A reo-like virus associated with high mortalities of the cultured mud crab Scylla serrata in East China Ji-Gang Chen, Ji-Fang Yang, Dan Lou, Xiong Juan and Song-Yang Wu	111
	Diseases of Crustaceans	119
11	Status of shrimp diseases and advances in shrimp health management Don Lightner	121
12	A review of the strategies evolved by WSSV to thwart host responses to infection and ensure successful virus replication in cells - apoptosis and anti-apoptosis strategies <i>Jiann-Horng Leu and Chu Fang Lo</i>	135
13	Effects of extensive and intensive shrimp farming on the genetic composition of WSSV populations Bui Thi Minh Dieu. Just M. Vlak and M.P. Zwart	145
14	The utilization of VP28 gene to protect penaeid shrimps from white spot syndrome virus disease: A review Rapeepat Mavichak, Hidehiro Kondo, Ikuo Hirono and Takashi Aoki	157
15	Prophenoloxidase has a role in innate inmunity in penaeid shrimp Fernand F. Fagutao, Hidehiro Kondo, Takashi Aoki and Ikuo Hirono	171
16	Hemocyte marker proteins and regulation of the proPO system in a crustacean, Pacifastacus leniusculus Kenneth Söderhäll, Chenglin Wu, Xionghui Lin, Pikul Jiravanichpaisala and Irene Söderhäll	177
	Immune Response	195
17	Toll-like receptors in teleosts Tomokazu Takano, Hidehiro Kondo, Ikuo Hirono, Makoto Endo, Tatsuo Saito- Taki, Takashi Aoki	197
18	Identification of <i>Edwardsiella tarda</i> antigens recognized by mucosal natural antibody in olive flounder, <i>Paralichthys olivaceus</i> <i>In Seok Cha, Ho Bin Jang, Seong Bin Park, Seong Won Nho, Chan Yong Jung,</i> <i>Young Kiu Kim, Takashi Aoki and Tae Sung Jung</i>	209
19	Immunoproteomic analysis of extracellular products (ECPs) obtained from three etiological isolates of streptococcosis (<i>Streptococcus iniae, Streptococcus parau beris</i> Dongbo and <i>Streptococcus parauberis</i> Namhae) of olive flounder (<i>Paralichthys olivaceus</i>) in Korea <i>Seong Won Nho, Ho Bin Jang, Seong Bin Park, In Seok Cha, Chan Yong Jung,</i> <i>Young Kyu Kim, Takashi Aoki and Tae Sung Jung</i>	219
20	Antimicrobial peptides in the shrimp Penaeus monodon – a review	229

Anchalee Tassanakajon and Kunlaya Somboonwiwat

21	Applications of shrimp immune DNA microarray in aquaculture Jenn-Kan Lu, Yi-Ting Hsiao and Jen-Leih Wu	241
22	Molecular immunity in the interaction between fish and pathogen for DNA vaccine Takashi Aoki, Jun-ichi Hikima, Carmelo Segovia del Castillo, Tae-Sung Jung, Hidehiro Kondo and Ikuo Hirono	253
	Biosecurity	269
23	Pathogen risk analysis for aquatic animals: experiences from nine case studies Ben Diggles and Richard Arthur	271
24	Development of the shrimp industry in the Western Indian Ocean - a holistic approach of vertical integration from domestication and biosecurity to product certification	291
	Marc Le Groumellec, Vinceni Rigolei, Panchayulhapani Duraisamy, Marc Vandeputte and Vemulapalli Manavendra Rao	
25	Minimum inhibitory concentrations of antimicrobials against clinical <i>vibrio</i> and <i>Streptococcus</i> isolated from aquaculture <i>Hathairat Maisak, Nutcharnart Tipmongkolsilp and Janenuj Wongtavatchai</i>	309
26	Studies on the development of a vaccine against Mycobacterium sp. Goshi Kato, Hidehiro Kondo, Takashi Aoki and Ikuo Hirono	317

Appendices	329
------------	-----

Appendix 1 DAA VII List of Reviewers	331
Appendix 2 DAA VII List of Author index	333
Appendix 3 DAA VII List of Participants	335
Appendix 4 DAA VII Group Photo	385

Message from the President, Asian Fisheries Society

Congratulations to the AFS Fish Health Section for coming out with this Proceedings of its 7th Symposium on Diseases in Asian Aquaculture. The Society is always proud of your accomplishments, one of which is best demonstrated in your consistent ability to bring together, on an international scale, your members and colleagues to the regular triennial Symposium that has marked your dynamic existence since 1989. This seventh symposium held in Taipei, Taiwan on 22-26 June 2008 congregated over 300 participants representing 31 countries. The AFS council members were among those who witnessed some of the sessions, as a Council meeting was held immediately prior to your event also in Taipei.

Your theme "Communication, Cooperation and Coordination: Key Issues in Aquatic Animal Health Management" recognizes and promotes a new level of engagement among international biologists, pathologists, breeders, fisheries scientists and policy makers. It emphasizes not only the innovations and pioneering edge fostered by these scientists in aquatic disease, but also the responsibility to interact, exchange and share these intellectual and technological tools and products. Asia has the greatest drive to continually develop new technology and regimen to manage fish health because it is the leading aquaculture producing region in the world. By sharing Asia's scientific advances as well as problems through symposia such as this, synergy is created among scientists and other stakeholders from different countries, to enable them to collectively make a difference in addressing the constant challenges in the aquaculture industry.

The Proceedings will be a valuable resource that captures and preserves the knowledge shared during the Seventh DAA Symposium and will extend its reach to those who were not there. Furthermore, this publication of the Fish Health Section enhances the AFS as an organization and provides a model for other sections and branches. On behalf of AFS and its governing Council, I express our congratulations for your achievement and our wishes for your continued success!

Prof. Ida M.L. Siason, Ph.D. President Asian Fisheries Society (2009-2011) November 2011

Message from the Chairperson, Fish Health Section of the AFS

The Seventh Symposium on Diseases in Asian Aquaculture (DAA VII) was held in Taipei City, Taiwan from June 22nd until June 26th 2008. The theme of the event was "Communication, Cooperation and Coordination: Key Issues in Aquatic Animal Health Management".

The Symposium housed more than 400 delegates from 31countries including: Afghanistan, Australia, Bangladesh, Brunei, Canada, China, Egypt, France, French Polynesia, India, Indonesia, Iran, Israel, Japan, Korea, Malaysia, the Netherlands, Norway, the Philippines, Singapore, Span, Sri Lanka, Taiwan, Thailand, the United Kingdom, the United States, and Vietnam to name a few. With this consortium of biologist, fishery scientist, breeders, veterinarians and the like, we were able to embrace the theme of "Communication and Cooperation" by exchanging ideas related to the business of aquaculture.

The Symposium topics:

- State of the world aquaculture
- Global perspectives in managing aquatic animal health
- Emerging issues in aquatic animal health management
- Epidemiology, detection and diagnosis of pathogens in fish, shellfish, mollusks and their environment
- Biosecurity and containment in aquaculture systems
- Recent developments in genomics, proteomics and bioinformatics: implications for aquatic animal diseases
- Immunology/Disease resistance/Host-pathogen interaction
- Microbiology of aquatic animal pathogens and antimicrobial peptides
- Disease of aquatic invertebrates -Shrimp health
- Disease of aquatic invertebrates -Mollusks health
- Disease of aquatic vertebrates -Finfish health
- Pathogen risk analysis, probiotics, therapeutics and other fields
- The way forward

o Aquatic animal health management

o International trade, aquatic animals and risk were fully developed within the context of 16 keynote speeches, 11 lectures, 56 oral presentations and some 204 posters.

The highlight of the Symposium was the publication of *Diseases in Asian Aquaculture VII*. Via the publication of this work, we hope that its contents will provide direction, insight and new knowledge to advance the quest for better aquatic health management in Asian aquaculture.

On whole the interdisciplinary discussions, shared research, contributions of our sponsors and efforts put forth by the organizers, combined with the closing keynote speeches by Dr. Barry Hill ad Dr. Timothy Flegel were invaluable to supporting the theme of "Communication, Cooperation and Coordination." Having highlighted the successes of the proceedings, I would like to thank the Asian Fisheries Society, The Fisheries Society of Taiwan, Academia Sinica, The Fish Health Section, the College of Life Sciences, NTU, Uni-President, PHARMAQ, the delegates, the speakers and each and every person that had a hand in making the Seventh Symposium on Diseases in Asian Aquaculture (DAA VII) a success. In addition, I extend my appreciation to the editorial board, Dr. Melba B. Reantaso (chief editor), Dr. Brian Jones, Dr. Flavio Corsin and Prof Takashi Aoki, for their contributions.

Prof. Chu Fang Lo Chairperson FHS-AFS Executive Committee (2008-20011)

Message from the Editors, DAA VII

The disease situation in aquaculture is changing rapidly in unpredictable ways due to the current period of rapid change in the international trading environment and globalization. Live animals are moved from place to place, country to country and region to region as broodstock, postlarvae, fry and fingerlings. This expanded and occasionally irresponsible global movements of live aquatic animals have been accompanied by the transboundary spread of a wide variety of disease agents that have caused serious damage to aquatic food productivity and resulted in serious pathogens becoming endemic in culture systems and the natural aquatic environment.

The Asia-Pacific, the dominant aquaculture region in the world has been facing serious threats from aquatic disease emergencies during the last few years. Old and emerging transboundary aquatic animal diseases have continued to challenge the sustainability of the sector. In addition, the use of specific pathogen free (SPF) stocks without appropriate biosecurity support resulted in the introduction of new pathogens exotic to the region.

The Fish Health Section continues to play its important role as a major networking platform and source of information through original research publications and other preventative health management strategies and through the Diseases in Asian Aquaculture (DAA) symposia, where interaction with fellow researchers/scientists and dissemination and exchange of research and project-related findings on aquatic animal health take place.

We are pleased to present this seventh volume of the DAA series which brings together original research and review papers that were presented during the Seventh Symposium on Diseases in Asian Aquaculture (DAA VII) held in Taipei, Taiwan from 22-26 June 2008. A total of 45 papers, submitted for inclusion in the proceeding, were sent out to international expert-reviewers. After a robust review process, 26 papers were finally accepted forming the contents of this publication.

A voluntary work and a daunting task, we are pleased to be part of this primary publication of our society. We appreciate the opportunity to contribute to this well-established, standardized series (to-date 7 volumes spanning close to the 24-year history of the FHS) that is well known, easily recognized by its distinctive blue and gold volumes, well cited and held in high opinion by fish health workers throughout the world.

We sincerely thank the international expert-reviewers who generously assisted scientists from less developed countries to bring the scientific quality and English usage of their manuscripts up to international standards. We would also like to apologise to all the contributors for any inconvenience resulting from the tedious process which we had to endure. Special thanks also goes to Dr. Chu Fang Lo, Dr C.V. Mohan and the members of the FHS Executive Committee for their relentless support and Ms Marika Panzironi for various types of assistance to complete this volume.

We expect that free downloadable copies of all articles will be available at the same time from the FHS website, in support of the 'open archive movement' intended to make science readily available to all, especially for publicly funded research.

Getting the DAA series published on time is becoming more and more difficult because of the voluntary nature of the service and because of the lack of a mechanism to efficiently go though the entire publication cycle. We still do not know what will be the fate of the DAA series, but we earnestly hope that members and supporters of FHS will continue to dedicate a portion of their work to this endeavour to assist our society and in support of the FHS long standing tradition of producing DAA proceedings.

Melba G. Bondad-Reantaso Brian Jones Flavio Corsin Takashi Aoki

Diseases of finfish

01	Significant and emerging parasitic diseases of finfish Kazuo Ogawa	3
02	Recent development in the study and surveillance of Koi herpesvirus (KHV) in Asia Gilda D. Lio-Po	13
03	Random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD): a powerful method to differentiate <i>Streptococcus agalactiae</i> strains <i>M. Nur-Nazifah, M.Y. Sabri, M. Zamri-Saad, Siti Zahrah and A.M. Firdaus-</i> <i>Nawi</i>	29
04	Digenean trematodes of cultured grouper (Epinephelus coioides and E. bleekerl) in Khanh Hoa Province, Vietnam Dung The Vo, Glenn Allan Bristow, Dubg Thi Vo, Dung Huu Nguyen, Dung Thi Vo and Thanh Nhon Nguyen Nguyen and Trung Cong Tran	39
05	Parasitic caligid copepods of farmed marine fishes in the Philippines Erlinda R. Cruz-Lacierda, Gregoria Erazo-Pagador, Atsushi Yamamoto and Kazuya Nagasawa	53
06	Laboratory experimental infection of the freshwater snail <i>Gyraulus</i> convexiusculus (Hutton, 1849) and the bighead carp Aristichthys nobilis (Richardson, 1845) with the blood fluke Sanguinicola armata Plehn, 1905 Faizah Shaharom-Harrison, Nor Asilah Seman and Suhairi M.	63

Significant and emerging parasitic diseases of finfish

KAZUO OGAWA

Department of Aquatic Bioscience, Graduate School of Agricultural and Life Sciences, The University of Tokyo, Tokyo, Japan

ABSTRACT

Fish parasites constitute widely diversified groups of unicellular and multicellular organisms. Recently, less known parasite groups have emerged as serious pathogens. Firstly, infection with dinoflagellates of the genus Ichthyodinium has been found during seed production of leopard coral grouper, *Plectoropomus leopardus*, in Japan and yellowfin tuna, Thunnus albacares, in Indonesia. Schizonts multiply in host ova, leading to burst of yolk sacs of embryos or hatched larvae. The complete life cycle is unknown, but there is evidence that the infective stage was present in the rearing water. Secondly, heavy infections of endoparasitic turbellarians have been noticed in hatchery-reared stonefish, *Inimicus japonicus*, fry and cage-cultured sea perch, *Lateolabrax* sp. and greater amberjack, Seriola dumerili. Furthermore, wild Japanese sea perch, Lateolabrax japonicus, and cultured red sea bream, Pagrus major, were concurrently infected. It is not clear whether these turbellarians, probably belonging to the genus *Paravortex*, comprise a single species. Hitherto unknown parasitic diseases among wild fish should also be noted: the monogenean, Neoheterobothrium hirame, has been a serious threat to wild olive flounder, Paralichthys olivaceus, since its sudden appearance in the early 1990s. Circumstantial evidence and molecular data strongly suggest its natural host is southern flounder, Paralichthys *lethostigma*, in North America, and that infected fish was introduced into Japanese waters. Among freshwater fishes, metacercariae of the bucephalid trematodes, Parabucephalopsis parasiluri and Bucephalopsis ozakii, and the leech, Limnotrachelobdella sinensis, have been found in wild cyprinid fishes of Japan. It is suspected that these parasites were introduced through importation of live shellfish and fish, respectively. These cases in the wild are more serious than those occurring in aquaculture, as it is unrealistic to take control measures for the containment of diseases of wild fish.

Key words: emerging disease, parasite, *Ichthyodinium*, *Paravortex*, *Neoheterobothrium hirame*, *Parabucephalopsis parasiluri*, *Limnotrachelobdella sinensis*

Ogawa, K. 2011. Significant and emerging parasitic diseases of finfish, pp. 03-12. *In* Bondad-Reantaso, M.G., Jones, J.B., Corsin, F. and Aoki, T. (eds.). Diseases in Asian Aquaculture VII. Fish Health Section, Asian Fisheries Society, Selangor, Malaysia. 385 pp.

Corresponding author: Kazuo Ogawa, aogawak@mail.ecc.u-tokyo.ac.jp

INTRODUCTION

With increasing demands for specific pathogen-free seeds in aquaculture, more and more species of culture seeds have recently been produced in an ever larger scale than before. This practice is accompanied by frequent outbreaks of infectious diseases in hatcheries. While most diseases are caused by viral agents, protozoan and metazoan infections do occur in hatcheries, but have not yet been sufficiently documented.

In contrast to aquaculture, diseases of wild fish and shellfish have been recorded much less frequently. This is mainly because diseased animals are easy prey to predators before we notice their presence. Diseases caused by parasites are no exceptions, and only a few cases have so far been documented in wild populations (Jones, 2005). Although much attention is focused on the economic loss due to parasitic diseases in aquaculture, impacts of the parasitic infections on wild populations must not be neglected.

In many cases, importation of foreign fish and shellfish has been deeply involved in the emergence of new diseases among indigenous species. In Japan, legislation was introduced in 1996 to prevent foreign fish and shellfish pathogens from entering into Japanese waters. Under the law for conservation of aquatic resources, we request the exporting countries to issue specific pathogen-free certificates for selected diseases of selected aquatic animals. At present, they are Spring Viremia of Carp (SVC) and Koi herpesvirus (KHV) disease for carp Cyprinus carpio (common carp and koi carp), SVC for some cyprinid fish including goldfish Carassius auratus, Viral Hemorrhagic Septicemia, Epizootic Hematopoietic Necrosis, Piscirickettsiosis and Enteric Redmouth Disease for salmonid eyed-eggs and juveniles, Nuclear Polyhedrosis Baculoviroses, Yellow Head Disease, Infectious Hypodermal and Hematopoietic Necrosis and Taura Syndrome for penaeid shrimp juveniles. Further, once introduced, we try to contain these specified diseases under the law for sustainable aquaculture production. For KHV, since the introduction of the virus in 2003, efforts have been directed to the prevention of the virus from spreading to still uncontaminated areas in Japan. In other words, we do not have any legislation to stop importation of foreign aquatic animals harbouring other pathogens than the listed ones above, as long as they are apparently healthy upon importation.

In this short review, I would like to present examples of lesser known parasitic diseases in the wild and in hatcheries, which I recently encountered. It is almost certain that newly emerging diseases in wild fish described here are all caused by pathogens introduced from abroad. Diseases in hatcheries occur in close association with those in the wild and possibly also in growout facilities. Thus, for the establishment of effective control measures in hatcheries, it will be important to demonstrate the life cycle and to investigate the entire infection cycle among hatcheries, growout facilities and wild environments.

PARASITIC DISEASES IN SEED PRODUCTION FACILITIES

Infection of fertilized eggs by the dinoflagellate, *Ichthyodinium chaberardi*, has been known to occur among marine fish including Atlantic sardine, Sardina pilchardus, and similar infections have been described in the eggs of Atlantic cod, Gadus morhua, and turbot, Scophthalmus maximus, in hatcheries (Noga and Levy, 2006). These occurrences have so far been limited in Europe, but, since 2000, very similar infections have been occurring in the seed production of leopard coral grouper, *Plectropomus leopardus*, on Ishigaki Island, southwestern Japan (Mori et al., 2007) and of yellowfin tuna, Thunnus albacares, in Indonesia (Yuasa et al., 2007). There were considerable fluctuations in the annual occurrence, but once it occurred, high mortality was induced. Schizonts of the parasite multiplied in the yolk sac of fertilized eggs (Fig. 1) or hatched larvae (Fig. 2) and parasite-filled yolk sac eventually burst. The parasite released into the water transformed into the dinoflagellate stage, the fate of which is unknown. Although the infective stage has not been specified, there is evidence that their life cycle is established among local wild fish populations, and fertilized eggs of the grouper in hatcheries got infected through contaminated water from outside. This infection was effectively controlled by treating the rearing water with ozone at 0.5 mg/l for more than one minute (Table 1) (Mori et al., 2007).



Figure 1. Dinoflagellate, *Ichthyodinium* sp. in the egg of coral trout, *Plectropomus leoparadus* (15 h postfertilization). Scale: 0.1 mm. Reproduced from Mori *et al.* (2007).

Some groups of turbellarians are fish parasites, while the majority are free-living or commensal with other animals. Among them, *Paravortex* sp. (possibly *Paravortex* sp.) infects many wild fish species (Cannon and Lester, 1988), and, in captivity, caused mortality among aquarium fish (Kent and Olson, 1986). This parasite is viviparous (Fig. 3), and, when mature, leaves host to give birth to its offspring in the water.

In Japan, *Paravortex* infection is a serious threat in the seed production of a stonefish, *Inimicus japonicus* (Family Synanceiidae). The parasite is endoparasitic, invading the gills, skin and fins of fry. The source of infection is thought to be spawner stonefish, which

Table 1

Experimental control of Ichthyodinium infection of fertilised eggs of Plectropomus leopardus by sterilisation of seawater used to rear broodstock (data based on Mori *et al.* (2007).

Experimental group	Occurrence (%)	
	(Infected egg batches/total egg batches)	
	2003	2004
Spawning in disinfected seawater	0%	0%
(Treated with oxidant)	(0/82)	(0/136)
Spawning in untreated seawater	7.30%	10.30%
	(6/82)	(7/68)

got infected in the wild. This may have been the result of fry being reared in sea water contaminated with young parasites released from adult parasites. This turbellarian was also found in wild rockfish, *Sebastiscus marmoratus* (Ogawa, unpublished data) in 1980s and wild Japanese sea perch, *Lateolabrax japonicus*, in 2006 (N. Akao, pers. comm.). *Paravortex* infection has also recently been noticed among cage-cultured fish in 2006: amberjack, *Seriola dumerli*, imported from China, Chinese sea perch, *Lateolabrax* sp., red sea bream, *Pagrus major*, and the stonefish, *I. japonicus*. Fecundity of the parasite is still largely

Figure 2. Coral trout, *Plectropomus leoparadus* immediately after hatch with full of schizont stage dinoflagellates. Scale: 0.5 mm. Reproduced from Mori *et al.* (2007).



Figure 3. *Paraveotex* sp. infecting stonefish, *Inimicus japonicus*. Arrow indicates larvae in the uterus. Heidenhain's iron hematoxylin stain. Scale: 0.5 mm.



unknown except that the number of offspring an adult produced each time ranged from 62 to 248 (mean: 133) (Fukuda, Y., Miyoshi, Y. and Ogawa, K. 2006). It caused mortality among *I. japonicus* fry reared in hatcheries and in culture tanks. Chemotherapy seems ineffective because of its endoparasitism, and prevention of infection by using parasite-free water will be a realistic control method in the hatchery.

PARASITIC DISEASES OF WILD FISHES

A new diclidophorid monogenean, *Neoheterobothrium hirame*, was found on the gills and buccal cavity wall of wild olive flounder, *Paralichthys olivaceus*, collected from the Sea of Japan (Ogawa, 1999) (Fig. 4). Infected fish sometimes show severe anaemia caused by the blood feeding of the parasite (Yoshinaga *et al.*, 2000). Infection was first noticed among wild olive flounder in 1995, but subsequent examination of flounder specimens collected in 1989-1999 and preserved in formalin (n=841; 0- and 1- year old) in Niigata Prefecture on the Sea of Japan side confirmed the infection of fish collected in 1993 and later, but not from fish in 1989-1992 (Anshary *et al.*, 2001).



This strongly suggests that the monogenean appeared suddenly in Japanese waters in early 1990s. Since the first confirmation of infection in 1993, *N. hirame* was found in wild flounder from Hokkaido to Kyushu to cover the whole area of the host distribution in six years (Fig. 5). This rapid expansion of the parasite's geographical distribution was probably due not only to host migration, but also to human activities by transporting flounder between the Sea of Japan side and the Pacific side. Flounder of the year are quite susceptible to infection, and the catch has drastically declined especially in western Japan (Anshary



et al., 2002). Infection experiments suggest that *N. hirame* induces behavioural changes in infected flounder, making them vulnerable to predation by larger flounder (Shirakashi *et al.*, 2008). This may be responsible for the recent decline in the flounder populations of Japan.

The Yodo River system originates in Lake Biwa, passing through two dams to lead into the Uji River and then, the Yodo River, finally flowing into Osaka Bay. Since 2000, hitherto unknown parasites have appeared almost coincidentally: metacercariae of bucephalid trematodes, Parabucephalopsis parasiluri and Bucephalopsis ozakii, were found encysted in many cyprinid fish, most notably in Zacco platypus and Squalidus chankaensis in the Uji River and Yodo River (Ogawa, K., Nakatsugawa, T. and Yasuzaki, M. 2004; Urabe et al., 2007) (Fig. 6), and a leech, Limnotrachelobdella sinensis, infecting crucian carps, Carassius cuvieri and Carassius langsdorfii, in the Yodo River (Ogawa, K., Rusinek, O. and Tanaka, M. 2007) (Fig. 7). Heavy metacercarial infection in the eye and fins caused hemorrhages. These trematodes involve a freshwater bivalve, Limnoperna fortunei, as the first intermediate host with fish, mostly cyprinids, as the second intermediate hosts and Lake Biwa catfish, Silurus biwaensis, and Amur catfish, Silurus asotus, as the final hosts (Ogawa, K., Nakatsugawa, T. and Yasuzaki, M. 2004; Urabe et al., 2007). It is probable that the trematode was introduced from eastern Asia to Japan through infected bivalve, L. fortunei. With the presence of potential second and final hosts in this river system, the life cycle of these bucephalid trematodes started to be completed there. Since the first confirmation, the distribution of the parasite has been restricted to the Uji River-Yodo River area, but very recently in 2007, infected bivalves were found in the upstream of the two dams between



(2007).

Figure 6. Histological section of the caudal part of Squalidus chankaensis with numerous metacercariae collected in Uji River. Azan stain. Scale bar: 1 mm. Reproduced from Ogawa et al. (2004)



Lake Biwa and the Uji River (M. Urabe, personal communication) (Fig. 8). The parasite has expanded its distribution upstream beyond the Uji River possibly by accidental introduction of infected cyprinids or catfish. Now that the parasite is present just downstream of the Lake Biwa, where many unique indigenous cyprinid fish are inhabited, it will be a great risk to

such fish, which may be as susceptible as the cyprinid fish in the Uji River.

The origin of the leech, L. sinensis, found in the Yodo River, is not clear since it suddenly appeared in 2000 (Ogawa, K., Rusinek, O. and Tanaka, M. 2007). It is quite unlikely that the parasite, up to 5 cm in body length, has long been overlooked, assuming that it is an indigenous species to Japan. It is rather natural to consider that the leech was introduced



through infected crucian carp from eastern Asia, where it is known to infect common carp and crucian carps. The parasite appears to be pathogenic, since infected fish showed anemia. For the moment, there is no evidence that the leech has expanded its distribution beyond the Yodo River, but the host fish, *C. cuvieri* and *C. langsdorfi*, are widely distributed in Japanese waters, and once introduced, there is a risk that the parasite life cycle becomes established in a new locality.

Since control of infections of wild fish is not possible, care should be taken not to transport such potential hosts from these contaminated areas to naïve areas.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

It is almost certain that the causative parasites of the emerging diseases among wild fish populations described here were of foreign origin. In the case of *Neoheterobothrium hirame* infection of olive flounder, it is strongly suggested that the monogenean is originally the parasite of southern flounder, *Paralichthys lethostigma*. This means that the parasite has switched its host from an American flounder to the native Japanese flounder. Such host switch would never have happened without the human activity to introduce the foreign flounder from North America to the Far East, which was totally an unexpected event. It was also unexpected that the bivalve, *L. fortunei*, probably attaching to freshwater bivalves imported for food consumption (Urabe *et al.*, 2001), was infected with trematodes new to Japan, which have established their life cycles in Japanese waters.

It should be noted that *N. hirame* has spread over the whole area where olive flounder is naturally distributed, in just six years. Similarly in the Yodo River system, the bucephalid trematodes (or at least one of the two species) have expanded their distribution upstream, posing a great threat to wild fish populations in the Lake Biwa, while the geographical distribution of the leech, *L. sinensis*, is still limited. It seems unlikely that olive flounder dispersed from the Sea of Japan side to the Pacific side in such a short period, and that cyprinids swam upstream from the Uji River across the two dams. It is more likely that human activities may have been involved in the expansion of these parasites' distribution.

Since control measures against diseases in wild fish populations are almost impossible and since we cannot anticipate the consequence of any host switch as in the case of *N. hirame* infection of olive flounder, it is clear that introduction of live foreign aquatic animals should be done responsibly and cautiously. Domestic production of culture seeds may prevent further introduction of foreign pathogens.

Knowledge about outbreaks of parasitic diseases in hatcheries and in the wild has been very limited, compared with those occurring in growout facilities. Two new parasitic diseases in hatcheries were described here, one by the dinoflagellate, *Ichthyodinium* sp., and the other by the turbellarian, *Paravortex* sp. (or *Paravortex* spp.). In both infections, the causative agents transmit horizontally, i.e. the source of infection was thought to be contaminated water containing the infectious agent in the *Ichthyodinium* infection and newly born offspring from matured turbellarians which had infected spawners in the *Paravortex* sp./spp. infection.

It is very important to understand the infection cycle of these parasites in the hatcheries. In the case of *Ichthyodinium* infection, there may be a persistent infection among wild fish, and rearing water pumped into the facilities is contaminated with the infectious agent. Thus, transmission can be prevented by disinfecting the rearing water. In the case of *Paravortex* infection, it is likely that the spawner had already been infected with the turbellarian and the infection cycle started to be completed within the culture facility involving not only the spawner but also its progeny. Since eradication of the parasite from spawners is very difficult, prevention measures should be taken by rearing fry using a different water source from that of the spawner.

REFERENCES

Anshary, H., Ogawa, K., Higuchi, M. and Fujii, T. 2001. A study of long-term change in summer infection levels of Japanese flounder *Paralichthys olivaceus* with the monogenean *Neoheterobothrium hirame* in the central Sea of Japan, with an application of a new technique for collecting small parasites from the gill filaments. *Fish Pathology* 36:27-32.

Anshary, H., Yamamoto, E., Miyanaga, T. and Ogawa, K. 2002. Infection dynamics of the monogenean *Neoheterobothrium hirame* infecting Japanese flounder in the western Sea of Japan. *Fish Pathology* 37: 131-140.

- Cannon, L.R.G. and Lester, R.J.G. 1988. Two turbellarians parasitic in fish. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 5:15-22.
- Fukuda, Y., Miyoshi, Y. and Ogawa, K. 2006. A species of turbellarian infecting cultured stonefish, *Inimicus japonicus*, with mortality. Abstract of oral presentation at autumn meeting of Japanese Society for Fish Pathology, Nagasaki, Japan.
- Jones, B. 2005. Mass mortalities in the oceans. pp. 371-374. *In* Rohde K. (ed.). Marine Parasitology. CSIRO Publishing, Collingwood.
- Kent, M.L. and Olson, Jr. A.C. 1986. Interrelationships between a parasitic turbellarian (*Paravortex* sp.) (Graffillidae: Rhabdocoela) and its marine host fishes. *Fish Pathology* 21:65-72.
- Mori, K., Yamamoto, K., Teruya, K., Shiozawa, S., Yoseda, K., Sugaya, T., Shirakashi, S., Itoh, N. and Ogawa, K. 2007. Endoparasitic dinoflagellate of the genus *Ichthyodinium* infecting fertilized eggs and hatched larvae observed in the seed production of the coral trout *Plectropomus leoparadus*. *Fish Pathology* 42:49-57.
- Noga, E.J. and Levy, M.G. 2006. Phylum Dinoflagellata. pp. 16-45. *In* Woo, P.T.K. (ed.). Fish diseases and disorders, Vol. 1. Protozoan and metazoan infections. Second ed. CAB Internat., Wallingford.
- Ogawa, K. 1999. *Neoheterobothrium hirame* sp. nov. (Monogenea: Diclidophoridae) from the buccal cavity wall of Japanese flounder *Paralichthys olivaceus*. *Fish Pathology* 34:195-201.
- Ogawa, K., Nakatsugawa, T. and Yasuzaki, M. 2004. Heavy metacercarial infection of cyprinid fishes in Uji River. *Fisheries Science* 70:132-140.
- Ogawa, K., Rusinek, O. and Tanaka, M. 2007. New record of the leech *Limnotrachelobdella sinensis* infecting freshwater fish from Japanese waters. *Fish Pathology* 42:85-89.
- Shirakashi, S., Teruya, K. and Ogawa, K. 2008. Altered behaviour and reduced survival of juvenile olive flounder infected by an invasive monogenean parasite *Neoheterobothrium hirame*: a possible cause for depletion of flounder population in Japan. *International Journal for Parasitology* 38:1513-1522.
- Urabe, M., Ogawa, K., Nakatsugawa, T., Imanishi, Y., Kondo, T., Okunishi, T., Kaji, Y., Tanaka, H. 2001. Newly recorded gasterostome trematode (Digenea: Bucephalidae) in the Uji River: the life history, distribution and damage to fishes. *Bulletin Kansai Organisation for Nature Conservation* 23:13-21.
- Urabe, M., Ogawa, K., Nakatsugawa, T., Nakai, K., Tanaka, M. and Wang, G. 2007. Morphology of two bucephalid trematodes collected from freshwater fishes in the Uji River, Kyoto, Japan. *Parasitology International* 56:269-272.
- Yoshinaga, T., Kamaishi, T., Segawa, I., Kumagai, A., Nakayasu, C., Yamano, K., Takeuchi, T. and Sorimachi, M. 2000. Hematology, histopathology and the monogenean *Neoheterobothrium hirame* infection in anemic flounder. *Fish Pathology* 35:131-136.
- Yuasa, K., Kamaishi, T., Mori, K., Hutapea, J. H., Permana, G. N. and Nakazawa, A. 2007. Infection by a protozoan endoparasite in embryos and yolk-sac larvae of yellowfin tuna *Thunnus albacares. Fish Pathology* 42:59-66.

Recent developments in the study and surveillance of koi herpesvirus (KHV) in Asia

GILDA D. LIO-PO

Aquaculture Department, Southeast Asian Fisheries Development Center Tigbauan, Iloilo, Philippines

ABSTRACT

Koi herpesvirus infection causes significant mortalities in common carp (Cyprinus carpio carpio), koi carp (Cyprinus carpio koi) and ghost carp (common x koi cross, Cyprinus carpio koi). Outbreaks have been reported in many countries worldwide i.e. UK, Germany, Israel, USA, Belgium, South Africa, Switzerland, The Netherlands, France, Denmark, Austria, Italy, Luxemburg and Poland. The first outbreaks attributed to KHV in Asian countries were reported from Hong Kong in 2001; Indonesia in 2002; Taiwan in 2002; Japan in 2003; Thailand in 2005; and Singapore in 2005. Thereafter, research studies embarked on KHV focused on pathogenicity, cell line susceptibility, fish size susceptibility, predilection to fish organs, persistence in fish, vaccine development and application, surveillance and gene sequence analyses of KHV strains. To date, annual active surveillance of the virus in Cambodia, Lao PDR, Myanmar, the Philippines and Vietnam showed that these countries were free of KHV from 2004 to 2007. Several strains of KHV apparently affect koi and common carp in this region indicating that transboundary movement of the virus has occurred not only in Asia but also from Europe and the Americas. The extensive international trade in live ornamental koi fish has largely contributed to the global spread of KHV. Hence, KHV disease (KHVD) was recently added to the list of notifiable diseases of the World Organisation of Animal Health or the Office International des Epizooties (OIE), an indication of the global significance of this viral infection.

Key words: koi herpesvirus (KHV), *Cyprinid herpesvirus* 3 (CyHV-3); outbreaks, Asia, genotypes, pathogenicity, surveillance, vaccine

Lio-Po, G.D. 2011. Recent developments in the study and surveillance of koi herpesvirus (KHV) in Asia, pp. 13-28. *In* Bondad-Reantaso, M.G., Jones, J.B., Corsin, F. and Aoki, T. (eds.). Diseases in Asian Aquaculture VII. Fish Health Section, Asian Fisheries Society, Selangor, Malaysia. 385 pp.

Corresponding author: Gilda Lio-Po, liopo@aqd.seafdec.org.ph

INTRODUCTION

The common carp (*Cyprinus carpio carpio*) is the third most important farmed freshwater fish species in the world (FAO Yearbook, 2004). The main carp-producing countries are found in Europe, Asia, Russia, South America and parts of Africa. In many Asian countries, common carp are cultured widely as foodfish. In Indonesia, for instance, carp is the national fish species of the country. The ornamental variety, koi carp (*C. carpio koi*), is also popular worldwide, as pets. In fact, choice koi carp, which are very expensive, are bred in Japan, Israel and some Southeast Asian countries for ornamental fish hobbyists. As such, international trade in koi carp has provided routes for transboundary introduction of koi herpesvirus (KHV), also known as *Cyprinid herpesvirus* 3 (CyHV-3), into naïve populations in many countries and more recently in Southeast Asia (Haenen and Hedrick, 2006; Lio-Po, 2007).

Koi herpes virus infection causes significant mortalities in koi and common carp, *C. carpio.* The disease was earlier known as carp interstitial nephritis and gill necrosis (CNGV) in Israel (Ronen *et al.*, 2003; Pikarsky *et al.*, 2004). The first outbreaks of KHV were reported in Israel and Germany in 1998. Subsequent outbreaks were reported in USA, England and The Netherlands. To date, the disease has been reported in Belgium, South Africa, Switzerland, France, Denmark, Austria, Italy, Japan, Luxemburg and Poland (Haenen *et al.*, 2004; Bergmann *et al.*, 2006). Interestingly, polymerase chain reaction (PCR) testing of archived samples of an earlier unexplained mass mortality of koi and common carp in the UK confirmed that KHV was already present there as early as 1996 (Denham, 2003).

GEOGRAPHIC OCCURRENCES IN ASIA

In Asia, the first outbreak of KHV that caused mass mortalities of cultured common carp and koi carp occurred in Israel in the spring of 1998 when water temperatures were 18-28°C. By the end of 2001, 90% of carp farms in Israel reported disease outbreaks attributed to KHV (Perelberg *et al.*, 2003). Other first reports of disease attributed to KHV occurred among koi in Hongkong in 2001; common carp in Indonesia, in 2002; koi in Taiwan, in 2002; common carp in Japan, in 2003; koi in Thailand and Singapore, in 2005 (Haenen and Hedrick, 2006; Lio-Po, 2007).

The initial case of KHV mortality in Indonesia occurred among koi carp cultured in Blitar, East Java, in March 2002. The site had a history of fish introduction with fish imported from China through Hong Kong in January 2002 (Sunarto *et al.*, 2005a). The following month, a second disease outbreak occurred among cultured common carp in Subang Regency, West Java. The infected fish manifested clinical signs similar to the infected koi in Blitar. By May and June of the same year, common carp cultured in floating net cages in Cirata Reservoir, West Java, were also hit by the virus. The following year, outbreaks were reported in several carp farms in other parts of the country and by 2006 the disease had spread to many more sites (Fig. 1). The outbreak was associated with 95% mortality and losses amounting to approximately US\$0.5 million within a 3 month period (Sunarto *et al.*, 2005b).



At about the same time, the first occurrence of KHV infection emerged in two 2-year old koi carp in a private pond in Taipei County, Taiwan in December 2002 (Tu *et al.*, 2004a). During the following year, 3 more separate cases of 2-3 year old koi carp with populations of 20 (pond), 300 (artificial lake) and 700 (lake) occurred in Taipei, Taiwan and in 2004, another KHV outbreak occurred in a private koi hatchery in Taipei County, Taiwan (Tu *et al.*, 2004b).

In Japan, KHV epizooties was first reported among cage-cultured common carp in Lake Kasumigaura, Ibaraki Prefecture in October 2003 when water temperature in the lake was 16-18°C (Sano *et al.*, 2004a). By mid-November, the virus caused mass mortality of approximately 1,200 metric tonnes of common carp cultured in the lake. Archived samples from an earlier case of >10,000 common carp mortalities in May to July 2003 in some rivers and a lake in Okayama Prefecture were subsequently confirmed as KHV outbreaks. By the end of that year, KHV was detected in 23 of 47 prefectures. From January to May 2004, KHV was detected in 24 of 47 prefectures (Sano *et al.*, 2004b). Moreover, mass mortality of carp attributed to KHV occurred in seven rivers in Kanagawa Prefecture in May/June 2004 (Hara *et al.*, 2006). By 2005, 42 of 47 prefectures had confirmed cases of the virus. By spring 2006, KHV was detected in 45 of 47 prefectures and involved koi carp for the first time (T. Iida, *pers. commun.*). Such dramatic spread of the disease in Indonesia and Japan created an acute awareness of its emergence as a new disease in the region with predictably alarming implications.

In Thailand, KHV was first diagnosed in koi carp of a fish hobbyist in Bangkok in 16 March 2005 (Tandavanitj *et al.*, 2005). It was noted that only a few days earlier, the fish had participated in a koi competition held in Bangkok. After the contest, some of the koi

developed clinical signs and were confirmed as KHV-positive by PCR. Fortunately, the disease was limited to the koi companies that joined the competition and was reportedly contained. Mortalities ranged from 5 to 30%.

In Singapore, KHV was detected in two batches of Thai koi carp exported to Singapore, in February 2006. The fish tested KHV-positive by PCR and the virus was successfully isolated on KF-1 cells (S. Kueh, *pers. commun.*). During the period April to June 2006, koi carp imported to Singapore from Malaysia also tested positive for KHV. Earlier, the KHV was also detected among koi in Malaysia by nested PCR in 2004 but was not associated with epizootic outbreaks (Musa *et al.*, 2005). Even earlier, in another example of exported koi, the presence of KHV was detected among koi carp exported to the United Kingdom from Malaysia in 2000 and in 2001 (Gilad *et al.*, 2003).

Surveillance of the virus was carried out in both common and koi carp of Cambodia, Lao PDR, Myanmar, the Philippines and Vietnam through the auspices of the Government of Japan and the Aquaculture Department of the Southeast Asian Fisheries Development Center (SEAFDEC/AQD). The three-year active surveillance study covered 1481 common and koi carp sampled during the periods December 2004 to February 2005, September 2005 to February 2006 and October 2006 to February 2007. KHV was not detected using either cell culture, bioassay or PCR in any of the fish samples (Lio-Po *et al.*, 2009). Moreover, no related epizooties among common and koi carp were observed by the fish farmers.

CAUSATIVE AGENT, GENOTYPES AND STRAINS

This disease is attributed to infection by Koi herpesvirus (KHV) or *Cyprinid herpesvirus* 3 (CyHV-3) of the family, *Herpesviridae* (Fig. 2) (Waltzek *et al.*, 2005). This doublestranded DNA virus has been isolated by cell culture from infected stocks of koi or common carp in many countries including the United States of America (USA), the UK, Israel, Japan, Indonesia, Malaysia, Thailand and Taiwan. The approximate diameter of KHV virion is 100-110 nm (Ronen *et al.*, 2005). The total genome length of KHV is approximately 295 kbp (Aoki *et al.*, 2007). Sequence analyses determined that KHV isolates from UK, USA and Israel were very similar. In other studies, the genotype of the USA strain was classified as E1, the Israel KHV as E6 strain while the Netherlands strains consisted of E1, E2, E3, E4 and E5 genotypes (Kurita *et al.*, 2008). Among the Asian KHV isolates, the Japanese KHV was classified as strain A1, the Indonesian strains as A1 and A2, the Taiwanese strains as A1 and A2 while the PR China KHV as an A1 strain (Lio-Po *et al.*, 2006; Kurita *et al.* 2008). Thus, it appears that the KHV strains found in The Netherlands, USA and Israel are closely related while those moving about Asian countries are, likewise, closely related.

Variation in the virulence of two strains of KHV was experimentally demonstrated by Yuasa *et al.* (2007). Strain 1 caused 50% mortality while strain 2 caused 60-75% mortality in common carp. In addition, strain 1 was detected by PCR in the gills, scales, kidney, spleen, liver, heart, intestine and brain 14 days post-infection (dpi) and in the gills, scales, kidney 28 dpi while strain 2 was initially detected in the 8 organs much later at 28 dpi and in the

gills, scales, kidney, intestine and brain by 60 dpi. Interestingly, strain 2 was detected in the brain over a long time period (360 dpi). At 70 dpi, >10,000 genome copies/mg wt. of the brain compared with a mean of <1 000 genome copies/mg wt. of the kidneys of surviving fish were detected.



FISH SPECIES AFFECTED

KHV infects common carp, koi carp and ghost carp (hybrid of koi and common carp) causing 30-100% mortality. Experimental transmission of KHV from common carp to goldfish (*Carassius auratus*), grass carp (*Ctenopharyngodon idella*), silver carp (*Hypophthalmichthys molitrix*) or tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) failed to induce KHV infection (Perelberg *et al.*, 2003). However, Hedrick *et al.* (2006) reported that goldfish x common carp hybrids were moderately sensitive to KHV infection. Likewise, tilapia (*O. niloticus*) and catfish (*Pangasius hypophthalmus*) upon cohabitation with KHV-infected common carp did not develop disease nor was KHV detected by PCR (Yuasa and Sano, 2009. In Indonesia, the common carp naturally-infected with KHV were cultured in cages adjacent to caged tilapia, but the latter fish did not succumb to infection.

GROSS CLINICAL SIGNS

Infected fish typically manifest white, necrotic patches on the gill filaments (Fig. 3). Thus, affected fish often swim on the surface and exhibit respiratory distress. Other clinical signs may consist of sunken eyes, pale patches on the body surface, excessive mucus production and rough pale patches of the skin. However, some infected fish may show no visible signs of disease. Microscopic examination of the gills often shows associated bacteria and parasites (Hedrick *et al.*, 2000).


Figure 3. Koi carp with KHV showing varying severity of whitish or necrotic gills (Photo courtesy of A. Sunarto).

PATHOLOGY

KHV is very virulent; natural infection often causes 80-90% mass mortality of koi and common carp within 1 week (Perelberg *et al.*, 2003; Sano *et al.*, 2004a; Tu *et al.*, 2004a; Sunarto *et al.*, 2005b). Experimental infection using cell-cultured KHV induced 75-95% mortalities in koi and common carp (Pikarsky *et al.*, 2004). The disease is very contagious for koi and common carp but not for humans. The disease has an incubation period of 5-7 days and is characterized by sudden onset, rapid spread when water temperatures are in the range 15-25°C (Gilad *et al.*, 2003; Ronen *et al.*, 2003).

In infected fish, large amounts of the virus are found in the kidneys and lesser amounts in the liver and brain as detected by immunofluorescence and by semi-quantitative PCR (Ronen *et al.*, 2005). The same study reported that interstitial nephritis was detected as early as 2 days post-infection with increasing severity up to 10 days post-infection. In an earlier experimental study where real-time TaqMan PCR was used to quantify KHV DNA, the greatest amounts of viral DNA were found in the gill, kidney and spleen with virus genome equivalents of 10⁸ to 10⁹ per 10⁶ host cells (Gilad *et al.*, 2004). High levels of KHV DNA were also found in mucus, liver, gut and brain. Yuasa *et al.* (2005b) experimentally immersed common carp fingerlings in 10³ TCID₅₀/ml at 23^oC and subsequently detected the virus in several organs including the gills from 3-40 days post-infection by PCR. However, the virus was not detected in any organ 60 days post-infection. The amount of the virus was higher, and peaked at 7-9 days, in the gills, fin, scales, kidney and intestine than in other organs. The virus could be isolated, in CCB cell cultures, from the gills and kidney 6-17 days post-infection but not after 20 days. Interestingly, KHV was detected in fish brain as long as 145 days after infection but was infectious only for up to 28 days (Yuasa *et al.*, 2007).

Severe gill disease was associated with inflammation and loss of villi (Pikarsky *et al.*, 2004). Other studies reported that the gills of infected fish develop necrotising branchitis, lamellar epithelial degeneration, focal areas of necrosis and exfoliation. Histologically, infected fish shows hyperplasia and fusion of the secondary gill lamellae (Tu *et al.*, 2004a; Cruz-Lacierda *et al.*, 2005). Intranuclear inclusions in the branchial epithelium may be observed. In addition, Ilouse *et al.* (2006) reported that the kidneys of infected fish exhibited heavy, interstitial, inflammatory infiltrates 6 days post-infection. This condition was associated with large cells having a foamy, distended cytoplasm and a few intranuclear inclusion bodies. By day 8, severe infiltration developed and was accompanied by a feathery degeneration of the tubular epithelium in many nephrons. Mild, focal inflammation was also noted in the livers and brains.

Temperature is a critical factor in the pathogenesis of KHV infections. KHV induces infection/mortalities at temperatures of 18-25°C. Experimental infection showed that exposure of healthy fish to KHV at 22°C can cause up to 82% mortality within 15 days (Ronen *et al.*, 2003). Furthermore, fish exposed to KHV at 20-24°C for 3 days then transferred to non-permissive temperatures survived the infection. However, fish held at 13°C for 30 days and shifted to 22-24°C developed disease and rapid onset of mortality. In another study, Yuasa *et al.* (2008) showed that common carp experimentally exposed to KHV at 16°C, 23°C and 28°C died from infection at 21-54, 5-20 and 7-14 days post-virus exposure (dpe), respectively. Moreover, using cohabitation with naïve koi carp, infected carp were shown to continuously shed the virus for 34 days (7-40 dpe) at 16°C, for 14 days (1-14 dpe) at 23°C, and for 12 days (3-14 dpe) at 28°C.

The virus has been isolated from KHV-infected common/koi carp in different carp cell lines: koi fin (KF-1), koi fin (KFC), common carp brain (CCB) and koi tail (KT-2) in USA, Israel, Germany, Indonesia, Japan, Singapore and Taiwan (Hedrick *et al.*, 2000; Neukirch and Kunz 2001; Sano *et al.*, 2004a, Lio-Po and Orozco 2005; Ilouse *et al.*, 2006; NACA and FAO 2008). The KHV-infected cells cultured at 20-25°C demonstrate typical cellular vacuolation. However, the vacuolated cells reverted to normal morphology and plaques disappeared following shift to the non-permissive temperature, and reappeared after transfer back to permissive temperature (Dishon *et al.*, 2007).

The virulence of the virus appears to be more potent in 14 g common carp (dying 6 to 9 days post exposure) than in 6 g fish (succumbed in 10 to 14 days) at 20-24°C (Lio-Po *et al.*, 2006). Similarly, recent comparative infection studies showed that three-day old common carp fry (mean TL: 7.5 and 8.7 mm) exposed to KHV were not susceptible to disease while 69-100% mortalities were observed in common carp juveniles (mean TL: 13.8 and 29.2 mm) reared at 24°C (Ito *et al.*, 2007b).

Variation in susceptibility among different carp strains has been reported. In Europe, the ghost carp shows higher sensitivity to the virus than koi carp. In Japan, the indigenous strain of common carp shows higher sensitivity to the virus than the Eurasian strain of common carp or koi carp (Ito *et al.*, 2007a).

The virus can remain latent in the host for long periods of time, becoming active only at permissive temperatures. Thus, the virus persists in "carriers" which demonstrate no clinical signs of the disease. Active KHV infection recurred in recovered fish once they were stressed. Thus, even after 7 months post-infection the virus can be reactivated. Moreover, the virus can persist in the brain of its fish host for at least 360 days (Yuasa *et al.*, 2007). Latent KHV can be reactivated by increasing the water temperature from non-permissive to permissive temperatures. Such reactivation was confirmed by virus transmission and detection to naïve carp cohabited with infected carp at 150 days following the initial infection. Moreover, the virus was transmitted horizontally from KHV-infected fish to naïve koi or common carp via intraperitoneal injection or by bath exposure at permissive temperatures (18-25°C). Moreover, once infected, a pond will lose the majority of its fish within days, and no treatment is currently licensed.

In addition, non-specific secondary infections of bacterial, parasitic and fungal origin may be associated with KHV infections. For instance, secondary gill infections attributed to *Flavobacterium columnare* and *Aeromonas* spp. have often been associated with KHV infection (Sunarto *et al.*, 2005b).

DIAGNOSIS

Several techniques have been used for detecting KHV in fish hosts. Among these are onestep and nested PCR, loop-mediated isothermal amplification (LAMP), *in situ* hybridization, cell culture, histopathology, transmission electron microscopy (TEM), enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA), and bioassay in healthy, naïve, susceptible fish.

PCR is a more specific and sensitive method for KHV detection (Fig. 4) using the Sph and 9/5 primers (Gray *et al.*, 2002; Gilad *et al.*, 2002). More recently, Yuasa *et al.* (2005a) improved the PCR protocol using the *Sph* I-5 primer set that reduced non-specific reactions and reduced the reaction time by almost half. At about the same time, Bercovier *et al.* (2005) developed the TK PCR primer set to similarly improve the technique. In addition, a nested PCR has been developed with more sensitivity for KHV detection (Liu *et al.*, 2002; El-Matbouli *et al.*, 2007). Commercial PCR kits are already available in the market. A reflection of how widespread the use of PCR for KHV detection has become is illustrated by the broad participation in the international inter-laboratory proficiency test organised by Way *et al.* (2008) which involved 21 laboratories from 19 countries in 2006 and 32 laboratories from 27 countries in 2007. Results from these ring tests indicated that the Bercovier-TK (1) and modified Gray SpH (2) primer sets were the most robust for detection of KHV DNA. In addition, real-time PCR, useful for the quantitative estimation of the KHV virus, has been developed using the TaqMan PCR method (Gilad *et al.*, 2004).

More recently, the LAMP method was developed and reported to be as sensitive as PCR and to be more rapid than PCR for the detection of KHV. LAMP methods used to date include TK LAMP, 9/5 LAMP and Sph LAMP (Gunimaladevi *et al.*, 2004; Soliman and



El-Matbouli, 2005; Yoshino *et al.*, 2006). Other DNA based detection methods include *in situ* hybridization (Haenen *et al.*, 2004) and the RT-PCR targeting the mRNA terminase (Yuasa *et al.*, 2007).

The virus can be isolated in susceptible fish cell lines such as KF-1, KFC, KT-2 or CCB. Tissue filtrates are prepared from the gills, kidney, spleen or leukocytes by homogenization, centrifugation and filtration through 0.45 micron membrane filters. Inoculated cells are incubated at 20-25°C for 7-14 days. Infected cells develop cytopathic effect (CPE) consisting of typical cellular vacuolation (Fig. 5). The survival of KHV in infected CCB cells was maintained for 30 days at 30°C (Dishon *et al.*, 2007).



Figure 5. Cultured KF-1 cells inoculated with KHV showing typical vacuolations (arrow).

Histological examination of gills, liver, spleen and kidney of affected fish is also useful for diagnosis. The presence of severe gill hyperplasia with lamellar fusion and epithelial necrosis with prominent nuclear swelling and eosinophilic, intranuclear inclusions is diagnostic for KHV infection (Tu *et al.*, 2004a; Cruz-Lacierda *et al.*, 2005). Necrosis may also be observed in the liver, spleen and kidney parenchymal cells.

Electron microscopy used for visualizing KHV virions (Hedrick *et al.*, 2000; Miwa *et al.*, 2007) is another useful direct diagnostic method. Indirect methods such as the enzymelinked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) allows detection of antibodies to KHV in the serum of koi and common carp previously exposed to the virus (Adkison *et al.*, 2005).

Where laboratory facilities for Level III Diagnosis are unavailable, the presence of KHV can also be confirmed by bioassay (Lio-Po *et al.*, 2009). Tissue filtrates prepared from KHV-infected fish are injected intraperitoneally to healthy koi or common carp which are maintained at the permissive temperature (23-28°C) for at least 3 weeks. Development of typical clinical signs of KHV infection in the naïve fish is a presumptive indication of the presence of the virus. Confirmatory diagnosis is achieved by virus isolation in cell culture and identification by PCR. However, for expensive koi carp (where it is important to keep the fish alive), establishment of the KHV infection status can be determined by a modified "Sentinel" bioassay. This is a non-destructive technique wherein an expensive, koi carp, suspected of being infected with KHV, is cohabited with known KHV-free common carp at 23-28°C for 2 to 4 weeks. The development of KHV clinical signs in the naïve common carp indicates KHV infection in the suspect koi carp. Conversely, if the common carp remain negative for KHV, then the expensive koi carp with which it was cohabited is also considered KHV-free.

PREVENTION AND CONTROL

The impact of KHV is very significant in the koi-keeping/breeding community because of its high pathogenicity. Unfortunately, there is no effective drug for KHV disease. The aquarium fish trade, especially of koi carp, most likely played a significant role in the transboundary movement of the virus. The annual fish trade shows featuring live ornamental fish sourced from many countries have contributed to the transmission of fish pathogens (Lio-Po, 2007). For example, there is a documented case of illegally imported live koi carp that was intercepted by the fish quarantine staff at Ninoy Aquino International Airport in Manila, Philippines in September 2004. Five days after stocking the fish in a contained facility, the koi developed clinical signs and tested positive for KHV by PCR. All koi died after two weeks in the holding tank (Somga *et al.*, 2010). Hence, health certification, quarantine and testing of imported koi or common carp for KHV should be instituted by the importing country before the imported fish gain entry into fish farms. In fish farms, biosecurity measures must be in place to mitigate against disease introduction, to ensure containment and to prevent dissemination of KHV among existing farm stocks.

In Israel, experimental cohabitation of naïve koi carp with KHV-infected fish induced the production of anti-KHV antibodies among exposed naïve carps (Ronen *et al.*, 2003). These findings led to studies on the development of a live, attenuated KHV vaccine that can induce high antibody titers in test fish after 7 dpi and peaks at 21 dpi (Ronen *et al.*, 2003 and 2005; Perelberg *et al.*, 2005; Ilouse *et al.*, 2006). Fish were immersed in 10 to 100 PFU/ml attenuated virus for 40 min followed by incubation at the permissive temperature for an additional 48 to 72 h (Perelberg *et al.*, 2005). Vaccinated fish survived subsequent challenge with the virus yielding a relative percent survival (RPS) of 80-95%. Field applications of the vaccine in carp in Israel from 2003 to 2007 resulted in increased carp production to 16,000 tonnes in 2007 compared to 8,000 tons in 2002 when the KHV vaccine was not in use. Moreover, protective immunity after vaccination extends for at least 8 months among vaccinated fish (Ilouse *et al.*, 2006). This vaccine is currently commercially available (M. Kotler, *pers. comm.*).

In Japan, Yasumoto *et al.* (2006) used a formalin-inactivated KHV vaccine entrapped within the liposomal membrane that was experimentally sprayed on dry pellets before feeding to common carp. The vaccinated fish yielded an RPS of 74.4% and 65% upon challenge with its homologous virus 22 days after vaccination. However, no further studies on field testing or commercialization of the vaccine were reported.

The viability of KHV under non-permissive conditions may also indicate a potential method to control KHV infections. For instance, cohabitation of fish with KHV infected fish for 3-5 days at permissive temperatures of 22-23°C and then transferred to ponds with water temperature of approximately 30°C for 30 days then re-challenged with the virus had significantly reduced mortalities of 39% compared to the control fish (not cohabited with sick fish) kept at 22°C and then challenged with the virus yielding 82% mortalities within 15 days (Ronen *et al.*, 2003).

The infectious titre of KHV kept in environmental water was significantly reduced within 3 days (Shimizu *et al.*, 2006). Experiments on survivability of KHV indicated that the virus cannot tolerate temperatures of 35°C even for just 24 h (Lio-Po *et al.*, 2006). Moreover, at 20 to 30°C, the virus remains viable up to 3 days while at -5 to 0, 4 and 15°C up to 5 days. However, KHV stored at -80°C has maintained its viability even one year after storage. Moreover, KHV was shown to be completely inactivated when exposed to UV irradiation (4.0 x 10³ μ Ws/cm², 50°C for 1 min, 200 mg/L iodophor, 60 mg/L benzalkonium chloride or 30% ethyl alcohol for 20 min (Kasai *et al.*, 2005).

Successive outbreaks caused by KHV among several different countries are indications of the transboundary movement of this emerging viral pathogen (Lio-Po 2007). Moreover, a further indication of the global significance of this disease is its recent (since 2007) addition to the list of notifiable diseases of the World Organization of Animal Health or the Office International des Epizooties (OIE).

REFERENCES

- Adkison, M.A., Gilad, O. and Hedrick, R.P. 2005. An enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) for detection of antibodies to the koi herpesvirus (KHV) in the serum of koi *Cyprinus carpio. Fish Pathology* 40:53-62.
- Aoki, T., Hirono, I., Kurokawa, K., Fukuda, H., Nahary, R., Eldar, A., Davison, A.J., Waltzek, T.B., Bercovier, H. and Hedrick, R.P. 2007. Genome sequences of three koi herpesvirus isolates representing the expanding distribution of an emerging disease threatening koi and common carp worldwide. *Journal of Virology* 81:5058-5065.
- Bercovier, H., Fishman, Y., Nahary, R., Sinai, S., Zlotkin, A., Eyngor, M., Gilad, O., Eldar, A. and Hedrick, R.P. 2005. Cloning of the koi herpesvirus (KHV) gene encoding thymidine kinase and its use for a highly sensitive PCR based diagnosis. *BMC Microbiology* 5:1-13.
- Bergmann, S.M., Kempter, J., Sadowski, J. and Fichtner, D. 2006. First detection, confirmation and isolation of koi herpesvirus (KHV) in cultured common carp (*Cyprinus carpio* L.) in Poland. *Bulletin of the European Association of Fish Pathologists* 26:97-104.
- Cruz-Lacierda, E.R., Lio-Po, G.D., Catap, E.S. and Pineda, A.J.T. 2005. Histopathology of koi herpesvirus (KHV) disease, p. 379-382. *In* Nagasawa, K. (ed.). Recent Advances in the Diagnosis and Prevention of Fish and Shrimp Diseases in Southeast Asia., Southeast Asian Fisheries Development Center Aquaculture Department, Iloilo, Philippines.
- Denham, K. 2003. Koi herpesvirus in wild fish. Veterinary Record 153:507.
- Dishon, A., Davidovich, M. Ilouze, M. and Kotler, M. 2007. Persistence of cyprinid herpesvirus 3 in infected cultured carp cells. *Journal of Virology* 81:4828-4836.
- El-Matbouli, M., Ruchker, U. and Soliman, H. 2007. Detection of *Cyprinid herpesvirus*-3 (CyHV-3) DNA in infected fish tissues by nested polymerase chain reaction. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 78:23-28.
- FAO Yearbook. 2004. Fishery statistics 2002. Vol. 95. Rome, FAO, 224 pp.
- Gilad, O., Yun, S., Andree, K.B., Adkison, M.A., Lotkin, A., Bercovier, H., Eldar, A. and Hedrick, R.P. 2002. Initial characteristics of koi herpesvirus and the development of a polymerase chain reaction assay to detect the virus in koi, *Cyprinus carpio. Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 48:101-108.
- Gilad, O., Yun, S., Andree, K.B., Adkison, M.A., Zagmutt-Vergara, F.J., Leutenegger, C.M., Bercovier, H. and Hedrick, R.P. 2004. Concentrations of a koi herpesvirus (KHV) in tissues of experimentally infected *Cyprinus carpio koi* as assessed by real-time TaqMan PCR. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 60:79-187.
- Gilad, O., Yun, S., Andree, K.B., Adkison, M.A., Way, K., Willits, N.H., Bercovier, H. and Hedrick, R.P. 2003. Molecular comparison of isolates of an emerging, koi herpesvirus, and the effect of water temperature on mortality of experimentally-infected koi. *Journal of. General Virology* 64: 2661-2668.
- Gray, M., LaPatra, S., Groff, J.M. and Goodwin, A. 2002. Detection of koi herpesvirus DNA in tissues of infected fish. *Journal of Fish Disease* 25:171-178.

- Gunimaladevi, I., Kono, T., Venugopal, M.N. and Sakai, M. 2004. Detection of koi herpesvirus in common carp, *Cyprinus carpio* L., by loop-mediated isothermal amplification. *Journal of Fish Disease* 27:583-589.
- Haenen, O. and Hedrick, R. 2006. Koi herpesvirus workshop. *Bulletin of the European* Association of Fish Pathologists 26:26-37.
- Haenen, O.L.M., Way, K., Bergman, S.M. and Ariel, E. 2004. The emergence of koi herpesvirus and its significance to European aquaculture. *Bulletin of the European Association of Fish Pathologists* 24:293-307.
- Hara, H., Aikawa, H. Usui, K. and Nakanishi, T. 2006. Outbreaks of koi herpesvirus disease in rivers of Kanagawa Prefecture. *Fish Pathology* 41:81-83 (in Japanese with English abstract).
- Hedrick, R.P., Gilad, O., Yun, S., Spandenberg, J.V., Marty, G.D., Nordhausen, R.W., Kebus, M.J., Bercovier, H. and Eldar, A. 2000. A herpesvirus associated with mass mortality of juvenile and adult koi, a strain of common carp. *Journal of Aquatic Animal Health* 12:44-57.
- Hedrick, R.P., Thomas, B. and McDowell, T.S. 2006. Susceptibility of koi carp, common carp, goldfish, and goldfish x common carp hybrids to cyprinid herpesvirus-2 and herpesvirus-3. *Journal of Aquatic Animal Health* 18:26-34.
- Ilouze, M., Dishon, A. and Kotler, M. 2006. Characterization of a novel virus causing a lethal disease in carp and koi. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews* 70:147-156.
- Ito, T., Kurita, J., Sano, T. and Iida, T. 2007a. Difference in the susceptibility of strains and developmental stages of carp to koi herpesvirus. *In* Abstract of Symposium 'Recent Advances in Research on Prevention and Control of Fish and Shrimp Diseases in Aquaculture'. *Fish Pathology* 42:233.
- Ito, T., Sano, M., Kurita, J., Yuasa, K. and Iida, T. 2007b. Carp larvae are not susceptible to koi herpesvirus. *Fish Pathology* 42:107-109.
- Kasai, H., Muto, Y. and Yoshimizu, M. 2005. Virucidal effects of ultraviolet, heat treatment and disinfectants against koi herpesvirus (KHV). *Fish Pathology* 40:137-138.
- Kurita, J., Yuasa, K., Ito, T., Sano, M., Hedrick, R.P., Engelsma, M.Y., Haenen, O.L.M., Sunarto, A., Kholidin, E.B., Chou, H.-Y., Tung, M.-C., de la Peña, L.D., Lio-Po, G., Tu, C., Way, K. and Iida, T. 2009. Molecular epidemiology of koi herpesvirus. *Fish Pathology* 44:59-66.
- Lio-Po, G.D. 2007. Koi herpesvirus (KHV): Diagnosis, prevention and control. *Aquarama* 9:10-13.
- Lio-Po, G.D. and Orozco, Z.A. 2005. Detection and transmission of the koi herpesvirus (KHV). p. 367-370. *In* Nagasawa, K. (ed). Recent Advances in the Diagnosis and Prevention of Fish and Shrimp Diseases in Southeast Asia. Southeast Asian Fisheries Development Center Aquaculture Department, Iloilo, Philippines.
- Lio-Po, G.D., Amar, E., de la Peña, L., Orozco, Z.G., Faisan, J., Suarnaba, V. and Tubo, D.B. 2009. Surveillance of emerging fish viral pathogens in some Southeast Asian countries. *Israeli Journal of Aquaculture-Bamidgeh* 61:208-214.
- Lio-Po, G.D., de la Peña, L.D., Kurita, J., Sano, M., Miwa, S., Way, K., Tu, C., Somga, J., Orozco, Z.A. and Paner, M.G. 2006. Comparison of characteristics of KHV isolates from Asia. *In* AQD Highlights 2005. SEAFDEC Aquaculture Department, Philippines, 40 pp.

- Liu, H., Shi, X., Gao, L. and Jiang, Y. 2002. Study on the aetiology of koi epizootic disease using the method of nested-polymerase chain reaction assay (nested-PCR). *Journal of Huazhong Agricultural University* 21:414-419.
- Miwa, S., Ito, T. and Sano, M. 2007. Morphogenesis of koi herpesvirus observed by electron microscopy. *Journal of Fish Disease* 30:715-722.
- Musa, N., Leong, L.K. and Sunarto, A. 2005. Koi herpesvirus (KHV) An emerging pathogen in koi. p. 146-147. *In* Proceedings of the Colloquium on Viruses of Veterinary & Public Health Importance held in 11-12 Jan 2005.
- NACA and FAO. 2008. Quarterly Aquatic Animal Disease Report (Asia and Pacific Region), 2007/3, July-September 2007. NACA, Bangkok, Thailand, 47 pp.
- Neukirch, M. and Kunz, U. 2001. Isolation and preliminary characterisation of several viruses from koi (*Cyprinus carpio*) suffering gill necrosis and mortality. *Bulletin of the European Association of Fish Pathologists* 21(4):125-135.
- Perelberg, A., Ronen, A., Hutoran, M., Smith, Y. and Kotler, M. 2005. Protection of cultured *Cyprinus carpio* against a lethal viral disease by an attenuated virus vaccine. *Vaccine* 23:3396-3403.
- Perelberg, A., Smirnov, M., Hutoran, M., Diamani, A., Bejerano, Y. and Kotler, M. 2003. Epidemiological description of a new viral disease afflicting cultured *Cyprinus carpio* in Israel. *Israeli Journal Aquaculture-Bamidgeh* 55:5-12.
- Pikarsky, E., Ronen, A., Abramowitz, J., Levavi-Sivan, B., Hutoran, M., Shapira, Y., Steinitz, M., Perelberg, A., Soffer, D. and Kotler, M. 2004. Pathogenesis of acute viral disease induced in fish by Carp Interstitial Nephritis and Gill Necrosis Virus. *Journal of Virology* 78:9544-9551.
- Ronen, A., Perelberg, A., Abramowitz, J., Hutoran, M., Tinman, S., Bejerano, I., Steinitz, M. and Kotler, M. 2003. Efficient vaccine against the virus causing a lethal disease in cultured *Cyprinus carpio. Vaccine* 21: 4677-4684.
- Ronen, A., Perelberg, A., Hutoran, M., Tinman, S., Shapira, Y., Steinitz, M. Levavi-Sivan, B. Pikarsky, E. and Kotler, M. 2005. Prevention of a mortal disease of carps induced by the Carp Interstitial Nephritis and Gill Necrosis Virus (CNGV) in Israel. *Bulletin of the Fisheries Research Agency* Supplement No. 2:9-11.
- Sano, M., Ito, T., Kurita, J., Yanai, T., Watanabe, N., Miwa, S. and Iida, T. 2004a. First detection of koi herpesvirus in cultured common carp *Cyprinus carpio* in Japan. *Fish Pathology* 39: 165-167.
- Sano, M., Ito, T., Kurita, J., Yuasa, K., Miwa, S. and Iida, T. 2004b. Experience on common carp mass mortality in Japan. p 14-24. *In* Lavilla-Pitogo, C.R. and Nagasawa, K. (eds.).. Transboundary Fish Diseases in Southeast Asia: Occurrence, Surveillance, Research and Training. SEAFDEC AQD, Philippines.
- Shimizu, T., Yoshida, N., Kasai, H. and Yoshimizu, M. 2006. Survival of koi herpesvirus (KHV) in environmental water. *Fish Pathology* 41:153-157.
- Soliman, H., and El-Matbouli, M. 2005. An inexpensive and rapid diagnostic method of Koi Herpesvirus (KHV) infection by loop-mediated isothermal amplification. *Virology Journal* 2:83.

- Somga, J.R., de la Peña, L.D., Sombito, C.D., Paner, M.G. Suarnaba, V.S., Capulos, G.C., Santa Maria, P.I., and Po, G.L. 2010. Koi Herpesvirus-associated mortalities in quarantined koi carp in the Philippines. *Bulletin of the European Association of Fish Pathologists* 30:2-7.
- Sunarto, A., Rukyani, A. and Itami, T. 2005a. Indonesian experience on the outbreak of koi herpesvirus in koi and carp (*Cyprinus carpio*). *Bulletin of the Fisheries Research Agency* Supplement No. 2:15-21.
- Sunarto, A., Taukhid, Rukyani, A., Koesharyani, I., Supriyadi, H., Gardenia, L., Huminto, H., Agungpriyoni, D.R., Pasaribu, F.H., Widodo, Herdikiawan, D., Rukmono, D. and Prajitno, B. 2005b. Field investigations on a serious disease outbreak among koi and common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*) in Indonesia. p. 125-135. *In* Walker, P., Lester, R. and Bondad-Reantaso, M. (eds.). Diseases in Asian Aquaculture V. Fish Health Section, Asian Fisheries Society, Manila, Philippines.
- Tandavanitj, S., Kanchanakhan, S., Polchana, J., Puttinaowarat, S., Somsiri, T., Somjetlertcharoe, A., Laoprasert, T., Kessuwan, K., Wannaprapha, M., Panyawachira, V. and Chinabut, S. 2005. First occurrence of koi herpesvirus disease (KHVD) in Thailand. *In* Abstracts of Diseases in Asian Aquaculture VI, held in Sri Lanka, Oct 2005.
- Tu, C., Weng, M.C., Shiau, J.R. and Lin, S.Y. 2004a. Detection of koi herpesvirus in koi *Cyprinus carpio* in Taiwan. *Fish Pathology* 39:109-110.
- Tu, C., Lin, S.Y. and Sung, H.T. 2004b. Current status of koi herpesvirus disease in Taiwan. p. 21-24. *In* Lavilla-Pitogo C.R. and Nagasawa, K. (eds.).. Transboundary Fish Diseases in Southeast Asia: Occurrence, Surveillance, Research and Training, SEAFDEC AQD, Philippines.
- Waltzek, T.B., Kelly, G.O., Stone, D.M., Way, K., Hanson, L., Fukuda, H., Hirono, I., Aoki, T., Davison, A.J. and Hedrick, R.P. 2005. Koi herpesvirus represents a third cyprinid herpesvirus (CyHV-3) in the family *Herpesviridae*. *Journal of General Virolog* 86:1659-1667.
- Way, K., Paley, R. and Stone, S. 2008. Development and use of PCR assay protocols for koi herpesvirus at CEFAS and the results of laboratory ring trials in 2006 and 2007. *In* Abstracts of paper presented at the International Workshop on CyHV-3 (KHV) Cyprinid herpes viruses: Basic and applied aspects, held in Israel, 17-18 Feb 2008.
- Yasumoto, S., Kazuya, Y., Yasuda, M., Yoshimura, T. and Miyazaki, T. 2006. Oral immunization of common carp with a liposome vaccine fusing koi herpesvirus antigen. *Fish Pathology* 41:141-145.
- Yoshino, M., Watari, H., Kojima, T. and Ikedo, M. 2006. Sensitive and rapid detection of koi herpesvirus by LAMP method. *Fish Pathology* 41:19-27.
- Yuasa, K. and Sano, M. 2009. Koi herpesvirus: status of outbreaks, diagnosis, surveillance and research. *Israeli Journal of Aquaculture-Bamidgeh* 61:169-179.
- Yuasa, K., Ito, T. and Sano, M. 2008. Effect of water temperature on mortality of carp experimentally infected with koi herpesvirus (KHV) and its virus shedding. *Fish Pathology* 43:83-85.
- Yuasa, K, Kawana, M., Ito, T., Sano, M. and Iida, T. 2007. Fate of koi herpesvirus (KHV) in surviving fish post infection. Is the brain the final habitat for the virus? *In* Abstracts of 13th International Conference of the EAFP, 17-22 Sept 2007.

- Yuasa, K., Sano, M., Kurita, J., Ito, T. and Iida, T. 2005a. Improvement of a PCR method with the Sph 1-5 primer set for the detection of koi herpesvirus (KHV). *Fish Pathology* 40:37-39.
- Yuasa, K., Ito, T., Kurita, J., Sano, M., Oseko, N., Miwa, S. and Iida, T. 2005b. A trial of time-dependent viral detections from common carp experimentally infected by koi herpesvirus (KHV). *In* Abstracts of 6th Symposium on Diseases in Asian Aquaculture, Fish Health Section of the Asian Fisheries Society, 25-28 Oct 2005.

Random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD): a powerful method to differentiate *Streptococcus agalactiae* strains

M. NUR-NAZIFAH¹, M.Y. SABRI¹, M. ZAMRI-SAAD¹ SITI-ZAHRAH² and A. M. FIRDAUS-NAWI¹

¹Department of Veterinary Pathology and Microbiology Faculty of Veterinary Medicine Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 UPM Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia ²National Fish Health and Research Center, 11960 Lebuh Batu Maung, Penang, Malaysia

ABSTRACT

Streptococcus agalactiae from five different locations comprised of Pedu Lake (Kedah, Malaysia), Kenyir Lake (Terengganu, Malaysia), Pergau Lake (Kelantan, Malaysia), NTL Farm (Kelantan, Malaysia) and Wawasan Farm (Kelantan, Malaysia) were sampled and characterized by the API System. In order to achieve strain typing, all of the isolates were investigated by random amplified polymorphic DNA-PCR (RAPD-PCR). The RAPD-PCR technique was used to detect the genetic diversity of the five different sampling sites in Malaysia. Initially, 20 RAPD primers (Operon, USA) were used for screening before suitable primers that showed optimal level to be used later. Six 10-mer RAPD primers revealed significant bands ranging from 400-5000 bp. The primers were OPA3, OPA4, OPA5, OPA9, OPA11 and OPA20. The genetic identity and genetic distance were calculated to reveal the diversities among the five different locations of sampling sites by using RAPD Distance software before a phylogenetic tree was constructed. The results indicated that the genetic variation from different locations is relatively high. Four out of five places exhibited a very close relationship with each other but a relatively distant relationship with Pergau Lake isolates.

Keywords: *Streptococcus agalactiae*, random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD), phylogenetic tree, tilapia.

Nur-Nazifah, M., Sabri, M.Y., Zamri-Saad, M., Siti-Zahrah and Firdaus-Nawi, A.M. 2011. Random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD): a powerful method to differentiate *Streptococcus agalactiae* strains pp. 29-38. *In* Bondad-Reantaso, M.G., Jones, J.B., Corsin, F. and Aoki, T. (eds.). Diseases in Asian Aquaculture VII. Fish Health Section, Asian Fisheries Society, Selangor, Malaysia. 385 pp.

Corresponding author: M.Y. Sabri, sabri@vet.upm.edu.my

INTRODUCTION

Streptococcal disease in fish was first reported in 1957, in cultured rainbow trout in Japan, (Hoshina *et al.*, 1958). Since then, numerous other species of fish have been found susceptible to the infection, including tilapia (Plumb, 1997). In a study conducted by Ferguson *et al.* (1994), *Streptococcus agalactiae* was shown to be more aggressive than any other environmental bacterium, where mortality may reach 100%. This indicates a need for studies on streptococcal infection in tilapia in Malaysia, particularly on the characterization of *S. agalactiae* isolated from diseased tilapia. This may lead to a better understanding of the epidemiology and assist in formulating better management of this pathogenic bacterium especially in cage-cultured tilapia.

A surveillance study by the National Fish Health and Research Centre (NaFisH) Penang, Malaysia, found that *S. agalactiae* was frequently isolated from cases of high mortality of cage-cultured tilapia in Kenyir and Pergau in 2002 to 2003. This incidence was found to be related to seasonal changes that affect the water quality parameters leading to unbalance physiological conditions of the fish. Alpha and beta hemolytic types of *Streptococcus* spp. were isolated.

Streptococcus agalactiae is a Group B *Streptococcus* (GBS), typically Gram-positive, cocci in chains and displays beta-hemolysis when cultured on a blood agar plate. The polysaccharide anti-phagocytic capsule in this bacterium is the main virulence factor that causing a disease of *Streptococcus* septicemia in tilapia. Therefore, the objective of this study is to determine the molecular epidemiological pattern of streptococcal infection of tilapia in Malaysia using molecular characterization of randomly amplified polymorphic DNA-polymerase chain reaction (RAPD-PCR). The PCR was used to amplify DNA samples of *S. agalactiae* with short oligonucleotide primers, which annealing process take place randomly throughout the genome of the isolates (Snowdon and Langsdorf, 1998).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Bacterial isolates and growth conditions

Isolates of *S. agalactiae* were obtained from NaFisH, Penang. The isolates were collected from Kenyir Lake, Pergau Lake, Pedu Lake, NTL Farm and Wawasan Farm in Malaysia between 2003 and 2005. All isolates were cultured onto blood agar plates within 18 to 24 hr and incubated at 30°C. The bacteria were sub-cultured into brain heart infusion broth (BHIB) (MERCK, Germany) and incubated at 30°C on a shaker for 18 hr. The bacteria were harvested by centrifugation at 3,500 g, 4°C for 10 min.

DNA extraction

DNA from the isolates was extracted using Wizard Genomic DNA Purification Kit (Promega, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

RAPD-PCR

RAPD-PCR was performed to detect the genetic diversity of five different sampling sites of *S. agalactiae* in Malaysia. Six 10-mer RAPD primers (Operon, USA) were screened out of 20 (OPA1 - OPA20). The primers are as in Table 1.

Table 1

No.	Primers	Primer Sequence
1.	OPA 3	5'- AGT CAG CCA C-3'
2.	OPA 4	5'- AAT CGG GCT G -3'
3.	OPA 5	5'- AGG GGT CTT G -3'
4.	OPA 9	5'- GGG TAA CGC C -3'
5.	OPA 11	5'- CAA TCG CCG T -3'
6.	OPA 20	5'- GTT GCG ATC C -3'

Primers use in RAPD-PCR of S. agalactiae

Polymerase chain reaction

All PCR's were carried out in a thermal cycler (Eppendorf, Germany) in 25 μ l reaction volumes. The 0.2 ml thin-walled tubes were used to amplify the DNA of each reaction mixtures. Each reaction mixture contained 1.0 μ g genomic DNA, 0.5 μ l of 10 mM dNTPs mix, 2.0 μ l of 25 mM MgCl₂, 2.5 μ l of 10× PCR buffer (100 mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.8 at 25°C); 500 mM KCl; 0.8% Nonidet P40), 0.5 μ l of *Taq* DNA polymerase (MBI Fermentas, USA) and 25 mM of each primers (First Base Laboratory, Malaysia). Standard amplification conditions were 94°C for 4 min followed by 44 cycles of 94°C for 1 min, 36°C for 1 min, 72°C for 1 min and the reaction was completed by a final extension step of 72°C for 10 min.

Gel electrophoresis

A gel consisted of 1% agarose in 1× TBE running buffer was prepared. Following that, the PCR product solution was mixed with 3 μ l of 6× loading dye solution (Fermentas, Lithuania) and electrophoresed at 100 V for 45 min in a MT-108 Wide Mini Horizontal Gel Electrophoresis System. The gels were stained with 1 μ g/ml ethidium bromide (Sigma, USA) for 30 min and visualized with an ultraviolet transilluminator.

Data analysis

Target DNA amplicon were scored (1 for band visible, 0 for no band visible) for each suitable marker (bp). Faint bands were considered. Results were then entered in NTedit 1.2a software according to the markers selected. Construction of a phylogenetic tree was done using NTSYSpc 2.10j (Numerical Taxonomy and Multivariate Analysis System version 2.1j) software.

RESULTS

By using six significant primers (OPA3, OPA4, OPA5, OPA9, OPA11 and OPA20), results revealed that the bands ranged from 4000 bp (OPA20) to ~ 300 bp (OPA5). OPA5 produced the most DNA fragments (7 fragments). Fig. 1 showed RAPD amplification of *S. agalactiae*

using OPA1 - OPA20 primers, which highlighted that different primers synthesize different molecular weight of bands. Primers that gave the most number of synthesized bands and the highest density of fragment bands (referring to the bright color on the agarose gels) were chose to use on the rest of the isolates. Figs. 2 - 7 showed RAPD amplification of *S. agalactiae* using OPA3, OPA4, OPA5, OPA9, OPA11 and OPA20. As referred to Figs. 2 - 7, some isolates looks similar but the faint band is the key that differentiates each isolate tested.

RAPD analysis

The band migration distances for each lane were determined and the molecular size of each fragment was calculated from migration distances. By using NTedit 1.2a, all data were entered as shown in Tables 2 - 7. The phylogenetic tree for the 5 different sampling





Figure 2 RAPD fingerprints of *S. agalactiae* using OPA3 primer. Differences between isolates can be seen in the faint band observed on the 1% agarose gel.



Figure 3. RAPD fingerprints of *S. agalactiae* using OPA4 primer. Differences between isolates can be seen in the faint band observed on the 1% agarose gel.



Figure 4. RAPD fingerprints of *S. agalactiae* using OPA5 primer. Differences between isolates can be seen in the faint band observed on the 1% agarose gel.

M N N N RT RT TPD TPD RK RK W W M



Figure 5 RAPD fingerprints of *S. agalactiae* using OPA9 primer. Differences between isolates can be seen in the faint band observed on the 1% agarose gel.

Figure 6 RAPD fingerprints of *S. agalactiae* using OPA11 primer. Differences between isolates can be seen in the faint band observed on the 1% agarose gel.

Figure 7 RAPD fingerprints of *S. agalactiae* using OPA20 primer. Differences between isolates can be seen in the faint band observed on the 1% agarose gel.

sites locations, Pedu Lake (TPD), Kenyir Lake (RT), Pergau Lake (RK), NTL Farm (N) and Wawasan Farm (W) was constructed. Cluster analysis generated two arbitrary groups. The phylogenetic tree (Fig. 8) revealed two major clusters. The first cluster showed two subclusters, which contained *S. agalactiae* isolated from four different sampling sites, while the second cluster showed that RK was totally different compared to the other *S. agalactiae* from the other sampling sites.

DISCUSSION

As shown in Fig. 8, the phylogenetic tree demonstrated that *S. agalactiae* isolated from RK are genetically different compared to the other *S. agalactiae* isolates. *S. agalactiae* isolated from RT, TPD, W and N were genetically similar as they are in the same cluster. However, *S. agalactiae* isolated from N were slightly different from the other even though they were in the same cluster. DNA sequencing is required to detect any slight mutation that may be present.





Band (kb)	RT	RK	TPD	W	Ν
4.00	0	0	0	0	0
3.50	1	1	1	1	1
2.50	1	1	1	1	1
2.25	0	0	0	0	0
2.00	0	0	0	0	1
1.80	0	0	0	0	0
1.70	0	0	0	0	0
1.40	0	0	0	0	0
1.50	0	0	0	0	0
1.25	1	1	1	1	1
1.00	0	0	0	0	0
0.80	0	1	0	0	0
0.75	0	0	0	0	0
0.60	0	0	0	0	0
0.40	0	0	0	0	0
0.30	0	0	0	0	0

Table 2

Band Scoring Table for isolates using OPA3 primer

Table 4

Band Scoring Table for isolates using OPA5 primer

Band (kb)	RT	RK	TPD	W	Ν
4.00	0	0	0	0	0
3.50	0	0	0	0	0
2.50	1	0	1	1	1
2.25	0	0	0	0	0
2.00	0	0	0	0	0
1.80	1	1	1	1	1
1.70	1	1	1	1	1
1.40	0	0	0	0	0
1.50	1	1	1	1	1
1.25	1	1	1	1	1
1.00	0	0	0	0	0
0.80	0	0	0	0	0
0.75	0	0	0	0	0
0.60	0	0	0	0	0
0.40	1	1	1	1	1
0.30	1	1	1	1	1

Table 3

Band Scoring Table for isolates using OPA4 primer

Band (kb)	RT	RK	TPD	W	N
4.00	0	0	0	0	0
3.50	1	1	1	1	1
2.50	0	0	0	0	0
2.25	0	0	0	0	0
2.00	0	0	0	0	0
1.80	0	0	0	0	0
1.70	0	0	0	0	0
1.40	0	0	0	0	0
1.50	1	1	1	1	1
1.25	1	1	1	1	1
1.00	0	0	0	0	0
0.80	0	0	0	0	0
0.75	1	1	1	1	1
0.60	1	1	1	1	1
0.40	1	1	1	1	1
0.30	0	0	0	0	0

Table 5

Band Scoring	Table	for	isolates	using
OPA9 primer				-

Band (kb)	RT	RK	TPD	W	Ν
4.00	0	0	0	0	0
3.50	0	0	0	0	0
2.50	1	1	1	1	1
2.25	0	0	0	0	0
2.00	0	0	0	0	0
1.80	0	0	0	0	0
1.70	0	0	0	0	0
1.40	0	0	0	0	0
1.50	0	0	0	0	0
1.25	1	1	1	1	1
1.00	1	1	1	1	1
0.80	0	0	0	0	0
0.75	0	0	0	0	0
0.60	0	0	0	0	0
0.40	0	0	0	0	0
0.30	0	0	0	0	0

Band (kb)	RT	RK	TPD	W	Ν
4.00	0	0	0	0	0
3.50	1	1	1	1	1
2.50	0	0	0	0	0
2.25	0	0	0	0	0
2.00	0	0	0	0	0
1.80	0	0	0	0	0
1.70	1	1	1	1	1
1.40	0	0	0	0	0
1.50	0	0	0	0	0
1.25	0	0	0	0	0
1.00	0	0	0	0	0
0.80	1	1	1	1	1
0.75	0	0	0	0	0
0.60	1	1	1	1	1
0.40	0	0	0	0	0
0.30	0	0	0	0	0

Table 6

Band Scoring Table for isolates using OPA11 primer

Table 7

Band Scoring	Fable	for	isolates	using
OPA20 primer				_

Band (kb)	RT	RK	TPD	W	Ν
4.00	1	1	1	1	1
3.50	0	0	0	0	0
2.50	0	0	0	0	0
2.25	0	0	0	0	0
2.00	0	0	0	0	0
1.80	0	0	0	0	0
1.70	0	0	0	0	0
1.40	0	0	0	0	0
1.50	1	1	1	1	1
1.25	1	1	1	1	1
1.00	0	0	0	0	0
0.80	0	0	0	0	0
0.75	0	1	0	0	1
0.60	1	1	1	1	1
0.40	0	0	0	0	0
0.30	0	0	0	0	0



From the phylogenetic tree, geographical relations were not shown to be a factor because RT, RK, W and N are located at the west of Malaysia, while TPD is located at the east of Malaysia. So, the main factor may be the source of the fish obtained or perhaps it was the results of transposable elements, insertions or deletions in the DNA that need further sequencing for confirmation.

RAPD is one of the most powerful methods to differentiate *S. agalactiae* strains. Six of the twenty primers tested showed significant bands, which enabled construction of a phylogenetic tree. Interestingly, RAPD can also differentiate each *S. agalactiae* isolates within the species due to polymorphisms. Generally, if more isolates of *S. agalactiae* from various part of Malaysia were studied, the phylogenetic tree constructed will represent more of *S. agalactiae* strains in Malaysia.

In conclusion, RAPD is a useful method in analyzing complexes of species (Moschetti *et al.*, 1997; Martinez *et al.*, 1999). It has several advantages such as requiring very little genomic DNA, simple methodology, it is useful when there is no prior knowledge of sequencing data and it does not require the use of hazardous materials. In a lactobacillus study, the RAPD techniques have been extensively used in the strain and intraspecies typing of lactic acid bacteria (Sylviya *et al.*, 2008). On the other hand, Pulsed Field Gel Electrophoresis (PFGE) and Amplified Fragment Length Polymorphism (AFLP) may be used in order to discriminate better between the isolates.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by Agro-Biotechnology Institute (ABI), Ministry of Science, Technology & Innovation, Malaysia (MOSTI) and NaFisH, Penang, Malaysia. We thank to all staff of Histopathology Laboratory, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Universiti Putra Malaysia for their excellent assistance.

REFERENCES

- Dimitonova, S.P., Bakalov, B.V., Aleksandrakova-Georgieva, R.N. and Danova, S.T. 2008. Phenotypic and molecular identification of lactobacilli isolated from vaginal secretions. *Journal of Microbiology Immunology and Infections* 41:469-477
- Ferguson, H.W., Morales, J.A. and Ostland, V.E. 1994. Streptococcosis in aquarium fish. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 19:1–6.
- Hoshina, T., Sano, T. and Morimoto, Y. 1958. A *Streptococcus* pathogenic to fish. *Journal Tokyo University Fisheries* 44:57-68.
- Martinez, G., Harel, J., Higgins, R., Lacouture, S., Daignault, D., Gottschalk, M. 1999. Characterization of *Streptococcus agalactiae* Isolates of Bovine and Human Origin by Randomly Amplified Polymorphic DNA Analysis. *Clinical Microbiology* 1:71–78.
- Moschetti, G., Blaiotta, G., Aponte, M., Catzeddy, P., Villani, F., Deiana, P. and Coppola, S. 1997. Random Amplified Polymorphic DNA and Amplified Ribosomal DNA Spacer

Polymorphisms: powerful method to differentiate *Streptococcus thermophilus* strains. *Applied Microbiology* 8:25-36

- Plumb, J.A. 1997. Infectious diseases of Tilapia. In: Tilapia Aquaculture in the Americas Vol. 1, Costa-Pierce, B.A. and Rakocy, J.E. (eds.), World Aquaculture Society. Baton Rouge, Louisiana. Pp. 212-228.
- Snowdon, R.J. and Langsdorf, A. 1998. An Introduction to DNA Fingerprinting Using RFLP and RAPD Techniques. In: Nucleic Acid Electrophoresis. Dietmar, T (ed.), Berlin; Heidelberg; New York: Springer. Pp. 99-128.

Digenean trematodes of cultured grouper (*Epinephelus coioides* and *E. bleekeri*) in Khanh Hoa Province, Vietnam

DUNG THE VO¹, GLENN ALLAN BRISTOW², DUNG THI VO¹ DUNG HUU NGUYEN³, THANH NHON NGUYEN NGUYEN¹ and TRUNG CONG TRAN⁴

 ¹ Research Institute for Aquaculture No.3., Nha Trang City, Khanh Hoa Province, Vietnam
 ² Department of Biology, University of Bergen, Bergen, Norway
 ³ Faculty of Aquaculture, University of Nha Trang, Nha Trang City Khanh Hoa Province, Vietnam
 ⁴University of Quang Binh, Quang Binh Province, Vietnam

ABSTRACT

Groupers are among the most important fish cultured in Vietnam and, recently, diseases due to parasites have led to massive losses for the aquaculture industry. To date, little research has been conducted on parasitic diseases of marine fish in Vietnam. To address this, 156 specimens, collected from January to December 2006, of pond- and cage-cultured *Epinephelus coioides* and *E. bleekeri*, with size ranging from 85 – 500 mm (mean = 286.8 \pm 96.4 mm) were examined. Results show that cultured grouper in Khanh Hoa Province, Vietnam were infected with adults of at least 5 digenean species. Three intestinal digeneans (Prosorhynchus epinepheli, P. pacificus, and Helicometra fasciata), one from the stomach (Erilepturus hamati), and one from the skin (Transversotrema patialense) were identified. Unidentified dydimozoids and metacercaria were found in the musculature. Prosorhynhcus *pacificus* had the highest prevalence of infection. There was a statistically significant difference between the prevalence of infection in *P. pacificus* in pond- and cage-cultured *E.* coioides (61% (20/33) prevalence in cage-cultured fish; 27% (9/33) in pond-cultured fish). Prosorhynhcus epinepheli is a first record for E. bleekeri; P. pacificus is a first record for E. coioides in Vietnam; E. hamati and H. fasciata are first records for E. coioides and E. bleekeri; T. patialense is a first record for Vietnam and for E. bleekeri. This is the first time that the Family Didymozoidae has been recorded in grouper in Vietnam, and a first record in *E. bleekeri*. The difference in intensities of infection of

Vo, D.T., Bristow, G.A., Nguyen, D.H., Vo, D.T., Nguyen, T.N.N. and Tran, T.C. 2011. Digenean trematodes of cultured grouper (*Epinephelus coioides* and *E. bleekeri*) in Khanh Hoa Province, Vietnam, pp. 39-52. *In* Bondad-Reantaso, M.G., Jones, J.B., Corsin, F. and Aoki, T. (eds.). Diseases in Asian Aquaculture VII. Fish Health Section, Asian Fisheries Society, Selangor, Malaysia. 385 pp.

Corresponding author: Dung The Vo, vothedung2000@yahoo.com

P. epinepheli and metacercariae in cage- and pond-cultured *E. bleekeri*, of *P. pacificus* and metacercaria in cage- and pond-cultured *E. coioides* were not statistically significant. Data on intensities of infection of the other digeneans were insufficient to be tested for statistical significance.

Key words: grouper, Vietnam, digenetic trematodes, parasites

INTRODUCTION

Groupers are widely cultured in South Europe and Asia, including Vietnam. In Vietnam, they have been used to replace black-tiger shrimp (*Penaeus monodon* Fabricius) and lobster (*Panulirus orgnatus* Fabricius, 1789) farming where disease outbreaks have made the culture of species economically unprofitable (Vo *et al.*, 2008a). Grouper culture provides a good source of income to the poor communities in some provinces in northern and central Vietnam (Vo *et al.*, 2008a). However, groupers are also sensitive to various diseases, and loss of grouper due to diseases has been estimated to cost many millions of dollars (Bondad-Reantaso *et al.*, 2005).

In Vietnam, groupers have been found infected with numerous parasites (Vo *et al.*, 2005, 2007a, 2007b, 2008a, 2008b, 2008c) including digenetic trematodes. Such parasites of marine and brackish water fish have been intensively studied in many countries. Previous to the above studies, the only English publication mentioning digeneans of Vietnamese grouper is the checklist of Arthur and Bui (2006).

While the impact of digeneans on their first intermediate hosts such as snails is clear (Muira and Chiba, 2007; Davies and Knowles, 2001), with specific exception of the blood dwelling sanguinicolids and some flesh dwelling didymozoids, their impact on fish has not often been observed, although some studies reported the impact of larval digeneans on fish (Olson and Pierce, 1997; Lauckner, 1984; Bristow, 1990). In order to evaluate the impact of digeneans to fish, it is first essential to know the composition, prevalence and intensity of infection of the digeneans in their hosts. The first aim of this study was to study these attributes in different fish hosts and of the same fish hosts collected from different culture systems. The second aim of this study was to assess if different culture systems cause differential effects to the parasitism of digeneans by comparing the prevalence and intensities of infection of the parasites.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Collection sites

Epinephelus coioides Hamilton, 1822, and *E. bleekeri* Vaillant, 1878, were collected live in ponds from Cua Be Estuary and Cam Ranh Bay, and from cages in Cua Be Estuary, Nha Trang and Van Phong Bays, Khanh Hoa Province, Vietnam, between January and December, 2006. The ponds had a surface area of 1,500-3,000 m², and were 1-1.5 m in depth. All the ponds were located in tidal zones. The ponds in Cua Be Estuary were fed by

brackish water (with salinity ranging between 10 and 27 ‰), while the ponds in Cam Ranh Bay were fed by marine water (with salinity ranging between 31 and 33 ‰). The fish density in the ponds was about 3-5 fish/m² of the pond bottom areas. The cages used for rearing fish were floating net cages. Each cage had a surface area of approximately 9 m² and was 3-4 m deep and they were often linked together in groups. The cages in Cua Be Estuary were in brackish water (with salinity ranging between 10 and 27 ‰), while the cages in Nha Trang and Van Phong bays were in marine water (with salinity fluctuating between 31 and 33 ‰). Fish density in the cages was from 5-100 fish/m² of the cage bottom area. Fish in the ponds and cages were fed daily with trash fish, snails, bivalves, and crustaceans.

Fish were transported in styrofoam boxes with water from the original environment with aeration, from collection sites to the Research Institute for Aquaculture No.3 in Nha Trang. They were then kept in cement tanks with marine water (salinity between 30-32 ‰) continual flow through before being examined for parasites.

Each fish specimen was identified using Heemstra and Randall (1993) before parasitic examination. The number of each fish species collected from each sampling site, the length, weight (mean +/- standard deviation) are given in Table 1.

Examination for parasites

Fork length and body weight of each fish specimen were measured. Fins were cut and examined under a stereomicroscope for metacercariae. Skin was scraped and placed on glass slide for digeneans. Each fish was then dissected and its internal organs were placed in separate Petri dishes containing saline solution. Each organ was examined using stereomicroscope for parasites. The gut and stomach were dissected and examined by eye and then under a stereomicroscope. The flesh was pressed using glass pieces and observed under a stereomicroscope.

Identification and enumeration of parasites

Fresh specimens of digeneans collected were photographed, fixed, drawn, and measured for identification.

Table 1

Length and weight of cage and pond cultured *E. coioides* and *E. bleeker*. The minimum and maximum values are given in parenthesis.

	Cage cult	tured fish	Pond cultured fish		
	E. coioides	E. bleekeri	E. coioides	E. bleekeri	
	(n=33)	(n=62)	(n=33)	(n=28)	
Mean length (mm)	351.6±41.0	256.5±86.7	327.8±110.1	227.9±76.3	
	(265.0-400.0)	(115.0-380.0)	(85.0-500.0)	(110.0-335.0)	
Mean weight (g)	644.8±253.7	309.5±246.4	709.2±448.5	216.8±208.4	
	(187.0-1055.0)	(20.0-760.0)	(6.0-2000.0)	(13.6-650.0)	

Data analysis

Standard parasitological parameters followed the recommendations in Bush *et al.* (1997). The prevalence of infection of each trematode species collected from cage- and pond-cultured host species was compared using a Chi-square test with Yates correction being employed if 5 or more fish were infected. When less than 5 fish were infected, the Fisher-exact test was used. The intensities of infection of the parasites between cage- and pond-cultured fish of the same species were compared using the Krusskal Wallis test, using a significance level of $\alpha = 0.05$.

RESULTS

The composition and the prevalence of infection of the parasites are given in Table 2. Five digeneans were identified to the species level. Adult trematodes include three species found in the intestines (*Prosorhynhcus epinepheli* Yamaguti, 1939; *P. pacificus* Manter, 1940; and *Helicometra fasciata* Rudolphi, 1819), one species found in the stomach (*Erilepturus hamati* (Yamaguti, 1934) Manter, 1947), and one species found in the skin (*Transversotrema patialense* Soparkar, 1924). An unidentified didymozoid in the flesh and unidentified metacercaria types in the fins were also found.

Table 2

Prevalences (P) and intensities (I) of infection of trematodes of cage- and pond-cultured *E. coioides* and *E. bleekeri*. The minimum and maximum values are given in parenthesis; *only 1 fish infected.

Parasites		Cage cult	tured fish		Pond cultured fish			
	Е. со	ioides	E. bleekeri		E. coioides		E. bleekeri	
	P (%)	Ι	P (%)	Ι	P (%)	Ι	P (%)	Ι
Prosorhynchus epinepheli	0.0		6.4	$ \begin{array}{c c} 30.8 \\ \pm 44.1 \\ (1; 95) \end{array} $	0.0		21.4	$ \begin{array}{c} 111.8 \\ \pm 175.7 \\ (1; 463) \end{array} $
Prosorhynchus pacificus	60.6	9.8 ±11.3 (1;39)	0.0		27.3	4.8 ±3.2 (2; 11)	0.0	
Erilepturus hamati	0.0		3.2	$ \begin{array}{c} 1.0 \pm 0.0 \\ (1; 1) \end{array} $	3.0	1*	0.0	
Helicometra fasciata	3.0	2*	1.6	1*	0.0		7.1	1.5 ±0.7 (1; 2)
Transversotrema patialense	0.0		3.2	1.0 ± 0.0 (1; 1)	0.0		0.0	
Didymozoidae	3.0	2*	1.6	1*	3.0	5*	0.0	
Metacercariae (in the fins)	6.1	1.3 ±0.6 (1; 2)	2.4	5.0 ±6.4 (1; 20)	9.1	3.7 ±3.8 (1; 8)	25.0	$22.3 \\ \pm 35.8 \\ (1; 101)$

A brief description of the parasites collected are shown below:

- 1. *Prosorhynhcus epinepheli*: body $(1,150 1,750) \times (350 750) \mu m$; rhynchus $(270 350) \times (260 330) \mu m$; gonads near midbody; testis slightly diagonal; vitellerium with 20-23 follicles, forming an arch between the rhynchus and stomach. This species was found in both cage- and pond-cultured *E. bleekeri*.
- 2. Prosorhynchus pacificus: body $(1,100 2,850) \times (360 1250) \mu m$; rhynchus (220 400) x (200 410) μm ; gonads near midbody; testis tandem; vitellerium with 18 24 follicles, forming 2 lateral lines from front testis up to near the rhynchus. This species was found in both cage- and pond-cultured *E. coioides*.
- 3. Erilepturus hamati: body $(1,100 2,525) \times (340 1,000) \mu m$; ecsoma present. This ecsoma can protrude or withdrawn into the body; ventral sucker much larger than oral sucker; ovary posterior to testis; vitellarium ribbon-shaped. This species was found in cage-cultured *E. bleekeri* and pond-cultured *E. coioides*.
- 4. *Helicometra fasciata*: body 2.605 x 1.000 μm; ventral sucker much larger than oral sucker; egg with long tail; ovary lobes anterior to testis; two testes tandem. This species was found in cage-cultured *E. coioides* and in pond-cultured *E. bleekeri*.
- 5. *Transversotrema patialense*: body flattened dorsal-ventrally $(480 1,000) \times (310,0 692,0) \mu m$; no oral sucker, ventral sucker small, rounded; testis big with 6-8 lobes; one ovary; eye-spots present; found under the scales. This species was found in cage-cultured *E. bleekeri*.
- 6. Unidentified didymozoid parasite: encapsulated; the capsulate is yellowish found in the flesh and operculum; body slender and whitish; ventral sucker large, in anterior half body. This parasite was found in cage-cultured *E. coioides* and *E. bleekeri* and pond-cultured *E. coioides*.
- 7. Unidentified metacercariae: the cysts were round or oval; some visible to naked eye; some are dark. Cysts were found in the fins of both *E. coioides* and *E. bleekeri* from both the cage- and pond-culture systems.

The highest (60.6%) and second highest prevalence of infection (27.3%) occurred among *P. pacificus* in cage- and in pond-cultured *E. coioides*, respectively. The prevalence of infection of other digeneans ranged between 1.6% (unidentified didymozoid in cage-cultured *E. bleekeri*) and 25.0% (unidentified metacercariae in pond-cultured *E. bleekeri*).

In each culture system, where both *E. coioides* and *E. bleekeri* were infected with the same digenean, *E. coioides* usually had the higher prevalence of infection. An exception was the prevalence of infection of the metacercaria in pond-cultured *E. coioides* and *E. bleekeri* where numbers were higher in the latter species.

The results of the comparison of the prevalence of each digenean in each fish species from cage- and pond-cultured system are given in Table 3. Results showed that only the prevalence of infection of cage- and pond-cultured *E. coioides* infected with *P. pacificus* were statistically significantly different (P = 0.01). In the other cases, the infection levels were either not sufficient to be compared or not statistically different.

Table 3

Comparison of the prevalence of trematode infected fish of the same species from cage and pond system.

Parasites	E. coioides			E.bleekeri			
	Cage cultured fish	Pond cultured fish	P value	Cage cultured fish	Pond cultured fish	P value	
Prosorhynchus epinepheli	0/33	0/33	-	4/62	6/28	0.06	
Prosorhynchus pacificus	20/33	9/33	0.01	0/62	0/28	-	
Erilepturus hamati	0/33	1/33	1.00	2/62	0/28	1.00	
Helicometra fasciata	1/33	0/33	1.00	1/62	2/28	0.22	
Transversotrema patialense	0/33	0/33	-	2/62	0/28	1.00	
Dydimozoidae	1/33	1/33	1.00	1/62	0/28	1.0	
Metacercaria (in the fins)	2/33	3/33	1.00	15/62	7/28	0.85	

The results of comparison of the intensities of infection of the digeneans in fish of the same species collected from cages and ponds are given in Table 4. This analysis showed that intensities of infection of the digeneans were not significantly different between cage- and pond-cultured hosts.

Table 4

Comparison of the intensities of digeneans in each fish species cultured in cage and pond systems (in the brackets are min and max of the respective values).

Parasites	E. coioides			E.bleekeri		
	Cage cultured fish	Pond cultured fish	P value	Cage cultured fish	Pond cultured fish	P value
Prosorhynchus epinepheli				30.8 ±44.1 (1; 95)	$111.8 \pm 175.7 (1; 463)$	0.67
Prosorhynchus pacificus	9.8±11.3 (1; 39)	4.8±3.2 (2; 11)	0.53			
Metacercaria (in the fins)	1.3±0.6 (1; 2)	3.7±3.8 (1; 8)	0.57	5.0±6.4 (1; 20)	22.3±35.8 (1; 101)	0.14

DISCUSSION

Digenean trematodes parasitise a wide-range of fish hosts, and are found in fresh, marine and brackish water fish and many species are found in numerous fish host species. They have been reported in 62 out of 159 species of groupers belonging to the sub-family Epinephelinea. Ninety percent of these host-parasite combinations have been reported only once or twice, and, no reports have suggested that groupers are free from trematode infections (Cribb *et al.*, 2002). This suggests that digenean trematodes in groupers have not been studied sufficiently.

In Vietnam, Arthur and Bui (2006) firstly gathered reports of digeneans in Vietnamese grouper. These authors mentioned digeneans parasitizing *Epinephelus moara* Bloch, 1793, *E. merra* Bloch, 1793, *E. sexfasciatus* Valenciennes, 1828 and *E. tauvina* Forsskåll, 1775. The cases reported by Arthur and Bui (2006) all occurred in the northern Vietnam, where *E. coioides* and *E. bleekeri* have not been reported as fish of natural distribution or in culture. Therefore, this study is the first to report digenean trematodes in *E. coioides* and *E. bleekeri* in Vietnam.

Groupers belonging to Family Serranidae have the fifth largest record of parasitic trematodes. The epinephelines ranks as the 10th largest number of host records for trematodes, harboring at least 147 trematode species (Cribb *et al.*, 2002). This ranking may be higher if trematodes in grouper had received more study. Sixteen species of trematodes are restricted to, and shared among, epinephelines (Cribb *et al.*, 2002). Leong and Wong (1990) found 3, 3, and 2 species of digeneans in cage-cultured *E. malabaricus* Bloch and Schneider, 1801 in Malaysia, Thailand and the Philippines, respectively. This study found 5 species, 1 family and an unidentified metacercaria in cultured *E. coioides* and *E. bleekeri*. Only *P. pacificus* was found by Leong and Wong (1990) and in the present study. This may be due to different fish host species examined.

The individual parasites identified in this study are discussed below:

- Prosorhynhcus epinepheli: This is a first record for this parasite in *E. bleekeri*, and it was not found in *E. coioides*. Arthur and Bui (2006) reported it from *E. tauvina*, *E. bruneus* Bloch, 1793, *E. sexfasciatus*, *E. merra* in Vietnam. While Cribb *et al.* (2002) listed 7 different hosts for this parasite, including *E. akaara* Temminck and Schlegel, 1842, *E. chlorostigma* Valenciennes, 1828, *E. cyanopodus* Richardson, 1846, *E. diacanthus* Valenciennes, 1828, *E. merra*, *E. quernus* Seale, 1901, *E. undulosus* Quoy and Gaimard, 1824. In addition, it was also found from *E. areolatus* Forsskåll, 1775 (Nahhas, Sey and Nakahara, 2006).
- 2. **Prosorhynhcus pacificus**: This is the first record for Vietnam and for *E. coioides*. This species had the highest prevalence of infection among the digeneans in this study, infesting up to 60.6% and 27.3% of cage and pond cultured *E. coioides*, respectively. This is still lower than the prevalence of infection of 97.2% found by Leong and Wong (1988) in cage cultured *E. malabaricus* in Malaysia. The mean intensities of infection found in this study were also much lower, being 9.8% and 4.8% in cage cultured and pond cultured *E. coioides*, while Leong and Wong (1988) found 81.2% in cage cultured *E. malabaricus*. Chinabut *et al.* (1996) reported it from cultured *E. coioides* in Thailand. Cribb *et al.* (2002) present records for *E. malabaricus* and *E. tauvina*. Both *E. malabaricus* and *E. tauvina* are often misidentified with *E. coioides* (Heemstra and Randall, 1993).
- 3. Erilepturus hamati: This species has been found in different fish species from various localities. It also has many synonyms; Bray et al. (1993) reported 25 synonyms of this species. It was reported in *E. malabaricus* in the Philippines (Arthur and Lumanlan-Mayo, 1997). Velasquez (1962) found this species in *Lates calcarifer* and described it as a new species, *Lecithochirium neopacificum*. Leong and Wong (1988) reported a

prevalence of infection of 15.7% of *E. malabaricus* and Chinabut *et al.* (1996) found this species in *E. coioides* in Thailand. This is the first record for this species in Vietnam, the first record for this parasite on *E. bleekeri*, and the first record on *E. coioides*.

- 4. *Helicometra fasciata*: This is the first record for *E. coioides* and *E. bleekeri*. Arthur and Bui (2006) recorded it from *E. sexfasciatus* in Vietnam. Cribb *et al.* (2002) reported it from *Epinephelus fasciatus* Forsskåll, 1775, *E. merra*, and *E. quoyanus* Valenciennes, 1830.
- 5. Transversotrema patialense: This is the first record for Vietnam and for E. bleekeri. Cribb, Bray and Barker (1992) reviewed the family Transversotrematidae and formally synonymised T. koliensis, T. laruei, T. chackai, T. soparkari with T. patialense. Transversotrema koliensis was originally described as Cercaria koliensis (Olivier, 1947). Transversotrema laruei was described by Velasquez (1958) from Lates calcarifer Bloch, 1790 in the Philippines, the fish being collected in brackish water. Transversotrema chackai was described by Mohandas (1973) from fresh water fish collected in the Chackai Canal in India. Transversotrema soparkari was described by Pandey (1971) from fish collected from India. Transversotrema patialense was described by Soparkar (1924) from India. Thus, T. patialense is found on fish either from fresh or/and brackish waters. In this study, this species was found in two cage cultured E. bleekeri from Cua Be Estuary, which is a brackish water area.
- 6. **Didymozoidae**: This is the first record from grouper in Vietnam, and the first record for *E. bleekeri*. In Vietnam, 5 species including *Didymozoon polymorphis* Oshmarin and Mamaev, 1963, *Monilicaecum ventricosum* Yamaguti, 1942, *Multtubovarium amphibolum* Mamaev, 1970, *Neomatanematobothrioides rachycentri* (Parukhin, 1969) Yamaguti, 1971 and *Torticaecum fenestratum* (Linton, 1907) Yamaguti, 1942 including some unidentified species belonging to this family have been reported from marine fish collected from Tonkin Gulf (Arthur and Bui, 2006). Globally, 7 genera of this family have been reported from epinepheline hosts, of which *Allonematobothrium* is most restricted to epinephelines with 5 out of 6 species being found only in this fish group (Cribb *et al.*, 2002). Cruz-Lacierda *et al.* (2001) reported *Gonapodasmius epinepheli* in *E. coioides*.
- 7. Metacercaria: Larval trematodes have been studied intensively in many countries. Metacercaria have been reported from brackish and marine waters in some countries in Asia, particularly from South Korea (Joo, 1984; Seo *et al.*, 1984; Chai and Lee, 2002). In Vietnam, Arthur and Bui (2006) reported records of digenean metacercariae found in some marine fish species such as *Drepane punctata*, *Ephippus orbis*, *Gerres philamentosus*. Vo *et al.* (2008b) reported a new record of the metacercaria of *Pygidiopsis suma*. In that paper, the authors also presented new records for *Heterophyopsis continua* and *Procerovum varium* metacercaria, while adult *H. continua* were reported by Nguyen (2000) from the sea gull (*Larus genei*).

Host-specificity has been studied for different parasites from different hosts and some studies have been conducted on the host-specificity of digenean trematode larvae; their hosts are usually mollusks (Möller and Anders, 1986). Generally, there are few references concerning fish host specificity of metacercaria or adult digeneans. Most of parasites

found in these studies seem to be able to parasitize different fish species. *Prosorhynhcus epinepheli* is found on many fish species (Cribb *et al.*, 2002; Arthur and Bui, 2006; Nahhas, Sey and Nakahara, 2006). *Erilepturus hamati* is found on different fish genera (Velasquez, 1962; Arthur and Lumanlan-Mayo, 1997; Bray *et al.*, 1993). In the present study, it was found in both fish hosts. *Helicometra fasciata* is found in numerous species of *Epinephelus* (Arthur and Bui, 2006; Cribb *et al.* 2002). It was found in both hosts in this study with similar prevalence of infection. *Transversotrema patialense* is found in different fish species in both fresh and brackish waters (Soparkar, 1924; Olivier, 1947; Velasquez, 1958; Pandey, 1971; Mohandas, 1973). *Epinephelus bleekeri* is a new host record for this digenean. Didymozoidae and metacercariae were not identified to species level. Many species of different genera belonging to didymozoidae have been reported as parasites of different fish species, thus, making it difficult to discuss if these parasites are specific to any host.

In this study, the only evidence of host specificity is with *P. pacificus*. However, this species has also been reported from *E. malabaricus*, *E. tauvina*, and *E. coioides* by different authors and from *E. coioides* in this study. As referred to earlier, there has often been confusion in identifying these host species. In this study, due to the limited number of specimens used, it is not possible to confirm host specificity of this species and further investigation is needed to clarify this.

Muira and Chiba (2007) and Davies and Knowles (2001) reviewed the impacts of digenean trematode larvae on snails and bivalves. The most serious impact is the reduction of reproduction capability, including castration (Lauckner, 1984; Crew and Esch, 1986). They may also affect the burrowing ability of bivalves (Lauckner, 1984). Serious impact of digeneans on human and other animals has been confirmed by many studies (Hong et al., 1996; Chai, Murrell and Lymbery, 2005; Sohn and Chai, 2005). It has also been confirmed that the two fish hosts in this study carry metacercaria of zoonotic trematodes (Vo et al., 2008b). While adult digeneans found in the intestines of fish do not normally cause problems in fish (Schäperclaus, 1986), Lauckner (1984) indicated that a single metacercaria of digenean trematode is sufficient to kill a fish larva. Ogawa, Nakatsugawa and Yasuzaki (2004) reported a case of gross pathology caused by infection with digenean trematode metacercaria in cyprinid fish (Zacco platypus Temminck & Schlegel, 1846 and Squalidus chankaensis chankaensis Dybowski, 1872) in Japan; bucephalids were believed to be the disease causing agents. Olson and Pierce (1997) reported cartilage proliferation phenomenon in steelhead trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss Walbaum, 1792) collected from Willamette River, United States of America; members of the families Heterophyidae and Cryptogonimidae were suggested to be the agents. Blazer and Gratzek (1985) reported another case of proliferation in gill cartilage of fish infected with metacercariae of a digenean trematode. Bristow (1990) found immature final stage digeneans associated with mortalities in "postage stamp" larvae of Atlantic halibut *Hippoglossus hippoglossus* Linnaeus, 1758. To date, there is no chemotherapy to control metacercaria stage of digeneans in fish (Post, 1987). The impact of intestinal digeneans to fish has not been studied intensively, although such parasites are very common in most fish populations.

Environmental effects of many parasitic diseases are well recognized (Liang et al., 2007) and parasites have been used as markers of biosystem health and stress (Marcogliese, 2005; Dzikowski, Paperna and Diamant, 2003). Landsberg et al. (1998) showed that parasites of fish are more sensitive to environmental stress than are the fish themselves. These authors described the response of specific parasites to particular environmental factors, for example, the response of monogeneans to temperature, nematodes to contaminants and protists to low dissolved oxygen. The parasite community may also be affected by the presence and/or relative abundance of benthic macro-invertebrates, many of which are intermediate hosts in the digenean lifecycle (Möller and Anders, 1986). In this study, fish in ponds and cages are living in two different environmental systems. The fish density in ponds was much lower than that in cages, the depth of the cage was usually 3-4 meters, while that of the ponds was 1.0-1.5 meters, the surface area of the ponds was much larger than that of the cages. These differences may contribute to different parasite burdens of *P. pacificus* on cage- and pond-reared E. coioides. Other than P. pacificus, there was no difference in the prevalence of infection of the other parasites between the two culture systems; this may be due to the relatively small sample size. The life cycles of these parasites are complicated; the prevalence of infection may be affected by the biology of the intermediate host rather than environmental factors.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This research is funded by the Norwegian Program for Development, Research and Education in Developing countries (NUFU). Thanks to the Research Institute for Aquaculture No.3 for assistance in running the research smoothly. Special thanks go to Dr. Nguyen Thi Xuan Thu for help and encouragement. Many thanks are due to D.K. Murrell and R. Overstreet for their invaluable help in identifying the trematodes.

REFERENCES

- Arthur, J.R. and Bui, T.Q. 2006. Check list of the parasites of fishes of Vietnam. *FAO Fisheries Technical Paper* No. 369/2. FAO, Rome, Italy, 133 pp.
- Arthur, J.R. and Lumanlan-Mayo, S. 1997. Check list of the parasites of fishes of the Philippines. *FAO Fisheries Technical Paper* No. 369. FAO, Rome, Italy. 111 pp.
- Blazer, V.S. and Gratzek, J.B. 1985. Cartilage proliferation in response to metacercarial infections of fish gills. *Journal of Comparative Pathology* 95:273-280.
- Bondad-Reantaso, M.G. Subasinghe, R.P. Arthur, J.R. Ogawa, K. Chinabut, S. Adlard, R. Tan, Z. and Shariff, M. 2005. Disease and health management in Asia aquaculture. *Veterinary Parasitology* 132:249-272.
- Bray, R.A., Cribb, T.H. and Barker, S.C. 1993. Hemuiridae (Digenea) from marine fishes of the Great Barrier Reef, Queensland, Australia. *Systematic Parasitology* 25:37-62.
- Bristow, G.A. 1990. Mortalities in larval and juvenile halibut at the start feeding stage. Dødelighet hos kveitelarver og yngel in startfôringsfasen. Norsk Fiskeoppdrett nr. 15-90:40-43 (In Norwegian).

- Bush, A.O., Lafferty, K.D., Lotz, J.M. and Shostak, A.W. 1997, Parasitology meets ecology on its own terms: Margolis *et al.* revisited. *Journal of Parasitology* 83:575-583.
- Chai, J.-Y. and Lee, S.-H. 2002. Food-borne intestinal trematode infections in the Republic of Korea. *Parasitology International* 51:129-154.
- Chai, J.Y., Murrell, K.D. and Lymberi, A.J. 2005. Fish-borne parasitic zoonoses: Status and issues. *International Journal for Parasitology* 35:1233-1254.
- Chinabut, S. Lerssutthichawal, T. and Laoprasert, T. (1996). Parasites of grouper (*E. coioides*) cultured in Thailand. (Accessed on July 12, 2008 at http://rfdp.seafdec.org. ph/research/biology%20path/parsite%20grouper.html.
- Crew, A.E. and Esch, G.W. 1986. Seasonal dynamics of *Halipegus occidualis* (Trematoda: Hemuiridae) in *Helisoma anceps* and its impact on fecundity of the snail host. *The Journal of Parasitology* 72:646-651.
- Cribb, T.H., Bray, R.A., Wright, T. and Pichelin, S. 2002. The Trematodes of grouper (Serranidae: Epinephelinae): Knowledge, nature and evolution. *Parasitology, Supplement* 124:23-42.
- Cribb, T.H., Bray, R.A. and Barker, S.C. 1992. A review of the family Transversotrematidae (Trematoda: Digenea) with the description of a new genus, *Cruziella*. *Invertebrate Taxonomy* 6:909-935.
- Cruz-Lacierda, E.R., Lester, R.J.G., Eusebio, P.S., Marcial, H.S. and Pedrajas, S.A.G. 2001. Occurrence and histopathogenesis of a didymozoid trematode (*Gonapodasmius epinepheli*) in pond-reared orange-spotted grouper, *Epinephelus coioides. Aquaculture* 201:211-217.
- Davies, M.S. and Knowles, A.J. 2001. Effects of trematode parasitism on the behaviour and ecology of a common marine snail (Littorina littorea (L.)). *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* 260:155-167.
- Dzikowski, R., Paperna, I. and Diaman, A. 2003. Use of fish parasite species richness indice in analyzing anthropogenically impact coastal marine systems. *Halgoland Marine Research* 53:220-227.
- Heemstra, P.C. and Randall, J.E. 1993. FAO Species catalogue. Vol. 16. Grouper of the world. *FAO Fisheries Synopsis* No. 125. Rome, Italy, 382 pp.
- Hong, S.-J. Chung, C.-K. Lee, D.-H. and Woo, H.-C. 1996. One human case of natural infection by *Heterophyopsis continua* and three other species of intestinal trematodes. *The Korean Journal of Parasitology* 34:87-90.
- Joo, C.-Y. 1984. Infestation of larval trematodes from fresh-water fish and brackish-water fish in River Hyungsan, Kyungpook Province, Korea. *The Korean Journal of Parasitology* 22:78-84.
- Landsberg, J.H., Blakesley, B.A., Reese, R.O., Morae, G. and Forstchen, P.R. 1998. Parasites of fish as indicators of environmental stress. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment* 51:211-232.
- Lauckner, G. 1984. Impact of trematode parasitism on the fauna of a North Sea tidal flat. *Hellander Marine Research Institute* 37: 185-199.
- Leong, T.S. and Wong, S.Y. 1990. Parasites of healthy and diseased juvenile grouper (*Epinephelus malabaricus* (Bloch and Schneider)) and Seabass (*Latest Calcarifer* (Bloch)) in floating cage in Penang Malaysia. *Asian Fisheries Science* 3:319-327.

- Leong, T. S. and Wong, S.Y. 1988. A comparative study of the parasite fauna of wild and cultured grouper (*Epinephelus malabaricus* Bloch et Schneider) in Malaysia, *Aquaculture* 68:203-207.
- Liang, S., Seto, E.Y.W., Remais, J.V., Zhong, B., Yang, C., Hubbard, A., Davis, G.M., Gu, X., Qiu, D. and Spear, R.C. 2007. Environmental effects on parasitic disease transmission exemplified by schistosomiasis in western China. *The National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 104:7110-7115.
- Marcogliese, D.J. 2005. Parasites of the supororgnism: Are they indicators of ecosystem health? *International Journal for Parasitology* 35:705-716.
- Miura, O. and Chiba S. 2007. Effects of trematode double infection on the shell size and distribution of snail hosts. *Parasitology International* 56:19-22.
- Mohandas, A. 1973. *Transversotrema chackai* sp. nov. adult of *Cercaria chackai*, from fishes (Digenea: Transversotrematidae). *Hydrobiologia* 43:183-188.
- Möller, H. and Anders, K. 1986. Diseases and Parasites of Marine Fishes. Verlag Möller, Kiel, 365 pp.
- Nahhas, F.M., Sey, O. and Nakahara, G. 2006. Digenetic trematodes of marine fishes from Arabian Gulf off the coast of Kuwait. Family Bucephalidae Poche, 1907, and the description of a new species. *Helminthologia* 43:147-153.
- Nguyen, L.T. 2000. The Fauna of Vietnam. Vol. 8. Animal and human parasitic trematodes. Publishing House for Science and Technology, Hanoi, Vietnam, 387 pp. (In Vietnamese).
- Ogawa, K., Nakatsugawa, T. and Yasuzaki, M. 2004. Heavy metacercarial infections of cyprinid fishes in Uji River. *Fisheries Science* 70:132-140.
- Olivier, L. 1947. A new fork-tailed cercaria from Guadalcanal. *The Journal of Parasitology* 33:234-240.
- Olson, R.E. and Pierce, J.R. 1997. A trematode metacercaria causing gill cartilage proliferation in Steelhead Trout from Oregon. *Journal of Wildlife Diseases* 33:886-890.
- Pandey, K.C. 1971. On a rare cercaria, *Cercaria soparkari*, n. sp.(Transversotrematidae) from Lucknow, India. *Journal of Helminthology*, 45:321-326.
- Post, G. 1987. Text book of fish health. T.F.H. Publications Inc. United State of America, 288 pp.
- Rückert, S. 2006. Marine fish parasites in Indonesia. Faculty of Mathematics and Nature, The Heinrich-Hein University (In German).
- Schaperclaus, W. 1986. Fischkrankheiten, Volumes 1 and 2. Akademie-Verlag, Berlin, 1398 pp. (Translated by Dr. M.S.R. Chari for the United Stated Department of Interior, by Amerind Publishing Co., PVT., LTD, New Delhi, India, 1991. TT 81-52150/1).
- Seo, B.-S. Lee, S.-H. Chai, J.-Y. and Hong, S.-H. 1984. Studies on intestinal trematodes in Korea XIII. Two cases of natural human infection by *Heterophyopsis continua* and the status of metacercarial infection in brackish water fishes. *The Korean Journal of Parasitology* 22:51-60.
- Sohn, W.-M. and Chai, J.-Y. 2005. Infection status with helminthes in feral cats purchased from a market in Busan, Republic of Korea. *The Korean Journal of Parasitology* 43:93-100.

- Soparkar, M.B. 1924. A new cercaria from northern India, *Cercaria patialense* n. sp. *Indian Journal of Medical Research* 11:933-942.
- Velasquez, C.C. 1962. Some Hemuirid trematodes from Philippine fishes. *The Journal of Parasitology* 48:539-544.
- Velasquez, C.C. 1958. *Transversotrema laruei*, a new trematode of Philippine fish (Digenea: Transversotrematodae). *The Journal of Parasitology* 44:449-451.
- Vo, Dung The, Bristow, G.A., Nguyen, D.H. and Vo, D.T. 2008a. Parasitism of two species of *Caligus* (Copepoda: Caligidae) on wild and cultured grouper in Vietnam. *Journal of the Fisheries Society of Taiwan* 35:1-9.
- Vo, Dung The, Murrell, K.D., Dalsgaard, A., Bristow, G.A., Nguyen, D.H., Bui, T.N., and Vo, D.T. 2008b. Prevalence of zoonotic metacercariae in two species of Grouper, *Epinephelus coioides* and *E. bleekeri*, and Flathead Mullet, *Mugil cephalus* in Vietnam. *Korean Journal of Parasitology* 46:77-82.
- Vo, Dung The, Bristow, G.A., Nguyen, D.H. and Vo, D.T. 2008c. Some parasitic crustaceans of wild seed and pond cultured grouper in Khanh Hoa Province, Vietnam, pp. 323-332. *In* Bui, L.H., Nguyen, L.N., Nguyen, A.T., Le, P.T., Nguyen, P.H., Nguyen, D.H., Le, T.P., Doan, H.N., Tran, L.M., Vo, T.S., La, B.V., and Pham, T.V. (eds.). The National Scientific Conference Bien Dong-2007. Publishing House for Science and Technology. (In Vietnamese with English abstract).
- Vo, Dung The, Bristow, G.A., Nguyen, D.H., Nguyen, X.T.T. and Vo, D.T. 2007a. The composition and prevalences of monogenea of cage and pond culture grouper in Khanh Hoa Province, Vietnam. *The Fisheries Review* 6/2007:29-31. (In Vietnamese).
- Vo, Dung The, Bristow, G.A., Nguyen, D.H., Vo, D.T., Tran, L.T. and Nguyen, T.N.N. 2007b. The composition, prevalences and intensities of monogenea of wild grouper seed in Khanh Hoa Province, *Science and Technology Journal of Agriculture and Rural Development* 18/2007:45-48. (In Vietnamese with English abstract).
- Vo, Dung The, Bristow, G.A., Nguyen, D.H., Vo, D.T. and Nguyen, T.T.T. 2005. The parasite fauna of grouper belonging to *Epinephelus* in Khanh Hoa Province. *Journal of Marine Science and Technology* 4(T.5)/2005:247-254. (In Vietnamese with English abstract).

Parasitic caligid copepods of farmed marine fishes in the Philippines

ERLINDA R. CRUZ-LACIERDA¹, GREGORIA ERAZO-PAGADOR², ATSUSHI YAMAMOTO¹ and KAZUYA NAGASAWA³

¹ Faculty of Fisheries, Kagoshima University, Japan ² Aquaculture Department, Southeast Asian Fisheries Development Center, Tigbauan, Iloilo, Philippines ³ Graduate School of Biosphere Science, Hiroshima University, Japan

ABSTRACT

Recently, heavy infestation of caligid copepods occurred among farmed rabbitfish *Siganus guttatus*, pompano *Trachinotus blochii* and sea bass *Lates calcarifer* in the Philippines. In *S. guttatus* broodstock, *Caligus epidemicus*, *Pseudocaligus uniartus* and *Lepeophtheirus sigani* concurrently caused severe erosion and hemorrhaging of the body surface, fins and eyes of affected fish occurring at 95.78%, 1.52% and 0.70% of the parasite load, respectively, and with associated mortality of the host fish. In marketable-sized *T. blochii*, *L. spinifer* caused body lesions that considerably reduced the market value of harvested fish. In *L. calcarifer* juveniles, infestation with *C. epidemicus* resulted to loss of appetite, lethargy and stunted growth of affected fish. Because of its pathogenicity, low host specificity and tolerance to brackish water, *C. epidemicus* poses the highest threat to farmed marine fish in the Philippines. *Lates calcarifer* and *T. blochii* are new host records for *C. epidemicus* and *L. spinifer*, respectively. This is also the first record of *L. spinifer* in the Philippines.

Key words: caligid, rabbitfish, pompano, sea bass, sea lice

Cruz-Lacierda, E.R., Pagador, G.E., Yamamoto, A. and Nagasawa, K. 2011. Parasitic caligid copepods of farmed marine fishes in the Philippines, pp. 53-62. *In* Bondad-Reantaso, M.G., Jones, J.B., Corsin, F. and Aoki, T. (eds.). Diseases in Asian Aquaculture VII. Fish Health Section, Asian Fisheries Society, Selangor, Malaysia. 385 pp.

Corresponding author: Erlinda Cruz-Lacierda, eclacierda@yahoo.com
INTRODUCTION

Marine fishes including rabbitfish (*Siganus guttatus*), pompano (*Trachinotus blochii*) and sea bass (*Lates calcarifer*) are widely cultured in Southeast Asian countries. In the Philippines, the nursery and grow-out phases of culture of marine fishes are conducted in floating net cages or earthen ponds. With the intensification of the aquaculture industry in the region, heavy losses due to diseases including viral, bacterial and parasitic infections have become one of the current major concerns (Leong, 1998; APEC/SEAFDEC, 2001; Ho *et al.*, 2004; Moravec, Cruz-Lacierda and Nagasawa, 2004; Nagasawa and Cruz-Lacierda, 2004).

One parasitic problem consistently observed in marine and brackish water fish culture throughout the world is the infestation with copepods belonging to family Caligidae or commonly known as sea lice. The impacts of sea lice infection in farmed marine fishes have been recently reviewed, with reported disease outbreaks and high mortalities (Johnson *et al.*, 2004; Lester and Hayward, 2006). The problem of parasitic copepods as disease causing agent has become not only more frequent but also more intensive. In this paper, we report three disease cases associated with caligid infestation on cultured *S. guttatus*, *T. blochii* and *L. calcarifer* in the Philippines.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Siganus guttatus. Recently, an extremely heavy infestation of caligid copepods with associated mortality occurred among tank-reared broodstock of rabbitfish S. guttatus at the Aquaculture Department of the Southeast Asian Fisheries Development Center (SEAFDEC AQD) in Iloilo, Philippines. The fish were being used for nutritional requirement studies when the infestation occurred. Twenty five fish each (total length [TL] = 26-29 (mean 28) cm; body weight [BW] = 250-500 (mean 400) g) were reared in two 10-tonne circular, canvas tanks. The fish were a mixture of wild-caught and hatchery-reared broodstock. Fish were fed twice daily at 3% of body weight with formulated diet and supplied with flow through sand-filtered water and aeration. Water temperature and salinity ranges recorded during the experiment were 27-29°C and 30-32 ppt, respectively. Five months into the experiment, the experimental fish developed severe erosion and hemorrhaging of the body surface with associated mortality. Two severely affected fish were sacrificed, body measurements were taken, and examined for external and internal parasites. Live caligids were observed microscopically and measurements were taken. The rest of the caligids were fixed in 70% ethanol. The remaining infected rabbitfish broodstocks were subjected to flow through freshwater for four hrs as an immediate control measure.

Trachinotus blochii. Marketable-sized cage-cultured pompano *T. blochii* exhibited disease signs such as loss of appetite, weakening, thinning and with areas of scale loss on the body surface. The affected fish (mean BW=350 g, n=10) had been cultured for one year, prior to the observation of disease signs, in 5 x 5 x 5 m floating net cages in a commercial farm located in Morong, Bataan, west of Bataan province in Central Luzon, Philippines.

Fish were fed twice daily at 1.5-5% of body weight with a commercial diet. Affected stocks showing disease signs were immediately harvested and iced prior to marketing. During this time, iced fish exhibited obvious hemorrhagic lesions on the body surface, with heavy infestation of parasites on affected areas. The parasites were collected, preserved in 10% formalin and submitted to one of the authors (E.R. Cruz-Lacierda) for identification. Water temperature and salinity prior to fish harvest were 29-30°C and 30 ppt, respectively. The remaining stocks, upon our recommendation, were bathed in freshwater for 15 min as an immediate control measure. Two weeks after the incidence, ten fish were brought to the laboratory and examined for the presence of caligids. Collected caligids were preserved in 70% ethanol and examined under the microscope for morphological study.

Lates calcarifer. Sea bass *L. calcarifer*, cultured in 3 x 2 x 1.3 m floating net cages installed inside an earthen pond at Dumangas Brackishwater Station of SEAFDEC AQD, with stocking density of 40 fish per sq. m., exhibited disease signs such as loss of appetite, weakening and stunted growth during an experiment on formulated diets for grow-out culture of *L. calcarifer* in ponds. Affected fish (TL=8.6-11.7 (mean 10.4) cm; BW=8-13 (mean 10.9) g, n=10) were collected, transported live to the laboratory and examined for external and internal parasites.

RESULTS

Siganus guttatus. The fish showed severe erosion and hemorrhaging of the skin on the ventral side of the body, particularly below and between the pectoral and pelvic fins (Fig. 1). The eyes and fins also show hemorrhagic lesions. A 10% mortality was recorded among the affected stock. Continuous heavy rains that made incoming water turbid were also noted a few days before manifestation of disease signs.



Figure 1. Siganus gutattus infested with caligid copepods showing extensive areas of erosion and hemorrhages on the antero-ventral side. Note hemorrhagic eye with caligid copepod.

The affected fish showed heavy infestation of caligid copepods. They were attached to the body surface (Fig. 2), eyes and fins of the host fish. Further examination of the collected parasites revealed three species of caligids, *Caligus epidemicus* Hewitt, 1971, *Pseudocaligus uniartus* Ho, Kim, Cruz-Lacierda and Nagasawa, 2004 and *Lepeophtheirus sigani* Ho, Kim,



Figure 2. *Siganus gutattus* with caligid copepods on body surface.

Cruz-Lacierda and Nagasawa, 2004, with *C. epidemicus* occurring at 95.78% of the parasite load (Table 1). Most of the *C. epidemicus* were pre-adult, adult and ovigerous females. Adult females (n=20) and males (n=20) of *C. epidemicus* were 2.14 mm (range: 2.03-2.33) and 1.47 mm (range: 1.35-1.55) in mean body length (MBL), respectively. *Pseudocaligus uniartus* occurred at 1.52% and the adult females (n=4) and males (n=7) were 2.10 mm (range: 1.85-2.30) and 1.99 mm (range: 1.90-2.05) in MBL, respectively. A lower percentage of *L. sigani* occurred at 0.70% and the adult females (n=2) and adult males (n=4) were 2.37 mm (2.28-

Table 1

Intensity of caligid copepods on the body surface of rabbitfish *Siganus gutattus* broodstocks kept in land-based tanks of SEAFDEC AQD in Iloilo.

Fish no	TL (cm)	BW (g)	C. e.	P. u.	L. s.	Chal	Total
1	29	350	660	10	6	17	693
2	26	270	157	3	0	0	160

TL, total length; BW, body weight; C. e., Caligus epidemicus; P. u., Pseudocaligus uniartus; L. s., Lepeophtheirus sigani; Chal, chalimus larvae

2.45) and 1.58 mm (1.40-1.75) in MBL, respectively. A few chalimus larvae (1.99%) were also collected from the fins. As the majority of the caligids recovered were identified as *C. epidemicus*, we presume that the chalimus larvae recovered belong to *C. epidemicus*.

Examination of the internal organs revealed the camallanid nematode *Procamallanus* guttatusi (Andrade-Salas, Pineda-Lopez and Garcia-Magaña, 1994) in the stomach and intestine of one rabbitfish at an intensity of six and seven, respectively. No other external and internal parasites were observed.

The remaining infected stock when subjected to flow-through freshwater for four hrs dislodged and killed the caligids from the body surface of the rabbitfish. The fish when returned to full seawater with a salinity of 32 ppt recovered and no caligid infection was observed when fish were reexamined, thereafter.

Trachinotus blochii. Examination of the collected parasites (n=60) from the body surface of *T. blochii* revealed that they belong to family Caligidae and was identified as

Lepeophtheirus spinifer Kirtisinghe, 1937 by the fifth leg of females overreaching the caudal rami and carrying three plumose setae on the dorsal side (Pillai, 1985). The adult males (n=10) and females (n=10) of *L. spinifer* measured 2.73 (range: 2.40-2.88) and 4.24 (range: 4.05-4.40) mm in MBL, respectively. The affected fish carried approximately 50 copepods per fish (n=10) (J. Nealaga, pers. comm.). The harvested stocks when marketed have considerably reduced market value because of the lesions on the body surface (J. Nealaga, pers. comm.). The remaining infected *T. blochii* that were bathed in freshwater for 15 min and examined (n=10 fish) two weeks after the infection also carried *L. spinifer* with a prevalence of infection of 100% and mean intensity of infection of 3.7 (range: 1-5).

Lates calcarifer. Examination of affected *L. calcarifer* (n=10) showed 100% prevalence of *C. epidemicus* with a mean intensity of 12.7 (range: 6-35). Although there was no mortality involved, the fish manifested disease signs such as loss of appetite and lethargy with reduced growth rate as the most obvious (E. Coniza, pers. comm.). Adult females (n=10) and males (n=10) of *C. epidemicus* were 2.10 (range: 1.88-2.28) and 1.50 (range: 1.38-1.55) mm in MBL, respectively. No other parasite was recovered in all examined fish.

DISCUSSION

Parasitic copepods belonging to family Caligidae, also known as sea lice, with those belonging to two genera *Caligus* and *Lepeophtheirus* are the most commonly reported species on marine and brackish water cultured and wild marine fish (Ho, 2000, 2004; Johnson *et al.*, 2004). In the Asia-Pacific region, many caligid species have been reported to affect growth and survival of their hosts (e.g. Fujita, Yoda and Ugajin, 1968; Hewitt, 1971; Laviña, 1978; Jones, 1980; Lin and Ho, 1993; Lin, Ho and Chen, 1996b), especially in intensive aquaculture systems.

Caligus epidemicus has been reported to be widely distributed and caused mass mortality in several species of fish in Australia (Hewitt, 1971) and in tilapia in Taiwan (Lin and Ho, 1993; Lin, Ho and Chen, 1996a). In the Philippines, *C. epidemicus* has been recorded on at least 12 host fishes, with a high prevalence rate and at high intensity (Natividad, Bondad-Reantaso and Arthur, 1986; Ho *et al.*, 2004). However, *L. calcarifer* has not been previously recorded as host for *C. epidemicus*. Thus, *L. calacarifer* is a new host record for *C. epidemicus*.

Among the caligids reported here, *C. epidemicus* poses the highest threat to marine aquaculture in Asian waters because of its pathogenicity, low host specificity and tolerance to brackish water (Hewitt, 1971; Ho, 2000, 2004; Ho *et al.*, 2004). The other caligids, *P. uniartus* and *L. sigani* have been reported to be host-specific to rabbitfishes (Ho *et al.*, 2004) while *L. spinifer* so far has been recorded from *Chlorinemus* sp. in Sri Lanka (Kirtisinghe, 1937) and from *C. lysan, C. tala* and *Rachycentron canadus* in India

(Pillai, 1985). *Trachinotus blochii* is a new host record for *L. spinifer*. The checklist of parasites of fishes from the Philippines (Arthur and Lumanlan-Mayo, 1997) shows that this is also the first record of *L. spinifer* in the country.

The morphology of *C. epidemicus* has been previously described (Ho and Lin, 2004) as well as *P. uniartus* and *L. sigani* (Ho *et al.*, 2004). The morphology of *L. spinifer* will be re-described in a separate paper.

In the present study, majority of the *C. epidemicus* were pre-adult, adult and ovigerous stages, with chalimus larvae comprising only two percent of the caligid population. It has been reported in previous studies that the highest proportion of pre-adult and adult *Lepeophtheirus salmonis* in sea trout (*Salmo trutta*) coincided with the lowest prevalence of chalimus larvae (Tully *et al.*, 1993; Tingley, Ives and Russell, 1997; Schram *et al.*, 1998) and that such pattern is an indication of low transmission rate of the parasite.

Although severe erosion of the skin was confined on the ventral portion of the head, many copepods were also observed on the whole body surface, fins and eyes of the rabbitfish, similar to *C. epidemicus* infection on yellowfin bream, *Acanthopagrus australis* (Roubal, 1994). The lesions on the body surface of affected fish could be attributed to the feeding activity of the parasite (Kabata, 1974; Urawa and Kato, 1991). Further, similar disease signs and mortality caused by two caligids (*L. atypicus* and *C. oviceps*) were reported on another rabbitfish, *S. fuscescens*, cultured in Taiwan (Lin, Ho and Chen, 1996b). Parasitic copepods have been reported to feed on host's mucus, tissues and blood (Johnson *et al.*, 2004).

It is highly possible that the wild-caught rabbitfish broodstocks used in the experiment may have had prior infection. The turbid incoming water brought about by continuous heavy rains may have also contributed to the outbreak of caligids in rabbitfish. The pompano and sea bass seed stocks, however, were hatchery-produced. Thus, caligid infections may have originated from the wild fish present in the vicinity of culture area and/or from other cultured fish species in the same culture site.

As an immediate control measure, bathing the remaining infected rabbitfish in flowthrough freshwater for four hrs prevented further infection and mortality. The fish recovered (J.B. Gonzaga, pers. comm.) and no subsequent caligid infection was observed. The use of freshwater to control caligids and other marine parasites has been previously recorded (e.g. Urawa and Kato, 1991; Zafran *et al.*, 1998, 2000; Cruz-Lacierda *et al.*, 2004).

The use of chemicals such as formalin and hydrogen peroxide has been reported against caligids on groupers (Zafran *et al.*, 1998, 2000; Koesharyani *et al.*, 2001; Cruz-Lacierda and Pagador, 2004). However, control methods to prevent settlement, molting, growth and maturation of caligids should be looked into.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was funded by the Asia CORE Program of the Japan Society for the Promotion of Science (JSPS). Part of this study was done using the facilities of SEAFDEC Aquaculture Department (AQD) in Iloilo, Philippines. We also thank J.B. Gonzaga and E. Coniza of SEAFDEC-AQD and J. Nealaga of Santeh Feeds Corporation for providing the fish samples and Mila Cataños for editing an earlier draft of the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- APEC/SEAFDEC. 2001. Husbandry and health management of grouper. APEC, Singapore and SEAFDEC, Iloilo, Philippines, 94 pp.
- Arthur, J.R. and Lumanlan-Mayo, S. 1997. Checklist of the parasites of fishes of the Philippines. *FAO Fisheries Technical Paper*, No. 369, Rome, Italy, 102 pp.
- Cruz-Lacierda, E. R. and Erazo-Pagador, G. 2004. Parasitic diseases, pp. 33-57. *In* Nagasawa, K. and Cruz-Lacierda, E. R. (eds.). Diseases of Cultured Groupers. SEAFDEC Aquaculture Department, Iloilo, Philippines.
- Cruz-Lacierda, E. R., Maeno, Y., Pineda, A. J. T. and Matey, V. E. 2004. Mass mortality of hatchery-reared milkfish (*Chanos chanos*) and mangrove red snapper (*Lutjanus argentimaculatus*) caused by *Amyloodinium ocellatum* (Dinoflagellida). *Aquaculture* 236:85-94.
- Fujita, S., Yoda, M. and Ugajin, I. 1968. Control of an endoparasitic copepod, *Caligus spinosus* Yamaguti, on the cultured adult yellowtail. *Fish Pathology* 2:122-127. (in Japanese)
- Hewitt, G.C. 1971. Two species of *Caligus* (Copepoda, Caligidae) from Australian waters, with a description of some developmental stages. *Pacific Science* 25:145-164.
- Ho, J.-S. 2000. The major problem of cage aquaculture in Asia relating to sea lice, pp. 13-19. In Liao, I. C. and Lin, C. K. (eds.). Cage Aquaculture in Asia. Proceedings of the First International Symposium on Cage Aquaculture in Asia. Asian Fisheries Society, Manila, Philippines and World Aquaculture Society-Southeast Asian Chapter, Bangkok, Thailand.
- Ho, J.-S. 2004. Invasiveness of sea lice (Copepoda: Caligidae) in marine aquaculture. *Journal of Fisheries Society of Taiwan* 31:85-99.
- Ho, J.-S., Kim, I.-H., Cruz-Lacierda, E.R. and Nagasawa, K. 2004. Sea lice (Copepoda: Caligidae) parasitic on marine cultured and wild fishes of the Philippines. *Journal of Fisheries Society of Taiwan* 31:235-249.
- Ho, J.-S. and Lin, C.-L. 2004. Sea lice of Taiwan (Copepoda: Siphonostomatoida: Caligidae). Sueichan Press, Taipei, Taiwan, 412 pp.
- Johnson, S.C., Treasurer, J.W., Bravo, S., Nagasawa, K. and Kabata, Z. 2004. A review of the impact of parasitic copepods on marine aquaculture. *Zoological Science* 43:229-243.
- Jones, J. B. 1980. A redescription of *Caligus patulus* Wilson, 1937 (Copeoda: Caligidae) from a fish farm in the Philippines. *Systematic Parasitology* 2:103-116.

Kabata, Z. 1974. Mouth and mode of feeding of Caligidae (copepoda), parasites of fishes, as determined by light and scanning electron microscopy. *Journal of Fisheries Research Board of Canada* 31:1583-1588.

Kirtisinghe, P. 1937. Parasitic copepods of fish from Ceylon. II. Parasitology 29:435-452.

- Koesharyani, I., Roza, D., Mahardika, K., Johnny, F., Zafran and Yuasa, K. 2001. Manual for fish disease diagnossis II. Marine Fish and Crustacean Diseases in Indonesia. CRISEF, Indonesia and JICA, Japan, 49 pp.
- Laviña, E.M. 1978. A study on certain aspects on the biology and control of *Caligus* sp., an ectoparasite of the adult milkfish *Chanos chanos* (Forskal). *Fisheries Research Journal of the Philippines* 3:11-24.
- Leong, T.S. 1998. Grouper culture, pp. 223-236. *In* de Silva, S. S. (ed.). Tropical Mariculture. Academic Press, U.S.A.
- Lester, R.J.G. and Hayward, C.J. 2006. Phylum Arthropoda, pp. 463-562. *In* Woo, P. T. K. (ed.). Fish Diseases and Disorders, Vol. 1. Protozoan and Metazoan Infections, 2nd edition. CABI Publishing, Oxford.
- Lin, C.-L. and Ho, J.-S. 1993. Life history of *Caligus epidemicus* Hewitt parasitic on tilapia (*Oreochromis mossambicus*) cultured in brackish water, pp. 5-15. *In* Boxshall, G. A. and Defaye, D. (eds.). Pathogens of Wild and Farmed Fish: Sea lice. Ellis Horwood, London, U. K.
- Lin, C.-L., Ho, J.-S. and Chen, S.N. 1996a. Developmental stages of *Caligus epidemicus* Hewitt, a copepod parasite of tilapia cultured in brackish water. *Journal of Natural History* 30:661-684.
- Lin, C.-L., Ho, J.-S. and Chen, S.-N. 1996b. Two species of Caligidae (Copepoda) parasitic on cultured rabbit fish (*Siganus fuscescens*) in Taiwan. *Fish Pathology* 31:129-139.
- Moravec, F., Cruz-Lacierda, E.R. and Nagasawa, K. 2004. Two *Procamallanus* spp. (Nematoda: Camallanidae) from fishes in the Philippines. *Acta Parasitologica* 49:309-318.
- Nagasawa, K. and Cruz-Lacierda, E. R. 2004. Diseases of Cultured Groupers. SEAFDEC, Iloilo, Philippines. 81 pp.
- Natividad, J.M., Bondad-Reantaso, M.G. and Arthur, J.R. 1986. Parasites of Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) in the Philippines, pp. 155-159. *In* MacLean, J.L., Dizon, L.B. and Hosillos, L.V. (eds.). The First Asian Fisheries Forum. Asian Fisheries Society, Manila, Philippines.
- Pillai, N.K. 1985. The fauna of India. Copepod parasites of marine fishes. Zoological Society of India, Calcutta, India, 900 pp.
- Roubal, F.R. 1994. Histopathology caused by *Caligus epidemicus* Hewitt (Copepoda: Caligidae) on captive *Acanthopagrus australis* (Günther) (Pisces: Sparidae). *Journal of Fish Diseases* 17:631-640.
- Schram, T.A., Knutsen, J.A., Heuch, P.A. and Mo, T.A. 1998. Seasonal occurrence of *Lepeophtheirus salmonis* and *Caligus elongatus* (Copepoda: Caligidae) on sea trout (*Salmo trutta*), off southern Norway. ICES *Journal of Marine Science* 55:163-175.
- Tingley, G.A., Ives, M.J. and Russell, C. 1997. The occurrence of lice on sea trout

(*Salmo trutta*) captured in the sea off the East Anglian coast of England. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* 54:1120-1128.

- Tully, O., Poole, W. R., Whelan, K. F. and Merigoux, S. 1993. Parameters and possible causes of epizootics of *Lepeophtheirus salmonis* (Krøyer) infesting sea trout (*Salmo trutta* L.) off the west coast of Ireland, pp. 202-218. *In* Boxshall, G. A. and Defaye D. (eds.) Pathogens of Wild and Farmed Fish: Sea Lice. Chichester: Ellis Horwood.
- Urawa, S. and Kato, T. 1991. Heavy infections of *Caligus orientalis* (Copepoda: Caligidae) on caged rainbow trout *Oncorhynchus mykiss* in brackish water. *Gyobyo Kenkyu* 26:161-162.
- Zafran, Roza, D., Johnny, F., Koesharyani, I. and Yuasa, K. 2000. Diagnosis and treatments for parasitic diseases in humpback grouper (*Cromileptis altivelis*) broodstock. CRIFI, Indonesia and JICA, Japan, 8 pp.
- Zafran, Roza, D., Koesharyani, I., Johnny, F. and Yuasa K. 1998. Manual for fish diseases diagnosis. Marine Fish and Crustacean Diseases in Indonesia. CRIFI, Indonesia and JICA, Japan, 44 pp.

Laboratory experimental infection of the freshwater snail *Gyraulus convexiusculus* (Hutton, 1849) and the bighead carp *Aristichthys nobilis* (Richardson, 1845) with the blood fluke *Sanguinicola armata* Plehn, 1905

FAIZAH SHAHAROM-HARRISON, NOR ASILAH SEMAN and SUHAIRI, M.

Institute of Tropical Aquaculture, University Malaysia Terengganu, Kuala Terengganu, Terengganu, Malaysia 21030

ABSTRACT

The route of cercarial penetration of Sanguinicola armata into the snail intermediate host Gyraulus convexiusculus and the fish definitive host Aristichthys nobilis was demonstrated through laboratory experimental infection experiments and histopathological studies. For snail infection experiments, fifty definitive host (A. nobilis) infected with the blood trematode Sanguinicola armata were exposed to 5 naïve G. convexiusculus for 24 hours before snails were moved to another aerated aquarium which was filled with dechlorinated water and Hydrilla sp. Ten snails were sacrificed daily, their carapaces were removed from the tissues and wet smears were done and observed under compound microscope. This procedure was continued until day 17 for 17 replicates. Meanwhile, five snails were fixed in 10% formalin EDTA at days 5, 10, and 15 and snail tissue was processed for histopathology. For production and collection of cercariae, infected G. convexiusculus with S. armata were exposed to light to stimulate emergence of cercariae. Ten collected cercariae were introduced to one fish for 24 hours in 100 l fibreglass tanks. The same procedure was repeated for 240 fish. Three infected fish were examined daily until day 80. For penetration study of S. armata cercariae into A. nobilis, ten groups comprising ten naïve fishes were exposed to 300 cercariae at different time duration of 10, 20, 30, 40, 50 minutes and 1, 3, 6, 12 and 24 hours exposure. Each group was kept in 100 l fibreglass tanks. The fish from each group were divided into two. Some were cut vertically and some horizontally to get sections through all tissues. Then they were fixed in 10% buffered formalin for 48 hours and formalin EDTA for one week before histology studies. Results indicated that the majority of blood fluke adults were found in the bulbous arteriosus and histopathological results

Corresponding author: Faizah Shaharom-Harrison, faizah@umt.edu.my

Shaharom-Harrison, F., Seman, N.A. and Suhairi, M. 2011. Laboratory experimental infection of the freshwater snail *Gyraulus convexiusculus* (Hutton, 1849) and the bighead carp *Aristichthys nobilis* (Richardson, 1845) with the blood fluke *Sanguinicola armata* Plehn, 1905 pp. 63-72. *In* Bondad-Reantaso, M.G., Jones, J.B., Corsin, F. and Aoki, T. (eds.). Diseases in Asian Aquaculture VII. Fish Health Section, Asian Fisheries Society, Selangor, Malaysia. 385 pp.

showed that adult *S. armata* caused increased thickness of gill arteries, while infection with eggs of the trematode caused hyperplasia of primary gill lamellae and filaments and secondary gill lamellae were fused resulting in chronic hyperplasia. This study on cercarial penetration of *A. nobilis* juveniles showed that the most abundant cercarial penetration into *A. nobilis* occurred at intervals of 30 minutes, 40 minutes and 180 minutes. Most penetration occurred at the caudal fin followed by abdominal and caudal peduncle, whereas least penetration site was the operculum.

Keywords: laboratory experiment, freshwater snail, bighead carp, blood fluke, *Sanguinicola armata*

INTRODUCTION

Studies on the life cycle of blood flukes have been studied by several authors (Meade and Pratt, 1965; Meade, 1967; Schell, 1974). Kua (1995) showed that *Gyraulus convexiusculus* is an intermediate host of the blood fluke *Sanguinicola armata*. Even though Kua (1995) did laboratory experimental infection of the snail, she did not show the route of penetration of the cercaria into the snail and grasscarp fingerlings. In this present, study histopathology studies on snails and fish subjected to laboratory experimental infections proved the route of cercarial penetration into both snail and bighead carp fingerlings as this blood fluke was also found to infect the bighead carp *Aristichthys nobilis*.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

1. Snail Infection Experiments

Laboratory experiment was carried out in 100 l fiberglass tanks to build up the source of infection, the blood trematode *S. armata* for infection of its intermediate host, the freshwater snail *G. convexiusculus* and its definitive host - the bighead carp *A. nobilis*. Each tank was filled with 50 l dechlorinated water and aerated. To provide the source of infection, 50 *A. nobilis* (size 2-3 cm) infected with *S. armata* and 5 naïve *G. convexiusculus* (which were kept in fine netlon -covered Petri dish) were placed in the same fiberglass tank. They were left inside for 24 hours before the *G. convexiusculus* were moved to another aquarium which was filled with dechlorinated water, *Hydrilla* sp. and aerated. Ten snails were sacrificed daily, their carapaces were removed from the tissues and wet smears were done. The slides were examined under compound microscope. This procedure was continued until day 17 for 17 replicates. Meanwhile, 5 snails were fixed in 10 % formalin EDTA at day 5, 10, and 15 and snail's tissue was processed for histological evaluation (Fig. 1).

2. Fish Infection Experiment

Ten *G. convexiusculus* (size 5 - 10 cm) infected with *S. armata* were put into 50 ml beaker (filled with 30 ml dechlorinated water) and exposed to the light source for approximately 30 minutes to stimulate the cercaria to abandon the snails. Water from beaker was poured into a cavity block and examined under a dissecting microscope to collect the cercariae using a



Figure 1. The illustration of methodology for snail infection experiments.

mounted needle. An individual naive fish (2 cm -3 cm) was introduced with 10 cercariae in the 50 ml beaker (filled with 30 ml dechlorinated water) in order to infect the fish for 24 hours. The same procedure was repeated with 240 fishes and they were kept together in one tank. Every day until day 80, 3 infected or exposed fish were sampled and examined (Fig. 2).

3. Penetration Study of S. armata cercaria into A. nobilis

Meanwhile, for penetration study of *S. armata* cercaria on *A. nobilis*, the above-mentioned light exposure method was used to collect the cercariae. Ten groups comprising 10 naïve fishes were exposed to 300 cercariae in 50 ml beaker (filled with 30 ml dechlorinated water). Each group was exposed to cercariae for a different time; for duration of 10, 20, 30, 40, 50 minutes and 1, 3, 6, 12, and 24-hours exposure. Each group was kept in 100 l fiberglass tank. The fish from each group were divided into two some were cut vertically and some horizontally to get sections through all tissues. Then they were fixed in 10 % buffered formalin for 48 hours and formalin EDTA for 1 week before histology studies (Fig. 3). Besides that, histopathology study was also focused on penetration of *S. armata* into the internal organs. of A. *nobilis* For the purpose of this study with ten *G. convexiusculus* (size 5 - 10 cm) infected with *S. armata* were put into 50 ml beaker (filled with 30 ml dechlorinated water) and were exposed to the light source for approximately 30 minutes to stimulate the cercaria to abandon the snails. Water from beaker was poured into cavity block



Figure 2. The illustration of methodology for fish infection experiment.

and examined under dissecting microscope to collect the cercariae using a mounted needle. With the intention to become infected an individual naïve fish (2-3 cm) was put into 50 ml beaker filled with 30 ml dechlorinated and addition of 10 cercariae. After 24 hours exposure, the fish was kept in 100 L fiberglass tank. Then after day 50, the fish was sacrificed and dissected and its' internal organs namely liver, kidney, heart and gills were cut separately and fixed in 10% buffered formalin for 48 hours before processing for further histological studies (Fig. 4).



Figure 3. The illustration of methodology for histopathology study on penetration study of *S. armata* cercaria on *A. nobilis*.



Figure 4. The illustration of methodology for histopathology study on the infection of *S. armata* on *A. nobilis*.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The results of our experiments show that majority of blood fluke adults were found in the bulbous arteriosus and is in accordance with the findings of Kua (1995). Results of histopathological examinations showed that adult *S. armata* caused increased thickness of gill arches (Fig. 5.ii). Infection with eggs of *S. armata* causes hyperplasia of primary gill lamella, filaments and secondary gill lamellae were fused resulting in chronic hyperplasia (Fig. 5.iii – 5.v). This finding is in compliance with similar findings described by Evans (1974); Ogawa *et al.* (1989) and Padros *et al.* (2001). Encysted eggs in the gills filaments were surrounded by fibrotic tissue (Fig. 5.vi). The majority of the eggs were found in the gills, followed by liver, kidney and heart ventricle (Fig. 6). Maximum-sized eggs were found in the gills, kidney, liver and heart ventricles (Table 1). The study on cercarial penetration to *A. nobilis* juveniles showed that the most abundant cercarial penetration into



Figure 6. Mean number of S. armata eggs vs the body parts of A. nobilis.

	Length (µm)	Width (µm)
	(Mean <u>+</u> SD)	(Mean <u>+</u> SD)
Gills	38.93 <u>+</u> 6.77	19.09 <u>+</u> 1.39
Kidney	38.11 <u>+</u> 7.50	18.35 <u>+</u> 1.53
Liver	37.50 <u>+</u> 6.26	18.11 <u>+</u> 1.60
Heart	37.38 <u>+</u> 7.53	18.05 <u>+</u> 1.33

Table 1. The size of *S. armata* eggs (n=228) from infection study of *S. armata* on *A. nobilis*.



Figure 5. Histological changes in gills. Figure 5.i. Normal histological appearance of the gills from control fish. H&E stain, 10 x magnifications. Figure 6.ii. The infection with adult *S. armata* (Fd) cause the dilation of branchial artery of *A. nobilis*. f = gill filaments, L = branchial artery. H&E stain, 10 x magnifications. Figure 6.iii. The infection with *S. armata* eggs cause hyperplasia of secondary lamella (lp), t = eggs of *S. armata*, ls = secondary lamella, tr = cartilage. H&E stain, 20 x magnifications. Figure 5.iv. Heavy infections with *S. armata* eggs (t) cause fusion of secondary gill lamella (ls) and forming chronic hyperplasia. H&E stain, 100 x magnifications. Figure 5.v. Heavy infections with *S. armata* eggs on *A. nobilis* gills cause fusion of secondary lamellae and chronic hyperplasia. sdr = blood vessel. H&E stain, 20x magnification. Figure 5.vi. The encysted eggs isolated from the gills filaments were surrounded by fibrotic tissue forming granuloma (wet mount).



Figure 7. Number of cercaria vs. time exposure



Figure 8. Abundance of cercaria in different sites of penetration.

A. nobilis occurred at intervals of 30 minutes, 40 minutes and 180 minutes (Fig. 8) similar to the findings of Maede and Pratt (1965); Maede (1967); Schell (1974), Sommerville and Iqbal (1991). The part of penetration was the caudal fin, followed by abdominal and caudal peduncle, whereas least penetration site was the operculum (Fig. 8).

CONCLUSIONS

Experimental infection of snails with blood fluke and the histopathological research of its route of penetration into the body of bighead carp *A. nobilis* gave us the established evidences that freshwater snail *G. convexiusculus* is the intermediate host of the digenetic blood trematode *S. armata*. Results of our study confirmed the presence and histopathological lesions in gills, heart, kidney and liver of the host.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

We thank the Malaysian Ministry of Science and Technology and University Malaysia Terengganu for funding the project and Kartini Mohammad for technical support.

REFFERENCES

- Evans, W. A. 1974. The histopathology of cutthroat trout experimentally infected with the blood fluke *Sanguinicola klamathensis*. *Journal of Wildlife Diseases* 10:243-248.
- Kua, B. C. 1995. Some aspects of the life cycle of fish blood fluke, *Sanguinicola armata* Plehn, 1905 (Digenea: Sanguinicolidae) in Grass Carp (*Ctenopharyngodon idellus* Cuvier and Valenciennes, 1884) fingerlings. Tesis Master Sains. Fakulti Perikanan dan Sains Samudera. Universiti Pertanian Malaysia, Serdang, Selangor. 137 p.
- Meade, T. G. and Pratt, J. 1965. Description and life history of *Cardicola alseae* sp.n. (Trematoda: Sanguinicolidae). *The Journal of Parasitology* 51(4):575-578.
- Meade, T. G. 1967. Life history studies on *Cardicola klamathensis* (Wales, 1958) Meade and Pratt, 1965 (Trematoda: Sanguinicolidae). *Proceeding of the Helminthological Society* 34 (2):210-212.
- Ogawa, K., Hattori, K., Hatai, K. and Kubota, S. 1989. Histopathology of cultured marine fish *Seriola purpurascens* (Carangidae) infected with *Paradeontacylix* spp. (Trematoda: Sanguinicolidae) in its vascular system. *Fish Pathology* 24(2): 75-82.
- Padros, F, Zarza, C. and Crespo, S. 2001. Histopathology of cultured sea bream *Sparus aurata* infected with sanguinicolid trematodes. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 44:47-52.
- Schell, S. C. 1974. The life history of *Sanguinicola idahoensis* sp. n. (Trematoda: Sanguinicolidae), a blood parasite of Steelhead Trout, *Salmo gairdneri* Richardson. J. *Parasitology* 60:561-566.
- Sommerville, C. and Iqbal, N. A. M. 1991. The process of infection, migration, growth and development of Sanguinicola inermis Plehn, 1905 (Digenea: Sanginicolidae) in carp, Cyprinus carpio L. Journal of Fish Diseases 14: 211-219.

Diseases of Molluscs

07	Current trends in the study of molluscan diseases Brian Jones	75
08	Lysozymes in molluscs Keisuke G. Takahashi and Naoki Itoh	93
09	Investigating a mortality outbreak in hatchery cultured tropical abalone, <i>Haliotis asinine</i> L. in Malaysia <i>Beng Chu Kua, Rimatulhana Ramly, M.N. Devakie, Dave Groman and Franck</i> <i>C.J. Berthe</i>	103
10	A reo-like virus associated with high mortalities of the cultured mud crab Scylla serrata in East China Ji-Gang Chen, Ji-Fang Yang, Dan Lou, Xiong Juan and Song-Yang Wu	111

Current trends in the study of molluscan diseases

J. BRIAN JONES

Department of Fisheries, P.O. Box 20, North Beach, WA 6920, Australia

ABSTRACT

The study of molluscan diseases has a long history. The first publication on the redial stages of a trematode appeared in the 18th century; early papers on molluscan phagocytosis appeared in the last half of the 19th century and yet much work published before about 1975 does not appear in electronic abstract databases and is effectively "lost". By contrast, a recent search of a leading abstract database for the terms "mollusc" and "disease" shows that the number of publications has exploded in the last eight years and the exponential trend looks set to continue. Much of the increase has been driven by the introduction of molecular technologies, the rediscovery that the immunology of invertebrates generally is a rich hunting ground for new biochemical defence systems and thus potential medical breakthroughs and the desire to publish multiple papers from the same project. As this publication trend continues, it will become increasingly difficult to be knowledgeable on all aspects of molluscan diseases and considerable specialisation is inevitable.

It is not only our knowledge about known mollusc diseases that has grown, since new diseases continue to be reported as: aquaculture becomes more intensive; the Asia/Pacific regional skills base develops; and international reporting becomes more accurate. Transfer of disease between jurisdictions is also becoming more rapid as products are sent live around the world both as broodstock and for human consumption. Thus, the work of the Network of Aquaculture Centres in the Asia and the Pacific and the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations in awareness raising and skills development will continue to make an impact. It is inevitable that, as the initial work on mollusc diseases developed around shellfish growing areas in Europe and America, the next generation of molluscan disease experts will be based in the Asia and the Pacific region.

Key words: diagnosis, taxonomy, physiology, parasite-host relationships

Jones, J.B. 2011. Current trends in the study of molluscan diseases, pp. 75-92. *In* Bondad-Reantaso, M.G., Jones, J.B., Corsin, F. and Aoki, T. (eds.). Diseases in Asian Aquaculture VII. Fish Health Section, Asian Fisheries Society, Selangor, Malaysia. 385 pp.

Corresponding author: Brian Jones, brian.jones@agric.wa.gov.au

INTRODUCTION

Global demand for seafood, including molluscs, continues to grow (FAO, 2009). However, disease continues to be a major financial constraint to growth of mollusc culture. Losses due to *Marteilia refringens* and *Bonamia ostreae* in French oyster farms over the period 1980-1983 were estimated at US\$31 million dollars (Grizel and Héral, 1991). Abalone mortalities of unknown aetiology in Taiwan cost US\$11 million (Bondad-Reantaso and Subasinghe, 2005). Ongoing mortalities in abalone in Australia had, by February 2007, resulted in a loss of US\$4.5 million in exports (Lannen, 2007).

The study of molluscan diseases has a long history. The first publication on the redial stages of a trematode appeared in the 18th century (Swammerdam, 1737), based on work he completed during the 17th century. Early papers on molluscan phagocytosis appeared in the last half of the 19th century (Metchnikoff, 1893; De Bruyne, 1893, 1896) as well as early papers on the histology of molluscan hosts (Grey, 1853; Peck, 1877). According to Yonge (1926), in his excellent description of the histology of the digestive diverticula in lamellibranchs, it was in 1880 that the name "hepatopancreas" for the digestive gland of crustacea was first used, a term still sometimes used for the digestive diverticula in molluscs. Unfortunately, much work published before about 1975 does not appear in electronic abstract databases and is effectively "lost".

By contrast, a recent search of CABI[®] abstract database for the terms "mollusc" and "disease" showed that the total number of publications in the database for the period 1900-1950 was only 16, all of which were human or veterinary health references, and clearly missed all of the pertinent aquatic mollusc disease papers. In the next 25 years (1951-1975) there were 55 references, only three of which were on aquatic molluscs and none of which included those cited above. The next 25-year period (1976-2000) revealed 1 815 references, yet in the next eight years there were 10 814 references, of which 1 174 were of aquatic relevance. A similar trend is evident when using Aquatic Sciences and Fisheries Abstracts (ASFA) or other such databases. While clearly, much work (including foreign language papers) is not being captured by such databases, it is clear that this exponential trend is set to continue. It also means that, where it was possible to have read all of the literature on the subject up to about 1990, it is now no longer the case. As this publication trend continues, it will become increasingly difficult to be knowledgeable on all aspects of molluscan diseases and considerable specialisation in a team environment is inevitable (Sparks, 2005; Whitfield, 2008).

The increasing specialisation has been driven by a number of factors including the:

- introduction of molecular, genomic and proteomic technologies; microfluidics and the development of microfluidic biochips capable of continuous sampling and real-time (and remote) testing of air/water samples for pathogens and toxins;
- rediscovery that the immunology of invertebrates generally is a rich hunting ground for new biochemical defence systems and thus potential medical breakthroughs;

- science-wide moves to publish frequently, which forces scientists to publish their research in parts, rather than waiting until the research has been completed. In this regard there is a clear trend towards papers with a multitude of authors; and
- increase in number of scientists in general.

For the purpose of this review, the current trends in the study of mollusc diseases can be divided into three categories: (i) diagnostic testing for known mollusc diseases; (ii) taxonomic and phylogenetic studies on pathogens and their host molluscs; and (iii) investigations of known diseases, their impact on the host and the environment. Of necessity, these categories are artificial – the boundaries between them tend to merge.

(i) Diagnostic testing of molluscs for disease.

Diagnostic tests fall into three broad categories:

- Screening apparently healthy animals for specific pathogens of concern. This is most commonly applied to stocks destined for live transfer or as part of a surveillance program.
- Determining the cause of poor health/mortality. This can often be a very complex process in determining the relationships between the host, pathogens (there may be more than one) and the environment (Snieszko, 1974; Berthe, 2002; Garnier *et al.*, 2007).
- Development of new test methodologies or procedures, or improvement of existing procedures. This is becoming more important as issues of sensitivity, specificity and fitness for purpose become more important.

Unfortunately, the results derived from molecular methods are sometimes at odds with more conventional methods, but too often the assumption is made that a positive polymerase chain reaction (PCR) result verifies an infection in a tested host, or that a negative PCR means that infection is not present. This assumption is valid only if the assay has been properly validated for the geographic area and for the hosts examined (Burreson, 2008). For example, based on histology, epidemiology and visualised by Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM), Hine, Wesney and Hay (1992) and Hine, Wesney and Besant (1998) reported the presence of a herpes virus in oysters (Ostrea chiliensis and Crassostrea gigas) in New Zealand, which is certainly there (Jones, unpublished TEM obs.). A more recent study using histology and confirmatory PCR (Webb, Fidler and Renault, 2007) failed to amplify ostreid herpesvirus (OsHV-1) from New Zealand shellfish, leading the authors to discount the previous observations and question whether OsHV-1 is present in New Zealand at all. Ulrich et al. (2007) claim, based only on PCR results, the presence of Haplosporidium *nelsoni* infections in the Gulf of Mexico despite the results of thousands of oysters having been examined by histology from the same area for over 20 years which failed to observe a single infection (Burreson, 2008). PCR may show that parasite DNA¹ is apparently present in a sample, but in the absence of independent verification it does not confirm or refute infection in the environment (see also Kanagawa, 2003).

(ii) Taxonomic and phylogenetic studies on pathogens and their host molluscs

Work to classify the large numbers of pathogenic organisms associated with molluscs has suffered from the ongoing decline in numbers of trained taxonomists. It is becoming difficult to find people who can identify and describe new metazoan parasites, especially since all of the classical taxonomic literature is based on morphology, and relatively few species are represented in Genbank. Nevertheless, accurate identification of both the host and the parasite is of importance. For example, Nakano and Spencer (2007) used phylogenetic analysis of DNA sequences to show that a species of small intertidal limpet *Notoacmea helmsi* from New Zealand was in fact a taxon comprising 5 morphologically cryptic species. Any study of the parasitology of the group would have been confounded by this discovery.

The current taxonomic difficulties are well illustrated by studies of the molluscan parasites informally grouped as "microcells" because of their small size (about 2 microns). The genera *Marteilia, Mikrocytos, Bonamia* and *Haplosporidium* spp. are relatively easily detected by routine histology, but species determination is much more problematic. *Marteilia refringens* and *Marteilia maurini* are morphologically indistinguishable (Longshaw *et al.*, 2001) but can be separated by molecular means (Le Roux *et al.*, 2001) and both infect oysters and mussels. López-Flores *et al.* (2004) suggested that the *Marteilia* from oysters and from mussels may be two different strains of the same species that appear to readily infect both hosts while other authors accept that they are closely related species - thus their taxonomic status is still open to debate (Berthe *et al.*, 2004). A similar situation occurs with the occurrence of *Bonamia* sp. in Australia that has molecular and histological differences to *B. exitiosa* (J. Handlinger, pers. comm.). The distinction is important, for some species are internationally reportable, while other species of the genus are not.

While the use of sequence data from the small subunit ribosomal RNA (SSU r RNA²) gene is now commonly referred to in the description of new haplosporidians (Azevedo *et al.*, 2006), sequence data alone is generally not sufficient to separate a new species. The distance between *Bonamia* sp. from New South Wales (Australia) and *B. exitiosa* from New Zealand over the 1 586 base pair sequence from the 18S gene is only 0.9% (Corbeil *et al.*, 2006), yet there are differences in geography, morphology, ultrastructure and histopathology between the two microcells (B. Jones pers. obs., J. Handlinger, pers. comm.)

(iii) Investigations of known diseases of molluscs, their interaction with the host and the environment

There is a rich and growing body of literature on molluscan diseases and their associated pathogens, their interactions with each other and with the wider environment. Comparative genomics is also a source for major advances in our understanding of the regulatory systems not only in molluscs but also in their parasites.

¹ Deoxyribonucleic acid

² Ribonucleic acid

In order to make some sense of the voluminous literature, it is useful to adapt Figure 1 below, developed by Snieszko (1974), to show the interrelationships of the host, parasite and the environment and to categorise the types of studies undertaken, as follows:

- **Host-parasite interactions** fall into two groups: firstly, the investigation of molluscan host impact on the pathogen (including host defence mechanisms involving the detection of and subsequent neutralising of pathogen); and secondly, studies on the impact of the parasites on molluscan host (including mechanisms by which the parasite overcomes the host defences and appropriates the host to its own purposes).
- **Parasite-environment interactions** can also be divided into two groups: the investigation of the pathogens impact on environment and the investigation of the environments effect on the pathogen (as opposed to the environmental impact on the host).
- Environment-host interactions include investigation of the environment on the host mollusc (including the effects of stress, pollution, tumours- environmental diseases); and investigations of how the host mollusc alters or affects the environment.

Host-parasite interactions

a) Impact of host on pathogen

Host defense mechanisms now constitute a rich area of research. By the end of last century, it was thought that molluscs did not have an acquired immune system and lacked immunoglobulin antibodies (Chu, 1988). Defense was ascribed to both cellular and humoral factors with phagocytosis as the primary response to foreign matter (Feng, 1988).



Phagocytosis, in particular was studied in the 1890's and that early work was built on by Stauber (1950) who studied the effect of injected India ink particles in *Crassostrea virginica*. There is clearly variation in haemocytes among molluses; for example, scallops and abalone do not have granulocytes yet other gastropods do (Hine, 1999; Travers et al., 2008; Mahilini and Rajendran, 2008). Despite over 100 years of research and numerous papers describing the various morphological forms that haemocytes display, Allam, Ashton-Alcox and Ford (2002) were still able to write "the origin, life cycle and life span of bivalve haemocytes are still largely unknown and the role of each cell type has not been completely elucidated". Harris, Lambkin and O'Byrne-Ring (2006) and others have been using immunohistochemistry to identify structural and functional proteins in abalone leading Travers et al. (2007) to recommend that resolving the controversies over the classification of haemocytes in molluscs would require the "obligatory" use of mollusc-specific antibodies and gene probes. Whether the application of these new technologies will settle the controversy remains to be seen. Part of the problem is probably an assumption that haemocyte form and function will be the same across all molluscan groups, and a review, such as that by Hine, Wain and Boustead (1987) for teleost leucocytes, is well overdue.

It could have been added that both the origin and fate of haemocytes is also unknown. Haemocytes can be seen to pass through the intact columnar epithelial layers, especially those of the gut, in a process known as diapedesis (from the Greek '*diapedan*' = to ooze through). Though in human pathology the term is confined to the passage of blood cells through unruptured vessel walls, in invertebrates, especially molluscan pathology, the term is also used for the passage of haemocytes, which may or may not contain phagocytosed material, across epithelial borders to the exterior of the body (Onstad *et al.*, 2006). Cheng (1967) noted that it was unknown if haemolymph was lost during diapedesis and what factors influenced the rate of diapedesis. That is still unknown and it is also still unclear what role diapedesis plays in the response to infectious diseases.

What we do know is that haemocytes are both mediated by and also produce "humoral factors". For example, killing mechanisms associated with haemocytes involve reactive oxygen molecules, such as the phenoloxidase cascade, that are now known to be important for phagocytosis, melanisation and encapsulation. Inducible serum antimicrobial factors including lysozyme (a bacteriolytic protein) are released by degranulation when phagocytosis occurs (Cheng *et al.*, 1975; Mohandas, Cheng and Cheng, 1985; Xu-Tao Hong, Li-Xin Xiang and Jian-Zhong Shao, 2006). However, the distinction between immunomediators, hormones and neurotransmitters, has become blurred by the finding that haemocytes can synthesis neuroendocrine peptide hormones and also have receptors for these peptides (Ottaviani and Franceschi, 1998a, 1998b).

Though most work has concentrated on the haemocyte-mediated response, other defense mechanisms have been studied. Wright (1959) demonstrated species specific substances in the mucous of a number of snail species and Cheng, Shuster and Anderson (1966a, 1966b) showed that haemolymph of *C. virginica* and *C. gigas* will stimulate cercariae of *Himasthla quitessetensis* to encyst, immobilising them and preventing infection.

There has been increasing activity looking for bioactive compounds in molluscs. β -glucuronidase, phosphatases, lipases, aminopeptidase amylase and antimicrobial factors have been described from molluscs (Chu, 1988; Montes, Durfort and Garcia-Valero, 1996; Montes *et al.*, 1997; Roch *et al.*, 2008). Agglutinins including haemaglutinins have also been widely reported and these may increase phagocytosis by acting as opsonins (Olafsen *et al.*, 1992). Faisal, Oliver and Kaattari (1999) also showed that resistance to *Perkinsus* infections by *Crassostrea* species is effected by protease inhibitors to the extracellular serine proteases secreted by the parasite.

The finding of virus particles in molluscs, when looking for causes of disease, is complicated by the ability of molluscs to sequester live viruses (such as norwalk and hepatitis viruses) from their environment. The reason why this occurs and the relationship of these sequestered viruses to the host mollusc immune systems are unknown. The virus is not simply bioaccumulated since recent work (Le Guyader *et al.*, 2006; Tian *et al.*, 2007) suggests that clams, mussels and oysters trap the norwalk virus (or the virus actively binds) through an intestinal type A-like histo-blood group antigen. Flegel proposed in 1998 that crustaceans accommodate live virus as a means of continually challenging the immune system in the absence of an acquired immune system (Flegel, 2006). Berthe (2002) also suggested that the invertebrate immune system response is complex and suggests that an 'ecological', or whole system approach to immunology should be considered, rather than relying on the mechanistic 'cause-effect' interpretation of host-pathogen relationships that have, to date, dominated studies on infectious diseases of invertebrates.

b) Impact of pathogen on host

It has long been hypothesised that pathogens may be able to secrete extracellular products to inhibit the host response. For example, there is a strong negative association between the presence of *Marteilia sydneyi* and phenoloxidase activity in *Saccostrea glomerata*, possibly through the release of serum proteases, as happens with *Perkinsus marinus* (Faisal *et al.*, 1999; Peters and Raftos, 2003). Variations in phenoloxidase also affect the resistance of oysters to QX disease³ (Peters and Raftos, 2003; Bezemer *et al.*, 2006; Aladaileh, Nair and Raftos, 2007). Bezemer *et al.*, (2006) used native-PAGE⁴ to identify five discrete forms of phenoloxidase in wild oysters, of which one was associated with disease susceptibility. This raises the question, is it the lack of a specific phenoloxidase type that permits disease or can the pathogen "knock out" a specific phenoloxidase molecule?

Some pathogens are clearly able to inhibit or modify the host response. For example, *Bonamia roughleyi* microcells stimulate phagocytosis by suitable haemocytes but are not killed and instead proliferate within the host cell, eventually lysing the host to release more microcells (Da Silva *et al.*, 2008). The cycle results in massive destruction of haemocytes leading to death of the host oyster.

³ QX stands for Queensland Unknown the title given to this disease prior to the discovery of the organism that is now known to cause it.

⁴ Native-Page stands for native polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis

Parasites may also affect biochemical processes other than those involved in defence. Cheng, Sullivan and Harris (1973) reported that the marine gastropod *Nassarius obsoletus* was castrated by chemicals secreted by the sporocysts of *Zoogonius rubellus* and that were specific for germinal epithelium and gametes. Studies on the freshwater snail *Lymnaea stagnalis* infected with *Trichobilharzia ocellata* have shown that substances secreted by the trematode induce changes in host gene expression to directly inhibit mitotic division in the male copulatory organ and also stimulate development of the female endocrine dorsal bodies (De Jong-Brink, Bergamin-Sassen and Solis-Soto, 2001). Likewise Rice *et al.* (2006) showed that infection of the mollusc *Haliotis asinina* by the trematode *Allopodocotyle* sp. results in parasitic castration and is accompanied by differential expression of a number of regulatory genes. Manger, Christensen and Yoshino (1996) found that *Schistosoma mansoni* appropriated, for its own use, the hosts neurotransmitters serotonin and dopamine leading to changes in the host *Biomphalaria glabra* endocrine system.

Perkinsus marinus, P. olseni and *Haplosporidium nelsoni* have all been shown to affect the growth and condition of their host molluscs which led Flye-Sainte-Marie *et al.* (2007) to demonstrate that brown ring disease of clams (*Ruditapes philippinarum*) caused by the bacteria *Vibrio tapetis* affected the energy budget of the clams and resulted in a reduction of the clearance and respiration rate, possibly due to the energy requirements associated with the immune response and tissue repair. How many published studies of the physiology of molluscs have been compromised because the disease status of the animals was not considered a factor?

Parasite-environment interactions

a) Impact of pathogen on the environment of the host

It is known that parasite mortality events can alter the host density leading to major changes in the ecology of an area. *Marteilia* sp. infections lead to the commercial extinction of *Ostrea edulis* from the Gulf of Thessalonaiki (Virvilis and Angelides, 2006). Also, Miura *et al.* (2006) showed that the mud snail *Batillaria cumingi*, when infected by the trematode *Cercaria batillariae*, develop a different morphological form, move to the lower intertidal zone and consume different resources from uninfected snails. The parasites are, thus, indirectly altering the food web of many marsh species.

b) Impact of environment on pathogen

Studies on the effect of the environment (including pollution) on the susceptibility of the host to the pathogen have been done, particularly for MSX (*Haplosporidium nelsoni*) in oysters in the United States of America (USA), but studies on other pathogens and their hosts are more limited. Hégaret *et al.* (2007) showed that infection of clams (*Rudetapes philippinarum*) with *Perkinsus olseni* had no measurable effect on haemocyte parameters measured, but when the clams were exposed to toxic algal blooms there was a measurable change in haemocyte parameters monitored, and thus immunomodulation, in heavily infected clams exposed to toxic algae when compared to heavily infected clams that were not exposed. While we know a lot about the effects of the environment on the mollusc immune system, we know very little

about the effect of the environment on the biochemistry of the pathogen when it is in the host. The optimal conditions for the host may not be those of the pathogen, such that changes in the environment (salinity, temperature) may place the pathogen at a disadvantage.

Research has tended not to disengage the effects on the external infectious stages from the impact of the environment on established infections. For example, the probability of a severe kill due to winter mortality (*B. roughleyi*) is higher after dry autumns and early winters. Growers minimise losses by relaying oysters to low salinity upstream locations during periods of potential infection. Whether these actions are mitigating the effects of subclinical infections, perhaps by reducing parasite replication in the host, or are avoiding new infections by breaking the life cycle has apparently not been studied.

Environmental pollution affects both host communities and parasite populations. Again, there has been much recent work done on the effect of pollutants on the host, and recognition in the literature that parasite communities are a potential indicator of environmental disturbance but there has been little study on the effect of pollutants on the parasite itself.

Changes in parasite abundance and prevalence have also been used as an environmental monitor. Ectoparasites tend to increase and endoparasites decrease in prevalence and abundance in fish after chronic exposure to xenobiotics and aromatic hydrocarbons (MacKenzie, 1999; Kahn, 2004), and the impact on invertebrate hosts is likely to be similar, leading to establishment of monitoring programs such as the USA's "mussel watch" programme (Kim *et al.*, 2008). Contaminants may favour the propagation of parasites by excluding predators, reducing host resistance, improving living conditions of host, or may interfere with parasite biochemistry thus reducing parasite burden or pathogenicity.

Environment-host interactions

a) Non-pathogenic diseases directly induced by environmental changes and pollution. Examples include tumours, toxins, endocrine disruptors and other non-infectious diseases. Describing tumours in molluscs has a long history starting with Ryder (1883), see also subsequent reviews by Pauley (1969), Farley and Sparks (1970), Elston, Moore and Brooks (1992), and Sparks (2005). More recently there has been a growing body of literature on the tissue effects of pollutants, particularly heavy metals, on molluscs following on from the work on tributyl tin antifouling and the imposex⁵ that it causes (Smith, 1981; Tallmon and Hoferkamp, 2009). Work has also focussed on oil pollution and endocrine disruption associated with veterinary and medical drug residues (Marigomez *et al.*, 2006; Matthiessen, 2008; Morley, 2008). There has been a parallel growth in papers researching the use of mollusc diseases as a bioindicator of environmental pollution (see review by Au, 2004).

⁵ Imposex is a descriptive term applied to some seasnails, marine gastropod molluscs which, under the toxic effects of pollutants, develop sex organs that are in contrast to their actual sex. It is a pathological condition where male sex characteristics, such as the development of male sex organs, (for example the penis and the vas deferens) form in female gastropods (http://en.wikipedia.org/ wiki/Imposex)

b) Changes to host susceptibility driven by the environment, leading to disease

Environmental changes do not have to damage tissues and interfere with biochemical processes to affect oyster immune status. More subtle environmental changes are often classified as 'stress' and include, but are not limited to: mechanical disturbance (Lacoste *et al.*, 2002; Ballarin, Pampanin and Marin, 2003); salinity changes (Fisher, Auffret and Ballouet, 1987; Butt, Shaddick and Raftos, 2006); temperature (Soudant *et al.*, 2004; Cheng *et al.*, 1975; Cheng *et al.*, 2004; Zhang *et al.*, 2006); chemical pollution (Pipe and Coles, 1995; Oliver *et al.*, 2001; Cheng, Hsiao and Chen, 2004; Cheng, Juang and Chen, 2004) and diet including starvation (Butt *et al.*, 2007). For example, Hong Chen *et al.* (2005) found that both phagocytosis and phenoloxidase activity in *Haliotis discus hannai* were affected by lack of dietary pyridoxine (vitamin B6). It is also certain that the enzyme systems of molluscs will be adapted to optimally perform at the normal temperature range. Changes in temperature may change host biochemistry thus favouring pathogens.

The 1986 *Bonamia* epizootic in Foveaux Strait, New Zealand, began in areas that had been fished intensively for years and where benthic habitat was highly modified (Cranfield, Michael and Doonan, 1999). Similar escalating disease mortality in oysters in Chesapeake Bay, USA, has been attributed to modification of oyster habitat by fishing (Rothschild *et al.*, 1994), and the environmental stress caused by this modification has been directly implicated in increasing acetosporan disease levels of oysters in experiments (Lenihan *et al.*, 1999).

CONCLUSIONS

It is not only our knowledge about known mollusc diseases that has grown. New diseases continue to be regularly reported as aquaculture becomes more intensive; as the Asia and the Pacific regional skills base develops and more diseases are reported; as international reporting also becomes more accurate; and as transfer of disease between jurisdictions becomes more rapid as products are sent live - both as broodstock and as products for human consumption (such as the spread of *Bonamia* spp. infected oysters throughout Europe).

There is a need for an increase in the numbers of trained diagnosticians as well as those investigating the ecology of diseased molluscs at a local level. It has been recognised by agencies such as the Network of Aquaculture Centres in Asia/Pacific and the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations that the skills base needs to be developed at three levels: Level I (farm/production site observations, record-keeping and health management) is strongly emphasized throughout the *Asian Diagnostic Guide (*Bondad-Reantaso *et al.*, 2000) as this forms the basis for triggering the other diagnostic levels (II and III). Level II includes specialisations such as parasitology, histopathology and bacteriology that, generally speaking, cannot be conducted at the farm or culture site. Level III comprises advanced diagnostic specialisation that requires significant capital and training investment, such as TEM. Immunology and biomolecular techniques are included in Level III, although field kits are now being developed for farm or pond-side use (Level I) as well as use in microbiology or histology laboratories (Level II). These efforts are good indication that technology transfer is now enhancing diagnostics and, with solid quality control and field

validation, it is certain that more Level III technology will become field accessible in the near future (Walker and Subasinghe, 2000).

It is inevitable that, as the initial work on mollusc diseases developed around shellfish growing areas in Europe and America, the next generation of molluscan disease experts will be based in the Asia Pacific region.

REFERENCES

- Aladaileh, S., Nair, S. and Raftos, D.A. 2007. Induction of phenoloxidase and other immunological activities in Sydney rock oysters challenged with microbial pathogen-associated molecular patterns. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 23:1196-1208.
- Allam, K.A., Ashton-Alcox, K.A. and Ford, S.E. 2002. Flow cytometric comparison of haemocytes from three species of bivalve molluscs. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 13:141-158.
- Au, D.W.T. 2004. The application of histo-cytopathological biomarkers in marine pollution monitoring: a review. *Marine Pollution Bulletin* 48:817-834.
- Azevedo, C., Balseiro, P., Casal, G., Gestal, C., Aranguren, R., Stokes, N.A., Carnegie, R.B., Novoa, B., Burreson, E.M. and Figueras, A. 2006. Ultrastructural and molecular characterisation of *Haplosporidium montforti* n. sp., parasite of the European abalone *Haliotis tuberculata. Journal of Invertebrate Pathology* 92:23-32.
- Ballarin, L., Pampanin, D.M. and Marin, M.G. 2003. Mechanical disturbance affects haemocyte functionality in the Venus clam *Chamelea gallina*. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology*. *A, Molecular and Integrative Physiology* 136:631-640.
- Berthe, F.C.J. 2002. Keynote: Pacem in terris pathogenibus bonae voluntatis: molluscspathogens relationships prospects. *Bulletin of the European Association of Fish Pathology* 22:52-57.
- Berthe F.C.J., Le Roux, F., Adlard, R.D. and Figueras, A. 2004. Marteiliosis in molluscs: A review. *Aquatic Living Resources* 17:433-448.
- Bezemer, B., Butt, D., Nell, J., Adlard, R. and Raftos, D. 2006. Breeding for QX disease resistance negatively selects one form of the defensive enzyme phenoloxidase in Sydney rock oysters. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 20:627-636.
- Bondad-Reantaso, M.G., McGladdery, S.E., East, I. and Subasinghe, R.P. (eds.) 2001. Asia Diagnostic Guide to Aquatic Animal Diseases. *FAO Fisheries Technical Paper* No. 402, Supplement 2. Rome. FAO, 236p.
- Bondad-Reantaso, M.G. and Subasinghe, R. 2005. Aquatic animal diseases and their economic impact. A global perspective. *Aquaculture Health International* 1:4-5.
- Burreson, E.M. 2008. Misuse of PCR assay for diagnosis of mollusc protistan infections. *Disease of Aquatic Organisms* 80:81-83.
- Butt, D. Shaddick, K. and Raftos, D. 2006. The effect of low salinity on phenoloxidase activity in the Sydney rock oyster, *Saccostrea glomerata*. *Aquaculture* 251:159-166.
- Butt, D., Aladaileh, S., O'Connor, W.A. and Raftos, D.A. 2007. Effect of starvation on biological factors related to immunological defense in the Sydney rock oyster (*Saccostrea glomerata*). *Aquaculture* 264:82-91.

- Cheng, T.C. 1967. Marine molluscs as hosts for symbiosis with a review of known parasites of commercially important species. *Advances in Marine Biology* 5:1-424.
- Cheng, T.C., Shuster, C.N. and Anderson A.H. 1966a. A comparative study of the susceptibility and response of eight species of marine pelecypods to the trematode *Himasthla quissetensis*. *Transactions of the American Microscopical Society* 85:284-295.
- Cheng, T.C., Shuster, C.N. and Anderson A.H. 1966b. Effects of plasma and tissue extracts of marine pelecypods on the cercaria of *Himasthla quissetensis*. *Experimental Parasitology* 19:9-14.
- Cheng, T.C., Sullivan, J.T. and Harris, K.R. 1973. Parasitic castration of the marine prosobranch gastropod *Nassarius obsoletus* by sporocysts of *Zoogonus rubellus* (Trematoda): histopathology. *Journal of Invertebrate Pathology* 21:183-190.
- Cheng, T.C., Rodrick, G.E., Foley, D.A. and Koehler, S.A. 1975. Release of lysozyme from hemolymph cells of *Mercenaria mercenaria* during phagocytosis. *Journal of Invertebrate Pathology* 25:261-265.
- Cheng, W., Hsiao, I-S. and Chen, J-C. 2004. Effect of ammonia on the immune response of Taiwan abalone *Haliotis diversicolor supertexta* and its susceptibility to *Vibrio parahaemolyticus*. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 17:193-202.
- Cheng, W., Hsiao, I-S., Hsu, C-H. and Chen, J-C. 2004. Change in water temperature on the immune response of Taiwan abalone *Haliotis diversicolor supertexta* and its susceptibility to *Vibrio parahaemolyticus*. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 17:235-243.
- Cheng, W., Juang, F-M. and Chen, J-C. 2004. The immune response of Taiwan abalone *Haliotis diversicolor supertexta* and its susceptibility to *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* at different salinity levels. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 16:295-306.
- Chu, F.L.E. 1988. Humoral defense factors in marine bivalves. *American Fisheries Society Special Publication* 18:178-188.
- Corbeil, S., Azul, I., Robert, M., Berthe, F., Besnard-Cochennec, N. and Crane M. St.J. 2006. Molecular characterisation of an Australian isolate of *Bonamia exitiosa*. *Diseases in aquatic organisms* 71:81-85.
- Cranfield, H.J., Michael, K.P., and Doonan, I.J. 1999. Changes in the distribution of epifaunal reefs and oysters during 130 years of dredging for oysters in Foveaux Strait, southern New Zealand. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems* 9:461-483.
- Da Silva, P.M., Comesaña, P., Fuentes, J. and Villalba, A. 2008. Variability of haemocyte and haemolymph parameters in European flat oyster *Ostrea edulis* families obtained from brood stocks of different geographical origins and relation with infection by the protozoan *Bonamia ostreae*. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 24:551-563.
- De Bruyn, C. 1893 La phagocytose observée sur la vivant, dans les branchies des mollusques lamellibranches. *Comptes rendus hebdomadaires des séances de l'académie des sciences, Paris* 116:65-68
- De Bruyne, C. 1896. Sur l'intervention de la phagocytose dans le développement des invertébrés. Académie Royale, Brussels, 114 pp
- De Jong-Brink, M., Bergamin-Sassen, M. and Solis Soto, M. 2001. Multiple strategies of schistosomes to meet their requirements in the intermediate snail host. *Parasitology* 123: S129-S141.

- Elston, R.A., Moore, J.D., and Brooks, K. 1992. Disseminated neoplasia of bivalve molluscs. *Reviews in Aquatic sciences* 6 :405-466.
- FAO 2009. The state of world fisheries and aquaculture 2008. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Rome.
- Faisal, M., Oliver, J.L. and Kaattari, S.L. 1999. Potential role of protease-antiprotease interactions in *Perkinsus marinus* infection in *Crassostrea* spp. *Bulletin of the European Association of Fish Pathologists* 19: 269-276.
- Farley C.A. and Sparks A.K. 1970: Proliferative diseases of hemocytes, endothelial cells, and connective tissue cells in molluses. *Bibliotheca haematologica* 36 :610-617.
- Feng, S.Y. 1988. Cellular defense mechanisms of oysters and mussels *American Fisheries Society Special Publication 18*:153-168.
- Fisher, W.S., Auffret, M. and Balouet, G. 1987. Response of European flat oyster (*Ostrea edulis*) hemocytes to acute salinity and temperature changes. *Aquaculture* 67: 179-190.
- Flegel, T.W. 2006. Review: Detection of major penaeid shrimp viruses in Asia, a historical perspective with emphasis on Thailand. *Aquaculture* 258:1-33.
- Flye-Sainte-Marie, J., Pouvreau, S., Paillard, C. and Jean, F. 2007. Impact of brown ring disease on the energy budget of Manilla clam *Ruditapes philippinarum*. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* 349:378-389.
- Garnier, M., Labreuche, Y., Garcia, C., Robert, M. and Nicolas, J. L. 2007. Evidence for the involvement of pathogenic bacteria in summer mortalities of the Pacific oyster *Crassostrea gigas. Microbial ecology* 53:187-196.
- Grey, J.E. 1853. On the teeth and the tongues of Mollusca. *Quarterly journal of microscopical science* S1-1:170-176.
- Grizel, H. and Héral, M. 1991. Introduction into France of the Japanese oyster *Crassostrea* gigas. Journal du Conseil International pour l'Exploration de la Mer 47, 399-403.
- Harris, L., Lambkin, H. and O'Byrne-Ring, N. 2006. Characterisation of cell types in abalone (*Haliotis* spp.) tissues using immunohistochemical techniques. *Aquaculture* 261:1413-1421.
- Hégaret, H., Da Silva, P.M., Wikfors, G.H. Lambert, C., De Bettignies, T., Shumway, S.E. and Soudant, P. 2007. Hemocyte responses of Manila clams *Rudetapes philippinarum*, with varying parasite, *Perkinsus olseni*, severity to toxic-algal exposures. *Aquatic Toxicology* 84:469-479.
- Hine, P.M. 1999. Review: The interrelationships of bivalve haemocytes. Fish and Shellfish Immunology 9:367-385.
- Hine, P.M., Wain, J.M. and Boustead, N.C. 1987. The leucocyte enzyme cytochemistry of fish. *New Zealand Fisheries Research Bulletin* 28:1-74.
- Hine, P.M., Wesney, B. and Hay, B.E. 1992. Herpes virus associated with mortalities among hatchery reared larval pacific oysters *Crassostrea gigas*. *Disease of Aquatic Organisms* 12:135-142.
- Hine, P.M., Wesney, B. and Besant, P. 1998. Replication of a herpes-like virus in larvae of the flat oyster *Tiostrea chilensis* at ambient temperatures. *Diseases of aquatic organisms* 32:161-171.

- Hong Chen, Kangsen Mai, Wenbing Zhang, Zhiguo Lifu, Wei Xu and Beiping Tan. 2005. Effects of dietary pyridoxine on iimmune responses in abalone *Haliotis discus hannai* Ino. *Fish and shellfish immunology* 19:241-252.
- Kanagawa, T. 2003. Bias and artifacts in multitemplate polymerase chain reactions (PCR). *Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering* 96:317-323.
- Khan, R.A. 2004. Parasites of fish as biomarkers of environmental degradation: a field study. *Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology* 72:394-400.
- Kim, Y., Powell, E.N., Wade, T.L. and Presley, B.J. 2008. Relationship of parasites and pathologies to contaminant body burden in sentinel bivalves: NOAA status and trends 'Mussel Watch" program. *Marine Environmental Research* 65:101-127.
- Lacoste, A., Malham, S.K., Gelebart, F., Cueff, A. and Poulet, S.A. 2002. Stress-induced immune changes in the oyster *Crassostrea gigas*. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology* 26:1-9.
- Lannen, D. 2007. Deadly virus threatens abalone stocks. Geelong Advertiser, issue of 14 Feb 2007.
- Le Guyader, F.S., Loisy, F., Atmar, R.L., Hutson, A.M. Estes, M.K. Ruvoën-Clouet, N. Pommepuy, M. and Le Pendus, J. 2006. *Emerging Infectious Diseases* 12:931-936.
- Lenihan, H.S., Micheli, F., Shelton, S.W., and Peterson, C.H. 1999. The influence of multiple environmental stressors on susceptibility to parasites: an experimental determination with oysters. *Limnology and Oceanography* 44:910-924.
- Le Roux, F., Lorenzo, G., Peyret, P., Audemard, C., Figueras, A., Vivarès, C., Gouy, M. and Berthe, F. 2001. Molecular evidence for the existence of two species of *Marteilia* in Europe. *Journal of Eukaryotic Microbiology* 48:449-454.
- Longshaw, M., Feist, S.W., Matthews, R.A. and Figueras, A. 2001. Ultrastructural characterisation of *Marteilia* species (Paramyxea) from *Ostrea edulis*, *Mytilus edulis* and *Mytilus galloprovincialis* in Europe. *Diseases of aquatic organisms* 44:137-142.
- López-Flores, I., De la Herrán, R., Garrido-Ramos, M.A., Navas, J.I., Ruiz-Rejón, C. and Ruiz-Rejón, M. 2004. The molecular diagnosis of *Marteilia refringens* and differentiation between *Marteilia* strains infecting oysters and mussels based on the rDNA IGS sequence. *Parasitology* 129:411-419.
- Mackenzie, K. 1999: Parasites as pollution indicators in marine ecosystems: a proposed early warning system *Marine Pollution Bulletin* 38 :955-959.
- Mahilini, H.M. and Rajendran, A. 2008. Categorization of hemocytes of three gastropod species *Trachea vittata* (Muller), *Pila glabosa* (Swainson) and *Indoplanorbis exustus* (Dehays). *Journal of Invertebrate Pathology* 97:20-26.
- Manger, P., Christensen, B.M. and Yoshino, T.P. 1996. Biogenic monoamines in the freshwater snail *Biomphalaria glabrata*: influence of infection by the human blood fluke, *Schistosoma mansoni. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology* 114A:227-234.
- Marigomez, I., Soto, M., Cancio, I., Orbea, A., Garmendia, L. and Cajaraville, M.P. 2006. Cell and tissue biomarkers in mussel, and histopathology in hake and anchovy from Bay of Biscay after the Prestige oil spill (Monitoring Campaign 2003). *Marine Pollution Bulletin* 53:287-304.

- Matthiessen, P. 2008. An assessment of endocrine disruption in molluscs and the potential for developing internationally standardized mollusc life cycle test guidelines. *Integrated environmental assessment and management* 4:274-284.
- Metchnikoff, E. 1893. Lectures on the comparative pathology of inflammation. (Reprinted in 1968). Dover, New York.
- Miura, O., Kuris., A.M., Torchin, M.E., Hechinger, R.F. and Chiba, S. 2006. Parasites alter host phenotype and may create a new ecological niche for snail hosts. Proceedings of the Royal Society. *B. Biological Sciences* 273:1323-1328.
- Mohandas, A., Cheng, T.C. and Cheng, J.B. 1985. Mechanism of lysosomal enzyme release from *Mercenaria mercenaria* granulocytes: a scanning electron microscope study. *Journal of invertebrate pathology* 46:189-197.
- Montes, J.F., Durfort, M. and García-Valero, J. 1996. When the venerid clam *Tapes decussatus* is parasitized by the protozoan *Perkinsus* sp. it synthesizes a defensive polypeptide that is closely related to p225. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 26:149–157.
- Morley, N.J. 2009. Environmental risk and toxicology of human and veterinary waste pharmaceutical exposure to wild aquatic host-parasite relationships. *Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology* 27:161-175.
- Montes, J.F., Del Río, J.A., Durfort, M. and García-Valero, J. 1997. The protozoan parasite *Perkinsus atlanticus* elicits a unique defensive response in the clam *Tapes semidecussatus*. *Parasitology* 114:339–349.
- Nakano, T. and Spencer, H. 2007. Simultaneous polyphenism and cryptic species in an intertidal limpet from New Zealand. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* 45:470-479.
- Olafsen, J.A., Fletcher, T.C. and Grant, P.T. 1992. Agglutinin activity in Pacific oyster *Crassostrea gigas* hemolymph following *in vivo Vibrio anguillarum* challenge. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology* 16:123–138.
- Oliver, L.M., Fisher, W.S., Winstead, J.T., Hemmer, B.L. and Long, E.R. 2001. Relationships between tissue contaminants and defense-related characteristics of oysters (*Crassostrea virginica*) from five Florida bays. *Aquatic Toxicology* 55:203-222
- Onstad, D.W., Fuxa, J.R., Humber, R.A., Oestergaard, J., Shapiro-Ilan, D.I., Gouli, V.V., Anderson, R.S., Andreadis, T.G. and Lacey, L.A. 2006. An Abridged Glossary of Terms Used in Invertebrate Pathology, 3rd Ed. Society for Invertebrate Pathology. http://www. sipweb.org/
- Ottaviani, E. and Franceschi, C. 1998a. The invertebrate phagocytic immunocyte: clues to a common evolution of immune and neuroendocrine systems. *Immunology Today* 18:169-174.
- Ottaviani, E. and Franceschi, C. 1998b. A new theory on the common evolutionary origin of natural immunity, inflammation and stress response: the invertebrate phagocytic immunocyte as an eye witness. *Domestic Animal Endocrinology* 15: 291-296.
- Pauley G.B. 1969. A critical review of neoplasia and tumor like lesions in Mollusks. *United States National Cancer Institute Monograph* 31:509-539.
- Peck, R.H. 1877. The minute structure of the gills of Lamellibranch Mollusca. *Quarterly journal of microscopical science* s2-17:43-66.
- Peters, R. and Raftos, D.A. 2003. The role of phenoloxidase suppression in QX disease outbreaks among Sydney Rock oysters (*Saccostrea glomerata*). *Aquaculture* 223:29-39.
- Pipe, R.K. and Coles, J.A. 1995. Environmental contaminants influencing immunefunction in marine bivalve mollusks. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 5:581-595.
- Rice, T., McGraw, E., O'Brien, E.K., Reverter, A., Jackson, D.J. and Degnan, B.M. 2006. Parasitic castration by the digenian trematode *Allopodocotyle* sp. alters gene expression in the brain of the host mollusc *Haliotis asinina*. *FEBS letters* 580:3769-3774.
- Roch, P., Yang, Y., Toubiana, M. and Aumelas, A. 2008. NMR structure of mussel mytilin and antiviral and antibacterial activities of derived synthetic peptides. *Development and Comparative Immunology* 32:227-238.
- Rothschild, B.J., Ault, J.S., Goulletquer, P. and He'ral, M. 1994. Decline of the Chesapeake Bay oyster population: a century of habitat destruction and overfishing. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 111:29-39.
- Ryder, J.A. 1883. The protozoan parasites of the oyster. Science, NY 1:567-568.
- Smith, B.S. 1981. Male characteristics on female mud snails caused by antifouling paints. Journal of applied toxicology 1:22-25.
- Sniezko, S.F. 1974. The effects of environmental stress on outbreaks of infectious diseases in fishes. *Journal of Fish Biology* 6:197-208.
- Soudant, P., Paillard, C., Choquet, G., Lambert, C., Reid, H.I., Marhic, A., Donaghy, L. and Birkbeck, T.H. 2004. Impact of season and rearing site on the physiological and immunological parameters of the Manila clam *Venerupis*. *Aquaculture* 229:401-418.
- Sparks, A.K. 2005. Observations on the history of non-insect invertebrate pathology from the perspective of a participant, *Journal of Invertebrate Pathology, Volume 89, Special SIP Symposium Issue*:67-77.
- Stauber, L. 1950. The fate of India ink injected intracardially into the oyster, *Ostrea virginica* Gmelin. *Biological Bulletin* 98:227-241.
- Swammerdam, J. 1737. Biblia Naturae. Amsterdam, 137 pp.
- Tallmon, D.A. and Hoferkamp, L. 2009. Long-term changes in imposex frequency in file dogwinkles, *Nucella lima* G., and tributyltin concentrations in bay mussels, *Mytilus* trossulus G. Bulletin of environmental contamination and toxicology 83:235-238.
- Tian, P., Engelbrektson, A.L., Jiang, X., Zhong, W. and Mandrell, R.E. 2007. Norovirus recognizes histo-blood group antigens on gastrointestinal cells of clams, mussels, and oysters: a possible mechanism of bioaccumulation. *Journal of Food Protection* 70:2140-2147.
- Travers, M.A., Da Silva, P.M., Le Goic, N., Marie, D., Donval, A., Huchette, S., Koken, M. and Paillard, C. 2008. Morpologic, cytometric and functional characterisation of abalone (*Haliotis tuberculata*) haemocytes. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 24:400-411.
- Ulrich, P.N., Colton, C.M., Hoover, C.A., Gaffney, P.M. and Marsh, A.G. 2007. *Haplosporidium nelsoni* (MSX) rDNA detected in oysters from the Gulf of Mexico and the Caribbean Sea. *Journal of Shellfish Research* 26:195-199.
- Virvilis, C. and Angelidis, P. 2006. Presence of the parasite *Marteilia* sp. in the flat oyster (Ostrea edulis L) in Greece. Aquaculture 259:1-5.

- Walker, P. and Subasinghe, R. 2000. DNA-based Molecular diagnostic techniques: Research needs for standardization and validation of the detection of aquatic animal pathogens and diseases. *FAO Fisheries Technical Paper* 395:1-100.
- Webb, S.C., Fidler, A. and Renault, T. 2007. Primers for PCR-based detection of ostreid herpes virus-1 (OsHV-1): Application in a survey of New Zealand mollusks. *Aquaculture* 272: 126-139.
- Whitfield, J. 2008. Group Theory. Nature 455 (7214):720-723.
- Wright, C.A. 1959. The application of paper chromatography to a taxonomic study in the molluscan genus *Lymnaea*. *Journal of the Linnean Society (Zoology)* 44:222-237.
- Yonge, C.M. 1926. Structure and physiology of the organs of feeding and digestion in *Ostrea edulis. Journal of the Marine Biological Association* 12:295-386.
- Xu-Tao Hong, Li-Xin Xiang and Jian-Zhong Shao 2006. The immunostimulating effect of bacterial genomic DNA on the innate immune responses of bivalve mussel *Hyriopsis cumingii* Lea. *Fish and Shellfish immunology* 21:357-364.
- Zhang, Z., Li X., Vandepeer, M. and Zhao W. 2006. Effects of water temperature and air exposure on the lysosomal membrane stability of hemocytes in pacific oysters, *Crassostrea gigas* (Thunberg). *Aquaculture* 256:502-509.

Lysozymes in molluscs

KEISUKE G. TAKAHASHI and NAOKI ITOH

Laboratory of Aquacultural Biology, Graduate School of Agricultural Sciences Tohoku University, Sendai 981-8555, Japan

ABSTRACT

Invertebrates lack antibody-mediated humoral immune systems; however, they are believed to possess efficient host defense mechanisms involving humoral defense molecules that are similar in function to antibodies. Lysozymes are a group of enzymes that cleave the glycosidic bonds between N-acetylmuramic acid and N-acetylglucosamine (two amino sugars) in the peptidoglycans that form bacterial cell walls. In bivalves, lysozymes are especially important antibacterial molecules because of their bactericidal ability. Recently, the presence of multiple lysozymes has been found in several species of bivalve molluscs such as the blue mussel, Mytilus edulis, and the eastern oyster, Crassostrea virginica. Therefore, to determine the molecular and biochemical properties of bivalve lysozymes, we have identified the cDNA sequences of three different lysozymes (CGL-1, -2, and -3) from the Pacific oyster, C. gigas, and have produced recombinant lysozymes (rCGL) using the methylotrophic yeast Pichia pastoris. The lysozyme CGL-1 mRNA was expressed in all tissues except for those of the adductor muscle. In contrast, CGL-2 gene was only expressed in digestive diverticula. Interestingly, in digestive diverticula, CGL-1 gene expression was detected in the same digestive cells as that of CGL-2. It is therefore possible that CGL-1 and CGL-2 play complementary roles in digestive organs. In situ hybridization revealed that CGL-3 mRNA was highly expressed in the mantle and haemocytes. These results suggest that CGL-1 and -2 serve as digestive enzymes for enteric and engulfed bacteria in digestive organs and that CGL-3 is involved in biodefense against invading microbes. Based on the results from experiments using recombinant lysozymes, we found significant differences among the characteristics of the three lysozymes, suggesting that these lysozymes have different functions in C. gigas.

Key words: biodefense mechanism, lysozyme, oyster, Crassostrea gigas, bivalve molluscs

Takahashi, K.G. and Itoh, N. 2011. Lysozymes in molluscs, pp. 93-102. *In* Bondad-Reantaso, M.G., Jones, J.B., Corsin, F., Aoki, T. (eds.). Diseases in Asian Aquaculture VII, Fish Health Section, Asian Fisheries Society, Selangor, Malaysia. 385 pp.

Corresponding author: Keisuke Takahashi, waradica@bios.tohoku.ac.jp

INTRODUCTION

Bivalve molluses and microorganisms coexist in the biosphere in numerous ways. Thus, bivalves have evolved sensitive mechanisms for recognizing pathogens and an array of strategies to defend themselves against attacks by microorganisms such as bacteria, fungi, and parasites. However, bivalve molluscs, as well as other invertebrates, lack an antibodymediated adaptive immune system. They have an innate immune system that comprises haemocytes and non-specific humoral defense molecules. Therefore, to combat infection, bivalves rely on multiple defense reactions. The point of biodefense mechanisms is to recognize and eliminate various types of pathogens. Some defense molecules are able to respond to typical microbial pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), and these molecules are used to distinguish pathogens from host cells. In insects, for example, peptidoglycan recognition proteins (PGRPs) play a crucial role in the recognition of bacterial pathogens and in the induction of various immune reactions. However, in bivalve molluscs, although the genes of PGRP have been cloned and sequenced from the scallops Argopecten irradians and Chlamys farreri (Ni et al., 2007; Su et al., 2007) and from the Pacific oyster, Crassostrea gigas (Itoh and Takahashi, 2008; 2009), their functions are still unclear. Although humoral responses to bacterial pathogens remain unknown in bivalves, it is considered that lectins might be the main recognition molecules as they function as a binding receptor for pathogens and as an opsonin for phagocytosis by haemocytes (summarized by Muroga and Takahashi, 2007). Lysozymes are a cleaving enzyme that break the glycosidic bonds in bacterial peptidoglycans, and these enzymes have been found in many species of bivalves and are considered to be one of the most important types of defense molecule.

BRIEF REVIEW ON BIVALVE MOLLUSC LYSOZYME STUDIES

Lysozymes (EC 3.2.1.17) occur in a wide variety of cells, tissues, and secretions from bacteriophages to mammals. They are a family of glucoside hydrolases that cleave the glycosidic bond between *N*-acetylmuramic acid and *N*-acetylglucosamine in the peptidoglycans forming bacterial cell walls. Thus, lysozymes are bacteriolytic enzymes and play a major biological role in biodefense, as these enzymes can act as antibacterial and immune-modulating agents. In addition, lysozymes function as important digestive enzymes in some animals. Since Mcdade and Tripp (1967a, b) reported the detection of lysozyme activity in the hemolymph and skin mucus from the American oyster, *C. virginica*, lysozyme and lysozyme-like activity have been found in various bivalve molluscs (summarized by Muroga and Takahashi, 2007).

Three families of lysozymes have been identified in animals, they are the chicken type (c-type), goose type (g-type), and a new type of lysozyme; i.e., the invertebrate type (i-type). The existence of the i-type lysozyme was first proposed as a new type of lysozyme based on analysis of the quantitative amino acid composition and the N-terminal sequence of a lysozyme from the common starfish, *Asterias rubens* (Jollès and Jollès, 1975). In the late 1990s, a lysozyme from the clam *Tapes japonica* (*Ruditapes philippinarum*) was isolated, and its complete amino acid sequence at the protein level was determined

(Ito et al., 1999). This was the first bivalve mollusc lysozyme to be identified as an i-type lysozyme. Subsequently, cDNA coding lysozymes have been cloned and sequenced from the Icelandic scallop, Chlamys islandica (Nilsen et al., 1999; Nilsen and Myrnes, 2001) T. japonica (Takeshita et al., 2004), C. gigas (Matsumoto, Nakamura and Takahashi, 2006; Itoh and Takahashi, 2007), C. virginica (Itoh et al., 2007; Xue et al., 2007), and the Mediterranean mussel, Mytilus galloprovincialis (Li et al., 2008). Alignment and phylogenic analyses using six bivalve lysozymes have demonstrated that i-type lysozymes form a monophyletic family (Bachali et al., 2002). The gene of a lysozyme from C. islandica (designated chlamysin) was shown to have four exons of 38 to 252 bp separated by large introns (Nilsen and Myrnes, 2001). The overall gene organization of chlamysin resembled that of the c-type lysozyme genes found in invertebrates, but it differed from the invertebrate c-type lysozyme genes by having a three-exon structure. Furthermore, based on crystal structure and mutation analyses of T. japonica lysozyme (TJL), Goto et al. (2007) demonstrated that TJL formed a dimer by electrostatic interactions between catalytic residues (Glu-18 and Asp-30), and that the TJL dimer (inactive form) remained intact under low salt concentrations but that it dissociated into TJL monomers (active form) under high salt conditions. Moreover, with increasing salt concentrations, the chitinase activity of TJL markedly increased. In general, the lytic activity of bivalve lysozymes has been shown to be sensitive to the ionic strength and salt concentration of solutions (Muroga and Takahashi, 2007).

By using enzymatic analyses, the functions of bivalve lysozymes were estimated as digestion (McHenery and Birkbeck, 1979; McHenery, Birkbeck and Allen 1979; Jollès, Fiala-Médioni and Jollès, 1996) and host defense (Jollès and Jollès, 1984). Bacteria are the chief source (nitrogen and phosphorous) of food in bivalve molluscs as well as in other invertebrates. Bivalve molluscs are also classically known to feed through heterotrophic processes on marine bacteria and/or other planktonic organic materials filtered from seawater. In addition, Jollès, Fiala-Médioni and Jollès (1996) suggested a digestive role for the lysozymes in deep-seawater bivalve molluses, which rely on symbiotic bacteria in their gills for nutrition. In fact, digestive lysozymes from many bivalve species were isolated or purified from the digestive glands and crystalline styles, e.g., M. edulis (McHenery and Birkbeck, 1979; McHenery, Birkbeck and Allen, 1979; Olsen et al., 2003); T. japonica (Ito et al., 1999); C. virginica (Xue et al., 2007); C. islandica (Nilsen et al., 1999); and the brackish water clam Corbicula japonica (Miyauchi, Matsumiya and Mochizuki, 2000). The crystalline style is a rod-shaped organ in the bivalve stomach in which various digestive enzymes are stored in high concentrations. In T. japonica, TJL may be rendered inactive by dimer formation in the crystalline style under highly concentrated conditions (Goto et al., 2007). When bivalves feed, they ingest bacteria present in the seawater, which has a high salt concentration. With increasing salt concentration in the stomach, the inactive TJL dimer is converted to the active TJL monomer (Goto et al., 2007). Recently, the presence of multiple lysozymes with different biochemical properties has been demonstrated in M. edulis (Olsen et al., 2003) and C. virginica (Xue et al., 2004; Xue et al., 2007). A C. virginica lysozyme purified from plasma (CVL-1) was found to be unique in its N-terminal amino acid sequence and showed optimal activity at high ionic strength (Xue et al., 2004). CVL-1

possesses strong antimicrobial activity, which suggested that its main role is in host defense (Itoh *et al.*, 2007). Furthermore, a different lysozyme, designated CVL-2, was purified from the crystalline styles and digestive gland in *C. virginica* (Xue *et al.*, 2007). CVL-2 showed high amino acid sequence similarity to other bivalve lysozymes, but its biochemical and molecular properties, distribution in the oyster body and site of gene expression suggested that its role was in digestion (Xue *et al.*, 2007). These facts indicate that each species of bivalve mollusc possesses multiple lysozymes in various tissues such as the hemocytes and plasma or the digestive gland and crystalline style and may use different lysozymes for different functions (host defense or digestion, for example). These findings also indicate that the application of bacteria lysis tests using *Micrococcus luteus* (*lysodeikticus*) in classical studies is of limited use for characterizing unpurified lysozyme because a mixture of multiple lysozymes might be measured and characterized as lysozyme activity. However, it is never made particularly clear what that distinction between digestive and immune lysozymes. Thus, to better understand the physiological roles of lysozymes, it is necessary to identify each lysozyme molecule and determine its molecular and biochemical properties.

RECENT ADVANCES IN THE FIELD OF OYSTER LYSOZYMES AND THEIR ROLE IN BIODEFENSE MECHANISMS

The Pacific oyster, *C. gigas*, is the most important commercial species in the world and is a physiologically well-studied bivalve species. The lysozyme activity of *C. gigas* was first recognized by Mori *et al.* (1980) as bactericidin. Takahashi, Mori and Nomura (1986) concluded that lysozyme is a chief component of bactericidin, and Matsumoto, Nakamura and Takahashi (2006) identified a cDNA sequence of lysozyme (CGL-1) from *C. gigas*. However, it remained unknown whether *C. gigas* possesses multiple lysozymes, and it was still unclear whether the lysozymes in *C. gigas* were able to function as a digestive enzyme and/or as a host-defense molecule. Thus, to clarify the function of lysozymes in host defense mechanisms in *C. gigas*, we have been investigating molecular and biochemical characteristics of lysozymes since 2007. We have attempted to clone and identify each lysozymes; to characterize the properties of recombinant lysozymes; to purify each lysozyme molecule; and to determine the tissue distributions of each lysozyme molecule.

We obtained and identified a second lysozyme cDNA from the digestive gland of *C. gigas* (Itoh and Takahashi, 2007). A 536-bp of cDNA encoding a novel lysozyme was identified and designated as CGL-2. The encoded lysozyme is comprised of 142 amino acid residues including 20 residues of a signal peptide. The amino acid sequence of CGL-2 was different from that of CGL-1. CGL-1 was expressed in multiple tissues of *C. gigas*, especially the mantle, hemocytes, and digestive gland (Matsumoto, Nakamura and Takahashi, 2006). The CGL-2 has a lower isoelectric point and fewer peptide recognition sites; *in situ* hybridization revealed CGL-2 mRNA transcription in the digestive cells of the digestive tubule, suggesting that CGL-2 has evolved to adapt to digestive environments. Moreover, CGL-1 gene expression was also detected in the same digestive cells as CGL-2 (Itoh and Takahashi, 2007). It is predicted that CGL-1 and CGL-2 play complementary roles

in the digestive organs in *C. gigas*. To investigate the biochemical characteristics of each lysozyme, we produced recombinant CGL-1 and CGL-2 (rCGL-1 and rCGL-2) using the methylotrophic yeast *Pichia pastoris*. rCGL-1 showed relatively high activity within a broad range of pH and ionic strengths (Fig. 1). The maximum activity of rCGL-1 was detected in salt concentrations in excess of 150 mM. In contrast, rCGL-2 expressed more than 90% of its maximum activity in the pH range of 5.4 to 6.4 when the salt concentration was very low (Fig. 1). rCGL-2 activity was almost completely inhibited at higher ionic strengths.



We also cloned and identified a third lysozyme cDNA from the mantle tissues in *C. gigas* (Itoh and Takahashi, unpublished). This lysozyme was designated CGL-3. A protein-protein BLAST search in GenBank revealed that the amino acid sequence deduced from the CGL-3 cDNA is homologous to bivalve i-type lysozymes (Fig. 2). CGL-3 has a signal peptide sequence comprising 20 residues, and mature CGL-3 consists of 122 amino acid residues. Furthermore, multiple alignments with bivalve i-type lysozymes showed that the important residues responsible for lysozyme activity, Glu34, Asp45 and Trp61, were present in CGL-3. Thus, it is considered that all three lysozymes, CGL-1, CGL-2, and CGL-3, have true lysozyme activity in the body of *C. gigas*. We also measured the antibacterial activities of the three recombinant lysozymes. Results are expressed as the minimum concentration (MIC) of lysozymes that significantly inhibited bacterial growth.

As shown in Table 2, antibacterial activity differed greatly among the three lysozymes. rCGL-3 revealed the strongest activity, as it significantly inhibited the growth of *Escherichia coli* at a concentration of 1.6 μ g/ml. rCGL-2 was significantly less effective than both rCGL-1 and rCGL-3. A comparison of the molecular and biochemical characteristics of CGL-1, CGL-2, and CGL-3 is shown in Table 1.

MGL1	MMTELKMSVALFFALLCGLNVCCGLKEIVESYKVEFEQREVDVESEGLVSGDLNESNGLV
C.islandica	ATGTTYGAHNFATGIV
CGL1	SIVILATVFTFCEATI
CGL2	IVVVFASLFVFGEGAI
CGL3	IAVVFAGIFVYCEGTI
MGL1	SDKCMRCICMVESHCNNNIGCRMUVGSLSCGPFQIKKAYMIDCGQPKGDYKACANDYACA
C.islandica	PQSCLECICKT.G.R-AKF.Y.DYF.L.QA.EGR.GGSLTS.ADDIH.S
CGL1	SSA.LRNVG.R-PHYY.YYF.I.ENEGK.GTSFKA.ANDYT.A
CGLZ	SST.LQEV.G.R-ARW.N.EYY.I.EN.T.HS.GSSLSQ.ADDFT.A
CGL3	SSR.LREVG.K-ANWN.EYY.I.QNIKR.GSSLSW.GDNST.S
MGL1	YNCIETYMARYIGHSGCPKGCESYARIHNGGPRGCTNPNTIGYWNKIKQQGCTIY
C.islandica	SQ.VQHSRGHTS.SRTLHGCEHGS.LGGHVQGH
CGL1	SN.VRAKRGSSG.PANIRG.RHPS.LREKVHQQNVN
CGLZ	TN.VKSSHKYNG.TANMSA.KSTSSMHDR.NNRDVQAKDAN
CGL3	TN.VKNSRKSNG.TANMKA.DPNHYMHGR.NNRKVQAKNSS
MGL1	S
C.islandica	
CGL1	S Signal peptide
CGL2	S Catalytic residues
CGL3	S

Figure 2. Multiple amino acid sequence alignments of the CGL in *C. gigas* and representative bivalve i-type lysozymes. The residues of possible signal peptides are shaded in bold letters. Catalytic residues for lysozyme activity are enclosed with red squares. The sequences used for alignment were from *Mytilus galloprovincialis* MGL1 (AAN16210); *Chlamys islandica* (CAC34834); and *C. gigas* CGL-1 (BAD19059), CGL-2 (BAF48044), and CGL-3 (BAF94156).

Significant differences were found in the characteristics of the three lysozymes, suggesting that they have different functions in *C. gigas*. Firstly, CGL-2 was mainly expressed in the digestive gland. Secondly, the lower isoelectric point of CGL-2, compared to those of CGL-1 and CGL-3, suggests that CGL-2 functions in an acidic environment. Thirdly, the number of arginine residues and protease cutting sites in CGL-2 was lower than in the other two lysozymes, suggesting that CGL-2 has an increased resistance to proteolytic digestive enzymes and has adapted to digestive conditions. Thus, we concluded that the main role of CGL-2 is related to digestion. In contrast, CGL-1 showed high activity in relatively high salt concentrations, suggesting that CGL-1 is better suited to function in the mantle tissues and the hemolymph, where pH and salt concentrations are usually high. Therefore, it is suggested that CGL-1 functions as both a host defense molecule and a digestive enzyme. CGL-3 was

Table 1

Comparison of CGL-1 molecule characteristics with those of CGL-2 and CGL-3

	CGL-1	CGL-2	CGL-3
Molecular weight	13079.5	13494.7	13698.2
Predicted pl	8.03	6.03	8.27
Total AA residues	117	122	122
No. argenine residues	8	5	7
Protease cutting sites			
Trypsin	1	10	14
Thermolysin	22	18	18
Tissue expression	Multiple	Digestive gland	Mantle
Optimal salinity	>150mM	<20 mM	ND

Table 2

Antibacterial activity of recombinant CGL

Antibacterial activity (MIC, μg/ml)	rCGL-1	rCGL-2	rCGL-3
Escherichia coli	12.5	50	1.6
Vibrio tubiashii	50	100	100
Marinococcus halophilus	0.8	2.5	0.8

found to be mainly synthesized in the mantle and hemocytes. In addition, CGL-3 showed the highest antibacterial activity among the three lysozymes. Thus, we propose that the main role of CGL-3 is related to host defense. However, we were unable to elucidate the function of each lysozyme in *C. gigas* because it is possible that the lysozymes can perform more than one function simultaneously.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors are grateful to Professor Takashi Aoki and Professor Chu-Fang Lo for inviting us to speak at DAA VII. We also thank to Drs Brian Jones and Kerry Greer for reading and correcting the manuscript. This work was funded, in part, by the Japan Fisheries Resource Conservation Association. This work was also supported by a Grant-in-Aid for scientific research (17380112) to KGT and a research grant for postdoctoral fellows to NI from the Japan Society for the Promotion of Science.

REFERENCES

Bachali, S., Jager, M., Hassanin, A., Schoentgen, F., Jollès, P., Fiala-Médioni, A. and Deutsch, J. S. 2002. Phylogenic analysis of invertebrate lysozymes and the evolution of lysozyme function. *Journal of Molecular Evolution* 54:652-664.

- Goto, T., Abe, Y., Kakuta, Y., Takeshita, K., Imoto, T. and Ueda, T. 2007. Crystal structure of *Tapes japonica* lysozyme with substrate analogue. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 282:27459-27467.
- Itoh, N. and Takahashi, K. G. 2007. cDNA cloning and *in situ* hybridization of a novel lysozyme in the Pacific oyster, *Crassostrea gigas*. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology* 148B:160-166.
- Itoh, N. and Takahashi, K. G. 2008. Distribution of multiple peptidoglycan recognition proteins in the tissues of Pacific oyster, *Crassostrea gigas*. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology* 150B:409-417.
- Itoh, N. and Takahashi, K. G. 2009. A novel peptidoglycan recognition protein containing a goose-type lysozyme domain from the Pacific oyster, *Crassostrea gigas*. Molecular Immunology 46:1768-1774.
- Ito, Y., Yoshikawa, A., Hotani, T., Fukuda, S., Sugimura, K. and Imoto, T. 1999. Amino acid sequences of lysozymes newly purified from invertebrates imply wide distribution of a novel class in the lysozyme family. *European Journal of Biochemistry* 259:456-461.
- Itoh, N., Xue, QG., Li, Y., Cooper, R. K. and La Peyre, J. F. 2007. cDNA cloning and tissue expression of plasma lysozyme in the eastern oyster, *Crassostrea virginica*. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 23:957-968.
- Jollès, J. and Jollès, P. 1975. The lysozyme of Asterias rubens. European Journal of Biochemistry 54:19-23.
- Jollès, P. and Jollès, J. 1984. What's new in lysozyme research? *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry* 63: 165-189.
- Jollès, J., Fiala-Médioni, A. and Jollès, P. 1996. The ruminant digestion model using bacteria already employed early in evolution by symbiotic molluscs. *Journal of Molecular Evolution* 43:523-527.
- Li, H., Maria-Giovanna, P., Toubiana, M., Cammarata, M. and Roch, P. 2008. Lysozyme gene expression and hemocyte behaviour in the Mediterranean mussel, *Mytilus galloprovincialis*, after injection of various bacteria or temperature stresses. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 25:143-152.
- Matsumoto, T., Nakamura, A. M. and Takahashi, K. G. 2006. Cloning of cDNAs and hybridization analysis of lysozymes from two oyster species, *Crassostrea gigas* and *Ostrea edulis*. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology* 145B:325-330.
- McDade, J. E. and Tripp, M. R. 1967a. Lysozyme in the hemolymph of oyster, *Crassostrea virginica. Journal of Invertebrate Pathology* 9:531-535.
- McDade, J. E. and Tripp, M. R. 1967b. Lysozyme in oyster mantle mucus. *Journal of Invertebrate Pathology* 9:581-582.
- McHenery, J. G. and Birkbeck, T. H. 1979. Lysozyme of the mussel, *Mytilus edulis* (L.). *Marine Biological Letter* 1:111-119.
- McHenery, J. G., Birkbeck, T. H. and Allen, J. A. 1979. The occurrence of lysozyme in marine bivalves. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology* 63B:25-28.
- Miyauchi, K., Matsumiya, M. and Mochizuki, A. 2000. Purification and characterization of lysozyme from brackish water clam *Corbicula japonica*. *Nippon Suisan Gakkaishi* 66:275-281.

- Mori, K., Itsukaichi, S., Murayama, K. and Nomura, T. 1980. Activities of agglutinin and bactericidin in oyster tissues. *Bulletin for the Japanese Society of Fisheries Science* 46:1385-1389.
- Muroga, K. and Takahashi, K. G. 2007. Review: Overview on the studies of humoral defense factors in bivalve molluses. *Fish Pathology* 42:1-17.
- Ni, D., Song, L., Wu, L., Chang, Y., Yu, Y., Qiu, L. and Wang, L. 2007. Molecular cloning and mRNA expression of peptidoglycan recognition protein (PGRP) gene in bay scallop (*Argopecten irradians*, Lamarck 1819). *Developmental and Comparative Immunology* 31:548-558.
- Nilsen, I. W. and Myrnes, B. 2001. The gene of chlamysin, a marine invertebrate-type lysozyme, is organized similar to vertebrate but different from invertebrate chicken-type lysozyme genes. *Gene* 269:27-32.
- Nilsen, I. W., Øverbø, K., Sandsdalen, E., Sandaker, E., Sletten, K. and Myrnes, B. 1999. Protein purification and gene isolation of chlamysin, a cold-active lysozyme-like enzyme with antibacterial activity. *FEBS Letters* 464:153-158.
- Olsen, Ø. M., Nilsen, I. W., Sletten, K. and Myrnes, B. 2003. Multiple lysozymes in blue mussel (*Mytilus edulis*). *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology* 136B:107-115.
- Su, J., Ni, D., Song, L., Zhao, J. and Qiu, L. 2007. Molecular cloning and characterization of a short type peptidoglycan recognition protein (CfPGRP-S1) cDNA from Zhikong scallop *Chlamys farreri. Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 23:646-656.
- Takahashi, K., Mori, K. and Nomura, T. 1986. Occurrence and characterization of lysozyme from marine bivalves. *Bulletin for the Japanese Society of Fisheries Science* 52:863-868.
- Takeshita, K., Hashimoto, Y., Thujihata, Y., So, T., Ueda, T. and Imoto, T. 2004. Determination of the complete cDNA sequence, construction of expression systems, and elucidation of fibrinolytic activity for *Tapes japonica* lysozyme. *Protein Expression and Purification* 36:254-262.
- Xue, Q. G., Itoh, N., Schey, K. L., Li, Y. L., Cooper, R. K. and La Peyre, J. F. 2007. A new lysozyme from the eastern oyster (*Crassostrea virginica*) indicates adaptive evolution of *i*-type lysozymes. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* 64:82-95.
- Xue, Q. G., Schey, K. L., Volety, A. K., Chu, F. L. and La Peyre, J. F. 2004. Purification and characterization of lysozyme from plasma of the eastern oyster (*Crassostrea virginica*). *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology* 139B:11-25.

Investigating a mortality in hatchery cultured tropical abalone, *Haliotis asinina* Linnaeus, 1758 in Malaysia

BENG CHU KUA¹, RIMATULHANA RAMLY¹, M.N. DEVAKIE², DAVE GROMAN³ and FRANCK C.J. BERTHE⁴

¹ National Fish Health Research Centre, Fisheries Research Institute, 11960 Batu Maung, Penang, Malaysia.

² Mollusc Unit, Fisheries Research Institute, 11960 Batu Maung, Penang, Malaysia. ³ Aquatic Diagnostic Services, Atlantic Veterinary College - University of Prince

Edward Island, 550 University Avenue, Charlottetown, CIA 4P3 Canada.

⁴ Canada Research Chair, Department of Pathology and Microbiology, Atlantic Veterinary College - University of Prince Edward Island, 550 University Avenue, Charlottetown, CIA 4P3 Canada.

ABSTRACT

Abnormal mortality rates ranging from 4-5 individuals/day were reported for abalone cultured in fibreglass tanks at the hatchery facility of the Fisheries Research Institute, Penang, Malaysia. Previously, mortality was only in the range of 1-3 abalone/month. Histological and bacteriological examination of the samples collected over a three-month period showed systemic bacterial infection by Gram-negative bacterial rods with a presumptive identification to the genera *Vibrio* spp. and *Pasteurella* spp. The main histological feature observed was severe enteritis. Further investigation confirmed that the disease was transmitted from the seaweed (*Gracilaria changii*) used as food for the abalone. The *Gracilaria changii* stock was procured from abandoned shrimp ponds located on the north western coasts of the peninsula. This case study highlights the importance of good farming and management practices and as well as appropriate abalone husbandry procedures.

Key words: tropical abalone, *Haliotis asinina*, vibriosis, good management practices, *Gracilaria changii*.

Corresponding author: Kua Beng Chu, kbengchu@yahoo.com

Kua, B.C., Ramly, R., Devakie, M.N., Groman, D. and Berthe, C.J.F. 2011. Investigating a mortality in hatchery cultured tropical abalone, *Haliotis asinina* Linnaeus, 1758 in Malaysia, pp. 103-110. *In* Bondad-Reantaso, M.G., Jones, J.B., Corsin, F. and Aoki, T. (eds.). Diseases in Asian Aquaculture VII. Fish Health Section, Asian Fisheries Society, Selangor, Malaysia. 385 pp.

INTRODUCTION

Abalone are among the top five most expensive food items on the Chinese cuisine market. They are usually sold fresh, frozen, canned or dried and are consumed raw (sashimi) or cooked. Although abalone are slow-growing molluscs, they are a new candidate for aquaculture in many countries as wild fisheries have progressively been declining. These factors have prompted the Fisheries Research Institute (FRI) in Malaysia to embark on an abalone breeding program which was first initiated in 2000.

Haliotis asinina L. is a tropical abalone species, commonly known as the donkey's or ass's ear abalone. It is native to Australasia, Thailand, the Philippines, Malaysia, Vietnam and New Zealand. Despite its moderate size (8-10 cm shell length) and dubbed the 'cocktail abalone', it is a species with great potential for aquaculture in Southeast Asia. Hatchery propagation and farming of this species has been proven to be successful in Thailand, the Philippines, Australia, New Zealand and recently in Malaysia.

Adult *H. asinina* broodstock were procured from the northern waters of East Malaysia, off Sabah (from Kota Belud, Pulau Matanani and off Sempoerna Island). They were air freighted to Penang, and subsequently transported by land to the mollusc hatchery at FRI. Upon arrival the abalone were conditioned in 2-tonne (2000 l) fibreglass tanks. The adults spawn after about 2-3 months of conditioning. These tropical abalones need not be induced to spawn as they spawn naturally coinciding with the lunar cycles (new and full moon period). The larvae settle within 2-4 days and they feed on pre-cultured diatoms collected on acrylic culture plates. The abalone spat usually take about 18 months to attain marketable size of 6-7 cm. During the culture period, increased mortality rates were noted for both the adult and juvenile abalones. This paper reports the findings of the study conducted to investigate the cause of mortality of *H. asinina* in the rearing facility.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Rearing conditions – Abalone broodstock were held in 2000 l tanks with flow-through sea water (4 l/min) at a stocking density of 200 adult abalone (6-8cm/tank). Juveniles were stocked at 1,500 pieces per 2000 l tank. The hatchery facility consisted of six 2000 l tanks: three tanks for adult abalone and three tanks for juveniles. The adults were fed seaweed, *Gracilaria changii* while the juveniles were fed seaweed and mixed diatoms. The seaweed stock was held in a separate tank and used on demand to feed the abalone. Similar rearing conditions were provided for the adults and the juveniles: tanks were supplied with flow-through seawater and provided aeration. Water change was carried out at 50% and 100% on alternate days. Every fortnight (i.e. after 14 days), the abalone juveniles were transferred manually, using a hard plastic strip to loosen their grip, into a new tank with fresh diatoms. Waste was siphoned out routinely and uneaten seaweed was collected and washed before returning it to the culture tanks.

Case history – An unusually high mortality rate was reported in January 2005. The facility management noted 4-5 abalone dying daily as compared to only 1-3 dying monthly, previously. Healthy and sick individuals were collected on the 17^{th} and 23^{rd} February and 21^{st} March, 2005. Sampled abalone were subjected to clinical observation and further bacteriological isolation and histological examination.

Investigation - Fresh smears from the gills and tegument lesions were taken to assess parasitic infections. Necropsies were conducted under a dissecting microscope (4 - 40X magnification).

Primary isolations of bacteria from the lesions on abalone and the seaweed (*Gracilaria changii*) were carried out on Tryptone Soya Agar, TSA (OXOID) with additional 1.5% salt for total heterotrophic flora and Thiosulfate Citrate Bile Sucrose agar, (TCBS) (OXOID) for *Vibrio* spp. at ambient temperature (30°C). The plates were incubated at 30°C for 24 to 48 hrs. The bacteria isolated were identified using the API 20E kit (BioMé reiux).

Normal and abnormal specimens were dissected and lesions from the foot margin, ulcer-type lesions from the tegument and samples of 1 cm thickness of the cross-sectioned internal organs consisting of gonad, gills, intestine and stomach, were fixed in 10% buffered formalin in filtered seawater for 24-48 hrs, followed by storage in 70% alcohol. Samples were subsequently processed for histology according to standard methods (Bondad-Reantaso *et al.*, 2001), stained with either hematoxylin-eosin (H&E), Gram's stain or methylene blue and mounted for light microscopy (Zeiss Axioplan).

RESULTS

The mortality rate was 4-5 abalone/day over a six-month period, resulting in high cumulative mortality. Affected individuals were generally weak with the following clinical signs:

i) The mantle was attached loosely to the shell with development of a white pseudomembrane in some instances (Fig. 1a).



Figure 1. Abalone specimen received on 22th Feb 2005. Fig.1a: normal individual (black arrow - left) and diseased abalone (white arrow - right) showing white membrane tearing from the edges. Fig.1b: closer view of tegument lesions (black arrow) on the foot of diseased abalone.

- ii) Some specimens showed ulcer-like lesions of the tegument. In the most severe cases, individuals displayed white patches at the foot margins (Fig. 1b).
- iii)No parasites were found from fresh smears and squashes. Gram-negative bacteria, presumptively identified as *Pasteurella* spp. and *Vibrio* spp. were isolated from the foot lesions (Fig. 1b). and characterised by biochemical tests (Table 1).

1	ab	ole	1

Biochemical tests on the Gram-negative bacteria isolated from the foot lesions of abalone

Gram negative bacteria			
Test	Pasteurella species	Vibrio species	
TSA	Yes	Yes	
Colony colour on TCBS	Green	Yellowish	
Gram stain	Negative	Negative	
Shape	Rod	Rod	
Oxidate/Fermentative	Positive/Positive	Positive/Positive	
Motility	Negative	Positive	
Oxidase	Positive	Positive	
McConkey	Negative	Negative	
0/129	Sensitive	Resistant	
API20E	Pasteurella pneumo/haemol	Vibrio alginolyticus	

iv) Gram-negative bacteria identified as *Vibrio* spp. (*Vibrio vulnificus* and *Vibrio alginolyticus*) were isolated from the seaweed.

Histology revealed systemic bacterial infection with intense haemocytic infiltrations and abscess-like lesions in the foot (Fig. 2). Some haemolymph sinuses were abnormally dilated with haemocytes adhering to the vessel wall. This was interpreted as an early sign of a



Figure 2. Muscle lesion showing (a) some intense haemocyte infiltrate with some bacteria. 20x. (b). bacteria (arrow) under high magnification. 40x. H&E.

systemic inflammatory response (Fig. 3). Inflammation was also noted in the nervous tissue. Some specimens had severe hemorrhagic enteritis associated with septicaemia.



DISCUSSION

The high mortality rate recorded in the rearing facility led to a comprehensive investigation of the possible origin and remediation options. The investigation concluded that the outbreak was caused by bacterial infections of *Vibrio* and *Pasteurella*. Histopathological examination revealed abscesses, enteritis and severe haemocyte infiltration in response to systemic bacterial infection.

Bacterial infections of abalone are well documented. Vibriosis has been reported to be caused by Vibrio harveyi, V. splendidus I, and V. alginolyticus (Dixon et al., 1991; Elston and Lockwood, 1983; Handlinger et al., 2002; Reuter and McOrist, 1999; Lee et al., 2001; Nishimori et al., 1998). Among these, V. harveyi and V. carchariae (a junior synonym of V. harveyi, see Pedersen et al., 1998) are more prevalent. Nishimori et al. (1998) reported mass mortalities in Japanese abalone Haliotis diversicolor supertexta Lischke, 1870 due to V. harvevi. Bacterial infection such as V. harvevi in H. tuberculata L. has been reported in both wild and cultured abalone in Brittany and Normandy, France (Nicolas et al., 2002). In Tasmania, Australia, V. harveyi and V. splendidus I were found in abalone showing septicaemia. In addition, *Flavobacterium*-like bacteria have been identified during disease outbreaks in cultured H. rubra Leach, 1814, H. laevigata Donovan, 1808 and their hybrids (Matsunaga, 1967). Clostridium lituseberense has also been reported to occur in abalone (Bower, 2003 and 2004). However, infection by *Pasteurella* sp. in abalone has not previously been reported. In this case, H. asinina L. with necrosis and white lesions on the foot had shown infection caused by two bacteria types, presumptively identified as *Pasteurella* sp and *Vibrio* spp. In this study, we were able to identify the bacteria up to the genus level, however, confirmation of the bacterial species needs to be pursued in future.

The mortality could be associated with poor management practices in the hatchery, such as direct use of seaweed from the prawn farms (introduction of anthropogenic pollutants such as bacteria, parasites and mud) and returning uneaten seaweed to the tanks which further fouled up the water due to presence of waste matter. The manual removal of the abalone could also have inflicted lesions on the body. No specific treatment was given at the time of the mortalities. Mitigation measures undertaken were frequent exchange of water in the abalone and seaweed culture tanks and quarantine of the seaweed prior to feeding, which showed a notable decrease in the number of mortalities.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors are grateful to Ms Oo Mooi Gaik for her assistance in the preparation of the histology slides. Appreciation is also due to Ms Faazaz Abdul Latiff (Head of the National Fish Health Research Centre, FRI, Malaysia) for her kind permission to publish this work.

REFERENCES

- Bower, S.M. 2003. Update on emerging abalone diseases and techniques for health assessment. *Journal of Shellfish Research* 22:805-10.
- Bower, S.M. 2004. Synopsis of Infectious Diseases and Parasites of Commercially Exploited Shellfish: Bacterial Diseases of Abalone. (Accessed October 2009 at: http://www.pac. dfo-mpo.gc.ca/science/species-especes/shellfish-coquillages/diseases-maladies/pages/ vibrioab-eng.htm
- Dixon, M.G., Hecht, T. and Brandt, C. R. 1991. Identification and treatment of a *Clostridium* and *Vibrio* infection in South African abalone, *Haliotis midae* L. *Journal of Fish Diseases* 14:693-95.
- Elston, R.A. and Lockwood, G. S. 1983. Pathogenesis of vibriosis in cultured juvenile red abalone, *Haliotis rufescens* Swainson. *Journal of Fish Diseases* 6:111-28.
- Handlinger, J., Carson, J., Donachie, L., Gabor, L. and Taylor, D. 2002. Bacterial infection in Tasmanian farmed abalone: causes, pathology, farm factors and control options. (Abstract). *Handbook and Abstracts, Fifth Symposium on Diseases in Asian Aquaculture,* Queensland, Australia, 24-28 November 2002. p.139.
- Lee, K. K., Liu, P. C., Chen, Y. C., Huang, C. Y. 2001. The implication of ambient temperature with the outbreak of vibriosis in cultured small abalone *Haliotis diversicolor supertexta* Lischke. *Journal of Thermal Biology* 26:585-87.
- Matsunaga, N. 1967. Studies on a traumatic rot in the abalone. Its development and drugbathing treatment. *Fish Pathology* 1:27-34. (in Japanese)
- Nicolas, J. L., Basuyaux, O., Mazurie, J., and Thebault, A. 2002. *Vibrio carchariae* a pathogen of the abalone *Haliotis tuberculata*. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 50:35-43.
- Nishimori, E., Hasegawa, O., Numata, T., and Wakabayashi, H. 1998. *Vibrio carchariae* causes mortalities in Japanese abalone *Sulculus deversicolor supratexta*. *Fish Pathology* 33:495-502. (in Japanese)
- Pedersen, K., Verdonck, L., Austin, B., Austin, D., Blanch, A., Grimont, P. A. D., Joffre, J., Koblavi, S., Larsen, T., Tiainen, T., Vigneulle, M., and Swings, T. 1998. Taxonomic evidence that *Vibrio carchariae* is a junior synonym of *Vibrio harveyi* (Johnson and Shunk, 1936) Baumann et al., 1981. *International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology* 48:749-58.

Reuter, R.E., and McOrist, S. 1999. Mortality due to *Vibrio harveyi* in farmed blacklip abalone, *Notohaliotis rubber*. In: C.L. Browdy and R. Fletcher (co-program chairs). Book of abstracts. The Annual International Conference and Exposition of the World Aquaculture Society, 26 April -2 May, 1999, Sydney, Australia. P. 629.

A Reo-like virus associated with high mortality rates in cultured mud crab, *Scylla serrata*, in East China

JI-GANG CHEN, JI-FANG YANG, DAN LOU, XIONG JUAN and SONG-YAN WU

Faculty of Biological & Environmental Sciences, Zhejiang Wanli University, Ningbo 315100, China

ABSTRACT

The discovery of a reo-like virus in cultures of the mud crab *Scylla serrata* (Forsskål, 1755) is reported here. Since May 2004, in Zhejiang Province, Peoples Republic of China, reo-like virus in mud crabs has reached serious epidemic levels, causing mortality rates exceeding 90%. Beginning in May 2004, moribund crabs from different districts and areas were investigated. By using electron microscopy, two different organisms could be detected: reo-like viruses and mollicute-like organisms. The complete viral particle is 60 nm in diameter, icosahedral and non-enveloped. The viruses infect the cytoplasm of connective tissue cells of the gill, stomach, heart and intestine of mud crabs.

Key words: Scylla serrata, virus, mollicute, electron microscopy

Corresponding author: Ji FangYang, jfkwlq@163.com

Chen, J.G., Yang, J.F., Lou, D., Juan, X. and Wu, S.Y. 2011. A Reo-like virus associated with high mortality rates in cultured mud crab, *Scylla serrata*, in East China, pp. 111-118. *In* Bondad-Reantaso, M.G., Jones, J.B., Corsin, F. and Aoki, T. (eds.). Diseases in Asian Aquaculture VII, Fish Health Section, Asian Fisheries Society, Selangor, Malaysia. 385 pp.

INTRODUCTION

Mud crab, *Scylla serrata* (Forsskål, 1755), traditionally called 'green crab', is an economically important marine aquaculture species cultured in the People's Republic of China. In the past few years the aquaculture industry based on *S. serrata* has experienced rapid growth, but in the meanwhile the industry is facing increasing economic losses caused by outbreaks of various diseases. Disease has become one of the main factors inhibiting the development of *S. serrata* aquaculture in Zhejiang Province, China with survival rates less than 10%.

Since summer 2004, an epidemic disease has broken out in Sanmen County and its adjacent areas with symptoms differing from a previous disease outbreak called 'yellow water disease'. These symptoms included debility, weak grip strength of pincers and feet, hydroabdomen, white colour in carapace, drying of gill filaments, and water-like blood after breaking the feet (blood coagulation capacity is weak). Moreover, the disease is widely spread, and is fatal to commercial size crabs, fingerings (40-60 individuals /kg) and breeding crabs. Antibiotic drugs had no effect in relieving the symptoms. The disease is temporarily termed 'clearwater disease' (CD) due to its major symptom. In this study, the ultrastructure of infected crab tissues collected in Sanmen County in 2004 and 2005 were investigated. Two different pathogens in moribund crabs were detected: reo-like viruses and mollicute-like organisms.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Mud crab

Five moribund mud crabs were obtained from a mud crab farm in Sanmen County, Zhejiang Province, China, and examined by histopathology and by electron microscopy.

Histopathological examination

Hepatopancreas, gill and stomach of both moribund and healthy mud crabs were fixed in Davidson's fixative for 24 hrs. The tissues were routinely processed, embedded, sectioned (5-7 μ m) and stained with haematoxylin and eosin (H&E), according to the procedure of Weng et al. (2007). The tissues were examined under light microscopy.

Electron microscopy

After dissection, the heart, stomach, intestine and gill filaments were collected and fixed with 2.5% glutaraldehyde. Sample preparation for electron microscopy followed Yang and Wu (1992).

RESULTS

Necrotic lesions were easily observed in all five mud crabs with CD by staining with H&E (Fig.1A-C). Inclusion bodies, stained light red to deep red near the nucleus of infected cells, were also found in the gills of all specimens (Fig. 1A).

Transmission electron microscopy revealed that the reo-like viruses apparently caused vacuolar degeneration and necrosis of the infected cells in the connective tissues in heart, stomach, gills and intestines. Large numbers of virions with hexagonal shape were observed in the cytoplasm of enlarged gill (Fig. 2A) and intestine cells (Fig. 2B). The capsid measured approximately 60 nm from side to side, consisting of an electron-dense core surrounded by an electron-translucent zone (Fig. 2C), as well as free virions and nuclear structures in developing viruses (Fig. 2D). Crystal-like inclusion bodies produced by a large amount of mature viruses and viral intermediate structures were also present in the intestinal cells (Fig. 2B). However, the inclusion bodies could not be observed in the nucleus of intestinal cells. In stomach cells, a large amount of spherical viral particles aligned in a crystal lattice could be observed (Fig. 2E).



In some samples, gill tissue examined by TEM showed infection with mollicute-like organisms (Fig. 2F). The mollicute-like organisms, located in the cytoplasm of the host cell, varied in form from filate-shaped (3-5 μ m) to flask-shaped with a head-like structure (2-3 μ m). Another feature is the absence of a cell wall and they were only embedded by a plasma membrane.



like organisms infecting tissue of gill, intestine, stomach and heart. A. Gill (bar=2 μ m); B. Intestine (bar=1 μ m); C. Stomach (bar=0.1 μ m); D. Stomach (bar=1 μ m); E. Heart (bar=0.5 μ m). F. Large arrows indicate mollicute-like organism with filate-shaped form(bar=2 μ m); Small arrow indicate mollicute-like organism with flask-shaped form.

DISCUSSION

Since the viral isolation from *Macropipus depurator* L. (Vago *et al.*, 1966), baculovirus, reovirus, parvovirus, rotavirus, and herpesvirus have been isolated from other species of crabs (Seidel *et al.*, 1983; Mari and Bonami., 1988a; Mari and Bonami., 1988b; Montanie *et al.*, 1993; Kanchanaphum et al., 1998; Sun and Guo., 1999., Gong *et al.*, 2000; Zhang *et al.*, 2002; Weng et al., 2007).

Several viruses lead to the diseases in *Scylla serrata*, such as white spot syndrome virus (WSSV) (Chen *et al.*, 2000; Hameed *et al.*, 2003), muscle necrosis virus (Song *et al.*, 2003) and reovirus (Weng *et al.*, 2007). The virus observed in the present study is similar to the members of the family Reoviridae, with respect to virus features, form and distribution, especially to the reovirus as reported by Weng *et al.* (2007). Based on these features, the virus is preliminarily identified as an aquatic reovirus. In order to show the difference to the reovirus found in *Eriocheir sinensis*, the present virus is termed temporarily as *Scylla serrata* reovirus (SsRV) on the basis of its host.

Previously studies have revealed that the reovirus was highly pathogenic and lead to various diseases in crabs, e.g. tremble disease in *Eriocheir sinensis* and sleep disease in *S. serrata* (Zhang *et al.*, 2002). In terms of disease symptoms, it is proposed that the main pathogen of 'SD' in *Scylla serrata* may be SsRV, which was probably also the pathogen causing the sleeping disease in Fujiang Province and Guangdong Province. Further studies are required to confirm this conclusion.

Mycoplasmas of aquatic animals, especially those of Crustacea, have not been studied extensively. Krol *et al.* (1991) first reported a filamentous mollicute-like bacterium that appeared to be associated with necrotizing hepatopancreatitis lesions in cultured penaeid shrimp. Shortly after, Yang and Wu (1992) reported mollicute-like organisms that appeared to be associated with the gut-node disease, also in penaeid shrimps. Mollicute-like organisms would enter the perinuclear space, when the membrane of mollicute in the cytoplasm began to interact with the membranes in the perinuclear space. Moreover, the spherical nature and size of the mollicutes in the perinuclear space may result from nutritional factors or from environmental parameters (Yang and Wu, 1999). However, this described pathogenesis in shrimp still remains unclear. Isolation and culture of mycoplasma from penaeid was first reported by Ghadersohi and Owens (1999), in association with an epizootic of midcrop mortality syndrome in *Penaeus monodon*.

A tentative identification of the bacterium in *S. serrata* can be obtained based on morphology in preliminary electron micrographs. The intracellular microorganisms in gill cells of *S. serrata* lack a cell wall and are surrounded only by the plasma membrane. This is an indication that these microorganisms are mollicutes (Choi *et al.*, 1996). The intracellular microorganisms are highly pleomorphic, and apparently an obligate intracellular pathogen. All of these facts are indications for mollicutes. The organism is now named 'gill mollicute-like organisms' (GMLO) to distinguish them from other mollicutes until their relationship is clarified.

We detected GMLO only in gill cells, not in other tissues. No evidence was found that gill cell necrosis in affected areas have been associated with MLO. Therefore, the virulence of mollicute-like organisms from *S. serrata* remains uncertain. Further studies are necessary to determine the identity of these bacteria and their pathogenesis in *S. serrata*.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to thank Dr. Youling Gao of Norwegian University of Life Sciences and Dr. Tan from AWI for corrections on the manuscript. This work was supported by National Natural Science Foundation of China (no. 30800856) and the Major Scientific and Technical Project of Ningbo Science and Technology Bureau in Zhejiang Province (no. 2007C11002).

REFERENCES

- Chen, L.L., Lo, C.F., Chiu, Y.L., Chang, F.C. and Kou, G.H. 2000. Natural and experimental infection of white spot syndrome virus (WSSV) in benthic larvae of mud crab *Scylla serrata*. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 40:157-161.
- Choi, D.L., Park, M.A., Sohn, S.G., Heo M.S. and Renault, T. 1996. Detection of a mollicutelike organism in kuruma shrimp, *Penaeus japonicus*. Journal of Fish Pathology 9:33-40.
- Ghadersohi, A. and Owens, L. 1999. Isolation, characterisation and DNA analysis of *Mycoplasma* spp. from moribund prawns *Penaeus monodon* cultured in Australia. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 35:53-61.
- Gong, C.L., Xue, R.R., Cao, G.L., Wei, Y.H., Zhu, Y.X., Chen, H. and Wu, X.F. 2000. Study on Reovirus-like Virus of *Eriocheir sinensis*. *Virologica Sinica* 15:395-399.
- Hameed, A.S., Balasubramanian, G., Musthaq, S.S. and Yoganandhan, K. 2003. Experimental infection of twenty species of Indian marine crabs with white spot syndrome virus (WSSV). *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 57:157-161.
- Kanchanaphum, P., Wongteerasupaya, C., Sitidilokratana, N., Boonsaeng, V., Panyim, S., Tassanakajon, A., Withyachumnarnkul, B. and Flegel, T.W. 1998. Experimental transmission of white spot syndrome virus (WSSV) from crabs to shrimp *Penaeus* monodon. Diseases of Aquatic Organisms 34:1-7.
- Krol, R.M., Hawkins, W.E. and Overstreet, R.M. 1991. Rickettsial and mollicute infections in hepatopancreatic cells of cultured Pacific white shrimp (*Penaeus vannamei*). *Journal of Invertebrate Pathology* 57:362-370.
- Mari, J. and Bonami, J.R. 1988a. PC 84, a parvo-like virus from the crab *Carcinus mediterraneus*: pathological aspects, ultrastructure of the agent, and first biochemical characterization. *Journal of Invertebrate Pathology* 51:145-156.
- Mari, J. and Bonami, J.R. 1988b. W2 Virus Infection of the Crustacean Carcinus mediterraneus: a Reovirus Disease. Journal of General Virology 69:561-571.
- Montanie, H., Bossy, J.P. and Bonami, J.R. 1993. Morphological and genomic characterization of two reoviruses (P and W2) pathogenic for marine crustaceans; do they constitute a novel genus of the Reoviridae family? *Journal of General Virology* 74:1555-1561.
- Seidel, K.M., Goyal, S.M., Rao, V.C. and Melnick, J.L. 1983. Concentration of rotavirus and enteroviruses from blue crabs (*Callinectes sapidus*). *Applied Environmental Microbiology* 46:1293-1296.
- Song, Z.R., Ni, Z.J., Huo Z.H., Li, W.S., Peng, Q.M. and Peng, H.C. 2003. Pathology Study on Muscle Tissue Necrosis of Mud Crab *Scylla serrata*. *Journal of Jimei University Natural Science* 8:301-304.
- Sun, L.M. and Guo, J.X. 1999. Electron Microscope Observation of I type Herpes Virus On Eriocheir sinensis during Cultivative Period. Fisheries Science 18:20-22.
- Vago, C., Quiot, J.M. and Luciani, J. 1966. Infection of lepidopteran tissue culture with the purified virus of the densonucleus. *Comptes Rendus Hebdomadaires des Seances de l'Academie des Sciences. D: Sciences Naturelles* 263:799-800.

- Weng, S.P., Guo, Z.X., Sun, J.J., Chan, S.M. and He, J.G. 2007. A reovirus disease in cultured mud crab, *Scylla serrata*, in southern China. *Journal of Fish Diseases* 30:133-139.
- Yang, J.F. and Wu, Y.L. 1992. Electron microscope study on mycoplasma-like of penaeid shrimp (*Penaeus chinensis*). Donghai Marine Science, *Journal of the Zhejiang Society of Oceanography & the Second Institute of Oceanography, SOA* 10:63-67.
- Zhang, S.Y., Zhang, J.H., Huang, C.H., Bonami, J.R. and Shi, Z.L. 2002. Preliminary Studies on Two Strains of Reovirus from Crab *Eriocheir sinensis*. *Virologica Sinica* 17:263-265.

Diseases of crustaceans

11	Status of shrimp diseases and advances in shrimp health management Don Lightner	121
12	A review of the strategies evolved by WSSV to thwart host responses to infection and ensure successful virus replication in cells - apoptosis and anti-apoptosis strategies Jiann-Horng Leu and Chu Fang Lo	135
13	Effects of extensive and intensive shrimp farming on the genetic composition of WSSV populations <i>Bui Thi Minh Dieu, Just M. Vlak and M.P. Zwart</i>	145
14	The utilization of VP28 gene to protect penaeid shrimps from white spot virus disease Rapeepat Mavichak, Hidehiro Kondo, Ikuo Hirono, Takashi Aoki	157
15	Prophenoloxidase has a role in innate inmunity in penaeid shrimp <i>Fernand F. Fagutao, Hidehiro Kondo, Takashi Aoki and Ikuo Hirono</i>	171
16	Hemocyte marker proteins and regulation of the proPO system in a crustacean, <i>Pacifastacus leniusculus</i>	
	Kenneth Söderhäll, Chenglin Wu, Xionghui Lin, Pikul Jiravanichpaisala and Irene Söderhäll	177

Status of shrimp diseases and advances in shrimp health management

DONALD V. LIGHTNER

Department of Veterinary Science & Microbiology University of Arizona, Tucson, AZ, USA

ABSTRACT

Disease has had a major impact on shrimp aquaculture since shrimp farming became a significant commercial entity in the 1970s. Diseases due to viruses, rickettsial-like bacteria, true bacteria, protozoa, and fungi have emerged as major diseases of farmed shrimp. Many of the diseases caused by bacteria, fungi and protozoans are now managed using improved culture practices, routine sanitation, and the use of probiotics and chemotherapeutics. However, the virus diseases have been far more problematic to manage and they have been responsible for the most costly epizootics. Because of their socioeconomic significance to shrimp farming, seven of the nine crustacean diseases currently listed (and two of three proposed for listing) by the World Organisation for Animal Health (= Office International des Epizooties or the OIE) are virus diseases of shrimp. The development and export of Specific Pathogen Free (SPF) stocks of *Penaeus vannamei* (the Pacific white shrimp) from the USA to the major shrimp farming countries of Latin America and SE Asia is cited by FAO as being the main contributor to the industry's recovery and subsequent expansion following the viral pandemics of the early 1990's. The development of SPF stocks of *P. vannamei* is the topic of this review.

Key words: shrimp diseases, shrimp health management, aquaculture, OIE, SPF

Corresponding author: Donald V. Lightner, dvl@u.arizona.edu

Lightner, D.V. 2011. Status of shrimp diseases and advances in shrimp health management, pp. 121-134. *In* Bondad-Reantaso, M.G., Jones, J.B., Corsin, F. and Aoki, T. (eds.). Diseases in Asian Aquaculture VII. Fish Health Section, Asian Fisheries Society, Selangor, Malaysia. 385 pp.

INTRODUCTION

As recently as a decade ago, much of the world's production of farmed shrimp was directly or indirectly dependent on wild shrimp stocks for the "seed" stock used to populate its farms. In the Americas the most common practice was the collection and use of "wild seed" (postlarvae or PLs), while in Asia it was more typical to produce PLs from wild-sourced broodstock. While the practice of relying on the sea to provide its seed stock worked well for nearly two decades, the practice provided the industry with little protection from significant losses due to infectious diseases, such as those that were ultimately responsible for the major global shrimp disease pandemics that began around 1991-1992 (Flegel, 2006; Lightner, 2005; Lightner *et al.*, 2009).

DOMESTICATED STOCKS - THE FIRST STEP TO SPF STOCKS

By the mid-1970s a number of penaeid shrimp research programs were developing culture systems and methods to close the life cycle of several penaeid shrimp species in captivity (Forester and Beard, 1974; Wickins and Beard, 1978; Salser *et al.*, 1978; Aquacop, 1983; Moore and Brand, 1993). Some of these early research groups and institutions were successful in growing, maturing, mating, spawning, and producing progeny from founder shrimp stocks that had been reared for a full generation in captivity. Despite the early successes in developing captive breeding populations of penaeid shrimp at these various facilities, most of the shrimp farming industry remained dependent on the direct or indirect use of wild or captive-wild shrimp stocks for the PLs used to stocks its farms (Argue and Warren, 1999; Lightner, 2005; FAO, 2006). Nonetheless, during this period (~1980 to ~2000), the industry was experiencing much of its initial rapid growth. For example, before WSSV was introduced into Ecuador in 1999, more than 100,000 people were involved in the collection of wild postlarvae from the littoral zone for use in stocking Ecuador's more than 175,000 ha of shrimp ponds (Rosenberry, 2006).

The reasons for the dependence of the shrimp farming industry on wild shrimp stocks for seed were partially technical, but mostly economic. In most large shrimp farming regions of the Americas, the PL requirements were highly seasonal. Hatcheries (called "laboratories" in most of Latin America) were expensive to build, staff and run, and the seasonal requirements for PLs left them operating below capacity for lengthy periods each year. Further, wild PLs ("wild seed") could be obtained in large numbers seasonally (and often when needed most for seasonal stocking plans for farms) and for lower cost than hatchery produced PLs ("lab seed"). Another reason, with both economic and technical implications, was that the prevalence of Infectious Hypodermal and Hematopoietic Necrosis Virus (IHHNV) in captive-wild *Penaeus vannamei* (the Pacific white shrimp) broodstock typically increased the longer the captive-wild stocks were held in maturation and/or hatchery facilities (Motte *et al.*, 2003; Lightner *et al.*, 2009). This made persistently IHHNV-infected captive-wild broodstock essentially worthless within 2-3 months of use as broodstock due to their declining performance. The use of *P. vannamei* broodstock with

high IHHNV prevalence resulted in poor survival of infected larvae and the production of poor quality PLs (Lightner and Redman, 1998; Motte *et al.*, 2003). The surviving PLs ("lab seed" or "maturation seed") had a very high IHHNV prevalence relative to wild PLs. Ponds stocked with such PLs typically had poorer production levels due to the development of IHHNV-caused Runt-Deformity Syndrome (RDS) than did ponds stocked with wild PLs. Long term and increasing problems with IHHNV, and subsequently with Taura Syndrome (caused by TSV), and the arrival of White Spot Disease (caused by WSSV) in 1999 to Central America, Mexico, Ecuador and Peru resulted in rapid changes in shrimp farming strategies in the Americas. The yellow head and white spot disease pandemics in Asia that began about 1992 and the paucity of domesticated SPF stocks of Asian penaeid shrimp species, forced the worlds' shrimp farming industries to change how shrimp are farmed (Lightner, 2005; FAO, 2006; Lightner *et al.*, 2009).

FAO (2006) credits the development and export from producers in the USA of SPF (specific pathogen-free) *P. vannamei* and *Penaeus stylirostris* (the Pacific Blue Shrimp) for this paradigm shift in shrimp farming. The FAO report goes on to comment that while the export of SPF shrimp stocks from the USA to Asia and elsewhere in the world may not have been significant in their quantity or total value, their impact has been considerable on both the total quantity of shrimp produced and on global shrimp pricing. The FAO report concludes that without the import and use of USA-produced SPF shrimp stocks it is arguable if Asia's major shrimp producing countries could have recovered from disease outbreaks and the severe shortage of healthy wild-caught broodstock of native penaeids, much less grown to achieve the record levels of production that currently characterize the Asian shrimp farming sector (FAO, 2006).

In the wake of the extraordinary losses that occurred as a result of the viral pandemics of the early 1990's, the industry began to mature into a much more sustainable, technologybased industry. The industry has largely recovered from the major viral pandemics and it has begun a new phase of rapid growth (FAO, 2006). The adoption of new shrimp farming technologies and the abandonment of practices which posed high disease risks have contributed to the industry's recovery and current expansion. Among the most notable changes in culture practices has been the shift of the industry away from using wild stocks for seed production to the use of domesticated stocks. This has been a consequence of the ever increasing incidence in wild shrimp stocks of diseases like WSSV, IHHNV, and other significant diseases that negatively affect broodstock or their progeny (Lightner, 2005; Flegel, 2006). This has made the collection of wild postlarvae (PLs) and wild adult broodstock for the production of PLs for use as seed stock, a risky practice. With the declining dependence of the industry on wild stocks in Asia and in the Americas, the use of domesticated lines of specific pathogen-free (SPF) P. vannamei recently surpassed Penaeus monodon (the Giant Black Tiger Shrimp) as the dominant farmed shrimp species in Asia. This paradigm switch in the species being farmed occurred within 5 years after the first SPF P. vannamei stocks were introduced in quantity to Asia. The use of SPF P. vannamei has led to improved production and predictable crops virtually everywhere that was once dominated by the culture of *Penaeus chinensis* (the Chinese White Shrimp) or *P. monodon*. Hence, the most significant single advance in shrimp health management was perhaps the development of domesticated lines of SPF *P. vannamei*.

DEVELOPMENT OF SPF STOCKS

The term "SPF" was in widespread use in large number of terrestrial animal, aquatic animal and plant agriculture industries prior to its being applied to shrimp aquaculture (Wyban, 1992; Wyban et al., 1992; Lotz, 1992; Carr et al., 1994; Pruder et al., 1995; Lotz, 1997a, 1997b; Moss and Moss, 2009). SPF culture practices were commonplace in the poultry, swine and trout producing industries for many years and are still used as a way to avoid disease in otherwise susceptible stocks, when no other means of therapy or prevention (without the increased costs or other problems associated with vaccination) are available (Zavala, 1999). The application of the SPF concept to shrimp farming was a relatively recent event and it occurred well after the technologies had been developed that were necessary to close the life cycle of the penaeid shrimp in the laboratory and begin the process of producing domesticated breeding lines of penaeid shrimp. The development of SPF shrimp stocks became possible with the simultaneous development of the necessary infrastructure, in terms of biosecurity, diagnostic methods and trained personnel, to successfully select founder populations of candidate SPF stocks from wild or cultured stocks and domesticate those stocks, following the ICES Guidelines (ICES, 1995), in the absence of specific disease agents under biosecure conditions (Moss and Pruder, 1999; Bullis and Pruder, 1999; Lightner, 2003a, 2003b, 2005; Lee and O'Bryen, 2003; Scarfe et al., 2006; Lightner et al., 2009; Moss and Moss, 2009).

The first SPF stocks developed by the U.S. Marine Shrimp Farming Program (USMSFP) were developed in the spirit of the ICES Code (The International Council for the Exploration of the Sea; Code of Practice to Reduce the Risks of Adverse Effects Arising from the Introduction on Non-indigenous Marine Species - Bartley et al., 1996) (Table 1) (Wyban et al., 1992; Carr et al., 1994; Pruder et al., 1995). The determination of which specific pathogens the selected stocks of candidate SPF shrimp were to be free of was based on a working list of pathogenic, diagnosable, and excludable pathogens. The SPF list necessarily changed over time as new diseases, such as those due to WSSV, TSV, IMNV and others, emerged and caused or showed the potential to cause serious pandemics (Lightner et al., 2009). The most current working list for the U.S. Marine Shrimp Farming Program includes 10 viruses or virus groups (WSSV, the YHV group, TSV, IHHNV, hepatopancreatic parvovirus (HPV), Baculovirus penaei (BP), monodon baculovirus (MBV), baculoviral mid-gut gland necrosis (BMN), and infectious myonecrosis (IMNV) and Penaeus vannamei nodavirus (PvNV)), certain classes of parasitic protozoa (microsporidians, haplospordians, and gregarines), and the bacterial agent of necrotizing hepatopancreatitis, or NHP (Table 2). The USMSFP list closely approximates the OIE listed diseases of penaeid shrimp, with all seven of the currently OIE-listed virus diseases of shrimp (and one viral and one bacterial disease being considered for listing) being on the USMSFP list.

Table 1.	Recommended steps in the ICES guidelines for risk reduction in aquatic species
	introductions (modified from Sindermann, 1988, 1990 and Lightner, 2005).

Original ICES Guidelines		Adapted to SPF shrimp development		
1.	Conduct comprehensive disease study in native habitat.	1.	Identify stock of interest (i.e., cultured or wild).	
2.	Transfer {founder stock} system in recipient area.	2.	Evaluate stock's health/disease history.	
3.	Maintain and study closed system pop- ulation.	3.	Acquire and test samples for specific listed pathogens (SLPs) and pests.	
4.	Develop broodstock in closed system.	4.	Import and quarantine founder (F0) population; monitor F0 stock.	
5.	Grow isolated F1 individuals; destroy original introductions.	5.	Produce F1 generation from F0 stock.	
6.	Introduce small lots to natural waters - continue disease study.	6.	Culture F1 stock through critical stage(s); monitor general health and test for SLPs.	
		7.	If SLPs, pests, other significant patholo- gies are not detected, F-1 stock may be defined as SPF and released from quar- antine.	

To begin the process of developing an SPF stock a candidate wild or farmed stock of interest was identified (Fig. 1). If available, samples of the stock were taken and tested using the most appropriate diagnostic and pathogen detection methods available for the specific pathogens of concern. If none were found, a founder population (F_0) of the "candidate SPF" stock was acquired and reared in primary quarantine. During primary quarantine, the F_0 stock was monitored for signs of disease, sampled, and tested periodically for specific pathogens. If any pathogens of concern were detected, the stock was destroyed. Those stocks that tested negative for pathogens of concern through primary quarantine (which ran from 30 days to as much as one year for some stocks) were moved to a separate secondary quarantine facility for maturation, selection, mating, and production of a second (F_1) generation. The F_1 stocks were maintained in quarantine for further testing for specific pathogens of concern. Those that tested negative were designated as SPF, and used to produce domesticated lines of SPF shrimp (Moss et al., 2003; Lightner, 2005; Lightner et al., 2009) (Fig. 1). With this practice, the definition for SPF shrimp stocks produced by the USMSFP meant that the stock of interest had at least two years of documented historical freedom of the disease agents listed on its working list of specific pathogens, that the stock has been cultured in biosecure facilities, and that the stock was either cultured under conditions where the listed disease agents would have produced recognizable disease if any were present and/or that the stock has been subjected to routine surveillance and testing for the listed pathogens (Lightner, 2005; Lightner et al., 2009). Those pathogens on the USMSFP SPF list have also met
Table 2.Current U.S. Marine Shrimp Farming Consortium (USMSFC) working list of
"specific" and excludable pathogens of American penaeids and Asian penaeids
for 2008-2009 (adapted from and Lightner *et al.*, 2009).

Pathogen Typ	Pathogen Category ^a				
Viruses	* WSSV - white spot syndrome virus (Nimaviridae, new family) ^b	C-1			
	* YHV, GAV, LOV - the Oka viruses (Roniviridae, new family) ^b	C-1			
	 * TSV - (Dicistroviridae, new family in the picornavirus superfamily)^b 	C-1			
	* BP ^c - an occluded enteric baculovirus	C-2			
	* MBV ^c - an occluded enteric baculovirus				
	BMN ^c - a nonoccluded enteric baculo-like virus				
	* IHHNV - a systemic parvovirus	C-1			
	SMV - an enteric parvovirus	C-2			
	** HPV - enteric parvoviruses	C-2			
	* IMNV - Infectious myonecrosis virus (putative totivirus)	C-1,2			
	PvNV - Penaeus vannamei nodavirus	C-2			
Procaryotes	** NHP-bacterium - Alpha proteobacteria	C-2			
Protozoa	Microsporidians	C-2			
	Haplosporidians				
	Gregarines	C-3			

* OIE listed pathogen (OIE 2008).

** Listed as "under study" (OIE 2008).

^a Pathogen category (modified from Lotz *et al.*, 1995), with C-1 pathogens defined as excludable pathogens that can potentially cause catastrophic losses in one or more American penaeid species; C-2 pathogens are serious, potentially excludable; and C-3 pathogens have minimal effects, but may be excluded from breeding centers, hatcheries, and some types of farms.

^b Mayo, 2002a, 2002b.

^c The 1995 Committee report on virus taxonomy (Murphy *et al.*, 1995) removed crustacean baculoviruses from the *Baculoviridae* and assigned them to a position of unknown taxonomic position. Nonetheless, BP, MBV, and BMN are most like members of the *Baculoviridae* (Faquet *et al.*, 2005), and for practicality, they are listed here as baculoviruses.

certain criteria including: (a) the pathogen(s) must be excludable; (b) adequate diagnostic and pathogen detection methods are available; and (c) that the pathogen(s) poses significant threat of causing disease and production losses, criteria which are also among those required for disease listing by the OIE.

After the criteria set forth in the ICES Code had been met and a particular stock is declared SPF of specified diseases/pathogens, maintenance of SPF status required that the domesticated SPF stocks be the subject of a routine surveillance program. To be functional,



an SPF breeding program must have a surveillance program with both regularly scheduled targeted and general (passive) surveillance components. Molecular diagnostic methods have become as important as classical methods (such as routine histopathology and microbiology) to the shrimp culture industry in recent years, and are especially applicable to routine surveillance programs that are necessary to support claims of disease freedom (such as with SPF stocks) and to monitor shrimp stocks in farms (Subasinghe *et al.*, 2004; OIE, 2006; OIE, 2008; Lightner, 2005; Lightner *et al.*, 2009).

Because the term SPF is poorly understood and often misused, the term "high health" has also been borrowed from other animal producing industries for use with shrimp to designate shrimp stocks that were developed as SPF, and which may be free of infection by specific disease agents, but which are no longer contained within a designated biosecure SPF facility (Pruder *et al.*, 1995). SPF and high health stocks of *P. vannamei* were introduced by the USMSFP and used successfully in U.S. shrimp farms in the mid-1990's and this resulted in nearly doubling the production per crop that had been previously obtained at the same farms in previous years when the farms cultured non-selected lines of *P. vannamei*, which in previous crops, had been persistently affected by RDS due to chronic infection by IHHNV (Wyban, 1992; Pruder *et al.*, 1995; Lotz *et al.*, 1995; Moss *et al.*, 2003).

Beginning in 1999, significant quantities of SPF *P. vannamei* had been introduced into East Asia and found to perform well. By 2006, nearly 3 million metric tonnes of the marine penaeid shrimp were being produced from farms and these shrimp accounted for almost half of the world's total shrimp supply (FAO, 2006). More than half (~57%) of that 3 million

pounds was made up of *P. vannamei*. Ironically, more *P. vannamei* were farmed in 2006 in Asia, where the species was introduced, than in the Americas where it is native. FAO in its 2006 publication, "State of world Aquaculture," credited the development and export (from producers in the USA) of SPF *P. vannamei* for this paradigm shift in shrimp farming. The use of SPF *P. vannamei* has led to less disease, improved survival and predictable crops virtually everywhere that was previously dominated by *P. chinensis* and *P. monodon* (FAO, 2006).

SPECIFIC PATHOGEN RESISTANT (SPR) SHRIMP STOCKS

After domesticated SPF stocks were developed some SPF/SPR stocks were successfully developed and applied to management of certain shrimp virus diseases, specifically Taura Syndrome (TS) and Infectious Hypodermal and Hematopoietic Necrosis (IHHN) in some locations (Lightner and Redman, 1998; Fegan and Clifford, 2001; Moss and Moss, 2009; Lightner *et al.*, 2009). While unselected stocks of *P. vannamei* have a high degree of resistance to IHHN, the degree of resistance has been improved in some locations by the breeding of selected individuals which show greater resistance to IHHN and RDS (a chronic form of IHHN disease in *P. vannamei*) than unselected stocks (Fegan and Clifford, 2001; Lightner *et al.*, 2009). From some of these stocks, IHHNV-free founder stocks have been developed, and these have the advantage of being SPR for IHHN disease, but also being SPF for IHHNV and other diseases.

SPR stocks have been most successfully used in culture regions where TSV, IHHNV or both diseases are enzootic in wild penaeid shrimp stocks or where the viruses are readily transmitted within or between farms. "SPR-43" stocks of *P. stylirostris* were the first SPR stocks developed and they are the primary stocks currently farmed in New Caledonia and French Polynesia. Before WSSV reached Mexico in 1999, SPR stocks of *L. stylirostris* (SPR-43 developed in French Polynesia and Super Shrimp developed in Venezuela) were the dominant shrimp stocks cultured in Mexico and they accounted for nearly 80% of the farmed shrimp produced in Mexico in 1998.

The SPR-43 and Super Shrimp lines of *P. stylirostris* were developed over time in captive stocks of *P. stylirostris* by breeding survivors that were persistently infected with IHHNV. Breeding survivors to survivors eventually resulted in continuous domesticated lines of *P. stylirostris* with a high degree of resistance to IHHN disease, despite being persistently infected with the virus. Some lines of Super Shrimp were found in laboratory challenge studies with IHHNV to be resistant even to infection and to quickly clear the virus after challenge (Tang *et al.*, 2010). The Super Shrimp line was developed using the same strategy as was used for SPR-43. Super Shrimp came from breeding survivors of stocks initially imported into Venezuela from Panama. When the stocks were introduced into Mexico in ~1994 1995, the SPR-43 stock was at about its 18th generation in captivity and the Super Shrimp lines were at about their 16th generation (Fegan and Clifford, 2001; Lightner, 2005; Lightner *et al.*, 2009).

More recently, SPR stocks of SPF *P. vannamei* were developed by the USMSFP by selectively breeding for TSV resistance. In screening the various lines of SPF, domesticated *P. vannamei* reared by the program for TSV resistance in controlled laboratory challenge trials, certain geographic stocks were found to present better survival than stocks whose founders were derived from other geographic regions. These were selectively bred for multiple generations, and with each generation checked experimentally for TSV resistance. Such SPR stocks of *P. vannamei* (which are also SPF for all OIE and USMSFP listed diseases of penaeid shrimp - Table 2), are currently commercially available from most broodstock suppliers in the USA. Most of the TSV resistant SPF/SPR stocks currently available have documented survival rates of 80 to 100% in laboratory challenge studies with four TSV isolates that represent the main geographic genotypes/biotypes of this virus. The Belize genotype of TSV is the most virulent biotype of the four known TSV genotypes (Moss and Moss, 2009; Lightner *et al.*, 2009). Fortunately, selection for resistance to the reference TSV genotypes (obtained from Ecuador and Hawaii in 1994) has been found to work well for all TSV genotypes/biotypes to date (Lightner *et al.*, 2009).

FUTURE OF SPF STOCK DEVELOPMENT

Following the model for SPF stock development used by the USMSFP for the development of SPF P. vannamei, companies in Asia, Madagascar and the USA have developed some SPF P. monodon and Penaeus chinensis stocks and others are developing SPF P. indicus (Hennig et al., 2005; Pantoja et al., 2005; Lightner et al., 2009). Despite the significant challenges posed by disease, the shrimp farming industry has responded to the challenges posed and it has developed methods to manage disease and mature into a more sustainable industry. Adoption of the SPF concept in the domestication development of the of P. vannamei and species for aquaculture was among the milestones that have led to the industry's current explosive growth and apparent sustainability (FAO, 2006). As it has in other meat producing industries, the development of SPF stocks of P. vannamei, P. stylirostris, P. monodon, and other penaeid species has become central to the sustainability of modern shrimp farming. Further development through selective breeding of SPF stocks for disease resistance and other desired characteristics is very likely to be a principle characteristic of the industry for the indefinite future.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Grant support for the author of this review was provided by the United States Marine Shrimp Farming Consortium under Grant No. 2004-38808-21115 and from Hatch Project ARZT-136860-H-02-135 (both through the National Food and Agriculture Institute, U.S. Department of Agriculture), and special grants from Darden Restaurants (Orlando, FL) and Morrison Enterprises (Hastings, NE).

REFERENCES

- Aquacop. 1983. Construction of broodstock, maturation, spawning, and hatching systems for penaeid shrimps in the Centre Oceanologique du Pacifique. *In:* JP McVey (editor) CRC Handbook of Mariculture. Volume 1 Crustacean Aquaculture. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL. pp. 105-121.
- Argue, B. and Alcivar-Warren, A. 1999. Genetics and breeding applied to the penaeid shrimp farming industry. *In:* R.A. Bullis and G.D. Pruder, editors. Controlled and Biosecure Production Systems. Evolution and Integration of Shrimp and Chicken Models. Proceedings of a Special Session, Sydney, Australia, 27-30 April 1999. World Aquaculture Society, Baton Rouge, LA, USA. pp. 29-53.
- Bartley, D.M., Subasinghe, R. and Coates, D.1996. Draft Framework for the responsible use of introduced species. European Inland Fisheries Advisory Commission. EIFAC/XIX/96/ Inf.8.
- ICES. 1995. ICES Code of Practice on the Introductions and Transfers of Marine Organisms. International Council for the Exploration of the Sea, Copenhagen, Denmark. 5p.
- Bullis, R.A. and Pruder, G.D. (editors). 1999. Shrimp Biosecurity: Pathogens and Pathogen Exclusion. Controlled and Biosecure Production Systems. Evolution and Integration of Shrimp and Chicken Models. Proceeding of a Special Session, World Aquaculture Society, Sydney, Australia, Oceanic Institute, Honolulu, HI, USA. 106 pp.
- Carr, W.H., Sweeney, J.M. and Swingle, J.S. 1994. The Oceanic Institute's specific pathogen free (SPF) shrimp breeding program: preparation and infrastructure. *In:* U.S. Marine Shrimp Farming Program 10th Anniversary Review, Gulf Coast Research Laboratory Special Publication. Ocean Springs, MS. Gulf Research Reports 1: 47-54.
- FAO. 2006. State of world aquaculture. FAO Fisheries Technical Paper 500, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome. 134 p.
- Faquet, C.M., Mayo, M.A., Maniloff, J., Desselberger, U. and Ball, L.A. 2005. Virus Taxonomy. Classification and Nomenclature of Viruses. Eighth Report of the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses. Elsevier Academic Press, 1259 pp.
- Fegan, D.F. and Clifford III, H.C.. 2001. Health management for viral diseases in shrimp farms. Pages 168-198 *in* C.L. Browdy and D.E. Jory, editors. The New Wave, Proceedings of the Special Session on Sustainable Shrimp Culture. Aquaculture 2001. The World Aquaculture Society, Baton Rouge, LA, USA.
- Flegel, T.W. 2006. Detection of major penaeid shrimp viruses in Asia, a historical perspective with emphasis on Thailand. *Aquaculture* 258: 1-33.
- Forester, J.R.M. and Beard, T.W. 1974. Experiments to assess the suitability on nine species of prawns for intensive cultivation. *Aquaculture* 3: 355-368.
- Hennig, O.L., Pantoja, C.R., Arce, S.M., White-Noble, B., Moss, S.M. and Lightner, D.V. 2005. Development of a specific pathogen free population of the Chinese fleshy prawn *Fenneropenaeus chinensis*. Part 2: Secondary quarantine. *Aquaculture* 250: 579-585.
- Lee, C.S. and O'Bryen, P.J. (editors). 2003. Biosecurity in Aquaculture Production Systems: Exclusion of Pathogens and Other Undesirables. The World Aquaculture Society, Baton Rouge, Louisiana 70803, U.S.A. 293 p.

- Lightner, D.V. 2003a. The penaeid shrimp viral pandemics due to IHHNV, WSSV, TSV and YHV: history in the Americas and current status. *In:* Y. Sakai, J.P. McVey, D. Jang, E. McVey and M. Caesar (editors), Proceedings of the Thirty-second US Japan Symposium on Aquaculture. US-japan Cooperative Program in Natural Resources (UJNR). U.S. Department of Commerce, N.O.A.A., Silver Spring, MD, USA. pp. 6-24, and at http://www.lib.noaa.gov/japan/aquaculture/aquaculture panel.htm.
- Lightner, D.V. 2003b. Exclusion of specific pathogens for disease prevention in a penaeid shrimp biosecurity program. *In*: Lee, C.-S and O'Bryen, P.J. (eds.) Biosecurity in Aquaculture Production Systems: Exclusion of Pathogens and Other Undesirables. The World Aquaculture Society, Baton Rouge, LA, USA. pp. 81-116.
- Lightner, D.V. 2005. Biosecurity in Shrimp Farming: Pathogen exclusion through use of SPF stock and routine surveillance. *Journal of the World Aquaculture Society* 36: 229-248.
- Lightner, D.V. and Redman, R.M. 1998. Strategies for the control of viral diseases of shrimp in the Americas. *Fish Pathology* 33: 165-180.
- Lightner, D.V., Redman, R.M., Arce, S.M. and Moss, S.M. 2009. Specific pathogen-free shrimp stocks in shrimp farming facilities as a novel method for disease control in crustaceans. *In:* Shellfish Safety and Quality, S. Shumway and G. Rodrick (editors), Woodhead Publishing Limited, Cambridge, England. Chapter 16, pp. 384-424.
- Lotz, J.M. 1992. Developing specific pathogen-free (SPF) animal populations for aquaculture: a case study for IHHN virus of penaeid shrimp. *In:* W. Fulks and K.L. Main (editors). Diseases of Cultured Penaeid Shrimp in Asia and the United States. The Oceanic Institute, Honolulu, USA. pp. 269-284.
- Lotz, J.M. 1997a. Disease control and pathogen status assurance in an SPF-based shrimp aquaculture industry, with particular reference to the United States. *In:* Diseases in Asian Aquaculture III, Flegel T.W. & MacRae I.H., eds. Fish Health Section, Asian Fisheries Society, Manila, The Philippines, pp. 243–254.
- Lotz, J.M. 1997b. Special topic review: viruses, biosecurity and specific pathogen-free stocks in shrimp aquaculture. *World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology* 13: 405-413.
- Lotz, J.M., Browdy, C.L., Carr, W.H., Frelier, P.F. and Lightner, D.V. 1995. USMSFP suggested procedures and guidelines for assuring the specific pathogen status of shrimp broodstock and seed. *In* C.L. Browdy and J.S. Hopkins (editors), Swimming through Troubled Water, Proceedings of the Special Session on Shrimp Farming, Aquaculture '95. San Diego, California, 1-4 February 1995. World Aquaculture Society, Baton Rouge, LA, USA. pp. 66-75.
- Mayo, M.A. 2002a. Virus taxonomy Houston 2002. Archives of Virology 147/5: 1071-1076.
- Mayo, M.A. 2002b. A summary of taxonomic changes recently approved by ICTV. *Archives of Virology* 147/8: 1655-1656.
- Moore, D.W. and Brand, C.W. 1993. The culture of marine shrimp in controlled environment superintensive systems. *In:* JP McVey (editor), CRC Handbook of Mariculture. 2nd Edition Volume 1 Crustacean Aquaculture. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL. pp. 315-348.

- Moss, S.A. and Pruder, G.D. 1999. Shrimp biosecurity: environmental management and control. Pages 79-83 *In* R.A. Bullis and G.D. Pruder (editors), Controlled and Biosecure Production Systems. Evolution and Integration of Shrimp and Chicken Models. Proceeding of a Special Session, World Aquaculture Society, 27-30 April 1999, Sydney, Australia. The Oceanic Institute, Honolulu, HI, USA.
- Moss, S.A., Moss, D.R., Arce, S.M. and Otoshi, C.A. 2003. Disease prevention strategies for penaeid shrimp culture. *In:* Y. Sakai, J.P. McVey, D. Jang, E. McVey and M. Caesar (editors), Proceedings of the Thirty-second US Japan Symposium on Aquaculture. USjapan Cooperative Program in Natural Resources (UJNR). U.S. Department of Commerce, N.O.A.A., Silver Spring, MD, USA. pp. 34-46, and at http://www.lib.noaa.gov/japan/ aquaculture/aquaculture panel.htm.
- Moss, S. and Moss, D.R. 2009. Selective breeding of penaeid shrimp., In: Shellfish Safety and Quality, S. Shumway and G. Rodrick (editors), Woodhead Publishing Limited, Cambridge, England. Chapter 17, pp. 425-452.
- Motte, E., Yugcha, E., Luzardo, J., Castro, F., Leclercq, G., Rodríguez, J., Miranda, P., Borja, O., Serrano, J., Terreros, M., Montalvo, K., Narváez, A., Tenorio, N., Cedeño, V., Mialhe, E. and Boulo, V. 2003. Prevention of IHHNV vertical transmission in the white shrimp *Penaeus vannamei*. *Aquaculture* 219: 57-70.
- Murphy, F.A., Faquet, C.M., Bishop, D.H.L., Ghabrial, S.A., Jarvis, A.W., Martelli, G.P., Mayo, M.A. and Summers, M.D. 1995. Virus Taxonomy. Classification and Nomenclature of Viruses. Sixth Report of the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses. Archives of Virology Supplement 10, Springer-Verlag Wein, NY. 586 p.
- OIE (Office International des Epizooties). 2006. Manual of diagnostic tests for Aquatic Animal diseases, 5th edition. Office International des Epizooties, Paris, France. 467 p.
- OIE (Office International des Epizooties World Animal Health Organization). 2008. Aquatic Animal Health Code, 11th edition. Office International des Epizooties, Paris, France. 307 p.
- Pantoja, C.R., Song, X., Xia, L., Gong, X., Wilkenfeld, J., Noble, B. and Lightner, D.V. 2005. Development of a specific pathogen free (SPF) population of the Chinese fleshy prawn *Fenneropenaeus chinensis*. Part 1: Disease pre-screening and primary quarantine. *Aquaculture* 250: 573-578.
- Pruder, G.D., Brown, C.L., Sweeney, J.N. and Carr, W.H. 1995. High health shrimp systems: seed supply - theory and practice. *In:* C.L. Browdy and J.S. Hopkins, editors. Swimming through Troubled Water, Proceedings of the Special Session on Shrimp Farming, Aquaculture '95. San Diego, California, 1-4 February 1995. World Aquaculture Society, Baton Rouge, LA, USA. pp. 40-52.
- Rosenberry, B., editor. 2006. World shrimp farming 2006. Number 19, Published by Shrimp News International, San Diego, CA, USA. 272 pp.
- Salser, B., Mahler, L., Lightner, D.V., Ure, J., Danald, D., Brand, C., Stamp, N., Moore, D. and Colvin, B. 1978. Controlled-environment aquaculture of penaeids. *In:* P.N. Kaul and C.J. Sindermann (editors), Drugs and Food from the Sea, Myth or Reality? The University of Oklahoma Press, Norman, Oklahoma. pp. 345-355.

- Scarfe, A.D., Lee, C.S., and O'Bryen, P.J. (editors). 2006. Aquaculture Biosecurity. Prevention, Control, and Eradication of Aquatic Animal Disease. Blackwell., Ames, Iowa. 182 p.
- Sindermann, C.J. 1988. Disease problems created by introduced species. *In:* C.J. Sindermann and D.V. Lightner (editors), Disease Diagnosis and Control in North American Marine Aquaculture. Developments in Aquaculture and Fisheries Science, Vol. 17. Elsevier, Amsterdam, The Netherlands. pp. 394-398.
- Sindermann C.J. 1990. Principal Diseases of Marine Fish and Shellfish. Volume 2, 2nd Edition. Academic Press, NY, USA. 516 pp.
- Subasinghe, R.P., McGladdery, S.E. and Hill, B.J. 2004. Surveillance and Zoning for Aquatic Animal Diseases. *FAO Fisheries Technical Paper* 451. FAO, Rome, Italy. 84 pp.
- Tang, K.F.J., S.V. Durand, B.L. White, R.M. Redman, C.R. Pantoja and D.V. Lightner. 2000. Postlarvae and juveniles of a selected line of Penaeus stylirostris are resistant to infectious hypodermal and hematopoietic necrosis virus infection. Aquaculture 190: 203-210.
- Wickins, J.F. and Beard, T.W. 1978. Prawn Culture Research. Ministry of Agriculture Fisheries and Food, Directorate of Fisheries Research. Laboratory Leaflet No. 42, Lowestoft. 41 p.
- Wyban, J.A. 1992. Selective breeding of specific pathogen-free (SPF) shrimp for high health and increased growth. *In:* W. Fulks and K.L. Main (editors), Diseases of Cultured Penaeid Shrimp in Asia and the United States. The Oceanic Institute, Honolulu, USA. pp. 257-268.
- Wyban J.A., Swingle, J., Sweeney, J.N. and Pruder, J.D. 1992. Development and commercial performance of high health shrimp from SPF broodstock *Penaeus vannamei. In:* J. Wyban (editor), Proceedings of the Special Session on Shrimp Farming, Orlando, Florida, 22-25 May 1992. World Aquaculture Society, Baton Rouge, LA, USA. pp. 254-260.
- Zavala, G. 1999. Biosecurity in the poultry industry. *In:* R.A. Bullis and G.D. Pruder, editors. Controlled and Biosecure Production Systems. Evolution and Integration of Shrimp and Chicken Models. Proceedings of a Special Session, Sydney, Australia, 27-30 April 1999. The Oceanic Institute, Honolulu, HI, USA. pp. 75-78.

A review of the strategies evolved by WSSV to thwart host responses to infection and ensure successful virus replication in cells apoptosis and anti-apoptosis strategies

JIANN-HORNG LEU¹ and CHU-FANG LO²

¹ Center for Marine Bioscience and Biotechnology, National Taiwan Ocean University No. 2, Pei-Ning Road, Keelung 20224, Taiwan, ROC ² Institute of Zoology, National Taiwan University, No.1, Sec. 4, Roosevelt Road Taipei 10617, Taiwan, ROC

ABSTRACT

During virus infection, premature cell death (*apoptosis*) blocks production of progeny virus. Some viruses have evolved ways to block apoptosis to ensure their replication, and some viruses can even induce apoptosis to assist their own dissemination. White spot syndrome virus (WSSV) infection induces apoptosis in shrimp, and the infected tissues display the characteristic signs of apoptosis, *i.e.* nuclear disassembly, fragmentation of DNA into a ladder, and increased caspase-3 activity. WSSV-induced apoptosis occurs in bystander, non-infected cells, whereas the infected cells are non-apoptotic. Although the factors that induce apoptosis are currently unknown, it has become clear that shrimps use apoptosis as a protective response to prevent the spread of WSSV. To counter this, WSSV is now known to produce at least two anti-apoptosis proteins that block apoptosis and thus facilitate viral multiplication.

Key words: apoptosis, anti-apoptosis, WSSV, shrimp

Corresponding author: Grace Lo, gracelow@ntu.edu.tw

Leu, J.H. and Lo, C.F. 2011. A review of the strategies evolved by WSSV to thwart host responses to infection and ensure successful virus replication in cells - apoptosis and anti-apoptosis strategies. pp. 135-144. *In* Bondad-Reantaso, M.G., Jones, J.B., Corsin, F. and Aoki, T. (eds.). Diseases in Asian Aquaculture VII. Fish Health Section, Asian Fisheries Society, Selangor, Malaysia. 385 pp.

WSSV-INDUCED APOPTOSIS: THE BEGINNING

Henderson and Stuck (1999) were first to report that apoptosis levels were increased in moribund Penaeus (Litopenaeus) vannamei shrimp infected with WSSV. In a subsequent report (Sahtout et al., 2001), Penaeus monodon shrimp from commercial cultivation ponds were diagnosed first through histological examinations and then PCR, and some of them were found to be WSSV-positive. All of the shrimp were then examined with TUNEL and agarose gel electrophoresis of DNA to detect the occurrence of apoptosis. Sahtout et al. (2001) found that in grossly normal shrimp negative for WSSV by PCR, no TUNEL-positive cells were detected. Conversely, shrimp showing gross signs of WSSV infection had TUNEL-positive cells, and the number of TUNEL-positive cells was proportionally related to the severity of the WSSV infection. Lightly infected shrimp (2-step PCR positive) gave mean counts of $16 \pm 8\%$ TUNEL-positive cells, whereas heavily infected shrimp (1-step PCR positive) had mean counts of $40 \pm 7\%$ TUNEL-positive cells. Among the examined tissues, abdominal epithelium had the highest level of TUNELpositive cells, followed by the stomach epithelium, hepatopancreatic interstitial cells, gills and muscle. Another indication of apoptosis was that agarose gel analysis of DNA extracts from the WSSV-infected shrimp showed DNA smears or ladders. The authors suggested that apoptosis induced by WSSV in numerous tissues/organs might contribute to shrimp death.

Although the above study showed that shrimp naturally infected with WSSV contained numerous apoptotic cells, there remained the possibility that the observed apoptosis may have been due to other viral pathogens. Viral co-infection in shrimp is quite common, and it is hard to tell whether apoptosis in naturally infected shrimp is in fact induced by WSSV or by another viral pathogen. The possibility of this kind of confounding factor is especially problematic when there is no information about how long the shrimp have been infected or how soon after infection the apoptosis occurred. Two years after the Sahtout et al. (2001) study, Wongprasert et al. (2003) experimentally infected P. monodon shrimp and performed a time course study to evaluate apoptosis levels in various tissues. DAPI staining showed that hemocytes with condensed and fragmented nuclei, *i.e.* apoptotic cells, were first detected at 24 hpi, and their numbers increased significantly thereafter. At 60 hpi, 20% of the hemocytes were apoptotic. For other tissues, the subcuticular epithelium displayed the highest level of TUNEL-positive cells (10% at 36 hpi), and these were detected as early as 6 hpi. In gills and hematopoietic tissues, TUNEL-positive cells were first detected at 24 hpi and their numbers significantly increased by 36 hpi. The occurrence of apoptosis in various tissues was further confirmed by TEM. More importantly, TEM showed that apoptotic features such as chromatin margination and nuclear condensation and fragmentation only occurred in cells that contained no virions; in cells where WSSV virions were present, no signs of apoptosis were observed. This study also reported that caspase-3 activity of the subcuticular epithelium was 6-fold higher in WSSV-infected shrimp.

Both Sahtout *et al.* (2001) and Wongprasert *et al.* (2003) reported that some cells with hypertrophied nuclei (*i.e.* WSSV-infected cells), were TUNEL-positive. Under TEM, Wongpraset *et al.* 2003) confirmed that the chromatin in such cells was not condensed and

did not break up into apoptotic bodies. They proposed that either these cells followed a nontypical apoptotic pathway or that the fragmentation of the DNA was caused by an activity of WSSV that was unrelated to apoptosis. It now appears quite possible that WSSV intentionally degrades host DNA for its own benefit, as two WSSV proteins have recently been implicated in DNA degradation: a nuclease protein (Li *et al.*, 2005) and a novel multifunctional protein called ICP11 are both able to promote DNA degradation (Wang *et al.*, 2008).

The apoptosis response in WSSV-infected *P. vannamei* shrimp has also been investigated. The observations reported by (Granja *et al.*, 2003) were in general agreement with those for infected *P. monodon*. In both species, apoptosis occurs in WSSV-infected tissues, and the incidence of apoptotic cells increases with time. One discrepancy noted by Granja *et al.* (2003) was that their TUNEL-positive cells did not have hypertrophied nuclei, although this is a characteristic that would be expected in WSSV-infected cells. Granja *et al.* (2003) considered this unexpected result to be accurate because they used the less sensitive colorimetric TUNEL method, and this allowed the morphology of the cells to be observed under the light microscope, thus reducing the risk of misinterpretation and false positives.

Wu and Muroga (2004) used TUNEL to investigate apoptosis responses in the lymphoid organ (LO) and stomach epithelium of WSSV-infected kuruma shrimp. The shrimp were experimentally infected with high or low doses of WSSV. In LO, high infection doses produced higher numbers of apoptotic cells while the incidence of apoptotic cells decreased with the progress of WSSV infection. The highest number of apoptotic cells was observed at 12hpi ($4.5\%\pm3.8$) and then decreased thereafter. Curiously, there were only very few TUNEL-positive cells in the stomach epithelium, regardless of whether the infection dose was high or low. Compared to *P. monodon* and *P. vannamei*, Kuruma shrimp (*Penaeus japonicus*) therefore seem to have different apoptosis responses toward WSSV infection. In this study, tissue sections adjacent to those used for TUNEL staining were also subjected to *in situ* hybridization (ISH) with a WSSV probe, and comparison of these neighboring sections showed that TUNEL-positive cells were ISH-negative, confirming that cells infected with WSSV were non-apoptotic, and that apoptotic cells had no WSSV.

A comparative study in hemocytes for WSSV-infected *P. monodon* and *Penaeus indicus* using flow cytometry showed that the number of apoptotic hemocytes was higher in *P. indicus* than in *P. monodon* (60% vs. 20%), and that in both species, the number of apoptotic hemocytes increased with time (Sahul Hameed *et al.*, 2006). This suggested that *P. indicus* hemocytes are more sensitive to WSSV infection than *P. monodon* hemocytes.

There are relatively few studies of WSSV-induced apoptosis in crustaceans other than penaeid shrimp. In crayfish, WSSV infection induces hemocytes to undergo apoptosis, and the percentage of apoptotic hemocytes is quite low: 1.5% in crayfish (Jiravanichpaisal *et al.*, 2006) vs. 20% in shrimp (Wongprasert *et al.*, 2003).

Overall, based on these studies, we can conclude that WSSV infection induces apoptosis in crustaceans, and that the incidence of apoptosis is both species-specific and tissuespecific, and is related to the severity of WSSV infection. Further, the apoptosis occurs only in uninfected by-stander cells, whereas WSSV-infected cells are non-apoptotic.

WSSV ANTI-APOPTOSIS GENES

There is evidence that at least two WSSV proteins are involved in anti-apoptosis: ORF390 (we tentatively called this protein WSSV anti-apoptosis protein-1, AAP-1, and we use this name throughout this paper; Wang *et al.*, 2004) and WSSV222 (He *et al.*, 2006). The gene encoding AAP-1 was identified through a genetic complementation assay for rescuing the multiplication of a mutant insect virus in host cells. Figure 1 shows a schematic summary of this assay.



Briefly, the insect virus, Autographa californica multiple nucleopolyhedrovirus (AcMNPV), contains an anti-apoptosis gene, p35, that is essential for the multiplication of AcMNPV in SF cells. Mutation/deletion of p35 induces apoptosis during AcMNPV infection, and this severely impairs the production of progeny virus. However, if multiplication of the p35-mutated AcMNPV in SF cells is restored by overexpression of an unknown anti-apoptosis protein, then it follows that the candidate must be capable of blocking apoptosis. Based on this strategy, a WSSV cosmid library was constructed and the cosmid vectors were

co-transfected with *p35*-mutated AcMNPV DNA into SF cells to isolate WSSV genes that could restore the multiplication of *p35*-mutated AcMNPV. By repeating the experiments many times, WSSV anti-apoptosis protein AAP-1 was finally identified, and it appeared to function like AcMNPV P35 protein (Wang *et al.*, 2004). In insect cells this protein blocked apoptosis induced by Actinomcyin D, *Drosophila* pro-apoptosis protein Rpr, and *P. monodon* caspase3 (Pm caspase3) (Wang *et al.*, 2004; Leu *et al.*, 2008a,b). The fact that AAP-1 could block apoptosis induced by different stimuli, suggests that it is acting at a conserved, central point in the apoptosis pathway. We recently (Leu *et al.*, 2008b) showed that AAP-1 was both a substrate and inhibitor for Pm caspase-3, and that only cleaved APP1 directly bound to Pm caspase-3. Accordingly, we hypothesized that after AAP-1 is recognized and cleaved by caspase from further accessing other substrates. AAP-1 contains a caspase-3 cleavage site, which seems to be responsible for both the cleavage by and also the inhibition of caspase. Our unpublished data shows that point mutation at this caspase-3 cleavage site abolishes the anti-apoptosis activity of AAP-1.

Another anti-apoptosis protein is WSSV222. This is one of the four WSSV proteins (the other three are WSV199, WSV249 and WSV403) that are predicted to have a RING-H2 finger motif. This motif is involved in ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme (E2)-dependent ubiquitination, and many proteins containing a RING finger play a key role in the ubiquitination pathway. He *et al.* (2006) first showed that WSSV222 had RING-H2-dependent E3 ligase activity *in vitro* and then used a yeast two-hybrid assay to identify its interaction partner, the tumor suppressor-like protein (TSL). They further showed that WSSV222 could ubiquitinate the TSL, and that the ubiquitinated TSL then underwent proteasome-dependent degradation in a mammalian cell line and in a primary shrimp tissue culture of shrimp cells infected with WSSV. Since transient expression of TSL in BHK mammalian cells caused apoptosis, and this could be blocked by coexpressing WSSV222 functions as an anti-apoptosis protein through ubiquitin-mediated degradation of TSL. By preventing apoptosis, WSSV222 thus facilitates the propagation of WSSV.

Although both AAP-1 and WSSV222 exhibit anti-apoptosis activity, they apparently act through different mechanisms. AAP-1 is a direct caspase inhibitor and it can evidently block apoptosis triggered by different stimuli, whereas WSSV222 only blocks apoptosis triggered by a specific but currently unknown protein(s) through ubiquitin-mediated degradation. We also note that WSSV222 is an early protein while AAP-1 is a late protein. Thus WSSV evidently deploys different anti-apoptotic strategies at different stages of infection.

INHIBITION OF APOPTOSIS: PROS AND CONS FOR THE HOST AND VIRUS

As WSSV uses at least two different anti-apoptosis proteins and at least two different mechanisms to suppress the occurrence of apoptosis in infected cells, it can be inferred that the induced apoptosis must be an anti-viral response that is deleterious to the multiplication

of WSSV. But to what extent is apoptosis beneficial or detrimental to the shrimp host itself? At low levels, apoptosis can remove the infected cells without harm to the shrimp host, but when extensive apoptosis occurs, dysfunction or failure of the affected tissues/organs might lead to the demise of the shrimp. Therefore, apoptosis is a double-edged sword. Two studies have explored this question by manipulating the expression of caspase. Caspases are a group of structurally related cysteine proteases that play important role in apoptosis. Based on their functions and structural features, caspases are classified into two different groups, initiator and effector caspases. At least three different caspases have been cloned from penaeid shrimp: two effectors and one initiator (Phongdara et al., 2006; Leu et al., 2008b; Wang et al., 2008). An initiator caspase gene, Pjcaspase, was identified in Masupenaeus *japonicus* (Wang *et al.*, 2008). This gene was upregulated in survivors of WSSV-challenged shrimp. To investigate the importance of this initiator caspase gene against WSSV infection, the authors silenced this gene through siRNA. In WSSV-infected shrimp, when *Pjcaspase* was down regulated, caspase-3 activity and the number of apoptotic hemocytes were both decreased and, conversely, the number of copies of WSSV in the hemolymph was increased. This paper demonstrated that apoptosis could indeed be regarded as a host anti-viral defense system, and that the down-regulation of an initiator caspase gene favored the multiplication of WSSV. However, this study did not investigate the extent to which the WSSV-induced apoptosis may have contributed to the death of the shrimp.

In contrast to the above report for an initiator caspase, when an effector caspase gene was silenced in WSSV-infected shrimp, the opposite result was produced. Rijiravanich et al. (2008) used dsRNA to suppress the expression of P. vannamei caspase-3 genes, and when the shrimp were challenged with a high dose of WSSV, there was no observed effect on shrimp mortality. On the other hand, when challenged with a low dose of WSSV, the caspase-3 dsRNA injection group exhibited a lower mortality (27%) compared to the nonspecific dsRNA injection group (52%). The authors therefore concluded that silencing this caspase-3 gene partially protected the shrimp against death induced by WSSV infection. However, the authors did not report whether the number of apoptotic cells, the caspase-3 activity or the number of WSSV copies were changed in the caspase-3 silenced shrimp. Currently, although the dsRNA-based gene silencing technique is widely used in shrimp, the underlying mechanism remains largely unknown. Even so, it is known that dsRNA produces non-specific anti-viral activity (Robalino et al., 2005; 2006), so it is quite possible that the protection effect of caspase-3 dsRNA was due to such non-specific activity. We also note that, as would be expected, the control dsRNA group showed increased protection against WSSV infection when compared to the WSSV-infected shrimp with no dsRNA injection, which had a mortality of 79% (Rijiravanich et al., 2008).

The administration of an apoptosis inhibitor to shrimp is a more direct method to evaluate the importance of apoptosis to WSSV infection and shrimp death. Wang and Zhang (2008) experimentally injected shrimp with the apoptosis inhibitor z-VAD-FMK, and then infected the shrimp with WSSV. They found that the WSSV-infected shrimp with z-VAD-FMK had a lower number of apoptotic hemocytes, increased WSSV copies, and increased mortality.

Since the inhibition of apoptosis resulted in a reduction of the number of surviving shrimp, the authors concluded that the net effect of apoptosis is to protect the infected shrimp from demise, rather than to cause the shrimp to die.

The notion that apoptosis protects the WSSV-infected shrimp from mortality coincides with a study by Granja *et al.* (2003), which investigated the mechanism involved in the beneficial effect of hyperthermia for WSSV-infected *P. vannamei* shrimp. Hyperthermia (32° C) increased the survival of WSSV-infected shrimp. Compared to shrimp kept at normal temperature (25° C), *in situ* hybridization showed a decrease in the number of WSSV-positive cells. Conversely, the incidence of apoptotic cells increased under hyperthermic conditions. Granja *et al.* (2003) suggested that at 32° C, the increased incidence of apoptosis might be the mechanism by which the shrimp were able to avoid death.

CONCLUSION

Some progress has been made toward the understanding of WSSV's anti-apoptosis mechanisms However, it remains unclear how WSSV induces apoptosis in by-stander cells. As for the host, compared to other model organisms, the study of the mechanisms and molecules involved in shrimp apoptosis is still in its infancy. Studies of vertebrate/virus interactions reveal that host cells have many cellular sensors that can detect the activities of an infecting virus and then transmit the pro-apoptosis signals to initiate cell death. These cellular sensors include death receptors, protein kinase R, mitochondrial membrane potential, p53 and the endoplasmic reticulum (Everett and McFadden, 1999). We hypothesize that detecting sensors should exist in shrimp cells as well. During the course of WSSV infection, these sensors could transmit signals, such as the binding of WSSV to its receptors, the transcription of WSSV genes or the replication of the WSSV genome, to trigger apoptosis. Before or during the execution of the apoptosis program, WSSV anti-apoptosis proteins such as WSSV222 and AAP-1 would begin to function and block further progress of apoptosis, so that WSSV could complete its replication cycle. In the case of apoptotic by-stander, cells, we speculate that these cells might have actually been infected with WSSV, but that for some reason either the two anti-apoptosis proteins do not function well or the pro-apoptotic signals are too strong to be blocked; consequently, apoptosis begins and the multiplication of WSSV is prevented.

REFERENCES

- Everett, H. and McFadden, G. 1999. Apoptosis: an innate immune response to virus infection. *Trends in Microbiology* 7:160-5.
- Granja, C.B., Aranguren, L.F., Vidal, O.M., Aragon, L. and Salazar, M. 2003. Does hyperthermia increase apoptosis in white spot syndrome virus (WSSV)-infected *Litopenaeus vannamei? Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 17:73–8.

- Henderson, T. and Stuck, K. 1999. Induction of apoptosis in response to white spot syndrome virus in the pacific white shrimp, *Penaeus vannamei*. In: Anon, editor. Book of abstracts, aquaculture America 1999, Tampa, Florida. Baton Rouge, LA: World Aquaculture Society; 1999 p. Abstract #67.
- He, F., Fenner, B.J., Godwin, A.K. and Kwang, J. 2006. White spot syndrome virus open reading frame 222 encodes a viral E3 ligase and mediates degradation of a host tumor suppressor via ubiquitination. *Journal of Virology* 80:3884-92.
- Jiravanichpaisal, P., Sricharoen, S., Söderhäll, I. and Söderhäll, K. 2006. White spot syndrome virus (WSSV) interaction with crayfish haemocytes. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 20:718-727.
- Leu, J.H., Kuo, Y.C., Kou, G.H. and Lo CF. 2008a. Molecular cloning and characterization of an inhibitor of apoptosis protein (IAP) from the tiger shrimp, *Penaeus monodon*. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology* 32:121-33.
- Leu, J.H., Wang, H.C., Kou, G.H. and Lo, C.F. 2008b. *Penaeus monodon* caspase is targeted by a white spot syndrome virus anti-apoptosis protein. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology* 32:476-86.
- Li, L., Lin, S. and Yanga, F. 2005. Functional identification of the non-specific nuclease from white spot syndrome virus. *Virology* 337:399-406.
- Phongdara, A., Wanna, W. and Chotigeat, W. 2006. Molecular cloning and expression of caspase from white shrimp *Penaeus merguiensis*. *Aquaculture* 252:114-120.
- Rijiravanich, A., Browdy, C.L. and Withyachumnarnkul, B. 2008. Knocking down caspase-3 by RNAi reduces mortality in Pacific white shrimp *Penaeus (Litopenaeus) vannamei* challenged with a low dose of white-spot syndrome virus. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 24:308-313.
- Robalino, J., Bartlett, T., Shepard, E., Prior, S., Jaramillo, G., Scura, E., Chapman, R.W., Gross, P.S., Browdy, C.L. and Warr, G.W. 2005. Double-stranded RNA induces sequence-specific antiviral silencing in addition to nonspecific immunity in a marine shrimp: Convergence of RNA interference and innate immunity in the invertebrate antiviral response? *Journal of Virology* 79:13561-71.
- Robalino, J., Payne, C., Parnell, P., Shepard, E., Grimes, A.C., Metz, A., Prior, S., Witteveldt, J., Vlak, J.M., Gross, P.S., Warr, G. and Browdy, C.L. 2006. Inactivation of white spot syndrome virus (WSSV) by normal rabbit serum: implications for the role of the envelope protein VP28 in WSSV infection of shrimp. *Virus Research* 118:55-61.
- Sahtout, A.H., Hassan, M.D. and Shariff, M. 2001. DNA fragmentation, an indicator of apoptosis, in cultured black tiger shrimp *Penaeus monodon* infected with white spot syndrome virus (WSSV). *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 44:155–9.
- Sahul Hameed, A.S., Sarathi, M., Sudhakaran, R., Balasubramanian, G. and Syed Musthaq, S. 2006. Quantitative assessment of apoptotic hemocytes in white spot syndrome virus (WSSV)-infected penaeid shrimp, *Penaeus monodon* and *Penaeus indicus*, by flow cytometric analysis. *Aquaculture* 256:111-120.
- Wang, Z., Hu, L., Yi, G., Xu, H., Qi, Y. and Yao, L. 2004. ORF390 of white spot syndrome virus genome is identified as a novel anti-apoptosis gene. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 325:899-907.

- Wang, H.C., Wang, H.C., Ko, T.P., Lee, Y.M., Leu, J.H., Ho, C.H., Huang, W.P., Lo, C.F. and Wang, A.H.J. 2008. White spot syndrome virus protein ICP11: A histone-binding DNA mimic that disrupts nucleosome assembly. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 105: 20758–20763.
- Wongprasert, K., Khanobdee, K., Glunukarn, S.S., Meeratana, P. and Withyachumnarnkul, B., 2003. Time-course and levels of apoptosis in various tissues of black tiger shrimp *Penaeus monodon* infected with white-spot syndrome virus. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 55:3-10.
- Wu, J.L. and Muroga, K. 2004. Apoptosis does not play an important role in the resistance of "immune" *Penaeus japonicus* against white spot syndrome virus. *Journal of Fish Diseases* 27:15–21.
- Wang, L., Zhi, B., Wu, W. and Zhang, X. 2008. Requirement for shrimp caspase in apoptosis against virus infection. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology* 32:706-15.
- Wang, W. and Zhang, X. 2008. Comparison of antiviral efficiency of immune responses in shrimp. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 25:522-7.

Effects of extensive and intensive shrimp farming on the genetic composition of white spot syndrome virus populations

BUI THI MINH DIEU¹, JUST M. VLAK¹, and MARK P. ZWART²

¹ Laboratory of Virology, Wageningen University, The Netherlands ² Quantitative Veterinary Epidemiology Group, Wageningen University, The Netherlands

ABSTRACT

White spot syndrome virus (WSSV) has a major negative impact on shrimp farming and industry. There are many different shrimp farming practices, and these may affect the genotypic composition of WSSV populations and possibly the virulence of the virus. Here we investigated whether extensive and intensive farming practices (1) result in selection of WSSV genotypes, and (2) affect genotypic composition over time in WSSV populations. WSSV samples were collected from Vietnamese farms on various sites over a period of several years and the samples were then genotyped. We found no significant effect of farm practice on the genotypic composition of WSSV populations. On the other hand, we did find an effect of farm practice on change over time in the ORF23/24 variable region: this region was significantly more stable in extensive farming systems. This result is a first observation suggesting that farm practice may affect the evolutionary dynamics of WSSV. Moreover, these data also suggest that for retrospectively studying the spread of WSSV populations in extensive farms will be more stable over longer period of time.

Keywords: White spot syndrome virus, shrimp farming, shrimp aquaculture, genetic marker, epidemiology

Corresponding author: Just M. Vlak, just.vlak@wur.nl

Dieu, B.T.M., Vlak, J.M. and Zwart, M.P. 2011. Effects of extensive and intensive shrimp farming on the genetic composition of white spot syndrome virus populations, pp. 145-156. *In* Bondad-Reantaso, M.G., Jones, J.B., Corsin, F. and Aoki, T. (eds.). Diseases in Asian Aquaculture VII. Fish Health Section, Asian Fisheries Society, Selangor, Malaysia. 385 pp.

INTRODUCTION

White spot syndrome virus (WSSV) has been a scourge on shrimp farming since the early 1990s, causing massive mortality and major damage to many types of shrimp farming operations, from extensive to high-intensity practices (Escobedo-Bonilla *et al.*, 2008). During this period the virus has undergone distinct genotypic change resulting in the occurrence of variants world-wide and in variants with increased fitness and virulence (Marks *et al.*, 2004, 2005). This suggests an adaptive evolution to the novel environment and ecological niche provided by shrimp ponds. In shrimp ponds host density will typically be much higher than in natural habitats. The between- and within-species variation in hosts is also likely to be lower in intensive ponds than in natural environments, and hosts are likely to be stressed due to pond conditions. All of these factors probably contribute to generating a novel environment in which WSSV can thrive and further optimize its fitness.

Shrimp-farming operations are, however, highly varied. Extensive and improved extensive shrimp farms (i) stock shrimp larvae directly from the sea, in part or entirely, (ii) have a relatively low density of shrimp, and (iii) have overlapping generations of shrimp. On the other hand, intensive shrimp farms (i) stock shrimp post-larvae (PL) from hatcheries, and the broodstock can originate from geographic locations far from the farm, (ii) have a relatively high density of shrimp, and (iii) have non-overlapping generations of shrimp. Typically a pond is seeded with postlarvae (PL) and they are subsequently harvested together, after which the pond is drained and cleaned. Because extensive and intensive shrimp farms provide such differing environments, farming practice may lead to differential selection of WSSV genotypes. Moreover, in intensive farming operations, virus populations present in ponds may be largely discontinuous. This discontinuity will arise because (1) regular drainage and cleaning of the pond removes infectious host cadavers or debris, and (2) non-overlapping shrimp generations preclude between-cohort transmission of the virus by infectious shrimp. This may have implications for the genetic composition, evolutionary dynamics and epidemiology of WSSV populations.

Here, we hypothesize that different farming practices will have an effect on WSSV genotype composition and population structure. WSSV isolates were collected from Vietnamese improved extensive and intensive shrimp farms at different geographic locations and different time points. These isolates from each type of farm were genetically characterized, allowing us to test whether farming practice affected genotypic composition and change thereof over time.

METHODS

Classification of shrimp farms

WSSV infected shrimp were purposely collected from shrimp farms with different farming practices. We classified the farms based on farm organization and management, in a manner similar to Nhuong *et al.* (2002) using the following three categories:

- (1) Intensive shrimp farming: Pond size varies from 0.2 to 0.6 ha, and a stocking density ranging from 15-30 post larvae per m². Shrimp are stocked only once for each crop, industrial shrimp food is used, and water oxygen supply is augmented by machinery. PLs are bought from local hatcheries, but the origin of broodstock is typically unknown. Shrimp crops are harvested after about four months. If there are disease outbreaks, shrimp are quickly harvested and the pond is chemically treated and drained for cleaning prior to new stocking.
- (2) Improved extensive farming: Pond size greatly varies, ranging from 1 to 15 ha, including ditches and surrounding dikes. Shrimp seed are trapped from wild stock by making use of tides, and sometimes farmers supplement wild stock with PL from hatcheries (approximately once a month, although this varies greatly between farms). This results in a low stocking density of 1-2 shrimp per m². No additional feed is required in this system as shrimp use natural feed in pond. Farmers typically harvest shrimp once or twice a month, based on tides. Large shrimp are trapped by nets as marketable harvest, although small shrimp suffering from disease are also often trapped and hereby removed from the pond.
- (3) Shrimp-rice farming: similar to improved extensive farming in terms of farm management, although the plots used are somewhat smaller than improved extensive ponds. In the Mekong Delta of Vietnam, farmers use the same plot to cultivate rice in the rainy season, when freshwater is abundant, and shrimp in the dry season, when saline water is used to flood the plot.

Collection of virus isolates

Shrimp showing disease symptoms characteristic for WSSV were selected, cleaned on the outside with 70% ethanol, and stored in 96% ethanol during transportation to Can Tho University (Vietnam). The ethanol was then removed and samples were stored at -20° C until further processing. All shrimp selected were *Penaeus monodon*. Information on the WSSV infected shrimp collected is recorded in Table 1, and geographic locations are given in Fig. 1.

Genetic characterization of virus isolates

The characteristics of WSSV have been described by Vlak *et al.* (2005) and further International Commission on Taxonomy of Virus (ICTV) updates can be found at http:// ictvonline.org. Marks *et al.* (2004) identified five variable regions (see Fig. 2): three loci with variable number of tandem repeats (VNTR; ORF75, ORF94 and ORF125; ORF nomenclature according to Van Hulten *et al.*, 2001), and two loci with large deletions (ORF23/24, ORF14/15). These variable loci have been employed as markers in different studies on different spatiotemporal scales (e.g. Wongteerasupaya *et al.*, 2003; Dieu *et al.*, 2004; Hoa *et al.*, 2005, Marks *et al.*, 2005; Waikhom *et al.*, 2006; Pradeep *et al.*, 2008a, 2008b). Here we employed these five variable regions as markers.



DNA was extracted from tissue behind the heads of collected shrimp, and screened for the presence of WSSV according to published procedures (Dieu *et al.*, 2004). PCR on the genomic variable loci of WSSV was performed with 1µl DNA extract (approximately 250 ng DNA), using Taq DNA polymerase (Promega). Specific PCR primers, conditions used and amplicon lengths are shown in Table 2; PCR for VNTRs is described elsewhere (Dieu



et al., 2004). PCR products were analyzed, sequenced and computational analysis was done according to published procedures (Dieu *et al.*, 2004). For analysis of the deletion loci (ORF14/15 and ORF23/24), two WSSV infected shrimp from each pond were PCR analyzed.

Statistical analysis

To analyze VNTR data we considered the number of repeat units (ORF94 and ORF125). For ORF75, we considered the total length of the repeat region, since this variable locus contains two types of repeats. To analyze data from genomic deletions (ORF14/15 and ORF23/24) we considered the length of the genomic deletion. We refer to these quantitative data as 'locus trait values'. Because the data set is limited, we grouped improved extensive and shrimp-rice farms together as being 'extensive', and compared them to intensive farms.

As a simple test of whether farming practice had an effect on genotypic composition, we performed a Mann-Whitney *U*-test (SPSS 15.0; SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA), with farming practice as the independent variable and locus trait value (RU number, total length of TRs or deletion size) as the dependent variable. We only included data from the years 2002, 2006 and 2008 from the CM site (Ca Mau, Table 1) to avoid biasing our analysis due to high number of samples from a single site and small time intervals (see Table 3). CM 2006 was chosen as the intermediate sample because for that year the VNTR data are complete.

Region	Province	Place (district)	Farming practice	Origin of post larvae	Date of collection	Abbreviation
Central VN	Quang Nam	Nui Thanh	Intensive	Central region	2003, 2008	QN
South VN	Tra Vinh	Duyen Hai	Intensive	Unknown	2004, 2006	TV
	Ha Tien	Thuan Yen	Intensive	Unknown	2004, 2005	HT
	Kien Giang	Kien Luong	Intensive	Central region	2003, 2005	Kg
	Soc Trang	My Xuyen	Rice- shrimp	Unknown	2002, 2004, 2008	ST
	Bac Lieu	Vinh Loi	Extensive	Unknown	2004, 2008	BL
	Ca Mau	Tan Thanh	Extensive	Local	2002, 2004, 2005, 2006, 2007, 2008	СМ

Table 1. WSSV isolates analysed in this study

To test whether farming practice had an effect on changes in genotypic composition over time, we first determined whether there was a change in locus trait value between samples from the same site. For sites at which more than two samples were available, we compared the earliest and the latest available samples only. Thus the genotypic data from two samples from different time points represent one event: locus trait values are either the same or

Primer pair name/ (Detected deletion)	Primer	Sequence (5'-3')	Annealing temp. (°C)/ elongation time (s)	WSSV–CN sequence coordinates	Size (bp) of PCR product for VN samples	
VR23/24 –HTvar	Forward	GAGTAGTCTTCAATGGCAATGT	40 / 100	275008-275029	1200	
(10970 bp)	Reverse	GTAAGTTTATTGCTGAGAAG	49/100	286105-286086	~1200	
VR23/24 - CM	Forward	CAGATAATGCAAACACGAGACAC	10 / 75	275794-275816	500	
(11045 bp)	Reverse	GTAAGTTTATTGCTGAGAAG	49 / /5	286105-286086	~500	
VR23/24 -screen	Forward	CACACTTGAAAAATACACCAG	10 / 75	278179-278199		
(8539 bp)	Reverse	GTAAGTTTATTGCTGAGAAG	49 / 75	286105-286086	~550	
VR23/24 -south	Forward	GTAGTGCATGTTTCTCTAAC	10 / 100	275032-275051	100	
(11866 bp)	Reverse	GTAAGTTTATTGCTGAGAAG	49 / 100	286105-286086	~400	
VR23/24 – TV	Forward	CTACAACGGCCAAGTCAT	40 / 100	30701-30718*	1600	
(11450 bp)	Reverse	ATGATTGTATTCGTCGAAGG	49/100	286706-286687	~1600	
VR23/24 –Kg	Forward	CTACAACGGCCAAGTCAT	40 / 100	30701-30718*	2(00	
(12166 bp)	Reverse	CGCAATTCTCCTCGCAGTT	49 / 100	32255-32237*	~2600	
VR14/15-screen		GAGATGCGAACCACTAAAAG	49 / 75	22904-22923*	~500/	
(6031bp and 5950 bp)	Forward Reverse	ATGGAGGCGAGACTTGC		24157-24141*	600	
VR14/15-HT	Forward	GAGATGCGAACCACTAAAAG	49 / 80	22904-22923*	~900	
(5138 bp)	Reverse	GAAAAATAAATCACGGGCTAATC		23646-23624*		

Table 2. Primers used in PCR analysis for the variable loci of WSSV

* According to WSSV-TH sequence

they are not. We recorded the total number of locus trait value changes for each locus, and then tested whether intensive farms had more changes in locus trait value than extensive farms using a one-sided test of equal proportions (R 2.7.0; The R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria).

RESULTS

Genotyping of WSSV isolates

All shrimp samples tested positive for the presence of WSSV using a single step PCR. VNTRs and variable regions were analyzed by PCR for all the studied isolates (Table 3). In order to map deletions in the ORF14/15 and ORF23/24 variable regions, we first performed PCR with the "VR14/15-screen" and "VR23/24-screen" primers on all samples, respectively (Table 2). These primer sets were previously used to detect deletions in six VN-central WSSV isolates (Dieu *et al.*, 2004). Those samples that failed to give a PCR product were then analyzed by means of a 'walking PCR' with different primer sets, starting from two ends of variable regions. Genotypes were detected with the corresponding primer set (Table 2). All PCR products were cloned and sequenced to confirm their identity and

Table 3. Genotyping of five variable loci in the WSSV isolates. An asterisk (*) indicates the PCR reaction failed. A double dagger (‡) indicates that the data were excluded from the Mann-Whitney *U*-test (Table 3) to avoid biases. For ORF75 (a) stands for an RU with 102 bp, and (b) for RU with 45 bp.

Farming Practice	Location	Year	ORF75		ORF94 ORF125		ORF14/15	ORF23/24
			RUs (total)	TR Length	_			
Extensive	ST	2002	abbabb (6)	384	14	8	6031	11,866
		2004	abbab (5)	339	4	5	6031	11,866
		2008	babb (4)	237	*	4	5950	11,866
	BL	2004	babb (4)	237	*	*	6031	11,866
		2008	babb (4)	237	10	7	5950	11,866
	СМ	2002	ababb (5)	339	3	4	6031	11,045
		2004‡	*	*	*	*	6031	11,045
		2005‡	abbabb (6)	384	9	*	6031	11,045
		2006	abbab (5)	339	7	5	6031	11,045
		2007‡	ababb (5)	339	*	7	6031	11,045
		2008	babb (4)	237	6	8	5950	11,045
Intensive	QN	2003	ababb (5)	339	10	6	6031	8,539
		2008	abbabb (6)	384	6	7	6031	11,866
	HT	2004	babbb (5)	282	11	6	5138	11,866
		2005	abbab (5)	339	10	5	5950	10,970
	Kg	2003	abbab (5)	339	15	6	6031	12,166
		2005	abbab (5)	339	12	9	6031	11,866
	TV	2004	abbab (5)	384	10	9	6031	11,450
		2006	abab (4)	294	6	7	5950	10,970

map the exact position of the deletion. The location and size of the genomic deletion was determined using WSSV-TH-96-II (acc. no. AY753327; Marks *et al.*, 2005) as a reference sequence for ORF14/15, and WSSV-TW (acc. no. AF440570; Wang *et al.*, 1995; see also Marks *et al.*, 2004) as a reference for ORF23/24.

Effects of farm practice on genotypic composition

A Mann-Whitney *U*-test (Table 4) demonstrated that there was no significant effect of farming practice (extensive or intensive) on any locus trait values (RU number, total length of TRs or deletion size) for all geographic locations.

Effects of farm practice on changes in genotypic composition

A test of equal proportions (Table 5) demonstrated that for the ORF75, ORF94, ORF125 and ORF 14/15 variable regions, there was no effect of farming practice on change in locus trait value in consecutive samples from a single geographic location. However, for the ORF23/24 variable region, there was a significant effect of farming practice on change in locus trait value (i.e. deletion size). For the intensive farms a change in locus trait value for ORF23/24

was always observed (4 changes in 4 observed events). For the extensive farms no change in locus trait value was observed (no changes in 3 observed events included in statistical

Table 4. Comparison of locus trait values between extensive and intensive farms. Note that analysis was performed on different measures (Analysis). A Mann-Whitney *U*-test was performed to test for significant differences in trait value between extensive and intensive farms. No significant *P*-values were found.

Locus	Analysis	Samples	Mean ± SE	SE M		Aann-Whitney U-test	
		_	Extensive	Intensive	Z	Р	
ORF75	Total length TRs (bp)	16	293.6 ± 22.0	337.5 ± 12.9	-1.441	0.149	
ORF94	RU number	14	7.33 ± 1.67	10.00 ± 1.05	-1.377	0.169	
ORF125	RU number	15	5.86 ± 0.67	6.88 ± 0.52	-1.173	0.241	
ORF14/15	Deletion size (kb)	16	6.00 ± 0.00	5.89 ± 0.11	-0.185	0.854	
ORF23/24	Deletion size (kb)	16	11.56 ± 0.15	11.19 ± 0.41	-0.507	0.613	

analysis, no changes in 8 observed events in total).

Although we analyzed changes in trait locus values over time, the interval between sampling at different locations was irregular (extensive farms: 5.33 ± 0.58 [mean \pm SE]; intensive farms: 2.50 ± 0.87). The mean time interval was twice as long on the extensive farms meaning that our analysis of change in viral genotypes over time is probably conservative.

DISCUSSION

We investigated the effect of extensive or intensive shrimp farming on WSSV genotypic composition and on changes in WSSV genotypic composition over time. We found no effect of shrimp-farming practice on WSSV genotypic composition for any of the five variable loci investigated (Table 4). This suggests that the environments associated with extensive and intensive farms are not divergent enough to impose differential selection for WSSV genotypes. On the other hand, the number of samples was relatively small, making it difficult to draw definitive conclusions from these data alone. More intensive sampling in the future followed by genetic analysis should substantiate this claim.

For four out of five variable loci (ORF75, ORF 94, ORF 125, ORF14/15) we found no

T		(D ,, D)		
between extensive an	nd intensive farms. Signific	cant P-values are m	narked with an asterisk (*)	
A test of equal propo	ortions was performed to te	est for significant d	lifferences in changes in tr	ait value
rable 5. Comparison	i of change in locus trait va	nues over time betw	veen extensive and intensiv	c faims.

Table 5. Comparison of abango in locus trait values over time between extensive and intensive forms

Locus	Changes / Total Observed (Proportion)		Test of equal proportions		
	Extensive	Intensive	X ²	Р	
ORF75	2 / 3 (0.67)	2 / 4 (0.50)	0.000	0.500	
ORF94	1 / 1 (1.00)	4 / 4 (1.00)	-	-	
ORF125	2 / 2 (1.00)	4 / 4 (1.00)	-	-	
ORF14/15	3 / 3 (1.00)	2 / 4 (0.50)	0.365	0.727	
ORF23/24	0 / 3 (0.00)	4 / 4 (1.00)	5.405	0.030*	

effect of farming practice on changes in locus trait value over time (RU number, total length of TRs or deletion size; Table 5). For ORF23/24, however, we did find a significant effect of farming practice on change in locus trait value (deletion size); whereas deletion size never changed over time for an extensive farm, it always changed for intensive farms (Tables 3 and 5). Moreover, the average time between sampling was twice as long on the extensive farms as on intensive farms, meaning that viral populations on extensive farms had twice as much time to undergo genetic change. Overall, these data therefore suggest that our hypothesis that WSSV populations on intensive farms will be more variable is correct. An effect of farm practice on viral genotypic stability is probably due to (i) frequent seeding of PLs infected with different virus strains (Withyachumnarnkul, 1999) and (ii) pond drainage and cleaning regimens.

Why do the data suggest an effect only for ORF23/24, and not for the other loci? First, this is a preliminary study with a limited sample size, the power of the statistical test is low. However, there appears to be an interesting trend for the ORF14/15 data. For samples from four out of five geographic locations in which the deletion size changed over time, there was a shift from the 6031 bp deletion to the 5950 bp deletion. Moreover, the 5950 bp deletion was found only in samples from later years (2005-2008; see Table 3). This suggests that there was selection for a genotype carrying this slightly smaller deletion during that period of time. What could have caused the occurrence of selection at most of the sites? In this period of time, *P. vannamei* was widely introduced in Vietnamese shrimp farms, replacing *P. monodon* (Raux *et al.*, 2003; Corsin, 2005). Others have shown that passaging in different host species can result in differential selection of WSSV genotypes (Waikhom *et al.*, 2006), lending credibility to this explanation. Moreover, the 5950 bp deletion appears to be selected for when WSSV samples obtained from *P. monodon* are passaged in *P. vannamei* (B.T.M. Dieu and J.M. Vlak, unpublished data).

We observed no trends in the VNTR data (Tables 2, 3 and 4). The data of Pradeep *et al.* (2008a, 2008b) suggest that VNTR loci (ORF75, ORF94, ORF125) are more variable than deletion loci (ORF14/15, ORF23/24). We have also found a similar trend for the spread of WSSV in Vietnam (Dieu *et al.*, 2004, ibid. 2010). These observations may explain why we did not find an effect of farming practice on locus trait value for VNTRs: variation is generated too rapidly for VNTRs to be useful markers on larger spatial - and temporal - scales.

Our data suggest that extensive farming leads to fewer changes in deletion size for the ORF23/24 variable region, as compared to intensive farming. This result has important ramifications. First, it suggests that virus populations in extensive farms will be more stable than in intensive farms, a result that we hypothesized based on the way ponds are managed under these farming practices. This will have consequences for WSSV evolutionary dynamics. For intensive farming systems, infection of a pond can be an evolutionary dead end as the pond will eventually be drained and cleaned, leading to the destruction of most virions. On the other hand, if ponds are not carefully cleaned and viruses reach into the surroundings by e.g. marine crabs, fresh water prawn *Macrobrachium rosenbergii* (Hossain

et al., 2001) or polychaetes (Vijayan *et al.*, 2005), a disease-free intensively-managed pond is then a resource which can be best exploited by highly virulent genotypes, as there is no cost of virulence (i.e. the pond will be drained irrespective of virus behavior). In extensive farming systems the costs of virulence may be maintained i.e. killing the host at any point in time means that host introduced into the pond at a later time cannot be directly infected. This line of thought may also extend to shrimp-rice farming, because the plots used are never completely drained and cleaned. WSSV is known to cause asymptomatic or avirulent infections (Withyachumnarnkul, 1999; Flegel *et al.*, 2004), which may be important for maintaining the virus in low-density host populations, for example by vertical transmission. Genetic composition of WSSV populations may be one factor which determines virulence, as has been shown by Marks *et al.* (2005) and suggested by Hoa *et al.* (2005). There will, however, be many other factors which will determine WSSV virulence, such as farm management (Corsin *et al.*, 2001), temperature (Rahman *et al.*, 2006), salinity (Liu *et al.*, 2006), ammonia-N (Jiang *et al.*, 2004) and adaptive shrimp responses (Flegel, 2007).

Finally, effects of shrimp farming practice on changes in locus trait value have implications for studying the spread of WSSV by means of molecular epidemiology (Dieu *et al.*, 2004; Pradeep *et al.*, 2008a, 2008b, Dieu *et al.*, 2010). If WSSV populations in intensive farm systems are more variable, this means that the original genotype which colonized the farm - and the surrounding region - is less likely to be maintained in the virus population than in an extensive farm. Hence, if samples are taken retrospectively to determine virus spread (e.g. Dieu *et al.*, 2004, 2010), then it is best to sample from extensive farms, because the virus population sampled is more likely to be representative of the genotypes that were first introduced - or first became predominant - in that area. The effects of farming practice on the stability of WSSV populations should therefore be given consideration in the design of experiments to study the spread and epidemiology of WSSV.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS:

We thank Lia Hemerik for critical comments and advice on the statistics. B.T.M.D. was supported by a WOTRO Ph.D. scholarship (grant WB 83-207) and was part of the RESCOPAR Programme of Wagenigen University.

REFERENCES

- Corsin, F, Turnbull, J.F., Hao, N.V., Mohan, C.V., Phi, T.T., Phuoc, L.H., Tinh, N.T.N. and Morgan, K.L. 2001. Risk factors associated with white spot syndrome virus infection in a Vietnamese rice-shrimp farming system. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 47: 1-12.
- Corsin, F. 2005. Supporting Viet Nam to make an informed decision towards *P. vanamei.* Accessed May 25, 2009. Network of Aquaculture Centres in Asia-Pacific news update. URL: http://www.enaca.org/modules/news/article.php?storyid=550
- Dieu, B.T.M., Marks, H., Siebenga, J.J., Goldbach, R.W., Zuidema, D., Duong, T.P. and Vlak, J.M. 2004. Molecular epidemiology of white spot syndrome virus within Vietnam.

Journal of General Virology 85: 3607-3618.

- Dieu, B.T.M., Marks, H., Zwart, M.P. and Vlak, J.M. 2010. Evaluation of white spot syndrome virus variable DNA loci as molecular markers of virus spread at intermediate spatiotemporal scales. *Journal of General Virology* 91: 1164-1172.
- Escobedo-Bonilla, C.M., Alday-Sanz, V., Wille, M., Sorgeloos, P., Pensaert, M.B. and Nauwynck, H.J. 2008. A review on the morphology, molecular characterization, morphogenesis and pathogenesis of white spot syndrome virus. *Journal of Fish Diseases* 31: 1-18.
- Flegel, T.W. 2007. Update on viral accommodation, a model for host-viral interaction in shrimp and other arthropods. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology* 31: 217-231.
- Flegel, T.W., Nielsen, L., Thamavit, V., Kongtim, S. and Pasharawipas, T. 2004. Presence of multiple viruses in non-diseased, cultivated shrimp at harvest. *Aquaculture* 240: 55-68.
- Hoa, T.T., Hodgson, R.A.J., Oanh, D.T., Phoung, N.T., Preston, N.J. and Walker, P.J. 2005. Genotypic variations in tandem repeat DNA segments between ribonucletide reductase subunit genes of White Spot Syndrome Virus (WSSV) isolates from Vietnam, pp. 339-351. In: P.J. Walker, R.G. Lester and M.G. Bondad-Reantaso (eds.), *Diseases in Asian Aquaculture* V, Fish Health Section. Manila, Philippines.
- Hossain, M.S., Chakraborty, A., Joseph, B., Otta, S.K., Karunasagar, I., Karunasagar, I. 2001. Detection of new hosts for white spot syndrome virus of shrimp using nested polymerase chain reaction. *Aquaculture* 198: 1–11.
- Jiang, G., Yu, R., Zhou, M. 2004. Modulatory effects of ammonia-N on the immune system of *Penaeus japonicus* to virulence of white spot syndrome virus. *Aquaculture* 241: 61–75.
- Liu, B., Yu, Z., Song, X., Guan, Y., Jian, X., He, J. 2006. The effect of acute salinity change on white spot syndrome (WSS) outbreaks in *Fenneropenaeus chinensis*. *Aquaculture* 253: 163–170.
- Marks, H., Goldbach, R.W., Vlak, J.M. and van Hulten, M.C.W. 2004. Genetic variation among isolates of white spot syndrome virus. *Archives of Virology* 149: 673-697.
- Marks, H., van Duijse, J.J.A., Zuidema, D., van Hulten, M.C.W. and Vlak, J.M. 2005. Fitness and virulence of an ancestral white spot syndrome virus isolate from shrimp. *Virus Research* 110: 9-20.
- Nhuong, T.V., Luu, L.T., Tu, T.Q., Tam, P.M. and Nguyet, T.T.A. 2002. Vietnam shrimp farming review. Individual Partner Report for the Project: Policy research for sustainable shrimp farming in Asia., CEMARE, University of Portsmouth, UK and RIA1, Bac Ninh, Vietnam, pp. 19.
- Pradeep, B., Shekar, M., Gudkovs, N., Karunasagar, I. and Karunasagar, I. 2008a. Genotyping of white spot syndrome virus prevalent in shrimp farms of India. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 78: 189-198.
- Pradeep, B., Shekar, M., Karunasagar, I. and Karunasagar, I. 2008b. Characterization of variable genomic regions of Indian white spot syndrome virus. *Virology* 376: 24-30.
- Rahman, M.M., Escobedo-Bonilla, C.M., Corteel, M., Dantas-Lima, J.J., Wille, M., Sanz, V.A., Pensaert, M.B., Sorgeloos, P. and Nauwynck, H.J. 2006. Effect of high water temperature (33 degrees C) on the clinical and virological outcome of experimental infections with white spot syndrome virus (WSSV) in specific pathogen-free (SPF)

Litopenaeus vannamei. Aquaculture 261: 842-849.

- Raux, P., Bailly, D. and Tran, V.N. 2006. Vietnamese Shrimp farming at a key point in its development: a review of issues examining whether development is being carried out in a sustainable way. In: *Shrimp culture: Economics, market and trade* (P.S. Leung and C. Engle, eds., Blackwell Publishing, UK), p.107-130.
- Sokal, R.R. and Rohlf, F.J. 1995. Biometry: the principles and practice of statistics in biological research. W.H. Freeman and Co, New York.
- Van Hulten, M.C.W., Witteveldt, J., Peters, S., Kloosterboer, N., Tarchini, R., Fiers, M., Sandbrink, H., Lankhorst, R.K. and Vlak, J.M. 2001. The white spot syndrome virus DNA genome sequence, *Virology* 286: 7–22.
- Vijayan, K.K., Stalin Raj, V., Balasubramanian, C.P., Alavandi, S. V., Thillai Sekhar, V., Santiago, T.C. 2005. Polychaete worms—a vector for white spot syndrome virus (WSSV). *Disease of Aquatic Organisms* 63: 107-111.
- Vlak, J.M., Bonami, J.R., Flegel, T.W., Kou, G.H., Lightner, D.V., Lo, C.F., Loh, P.C. and Walker, P.W. 2005. Family Nimaviridae p.187-192. In: *Virus Taxonomy*, VIIIth ICTV Report.
- Waikhom, G., John, K.R., George, M.R. and Jeyaseelan, M.J.P. 2006. Differential host passaging alters pathogenicity and induces genomic variation in white spot syndrome virus. *Aquaculture* 261: 54-63.
- Wang, C.H., Lo, C.F., Leu, J.H., Chou, C.M., Yeh, P.Y., Chou, H.Y., Tung, M.C., Chang, C.F., Su, M.S. & Kou, G.H. 1995. Purification and genomic analysis of baculovirus associated with White spot syndrome (WSBV) of *Penaeus monodon*. *Disease of Aquatic Organisms* 23: 239-242.
- Withyachumnarnkul, B. 1999. Results from black tiger shrimp *Penaeus monodon* culture ponds stocked with postlarvae PCR-positive or -negative for white-spot syndrome virus (WSSV). *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 39: 21-27.
- Wongteerasupaya, C., Pungchai, P., Withyachumnarnkul, B., Boonsaeng, V., Panyim, S., Flegel, T.W. & Walker, P.J. 2003. High variation in repetitive DNA fragment length for white spot syndrome virus (WSSV) isolates in Thailand. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 54: 253-257.

The utilization of VP28 gene to protect penaeid shrimps from white spot syndrome virus disease: a review

RAPEEPAT MAVICHAK, HIDEHIRO KONDO, IKUO HIRONO and TAKASHI AOKI

Laboratory of Genome Science, Graduate School of Marine Science and Technology Tokyo University of Marine Science and Technology, Minato, Tokyo, Japan

ABSTRACT

White spot syndrome (WSS) is a viral disease which affects most of the commercially cultivated marine shrimp species all over the world causing significant losses. Deaths occur within days of symptoms and affect a diverse range of commercial crustacean species. A heavy mortality is usually observed in the entire infected population. Survival rates can be anywhere from 30% to zero. Consequently, tools with the capability to effectively and timely detect the diseases have been developed to prevent and contain these pathogens. White spot syndrome virus (WSSV) envelope protein VP28 gene is widely used because its ability to bind to the surface of shrimp epithelial cells and might promote innate immune recognition of WSSV. Its recombinant protein was expressed in various expression systems and used as recombinant vaccine or immunostimulant to increase shrimp survival against WSSV. An anti-body against VP28 was successfully used in virus neutralization assay. A DNA vaccine encoding VP28 gene also provided long-term and high levels of protection against WSSV. Moreover, RNA interference (RNAi) resulted in endogenous RNA sequence-specific degradation to silence VP28 gene expression as well as induced an immune response against virus using non-specific dsRNA in shrimp. However, in order to use VP28 on a commercial scale in the shrimp industry, there are several concerns that need to be addressed such as storage, delivery methodology, protection efficiency; protection period and ensuring that it can be produced in large scale. All these methods might lead to the new strategies to control WSSV using the VP28 gene in future.

Keywords: white spot syndrome virus (WSSV), VP28, penaeid shrimp

Mavichak, R., Kondo, H., Hirono, I. and Aoki, T. 2011. The utilization of VP28 gene to protect penaeid shrimps from white spot syndrome virus disease: a review, pp. 157-170. *In* Bondad-Reantaso, M.G., Jones, J.B., Corsin, F. and Aoki, T. (eds.). Diseases in Asian Aquaculture VII. Fish Health Section, Asian Fisheries Society, Selangor, Malaysia. 385 pp.

Corresponding author: Rapeepat Mavichak, mavichak@yahoo.com

INTRODUCTION

Penaeid shrimp are regarded as the most economically important among the crustacean species. Penaeid shrimp are mainly farmed in Southeast Asia (Thailand, Indonesia, Philippines and Vietnam), Central America (Mexico and Panama) and South America (Ecuador, Peru and Venezuela). High demand for shrimp in the global market leads to the birth of shrimp farming in these developing countries. Shrimp aquaculture started in the 1970s as an industrial activity and developed rapidly with huge increase in number of hatcheries and farms. The demand for shrimps in global market is increasing every year. In 2006, the amount of total shrimp production was over 2.6 million tones and over US\$10 billion (www.fao.org/fishery/statistics/global-production/en). However, with the rapid production and development, the shrimp aquaculture industry has encountered serious problems including non-infectious and infectious diseases in every major farming area throughout the world. Identified shrimp pathogens such as bacteria and virus are spreading and new diseases are continuously being identified.

White spot syndrome (WSS) is a viral disease that affects most of the commercially cultivated marine shrimp species all over the world (Flegel, 1997; Lotz, 1997). It was first observed in East Asia in 1992–1993 and has since spread to most shrimp culture countries (Yan *et al.*, 2007). WSS manifests itself quickly and deaths occur with days of symptoms. It affects a diverse range of crustacean species (Lo *et al.*, 1996; Wang *et al.*, 1998) including *Fenneropenaeus chinensis*, *F. indicus*, *F. merguiensis*, *Penaeus monodon*, *Litopenaeus setiferus*, *L. stylirostris*, *and P. vannamei*. Within a week of the infection a heavy mortality begins. Survival rates can be anywhere from 30% to zero, but in many cases the entire pond is wiped out.

WSS is caused by an enveloped double-strand DNA virus called white spot syndrome virus (WSSV), which belong to the family of *Nimaviridae* and the monotypic genus *Whispovirus*. It has an ovoid or ellipsoid to bacilliform shape with a flagella-like appendage at one end of the virion (van Hultan *et al.*, 2001a). The genome of three WSSV isolates has been fully sequenced: Thailand 293 kbp (van Hulten *et al.*, 2001b); China 305 kbp (Yang *et al.*, 2001) and Taiwan 307 kbp (Chen *et al.*, 2002). Its genome contain 181 non-overlapping open reading frames, consist of five major proteins named VP28, VP26, VP24, VP19 and VP15 (van Hultan *et al.*, 2001b). Two of these major proteins (VP28 and VP19) were characterized as envelope protein (van Hultan *et al.*, 2004). Such binding is thought to be mediated by a shrimp VP28-binding protein, PmRab7, suggesting that shrimp possess innate immune recognition of WSSV (Sritunyalucksana *et al.*, 2006; Tang *et al.*, 2007). Therefore VP28 is wildly used for diagnosis and control WSS although its efficacy varies.

1. Recombinant protein VP28

VP28 recombinant protein (rVP28) has been expressed in various expression systems such as in Gram-negative bacteria, *Escherichia coli*, (Jha *et al.*, 2006b; Namikoshi *et al.*, 2004; Witteveldt *et al.*, 2004a; Witteveldt *et al.*, 2004b; Witteveldt *et al.*, 2006), Gram-positive

bacteria (Caipang *et al.*, 2008; Mavichak *et al.*, 2009) insect cells (Du *et al.*, 2006), yeast (Jha, Xu and Pandey, 2006a; Jha *et al.*, 2007) and silkworms (Xu *et al.*, 2006). In this first study, van Hulten *et al.* (2000) expressed the rVP28 in an insect cell. The difference between the actual weight (28 kDa) and the predicted weight (22 kDa) was attributed to the use of an insect expression system that may be the result of post-translational modifications (e.g. glycosylation, phosphorylation). However, using prokaryotic system to express and purify rVP28, it has been demonstrated to protect shrimp against WSSV. Namikoshi *et al.* (2004) demonstrated that *E. coli*-expressed rVP26, rVP28 and inactivated WSSV protected kuruma shrimp (*Marsupenaeus japonicus*). The result showed that injection with rVP28 twice (100µg/1g shrimp/ time) gave highest protection against WSSV with 95% relative percent survival (RPS) (Amend, 1981). Witteveldt *et al.* (2004b) evaluated the potential for vaccination using rVP28 N-terminally fused to maltose binding protein expressed in *E. coli.* The result showed that vaccination with rVP28 (4µg/1g shrimp) gave significantly better survival when challenged two days after vaccination with 33% (RPS), but not after 25 days.

Du et al. (2006) have compared the efficacy of rVP28 expressed in E. coli and insect cells in crayfish, Procambarus clarkii. They found that injecting shrimp with rVP28 expressed in insect cells $(2.5 \mu g/1g \text{ shrimp})$ provided greater protection than injection with rVP28 expressed in E. coli (2.5µg/1g shrimp). The rVP28 expressed in insect cells gave 95% RPS, while rVP28 expressed in E. coli gave 43.5% RPS. They suggested that posttranslational modifications of VP28 may have been correctly performed in insect cells. A similar experiment using prokaryote system expressed rVP28 was conducted by Jha et al. (2006a) who investigated the potential of injection vaccine using rVP28 expressed in yeast, *Pichia pastoris*, against WSSV in crayfish, P. clarkii. They found that injection of rVP28 2µg/ 1g of crayfish give the protection ability at 3 days post-vaccination at 91% RPS and at 21 days post-vaccination at 78% RPS. Also they investigated the effectiveness of oral, intramuscularly (IM) injection (2µg/ 1g of crayfish) and immersion vaccination against WSSV in crayfish, P. clarkia (Jha et al., 2006b). The rate of cumulative mortality was higher in case of immersion vaccination. The challenge test on 5th and 21st day post-immersion showed RPS value of 49% each followed by oral vaccination. The challenge test on 3^{rd} and 21^{st} day post-oral administration showed 52% and 49% RPS, respectively and injection vaccination. The challenge test on 3rd and 21st day post-immersion showed 50.5% and 43.1% RPS, respectively. However, there seem to be no significant difference based on the RPS value. Thus, oral administration of rVP28 might be a feasible method to administration because injecting individual shrimp is not practical when dealing with large number of shrimp.

Witteveldt and colleagues expressed VP28 in *E. coli* and demonstrated that, when mixed with commercial shrimp pellets, it significantly enhanced survival against WSS challenge in *P. monodon* (Witteveldt *et al.*, 2004a) and *L. vannamei* (Witteveldt *et al.*, 2006). The level protection in *L. vannamei* was lower compared to *P. monodon* (RPS values of 50% in *L. vannamei* and 77% in *P. monodon*). Caipang *et al.* (2008) use Gram-positive bacterium, *Brevibacillus brevis*, to produce WSSV rVP28. This Gram-positive bacterium has three advantages: it secretes functional extracellular protein directly into the culture

medium, making it useful for large-scale commercial production and it doesn't produce lipopolysaccharide (LPS) which is normally present in Gram-negative bacteria and is endotoxic to many organisms. They found that feeding with rVP28 25µg/ 1g shrimp for 7 days before challenge with WSSV at 3 days post-feeding showed the highest RPS value at 92.8% RPS. The level of protection in shrimp against the disease significantly decreased at 2 weeks post-feeding and when the dose of feeding was decreased. They suggested that the protection ability of rVP28 might rely on the dose and duration of feeding. Also in our previous study (Mavichak et al., 2009), we used Gram-positive bacteria; B. choshinensis expressed N- and C-terminus-lacking and N-terminus-lacking rVP28 to increase recombinant VP28 expression and compared the efficacy of oral administration and intramuscular (IM) injection of rN-VP28. Our finding showed that feeding with N-terminus-lacking recombinant VP28 (5µg/ 1g shrimp/day) for 7 days still protected shrimp against WSSV, while with the same feeding conditions of N-and C-terminus-lacking did not. Moreover, one time IM injection $(5\mu g/1g \text{ shrimp})$ of VP28 provided greater protection than oral administration for 7 days (5µg/ 1g shrimp/day). Moreover, we coated rN-VP28 with liposomes to improve rN-VP28 uptake through oral administration. The determination of protection against WSSV showed that feeding with rN-VP28 coated with liposomes (rN-VP28-MLV) for 3 days gave greater protection than feeding with rN-VP28 treatment. However, feeding with rN-VP28-MLV for 7 days gave no significant difference to protection with rN-VP28 treatment (Mavichak et al., 2010). In addition, uptake of rN-VP28-MLV and rN-VP28 was compared by histology. In this experiment we coated rN-VP28-MLV and rN-VP28 with fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC). At 1 h post-administration, a strong green-fluorescent signal was detected in the intestine of shrimp treated with FITC-rN-VP28-MLV but no signal was detected in shrimp treated with FITC-rN-VP28 and rN-VP28. Taken together, our results suggest that the use of liposomes can improve the efficiency of delivering rN-VP28 to shrimp.

Xu *et al.* (2006) determine the efficacy of rVP28 using silkworm expression system in crayfish, *P. clarkii*. The results showed that VP28 treated crayfish gave significantly better survival rate against WSSV than control treatment (94.7% RPS). Jha *et al.* (2007) also evaluated the efficacy of orally administration of rVP28 expressed in yeast, *P. pastoris* against WSSV in *P. clarkii*. They found that the highest RPS value was belonging to the sonicated yeast expressing rVP28 (86% RPS and 72% RPS when challenged with WSSV on 3rd and 21st day post-vaccination). These studies provided the information to protect shrimp using rVP28 against WSSV.

2. Antibody against VP28

Several groups have produced monoclonal and polyclonal antibodies against rVP28 as a tool for diagnosing WSSV (Anil, Shanker and Mohan, 2002; Chaivisuthangkura *et al.*, 2004; Liu *et al.*, 2002; Makesh *et al.*, 2006; Poulos *et al.*, 2001; Shih *et al.*, 2001; Zhan *et al.*, 1999). With the development of hybridoma technology, panels of monoclonal antibodies (MAbs) were produced and used in an indirect immunofluorescence assay (IFA) (Shih *et al.*, 2001; Zhan *et al.*, 2001; Zhan *et al.*, 1999), immunoperoxidase and whole-mount tissue assays (Poulos *et al.*, 2001) for rapid diagnosis of WSSV. However, tests are not suitable for use by farmers. Furthermore there is evidence that various WSSV geographic isolates differ at the molecular level

(Nadala and Lo, 1998; Lo *et al.*, 1999; Wang, Nunan and Lightner, 2000). Therefore, Anil, Shanker and Mohan. (2002) have produced MAbs to an Indian isolate of WSSV for antigen characterization and to develop a simple and sensitive immunodot test that can be used by farmers. Liu *et al.* (2002) produced MAbs specific to VP28 and developed a MAb-based antigen-capture enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (Ac-ELISA) for detection of WSSV antigen from shrimp tissues and hemolymph. Makesh *et al.* (2006) developed MAbs that reacted with VP28, to diagnose WSSV infection in *P. monodon*. The test had an analytical sensitivity of 625pg of purified virus.

Moreover, antibodies raised against individual viral envelope proteins have been successfully used in neutralization assays to identify proteins involved in virus entry during infection (van Hulten *et al.*, 2001a; van Hulten *et al.*, 2001b: Wu, Wang and Zhang, 2005), as well as to prevent WSSV infection (Kim *et al.*, 2004; Musthaq *et al.*, 2006; Natividad *et al.*, 2007; Robalino *et al.*, 2006;). Kim *et al.* (2004) reported that egg yolk antibodies (IgY) against truncated VP28 fused with truncated VP19 WSSV enveloped proteins, TrVP28:19, were able to neutralize WSSV in challenge trials with *F. chinensis*. Robalino *et al.* (2006) used polyclonal and monoclonal antibodies against VP28 from rabbit serum to inactivate WSSV in *L. vannamei*. Mustaq *et al.* (2006) used various VP28 polyclonal antiserum concentrations to neutralize WSSV in *P. monodon*. The results indicate that WSSV can be neutralized by VP28 antiserum in a dose-dependent manner. Similarly, Natividad *et al.* (2007) demonstrated that a MAb against VP28 was effective in protection of *M. japonicus* from WSSV. These results indicate that antibody against VP28 will be useful for developing new strategies to control WSSV infection.

3. DNA vaccine

DNA-based vaccination constitutes one of the most recent approaches to vaccine development. Vaccination of plasmids carrying genes under the control of the CMV promoter was found to induce protective immunity to many pathogen diseases in farmed animals (Van Drunen et al., 2000). Therefore, the potential of DNA vaccination strategy in shrimp using VP28 gene against WSSV was investigated. Rout et al. (2007) constructed DNA vaccines using vector pVAX1 (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA), which containing CMV promoter. Each vector carried a WSSV gene (VP15, VP28, VP35 and VP281). The vaccines were injected IM to P. monodon. PCR was used to detect the plasmid carrying VP28 gene distribution in shrimp tissues (hemolymph, pleopods, telson, gills, hepatopancreas and gut). They found that on days 2-15 post vaccination, VP28 was detected in all tissues. However, on day 45 it was not detected in hemolymph and day 60 it was not detected in hemolymph and hepatopancreas. Rout et al. (2007) also compared the effects of rVP28 (2 IM doses of $1\mu g/1g$ of shrimp on days 1 and 5) and a DNA vaccine (single dose of $2\mu g/1g$ of shrimp). On day 14, RPS was better for the rVP28 group (65%) than for the DNA vaccine group (48%). However, the DNA vaccine provided longer protection (30% RPS on day 60 vs. -11.6% for the rVP28 group). These results suggested that a DNA vaccine could provide long-term antigen expression through a genetic immunization strategy. Therefore, it offered continuing protection ability against WSSV at least up to 60 days.
Similar results were obtained by Rajesh Kumar and co-workers (2008) using a DNA vaccine constructed from the pcDNA 3.1 expression vector, which also has the CMV promoter and the VP28 gene. The VP28 was detected by PCR in abdominal muscle, gill, hepatopancreas, pleopods and gut on days 3, 15 and 30 post-immunization. The DNA vaccine protected against WSSV up to 30 days post-immunization (RPS values were 90% on day 7 and 57% on day 30). Prophenoloxidase (proPO) and superoxide dismutase (SOD) activities were measured to assess the immunological response to the DNA vaccine encoding VP28. Both activities increased significantly on day 7 post-immunization and then gradually decreased. Both activities were higher than those in the control groups till day 30. However, the superoxide anion concentration did not change significantly during the experiment.

Attenuated *Salmonella typhimurium* have been used as a system for expressing foreign antigens under the control of a eukaryotic promoter for vertebrate host cells (Abudul Wahid and Faubert, 2007; Chen *et al.*, 2006; Du and Wang, 2005; Li *et al.*, 2006). Ning *et al.* (2009) used attenuated *S. typhimurium* to express a DNA vaccine encoding VP28 and orally administered them to crayfish, *Procambarus clarkii*. The DNA vaccine was detected in hemolymph, ovary, male reproduction system, heart, hepatopancreas and abdominal muscle from day 4 to day 30 post-immunization. By the end of the experiment (day 30 post-immunization), the vaccine was detected by reverse transcription PCR only in the abdominal muscle. These results correlated with cumulative mortality data following WSSV challenge. The RPS values following WSSV challenge were 83% on day 7, 67% on day 15 and 57% on day 25 post-vaccination. Together, these findings suggest that VP28 DNA vaccine can be easily produced and can provide long-term protection against WSSV.

4. RNA interference

RNA interference (RNAi) is one of the new procedures to control WSS by induces sequencespecific antiviral silencing. Moreover, nonspecific double stranded RNA (dsRNA) was reported to induce shrimp innate immunity (Robalino et al., 2004). Using VP28 dsRNA sequence-specific silencing was successfully demonstrated by Robalino et al. (2006). They found that injection with VP28 dsRNA (5µg/ 1g of L. vannamei) could increase shrimp survival rate against WSSV, while, sequence-nonspecific dsRNA caused only a delay in the onset of mortality. Westenberg et al. (2005) hypothesized that delivery of short interference RNA (siRNA), rather than large dsRNA provided a specific anti-viral response. Therefore, they injected siRNA against VP28 (1.6Mol/1g of P. monodon) and challenge with WSSV. The results showed that significantly lower mortality rate was observed in shrimp treated with VP28 siRNA but not significantly different from shrimp treated with sequencenonspecific siRNA (GFP). Xu and co-workers (Xu, Han and Zhang, 2007) demonstrated the potential for the gene function research and therapeutic treatment of WSSV using four different VP28 siRNAs. However, only injected with VP28 siRNA (3.2g/1g of *M. japonicus*) consistent with the design rule for RNAi (Elbashir et al., 2002) could increase the shrimp survival against WSSV. In order to produce high amount of dsRNA, E. coli HT115(DE3) the expression of VP28 dsRNA was demonstrated by Sarathi and colleagues (Sarathi et al., 2008a; Sarathi et al., 2008b). VP28 dsRNA was injected in to P. monodon (2.5g/ 1 g shrimp) (Sarathi et al., 2008a). RT-PCR analysis was employed to confirm gene silencing effected after challenge with WSSV. Shrimp treated with VP28 dsRNA did not present VP28 gene at the transcription level. VP28 dsRNA significantly increased shrimp survival rate against WSSV. In addition, they orally administed VP28 dsRNA using bacterially expressed VP28 dsRNA (Sarathi *et al.*, 2008b). The inactivated *E. coli* expressed VP28 dsRNA was mixed with the shrimp commercial pellets and fed to shrimp. Also the purified dsRNA from VP28 dsRNA expressed *E. coli* was coated with chitosan and mixed with shrimp commercial pellet before feeding to shrimp followed by challenge with WSSV. PCR and Western blot analysis were employed to confirm the gene silencing effected after challenged with WSSV. The RT-PCR and Western blot analysis result showed that inactivated *E. coli* expressed VP28 dsRNA and chitosan coated purified VP28 dsRNA treatments were not present VP28 after challenged with WSSV. However, inactivated *E. coli* expressed VP28 dsRNA and chitosan coated purified VP28 dsRNA treatments gave 32% and 63% mortality, respectively, while all control treatments gave 100% mortality after challenge with WSSV. All finding suggested that RNAi showed potential to increase shrimp survival rate against WSSV.

CONCLUSION AND DISCUSSION

Although PCR, which is used to screen post larvae for WSSV, is highly sensitive in WSSV detection, there are practical limitations to its widespread application, including the high cost involved in the setting up laboratory with special equipment and well-trained personnel (Sithigorngul et al., 2000). Furthermore, Lo et al. (1998) have indicated that results positive by the highly sensitive 2-step PCR (nested PCR) are not always associated with pond outbreaks and may have limited value for field prognosis. However, 1-step PCR is strongly associated (Withyachumnarnkul, 1999). Some immunological protocols using polyclonal antibodies to whole virus antigens have also been reported (Nadala et al., 1997) but their efficiency is affected by non-specific and false-positive reactions. Therefore, the use of rVP28 to produce monoclonal and polyclonal antibodies targeting rVP28 for diagnosis was suggested (Anil, Shanker and Mohan, 2002; Chaivisuthangkura et al., 2004; Liu et al., 2002; Makesh et al., 2006; Poulos et al., 2001; Shih et al., 2001; Zhan et al., 1999). In vivo neutralization experiments with neutralizing antibodies have been used for many viruses and have led to passive immunization strategies for WSSV (Kim et al., 2004; Musthaq et al., 2006; Natividad et al., 2007; Robalino et al., 2006; van Hulten et al., 2001b; Wu, Wang and Zhang, 2005).

Recombinant VP28 is wildly used to control WSS although the protection mechanism is unclear and its efficacy varies. One possible mechanism of rVP28 is that it binds to shrimp VP28 binding protein, preventing the binding of WSSV to cells (Xu *et al.*, 2006). Similarly, mixing anti-PmRab7 antibody with WSSV before it was inject to shrimp was found to increase survival rate against WSS (Srituyalucksana *et al.*, 2006) and by using dsRNA to suppress expression of PmRab7 (Ongvarrapone *et al.*, 2008). Another possibility suggested by many studies is that rVP28 stimulates shrimp immunity or acts as a vaccine (Bright Singh *et al.*, 2005; Caipang *et al.*, 2008; Chang *et al.*, 2003; Du *et al.*, 2006; Jha *et al.*, 2006; Jha *et al.*, 2007; Mavichak *et al.*, 2009; Rout *et al.*, 2007; Song *et al.*, 1997; Takahashi *et al.*, 2000; Vaseeharan *et al.*, 2006; Witteveldt *et al.*, 2004a;

Witteveldt *et al.*, 2004b; Witteveldt *et al.*, 2006). Although, the evidence that rVP28 increases the shrimp survival rate against WSSV, the protection ability of rVP28 varies and seems to rely on the amount of proteins received (Caipang *et al.*, 2008; Jha *et al.*, 2006b). However, most traditional rVP28 are not cost-effective because they cannot be stored at room temperature. Therefore, there is a need to improve the "storage" of protein-based vaccine to make it more convenient and effective. The alternative expression methods such as plant-based systems that would address "storage" problems should be pursued in future studies.

DNA vaccine is prepared using expression plasmid containing the protective gene for the antigen. It confers high and long-term protection against WSSV. Moreover, it can be stored at ambient temperature; it is easier than recombinant protein vaccine to be prepared at large scales and orally administrated which is practical for shrimp farming. For these reasons, DNA vaccine seems to be the best answer to control WSSV.

The sequence-specific effects of double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) that result in endogenous RNA degradation are widely conserved and probably present in most invertebrates. In contrast, inducing immune response against virus using non-specific dsRNA was demonstrated in shrimp (Robalino *et al.*, 2004). Therefore, dsRNA can engage both innate immune pathways and an RNAi-like mechanism to stimulate potent antiviral immunity in shrimp. From the previous reported, VP28 dsRNA showed the potential to prevent shrimp from WSSV and could be applied for commercial scale because it could produce in large scale using bacterially expressed dsRNA system (Sarathi *et al.*, 2008a; Sarathi *et al.*, 2008b). Moreover, the oral administration strategy is possible, although its efficacy is lower than IM injection method. Therefore, the delivery method needs to be studied using adjuvant or carrier to improve the efficacy of dsRNA oral administration.

In conclusion, the potential of using VP28 gene to diagnose and control WSSV has been studied recently. However, in order to use VP28 in commercial scale in the shrimp industry, there are several issues that need to be addressed including prolonged storage, improving delivery method, increasing its efficiency, the continues long-term protection and ensuring that it can be produced in large scale. Therefore, in the future studies, these issues and also new strategies to control WSSV should be studied to apply to shrimp commercial farming.

REFERENCES

- Amend, D.F. 1981. Potency testing of fish vaccines. *Development in Biological Standardization* 49:447-454.
- Abdul-Wahid, A. and Faubert, G. 2007. Mucosal delivery of a transmission-blocking DNA vaccine encoding *Giardia lamblia* CWP2 by *Salmonella typhimurium* bactofection vehicle. *Vaccine* 25:8372-8383.
- Anil, T.M. Shankar, K.M. and Mohan, C.V. 2002. Monoclonal antibodies developed for sensitive detection and comparison of white spot syndrome virus isolates in India. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 51:67-75.

- Bright Singh, I.S. Manjusha, M. Pai, S.S. and Philip, R. 2005. *Fenneropenaeus indicus* is protected from white spot disease by oral administration of inactivated white spot syndrome virus. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 66:265-270.
- Caipang, C.M.A. Verjan, N. Ooi, E.L. Kondo, H. Hirono, I. Aoki, T. Kiyono, H. and Yuki Y. 2008. Enhanced survival of shrimp, *Penaeus (Marsupenaeus) japonicus* from white spot syndrome disease after oral administration of recombinant VP28 expressed in *Brevibacillus brevis. Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 25:315-320.
- Chaivisuthangkura, P. Tangkhabuanbutra, J. Longyant, S. Sithigorngul, W. Rukpratanpron, S. and Menasvetab, P. 2004. Monoclonal antibodies against a truncated viral envelope protein (VP28) can detect white spot syndrome virus (WSSV) infections in shrimp. *Science Asia* 30:359-363.
- Chang, C.F. Su, M.S. Chen, H.Y. and Liao, I.C. 2003. Dietary beta-1,3-glucan effectively improves immunity and survival of *Penaeus monodon* challenged with white spot syndrome virus. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 15:297-310.
- Chen, A.Y. Fry, S.R. Forbes Faulkner, J. Daggard, G.E. and Mukkur, T.K. 2006. Comparative immunogenicity of *M. hyopneumoniae* NrdF encoded in different expressionsystems delivered orally via attenuated *S. typhimurium* aroA in mice. *Veterinary Microbiology* 144:252-259.
- Chen, L.L. Leu, J.H. Huang, C.J. Chou, C.M. Chen, S.M. Wang, C.H. Lo, C.F. and Kou, G.H. 2002. Identification of a nucleocapsid protein (VP35) gene of shrimp white spot syndrome virus and characterization of motif important for targeting VP35 to the nuclei of transfected insect cells. *Virology* 293:44-53.
- Du, A.F. and Wang, S.H. 2005. Efficacy of a DNA vaccine delivered in attenuated *Salmonella typhimurium* against *Eimeria tenella* infection in chickens. *International Journal for Parasitology* 35:777-785.
- Du, H. Xu, Z. Wu, X. Li, W. and Dai, W. 2006. Increased resistance to white spot syndrome virus in *Procambarus clarkii* by injection of envelope protein VP28 expressed using recombinant baculovirus. *Aquaculture* 260:39-43.
- Elbashir, S.M. Harborth, J. Weber, K. and Tuschl T. 2002. Analysis of gene function in somatic mammalian cells using small interfering RNAs. *Methods* 26:199-213.
- Flegel, T.W. 1997. Major viral diseases of the black tiger prawn (*Penaeus monodon*) in Thailand. *World Journal of Microbiology & Biotechnology* 13:433-442.
- Jha, R.K. Xu, Z.R. and Pandey A. 2006a. Protection of *Procambarus clarkia* against white spot syndrome virus using recombinant subunit injection vaccine expressed in *Picha pastoris*. *Fisheries Science* 72:1011-1019.
- Jha, R.K. Xu, Z.R. Shen, J. Bai, S.J. Sun, J.Y. and Li, W.F. 2006b. The efficacy of recombinant vaccines against white spot syndrome virus in *Procambarus clarkia*. *Immunology Letters* 105:68-76.
- Jha, R.K. Xu, Z.R. Bai, S.J. Sun, J.Y. Li, W.F. and Shen, J. 2007. Protection of *Procambarus clarkii* against white spot syndrome virus using recombinant oral vaccine expressed in *Pichia pastoris. Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 224:295-307.
- Kim, D.K. Jang, I.K. Seo, H.C. Shim, S.O. Yang, S.Y. Kim J.W. 2004. Shrimp protected from WSSV disease by treatment with egg yolk antibodies (IgY) against a truncated fusion protein derived from WSSV. *Aquaculture* 237:21-30.

- Li, L. Fang, W. Li, J. Huang, Y, and Yu, L. 2006. Oral DNA vaccination with the polyprotein gene of infectious bursal disease virus (IBDV) delivered by attenuated *Salmonella* elicits protective immune response in chickens. *Vaccine* 24:5919-5927.
- Liu, W. Wang, Y.T. Tian, D.S. Yin, Z.C. and Kwang, J. 2002. Detection of white spot syndrome virus (WSSV) of shrimp by means of monoclonal antibodies (MAbs) specific to an envelope protein (28kDa). *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 49: 11-18.
- Lo, C.F. Chang, Y.S. Cheng, C.T. and Kou, G.H. 1998. Monitoring cultured shrimp for white spot syndrome virus (WSSV) infection during their growth period by polymerase chain reaction, pp. 281-286. *In* Flegel, T.W. (ed.). Advances in shrimp biotechnology. National Center for Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology. Bangkok.
- Lo, C.F. Ho, C.H, Peng, S.E. Chen, C.H. Hsu, H.C. Chiu, Y.L. Chang, C.F. Liu, K.F. Su, M.S. Wang, C.H. and Kou, G.H. 1996. White spot syndrome baculovirus (WSBV) detected in cultured and captured shrimp, crabs and other arthropods. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 27:215-225.
- Lo, C.F. Hsu, H.C. Tsai, M.F. Ho, C.H. Peng, S.E. Kou, G.H. and Lightner, D.V. 1999. Specific DNA fragment analysis of different geographical clinical samples of shrimp white spot syndrome virus. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 35:175-185.
- Lotz, J.M. 1997. Viruses, biosecurity and specific pathogen free stocks in shrimp aquaculture. *World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology* 13:405-413.
- Makesh, M. Koteeswaran, A. Chandran, N.D.J. Manohar, B.M. and Ramasamy, V. 2006. Development of monoclonal antibodies against VP28 of WSSV and its application to detect WSSV using immunocomb. *Aquaculture* 261:64-71.
- Mavichak, R. Kondo, H. Hirono, I. Aoki, T. Kiyono, H. and Yuki, Y. 2009. Protection of pacific white shrimp, *Litopenaeus vannamei* against white spot virus following administration of N-terminus truncated recombinant VP28 protein expressed in Grampositive bacteria, *Brevibacillus choshinensis*. *Aquaculture Science* 57:83-90.
- Mavichak, R. Takano, T. Kondo, H. Hirono, I. Wada, S. Hatai, K. Inagawa, H. Takahashi, Y. Yoshimura, T. Kiyono, H. Yuki, Y. and Aoki, T. 2010. The effect of liposomecoated recombinant protein VP28 against white spot syndrome virus in kuruma shrimp, *Marsupenaeis japonicus. Journal of Fish Diseases* 33:69-74.
- Musthaq, S. Yoganandhan, K. Sudhakaran, R. Kumar, S. and Hameed, A.S. 2006. Neutralization of white spot syndrome virus of shrimp by antiserum raised against recombinant VP28. *Aquaculture* 253:98-104.
- Nadala, E.C.B. and Loh, P.C. 1998. A comparative study of three different isolates of white spot virus. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 33: 231-234.
- Nadala, E.C.B. Lourdes, M.T. Cao, S.R. and Loh, P.C.Jr. 1997. Detection of yellowhead virus and Chinese baculovirus in penaeid shrimp by western blot technique. *Journal of Virological Methods* 69:39-44.
- Namikoshi, A. Wu, J.L. Yamashita, T. Nishizawa, T. Nishioka, T. Arimoto M. and Muroka K. 2004. Vaccination trials with *Penaeus japonicus* to induce resistance to white spot syndrome virus. *Aquaculture* 229:25-35.
- Natividad, K.D.T. Higio, M. Tanaka, M. Nomura, N. and Matsumura M. 2007. White spot syndrome virus (WSSV) inactivation in *Penaeus japonicas* using purified monoclonal antibody targeting viral envelope protein. *Aquaculture* 269:54-62.

- Ning, J.F. Zhu, W. Xu, J.P. Zheng, C.Y. and Meng, X.L. 2009. Oral delivery of DNA vaccine encoding VP28 against white spot syndrome virus in crayfish by attenuated *Salmonella typhimurium*. *Vaccine* in press.
- Ongvarrasopone, C. Chanasakulniyom, M. Sritunyalucksana, K. and Panyim, S. 2008. Suppression of PmRap7 by dsRNA inhibits WSSV or YHV infection in shrimp. *Marine Biotechnology* 10:374-381.
- Rajesh Kumar, S. Ishaq Ahamed, V.P. Sarathi, M. Nazeer Basha, A. and Sahul Hameed, A.S. 2008. Immunological responses of *Penaeus monodon* to DNA vaccine and its efficacy to protect shrimp against white spot syndrome virus (WSSV). *Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 24:467-478.
- Poulos, B.T. Pantoja, C.R. Bradley-Dunlop, D. Aguilar, J. and Lightner, D.V. 2001. Development and application of monoclonal antibodies for the detection of white spot syndrome virus of penaeid shrimp. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 47:13-23.
- Robalino, J. Browdy, C.L. Prior, S. Metz, A. Parnell, P. Gross, P. and Warr, G. 2004. Induction of antiviral immunity by double-stranded RNA in a marine invertebrate. *Journal of Virology* 78:10442-10448.
- Robalino, J. Payne, C. Parnell, P. Shepard, E. Grimes, A. C. Metz, A. Prior, S. Witteveldt, J. Vlak, J. M. Gross, P. S. Warr, G and Browdy, C. L. 2006. Inactivation of white spot syndrome virus (WSSV) by normal rabbit serum: Implication for the role of envelope protein VP28 in WSSV infection of shrimp. *Virus Research* 118:55-61.
- Rout, N. Kumar, S. Jaganmohan, S. and Murugan, V. 2007. DNA vaccines encoding viral envelope proteins confer protective immunity against WSSV in black tiger shrimp. *Vaccine* 25:2778-2786.
- Sarathi, M. Simon, M.C. Ishaq Ahmed, V.P. Rajesh Kumar, and S. Sahul Hameed, A.S. 2008a. Silencing VP28 gene of white spot syndrome virus of shrimp by bacterially expressed dsRNA. *Marine Biotechnology* 10:198-206.
- Sarathi, M. Simon, M.C. Venkatesan, C. and Sahul Hameed, A.S. 2008b. Oral administration of bacterially expressed VP28dsRNA to protect *Penaeus monodon* from White spot syndrome virus. *Marine Biotechnology* 10:242-249.
- Shih, H.H. Wang, C.F. Tan, L.F. and Chen, S.N. 2001. Characterization and application of monoclonal antibodies against white spot syndrome virus. *Journal of Fish Diseases* 24:143-150.
- Sithigorngul, P. Chauychuwong, P. Sithigorngul, W. Longyanth, S. Chaivisuthangkura, P. and Menasveta, P. 2000. Development of monoclonal antibody specific to yellow head virus (YHV) from *Penaeus monodon*. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 42:27-34.
- Song, Y.L. Liu, J.J. Chan, L.C. and Sung, H.H. 1997. Glucan-induced disease resistance in tiger shrimp (*Penaeus monodon*). *Developments in Biological Standardization*. 90:413-421.
- Sritunyalucksana, K. Wannapapho, W. Lo, C. F. and Flegel, T.W. 2006. PmRab7 is a VP28binding protein involved in white spot syndrome virus infection in shrimp. *Journal of Virology* 80:10734-10742.

- Takahashi, Y. Kondo, M. Itami, T. Honda, T. Inagawa, H. Nishizawa, T. Soma, G.I. and Yokomizo, Y. 2000. Enhancement of disease resistance against penaeid acute viraemia and induction of virus-inactivating activity in haemolymph of kuruma shrimp, *Penaeus japonicus*, by oral administration of *Pantoea agglomerans* lipopolysaccharide (LPS). *Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 10:555-558.
- Tang, X. Wu, J. Sivaraman, J. and Hew, C. L. 2007. Crystal structures of major envelope proteins VP26 and VP28 from white spot syndrome virus shed light on their evolutionary relationship. *Journal of Virology* 81:6709-6717.
- van Drunen, L.H.S. Gerdts, V. Loehr, B.I. Pontarollo, R. Rankin, R. Uwiera R. and Babiuk, L.A. 2000. Recent advances in the use of DNA vaccines for the treatment of diseases of farmed animals. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews* 43:13-28.
- van Hulten, M.C. Witteveldt, J. Peters, S. Kloosterboer, N. Tarchini, R. Fiers, M. Sandbrink, H. Lankhorst, R.K. and Vlak, J.M. 2001a. The white spot syndrome virus DNA genome sequence. *Virology* 286:7-22.
- van Hulten, M.C. Witteveldt, J. Snippe, M. and Vlak, J.M. 2001b. White spot syndrome virus envelope protein VP28 is involved in the systemic infection of shrimp. *Virology* 285:228-233.
- van Hulten, M.C.W., Westenberg M., Goodall S.D. and Vlak J.M. 2000 Identification of two major viron protein genes of white spot syndrome virus of shrimp. *Virology* 266:227-236.
- Vaseeharan, B. Prem Anand, T. Murugan, T. and Chen, J.C. 2006. Shrimp vaccination trials with the VP292 protein of white spot syndrome virus. *Letters in Applied Microbiology* 43:137-142.
- Wang, Q. Nunan, L.M. and Lightner D.V. 2000. Identification of genomic variations among geographic isolates of white spot syndrome virus using restriction analysis and Southern blot hybridisation. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 43:175-181.
- Wang, Y.C. Lo, C.F. Chang, P.S. and Kou, G.H. 1998. Experimental infection of white spot baculovirus in some cultured and wild decapods in Taiwan. *Aquaculture* 164:221-231.
- Westenberg, W. Heinhuis, B. Zuidema, D. and Vlak, J.M. 2005. siRNA injection induces sequence-independent protection in *Penaeus monodon* against white spot syndrome virus. *Virus Research* 114:133-139.
- Withyachumnarnkul, B. 1999. Results from black tiger shrimp *Penaeus monodon* culture ponds stocked with postlarvae PCR-positive or –negative for white-spot syndrome virus (WSSV). *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 39:21-27.
- Witteveldt, J. Cifuentes, C. C. Vlak, J. M. and van Hulten, M. C. 2004a. Protection of *Penaeus monodon* against white spot syndrome virus by oral vaccination. *Journal of Virology* 78:2057-2061.
- Witteveldt, J. Vlak, J. M. and van Hulten, M. C. 2004b. Protection of *Penaeus monodon* against white spot syndrome virus using a WSSV subunit vaccine. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 16: 571-579.
- Witteveldt, J. Vlak, J.M. and van Hulten, M.C. 2006. Increased tolerance of *Litopenaeus vannamei* to white spot syndrome virus (WSSV) infection after oral application of the viral envelope protein VP28. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 70:167-170.

- Wu, W. Wang, L. and Zhang, X. 2005. Identification of white spot syndrome virus (WSSV) envelope proteins involved in shrimp infection. *Virology* 332:578-583.
- Xu, J. Han, F. and Zhang, X. 2007. Silencing shrimp white spot syndrome virus (WSSV) genes by siRNA. *Antiviral Research* 73:126-131.
- Xu, Z. Du, H. Xu, Y. Sun, J. and Shen, J. 2006. Crayfish *Procambarus clarkii* protected against white spot syndrome virus by oral administration of viral proteins expressed in silkworms. *Aquaculture* 253:179-183.
- Yan, D.C. Dong, S.L. Huang, J. and Zhang, J.S. 2007. White spot syndrome virus (WSSV) transmission from rotifer inoculum to crayfish. *Journal of Invertebrate Pathology* 94:144-148.
- Yang, F. He, J. Lin, X. Li, Q. Pan, D. Zhang, X. and Xu, X. 2001. Complete genome sequence of the shrimp white spot bacilliform virus. *Journal of Virology* 75:11811-11820.
- Yi, G. Wang, Z. Qi, Y. Yao, L. Qian, J. and Hu, L. 2004. VP28 of shrimp white spot syndrome virus is involved in the attachment and penetration into shrimp cells. *Biochemistry and Molecular Biology* 37: 726-734.
- Zhan, W.B. Wang, Y.H. Fryer, J.L. Okubo, K. Fukuda, H. Yu, K.K. and Meng, Q.X. 1999. Production of monoclonal antibodies (MAbs) against white spot syndrome virus (WSSV). *Journal of Aquatic Animal Health* 11: 17-22.

Prophenoloxidase has a role in innate immunity in penaeid shrimp

FERNAND F. FAGUTAO, HIDEHIRO KONDO, TAKASHI AOKI and IKUO HIRONO

Laboratory of Genome Science, Tokyo University of Marine Science and Technology Konan 4-5-7, Minato, Tokyo Japan 108-8477

ABSTRACT

Melanization, which is brought about by the activation of the prophenoloxidase (proPO) cascade, plays an essential role in the invertebrate immune response. It is triggered by minute amounts of microbial cell wall components leading to the activation of the enzyme proPO, which converts phenols into quinones and eventually resulting to the formation of melanin. Recent studies however, revealed that the importance of proPO in invertebrate immune response, in particular towards microbial pathogens, seems to be varied. Here, we discuss the function of proPO in penaeid shrimp, a commercially important aquaculture species, and its importance to shrimp survival.

Keywords: shrimp, prophenoloxidase (proPO), melanization

Fagutao, F.F., Kondo, H., Aoki, T. and Hirono, I. 2011. Prophenoloxidase has a role in innate immunity in penaeid shrimp, pp. 171-176. *In* Bondad-Reantaso, M.G., Jones, J.B., Corsin, F. and Aoki, T. (eds.). Diseases in Asian Aquaculture VII. Fish Health Section, Asian Fisheries Society, Selangor, Malaysia. 385 pp.

Corresponding author: Ikuo Hirono: hirono@kaiyodai.ac.jp

INTRODUCTION

A major and growing problem facing shrimp aquaculture is disease, which is largely due to the intensification of shrimp farming systems in response to the surging demand. Diseases caused by pathogenic organisms are responsible for heavy production losses in shrimp farms worldwide (Bondad-Reantaso *et al.*, 2005). Most notable examples are *Vibrio* species and bacilliform viruses, such as the White Spot Syndrome Virus (WSSV), which were shown to cause mass mortalities within days after infection and can rapidly spread resulting in low survival rates (Lightner, 1996; Saulnier *et al.*, 2000). There is, therefore, a need for a better understanding of the shrimp immune system in order to develop measures to lessen the effects of these diseases and hence to ensure the long term viability of the shrimp industry.

Although shrimp are devoid of an adaptive immune system, they possess an innate immune system that effectively protects them from harmful microorganisms (Lee and Söderhäll, 2002). This includes a rigid exoskeleton, the elimination of microbes through encapsulation, nodule formation or phagocytosis, release of antimicrobial peptides, clot formation, and melanization through the activation of the prophenoloxidase (proPO) cascade. The proPO cascade constitutes a major component of the shrimp humoral response and is triggered by very low amounts of bacterial cell wall components such as peptidoglycans, lipopolysaccharides and β -glucans (Hernández-López *et al.*, 1996; Söderhäll and Cerenius, 1998). Here, we discuss the role of proPO in the shrimp immune response and its importance to the survival of penaeid shrimp.

ProPO activation

The proPO cascade in shrimp is set off in a stepwise process with the recognition of bacterial cell wall components by pattern recognition proteins. This process in turn, initiates the activation of a serine protease cascade that leads to the conversion of the proPO-activating enzyme (PPAE) to an active proteinase that converts the inactive enzyme precursor, proPO, into phenoloxidase (PO). PO, a copper containing oxidase, eventually catalyzes the oxidation of tyrosine to produce toxic quinone substances and other short-lived reaction intermediates that lead to the formation of melanin. It has been shown that melanin binds to the surface of bacteria and increase the adhesion of haemocytes to bacteria, thus accelerating their removal by nodule formation (Cerenius *et al.*, 2008; da Silva, 2002). In shrimp, proPO has been shown to be localized in the haemocytes (Ai *et al.*, 2009; Lai *et al.*, 2005). In the last decade, many studies have investigated the various aspects of proPO in different shrimp species (Table 1).

ProPO function in shrimp

In invertebrates, the importance of proPO differs, particularly on their survival. In fruit flies, *Drosophila melanogaster*, proPO activation increases the effectiveness of other immune reactions (Tang *et al.*, 2006) and mutant strains that are incapable of melanization tend to be more susceptible to infections (Braun *et al.*, 1998; Lemaitre *et al.*, 1995). In contrast, a separate study, using the same species, showed that proPO activation is not required against microbial infection (Leclerc *et al.*, 2006). On the other hand in mosquitoes, proPO

and melanization is altogether unimportant and is not required for their survival against some bacteria and microbes (Michel *et al.*, 2006; Schnitger *et al.*, 2007). In crayfish, a close relative of shrimp, proPO was reported to be essential for defense against *Aeromonas hydrophila* infections (Liu *et al.*, 2007).

Species	Study	Author/s (Year)
Marsupenaeus japonicus	ProPO cloning, characterization	(Adachi et al., 1999)
	Gene silencing	(Fagutao et al., 2009)
Penaeus monodon	Cloning and gene silencing Cloning	(Amparyup <i>et al.</i> , 2009) (Sritunyalucksana <i>et al.</i> , 1999)
Penaeus semisculcatus	Cloning and sequencing	unpublished
Penaeus vannamei	ProPO cloning, characterization	(Lai et al., 2005)
	Effect of temperature on proPO Tissue distribution of proPO transcript	(Pan <i>et al.</i> , 2008)
		(Wang et al., 2006)
	ProPO characterization after Vibrio alginolyticus infection	(Yeh <i>et al.</i> , 2009)
	Effect of lipopolysaccharides on proPO expression	(Okumura, 2007)
		(011411414, 2007)
Macrobrachium rosenbergii	Cloning, characterization	(Liu et al., 2006)
	Cloning	(Lu et al, 2006)
Penaeus californiensis	Activation of the proPO cascade	(Hernández-López et al., 1996)
	Cloning Effect of Calcium on proPO	(Gollas-Galvan <i>et al.</i> , 1999) (Gollas-Galván <i>et al.</i> , 1997)
Fenneropenaeus chinensis	ProPO cloning, characterization	(Gao <i>et al.</i> , 2009)

Table 1

Prophenoloxidase (proPO) studies in shrimp

In shrimp, proPO was found to be required for defense against microbial pathogens. In Pacific white shrimp, *Litopenaeus vannamei*, proPO was shown to be involved in acutephase immune defense against *Vibrio alginolyticus* and was also found to be regulated by ecdysone, a hormone that promotes growth and controls molting, which suggests that it may participate in other physiological processes (Yeh *et al.*, 2009). Meanwhile, the expression of two different forms of proPO in *L. vannamei* was found to be inhibited by WSSV infection (Ai *et al.*, 2008; Ai *et al.*, 2009). In Chinese shrimp, *Fenneropenaeus chinensis*, proPO expression increased after challenge with *V. anguillarum* (Gao *et al.*, 2009). In black tiger shrimp, *Penaeus monodon*, gene silencing of proPO and its activating enzyme PPAE, resulted in a substantial reduction in total PO activity and increased susceptibility to *V. harveyi* infections (Amparyup *et al.*, 2009; Charoensapsri *et al.*, 2009). Gene silencing of proPO in kuruma shrimp, *Marsupenaeus japonicus*, resulted in increased bacterial counts in the haemolymph and increased mortality even in the absence of bacterial challenge (Fagutao *et al.*, 2009). ProPO-depleted shrimp were also found to have lower haemocyte counts than control samples and to have significantly down-regulated expressions of antimicrobial peptides such as lysozyme, crustin and penaedin (Fagutao *et al.*, 2009).

It is therefore apparent that, unlike flies and mosquitoes, proPO in shrimp plays an essential role in the innate immune response particularly against microbial pathogens and is important for shrimp survival. However, it is unclear whether proPO is involved in other physiological processes. Studies on how to increase or stimulate proPO expression in shrimp for application to actual farm conditions may help to improve the chances of survival during disease outbreaks.

REFERENCES

- Adachi, K., Hirata, T., Nagai, K., Fujisawa, S., Kinoshita, M. and Sakaguchi, M. 1999. Purification and characterization of prophenoloxidase from kuruma prawn *Penaeus japonicus*. *Fisheries Science* 65: 919-925.
- Ai, H.S., Huang, Y.C., Li, S.D., Weng, S.P., Yu, X.Q. and He, J.G. 2008. Characterization of a prophenoloxidase from hemocytes of the shrimp *Litopenaeus vannamei* that is down-regulated by white spot syndrome virus. *Fish* and *Shellfish Immunology* 25: 28-39.
- Ai, H.S., Liao, J.X., Huang, X.D., Yin, Z.X., Weng, S.P., Zhao, Z.Y., Li, S.D., Yu, X.Q. and He, J.G. 2009. A novel prophenoloxidase 2 exists in shrimp hemocytes. *Developmental* and Comparative Immunology 33: 59-68.
- Amparyup, P., Charoensapsri, W. and Tassanakajon, A. 2009. Two prophenoloxidases are important for the survival of *Vibrio harveyi* challenged shrimp *Penaeus monodon*. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology* 33: 247-56.
- Bondad-Reantaso, M.G., Subasinghe, R.P., Arthur, J.R., Ogawa, K., Chinabut, S., Adlard, R., Tan, Z. and Shariff, M. 2005. Disease and health management in Asian aquaculture. *Veterinary Parasitology* 132: 249-272.
- Braun, A., Hoffmann, J.A. and Meister, M. 1998. Analysis of the Drosophila host defense in domino mutant larvae, which are devoid of hemocytes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 95: 14337-42.
- Cerenius, L., Lee, B.L. and Soderhall, K. 2008. The proPO-system: pros and cons for its role in invertebrate immunity. *Trends in Immunology* 29: 263-71.

- Charoensapsri, W., Amparyup, P., Hirono, I., Aoki, T. and Tassanakajon, A. 2009. Gene silencing of a prophenoloxidase activating enzyme in the shrimp, *Penaeus monodon*, increases susceptibility to *Vibrio harveyi* infection. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology* 33: 811-20.
- Da Silva, C.C.A. 2002. Activation of prophenoloxidase and removal of *Bacillus subtilis* from the hemolymph of *Acheta domesticus* L. Orthoptera: Gryllidae. *Neotropical Entomology* 31: 487-491.
- Fagutao, F.F., Koyama, T., Kaizu, A., Saito-Taki, T., Kondo, H., Aoki, T. and Hirono, I. 2009. Increased bacterial load in shrimp hemolymph in the absence of prophenoloxidase. *FEBS Journal* 276: 5298-306.
- Gao, H., Li, F., Dong, B., Zhang, Q. and Xiang, J. 2009. Molecular cloning and characterisation of prophenoloxidase ProPO cDNA from *Fenneropenaeus chinensis* and its transcription injected by *Vibrio anguillarum*. *Molecular Biology Reports* 36: 1159-66.
- Gollas-Galvan, T., Hernandez-Lopez, J. and Vargas-Albores, F. 1999. Prophenoloxidase from brown shrimp *Penaeus californiensis* hemocytes. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part B: Biochemistry and Molecular Biology* 122: 77-82.
- Gollas-Galván, T., Hernández-López, J. and Vargas-Albores, F. 1997. effect of calcium on the prophenoloxidase system activation of the brown shrimp *Penaeus californiensis*, Holmes. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Physiology* 117: 419-425.
- Hernández-López, J., Gollas-Galván, T. and Vargas-Albores, F. 1996. Activation of the prophenoloxidase system of the brown shrimp *Penaeus californiensis* Holmes. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology* 113C: 61-66.
- Lai, C.Y., Cheng, W. and Kuo, C.M. 2005. Molecular cloning and characterisation of prophenoloxidase from haemocytes of the white shrimp, *Litopenaeus vannamei*. *Fish* and *Shellfish Immunology* 18: 417-30.
- Leclerc, V., Pelte, N., El Chamy, L., Martinelli, C., Ligoxygakis, P., Hoffmann, J.A. and Reichhart, J.M. 2006. Prophenoloxidase activation is not required for survival to microbial infections in Drosophila. *EMBO Reports* 7: 231-5.
- Lee, S. and Söderhäll, K. 2002. Early events in crustacean innate immunity. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 12: 421-437.
- Lemaitre, B., Kromer-Metzger, E., Michaut, L., Nicolas, E., Meister, M., Georgel, P., Reichhart, J.M. and Hoffmann, J.A. 1995. A recessive mutation, immune deficiency imd, defines two distinct control pathways in the Drosophila host defense. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 92: 9465-9.
- Lightner, D.V. 1996. A handbook of pathology and diagnostic procedures for diseases of penaeid shrimp. *World Aquaculture Society, Baton Rouge, Louisiana, USA*.
- Liu, C.H., Tseng, D.Y., Lai, C.Y., Cheng, W. and Kuo, C.M. 2006. Molecular cloning and characterisation of prophenoloxidase cDNA from haemocytes of the giant freshwater prawn, *Macrobrachium rosenbergii*, and its transcription in relation with the moult stage. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 21: 60-9.
- Liu, H., Jiravanichpaisal, P., Cerenius, L., Lee, B.L., Soderhall, I. and Soderhall, K. 2007. Phenoloxidase is an important component of the defense against *Aeromonas hydrophila* Infection in a crustacean, *Pacifastacus leniusculus*. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 282: 33593-8.

- Lu, K.Y., Huang, Y.T., Lee, H.H. and Sung, H.H. 2006. Cloning the prophenoloxidase cDNA and monitoring the expression of proPO mRNA in prawns *Macrobrachium rosenbergii* stimulated in vivo by CpG oligodeoxynucleotides. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 20: 274-84.
- Michel, K., Suwanchaichinda, C., Morlais, I., Lambrechts, L., Cohuet, A., Awono-Ambene, P.H., Simard, F., Fontenille, D., Kanost, M.R. and Kafatos, F.C. 2006. Increased melanizing activity in *Anopheles gambiae* does not affect development of *Plasmodium falciparum*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 103: 16858-63.
- Okumura, T. 2007. Effects of lipopolysaccharide on gene expression of antimicrobial peptides penaeidins and crustin, serine proteinase and prophenoloxidase in haemocytes of the Pacific white shrimp, *Litopenaeus vannamei*. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 22: 68-76.
- Pan, L.Q., Hu, F.W., Jing, F.T. and Liu, H.J. 2008. The effect of different acclimation temperatures on the prophenoloxidase system and other defence parameters in *Litopenaeus vannamei*. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 25: 137-42.
- Saulnier, D., Haffner, P., Goarant, C., Levy, P. and Ansquer, D. 2000. Experimental infection models for shrimp vibriosis studies: a review. *Aquaculture*, 191: 133-144
- Schnitger, A.K., Kafatos, F.C. and Osta, M.A. 2007. The melanization reaction is not required for survival of *Anopheles gambiae* mosquitoes after bacterial infections. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 282: 21884-8.
- Söderhäll, K. and Cerenius, L. 1998. Role of the prophenoloxidase-activating system in invertebrate immunity. *Current Opinion in Immunology* 10: 23-28.
- Sritunyalucksana, K., Cerenius, L. and Soderhall, K. 1999. Molecular cloning and characterization of prophenoloxidase in the black tiger shrimp, *Penaeus monodon*. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology* 23: 179-86.
- Tang, H., Kambris, Z., Lemaitre, B. and Hashimoto, C. 2006. Two proteases defining a melanization cascade in the immune system of *Drosophila*. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 281: 28097-104.
- Wang, Y.C., Chang, P.S. and Chen, H.Y. 2006. Tissue distribution of prophenoloxidase transcript in the Pacific white shrimp *Litopenaeus vannamei*. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 20: 414-8.
- Yeh, M.S., Lai, C.Y., Liu, C.H., Kuo, C.M. and Cheng, W. 2009. A second proPO present in white shrimp *Litopenaeus vannamei* and expression of the proPOs during a *Vibrio alginolyticus* injection, molt stage, and oral sodium alginate ingestion. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 26: 49-55.

Hemocyte marker proteins and regulation of the proPO system in a crustacean, *Pacifastacus leniusculus*

¹KENNETH SÖDERHÄLL, ¹CHENGLIN WU, ¹XIONGHUI LIN, ²PIKUL JIRAVANICHPAISAL and ¹IRENE SÖDERHÄLL

¹Department of Comparative Physiology, Uppsala University, Sweden ²Molecular Aquatic Biology and Genetic Laboratory National Center for Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology National Science and Technology Development Agency 113 Paholyothin, Thailand Science Park, Thailand

ABSTRACT

In crustaceans and other invertebrates, hemocytes are essential in immunity. The development of new hemocytes is important in the defence mechanisms in invertebrates. In crustaceans, new hemocytes which are synthesized in a specific organ called the hematopoietic tissue (Hpt). The hemocytes are produced and partly differentiated in the Hpt before they are released into the hemolymph and become freely circulating peripheral hemocytes. The final step of differentiation to mature hemocytes containing prophenoloxidase (proPO) takes place in the hemolymph.

This paper presents the studies to identify proteins associated with development of different hemocyte types and a negative regulator of phenoloxidase-induced melanization in the freshwater crayfish *Pacifastacus leniusculus*.

To obtain tools for more detailed investigations about the connection between semigranular cells, granular cells and precursor cells in Hpt of freshwater crayfish, *Pacifastacus leniusculus* and possibly also in other crustaceans, we have used two-dimensional gel electrophoresis (2-DE) coupled with matrix-assisted laser desorption/ ionization-time of flight (MALDI-TOF) mass spectrometry (MS) to identify specific proteins expressed in different hemocyte types differentially. In this study we report the specific expression of some genes in different hemocyte lineages and their transcript levels in Hpt cells in normal or previously laminarin or LPS treated animals analyzed by RT-PCR. Moreover, RNA inference experiments were also included to study the differentiation of Hpt cells.

Corresponding author: Kenneth.Soderhall, Kenneth.Soderhall@ebc.uu.se

Söderhäll, K., Wu, C., Lin, X., Jiravanichpaisal, P. and Söderhäll, I. 2011. Hemocyte marker proteins and regulation of the proPO system in a crustacean *Pacifastacus leniusculus*, pp. 177-194. *In* Bondad-Reantaso, M.G., Jones, J.B., Corsin, F. and Aoki, T. (eds.). Diseases in Asian Aquaculture VII. Fish Health Section, Asian Fisheries Society, Selangor, Malaysia, 385 pp.

Melanin formation is essential for host defence in crustaceans and insects, and this process needs to be tightly regulated since unwanted production of quinone intermediates or melanization is also dangerous to the animal when they are not synthesized appropriately. We also report the presence in the crayfish *Pacifastacus leniusculus* of a plasma protein with a distinctly similar function as mealworm *Tenebrio molitor* melanization inhibiting protein (MIP). Crayfish MIP as well as *Tenebrio* MIP interfere with the melanization reaction from quinine compounds to melanin, but do not affect phenoloxidase activity by themselves instead. Interestingly, this protein has a completely different structure from *Tenebrio* MIP and is similar to vertebrate ficolin and horseshoe crab Tachylectin 5. Moreover, an Asprich region similar to that found in ficolins that is likely to be involved in Ca²⁺-binding is present in crayfish MIP. However, crayfish MIP did not show any hemagglutinating activity which is common for the vertebrate ficolins. The crayfish MIP is very efficient in inhibiting activation of the proPO-system and thus functions as an important regulatory molecule to prevent unwanted proPO activation in the crayfish.

Key words: Pacifastacus leniusculus, hemocyte marker protein, proPO system

INTRODUCTION

Background

Crustacean aquaculture production is an important income for many developing or lowincome countries (Rosenberry, 1998). The increase in aquaculture also has many negative effects, for instance, it causes environmental destruction and the farming often faces severe disease problems. To optimize aquaculture condition and avoid disease outbreaks, the development of tools for rapid recognition and control of pathogens are imminently needed (Bachère, 2000).

Crayfish are immunologically related to other more economically important crustaceans, so insight into crayfish immunity and their defence system is valuable for aquaculture development and good for optimizing farming conditions.

Vertebrate immunity is composed of innate and adaptive response, but invertebrates, including arthropods, only rely on very sensitive innate immune system since they lack true antibodies and adaptive immunity. The innate immune system seems to be enough to protect them against infections or intruders, and it includes cellular and humoral mechanisms, both of which are activated upon immune challenge. The cellular response mediated by hemocytes in hemolymph involves nodule formation, phagocytosis, encapsularion of pathogens and coagulation (Ratcliff *et al.*, 1985, Johansson and Söderhäll, 1989; Theopold *et al.*, 2002;). Moreover, hemocytes are also involved in another cellular response, melanization, which is activated immediately upon injury/infection and normally is localized to the place of injury or the surfaces of invading microorganisms, so that toxic phenol intermediates or melanin

are released and the intruders are immobilized and killed Söderhäll and Cerenius, 1998). Humoral defense is characterized by synthesis and secretion of immune components after challenge, for example: antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) can accumulate in hemolymph to defend against invading microorganisms (Lemaitre and Hoffmann, 2007). But it is important to keep in mind that cellular and humoral responses are connected to each other, and cannot be separated completely in the immune response.

There are various strategies for the invertebrates to combat different invading pathogens, but most of them are evolutionarily conserved such as: activation of phagocytic cells, production of AMPs and generation of toxic or reactive oxygen species (ROS).

In decades, progress has been made in different aspects of crustacean immune system, especially the understanding at molecular and biochemical level of some highly conserved immune response pathways (eg. Melanization, production of AMPs and clotting) (Bachère *et al.*, 2004; Cerenius and Söderhäll 2004, Sritunyalucksana and Söderhäll, 2000). However, the research of these animals is being hampered by a lack of access to knowledge of genetic data and of well-developed cell lines. Therefore, the hematopoietic tissue (Hpt) cell cultures technique developed in the freshwater crayfish *Pacifastacus leniusculus*, provide a useful tool for gene functional studies in crustaceans (Söderhäll *et al.*, 2005), since an efficient method for RNA silencing is at hand for these cells (Liu and Söderhäll, 2007).

Hematopoiesis

Hematopoiesis is the formation and development of new hemocytes and/or blood cells. This is the process whereby undifferentiated hematopoietic stem cells develop into mature cells involving proliferation, commitment and differentiation (Barreda and Belosevic 2001; Medvinsky and Dzierzak 1999). In crustaceans' three morphologically different classes of hemocytes, hyaline, semigranular cells (SGCs), and granular cells (GCs) are observed within the hemolymph, and all of them are important in immobilizing or destroying invasive pathogens (Johansson et al., 2000; Cerenius et al., 2008). Hyaline and SGCs are involved in phagocytosis (Söderhäll, 1986), whereas the GCs are responsible for storage and release of the proPO system and also antimicrobial peptides (Sricharoen et al., 2005). SGCs and GCs can be cytotoxic and lyse foreign eukaryotic cells (Söderhäll, 1985). In crustaceans, the number of free hemocytes can vary a lot in different individuals and also vary in response to environmental stress, hypoxia, endocrine activity during the moulting cycle and infection (Jiravanichpaisal et al., 2006; Johansson et al., 2000; Le Moullac et al., 1998; Söderhäll et al., 2003). In addition, the hemocytes number drops dramatically or nearly disappears when the crayfish is unhealthy, dying or infected with virus such as white spot syndrome virus (WSSV) (personal observation). Generally, hemocytes do not divide in the circulatory system of most crustaceans (Söderhäll and Cerenius, 1992; Jiravanichpaisal et al., 2006). Thus, new hemocytes need to be continuously and proportionally produced from a separate organ called as hematopoietic tissue. However, there are not many studies published elucidating the mechanisms by which blood cells are released into the circulation in crustaceans. In the crayfish P. leniusculus, mature hemocytes come from the sheet-like Hpt which is surrounded by connective tissue and situated on dorsal sides of the stomach (Chaga et al., 1995).

In *P. leniusculus* the Hpt cells were studied by light and electron microscopy and the cells were subdivided into five morphologically different cell types that might correspond to different developmental stages of SGCs and GCs (Chaga *et al.*, 1995; Johansson *et al.*, 2000). The connection between the circulating hemocytes and the hemocyte precursors in the Hpt is still unclear, and the proposed hemocyte lineages have mainly been based on morphological characters. For instance, morphological studies of the hematopoietic tissue have been carried out in blue crab *Carcinus sapidus* (Johnson 1987), shrimp *Sicyonia ingentis* (Hose *et al.*, 1992), the lobster *Homarus americanus* (Martin *et al.*, 1993), and the black tiger shrimp *P. monodon* (van de Braak *et al.*, 2002), but these studies did not reveal any details about maturation and release of the hemocyte in these crustaceans. Data also did not show that the new synthesized hemocytes were released directly from the Hpt or similar tissue, or stored somewhere and released upon activation when they were needed.

Hematopoiesis is the lifelong production of blood cells and is tightly regulated by the various transcription factors that promote or limit cell diversification (Orkin, 1998; Orkin 2000; Sieweke and Graf, 1998). Several hematopoietic transcription factors have been characterized and those are conserved across taxonomic groups including both protostomian and deuterostomian organisms, ranging from flies to humans (Fossett et al., 2001b). The crystal cells and the plasmatocytes are two primary blood cell lineages in D. melanogaster embryo, and they develop from a common hemocyte progenitor expressing GATA protein Serpent (Srp) (Lebestky et al., 2000). The other genes encoding transcriptions factors are: glial cell missing (Gcm), U-shaped (Ush), Lozenge (Lz) also have been identified to be involved in the hematopoietic lineage commitment in D. melanogaster. Gcm promotes plasmatocyte development; Ush limits crystal cell development, while Lz promotes crystal cell development; Srp acts upstream of the other factors and is required for late plasmatocyte differentiation. (Fossett and Schulz, 2001a; Lebestky et al., 2000; Rehorn et al., 1996). In P. leniusculus, also some transcription factor proteins have been found. The Hpt cells were shown to be actively proliferating and the Lz-homologue *Pl*Runt was shown to be important in crayfish hematopoiesis (Söderhäll et al., 2003). The number of hemocytes dramatically decreased when the crayfishes were injected with a β -1, 3-glucan, resulting in an accelerated maturation of hemocyte precursors in the Hpt followed by release into the circulation of new hemocytes that later develop into functional SGCs and GCs expressing the proPO transcript (Söderhäll et al., 2003). In crayfish P. leniusculus, all mature hemocytes are expressing proPO while less than 3% of the Hpt cells were found to express this transcript, so we suggested the presence of the proPO transcript can be used as a putative marker for final hemocyte maturation (Söderhäll et al., 2003). Moreover, an endogenous cytokine named as astakine from crayfish P. leniusculus, containing a prokineticin domain and is critical in the differentiation and growth of hematopoietic stem cells in vitro and in vivo (Söderhäll et al., 2005; Lin et al., 2008) (Fig. 1).

In the five different morphological type cells as suggested by Chaga *et al.* (1995), proPO mRNA is restricted to type 4 cells, and expression of *Pl*Runt in Hpt in this stage is low in all cell types. A short period prior to the release of the cells into circulation, the *Pl*Runt transcript was induced significantly whereas proPO expression was delayed until



the hemocytes matured and reached the circulation (Söderhäll *et al.*, 2003), showing that the final stage of development into functional semigranular or granular hemocytes happen after their release from the hematopoietic tissue. Morphological observation also showed the presence of these newly released hemocytes with an appearance more similar to type 4 cells (Söderhäll *et al.*, 2003).

Absence of proPO transcript in the majority of Hpt cells indicates that this protein is not required until the cells are released into the circulation, which is of considerable interest since this protein is the very important protein in innate immune reactions as well as during sclerotization of the cuticle (Söderhäll *et al.*, 2003; Söderhäll and Cerenius, 1998).

In crustaceans and other invertebrates the circulating hemocytes play the most important role in the protection of the animal against invading microorganisms. Therefore, hematopoiesis is essential to produce new hemocytes which can particpate in the cellaular defence. Recently we have shown that crayfish hemocytes have different marker proteins which can be used to understand the differentiation of hemocytes from Hpt cells. Thus we found that proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA) is specific for Hpt cells, a Kazal proteinase inhibitor for SG cells and Superoxid dismutase for G cells (Wu et. al. 2008) and also that transglutaminase is essential for the maintenance of the Hpt cells in their stem cell form. Further we recently also isolated and characterised the membrane receptor for the cytokine, astakine which is invoved in hematopoiesis (Lin *et al.*, 2007).

Prophenoloxidase activating system (proPO-system) and melanization

The melanization reaction is an important immune reaction in arthropods (Cerenius *et al.*, 2008) (Figure 2). It is a rapid immune response important in encapsulation and killing of microbial pathogens in invertebrates and melanin depositions are often observed on the surface of invading parasites in the hemocoel or at the site of cuticular injury. Melanin synthesis is achieved by the proPO activation system, a proteolytic cascade similar to vertebrate complement (Cerenius et al., 2008). In invertebrates, the proPO cascade (Figure 3) is a very efficient non-self-recognition system, which can be triggered by minute amount of microbial components, e.g. β -1, 3-glucans from fungi and lipopolysaccharides (LPSs)/peptidoglycans (PGNs) from bacteria, and includes several immune defense proteins resulting in melanization, cell adhesion encapsulation, and phagocytosis. In crustaceans, the proPO-system including several pattern recognition proteins (PRPs), such as β -1, 3-glucans binding protein (β GBP) and lipopolysaccharide and β -1, 3-glucans binding protein (LGBP), and several serine protease zymogen involved in the proteinase cascade have been well studied (Cerenius and Söderhäll, 2004). In the crayfish P. leniusculus, proPO is mainly synthesized in granular cells (Gcs) and stored in the secretory granules, similar to the clotting system of horseshoe crabs (Theopold et al., 2004), and then released into hemocoel by exocytosis triggered by PRPs,. After binding of the PRP ligand with microbial components, serine proteinases zymogens was activated in the proPO-system, and the final step in this process is the conversion of proPO into active phenoloxidase (PO) by the prophenoloxidase activating enzyme (ppA) (Aspán et al., 1995). The first primary structure of proPO cDNA was reported from crayfish (Aspán et al., 1995), and after that more than 40 proPO sequences have been reported from different invertebrates, such as insects, echinoderms, ascidians, bivalves, mollusks, millipedes, and brachiopods (Cerenius and Söderhäll, 2004; Cerenius et al., 2008). PO is a copper-containing proteins, customarily is classified as tyrosinase, but actually arthropod POs are much more similar to arthropod hemocyanins (Burmester, 2001; Terwilliger and Ryan, 2006). Hemocyanin is a respiratory protein localized in the plasma and normally produced by the hepatopancreas in many invertebrates, and under certain conditions it exhibits PO activity and may also play important roles in immune defense against invading microorganisms (Baird et al., 2007; Decker and Rimke, 1998; Jaenicke and Decker, 2008; Jiang et al., 2007; Lee et al., 2004; Nagai et al., 2001). For instance, crayfish hemocyanin subunit 2 exhibits phenoloxidase activity after the cleavage of at the N-terminal part with trypsin, although its PO activity is relatively lower (Lee *et al.*, 2004). In the process of melanin formation, PO catalyzes the hydroxylation of monophenols to o-diphenols (monophenolase activity) and the oxidation of o-diphenols to o-quinones (diphenolase activity), followed by several intermediate steps which result in the formation of melanin, a dark brown pigment.



Figure 2 The reaction carried out by the active enzyme phenoloxidase. Photos below show some different animals with melanised spots caused by phenoloxidase.



Figure 3. The melanization reaction caused by activation of the prophenoloxidase activating system. (For more details see (1) Cerenius, Lee and Söderhäll. 2008. Trends in Immunology 29:263-27; (2) Cerenius et al. 2010. Trends in Biochemical Science 35:575-583).

Crayfish ppA has similar amino acid sequence as horseshoe crab defensin (Saito et al., 1995). The recombinant clip domain of the endogenous trypsin-like serine proteinase ppA from crayfish accordingly shows antibacterial activity in vitro against Gram-positive bacteria suggesting a multiple function of crayfish ppA, which is possible for other ppAs (Wang et al., 2001). Several ppAs and cofactors have been identified from insects: Manduca sexta, Holotrichia diomphalia, and Bombyx mori, (Cerenius and Söderhäll, 2004). Crayfish and Bombyx mori ppAs alone can produce an active PO (Wang et al., 2001; Satoch et al., 1999), but Manduca sexta or Holotrichia diomphalia ppA need a cofactor to generate active PO (Jiang et al., 1998, 2003). The primary structures of these proteins show that they all exist as zymogens of typical serine proteinases, which are similar to Drosophila serine proteinases involved in the organization of the developing embryo (Jiang and Kanost, 2000). Masquerade-like proteins and serine proteinase homologues, other proPO activating factors, have an essential role in activation of the proPO-system in invertebrates. These proteins have no proteinase activity since the primary structures of them show a serine proteinase domain lacking the catalytic triad residues which is necessary for serine proteinase activity. This kind of proteins have been characterized from the coleopteran insects H. diomphalia and Tenebrio molitor (Kwon et al., 2000; Lee et al., 2002; Piao et al., 2005), the crayfish P. *leniusculus* (masquerade-like protein *Pl*MasI) (Lee and Söderhäll, 2001), the *D. melanogaster* (masquerade protein) (Murugasu-Oei et al., 1995), horseshoe crab (factor D) (Kawabata et al., 1996) and mosquito Anopheles gambiae (infection-responsive serine proteinase-like protein (ispl5)) (Dimopoulos et al., 1997). Recently, many details have continued to be collected on the activation and the regulation of the proPO activating proteinase cascade about PRPs, serine proteinase zymogens and serine proteinase homologues. For example, hemolymph serine proteinase, HP21 was proved to act as an activator of proPO-activating proteinase 3 (PAP-3) in Manduca sexta (Gorman et al., 2007); One synthetic Lys-PGN derivative fragment was identified as an inhibitor of the melanization cascade, and helped the understanding of how the melanization is regulated and controlled in *Tenebrio molitor* (Park et al., 2006); Clustering of PGRP-SA is required to activate both Toll and proPO pathways in Tenebrio molitor (Park et al., 2007). In Holotrichia diomphalia, the activating mechanism of proPO-activating enzyme I (PPAF I) and PPAF II was enlightened by analyzing the crystal structure (Piao et al., 2007; Piao et al., 2005). Melanin, with a strong efficiently bactericidal effect, was produced on the surface of bacteria by an active melanization complex formed with Tenebrio proPO and Tenebrio clip-domain SPH1 zymogen after both of them were converted to active forms by Tenebrio Spätzle processing enzyme (Kan et al., 2008). Zou et al. (2008) also found that RUNT-related transcription factor 4 regulated proPO gene expression by binding to the promoter of mosquito proPO under the control of Toll pathway in *Aedes aegypti*. All these results indicate that the two major innate immune responses, Toll pathway and the melanization reaction, share a common serine protease for their regulation (Kan et al., 2008).

Evidence (Liu *et al.*, 2007; Johansson and Söderhäll, 1995) shows that the activation of the proPO-system can also trigger cellular responses including blood-cell adhesion, degranulation, phagocytosis, nodule formation, and encapsulation. In *Tenebrio molitor*, PO participated in cell adhesion reaction and/or clumping after binding to the hemocytes

membrane (Lee et al., 1999). There are reports showing that proPO binds to the surface of some hemocytes resulting in a strict spatial localization of the melanization response in Manduca sexta (Ling and Yu, 2005; Mavrouli et al., 2005). Studies from Anopheles gambiae indicate that PO activity is required for coagulation by causing lipophorin particles to coalesce into the sheet structures (Agianian et al., 2007), which increase the efficiency of hemolymph coagulation and cellular defense reactions. Some studies fully imply that the components of proPO activating system provides factors (also include the factors associated with the proPO activating system) to stimulate cellular defense through increasing phagocytosis (Cerenius et al., 2008). Other molecules can also gain their function when they are generated concomitant with the activation of proPO-system, for instance, peroxinectin, a cell adhesion protein from crayfish and shrimp is stored in the secretory granules of the SGCs and the GCs, which can be released during exocytosis and proPOsystem activation to mediate cell attachment and spreading. (Johansson, 1999; Lin et al., 2007; Johansson and Söderhäll, 1988; Sritunyalucksana et al., 2001). By RNA interference (RNAi) of pacifastin, an efficient inhibitor of the crayfish proPO activation cascade, higher PO activity was determined, which led to lower bacterial growth, increased phagocytosis, increased nodule formation, and delayed mortality. On the contrary, silencing of crayfish proPO resulted in increased bacterial growth, lower phagocytosis, lower PO activity, lower nodule formation, and higher mortality when infected with this bacterium (Liu et al., 2007). The crayfish PO studies suggest that PO play a critical role in crayfish P. leniusculus defense when it was infected with a highly pathogenic bacterium, Aeromonas hydrophila.

Although melanin formation is essential for host defence in crustaceans and insects, the initiation of proPO system needs to be tightly regulated due to the danger to the animal of unwanted production of quinone intermediates and melanization in places where it is not appropriate (Ashida and Brey, 1998; Gillespie et al., 1997). Pacifastin is highly efficient in inhibiting the crayfish ppA, and forms a new family of proteinase inhibitors, which was named as pacifastin-like serine proteinase inhibitors, and it can inhibit the proPO system in many insects (Simonet et al., 2002; Vanden Broeck et al., 1998). Pacifastin is a high molecular weight and heterodimeric inhibitor composing of one light chain containing nine proteinase inhibitor subunits and a heavy chain that contains three transferrin lobes (Liang et al., 1997). Challenging crayfish with Aeromonas hydrophila always resulted in 100% mortality when pacifastin was silenced, indicating that endogenous proteinase inhibitors might participated into the protection of host cells or tissues by inhibiting the production of inappropriate highly toxic productions (Liu *et al.*, 2007). Injection of low amount of this bacterium killed crayfish anyway in the end, which means that the A. hydrophila or other bacteria adopt some strategies to overcome host defenses (Vallet-Gely et al., 2008). By using the genetic studies, several genes expressing serine proteinase inhibitor (serpin) were shown to be involved in the melanization response toward different pathogens in Anopheles mosquitoes (Michel et al., 2005) and Drosophila (Ligoxygakis et al., 2002). It was shown that Drosophila Serpin 27A can inhibit its proPO activating enzyme, PPAE and prevented the melanin synthesis induced by the proPO-system (De Gregorio et al., 2002; Ligoxygakis et al., 2002). Mutations in Serpin 27A led to severe melanization and increased lethality (De Gregorio et al., 2002). Injections of Serpin 27A into serpin mutant flies blocked the melanization response on cuticle, when it is experimental injury. The survival rate of parasitoid wasp Leptolinina boulardi in these flies increased by the injections of Serpin27A into Drosophila larvae (Nappi et al., 2005). RNAi and loss-of-function mutation studies show Serpin 28D, one of 29 serpins in *Drosophila*, is the most strongly induced upon injury, and it regulates hemolymph PO activity in both larvae and adults. The study claims that Spn27A confines the melanin produced at the wound site, while Spn28D rather limits PO availability by controlling its initial release (Scherfer et al., 2008). The expression of SRPN6, another member of the serpin family, is induced by Escherichia coli and both rodent and human malaria parasites, and depletion of this inhibitor by RNAi delays the lysis of parasite without changing the number of developing parasites in An. Gambiae, indicating that SRPN6 acts on parasite clearance by inhibiting melanization and promoting parasite lysis (Abraham et al., 2005). Microplitis demolitor bracovirus carried by the wasp M. demolitor encodes a protein Egf1.0, which was recently shown to disable melanization reaction in Manduca sexta by inhibiting both the activity of PAP3 and also prevented processing of pro-phenoloxidase serine proteinase homolog (SPH) 1, and SPH2 (Beck and Strand, 2007; Lu et al., 2008). In addition to inhibitors of the proPO system activation, some PO inhibitor directly inhibiting the activity of PO have been studied from different arthropods (Daquinag et al., 1995; Daquinag et al., 1999; Sugumaran and Nellaiappan, 2000), and some specific pathogens have also developed strategies to prevent proPO activation: many endogenous factors function as competitive inhibitors of PO activity; several microbial derived factors also have been identified with the capacities to interfere with active PO (Daquinag et al., 1995; Eleftherianos et al., 2007; Zhao et al., 2005; Cerenius et al., 2008). For instance the phenoloxidase inhibitors (POIs), basic lysine rich peptides, have been found in Musca domestica and homologous structures were also detected in Anopheles gambiae and Manduca sexta (Shi et al., 2006; Lu and Jiang, 2007). Moreover, Volz et al. (2005, 2006) showed that several clip-domain serine proteases are involved in limiting parasite numbers and/or affecting the regulation of melanization. Interestingly, the PO-induced melanization reaction was found to be strictly regulated by Tenebrio proPO, which functions as a competitive inhibitor for the formation of melanization complex (Kan et al., 2008).

Melanization is vital for wound healing as well as an immune defense. Since the toxic quinone substances and by-products (intermediates) are also harmful to the host, it is necessary to tightly control the melanization reaction.

Recently, Zhao *et al.* (2005) have discovered a novel 43 kDa protein from the hemolymph of the beetle *T. molitor* (*Tenebrio* MIP) which acts as a negative regulator of melanin synthesis. This protein, the target of which is still presently unknown, is consumed during melanization, and no similarity was found between *Tenebrio* MIP and any other known protein (Zhao *et al.*, 2005). Interestingly, the *Tenebrio* MIP-antibody recognizes a protein in crayfish plasma. Since this crayfish 43 kDa protein also is involved in regulating the proPO-system and melanization, we named it *Pacifastacus leniusculus* melanization inhibiting protein (*Pl*-MIP). The sequence analysis shows that *Pl*-MIP is totally different from the *Tm*-MIP, and instead it contains of a C-terminal domain similar to vertebrate fibrinogens, but the collagenous domain found in ficolins is missing in the *Pl*-MIP corresponding region. Importantly, fibrinogen-like domain is the substrate-recognition domain of vertebrate

L-ficolins known as activators of vertebrate complement. However, crayfish MIP did not show any hemagglutinating activity as is common for the vertebrate ficolins. The structural similarities of *Pl*-MIP with ficolins indicates interesting parallels in the regulation between proteolytic cascades involved in defence in vertebrates and invertebrates. We also analysed the expression pattern in different tissue by RT-PCR. The result shows that hemocytes and Hpt did not express *Pl*-MIP. This transcript was detected at fairly low level in hepatopancreas and eyestalk, whereas high expression occurred in nerve-tissue, heart and intestine. When recombinant *Pl*-MIP (*Pl*-rMIP) was added to HLS containing an inactive proPO system, Pl-rMIP could inhibit LPS-PGN or laminarin induced PO-activity in a dose dependent manner assayed with L-Dopa as substrates, whereas no such inhibition was achieved when the proPO was activated prior to incubation with the *Pl*-rMIP. Therefore *Pl*-MIP has two functions. One is to inhibit proPO activation and the other is to block or delay melanin formation, once PO is activated. Surprisingly, an Asp-rich region similar to that found in ficolins that is likely to be involved in Ca^{2+} -binding is present in crayfish MIP. The antigenic Asp-rich region is important for the function of *Pl*-MIP, since site-directed mutagenesis was perfomed by deleting the four-Asp amino acids in the recombinant protein and this mutant form of MIP acids lost its original function, which implicates that MIP is involved in regulating the PO activating cascade.

The sequence similarity between *Pl*-MIP and human L-ficolin was used to build a homology model of *Pl*-MIP 3-D structure. The model suggests that *Pl*-MIP is an alpha/beta protein stabilized by two cysteine bridges. The binding site for Ca^{2+} ions as described in the L-ficolin structure and similar to tachylectin 5A is well conserved in *Pl*-MIP.

CONCLUSION

Altogether, we have identified three different proteins which can be used as markers for Hpt cells, SGCs and GCs of *P. leniusculus* respectively, and the newly described hemocyte lineage marker protein genes from crayfish *P. leniusculus* provide more information about the differentiation of different stages of the crayfish hemocytes. These data taken together may be helpful for future studies to reveal the connection between SGCs, GCs, and precursor cells in Hpt and also the role of the growth factors (e.g. astakine) as regulators of hemocyte maturation and development in crustaceans.

In the second study, we have identified a novel protein that acts as a negative regulator of proPO activation and melanization. Our data shows that the *Pl*-MIP is most likely an important regulator of the proPO-system and will keep the proPO-system in a non active form until certain inducers such as pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) or microorganisms are present, then *Pl*-MIP as well as *Tenebrio* MIP (Zhao *et al.*, 2005) are specifically degraded which then will allow activation of the proPO-system and melanization. Altogether, both crayfish MIP as well as *Tenebrio* MIP do not affect phenoloxidase activity in itself, but instead interfere with the melanization reaction from quinone compounds to melanin, which is different from Pacifastin, a highly efficient inhibitor of the crayfish ppA. This study suggests that there may be more unknown factors involved in regulating the proPO system, and the mechanism of *Pl* MIP or *Tenebrio* MIP degradation in the proPO activation need further studies.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work has been financed by the Swedish Science Research Council and FORMAS (The Swedish Research Council for Environment, Agricultural Sciences and Spatial Planning) (K.S.), Swedish Science Resarch Council/(SIDA (K.S, and P.J.) and by the Carl Tryggers Foundation (I.S.).

REFERENCES

- Abraham, E. G., Pinto, S. B., Ghosh, A., Vanlandingham, D. L., Budd, A., Higgs, S., Kafatos, F. C., Jacobs-Lorena, M. and Michel, K. 2005. An immune-responsive serpin, SRPN6, mediates mosquito defense against malaria parasites. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science USA* 102(45): 16327-32.
- Agianian, B., Lesch, C., Loseva, O. and Dushay, M. S. 2007. Preliminary characterization of hemolymph coagulation in *Anopheles gambiae* larvae. *Development Comparative Immunology* 31(9): 879-88.
- Ashida, M., and Brey, P. T. 1998. Molecular Mechanisms of Immune Responses in Insects Brey, P. T. and Hultmark, D. (Eds.). Chapman & Hall, New York), pp. 135-172.
- Aspán, A., Huang, T. S., Cerenius, L. and Söderhäll, K. 199). cDNA cloning of prophenoloxidase from the freshwater crayfish *Pacifastacus leniusculus* and its activation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science USA* 92(4): 939-43.
- Bachère, E., Destoumieux, D. and Bulet, P. 2000. Penaeidins, antimicrobial peptides of shrimp: a comparison with other effectors of innate immunity. *Aquaculture* 191: 71-88.
- Bachère, E., Gueguen, Y., Gonzalez, M., de Lorgeril, J., Garnier, J. and Romestand, B. 2004. Insights into the anti-microbial defense of marine invertebrates: the penaeid shrimps and the oyster *Crassostrea gigas*. *Immunological. Reviews* 198: 149-68.
- Baird, S., Kelly, S. M., Price, N. C., Jaenicke, E., Meesters, C., Nillius, D., Decker, H. and Nairn, J. 2007. Hemocyanin conformational changes associated with SDS-induced phenol oxidase activation. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1774(11): 1380-94.
- Barreda, D. R. and Belosevic, M. 2001. Transcriptional regulation of hemopoiesis. *Development Comparative Immunology* 25(8-9): 763-89.
- Beck, M. H. and Strand, M. R. 2007. A novel polydnavirus protein inhibits the insect prophenoloxidase activation pathway. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science USA* 104: 19267-72.
- Burmester, T. 2001. Molecular evolution of the arthropod hemocyanin superfamily. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 18: 184-95.
- Cerenius, L., Lee, B. L. and Söderhäll, K. 2008. The proPO-system: pros and cons for its role in invertebrate immunity. *Trends in Immunology* 29(6): 263-71.
- Cerenius, L. and Söderhäll, K. 2004. The prophenoloxidase-activating system in invertebrates. *Immunological Reviews* 198: 116-26.

- Chaga, O., Lignell, M. and Söderhäll, K. 1995. The hematopietic cells of freshwater crayfish, *Pacifastacus leniusculus*. *Animal Biology* 4: 57-70.
- Daquinag, A. C., Nakamura, S., Takao, T., Shimonishi, Y. and Tsukamoto, T. 1995. Primary structure of a potent endogenous dopa-containing inhibitor of phenol oxidase from *Musca domestica*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science USA* 92(7): 2964-8.
- Daquinag, A. C., Sato, T., Koda, H., Takao, T., Fukuda, M., Shimonishi, Y. and Tsukamoto, T. 1999. A novel endogenous inhibitor of phenoloxidase from *Musca domestica* has a cystine motif commonly found in snail and spider toxins. *Biochemistry* 38(7): 2179-88.
- De Gregorio, E., Han, S. J., Lee, W. J., Baek, M. J., Osaki, T., Kawabata, S., Lee, B. L., Iwanaga, S., Lemaitre, B. and Brey, P. T. 2002. An immune-responsive Serpin regulates the melanization cascade in *Drosophila*. *Developmental Cell* 3(4): 581-92.
- Decker, H. and Rimke, T. 1998. Tarantula hemocyanin shows phenoloxidase activity. The *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 273(40): 25889-92.
- Dimopoulos, G., Richman, A., Muller, H. M. and Kafatos, F. C. 1997. Molecular immune responses of the mosquito *Anopheles gambiae* to bacteria and malaria parasites. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 94(21): 11508-13.
- Eleftherianos, I., Boundy, S., Joyce, S. A., Aslam, S., Marshall, J. W., Cox, R. J., Simpson, T. J., Clarke, D. J., ffrench-Constant, R. H. and Reynolds, S. E. 2007. An antibiotic produced by an insect-pathogenic bacterium suppresses host defenses through phenoloxidase inhibition. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science USA* 104(7): 2419-24.
- Fossett, N. and Schulz, R. A. 2001a. Functional conservation of hematopoietic factors in *Drosophila* and vertebrates. *Differentiation* 69(2-3): 83-90.
- Fossett, N., Tevosian, S. G., Gajewski, K., Zhang, Q., Orkin, S. H. and Schulz, R. A. 2001b. The Friend of GATA proteins U-shaped, FOG-1, and FOG-2 function as negative regulators of blood, heart, and eye development in *Drosophila*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science USA* 98(13): 7342-7.
- Gillespie, J., Kanost, M. R., and Trenczek, T. 1997. *Annual Review of Entomology* 42: 611-43.
- Gorman, M. J., Wang, Y., Jiang, H. and Kanost, M. R. 2007. *Manduca sexta* hemolymph proteinase 21 activates prophenoloxidaseactivating proteinase 3 in an insect innate immune response proteinase cascade. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 282(16): 11742-9.
- Hose, J. E., Martin, G. G., Tiu, S. and McKrell, N. 1992. Patterns of hemocytes production and release throughout the molt cycle in penaeid shrimp *Sicyonia ingentis*. *Biological Bulletin* 183: 185-99.
- Jaenicke, E. and Decker, H. 2008. Kinetic properties of catecholoxidase activity of tarantula hemocyanin. *FEBS J.* 275(7): 1518-28.
- Jiang, H. and Kanost, M. R. 2000. The clip-domain family of serine proteinases in arthropods. *Insect Biochemistry and Molecular Biology* 30: 95-105.
- Jiang, H., Wang, Y. and Kanost, M.R. 1998. Pro-phenol oxidase activating proteinase form an insect, Manduca sexta: bacteria-inducible protein similar to Drosophila easter. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science USA* 95: 12220-25.

- Jiang, H., Wang, Y., Yu, X.Q., Zhu, Y. and Kanost, M.R. 2003. Prophenoloxidase-activating proteinase-3 (PAP-3) from Manduca sexta hemolymph: a clip-domain serine proteinase regulated by serpin-1J and serine proteinase homologs. *Insect Biochemistry and Molecular Biology* 33: 1049-60.
- Jiang, N., Tan, N. S., Ho, B. and Ding, J. L. 2007. Respiratory proteingenerated reactive oxygen species as an antimicrobial strategy. *Nature Immunology* 8(10): 1114-22.
- Jiravanichpaisal, P., Lee, B. L. and Söderhäll, K. 2006. Cell-mediated immunity in arthropods: hematopoiesis, coagulation, melanization and opsonization. *Immunobiology* 211(4): 213-36.
- Johansson, M. W. 1999. Cell adhesion molecules in invertebrate immunity. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology* 23(4-5): 303-15.
- Johansson, M. W., Keyser, P., Sritunyaluksana, K. and Söderhäll, K. 2000. Crustacean hemocytes and haematopoiesis. *Aquaculture* 191: 45-52.
- Johansson, M. W., Lind, M. I., Holmblad, T., Thörnqvist, P. O. and Söderhäll, K. 1995. Peroxinectin, a novel cell adhesion protein from crayfish blood. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 216(3): 1079- 87.
- Johansson, M.W. and Söderhäll, K. 1988. Isolation and purification of a cell adhesion factor from crayfish blood cells. *Journal of Cellular Biology* 106:1795-1803.
- Johansson, M.W. and Söderhäll, K. 1989. Cellular immunity in crustaceans and the proPOsystem. *Parasitology Today* 5: 171-6.
- Johansson, M. and Söderhäll, K. 1996. The prophenoloxidase activating system and associated proteins in invertebrates. *Progress in Molecular and Subcellular Biology* 15: 46-66.
- Johnson, P. T. 1987. A review of fixed phagocytic and pinocytotic cells of decapod crustaceans, with remarks on hemocytes. *Development & Comparative Immunology* 11(4): 679-704.
- Kawabata, S., Tokunaga, F., Kugi, Y., Motoyama, S., Miura, Y., Hirata, M. and Iwanaga, S. 1996. *Limulus* factor D, a 43-kDa protein isolated from horseshoe crab hemocytes, is a serine protease homologue with antimicrobial activity. *FEBS Letters* 398(2-3): 146-50.
- Kan, H., Kim, C.H., Kwon, H.M., Park, J.W., Roh, K.B., Lee, H., Park, B.J., Zhang, R., Zhang, J., Söderhäll, K., Ha, N.C. and Lee, B.L. 2008. Molecular Control of Phenoloxidase-induced Melanin Synthesis in an Insect. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 283(37): 25316-23.
- Kwon, T. H., Kim, M. S., Choi, H. W., Joo, C. H., Cho, M. Y. and Lee, B. L. 2000. A masquerade-like serine proteinase homologue is necessary for phenoloxidase activity in the *coleopteran* insect, *Holotrichia diomphalia* larvae. *European Journal of Biochemistry* 267(20): 6188-96.
- Lebestky, T., Chang, T., Hartenstein, V. and Banerjee, U. 2000. Specification of *Drosophila* hematopoietic lineage by conserved transcription factors. *Science* 288(5463): 146-9.
- Lee, H.S., Cho, M.Y., Lee, K.M., Kwon, T.H., Homma, K., Natori, S., Lee, B.L. 1999. The pro-phenoloxidase of coleopteran insect, *Tenebrio molitor*, larvae was activated during cell clump/cell adhesion of insect cellular defense reactions. *FEBS Letters* 444: 255-59.
- Lee, K. Y., Zhang, R., Kim, M. S., Park, J. W., Park, H. Y., Kawabata, S. and Lee, B. L. 2002. A zymogen form of masquerade-like serine proteinase homologue is cleaved during

pro-phenoloxidase activation by Ca²⁺ in *coleopteran* and *Tenebrio molitor* larvae. *Eur. Journal of Biochemistry* 269(17): 4375-83.

- Lee, S. Y., Lee, B. L. and Söderhäll, K. (2004). Processing of crayfish hemocyanin subunits into phenoloxidase. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 322(2): 490-6.
- Lee, S. Y. and Söderhäll, K. 2001. Characterization of a pattern recognition protein, a masquerade-like protein, in the freshwater crayfish *Pacifastacus leniusculus*. *Journal of Immunology* 166(12): 7319-26.
- Lee, S. Y. and Söderhäll, K. 2002. Early events in crustacean innate immunity. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 12(5): 421-37.
- Lemaitre B, Hoffmann J. 2007. The host defense of Drosophila melanogaster. *Annual Review of Immunology*. 25: 697-743.
- Le Moullac, G., Soyez, C., Saulnier, D., Ansquer, D., Avarre, J.C. and Levy, P. 1998. Effect of hypoxic stress on the immune response and the resistance to vibriosis of the shrimp *Penaeus stylirostris. Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 8: 621-9.
- Liang, Z., Sottrup-Jensen, L., Aspán, A., Hall, M. and Söderhäll, K. 1997. Pacifastin, a novel 155-kDa heterodimeric proteinase inhibitor containing a unique transferrin chain. *Proceedings of National Academy of Scienc USA* 94(13): 6682-7.
- Ligoxygakis, P., Pelte, N., Ji, C., Leclerc, V., Duvic, B., Belvin, M., Jiang, H., Hoffmann, J. A. and Reichhart, J. M. 2002. A serpin mutant links Toll activation to melanization in the host defence of *Drosophila*. *EMBO Journal* 21(23): 6330-7.
- Lin, X., Söderhäll, K., and Söderhäll, I. 2008. Transglutaminase activity in the hematopoietic tissue of a crustacean, *Pacifastacus leniusculus*, importance in hemocyte homeostasis. BMC Immunology 9: 58.
- Lin, X., Cerenius, L., Lee, B. L. and Söderhäll, K. 2007. Purification of properoxinectin, a myeloperoxidase homologue and its activation to a cell adhesion molecule. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*. 1770(1): 87-93.
- Ling, E. J. and Yu, X. Q. 2005. Prophenoloxidase binds to the surface of hemocytes and is involved in hemocyte melanization in *Manduca sexta*. *Insect Biochemistry and Molecular Biology* 35(12): 1356-66.
- Liu, H., Jiravanichpaisal, P., Cerenius, L., Lee, B.L., Söderhäll, I. and Söderhäll, K. 2007. Phenoloxidase is an important component of the defense against *Aeromonas hydrophila* infection in a crustacean, *Pacifastacus leniusculus*. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 282: 33593-8.
- Liu, H. and Söderhäll, I. 2007. Histone H2A as a transfection agent in crayfish hematopoietic tissue cells. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology* 31: 340-346.
- Lu, Z., Beck, M. H., Wang, Y., Jiang, H. and Strand, M. R. 2008. The Viral Protein Egf1.0 Is a Dual Activity Inhibitor of Prophenoloxidase-activating Proteinases 1 and 3 from Manduca sexta. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 283: 21325-33.
- Lu, Z. and Jiang, H. 2007. Regulation of phenoloxidase activity by high- and low-molecularweight inhibitors from the larval hemolymph of *Manduca sexta*. *Insect Biochemistry and Molecular Biology* 37(5): 478-85.
- Martin, G. G., Hose, J. E., Choi, M., Provost, R., Omori, G., McKrell, N. and Lam, G. 1993. Organization of hematopoietic tissue in the intermolt lobster *Homarus americanus*. *Journal of Morphology* 216: 65-78.

- Mavrouli, M. D., Tsakas, S., Theodorou, G. L., Lampropoulou, M. and Marmaras, V. J. 2005. MAP kinases mediate phagocytosis and melanization via prophenoloxidase activation in medfly hemocytes. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*. 1744(2): 145-56.
- Medvinsky, A. and Dzierzak, E. 1999. Development of the hematopoietic stem cell: can we describe it? *Blood* 94(10): 3613-4.
- Michel, K., Budd, A., Pinto, S., Gibson, T. J. and Kafatos, F. C. 2005. *Anopheles gambiae* SRPN2 facilitates midgut invasion by the malaria parasite *Plasmodium berghei*. *EMBO Rep.* 6(9): 891-7.
- Murugasu-Oei, B., Rodrigues, V., Yang, X. and Chia, W. 1995. Masquerade: a novel secreted serine protease-like molecule is required for somatic muscle attachment in the *Drosophila* embryo. *Genes and Development* 9(2): 139-54.
- Nagai, T., Osaki, T. and Kawabata, S. 2001. Functional conversion of hemocyanin to phenoloxidase by horseshoe crab antimicrobial peptides. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 276(29): 27166-70.
- Nappi, A. J., Frey, F. and Carton, Y. 2005. Drosophila serpin 27A is a likely target for immune suppression of the blood cell-mediated melanotic encapsulation response. *Journal of Insect Physiology* 51(2): 197-205.
- Orkin, S. H. 1998. Embryonic stem cells and transgenic mice in the study of hematopoiesis. *International Journal of Development Biology* 42(7): 927-34.
- Orkin, S. H. 2000. Diversification of haematopoietic stem cells to specific lineages. *Nature Reviews Genetics* 1(1): 57-64.
- Park, J. W., Je, B. R., Piao, S., Inamura, S., Fujimoto, Y., Fukase, K., Kusumoto, S., Söderhäll, K., Ha, N. C. and Lee, B. L. 2006. A synthetic peptidoglycan fragment as a competitive inhibitor of the melanization cascade. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 281(12): 7747-55.
- Park, J. W., Kim, C. H., Kim, J. H., Je, B. R., Roh, K. B., Kim, S. J., Lee, H. H., Ryu, J. H., Lim, J. H., Oh, B. H., Lee, W. J., Ha, N. C. and Lee, B. L. 2007. Clustering of peptidoglycan recognition protein-SA is required for sensing lysine-type peptidoglycan in insects. *Proceedings of National Academy of Science USA* 104(16): 6602-7.
- Piao, S., Kim, S., Kim, J. H., Park, J. W., Lee, B. L. and Ha, N. C. 2007. Crystal structure of the serine protease domain of prophenoloxidase activating factor-I. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 282(14): 10783-91.
- Piao, S., Song, Y. L., Kim, J. H., Park, S. Y., Park, J. W., Lee, B. L., Oh, B. H. and Ha, N. C. 2005. Crystal structure of a clip-domain serine protease and functional roles of the clip domains. *EMBO J.* 24(24): 4404-14.
- Ratcliff, N.A., Rowley, A.F., Fitzgerald, S.W. and Rhodes, C.P. 1985. Invertebrate Immunity: Basic concepts and recent advances. *International Review of Cytology* 97: 183-350.
- Rehorn, K. P., Thelen, H., Michelson, A. M. and Reuter, R. 1996. A molecular aspect of hematopoiesis and endoderm development common to vertebrates and *Drosophila*. *Development* 122(12): 4023-31.
- Rosenberry, B. (ed.) 1998. World's shrimp farming 1998. Shrimp News International, San Diego, CA, USA.
- Saito, T., Kawabata, S., Shigenaga, T., Takayenoki, Y., Cho, J., Nakajima, H., Hirata, M. and Iwanaga, S. 1995. A novel big defensin identified in horseshoe crab hemocytes:

isolation, amino acid sequence, and antibacterial activity. *Journal of Biochemistry* (Tokyo) 117, 1131–37.

- Satoh, D., Horii, A., Ochiai, M. and Ashida, M. 1999. Prophenoloxidase-activating enzyme of the silkworm, Bombyx mori. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 274: 7441-53.
- Scherfer, C., Tang, H., Kambris, Z., Lhocine, N., Hashimoto, C. and Lemaitre, B. 2008. Drosophila Serpin-28D regulates hemolymph phenoloxidase activity and and adult pigmentation. *Development Biology* 323(2):189-96.
- Shi, L., Li, B. and Paskewitz, S. M. 2006. Cloning and characterization of a putative inhibitor of melanization from *Anopheles gambiae*. *Insect Molecular Biology* 15(3): 313-20.
- Sieweke, M. H. and Graf, T. 1998. A transcription factor party during blood cell differentiation. *Current Opinion in Genetics & Development* 8(5): 545-51.
- Simonet, G., Claeys, I. and Broeck, J. V. 2002. Structural and functional properties of a novel serine protease inhibiting peptide family in arthropods. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part B: Biochemistry and Molecular Biology* 132(1): 247-55.
- Söderhäll, I., Bangyeekhun, E., Mayo, S. and Söderhäll, K. 2003. Hemocyte production and maturation in an invertebrate animal; proliferation and gene expression in he matopoietic stem cells of *Pacifastacus leniusculus*. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology* 27(8): 661-72.
- Söderhäll, I., Kim, Y. A., Jiravanichpaisal, P., Lee, S. Y. and Söderhäll, K. 2005. An ancient role for a prokineticin domain in invertebrate hematopoiesis. *Journal of Immunology* 174(10): 6153-60.
- Söderhäll, I., Söderhäll, K., (2001). Immune reactions. In: Holdich D, editor. *Biology of Freshwater Crayfish*. Oxford: Blackwell Science, pp. 439-64.
- Söderhäll, K., Cerenius, L. 1992. Crustacean immunity. *Annual Review of Fish Disease* 2: 3-23.
- Söderhäll, K. and Cerenius, L. 1998. Role of prophenoloxidase-activating system in invertebrate immunity. *Current Opinion in Immunology* 10:23-28.
- Söderhäll, K. and Smith, V. J. 1983. Separation of the haemocyte populations of *Carcinus maenas* and other marine decapods, and prophenoloxidase distribution. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology* 7(2): 229-39.
- Söderhäll, K., Smith, V.J. and Johansson, M.V. 1986. Exocytosis and uptake of bacteria by isolated haemocytes populations of two crustaceans: evidence for cellular co-operation in the defence reactions of arthropods. *Cell Tissue Research* 245: 43-9.
- Söderhäll, I., Wu, C., Lee, B.L. and Söderhäll, K. 2009. A novel protein acts as a negative regulator of prophenoloxidase activation and melanisation in the freshwater crayfish. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* (in press).
- Sricharoen, S., Kim, J. J., Tunkijjanukij, S. and Söderhäll, I. 2005 Exocytosis and proteomic analysis of the vesicle content of granular hemocytes from a crayfish. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology* 29: 1017-31.
- Sritunyalucksana, K. and Söderhäll, K. 2000. The proPO and clotting system in crustaceans. *Aquaculture* 191: 53-69.
- Sritunyalucksana, K., Wongsuebsantati, K., Johansson, M. W. and Söderhäll, K. 2001. Peroxinectin, a cell adhesive protein associated with the proPO system from the black

tiger shrimp, *Penaeus monodon*. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology* 25(5-6): 353-63.

- Sugumaran, M. and Nellaiappan, K. 2000. Characterization of a new phenoloxidase inhibitor from the cuticle of *Manduca sexta*. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 268(2): 379-83.
- Terwilliger, N.B. and Ryan, M.C. 2006. Functional and phylogenetic analyses of phenoloxidases from brachyuran (*Cancer magister*) and branchiopod (*Artemia franciscana*, *Triops longicaudatus*) crustaceans. *Biological Bulletin* 210: 38-50.
- Theopold, U., Li, D., Fabbri, M., Scherfer, C. and Schmidt, O. 2002. The coagulation of insect hemolymph. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* 59: 363-72.
- Theopold, U., Schmidt, O., Soderhall, K. and Dushay, M.S. 2004. Coagulation in arthropods, defence, wound closure and. healing. *Trends in Immunology* 25: 289-94.
- van de Braak, C. B., Botterblom, M. H., Liu, W., Taverne, N., van der Knaap, W. P. and Rombout, J. H. 2002. The role of the haematopoietic tissue in haemocyte production and maturation in the black tiger shrimp (*Penaeus monodon*). *Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 12(3): 253-72.
- Vanden Broeck, J., Chiou, S. J., Schoofs, L., Hamdaoui, A., Vandenbussche, F., Simonet, G., Wataleb, S. and De Loof, A. 1998. Cloning of two cDNAs encoding three small serine protease inhibiting peptides from the desert locust *Schistocerca gregaria* and analysis of tissuedependent and stage-dependent expression. *European Journal of Biochemistry* 254(1): 90-5.
- Vallet-Gely, I., Lemaitre, B., Boccard, F. 2008. Bacterial strategies to overcome insect defences. *Nature Reviews Microbiology* 6 (4): 302-13.
- Volz, J., Muller, H. M., Zdanowicz, A., Kafatos, F. C. and Osta, M. A. 2006. A genetic module regulates the melanization response of *Anopheles* to *Plasmodium*. *Cellular Microbiology* 8(9): 1392-405.
- Volz, J., Osta, M. A., Kafatos, F. C. and Muller, H. M. 2005. The roles of two clip domain serine proteases in innate immune responses of the malaria vector *Anopheles gambiae*. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 280(48): 40161-8.
- Wang, R., Lee, S. Y., Cerenius, L. and Söderhäll, K. 2001. Properties of the prophenoloxidase activating enzyme of the freshwater crayfish, *Pacifastacus leniusculus*. *Eur. J. Biochem*. 268(4): 895-902.
- Wu,C.,Söderhäll,I.Kkim,Y.A.,Liu,H., Söderhäll,K. 2008. Hemocyte-lineage marker proteins in a crustacean the freshwater crayfish *Proteomics* 8,4226-4235.
- Zhao, M., Söderhäll, I., Park, J. W., Ma, Y. G., Osaki, T., Ha, N. C., Wu, C. F., Söderhäll, K. and Lee, B. L. 2005. A novel 43-kDa protein as a negative regulatory component of ph enoloxidase-induced melanin synthesis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 280(26): 24744-51.
- Zou, Z., Shin, S.W., Alvarez, K.S., Bian, G., Kokoza, K., and Raikhel, A.S. 2008. Mosquito RUNX4 in the immune regulation of PPO gene expression and its effect on avian malaria parasite infection. *Proceedings of National. Academy of Science USA* 105: 18454-59.

Immune Response

17	Toll-like Receptors in teleosts	197
	Tomokazu Takano, Hidehiro Kondo, Ikuo Hirono, Makoto Endo, Tatsuo Saito-Taki and Takashi Aoki	
18	Identification of <i>Edwardsiella tarda</i> antigens recognized by mucosal natural antibody in olive flounder, <i>Paralichthys olivaceus</i>	209
	In Seok Cha, Ho Bin Jang, Seong Bin Park, Seong Won Nho, Chan Yong Jung, Young Kiu Kim, Takashi Aoki and Tae Sung Jung	
19	Immunoproteomic analysis of extracellular products (ECPs) obtained from three etiological isolates of streptococcosis (<i>Streptococcus iniae</i> , <i>Streptococcus parau beris</i> Dongbo and <i>Streptococcus parauberis</i> Namhae) of Olive flounder (<i>Paralichthys olivaceus</i>) in Korea Seong Won Nho, Ho Bin Jang, Seong Bin Park, In Seok Cha, Chan Yong Jung.	219
	Young Kyu Kim, Takashi Aoki and Tae Sung Jung	
20	Antimicrobial peptides from the black tiger shrimp <i>Penaeus monodon</i> – a review Anchalee Tassanakajon and Kunlaya Somboonwiwat	229
21	Applications of shrimp immune DNA microarray in aquaculture Jenn-Kan Lu, Yi-Ting Hsiao and Jen-Leih Wu	241
22	Molecular immunity in the interaction between fish and pathogen for DNA vaccine Takashi Aoki, Jun-ichi Hikima, Carmelo Segovia del Castillo, Tae-Sung Jung, Hidehiro Kondo and Ikuo Hirono	253

Toll-like receptors in teleosts

TOMOKAZU TAKANO, HIDEHIRO KONDO, IKUO HIRONO, MAKOTO ENDO, TATSUO SAITO-TAKI and TAKASHI AOKI

Laboratory of Genome Science, Graduate School of Marine Science and Technology Tokyo University of Marine Science and Technology, Konan 4-5-7 Minato, Tokyo 108-8477, Japan

ABSTRACT

Toll-like receptors (TLR) recognize the pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) and regulate the subsequent immune responses in mammals. We have so far succeeded in finding the 11 types of TLR genes from Japanese flounder (*Paralichthys olivaceus*). TLR genes have also been found in the genomes of fugu (*Takifugu rubripes*) and zebrafish (*Danio rerio*). However, only limited information is known about the function of TLRs in fish. The fragmentary information of the fish TLR gene expression, immune response following PAMPs stimulation and intracellular signaling are available in fish. In addition, the phylogenetic analysis in vertebrate TLR genes and comparison of TLR family members between teleost fish species revealed that specific divergence of TLR genes between mammals and fish as well as between fish species. Here, the possible functions of teleost fish TLR and its importance are discussed.

Key words: immune response; pathogen molecular pattern (PAMP); toll-like receptor (TLR).

Takano, T., Kondo, H., Hirono, I., Endo, M., Saito-Taki, T. and Aoki, T. 2011. Toll-like receptors in teleosts, pp. 197-208. *In* Bondad-Reantaso, M.G., Jones, J.B., Corsin, F. and Aoki, T. (eds.). Diseases in Asian Aquaculture VII. Fish Health Section, Asian Fisheries Society, Selangor, Malaysia. 385 pp.

Corresponding author: Tomokazu Takano, takano5320@hotmail.com.
INTRODUCTION

The innate immune system is responsible for the first line of defense in host protection against invading microbial pathogens and it is relatively evolutionarily conserved among mammals (Akira et al., 2006). The pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) initiate the host innate immune responses of animals including insects and vertebrates. Drosophila Toll, which was initially identified as a receptor essential for dorso-ventral polarity during development. This Toll was first shown to participate in innate immune responses against fungal infections in 1996 (Lemaire et al., 1996). Subsequently, numerous homologues of Toll, termed Toll-like receptors (TLRs), were identified in mammals. These receptors were also demonstrated to recognize PAMPs to trigger the networks of innate immune responses (Akira et al., 2006). Mammalian TLR signaling pathways which are triggered by different TLRs and consequent immune responses are highly distinct and diverged. To date, two major TLR signaling pathways of MyD88-dependent and -independent pathways were known. The MyD88-dependent pathway leads to activation of AP-1 transcription factors through activation of MAP kinases and NF-κB activation through activation of the IKK complex. Activation of these transcription factors triggers inflammatory cytokine production (Takeda and Akira, 2005). The MyD88-independent pathway is transduced from TLR3 and TLR4. This pathway activates interferon (IFN) regulatory factor 3 (IRF3) with consequent production of IFN- β (Takeda and Akira, 2005). The complex of these signaling pathways modulate the proper immune response against pathogens..

The first report of fish TLR gene was found in gold fish, Carassius auratus auratus (Stafford et al., 2003). The conservation of essential domain structures in vertebrate TLRs, including leucine-rich repeats (LRRs) in the extracellular portion and a Toll/IL-1 receptor homology (TIR) domain were confirmed in goldfish TLR. In a same year, TLR genes have been globally surveyed from the draft whole genome sequence of fugu (Takifugu rubripes) and unique TLR genes were reported (Oshiumi et al., 2003). In addition, zebrafish (Danio rerio) genome database was also surveyed to discover the all of predictable TLR genes and reported in 2004 (Jault et al., 2004; Meijer et al., 2004). In our study Japanese flounder (Paralichthys olivaceus), we have identified 11 types of TLRs homologues. These results were reported at the 7th Symposium on Diseases in Asian Aquaculture. To date, the involvement of teleost fish TLRs in the innate immune system have been uncovered by virtue of TLR gene cloning and their fundamental studies. In addition, several novel TLR genes were discovered in teleost fish. Hence, the immune response which is introduced in the PAMPs recognition through the fish TLRs will be an intrigue topic for the comparative immunology. Here, to clarify the future direction of study in teleost fish TLRs, the present information of teleost fish TLRs are briefly summarized and their possible functions are discussed.

1. Structural conservation of TLRs between teleost fish and mammal

TLRs are single-pass transmembrane proteins composed of an N-terminal extracellular LRR domain and C-terminal intracellular domain of TIR domain. This basic structure is highly conserved in TLRs of animal. The LRRs are responsible for recognition of respective ligand

of pathogen components. The extracellular domains of TLRs contain about 20 to 30 LRRs sandwiched between the LRR N-terminal (LRRNT) domain and LRR C-terminal (LRRCT) domain modules (Matsushima et al., 2007) to shield the bydrophobic core of the first LRR at the N-treminal or last LRR at the C-terminal (Matsushima et al., 2005; Kajava, 1998). A LRR is consisted of 20 to 33 amino acid residues. The 'LXXLXLXXN' elements are conserved in the LRR (Jin and Lee, 2008; Matsushima et al., 2007). Bell et al. (2003) suggested that the variable sequence and length of insertion is contained at the following position of 10 and 15 amino acid residue in the LRR consensus sequence to generate the variety function of TLRs. A LRR is known to form a arc-shape structure, then juxtaposition of LRR loops produces a solenoid-like structure. Today, the variation of the solenoid-like structure in extracellular domain which is generated from the different LRR conformations is considered to be related to the specific PAMPs recognition of TLRs (Bell *et al.*, 2003). Interestingly, a certain level of conservation in LRR sequence between the same class of TLRs in teleost and mammal are reported, including a class of TLR5 and a class of TLR9 (Takano et al., 2007; Tsoi et al., 2006). Hence, these structural conservation may indicate the recognition of the common PAMP between fish and mammalian TLRs.

Intracellular TIR domain of TLR initiates the signal transduction to associate with another TIR domain of adaptor proteins. The TIR domain is composed of roughly 200 amino acid residues in length. The three functionally important regions box 1, box 2 and box 3 are conserved in mammalian TLRs (O'Neill, 2000; Rock *et al.*, 1998). The involvement of these three boxes in signal transduction were confirmed by mutagenesis studies of human, *Homo sapiens* (Slack *et al.*, 2000). The conservation of these boxes have also been reported from teleost fish TLRs (Jault *et al.*, 2004; Takano *et al.*, 2007). The assessment of fugu, zebrafish and mammalian TIR domain evolution (Meijer *et al.* 2004) suggested coincidental evolution among the same class of TLRs even between fish and mammals. "Coincidental evolution" is a term describing phylogenies with branches that do not evolve independently (Roach *et al.* 2005). Favor interpretation for this phenomena is the conservation of similar TLR signaling cascade in fish. In fact, the conserved homologues of four of the TIR domain adaptor proteins (MyD88, MAL, TRIF and SARM) from zebrafish and Fugu have been reported (Meijer *et al.*, 2004). These reports clearly show that the TLR system has an important role in fish immunity.

2. TLR repertoire

Today, a total of 10 TLRs numbered 1-10 in humans and a total of 13 TLRs in mouse (*Mus musculus*) have been identified (Verstak *et al.*, 2007; Akira, 2004). TLR1-9 are conserved in humans and mice. TLR10 is functinal in humans but mouseTLR10 gene is disrupted by two retroelements. On the other hand, human TLR genes corresponding mouse TLR11-13 are represented only by a pseudogene (Roach *et al.*, 2005).

At the beginning of this decade, the TLR family are surveyed from draft genome sequence of teleost fish, such as fugu (Oshiumi *et al.*, 2003) and zebrafish (Jault *et al.*, 2004). Surprisingly, higher numbers of diverged TLR than mammalian TLR genes are discovered from these fish including novel TLR genes. TLR1, -2, -3, -5, -7, -8 and -9 genes

were conserved in the both fish as well as mammal, while mammalian TLR4 homologue was only seen in zebrafish genome. In addition, TLR1 family of TLR6 and TLR10 genes are missing in the teleost fish (Roach *et al.*, 2005). For the novel TLR genes, TLR14, 21 (also found from aves), 22 and 23 including soluble form TLR5 (also found from amphibian) were identified from the fugu, while TLR18 (orthologue of fugu TLR14), 19, 20, 21 and 22 gene have been identified from zebrafish (Oshiumi *et al.*, 2003; Jault *et al.*, 2004; Meijer *et al.*, 2005). The duplication of zebrafish TLR4, 5, 8 and 20 gene were reported by Meijer *et al.* (2003). From the comparison of TLR gene loci between fugu and zebrafish using the ensemble genome browser (http://oct2007.archive.ensembl.org/index. html), the tandem duplication of zebrafish TLR19 (gene ENSDARG00000026663 and ENSDARG00000070392) was also evident. However, it is seems that the tandem gene duplication of many TLR genes have been happened only in zebrafish genome but not in fugu genome. Further, interspecific specific TLR gene duplication was reported from rainbow trout (*Onchorhynchus mykiss*) TLR22a and TLR22b showing 95.6 % homology in nucleotide sequence level (Rebl *et al.*, 2007).

Taken together, TLR repertoire, such as TLR1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 8 and 9, between teleost fish and other vertebrates seems to be highly conserved. Because, it is almost certainly that microbes cannot mutate basic structure of their PAMPs (Roach *et al.* 2005), and these PAMPs have became the essential ligands for the TLRs. On the other hand, the novel TLR gene in fish and species specific TLR gene divergence is becoming clear. This difference is favorably interpreted as a result of different selection pressure of exposed pathogens in distinct environments (Oshiumi *et al.* 2003). Therefore, comparison of immune responses which are mediated through different repertoire TLRs between human and teleost fish species are interesting as well as comparing between teleost fish species.

3. Toll-like receptor of teleost fish and immune response against PAMPs

The ligands for mammalian TLRs are reviewed by Kawai and Akira (2007). The study on specific ligands determination for the teleost TLRs are limited. However, as mention above, there is conservation of LRR structure between teleost fish and mammalian TLR. Therefore, teleost fish TLR may be able to recognize the similar PAMPs with mammalian TLRs. Here, the immune responses against PAMPs stimulation and possible corresponding TLRs of teleost fish is discussed.

3.1. TLR1 and TLR2

TLR1 and TLR2 gene are commonly existed in the teleost fish and it may indicate functional importance for immune modulation. In mammal, TLR1 and TLR6 is able to associate with TLR2 to form a heterophilic dimer and discriminate the lipid structures between diacylated and triacylated lipoproteins, respectively. (Takeda and Akira, 2005). As mention above, TLR1 family of TLR6 and TLR10 does not existed in teleost fish. Therefore, it is intrigue that whether teleost fish are able to discriminate the two types of lipopeptide. Purcell and his colleague conducted the diacylated lipoprotein (Pam2CSK4) and triacylated lipopeptide

(Pam3CSK4) stimulation of rainbow trout leukocytes (Purcell *et al.*, 2006). Interestingly, the transcription level of IFN- α 1 and IL-1 β 1 were increased in the both diacylated and triacylated lipoprotein stimulated leukocytes. But, it is still unclear whether both lipoproteins are recognized by TLR1/TLR2 heterophilic dimer or functional substitute molecules in teleost fish.

Mammalian TLR2 is also able to recognizes Gram-positive bacteria cell wall component of peptidoglycan (PG). The PG is also known as a strong inducer of innate immune response in teleost fish. We demonstrated the TLR2 gene up-regulation and increased number of TLR2 expressing leukocytes in Japanese flounder following PG stimulation. The PG induces significant production of cytokines such as IL6-cytokine subfamily that are involving cellular development, inflammatory function, and acute phase and immune responses have been reported in teleost fish (Hwang *et al.*, 2007; Castellana *et al.*, 2008). These reports may support the functional involvement of TLR2 to the PG recognition of fish immune system as well as mammalian TLR2.

3.2. TLR3

In mammal, pathogen derived double stranded RNA such as RNA virus genome are recognized by TLR3. The double stranded RNA (dsRNA) analogue of poly I:C have been used as antiviral immune response mediator in teleost fish. The injection of poly I:C to Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) resulted gene up-regulation of type I interferon (IFN) and antiviral Mx gene in spleen and kidney (Strandskog *et al.*, 2008). Further, the gene expression of rainbow trout IFN regulatory factor (IRF) 3 having crucial role in TLR3 signaling were up-regulated following poly I:C stimulation in leukocytes (Holland *et al.*, 2008). Therefore, TLR3 mediated immune responses in teleost fish may have an important role in viral infection as well as that of mammals. Recently, two intracellular dsRNA receptor of retinoid-inducible gene 1 (RIG-1) and melanoma differentiation-associated gene 5 (MDA-5) were reported in teleost fish (Robertsen, 2008). The functional corporation of TLR3 and these intracellular dsRNA receptor may also be important for type I IFN production in teleost fish.

3.3. TLR4

TLR4 is known as a receptor for bacterial lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (Kawai and Akira, 2007). Zebrafish has two TLR4 genes, but there are no report of TLR4 molecules from other fish species. LPS have been widely used as immunostimulant of teleost fish and numbers of study demonstrated the potential of LPS for mediating pro-inflammatory cytokine production, chemokine production, nitric oxide production and macrophage activation (Neumann *et al.*, 1995; Stafford *et al.*, 1999; Corripio-Miyar *et al.*, 2007; Darawiroj *et al.*, 2008). It is highly possible that there are substitution of TLR4 in teleost fish for sensing LPS. Whilst, the possibility of the immunostimulation effect by the contaminant in the crude LPS preparation was mentioned from the recent study of rainbow trout (Purcell *et al.* 2006). However, there are no other available studies to elucidate these discrepancy.

3.4. TLR5

TLR5 is responsible for the bacterial flagellin recognition. The unique point of teleost fish TLR system as well as amphibian is existence of both membrane type TLR5 (TLR5M) and soluble form TLR5 (TLR5S) which do not contain C-terminal intracellular domain of TIR and transmembrane domain (Tsujita et al., 2005). The both rainbow trout TLR5 are able to recognize the flagellin of *Vibrio anguillarum*. Rainbow trout TLR5S gene is predominantly expressed in the liver and highly up-regulated following V. anguillarum stimulation in the rainbow trout hepatoma cell line, similar as acute phase proteins produced from the liver. The activity of NF- κ B occurring from TLR5M signaling was potentiated by the combination of rainbow trout TLR5M and TLR5S. From this observation, Tsujita et al. (2005) hypothesized that the combination of TLR5M and induced circulatory TLR5S systemically provoke robust activation of NF-B, which leads to full response to flagellin in the whole body. To date, TLR5S genes were found from several fish species (Oshiumi et al., 2003; Baoprasertkul et al., 2007). This unique flagellin recognition system is seems to be conserved in the wide range of the teleost fish. On the other hand, TLR5S have not been found form zebrafish, so comparison of sensitivity against flagellin between zebrafish and other teleost fish TLR5 is interesting topic for the further study.

3.5. TLR7, 8 and 9

Mammalian TLR7, 8 and 9 detect single stranded nucleic acids derived from pathogens in the endosome. Especially, TLR7 recognizes single stranded RNA derived from various viruses as well as synthetic imidazoquinolines. The human TLR8 also participates in the recognition of ssRNA and imidazoquinolines, whereas the function of mouse TLR8 remains unclear (Kawai and Akira, 2007). Immidazoquinolines are also efficient immune modulator in teleost fish. Imidazoquinolines such as S-27609 and R848 are reported as antiviral immune mediator of salmon, although he corresponding receptor either TLR7 or TLR8 have not been defied (Purcell et al., 2006; Kileng et al., 2008; Sun et al., 2008). The drastic gene up-regulation of IFN- α 1, IL-1 β IL-8, TNF- α 1 and α 2 were occurred following R848 stimulation in rainbow trout leukocytes, whereas the leukocytes did not respond to another compound of imidazoquinoline of loxoribine (Purcell et al., 2006). IFNa (two genes), IFNb (four genes) and IFNc (five genes) were found in Atlantic salmon (Sun et al., 2008). To study whether these different salmon IFN subtypes are associated with imidazoquinoline specific IFN induction pathways, the expression pattern of these genes were profiled following S-27609 (Sun et al, 2008). Interestingly, only IFNb genes were strongly up-regulated by S-27607, and weakly up-regulated by poly I:C in Atlantic salmon. From this observation, the author speculated that the IFNb genes are mainly induced through the TLR7 or TLR8 pathway whilst other IFN genes are induced through the TLR3, RIG-I and/or MDA-5 pathway. Taken together, it is likely that the salmonid TLRs responsible for single stranded RNA is able to discriminate the structure of imidazoquinolines and activate specific signaling pathway to produce particular cytokines such as Atlantic salmon IFNb genes.

Another nucleic acids receptor of TLR9 recognizes unmethylated CpG DNA motifs present in bacterial and viral genomes. The CpG oligodeoxynucleotides (ODN) mimicking unmethylated CpG DNA have been used for the studies on vertebrate TLR9 studies including

teleost fish. Takano *et al.* (2007) demonstrated specific recognition of CpG ODN by TLR9 and activation of TNF- α gene promoter following CpG ODN stimulation in Japanese flounder. Further, more than twenty kind of CpG ODNs were assessed to confirm optical motif for immunostimulation of Atlantic salmon by measuring kidney leukocytes IFN-like activity, and the the highest IFN-like activity were observed following CpG ODN 1681 stimulation (Jørgensen *et al.*, 2003). In addition, the uptake of CpG ODN by head kidney leukocytes (macrophages) and enhancement of the type I IFN and Mx production following CpG ODN 1681 were confirmed in Atlantic salmon (Pedersen *et al.*, 2006). Hence, teleost fish TLR9 have pivotal role in the CpG DNA recognition and there is a optical CpG DNA motif for the antiviral activity induction such as IFN production.

3.6. Novel TLRs

The TLR14 subfamily expanded in teleost fish and amphibians. For the function of TLR14, the favorable hypothesis was mentioned by Roach *et al.* (2005) based on the analysis of TLR evolution in vertebrates. The phylogenetic analysis of TLR genes revealed assortative evolution of TLR14 and the lipopeptides specific TLRs including vertebrates TLR1, -2, -6 and -10. The TLR6 and TLR10 homologue in teleost fish have not been found, while TLR14 have not been reported from mammals. Therefore, teleost fish TLR14 was speculated as functional substitute for mammalian TLR6 and TLR10. Recently, the functional involvement for the long double stranded RNA recognition by fugu TLR22 was reported. Hence, the fugu TLR22 is said as a functional substitute of human cell-surface TLR3 (Matsuo *et al.*, 2008). Meanwhile, the functional information of TLR19, -20, -21 and -23 are completely lacking and further studies on these novel TLRs are eagerly awaited.

4. Future perspectives

4.1 Functional comparison and characterization of TLR systems in teleost fish

It is evident that numerous molecules involved in biodefense system are resemble and are conserved in mammals and teleost fish. Here, the high level of conservation of TLRs between fish and mammals have been discussed and it is almost certain that PAMPs recognition by TLR is one of the crucial mechanisms for innate immunity in fish. On the other hand, there are novel TLRs in teleost fish although their functions have not been identified. Interspecific TLR diversity have also been observed in the fish genome. Especially, it is said that zebrafish experienced the relativity recent TLR gene duplications (Meijer *et al.* 2004). Therefore, comparison of immune modulation from the different repertoire of TLR in different species are important. Furthermore, some of novel TLRs in teleost fish are hypothesized to compensate to the function of mammalian TLRs such as TLR4, 6 and TLR10 which have not been found in teleost fish (Oshiumi *et al.* 2003; Roach *et al.* 2005). Therefore, functional analysis in the novel fish TLRs are also interesting subject for the comparative immunology between mammals.

4.2. Analysis of immunomodulation by TLR-expressing cells

To survey for infectious agents particularly at the epithelial tissues including mucosal surfaces are interlaced with resident innate leukocytes such as dendritic cells (DCs),

macrophages and mast cells. In mammal, antigen-presenting cells (APCs) such as DCs play central role for orchestrating immune response. Especially, TLR signaling are important for the modulation of DCs activity. DCs are involved in the generation of multiple effector cell types, including TH1, cytotoxic T cell (CTL) and B cell responses (Kaisho and Akira, 2006; Iwasaki and Medzhitov, 2004). Therefore, the studies on mammalian TLR-expressing cells are prosperously conducted for the therapeutic purpose such as vaccine and its adjuvant development.

On the other hand, fish leukocytes expressing TLRs have not been classified. Transcription of fish TLR genes were highly occurring in the leukocytes (Hirono *et al.*, 2004; Purcell *et al.*, 2006; Takano *et al.*, 2007; Holland *et al.*, 2008). Further, we demonstrated the proliferation and infiltration of Japanese flounder TLR9-expressing cells at the site of bacterial infection (Takano *et al.*, 2007). Thus, the fish leukocytes may also important in the modulation of immune responses. Therefore, the classification of teleost fish TLR-expressing cells and analysis of their role in immunomodulation followed by TLR signaling are also essential for the development of efficient therapeutic techniques for aquaculture.

REFERENCES

- Akira, S. 2004. Toll receptor families: structure and function. *Seminars in Immunology* 16:1-2.
- Baoprasertkul, P., Xu, P., Peatman, E., Kucuktas, H. and Liu, Z. 2007. Divergent Toll-like receptors in catfish (*Ictalurus punctatus*): TLR5S, TLR20, TLR21. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 23:1218-1230.
- Bell, J.K., Mullen, G.E., Leifer, C.A., Mazzoni, A., Davies, D.R. and Segal DM. 2003. Leucine-rich repeats and pathogen recognition in Toll-like receptors. *Trends in Immunology* 24:528-533.
- Castellana, B., Iliev, D.B., Sepulcre, M.P., MacKenzie, S., Goetz, F.W., Mulero, V. and Planas, J.V. 2008. Molecular characterization of interleukin-6 in the gilthead seabream (*Sparus aurata*). *Molecular Immunology* 45:3363-3370.
- Corripio-Miyar, Y., Bird, S., Tsamopoulos, K. and Secombes, C.J. 2007. Cloning and expression analysis of two pro-inflammatory cytokines, IL-1 beta and IL-8, in haddock (*Melanogrammus aeglefinus*). *Molecular Immunology* 44:1361-1373.
- Darawiroj, D., Kondo, H., Hirono, I. and Aoki, T. 2008. Immune-related gene expression profiling of yellowtail (*Seriola quinqueradiata*) kidney cells stimulated with ConA and LPS using microarray analysis. Fish and Shellfish Immunology 24:260-266.
- Hirono, I., Takami, M., Miyata, M., Miyazaki, T., Han, H.J., Takano, T., Endo, M. and Aoki T. 2004. Characterization of gene structure and expression of two toll-like receptors from Japanese flounder, *Paralichthys olivaceus. Immunogenetics* 56:38-46.
- Holland, J.W., Bird, S., Williamson, B., Woudstra, C., Mustafa, A., Wang, T., Zou, J., Blaney, S.C., Collet, B. and Secombes C.J. 2008. Molecular characterization of IRF3 and IRF7 in rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss*: Functional analysis and transcriptional modulation. *Molecular Immunology*, In press.

- Hwang, J.Y., Santos, M.D., Kondo, H., Hirono, I. and Aoki, T. 2007. Identification, characterization and expression of a novel cytokine M17 homologue (MSH) in fish. *Fish Shellfish Immunology* 23:1256-1265.
- Iwasaki, A. and Medzhitov, R. 2004. Toll-like receptor control of the adaptive immune responses. *Nature Immunology* 5:987-995.
- Jault, C., Pichon, L. and Chluba, J. 2004. Toll-like receptor gene family and TIR-domain adapters in *Danio rerio*. *Molecular Immunology* 40:759-771.
- Jin, M.S. and Lee, J.O. 2008. Structures of TLR-ligand complexes. *Current Opinion in Immunology* 20:414-419.
- Jørgensen, J.B., Johansen, L.H., Steiro, K. and Johansen, A. 2003. CpG DNA induces protective antiviral immune responses in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L.*). *Journal of Virology* 77:11471-11479.
- Kaisho, T. and Akira, S. 2006. Toll-like receptor function and signaling. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 117:979-987.
- Kajava, A.V. 1998. Structural diversity of leucine-rich repeat proteins. *Journal of Molecular Biology* 277:519-527.
- Kawai, T. and Akira, S. Signaling to NF-κB by Toll-like receptors. 2007. *Trends in Molecular Medicine* 13:460-469.
- Kileng, Ø., Albuquerque, A. and Robertsen, B. 2008. Induction of interferon system genes in Atlantic salmon by the imidazoquinoline S-27609, a ligand for Toll-like receptor 7. *Fish Shellfish Immunology* 24:514-522.
- Lemaitre, B., Nicolas, E., Michaut, L., Reichhart, J.M. and Hoffmann, J.A. 1996. The dorsoventral regulatory gene cassette spätzle/Toll/cactus controls the potent antifungal response in *Drosophila* adults. *Cell* 86:973-983.
- Matsuo, A., Oshiumi, H., Tsujita, T., Mitani, H., Kasai, H., Yoshimizu, M., Matsumoto, M. and Seya, T. 2008. Teleost TLR22 recognizes RNA duplex to induce IFN and protect cells from birnaviruses. *Journal of Immunology* 181:3474-3485.
- Matsushima, N., Enkhbayar, P., Kamiya, M., Osaki, M. and Kretsinger, R.H. 2005. Leucine-rich repeats (LRRs): structure, function, evolution and interaction with ligands. *Drug Design Reviews* 2:305-322.
- Matsushima, N., Tanaka, T., Enkhbayar, P., Mikami, T., Taga, M., Yamada, K. and Kuroki, Y. 2007. Comparative sequence analysis of leucine-rich repeats (LRRs) within vertebrate toll-like receptors. *BMC Genomics* 8:124.
- Meijer, A.H., Gabby Krens, S.F., Medina Rodriguez, I.A., He, S., Bitter, W., Ewa Snaar-Jagalska, B. and Spaink, H.P. 2004. Expression analysis of the Toll-like receptor and TIR domain adaptor families of zebrafish. *Molecular Immunology* 40:773-783
- Neumann, N.F., Fagan, D. and Belosevic, M. 1995. Macrophage activating factor(s) secreted by mitogen stimulated goldfish kidney leukocytes synergize with bacterial lipopolysaccharide to induce nitric oxide production in teleost macrophages. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology*. 19:473-482.
- O'Neill, L. 2000. The Toll/interleukin-1 receptor domain: a molecular switch for inflammation and host defense. *Biochemical Society Transactions* 28: 557–563.

- Oshiumi, H., Tsujita, T., Shida, K., Matsumoto, M., Ikeo, K. and Seya, T. 2003. Prediction of the prototype of the human Toll-like receptor gene family from the pufferfish, *Fugu rubripes*, genome. *Immunogenetics* 54:791-800.
- Pedersen, G.M., Johansen, A., Olsen, R.L. and Jørgensen, J.B. 2006. Stimulation of type I IFN activity in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) leukocytes: synergistic effects of cationic proteins and CpG ODN. *Fish Shellfish and Immunology* 20:503-518.
- Purcell, M.K., Smith, K.D., Hood, L., Winton, J.R. and Roach, J.C. 2006. Conservation of Toll-like receptor signaling pathways in teleost fish. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology - Part D: Genomics and Proteomics* 1:77-88.
- Rebl, A., Siegl, E., Köllner, B., Fischer, U. and Seyfert, H.M. 2007. Characterization of twin toll-like receptors from rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*): evolutionary relationship and induced expression by *Aeromonas salmonicida salmonicida*. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology* 31:499-510.
- Roach, J.C., Glusman, G., Rowen, L., Kaur, A., Purcell, M.K., Smith, K.D., Hood, L.E. and Aderem, A. 2005. The evolution of vertebrate Toll-like receptors. *Proceedings of the National Academic Science of the United States of America* 102:9577-9582.
- Robertsen, B. 2008. Expression of interferon and interferon-induced genes in salmonids in response to virus infection, interferon-inducing compounds and vaccination. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 25:351-357.
- Rock, F.L., Hardiman, G., Timans, J.C., Kastelein, R.A. and Bazan, J.F. 1998. A family of human receptors structurally related to *Drosophila* Toll. *Proceedings of the National Academic Science of the United States of America* 95:588-593.
- Slack, J.L., Schooley, K., Bonnert, T.P., Mitcham, J.L., Qwarnstrom, E.E., Sims, J.E. and Dower, S.K. 2000. Identification of two major sites in the type I interleukin-1 receptor cytoplasmic region responsible for coupling to pro-inflammatory signaling pathways. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 275:4670-4678.
- Stafford, J.L., Neumann, N.F. and Belosevic, M. 1999. Inhibition of macrophage activity by mitogen-induced goldfish leukocyte deactivating factor. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology* 23:585-596.
- Stafford, J.L., Ellestad, K.K., Magor, K.E., Belosevic, M. and Magor, B.G. 2003. A toll-like receptor (TLR) gene that is up-regulated in activated goldfish macrophages. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology* 27:685-698.
- Strandskog, G., Skjaeveland, I., Ellingsen, T. and Jørgensen, J.B. 2008. Double-stranded RNA- and CpG DNA-induced immune responses in Atlantic salmon: comparison and synergies. *Vaccine* 26:4704-4715.
- Sun, B., Robertsen, B., Wang, Z. and Liu B. 2008. Identification of an Atlantic salmon IFN multigene cluster encoding three IFN subtypes with very different expression properties. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology*, In press.
- Takano, T., Kondo, H., Hirono, I., Endo, M., Saito-Taki, T. and Aoki, T. 2007. Molecular cloning and characterization of Toll-like receptor 9 in Japanese flounder, *Paralichthys* olivaceus. Molecular Immunology 44:1845-1853.
- Takeda, K. and Akira, S. 2005. Toll-like receptors in innate immunity. *International Immunology* 17:1-14.

- Tsoi, S., Park, K.C., Kay, H.H., O'Brien, T.J., Podor, E., Sun, G., Douglas, S.E., Brown, L.L. and Johnson, S.C. 2006. Identification of a transcript encoding a soluble form of toll-like receptor 5 (TLR5) in Atlantic salmon during *Aeromonas salmonicida* infection. *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology* 109:183-187.
- Tsujita, T., Tsukada, H., Nakao, M., Oshiumi, H., Matsumoto, M. and Seya, T. 2004. Sensing bacterial flagellin by membrane and soluble orthologs of Toll-like receptor 5 in rainbow trout (*Onchorhynchus mikiss*). *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 279:48588-48597.
- Uematsu, S. and Takeuchi O. 2006. Pathogen recognition and innate immunity. *Cell* 124:783-801.
- Verstak, B., Hertzog, P. and Mansell, A. 2007. Toll-like receptor signalling and the clinical benefits that lie within. *Inflammation Research* 56:1-10.

Identification of *Edwardsiella tarda* antigens recognized by mucosal natural antibody in olive flounder, *Paralichthys olivaceus*

IN SEOK CHA¹, HO BIN JANG¹, SEONG BIN PARK¹, SEONG WON NHO¹, CHAN YONG JUNG¹, YOUNG KYU KIM¹, TAKASHI AOKI² and TAE SUNG JUNG¹

 ¹Aquatic Biotechnology Center of WCU Project, Laboratory of Aquatic Animal Diseases, College of Veterinary Medicine, Gyeongsang National University, Jinju, Gyeongnam, 660-701, South Korea
²Laboratory of Genome Science, Tokyo University of Marine Science and Technology Konan 4-5-7, Minato, Tokyo, 108-8477, Japan

ABSTRACT

Olive flounder is an important mariculture fish species in Korea. However, the culture of this species has been threatened due to a variety of infectious agents, especially *Edwardsiella tarda*. The skin mucus of fish, which contains a higher amount of immunity related substances, acts as an innate barrier, protecting them from invasive environmental pathogens. In the present study, we investigated the ability of the natural antibodys (NAbs), secreted in the cutaneous mucus, to recognize *E. tarda* antigens using 2-dimentional gel electrophoresis (2-DE) and immunoblotting. Further, the antigenic proteins recognized by NAbs were identified using electrospray ionization tandem mass spectrometry (ESI-MS/MS) as outer membrane proteins, phosphopyruvate hydratase, phosphoglycerate kinase, Ribose-5-phosphate isomerase A, and triosephosphate isomerases. These proteins recognized by mucosal NAbs are suspected as important epitopes in *E. tarda* to produce the antigen-antibody complexes in innate immunity of mucus.

Keywords: *Edwardsiella tarda*; mucus; natural antibody; *Paralichthys olivaceus*; ESI-MS/MS

Cha, I.S., Jang, H.B., Park, S.B., Nho, S.W., Jung, C.Y., Kim, Y.K., Aoki, T. and Jung, T.S. 2011. Identification of *Edwardsiella tarda* antigens recognized by mucosal natural antibody in olive flounder, *Paralichthys olivaceus*, pp. 209-218. *In* Bondad-Reantaso, M.G., Jones, J.B., Corsin, F. and Aoki, T. (eds.). Diseases in Asian Aquaculture VII. Fish Health Section, Asian Fisheries Society, Selangor, Malaysia, 385 pp.

Corresponding authors: Tae Sung Yung, jungts@gnu.ac.kr; Takashi Aoki, aoki@gnu.ac.kr

INTRODUCTION

Olive flounder is a type of flatfish, which is regarded as a delicacy in Korea. It is the major aquaculture fish species in Korea with production reaching 54,600 metric tons in 2009 (Korea Statistical Information Service, KOSIS, http://kosis.kr). However, cultured fish are often threatened by infectious agents from the environment resulting in mass mortalities. *Edwardsiella tarda*, a Gram-negative, motile, short rod, causes edwardsiellosis in both freshwater and marine fish, and is a major bacterial pathogen of olive flounder (Thune *et al.*, 1993; Mohanty and Sahoo, 2007).

The olive flounder, which differs from most teleost fish by having a more sedentary bottom-dwelling lifestyle, has an abundance of cutaneous mucus. It is thought that the cutaneous mucus acts as an immunological barrier in these fish, in much the same way as those of the gut, respiratory tract and genital tract (Shephard, 1994; Woof and Mestecky, 2005). The mucus plays a critical role in the defense mechanism of the fish, acting as the first physiological barrier by eliminating pathogens through the continuous production of mucus (Kanno et al., 1989; Ellis, 2001). Furthermore, it acts as a biological barrier because of immune substances within mucus which may include C-reactive proteins, alkaline phosphatase, protease, lysozyme, transferrin, and immunoglobulins (Igs) (Alexander and Ingram, 1992; Fast et al., 2002; Palaksha et al., 2008). Particularly, one of the important molecules in cutaneous mucus of fish is immunoglobulins (Igs) playing a key role in recognizing natural antigens. IgM is known to be the major immunoglobulin in the mucus of fish, which contrasts with the IgA in the mucus of mammals (Woof and Mestecky, 2005; Hatten et al., 2001). The mucosal IgM has also been reported in several fishes; such as catfish, Ictalurus punctatus (Di Conza and Halliday, 1971; Zilberg and Klesius, 1997), carp, Cyprinus carpio (Rombout et al., 1986) and Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar (Hatten et al., 2001). In addition, the IgM has been suggested as a natural antibody (NAb) in olive flounder (Palaksha et al., 2008). However, the knowledge of the interaction of NAbs with bacterial pathogens in flounder mucus is still unknown.

Therefore, the present study aimed to elucidate the interaction between NAb and infectious bacteria such as *E. tarda*. Utilizing a proteomics approach, common antigenic proteins were observed in *E. tarda* which were recognized by NAb of the cutaneous mucus. Subsequently, the recognized proteins were identified by nano-electrospray ionization tandem mass spectrometry (ESI-MS/MS).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Preparation of cutaneous mucus

Cutaneous mucus of fish ranging in size from 500-800 g was collected from an edwardsiellosisfree farm in Namhae, Gyeongnam, Korea in autumn 2008. The mucus was prepared by a method modified from Palaksha *et al.* (2008). Briefly, mucus was gathered and mixed from 10 fish by scraping with a soft rubber spatula. The mixed mucus was transferred to sterile 50ml polypropylene conical tube. The samples were transferred to the laboratory on ice and kept at -80°C. To prepare clarified mucus extract (CME); the stored mucus was mixed with 10 volumes of TBS buffer (Tris-buffered saline; 50mM Tris-HCL, pH 8.0, 150mM NaCl); and frozen and thawed repeatedly. The homogenate was centrifuged at $2850 \times g$ for 60min, and supernatant was filtered with 0.45µm syringe filter (Minisart). The filtered supernatant was lyophilized and dissolved in deionized water (dW, Millipore MilliQ, 18.2 M Ω cm); subsequently, the solution was replaced with TBS buffer and concentrated with Amicon YM3 membrane (Amicon, Danvers, MA). All of the steps were performed on ice or below 4°C, to minimize denaturation or digestion of proteins.

Preparation of bacteria sample

Edwardsiella tarda (ED-45) was previously isolated from Jeju, Korea in 2004. The bacterium was kept at -80°C in 10% (ν/ν) glycerol-trypticase soy broth supplemented with 2% (w/ν) NaCl (TSB-2). The bacteria were cultured in 50mL TSB-2 at 26°C until an optical density (OD)_{610nm} of 1.0, pelleted by centrifugation at 2,000×g for 30min at 4°C, and washed 3 times with PBS (phosphate-buffered saline; 3mM KCL, 137mM NaCl, 1.5mM KH₂PO₄, and 8mM Na₂HPO4, pH7.4). The pellet was suspended in 5ml deionized water and aliquoted to 1ml. The suspensions were sonicated (XL-2020, Misonix) at 120W for 10 min (sonication for 5s, 20s interval) in ice slurry; and centrifuged at 16,000×g for 30 min at 4°C. The resulting supernatant was stored at -20°C until use.

1-DE and immunoblotting

The supernatant from the sonicated bacterium was applied to one-dimensional SDS-PAGE (1-DE) according to Laemmli (1970). Ten microgram of protein was applied to two separate 12.5% (*w/v*) SDS-PAGE under denatured condition. One gel was stained with Commassie brilliant blue R-250 for visualization, the other gel was used for immunoblot assay. The proteins in the gel were transferred to PVDF membrane (Millipore, USA) at 60V for 60 min and blocked with 5% (*w/v*) skim milk in PBS-T (3mM KCL, 137mM NaCl, 1.5mM KH₂PO₄, and 8mM Na₂HPO4 pH7.4, and 0.05% (*v/v*) Tween-20) for 60min at RT. Blocked membrane was washed 3 times with PBS-T, and incubated with 200µg of CME protein in 4 mL 5% (*w/v*) skim milk in PBS-T for 2h at 26°C. The membrane was incubated with anti-flounder IgM monoclonal antibody (MAb) (Shin *et al.*, 2007) for 60 min at 26°C after washing 3 times with PBS-T, washed 5 times with PBS-T, and incubated for 60 min with goat anti-mouse IgG-HRP (Jackson. USA; 1:2,000). Finally, proteins recognized by CME were developed with an ECL kit (Enhanced Chemiluminescence; Amersham Biosciences).

2-DE and immunoblotting

Two-dimensional electrophoresis (2-DE) samples were prepared using 100 μ l of supernatant from sonicated bacteria, the supernatant was mixed with 400 μ l lysis buffer (40mM Tris-HCL, 7M urea, 2M thiourea, 4% (*w*/*v*) 3-[(3-cholamidopropyl)dimethylammonio]-1-propanesulfonate (CHAPS), 5% (*v*/*v*) IPG buffer pH 3-10, and 1.4% (*w*/*v*) DTT) and vortexed at RT for 30 min. 200 µg of proteins from lysate were precipitated with equal volumes of 20% trichloroacetic acid. The precipitate was washed in acetone and dissolved

in 250 µl rehydration buffer (9M urea, 4% (w/v) CHAPS, 5% (v/v) IPG buffer pH 4-7, 1.4% (w/v) DTT, and trace amount of bromophenol blue); and vortexed for 30 min at RT then centrifuged at 16,000×g for 15 min. Isoelectrofocusing (IEF) and 2-DE were performed according to previous study (Shin *et al.*, 2006). Briefly, the supernatants were subjected to IEF (IPGphoreTM system, Amersham Bioscience, Uppsala, Sweden) with IPG strips (Immobiline DryStripTM, pH 4-7, 13 Cm; Amersham Bioscience). The IPG strips were equilibrated with equilibration buffer (6M urea, 2% SDS (w/v), 30% glycerol (v/v), 50 mM Tris-HCL, and 0.002% bromophenol blue, pH 8.8). Equilibrated strips were electrophoresed on 12.5% SDS-PAGE gel. The gel was subjected to 2-DE immunoblotting, which was performed as described in the previous section and visualized by silver staining.

Protein identification using ESI-MS/MS

Recognized protein spots based on 2-DE immunoblotting result were excised from 2-DE gels and extracted by in-gel digestion with trypsin as described previously (Shin et al., 2006). Digested peptides were applied to nano-electrospray ionization tandem mass spectrometry (ESI-MS/MS) according to Lee et al. (2004). Briefly, the supernatant of tryptic digestion were purified by a microcolumn packed with a Poros R2 resin (PerSeptive Biosystems) in GELoader tips (Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany). Purified peptides were applied to a QSTAR pulsar-i MS system (AB/MDS Sciex, Toronto, Canada) equipped with a nano-electrospray ion source (MDS Protana, Odense, Denmark) to obtain the MS/MS data. Ionspray voltage was set to a potential of 850–900 V. Peptide data were acquired from m/z range of over 400–1200 Da in positive mode with manually optimized collision energy settings for each peptide. The data were processed and interpreted with the BioAnalyst (PerSeptive Biosystems) software. Mascot (http://www.matrixscience.com) was employed to interpret the raw MS/MS data. The default search parameters used were enzyme = trypsin, variable modification = carbamidomethyl (C), peptide tolerance of parent ion \pm 1 Da, MS/MS tolerance ± 0.8 Da, and maximum missed cleavage = 1. Proteins with a Mascot score of more than 15 ($p \le 0.05$) was considered reliable and used in the present study. The identified peptides were aligned by BLAST (http://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi) search to confirm the identity to E. tarda protein.

RESULTS

SDS-PAGE and immunoblotting was employed to detect proteins suspected as common antigens in *E. tarda* which can be recognized by natural antibodies in cutaneous mucus. The proteins were separated by 1-DE under denatured condition (Fig. 1a) and was used for immunoblotting. There were several weak bands in *E. tarda* 1-DE immunoblot results. CME and anti-IgM L chain (anti-IgM) MAb (Shin *et al.*, 2007) were used to detect antigenic proteins which can be regarded as specifically recognizable antigens by the natural antibody (NAb) mucus IgM (Fig. 1b). To identify the proteins recognized by mucosal NAb, proteins of *E. tarda* were separated by 2-DE and visualized by immunoblot analysis with CME and anti-IgM MAb. Around 400 spots were visualized in 2-DE of *E. tarda* under a pH range of 4-7 (Fig. 2). The 2-DE gel was transferred to PVDF membrane and applied to immunoblot analysis (Fig. 3). Sixteen spots were recognized by CME, 7 of which were then identified

by ESI-MS/MS analysis (Table 1), spot number 1 and 2 were outer membrane proteins of *E. tarda*; spot 3 was identified as phosphopyruvate hydratase from *Photobacterium profundum ss9*; spot 4 was phosphoglycerate kinase of *Edwardsiella ictaluri*; spot 5 was Ribose-5-phosphate isomerase A of *Enterobacter cloacae*; and spot 6 and 7 were two triosephosphate isomerases from *Gloeobacter violaceus PCC 7421* and *Serratia proteamaculans 568*, respectively (Table 1). The identified proteins from the database of other species were later compared to *E. tarda* aligned by BLAST search, which showed very high sequence similarity except for the 82% of *Gloeobacter violaceus PCC 7421*.





Figure 1a & 1b Proteins of *E. tarda* were separated on 2-DE and stained with silver stain. About 400 proteins were observed in a pH range of 4-7 (12.5% SDS-PAGE), and 16 spot were detected in immunoblot assay with NAb. The 7 proteins recognized by CME were identified by ESI-MS/MS. 2-DE analysis of *E. tarda* (a). Immunblot analysis with NAb (b).

Table Protein	1 i identification an	d peptide	homologues				
Spot No.	Accession no.	Mascot Score	Mass/ pI	Species	Protein name	Peptide	Peptide identity to E farda
- 0	gi 25989456 ai 25089456	23 50	47225/5.3	Edwardsiella tarda Edwardsiella tarda	outer membrane protein	R.ANSINTDDIVALGLVYQF k vvdi gatvyfnk n	E. 141 44
1 თ	gi 54310177	71	45586/4.9	Photobacterium profundum ss9	phosphopyruvate hvdratase	K.DVTLAMDCAASEFYDK.E +Carbamidomethvl	100%
4	gi 2708662	71	6426/4.5	Edwardsiella ictaluri	phosphoglycerate kinase	K.ISYISTGGGAFLEFVEGK.K	100%
5	gi 30173331	47	22763/5.1	Enterobacter cloacae	Ribose-5-phosphate isomerase A	K.QVDILGNFPLPVEVIPMAR. S	100%
9	gi 37520609	35	26591/5.4	Gloeobacter violaceus PCC 7421	triosephosphate isomerase	R.LIIAYEPIWAIGTGK.T	82%
٢	gi 1 <i>5</i> 7373037	38	26626/5.8	Serratia proteamaculans 568	triosephosphate isomerase	K.GAVIAYEPIWAIGTGK.S	100%

DISCUSSION

Under normal conditions, natural antibodies are expressed, even if the individuals are not stimulated by specific antigens acting against non-self substance, such as pathogens, cell debris, nuclear proteins or DNA. This NAb has been believed to IgM in humans (Coutinho et al., 1995). Similarly, in olive flounder, two Igs including IgM and IgM precursor have been observed in the serum (Shin et al., 2007; Bang et al., 1996). In addition, IgM has been observed in the cutaneous mucus of olive flounder, and this has been regarded as a NAb (Palaksha et al., 2008). In this study, the mucosal Nab, IgM, was studied to establish its capability to recognize antigenic proteins of E. tarda. The result of immunoblot analysis from 1-DE showed several weak bands between 62 and 25 kDa, which were recognized by CME. As described in a previous study, this result shows the property of NAb of reacting to pathogens by non-specific mechanisms (Coutinho et al., 1995). Therefore, the CME of olive flounder contains NAb and could detect common proteins that had not been previously introduced to the host. To detect the common antigenic proteins, the present study carried out 2-DE and immunoblot assay. Seven proteins from 16 spots which were recognized by CME were identified by ESI-MS/MS. The result of protein identification showed two spots belonging to *E. tarda* and five spots identified from other species. The proteins were identified as belonging to other species due to the limited protein database of *E. tarda* at the time of the experiments. Since then, the whole genomic sequence of *E. tarda* has been published (Wang et al., 2009), and these proteins have been shown to have high sequence identity in BLAST alignment analysis against the published E. tarda data. The phosphopyruvate hydratase, phosphoglycerate kinase, and Ribose-5-phosphate isomerase A all showed 100% peptide identity to E. tarda. Similarly, triosephosphate isomerase showed 82% and 100% peptide identity to E. tarda in G. violaceus PCC 7421 and S. proteamaculans 568, respectively.

In the present study, seven common antigenic proteins of *E. tarda* which can be recognized by NAb, were identified using ESI-MS/MS analysis. Until now, infection mechanisms, attaching sites and penetration are not clearly known. However, abraded skin could be suggested as a penetration site of *E. tarda* (Mohanty and Sahoo, 2007). Therefore, these common proteins might be important epitopes of *E. tarda* which are recognized by NAb, and advances the understanding of the pathogen invasion mechanism on the skin of olive flounder; especially, the role of NAb to recognize the specific epitope against *E. tarda* infection. However, the present study only showed *E. tarda* common antigens; thus, information of common antigenic proteins from other infectious species might be required to clearly understand the character of NAb in the cutaneous mucus of olive flounder.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This work was supported by a grant from World Class University Program (R32-10253) funded by the Ministry of Education, Science and Technology, South Korea.

REFERENCES

- Alexander, J.B. and Ingram, G.A. 1992. Noncellular nonspecific defence mechanisms of fish. Annual Review of Fish Diseases 2: 249-279.
- Bang, J.D., Kim, J.W., Lee, S.D., Park, S.I., Chun, S.G., Jeong, C.S. and Park, J.W. 1996. Humoral immune response of flounder to *Edwardsiella tarda*: The presence of various sizes of immunoglobulins in flounder. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 26: 197-203.
- Coutinho, A., Kazatchkine, M.D. and Avrameas, S. 1995. Natural autoantibodies. *Current Opinion in Immunology* 7: 812-818.
- Di Conza, J.J. and Halliday, W.J. 1971. Relationship of catfish serum antibodies to immunoglobulin in mucus secretions. *The Australian Journal of Experimental Biology and Medical Science* 49: 517-519.
- Ellis, A.E. 2001. Innate host defense mechanisms of fish against viruses and bacteria. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology* 25: 827-839.
- Fast, M.D., Sims, D.E., Burka, J.F., Mustafa, A. and Ross, N.W. 2002. Skin morphology and humoral non-specific defence parameters of mucus and plasma in rainbow trout, coho and atlantic salmon. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology.Part A, Molecular & Integrative Physiology* 132: 645-657.
- Hatten, F., Fredriksen, □., Hordvik, I. and Endresen, C. 2001. Presence of IgM in cutaneous mucus, but not in gut mucus of atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar*. serum IgM is rapidly degraded when added to gut mucus. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology* 11: 257-268.
- Kanno, T., Nakai, T. and Muroga, K. 1989. Mode of transmission of vibriosis among ayu *Plecoglossus altivelis. Journal of Aquatic Animal Health* 1: 2-6.
- Laemmli, U.K. 1970. Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. *Nature* 227: 680-685.
- Lee, K., Lee, J., Kim, Y., Bae, D., Kang, K.Y., Yoon, S.C. and Lim, D. 2004. Defining the plant disulfide proteome. *Electrophoresis* 25: 532-541.
- Mohanty, B.R. and Sahoo, P.K. 2007. Edwardsiellosis in fish: A brief review. *Journal of Biosciences* 32: 1331-1344.
- Palaksha, K.J., Shin, G.W., Kim, Y.R. and Jung, T.S. 2008. Evaluation of non-specific immune components from the skin mucus of olive flounder (*Paralichthys olivaceus*). Fish & Shellfish Immunology 24: 479-488.
- Rombout, J.W., Blok, L.J., Lamers, C.H. and Egberts, E. 1986. Immunization of carp (*Cyprinus carpio*) with a *Vibrio anguillarum* bacterin: Indications for a common mucosal immune system. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology* 10: 341-351.
- Shephard, K.L. 1994 Functions for fish mucus. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries* 4: 401-429; 429.
- Shin, G.W., Palaksha, K.J., Yang, H.H., Shin, Y.S., Kim, Y.R., Lee, E.Y. Oh, M.J. and Jung T.S. 2006. Partial two-dimensional gel electrophoresis (2-DE) maps of *Streptococcus iniae* ATCC29178 and *Lactococcus garvieae* KG9408. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 70: 71-9.

- Shin, G.W., Kim, Y.R., Shin, Y.S., Lee, E.G., Oh, M.J., Yoshida, T. and Jung, T.S. 2007. Purification of two different immunoglobulins (Igs) from olive flounder *Paralichthys olivaceus* and analysis of *Lactococcus garvieae* antigens by the Igs. *Fish Pathology* 42: 19-28.
- Thune, R.L., Stanley, L.A. and Cooper, R.K. 1993. Pathogenesis of gram-negative bacterial infections in warmwater fish. *Annual Review of Fish Diseases* 3: 37-68.
- Wang, Q., Yang, M., Xiao, J., Wu, H., Wang, X., Lv, Y., Xu, L., Zheng, H., Wang, S., Zhao, G., Liu, Q. and Zhang, Y. 2009. Genome sequence of the versatile fish pathogen *Edwardsiella tarda* provides insights into its adaptation to broad host ranges and intracellular niches. *PloS One* 4: e7646.
- Woof, J.M. and Mestecky, J. 2005. Mucosal immunoglobulins. *Immunological Reviews* 206: 64-82.
- Zilberg, D. and Klesius, P.H. 1997. Quantification of immunoglobulin in the serum and mucus of channel catfish at different ages and following infection with *Edwardsiella ictaluri*. *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology* 58: 171-180.

Immunoproteomic analysis of extracellular products (ECPs) obtained from three etiological isolates of streptococcosis (*Streptococcus iniae, Streptococcus parauberis* Dongbo and *Streptococcus parauberis* Namhae) of olive flounder (*Paralichthys Olivaceous*) in Korea

¹SEONG WON NHO, ¹HO BIN JANG, ¹SEONG BIN PARK, ¹IN SEOK CHA, ¹CHAN YONG JUNG, ¹,YOUNG KYU KIM, ^{1,2}TAKASHI AOKI and ¹TAE SUNG JUNG

¹Aquatic Biotechnology Center of WCU Project, Laboratory of Aquatic Animal Diseases, College of Veterinary Medicine, Gyeongsang National University, Jinju, Gyeongnam, 660-701, South Korea ²Laboratory of Genome Science, Tokyo University of Marine Science and Technology Konan 4-5-7, Minato, Tokyo, 108-8477, Japan

ABSTRACT

In the pathogenesis of *Streptococcus sp.* in mammals, extracellular proteins (ECPs) have been a well critical factor in immunological invasion and evasion. Yet, in fish, there have only been a few reports on the immunological role of ECPs in streptococcosis. Recently, ECPs have been evaluated as an effective immunogenic source against *Streptococcus iniae* infection in olive flounder. Here, we characterize ECPs associated etiological bacteriacausing streptococcosis in olive flounder: *Streptococcus iniae, Streptococcus parauberis* Dongbo, and *Streptococcus parauberis* Namhae. Immunoproteomic analysis in which ECPs from the respective bacteria reacted with olive flounder antisera against homologous/heterologous bacteria or different strains was carried out. In 2-DE immunoblot profile ECPs, antigenic spots were identified as Secretion protein Bug4, glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase, fructose-bisphosphate aldolase, Enolase, 60 kDa chaperonin, phosphoglycerate kinase, DNA-directed RNA polymerase alpha chain, and elongation factor Tu. This study might provide useful data to understand ECPs protein composition,

Corresponding author: Tae Sung Jung, jungts@gnu.ac.kr; Takashi Aoki, aoik@gnu.ac.kr

Nho, S.W., Jang, H.B., Park, S.B., Cha, I.S., Aoki, T. and Jung, T.S. 2011. Immunoproteomic analysis of extracellular products (ECPs) obtained from three etiological isolates of streptococcosis (*Streptococcus iniae, Streptococcus parauberis* Dongbo and *Streptococcus parauberis* Namhae) of olive flounder (*Paralichthys Olivaceous*) in Korea, pp. 219-228. *In* Bondad-Reantaso, M.G., Jones, J.B., Corsin, F. and Aoki, T. (eds.). Diseases in Asian Aquaculture VII. Fish Health Section, Asian Fisheries Society, Selangor, Malaysia, 385 pp.

it's role in pathogenesis, and immunogenicity by using proteomics techniques such as mass spectrometry (MS and MS/MS) and peptide mass fingerprinting (PMF). Further studies will evaluate the efficacy of adding ECPs to *Streptococcus sp.* vaccine.

Key words: Olive flounder; *Streptococcus iniae*; *Streptococcus parauberis*; extracellular proteins; vaccine.

INTRODUCTION

Olive flounder (*Paralichthys olivaceus*) is a commercially important marine species in Korea, China and Japan. Currently, the production of this species yielded 43 metric tons and earned USD 200 M in 2008 (Statistics Korea, www.kostat.go.kr). However, the intensive culture of this species has resulted to severe economic losses by various bacterial diseases, especially streptococcosis (Shin et al., 2007a). The major etiological agents of streptococcosis include Streptococcus iniae and S. parauberis (Nho et al., 2009). Hence, a general vaccine against Streptococcus sp. should be developed to effectively prevent streptococcosis induced by the co-infection of a variety of bacteria (Toranzo et al., 2005). However several attempts using a homologous-inactivated/ killed whole cell vaccine (bacterin) still focused on antigenic variation, since, along with several vaccination conditions (Romalde et al., 2005; Toranzo et al., 2005), the efficacy could also vary with the strains and/or isolates (Bachrach et al., 2001; Eldar et al., 1997; Klesius et al., 2000). In addition, little was known about crossprotection of respective vaccine against such pathogens. Previous studies have shown that streptococcal ECPs could be the key to improve cross-protection; for example, the modified S. agalactiae bacterin (containing ECPs) provided protection against homologous and heterologous challenge without booster in tilapia (Evans et al., 2004). It is likely that ECPs could be important materials to provoke cross-protection against various streptococcocal agents. Immunoproteomics has been employed in various studies to effectively investigate not only immune response between host and pathogen, but also antigenic proteins of importance for vaccine developments (Ni et al., 2010; Shin et al., 2007a; Vytvytska et al., 2002). In this study, we applied an immunoproteomic approach (the combination of 2-dimensional electrophoresis (2-DE) and immunoblotting with matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry (MALDI-TOF MS)) to explore the common antigenic proteins from ECPs of etiological agents, two strains isolated from different regions including S. iniae Jeju45 (Shin et al., 2007c), S. parauberis Dongbo (Korea Jeju province) (Nho et al., 2009) and S. parauberis Namhae (Korea Gyeongnam province) (Korea isolate). The information on secreted antigenic proteins relevant to cross-reactivity might be helpful in understanding the role of ECPs in pathogenicity and antigenicity.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Bacteria

The *S. iniae* Jeju45, *S. parauberis* Dongbo and *S. parauberis* Namhae used in this study were isolated from spleen of diseased flounder in 2000, 2006 and 2009 (Shin *et al.*, 2007c; Nho *et al.*, 2009). These isolates were incubated in Tryptic Soya Broth (TSB, OXOID) and Tryptic Soya Broth (TSB, OXOID) at 25°C for 24h.

Production of olive flounder antiserum

Olive flounder specific anti- *S. iniae, S. parauberis* Dongbo and *S. paraubeirs* Namhae sera were produced as described by Kang *et al.* (2006). Olive flounder with an average body weight of 150g and an average length of 15 cm were purchased from a commercial fish farm located in Namhae county on the southern coast of Korea. Fish were divided into 4 groups of 5 individuals each and were maintained in 200 L FRP tanks at 25°C. The fishes were intraperitoneally injected with 0.1 ml (approximately 10^7 CFU ml⁻¹) of *S. iniae, S. parauberis* Dongbo and *S. paraubeirs* Namhae. Live bacteria were used to ensure the immunogenicity of the bacteria is maintained. Fishes from one tank was maintained as negative control. After 2 weeks, blood was collected from the recovered flounder and the upper supernatant was separated by centrifuge at 3,500 rpm for 15 min at 4°C.

ECPs precipitation

Extracellular precipitation was performed as described by Evans *et al.* (2004) and modified. For preparation of bacterial ECPs, *S. iniae* Jeju-45, *S. parauberis* Dongbo *and S. parauberis* Namhae isolates were cultured on TSB for 24 h at 25°C. The supernatants were obtained by centrifugation at $8,000 \times g$ for 30 min and the cell-free fluid was sterilized using 0.45 µm disposable filter. The ECPs was dehydrated with a freeze dryer (Heto MAXI dry lyo, Allerod, Denmark) and stored at -70°C until use. The ECPs powder was diluted by sterilized PBS, the protein concentrations were determined by Bradford assay using bovine serum albumin as a standard.

Isoelectric focusing (IEF) and SDS-PAGE

IEF was performed using the IPGphorTM system (Amersham Bioscience, Uppsala, Sweden) with IPG strips (Immobiline DryStripTM, pH 4–7, 13 cm; Amersham Bioscience), according to the previously reported method (Shin *et al.*, 2006). The protein loading volume for ECPs extract was adjusted to 120 μ g ml⁻¹ with rehydration buffer (9M urea, 2% CHAPS, 0.4% DTT, 0.5% IPG-buffer, and 0.002% bromophenol blue. Prepared sample was loaded onto the IPG strips and focused at 86.1 kV h at 20 °C using an automated system as follows: rehydration for 12 h (6 h at 30V followed by 6 h at 60 V), and focusing for 17 h (2 h at 200V, 1 h at 500V, 1 h 1000V, 1 h at 2000V, 2 h at 4000V and 10 h at 8000 V). After IEF, the IPG strip was equilibrated with 10 mg ml⁻¹ of DTT in equilibration buffer (6M urea, 2% SDS, 30% glycerol, 0.002% bromophenol blue, and 50mM Tris–HCl, pH 8.8) for 15 min, and then with 25 mg ml⁻¹ of iodoacetamide in the equilibration buffer for another 15 min. Equilibrated IPG strip was placed onto 12.5% SDS-polyacrylamide gels

(18 cm×16 cm×0.1 cm), sealed with 0.5%, w/v low melting agarose (Sigma), then electrophoresis at 10mA gel⁻¹ for 15 min followed by application of 20mA gel⁻¹ until the dye reached the bottom of the gel, and silver-stained.

2-DE immunoblot assay

For 2-DE immunoblot assays, each ECPs contained in spots of 2DE gels was transferred to a PVDF membrane (Millipore, USA). The membranes were blocked with 5 % skim milk in PBS-T for 1 h at room temperature (RT), washed three times with PBS-T, incubated with flounder specific anti-*S. iniae* Jeju-45 sera, anti-*S. parauberis* Dongbo sera and anti-*S. parauberis* Namhae sera for 2 h at RT, respectively and washed three times with PBS-T for 15 min. Second antibody, olive flounder IgM monoclonal antibody (Shin *et al.*, 2007b) was incubated for 2 h at RT and washed three times with PBS-T for 15 min. Antigenic spots from ECPs were visualized by incubation with goat anti-mouse-HRP (Jackson, USA; 1:4000) for 1 h at RT. After washing with PBS-T, the membrane was developed using an Enhanced Chemiluminescent (ECL) kit (Amersham Biosciences) then exposed to X-ray film for visualization of the antigenic proteins. Images of stained gels and X-ray films were digitalized with an EPSON perfection V700 photo image scanner (SEIKO EPSON CORP, USA) and the acquired images were analyzed using Phoretix 2D software (Ver. 5.01; NonLinear Dynamics, UK).

MALDI-TOF MS

Protein spots were identified by Peptide Mass Fingerprinting (PMF) using Mass-Assisted Laser Desoption/Ionization Mass Spectrometry (MALDI-TOF MS) as described by Shin et al. (2006). In brief, protein spots of interest were excised from the silver-stained gels and subjected to in-gel digestion with 12.5 ng/ml porcine trypsin (Promega, Madison, WI, USA) at 37°C overnight (approximately 16 h). The supernatant was recovered and extracted twice with an equal volume of 5% formic acid and acetonitrile, and the extracts were pooled and dried in a vacuum centrifuge. Dried tryptic peptides were redissolved in 1 ml of sample solution (93:5:2, v/v ratio of DW, acetonitrile and TFA), and targeting on MALDI plates was performed using the solution-phage nitrocellulose method (Lee et al., 2003). Alpha-cyano-4-hydroxycinamic acid (40 mg/ml) and nitrocellulose (20 mg/ml) were prepared separately in acetone and mixed with isopropanol in a ratio of 2:1:1 (v/v). The internal standards, des-Arg-Bradykinin (monoisotopic mass: 904.4681) and angiotensin I (1296.6853) (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) were added to the mixture to generate the matrix solution. The 1 µl matrix solution was spotted onto target circles on the MALDI plate and dried. The dried samples were analyzed using a Voyager-DE STR MALDI-TOF mass spectrometer (PerSeptive Biosystems, Framingham, MA, USA). The proteins were identified by comparing the obtained mass spectra to the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) and SwissProt protein sequence databases using the Prospector (http:// prospector.ucsf.edu) and Mascot (http://www.matrixscience.com) website.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Proteins were separated based on their isoelectric points using 2-DE. On 2-DE, approximately 87, 98 and 95 spots were observed for *S. iniae* Jeju45, *S. parauberis* Dongbo and *S. parauberis* Namhae ECPs, respectively (Fig. 1A, Fig. 2E and Fig. 3I). In the 2-DE immunoblot assay, serum raised against *S. iniae* Jeju45, *S. parauberis* Dongbo and *S. parauberis* Namhae were used due to its ability to recognize the ECPs containing immune reactive spots three bacteria isolates (Fig. 1, 2 and 3). All the immunoreactive spots were also observed in respective duplicated 2-DE gel.



Analysis of cross reactivity using *S. iniae* Jeju45, *S. parauberis* Dongbo and *S. parauberis* Namhae ECPs and its immunoproteomics contained antigenic proteins such as secretion protein Bug4, glyceraldehydes-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH), Fructosebisphosphate aldolase, enlase, 60 kDa chaperonin, phasphoglycerate kinase, DNA-directed RNA polymerase α chain and elongation factor-TU. GAPDH and Fructose-bisphosphate aldolase were commonly elicited against homologous/ heterologous isolates and different genera. These are potentially important antigenic proteins of *Streptococcus* sp. (Table 1).





Figure 2. Comparaison of *S.parauberis* Dongbo ECPs 2-DE and immunoblot image. (E) *S.parauberis* Dongbo ECPs 2-DE, (F) *S.parauberis* Dongbo ECPs immunoblot by anti-*S. iniae* Jeju45 sera, (G) *S.parauberis* Dongbo ECPs immunoblot by anti-*S. parauberis* Dongbo sera, (H) *S.parauberis* Dongbo sera, (H) *S.parauberis* Dongbo sera, parauberis Namhae sera.



Figure 3. Comparaison of S. parauberis Namhae ECPs 2-DE and immunoblot image. (I) S.parauberis Namhae ECPs 2-DE, (J) S.parauberis Namhae ECPs immunoblot by anti-S. iniae Jeju45 sera, (K) S.parauberis Namhae ECPs immunoblot by anti-S. parauberis Dongbo sera, (L) S.parauberis Namhae ECPs immunoblot by anti-S. parauberis Namhae sera.

The 1	e 1 ist of identified antigenic proteins of <i>S. iniae</i> Jeju ²	5, S.paraı	uberis D	ougbo	and <i>S.p</i>	araub	eris N	Vamha	e ECF	s 2-DI	and i	mmun	oblot.
Spot	t Figure image	S. iniae	Jeju45	ECPs :	2-DE	S.	paral	uberis	10	S. pa	raube	ris Nai	mhae
.001	Antigenic proteins				2 2 2 2	and	immi ima	unobl ge	ot to	imi	nunob	lot im	age
		P	в	C	D	Е	Ľ.	U	H	I	ſ	K	r
	Secretion protein Bug4	0	0	0	0	×	×	X	×	X	×	X	x
6.	glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase	0	0	0	Х	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Э.	fructose-bisphosphate aldolase	0	0	Х	X	0	0	X	X	0	0	X	Х
4	Enolase	0	0	Х	X	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
5.	60 kDa chaperonin	0	0	Х	X	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	X	Х	Х
6.	phosphoglycerate kinase	0	0	Х	X	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	X	Х	Х
З.	DNA-directed RNA polymerase alpha chain elongation factor Tu (EF-TU)	хx	××	××	××	0 X	0 X	××	××	X 0	хo	XX	××

Immunoproteomic analysis of extracellular products (ECPs) from streptococcosis of olive flounder in Korea

GAPDH and enolase known as located on the cell wall in streptococcus species, and transported to the cell surface without recognizable signal sequences. In addition GAPDH and enolase was determined to serve as the streptocococcal plasmin receptor involved in bacterial adhesion and signal transduction to host cells (Bisno *et al.*, 2003; Cunningham, 2000). And 60 kDa chaperonin and elongation factor-Tu have a dual function and serves as both a ribosomal structural protein that binds rRNA and a translational repressor for overcome to varied environment (Len *et al.*, 2004). Phosphoglycerate kinase provided a regulatory link between glycolytic activity and signal transduction regulation involving biofilm formation for protective antigen (Iwami and Yamada., 1985) Others also contributed the pathogen survival or/and virulence acquisition such as DNA replication, enzyme synthesis, biosynthesis of metabolic cycle and sugar utilization.

Based on these result, it could be suggested that *S. iniae* Jeju45, *S. parauberis* Dongbo and *S. parauberis* Namhae might share structural constituents of secreted proteins of three bacterial isolates as common immunogens, which could provide cross-protection against etiological agents.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This work was supported by a grant from World Class University Program (R32-10253) funded by Korean Ministry of Education, Science and Technology of South Korea.

REFERENCES

- Bachrach, G., Zlotkin, A., Hurvitz, A., Evans, D.L. and Eldar, A. 2001. Recovery of *Streptococcus iniae* from diseased fish previously vaccinated with a streptococcus vaccine. *Applied Environmental Microbiology* 67(8):3756-8.
- Bisno, A.L., Brito, M.O. and Collins, C.M. 2003. Molecular basis of group A streptococcal virulence. *Lancet Infectious Diseases* 3(4):191-200.
- Cunningham, M.W. 2000. Pathogenesis of group A streptococcal infections. *Clinical Microbiological Reviews* 13(3):470-511.
- Eldar, A., Horovitcz, A. and Bercovier, H. 1997. Development and efficacy of a vaccine against *Streptococcus iniae* infection in farmed rainbow trout. *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology* 56(1-2):175-83.
- Evans, J.J., Klesius, P.H., Shoemaker, C.A. 2004. Efficacy of *Streptococcus agalactiae* (group B) vaccine in tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) by intraperitoneal and bath immersion administration. *Vaccine* 22(27-28):3769-73.
- Iwami, Y. and Yamada, T. 1985. Regulation of glycolytic rate in *Streptococcus sanguis* grown under glucose-limited and glucose-excess conditions in a chemostat. *Infectious Immunology* 50(2):378-81.
- Kang, S.H., Shin, G.W., Shin, Y.S., Kim, Y.R., Yang, H.H., Lee, E.Y., Lee, E.G., Huh, N.E., Oh, MJ and Jung, T.S. 2004. Experimental evaluation of pathogenicity of *Lactococcus garvieae* in black rockfish (*Sebastes schlegeli*). *Journal of Veterinary Science* 5(4):387-90.

- Klesius, P.H., Shoemaker, C.A. and Evans, J.J. 2000. Efficacy of single and combined *Streptococcus iniae* isolate vaccine administered by intraperitoneal and intramuscular routes in tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). *Aquaculture* 188(3-4):237-46.
- Lee, E.G., Kim, J.H., Shin, Y.S., Shin, G.W., Suh, M.D., Kim, D.Y., Kim, Y.H., Kim, G.S. and Jung, T.S. 2003. Establishment of a two-dimensional electrophoresis map for Neospora caninum tachyzoites by proteomics. *Proteomics* 3(12):2339-50.
- Len, A.C., Harty, D.W. and Jacques, N.A. 2004. Stress-responsive proteins are upregulated in *Streptococcus mutans* during acid tolerance. *Microbiology* 150(Pt 5):1339-51.
- Nho, S.W., Shin, G.W., Park, S.B., Jang, H.B., Cha, I.S., Ha, M.A., Kim, Y.R., Park, Y.K., Dalvi, R.S., Kang, B.J., Joh, S.J. and Jung, T.S. 2009. Phenotypic characteristics of *Streptococcus iniae* and *Streptococcus parauberis* isolated from olive flounder (*Paralichthys olivaceus*). *FEMS Microbiological Letters* 293(1):20-7.
- Ni, X.D., Wang, N., Liu, Y.J. and Lu, C.P. 2010. Immunoproteomics of extracellular proteins of the *Aeromonas hydrophila* China vaccine strain J-1 reveal a highly immunoreactive outer membrane protein. *FEMS Immunol Medical Microbiology* 58(3):363-73
- Romalde, J.L., Ravelo, C., López-Romalde, S., Avendaño-Herrera, R., Magariños, B. and Toranzo, A.E. Vaccination strategies to prevent emerging diseases for Spanish aquaculture. *Development Biology (Basel)* 121:85-95.
- Shin, G.W., Palaksha, K.J., Yang, H.H., Shin, Y.S., Kim, Y.R., Lee, E.Y., Oh, M.J. and Jung, T.S. 2006. Partial two-dimensional gel electrophoresis (2-DE) maps of *Streptococcus iniae* ATCC29178 and *Lactococcus garvieae* KG9408. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 70(1-2):71-9.
- Shin, G.W., Palaksha, K.J., Kim, Y.R., Nho, S.W., Kim, S., Heo, G.J., Park, S.C. and Jung, T.S. 2007a. Application of immunoproteomics in developing a *Streptococcus iniae* vaccine for olive flounder (*Paralichthys olivaceus*). J Chromatogr B Analyst Technology Biomedical Life Sci 849(1-2):315-22.
- Shin, G.W., Kim, Y.R., Shin, Y.S., Lee, E.G., Oh, M.J., Yoshida, T. and Jung, T.S. 2007b. Purification of Two Different Immunoglobulins (Igs) from Olive Flounder *Paralichthys olivaceus* and Analysis of *Lactococcus garvieae* Antigens by the Igs. *Fish Pathology* 42(1):19-28.
- Shin, G.W., Palacsha, K.J., Yang, H.H., Shin, Y.S., Kim, Y.R., Lee, E.Y., Kim, H.Y., Kim, Y.J., Oh, M.J., Yoshida, T. and Jung, T.S. 2007c. Discrimination of streptococcosis agents in olive flounder (*Paralichthys olivaceus*). *Bulletin of the European Association of Fish Patholologists* 26(2):68-79.
- Toranzo, A.E., Magariños, B. and Romalde, J.L. 2005. A review of the main bacterial fish diseases in mariculture systems. *Aquaculture* 2461-4):37-61.
- Vytvytska, O., Nagy, E., Blüggel, M., Meyer, H.E., Kurzbauer, R., Huber, L.A. and Klade, C.S. 2002. Identification of vaccine candidate antigens of *Staphylococcus aureus* by serological proteome analysis. *Proteomics* 2(5):580-90.

Antimicrobial peptides from the black tiger shrimp *Penaeus monodon* – a review

ANCHALEE TASSANAKAJON and KUNLAYA SOMBOONWIWAT

Center of Excellence for Molecular Biology and Genomics of Shrimp Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Science Chulalongkorn University Bangkok 10330, Thailand

ABSTRACT

Black tiger shrimp *Penaeus monodon* is one of the major shrimp species being cultured in Asian countries. Disease outbreaks have resulted in a decline of *P. monodon* cultivation and severe losses in the shrimp production. To combat harmful microorganisms, shrimp produce diverse classes of antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) as part of their immune defense. In *P. monodon*, several cDNA sequences of AMPs were identified by means of expressed sequence tag (EST) approach. These DNA sequences encode different putative AMPs, such as crustins, penaeidins, anti-lipopolysaccharide factors (ALFs) and lysozymes. In this review, we present the recent information on sequence diversity, expression and antimicrobial properties of *P. monodon* AMPs. The information indicates the importance of these AMPs as the effective host defense molecules against the invasion of pathogenic microorganisms.

Keywords: *Penaeus monodon*, shrimp, antimicrobial peptides, innate immunity, expressed sequence tag

Tassanakajon, A. and Somboonwiwat, K. 2011. Antimicrobial peptides from the black tiger shrimp *Penaeus monodon* - A review, pp. 229-240. *In* Bondad-Reantaso, M.G., Jones, J.B., Corsin, F. and Aoki, T. (eds.). Diseases in Asian Aquaculture VII. Fish Health Section, Asian Fisheries Society, Selangor, Malaysia. 385 pp.

Corresponding author: Anchalee Tassanakajon, anchalee.k@chula.ac.th

INTRODUCTION

Antimicrobial peptides (AMPs), ubiquitously found in all living organisms, are important immune effectors with an ability to neutralize and/or kill invading microorganisms (Brown and Hancock, 2006). AMPs share common features of small size (about 15 to 100 amino acids) with amphipathic properties but they differ in the primary sequences, secondary structures and spectra of activities. Lacking the adaptive immunity, shrimp rely primarily on immune molecules including AMPs to combat the varieties of microorganisms. The first AMP family discovered in shrimp was penaeidin of the Pacific white shrimp, Litopenaeus vannamei (Destoumieux et al., 1997) which displayed antimicrobial activity against Gram-positive bacteria and fungi. Thereafter, other shrimp AMP families: crustins, anti-lipopolysaccharide factors (ALFs) and lysozymes (Amparyup et al., 2008a; Amparyup et al., 2008b; Bartlett et al., 2002; Hikima et al., 2003; Sotelo-Mundo et al., 2003; Supungul et al., 2004), had been reported in various shrimp species. These shrimp AMPs have been characterized for their expression and antimicrobial activities. In the black tiger shrimp Penaeus monodon, Supungul et al. (2002; 2004) reported the discovery of cationic AMPs from the hemocyte cDNA libraries. The most recent data was reported by Tassanakajon et al. (2006) describing the identification of putative antimicrobial sequences from the Penaeus monodon EST database http://pmonodon.biotec.or.th. In this paper, we summarized a recent information on *P. monodon* AMPs concerning the sequence variations, gene expression in various tissues and in response to pathogen infections and antimicrobial properties.

SEQUENCE DIVERSITY

AMPs found in *P. monodon* were discovered mainly by means of expressed sequence tag (EST) analysis. A total of 889 ESTs encoding putative AMPs were identified in the *Penaeus monodon* EST database of 40,001 EST sequences. These AMP sequences represent four major AMPs: penaeidins, crustins including single WAP domain (SWD) proteins, anti-lipopolysaccharide factors (ALFs) and lysozymes. Of these AMPs, crustins were the most abundant followed by penaeidins, ALFs and lysozymes, respectively (Table 1).

Crustins are cationic cysteine-rich antibacterial peptides consisting of a single whey acidic protein (WAP) domain (Smith *et al.*, 2008). The WAP domain located at the C-terminus of the molecule contains 50 amino acid residues with eight cysteine residues at defined positions (Ranganathan *et al.*, 1999). The first crustin molecule, an 11.5 kDa antimicrobial protein namely 'carcinin', was isolated from hemocytes of the crab *Carcinus maenas* (Smith and Chisholm, 2001). The putative crustin genes of *P. monodon* (crustin*Pms*) have been identified from the hemocyte and the gill-epipodite cDNA libraries (Supungul *et al.*, 2004; Tassanakajon *et al.*, 2008; Vatanavicharn *et al.*, 2009). In comparison with other *P. monodon* AMPs, the crustin family exhibits the highest sequence variation both in length and their primary sequences. According to the classification of crustins proposed by Smith *et al.* (2008), *P. monodon* crustins belong to Type II and III crustins. Type II crustin constitutes the majority of *P. monodon* crustin sequences consisting of seven isoforms (crustin*Pms*]-

Table 1

Types, number of sequences, diversity and antimicrobial activities of the Penaeus	
monodon AMPs from the EST database (http://pmonodon.biotec.or.th)	

Types	No. of sequences	No. of isoforms	Major isoform	Antimicrobial activities	References
Crustins					
Type II	275	7	CrustinPm 1	Gram +	Supungul <i>et al.</i> , 2008
			CrustinPm 5	Gram +	Vatanavicharn <i>et al.</i> , 2009
			Crustin-like <i>Pm</i>	Gram +	Amparyup <i>et al.</i> , 2008a
				Gram +, Gram-	
Type III (SWD)	50	3	SWDPm2	Gram+, anti- subtilisin	Amparyup <i>et al.</i> , 2008b
ALFs	208	6	ALFPm3	Gram +, Gram-, fungi	Somboonwiwat <i>et al.</i> , 2005
				Anti-virus	
					Thartada et al., 2009
	1		ALFPm2	Gram +, Gram-	Tharntada <i>et al.</i> , 2008
Penaeidins	284	2	PEN3	ND*	Tassanakajon <i>et al.</i> , 2008
			PEN 5	ND*	Tassanakajon <i>et al.</i> , 2008
Lysozymes	72	2	C-type	Gram+, Gram-	Supungul et al.,
			I-type	Gram+, Gram-	2010

*ND is no data available.

6 and crustin-like*Pm*) whereas Type III crustin or single WAP domain containing protein (SWD) comprises three isoforms of SWD (SWD*Pm*s 1-3).

Type II crustins contains a signal peptide followed by a long glycine-rich domain and a cysteine-rich domain (four cysteine residues) at the N-terminal region, and a WAP domain (eight cysteine residues) at the C-terminal region. Based on the alignment of amino acid sequences, all Type II crustin*Pms* possess 12 cysteine residues, eight of which participate in a four disulfide core (4DSC) or WAP domain. High sequence diversity both in length and primary sequence of different isoforms of crustin*Pms* was clearly observed (Tassanakajon *et al.*, 2008). Recent data showed that crustin*Pms* were encoded by different genes and had quite different promoter and regulatory sequences. Genome organization study of crustin-like*Pm* gene (716 bp) reveals that it consists of two exons (38 and 487 bp) and one intron (191 bp) (Amparyup *et al.*, 2008b). The 5'UTR sequence contains a putative TATA box and several potential *cis*-acting elements, e.g. putative binding sites for GATA binding factor, STAT5, NF-kappaB, AP-1 and C/EBP-b. Crustin*Pm5* gene (1,394 bp) contains four exons of 31, 75, 242 and 194 bp, respectively, interrupted by three introns of 606, 148 and 116 bp. Instead of the putative GATA and NF-kappaB sites, interestingly, the upstream sequence of

the crustin*Pm*5 gene contains a complete heat shock regulatory element (HSE) suggesting that it is the heat-inducible gene (Vatanavicharn *et al.*, 2009).

The less well-characterized *P. monodon* Type III crustin or SWD*Pm* is composed of 3 subgroups (SWD*Pm*1, SWD*Pm*2 and SWD*Pm*3) (Amparyup *et al.*, 2008a). The Type III crustin does not contain the glycine-rich and the cysteine-rich regions but instead has a proline-arginine rich region between the signal sequence and the WAP domain. Analysis of the exon-intron organization of Type III crustin genes from *P. monodon* SWD (Chen *et al.*, 2006) and SWD*Pm*2 (Amparyup *et al.*, 2008a) reveals that they both contain three exons and two introns. The differences between these two SWD proteins are the size of the first intron and the microsatellite sequences in the second intron. At the 5' upstream sequences, putative transcription factor binding sites, such as cap, hsf, GATA-1, SRY, Tst-1, HNF-3b, CF2-II, Oct-1, AP-1 and USF, are found but not the putative TATA box (Chen *et al.*, 2006).

As mentioned before, the penaeidin family is the first AMP identified and characterized in penaeid shrimp (Destoumieux *et al.*, 1997). Penaeidins are cationic peptides with a molecular mass of 5.5 to 6.6 kDa. They have two domains: one is an N-terminal prolinerich domain and the other is a C-terminal cysteine-rich domain containing six cysteine residues. A collection of penaeidin sequences has been reported in PenBase www.penbase. immunaqua.com established in 2006 (Gueguen *et al.*, 2006). Penaeidins have variation in the primary sequences and can be grouped into four classes (PEN2, PEN3, PEN4 and PEN5). Amino acid sequence characteristics and conserved key residues proposed as penaeidin signature of PEN2, PEN3 and PEN4 were previously described in PenBase whilst those of PEN5 were proposed by Kang *et al.* (2007). However, recent alignment of known penaeidin sequences revealed that there were variations in a few key amino acid residues in the proposed penaeidin signatures (Tassanakajon *et al.*, 2011).

In *P. monodon*, only PEN3 and PEN5 were identified and PEN3 is the most abundant class (Tassanakajon *et al.*, 2006). The members of PEN3 show the differences in the number and sequences of amino acids across the shrimp species, but within the species the members of PEN3 from *P. monodon* have the same amino acid residue in length (74 aa). Generally, the variants arise from the amino acid variations in the proline-rich domain. The *P. monodon* PEN5 exhibits 72% sequence identity to those from *Fenneropenaeus chinensis* (Woramongkolchai *et al.*, 2011). Unlike the intronless PEN3 gene from *L. vannamei* (O'Leary and Gross, 2006), genomic structure analysis of PEN3 from *P. monodon* by Chiou *et al.* (2007) indicated that it contains an intron of 680 bp. Also, the PEN5 from *P. monodon* contains an intron of 620 bp (Woramongkolchai *et al.*, 2011).

ALFs are the antimicrobial peptides firstly isolated from the hemocytes of the horseshoe crabs, *Tachypleus tridentatus* and *Limulus polyphemus* (Tanaka *et al.*, 1982; Muta *et al.*, 1987). ALF genes have, then, been identified from several species of crustacean including shrimp (Supungul *et al.*, 2002; Liu *et al.*, 2006; Nagoshi *et al.*, 2006; Rosa *et al.*, 2008; Beale *et al.*, 2008; Imjongjirak *et al.*, 2007). The *P. monodon* ALFs (ALF*Pms*) constitute at least five different isoforms (Supungul *et al.*, 2002) which are grouped into groups A

(ALF*Pm*1 and 2) and B (ALF*Pm*3-5), derived from different genomic loci, according to nucleotide sequence analysis (Tharntada *et al.*, 2008). Group A ALF*Pm* contains three exons interrupted by two introns, but group B is composed of four exons interrupted by three introns. The different isoforms within the group derived from the alternative RNA splicing phenomenon. However, ALF*Pms* share common features of high hydrophobicity at the N-terminal region and the conserved disulfide loop containing positively charge cluster, described as the putative LPS-binding domain (Hoess *et al.*, 1993). ALF*Pm* genes contain an open reading frame encoding a protein of 98 - 123 amino acid residues.

The cis-regulatory elements involving in immune response and/or regulating the expression of antimicrobial peptides, such as NF-kappaB, GATA, AP-1, GAAA and Oct-1 motifs are found in the genomic sequences at the 5' upstream region of both ALF*Pm* groups A and B. However, the AP-1 and NF-kappaB binding sites are only predicted in the ALF group A genes. It should be noted that the presence of AP-1 (Karin *et al.*, 1997; Douglas *et al.*, 2003) together with the GAAA motifs (Au *et al.*, 1993) infers that the ALF*Pm* group A genes expressed in response to viral infection.

Lysozyme is an important antibacterial protein that hydrolyzes bacterial cell wall leading to cell lysis. Lysozyme, normally found in both eukaryotes and prokaryotes, can be divided into six types: plant lysozyme, chicken-type lysozyme (c-type), goose-type lysozyme (g-type), invertebrate lysozyme (i-type), bacteria lysozyme and T4 phage lysozyme (phage-type). In *P. monodon*, a total of 72 EST sequences encoding lysozymes have been identified. Of these, only two types of lysozyme, c-type and i-type have been identified (Table 1) (Tassanakajon *et al.*, 2008; Supungul *et al.*, 2010). The information on sequence diversity and the genomic structures of *P. monodon* lysozymes are being analyzed.

GENE EXPRESSION PATTERNS

Gene expression of *P. mondon* AMPs in various shrimp tissues, during the developmental stages and in response to pathogen infection, has been extensively investigated and is discussed herein.

Generally, AMP genes are highly expressed in shrimp hemocytes but lower expression is observed in other tissues such as intestine, heart, gill, and lymphoid organ (Tassanakajon *et al.*, unpublished data). However, some isoforms of *P. monodon* AMPs are specifically expressed in particular tissues which imply the specific functions or responses of those isoforms.

The crustin-like*Pm* gene is highly expressed in *P. monodon* hemocytes and weakly expressed in gills and intestines. On the other hand, crustin*Pm5* gene is somehow expressed only in epipodites and eyestalks but not in hemocytes. In addition, crustin*Pm5* gene expression is found to be up-regulated in response to heat and hyperosmotic salinity stresses (Vatanavicharn *et al.*, 2009). These data perhaps indicate the function of crustins other than antimicrobial activity as effectors or mediators in physiological stress responses.
SWD*Pms* are all mainly expressed in hemoctyes. SWD*Pm*1 and SWD*Pm*3 mRNA expressions are hemocyte specific whilst SWD*Pm*2 transcripts are abundant in hemoctyes but lower amounts are also found in gills and hepatopancreas. There is no SWD*Pm* transcripts observed in the lymphoid organ, intestine and heart.

So far, all ALFPm isoforms are shown to be specifically expressed in hemocytes with variation in the expression level (Somboonwiwat *et al.*, 2006; Somboonwiwat *et al.*, 2008; Tharntada *et al.*, 2008). Hemocyte is also the main site of penaeidin gene expression as reported in *L. vannamei* (Destoumieux *et al.*, 2000). Expression analysis of *F. chinensis* PEN5 also reveals that it is constitutively expressed in hemocytes, heart, gills, intestine and ovary (Kang *et al.*, 2007). In our study, *P. monodon* PEN3 is expressed in all tissues tested: hemocyte, lymphoid organ, gill, hepatopancreas, heart and intestine, with the highest level in hemocyte (Tassanakajon *et al.*, unpublished data).

Shrimp is exposed to a variety of microorganisms in the environment throughout their developmental stages. During *P. monodon* development, it is found that all AMPs are expressed at the very early developmental stages starting from the nauplii stage to adult (Tassanakajon *et al.*, unpublished data) (Fig. 1). The results suggest that the presence of AMPs is vital to the shrimp throughout their development.

Under pathogenic infections, *P. monodon* AMP genes have different expression patterns. Vagas-Albores *et al.* (2004) reported that the crustin isoform I mRNA of *L. vannamei* was down-regulated at 12 to 24 h post-*Vibrio alginolyticus* injection but the isoform P transcript was constantly expressed. On the contrary, the crustin-like*Pm* was significantly



up-regulated at 24 h post *V. harveyi* challenge (Amparyup *et al.*, 2008b). SWD*Pm*1 mRNA level was decreased sharply at 6 h after *Staphylococcus aureus* injection where no change in expression level of SWD*Pm*2 and SWD*Pm*3 was evident (Amparyup *et al.*, 2008a). *V. harveyi* infection also causes rapid up-regulation of ALF*Pm*3 gene expression in hemocytes (Somboonwiwat *et al.*, 2006; Somboonwiwat *et al.*, 2008).

Upon white spot syndrome (WSSV) infection, the expression of AMPs from *P. monodon* such as ALF*Pm*2, ALF*Pm*3, Crustin*Pm*1, Crustin-like*Pm*, SWD*Pm*1-3, PEN3 and PEN5, was investigated by a semi-quantitative RT-PCR (Amparyup *et al.*, 2008a; Tassanakajon *et al.*, unpublished data). The data revealed that the expression of ALF*Pm*3, ALF*Pm*6, SWD*Pm*1, SWD*Pm*2 and PEN5 considerably was increased at different time points, whereas those of others were not dramatically changed. The results suggested the important role of *P. monodon* AMPs in antiviral immune responses.

ANTIMICROBIAL ACTIVITY

In order to study the biological activity of AMPs from *P. monodon*, the recombinant proteins of the major isoforms of each AMP family including ALFPm2, ALFPm3, crustinPm1, crustin-likePm, crustinPm5, SWDPm2, c-type lysozyme and i-type lysozyme, wwere produced and tested for their activities (Somboonwiwat et al., 2005; Supungul et al., 2008; Amparyup et al., 2008a, Amparyup et al., 2008b; Vatanavicharn et al., 2009). Antimicrobial assays demonstrated that almost all recombinant AMPs from P. monodon showed narrow spectrum of activity against specific target bacteria except for the recombinant ALFPm3 protein (rALFPm3) that showed wide range and strong activity against Grampositive and Gram-negative bacteria and fungi. The recombinant proteins of crustinPm1, crustinPm5 and SWDPm2 exhibit only anti-Gram-positive bacteria whilst the recombinant crus-likePm has strong antimicrobial activity against both Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria. The preliminary data on the activity of P. monodon lysozyme indicated that both c-type and i-type lysozymes were active against Gram-negative bacterium V. harvevi. Moreover, the recombinant c-type lysozyme also inhibited the growth of a Gram-positive bacterium Micrococcus luteus. Inhibition study had revealed that the antimicrobial activities of ALFPm3 and crustinPm1 were a result of bactericidal effect. In addition, SWDPm2 also has antiproteinase activity against subtilisin A. It should be also emphasized herein that not all but several AMPs are active against V. harveyi, a major pathogenic bacteria in shrimp aquaculture.

In vivo neutralization activity and protective effects of rALFPm3 were recently reported in *P. monodon* challenged with *V. harveyi* (Ponprateep *et al.*, 2009). It was found that *V. harveyi* at a lethal dose was completely neutralized by pre-incubation of live bacteria with rALFPm3 at the lowest concentration of 6.25 μ M resulting in 100% shrimp survival after systemic challenge. The rALFPm3 injection into the shrimp followed by *V. harveyi* challenge clearly showed the reduction of the cumulative mortality of shrimp suggesting its potential prophylactic effect. Besides the antibacterial activity, the antiviral property of rALF*Pm3* against the most severe pathogen in shrimp, the white spot syndrome virus (WSSV), was recently elucidated. WSSV propagation was significantly reduced after rALF*Pm3* was added together with WSSV into the crayfish hematopoietic cell cultures. The rALF*Pm3* also exhibited WSSV neutralization activity resulted in inhibition of WSSV replication in *P. monodon* (Tharntada *et al.,* 2009). In addition, the rALF*Pm3* was shown to be significantly active against non-shrimp pathogenic DNA viruses: herpes simplex virus types 1 (HSV-1) and human adenovirus respiratory strain (AdV-5), in mammalian cell lines (Carriel-Gomes *et al.,* 2007).

CONCLUSIONS

From the current information, it has been found that diverse classes of AMPs are produced in *P. monodon*. The target specificity and strength of antimicrobial activity are diverged among the AMPs. Variable in the expression pattern in response to infection has been observed among AMPs indicating perhaps the different mechanisms of antimicrobial action. These AMPs play crucial roles in shrimp innate immunity enabling the shrimp to survive in nature that normally contains the varieties of pathogenic microorganisms.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank the Commission on Higher Education, and the Thailand National Center for Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology (BIOTEC) for financial support. The authors also appreciate the support given by Chulalongkorn University through the Ratchadaphisek Somphot Endowment to the Center of Excellence for Molecular Biology and Genomics of Shrimp.

REFERENCES

- Amparyup, P., Donpudsa, S. and Tassanakajon, A. 2008a. Shrimp single WAP domain (SWD)-containing protein exhibits proteinase inhibitory and antimicrobial activities. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology* 32 (12): 1497-1509.
- Amparyup, P., Kondo, H., Hirono, I., Aoki, T. and Tassanakajon, A. 2008b. Molecular cloning, genomic organization and recombinant expression of a crustin-like antimicrobial peptide from black tiger shrimp *Penaeus monodon*. *Molecular Immunology* 45 (4): 1085-1093.
- Au, W.C., Su, Y., Raj, N.B., and Pitha, P.M. 1993. Virus-mediated induction of interferon A gene requires cooperation between multiple binding factors in the interferon alpha promoter region. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 268 (32): 24032-24040.
- Bartlett, T.C., Cuthbertson, B.J., Shepard, E.F., Chapman, R.W., Gross, P.S. and Warr, G.W. 2002. Crustins, homologues of an 11.5-kDa antibacterial peptide, from two species of penaeid shrimp, *Litopenaeus vannamei* and *Litopenaeus setiferus*. Journal of Marine Biotechnology (*NY*) 4 (3): 278-293.
- Beale, K. M., Towle, D.W., Jayasundara, N., Smith, C.M., Shields, J.D., Small, H.J. and Greenwood, S.J. 2008. Anti-lipopolysaccharide factors in the American lobster *Homarus americanus*: Molecular characterization and transcriptional response to *Vibrio fluvialis* challenge. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part D: Genomics and Proteomics* 3(4): 263-269.
- Crown, K.L. and Hancock R.E.W. 2006. Cationic host defense (antimicrobial) peptides. *Current Opinion in Immunology* 18: 24-30.
- Carriel-Gomes, M.C., Kratz, J.M., Barracco, M.A., Bachère, E., Barardi, C.R. and Simoes, C.M. 2007. *In vitro* antiviral activity of antimicrobial peptides against herpes simplex virus 1, adenovirus, and rotavirus. *Memórias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz* 102 (4): 469-472.
- Chen, J.Y., Chen, J.C., Sheng, H.L., Chia, Y.P. and Ching, M.K. 2006. Organization and promoter analysis of a tiger shrimp, *Penaeus monodon*, single WAP domain-containing protein gene. *Fish Science* 72 (5): 1086-1095.
- Chiou, T.T., Lu, J.K., Wu, J.L., Chen, T.T., Ko, C.F. and Chen, J.C. 2007. Expression and characterisation of tiger shrimp *Penaeus monodon* penaeidin (mo-penaeidin) in various tissues, during early embryonic development and moulting stages. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology* 31 (2):132-142.
- Destoumieux, D., Bulet, P., Loew, D., Van Dorsselaer, A., Rodriguez, J. and Bachère, E. 1997. Penaeidins, a new family of antimicrobial peptides isolated from the shrimp *Penaeus vannamei* (Decapoda). *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 272 (45) : 28398-28406.
- Destoumieux, D., Muñoz, M., Cosseau, C., Rodriguez, J., Bulet, P., Comps, M. and Bachère, E. 2000. Penaeidins, antimicrobial peptides with chitin-binding activity, are produced and stored in shrimp granulocytes and released after microbial challenge. *Journal of Cell Science* 113 (3): 461-469.
- Douglas, S.E., Patrzykat, A., Pytyck, J. and Gallant, J.W. 2003. Identification, structure and differential expression of novel pleurocidins clustered on the genome of the winter flounder, *Pseudopleuronectes americanus* (Walbaum). *European Journal of Biochemistry* 270 (18): 3720-3730.

- Gross, P.S., Bartlett, T.C., Browdy, C.L., Chapman, R.W. and Warr, G.W. 2001. Immune gene discovery by expressed sequence tag analysis of hemocytes and hepatopancreas in the Pacific White Shrimp, *Litopenaeus vannamei*, and the Atlantic White Shrimp, *L. setiferus*. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology* 25 (7): 565-577.
- Gueguen, Y., Garnier, J., Robert, L., Lefranc, M.P., Mougenot, I., de Lorgeril, J., Janech, M., Gross, P.S., Warr, G.W., Cuthbertson, B., Barracco, M, A., Bulet, P., Aumelas, A., Yang, Y., Bo, D., Xiang, J., Tassanakajon, A., Piquemal, D. and Bachère, E. 2006. PenBase, the shrimp antimicrobial peptide penaeidin database: sequence-based classification and recommended nomenclature. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology* 30 (3): 283-288.
- Hikima, S., Hikima, J., Rojtinnakorn, J., Hirono, I. and Aoki, T. 2003. Characterization and function of kuruma shrimp lysozyme possessing lytic activity against *Vibrio* species. *Gene* 316: 187-195.
- Hoess, A., Watson, S., Siber, G.R. and Liddington, R. 1993. Crystal structure of an endotoxin-neutralizing protein from the horseshoe crab, *Limulus* anti-LPS factor, at 1.5 A resolution. *EMBO Journal* 12 (9): 3351-3356.
- Imjongjirak, C., Amparyup, P., Tassanakajon, A. and Sittipraneed, S. 2007. Antilipopolysaccharide factor (ALF) of mud crab *Scylla paramamosain*: molecular cloning, genomic organization and the antimicrobial activity of its synthetic LPS binding domain. *Molecular Immunology* 44 (12): 3195-3203.
- Kang, C.J., Xue, J.F., Liu, N., Zhao, X.F. and Wang, J.X. 2007. Characterization and expression of a new subfamily member of penaeidin antimicrobial peptides (penaeidin 5) from *Fenneropenaeus chinensis*. *Molecular Immunology* 44 (7): 1535-1543.
- Karin, M., Liu, Z.G., Zandi, E., 1997. AP-1 function and regulation. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology* 9 (2): 240-246.
- Liu, H., Jiravanichpaisal, P., Söderhäll, I., Cerenius, L. and Söderhäll, K. 2006. Antilipopolysaccharide factor interferes with white spot syndrome virus replication *in vitro* and *in vivo* in the crayfish *Pacifastacus leniusculus*. *Journal of Virology* 80 (21): 10365-10371.
- Muta, T., Miyata, T., Tokunaga, F., Nakamura, T. and Iwanaga, S. 1987. Primary structure of anti-lipopolysaccharide factor from American horseshoe crab, *Limulus polyphemus*. *Journal of Biochemistry* 101 (6): 1321-1330.
- Nagoshi, H., Inagawa, H., Morii, K., Harada, H., Kohchi, C., Nishizawa, T., Taniguchi, Y., Uenobe, M., Honda, T., Kondoh, M., Takahashi, Y. and Soma, G. 2006. Cloning and characterization of a LPS-regulatory gene having an LPS binding domain in kuruma prawn *Marsupenaeus japonicus*. *Molecular Immunology* 43 (13): 2061-2069.
- O'Leary, N.A. and Gross, P.S. 2006. Genomic structure and transcriptional regulation of the penaeidin gene family from *Litopenaeus vannamei*. *Gene* 371 (1): 75-83.
- Ponprateep, S., Somboonwiwat, K. and Tassanakajon, A. 2009. Recombinant antilipopolysaccharide factor isoform 3 and the prevention of vibriosis in the black tiger shrimp, *Penaeus monodon. Aquaculture* 289 (3-4): 219-224.
- Ranganathan, S., Simpson, K.J., Shaw, D.C. and Nicholas, K.R. 1999. The whey acidic protein family: a new signature motif and three-dimensional structure by comparative modeling. *Journal of Molecular Graphics and Modelling* 17 (2): 106-113, 134-106.

- Rosa, R.D., Stoco, P.H. and Barracco, M.A. 2008. Cloning and characterisation of cDNA sequences encoding for anti-lipopolysaccharide factors (ALFs) in Brazilian palaemonid and penaeid shrimps. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 25 (5): 693-696.
- Smith, V.J. and Chisholm, J.R. 2001. Antimicrobial proteins in crustaceans. *Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology* 484: 95-112.
- Smith, V.J., Fernandes, J.M., Kemp, G.D. and Hauton, C. 2008. Crustins: enigmatic WAP domain-containing antibacterial proteins from crustaceans. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology* 32 (7): 758-772.
- Somboonwiwat, K., Bachère, E., Rimphanitchayakit, V. and Tassanakajon, A., 2008. Localization of anti-lipopolysaccharide factor (ALFPm3) in tissues of the black tiger shrimp, *Penaeus monodon*, and characterization of its binding properties. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology* 32 (10): 1170-1176.
- Somboonwiwat, K., Marcos, M., Tassanakajon, A., Klinbunga, S., Aumelas, A., Romestand, B., Gueguen, Y., Boze, H., Moulin, G. and Bachère, E. 2005. Recombinant expression and anti-microbial activity of anti- lipopolysaccharide factor (ALF) from the black tiger shrimp *Penaeus monodon*. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology* 29 (10): 841-851.
- Somboonwiwat, K., Supungul, P., Rimphanitchayakit, V., Aoki, T., Hirono, I. and Tassanakajon, A. 2006. Differentially expressed genes in hemocytes of *Vibrio harveyi*-challenged shrimp *Penaeus monodon. Journal of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology* 39 (1): 26-36.
- Sotelo-Mundo, R.R., Islas-Osuna, M.A., de-la-Re-Vega, E., Hernandez-Lopez, J., Vargas-Albores, F. and Yepiz-Plascencia, G. 2003. cDNA cloning of the lysozyme of the white shrimp *Penaeus vannamei*. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 15 (4): 325-331.
- Supungul, P., Klinbunga, S., Pichyangkura, R., Hirono, I., Aoki, T. and Tassanakajon, A. 2004. Antimicrobial peptides discovered in the black tiger shrimp *Penaeus monodon* using the EST approach. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 61 (1-2):123-135.
- Supungul, P., Klinbunga, S., Pichyangkura, R., Jitrapakdee, S., Hirono, I., Aoki, T. and Tassanakajon, A. 2002. Identification of Immune-Related Genes in Hemocytes of Black Tiger Shrimp (*Penaeus monodon*). *Journal of Marine Biotechnology (NY)* 4 (5): 487-494.
- Supungul P., Rimphanitchayakit V., Aoki T., Hirono I. and Tassanakajon A. 2010. Molecular characterization and expression analysis of a c-type and two novel muramidasedeficient i-type lysozymes from Penaeus monodon. Fish and Shellfish Immunology 28(3):490-498.
- Supungul, P., Tang, S., Maneeruttanarungroj, C., Rimphanitchayakit, V., Hirono, I., Aoki, T. and Tassanakajon, A. 2008. Cloning, expression and antimicrobial activity of crustin*Pm*1, a major isoform of crustin, from the black tiger shrimp *Penaeus monodon*. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology* 32 (1): 61-70.
- Tanaka, S., Nakamura, T., Morita, T. and Iwanaga, S. 1982. *Limulus* anti-LPS factor: An anticoagulant which inhibits the endotoxin-mediated activation of *Limulus* coagulation system. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 105 (2): 717-723.
- Tassanakajon A., Amparyup P., Somboonwiwat K. and Supungul P. 2011. Cationic antimicrobial peptides in penaeid shrimp. Marine Biotechnology (NY) 13(4):639-657.

- Tassanakajon, A., Klinbunga, S., Paunglarp, N., Rimphanitchayakit, V., Udomkit, A., Jitrapakdee, S., Sritunyalucksana, K., Phongdara, A., Pongsomboon, S., Supungul, P., Tang, S., Kuphanumart, K., Pichyangkura, R. and Lursinsap, C. 2006. *Penaeus monodon* gene discovery project: the generation of an EST collection and establishment of a database. *Gene* 384: 104-112.
- Tassanakajon, A., Vatanavicharn, T., Supungul, P., Tang, S., Amparyup, P., Somboonwiwat, K., Tharntada, S., Takahashi, J. and Toyohara, H. 2008. *Biotechnology of Marine Invertebrates —Recent Advances in Shrimp and Shellfish In* Tsukamoto, K., Kawamura, T., Takeuchi, T., Beard Jr, T.D., Kaiser, M.J. (Eds.), Memorial book of the 5th World Fisheries Congress 2008, p. 221–239. TERRAPUB Tokyo.
- Tharntada, S., Ponprateep, S., Somboonwiwat, K., Liu, H., Soderhall, I., Soderhall, K. and Tassanakajon, A. 2009. Role of antilipopolysaccharide factor from the black tiger shrimp, *Penaeus monodon*, in protection from white spot syndrome virus infection. *Journal of General Virology* doi 10.1099/vir.1090.009621-009620.
- Tharntada, S., Somboonwiwat, K., Rimphanitchayakit, V. and Tassanakajon, A. 2008. Antilipopolysaccharide factors from the black tiger shrimp, *Penaeus monodon*, are encoded by two genomic loci. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 24 (1): 46-54.
- Vargas-Albores, F., Yepiz-Plascencia, G., Jiménez-Vega, F. and Ávila-Villa, A. 2004. Structural and functional differences of *Litopenaeus vannamei* crustins. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part B: Biochemistry and Molecular Biology* 138 (4):415-422.
- Vatanavicharn, T., Supungul, P., Puanglarp, N., Yingvilasprasert, W. and Tassanakajon, A. 2009. Genomic structure, expression pattern and functional characterization of crustinPm5, a unique isoform of crustin from *Penaeus monodon*. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part B: Biochemistry and Molecular Biology* doi:10.1016/ j.cbpb.2009.1003.1004
- Woramongkolchai, N., Supungul P. and Tassanakajon A. 2011. The possible role of penaeidin5 from the black tiger shrimp, Penaeus monodon, in protection against viral infection. Developmental and Comparative Immunology 35(5):530-536.

Applications of shrimp immune DNA microarray in aquaculture

JENN-KAN LU¹, YI-TING HSIAO¹ and JEN-LEIH WU²

¹Department of Aquaculture, National Taiwan Ocean University ²Institute of Cellular and Organismic Biology, Academic Sinica

ABSTRACT

Infectious disease constitutes a major obstacle to the sustainability of shrimp aquaculture worldwide and a significant threat to natural populations of shrimp and other crustaceans. The study of the shrimp immune system, including the response to viral infection, has been hampered by a relative lack of molecular genetic information and of tools suitable for high throughput assessment of gene expression. The aim of this paper is to provide insights into the transcriptomic profile on two culture shrimps Penaeus monodon and P. vannamei responses to immune challenge. In this report, the generation of a tiger shrimp immune DNA microarray encompassing 30 immune-related genes and a cDNA microarray encompassing 6000 putative unigenes expressed in gills, circulating haemocytes, and hepatopancreas of P. vannamei is described. Penaeid shrimp immune microarray was applied in screening high disease-resistant broodstocks of tiger shrimp. The result indicated that higher mRNA level hemocyanin was found in disease-resistant shrimp broodstocks. The second application of shrimp immune DNA microarray was in nutrigenomic study. The result revealed that the expression of several immune genes (crustin, lysozyme, Mo-penaeidin, transglutaminase and Kazal-type proteinase inhibitor) were increased significantly after injection of microbial immune elicitors (such as lipopolysaccharide, β -1-3 glucan and peptidoglycan) or other immune stimulants (such as polyI:C, Chinese medicine herbs). Shrimp immune DNA microarray analysis may provide useful clues to investigate the intracellular regulation and cross talk between many innate immune genes. Furthermore, shrimp immune DNA microarray might also provide a useful tool to identify disease resistant gene markers for marker-assisted selection program and to explore the Chinese herbs as immune stimulants for paneid shrimps.

Key words: cDNA microarray, innate immunity, penaeid shrimps, immunostimulants

Lu, J.K., Hsiao, Y.T. and Wu, J.L. 2011. Applications of shrimp immune DNA microarray in aquaculture, pp. 241-252. *In* Bondad-Reantaso, M.G., Jones, J.B., Corsin, F. and Aoki, T. (eds.). Diseases in Asian Aquaculture VII. Fish Health Section, Asian Fisheries Society, Selangor, Malaysia. 385 pp.

Corresponding author: Jenn-Kan Lu, f0008@mail.ntou.edu.tw

INTRODUCTION

The shrimp aquaculture with its great potential to generate high export earnings has developed rapidly since 1970s as an industrial activity, but its development was regularly and seriously affected by the outbreak of viral and bacterial diseases during the last decade. From 1993 to 2000, white spot syndrome virus (WSSV), the most devastating viral pathogen of penaeid shrimp (*Penaeus* spp.), caused severe losses to the shrimp farming industry from Asia to America. Therefore, preventing and controlling the spread of disease has become a priority to the shrimp industry.

Host defense in invertebrates including shrimp is believed to rest entirely on innate, non-adaptive immunity that consists of cellular and humoral reactions. Cellular reactions involve phagocytosis, nodule formation and encapsulation, while humoral reactions involve the prophenoloxidase-activating cascade and immune-related proteins such as lysozymes, lectins, and antimicrobial peptides. Our knowledge about the innate immunity of shrimp comes mostly from the studies on crustaceans against bacteria and fungi. Two antivirus protein-pmAVP and hemocyanin from penaeid shrimp have been identified recently, however, the profile of immuno-related factors whereby shrimp defends against virus infection still remains unclear.

cDNA microarrays have emerged as a versatile technology that can be applied with relative ease to studies of differential gene expression in a wide variety of organisms. In present study we try to use of a cDNA microarray to study immunity against viral infection in host following various treatments, it can provide the information of host pathogen interactions, it also can determine which genes are expressed, and in what relative amounts during the infection process.

Nutrigenomics is a science of how the genes interact with nutrients. It is the study of how DNA and the genetic code affect the need for certain nutrients and help maintain optimal health throughout the life. Expression profiling using microarrays offers a powerful tool to gain a comprehensive view of biological systems by measuring the expression of thousands of genes simultaneously. The main advantage of such an approach is the ability to retain the power of microarray technology for monitoring a set of genes selected for their involvement in a specific pathway.

In this study, a cDNA microarray was used to identify genes upregulated in virus-resistant shrimp and to identify their expression profile. Some of these genes that might be involved in defense against virus were identified in the hemolymph of penaeid shrimp. The development of immunostimulants (as green feed additives) to reduce disease susceptibility, a traditional Chinese herb medicine complex formula was used to identify genes expression profile and up- and down-regulated immune-related genes.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Preparation of WSSV-resistant shrimp

Forty shrimp, *Penaeus monodon* (Crustacea, Decapoda) (about 20–25 g), were obtained from a shrimp farm in PinTon county, Taiwan, and cultured in our laboratory in 500 l tanks (at 25 °C) filled with air-pumped circulating sea water. In order to obtain virus-resistant shrimp, WSSV challenge test was performed. A WSSV inoculum was prepared with virus-infected shrimp tail muscle that tested positive by PCR. Frozen infected tissue was homogenized in 1X PBS (1:5, wt/vol) and centrifuged at 5000 rpm for 10 min. The supernatant was filtered through a 0.45- μ m pore-size filter and used for injecting the animals. The surviving shrimps were injected with100 μ l of WSSV inoculums between the second and third tail tarsal plates on the lateral side of the shrimp with a 1-ml sterile syringe. Shrimps were challenged with WSSV three times for the period of one month. The 2–3 survivals were collected as WSSVresistant shrimp. The unchallenged shrimps were used as control (virus-sensitive) shrimp.

Pacific white shrimp (*P. vanname*i) weighing 15-20 g were obtained from a local shrimp farm in I-Lan county, Taiwan. The shrimps were divided into each group of 30 animals. Each was assigned randomly to the three dietary treatments. Each shrimp was housed individually in an 18 l glass tank containing 12 l water. Constant aeration was provided in all tanks during the experiment. Temperature of culture water was approximately 25° C. The shrimps were fed the test diets twice daily throughout the 3 day feeding trial. Six shrimps from each treatment were sampled at 0 h (after feeding), 12 h, 24 h and 72 h (3 days) after the feeding trial began. The moulting stage of each sampled shrimp was determined. Only those in the intermolt or early premolt stages were evaluated in the study.

Chinese herbs compound feeds preparation

Two kinds of Chinese herbs compound (the principal constituents were: *Astragalus membranaceus* Bge, *Lonicera japonica* Thunb, *Isatis indigotica* Fort and *Glycyrrhiza glabra* L.) were added as a solution into normal feeds; for each 1 kg feed 150 ml Chinese herbs solution were added.

Construction of shrimp immune-related DNA microarrays

A *P. monodon* shrimp cDNA microarray that contained 30 unique EST clones was constructed from from cDNA library of *P. monodon* prepared from haemocytes (Table 1). Each EST was spotted in quarters.

The *P. vannamei* oligonucleotide microarray of 5885 elements was constructed. The genes spotted onto the microarray from the haemocytes cDNA library, including the accession number of ESTs, have been submitted to the NCBI GEO. The clones of the unique genes from ESTs were selected based on bioinformatics analysis of the haemocytes ESTs. The probes were design and spotted by Agilent Technologies. Each EST and gene were spotted in duplicate.

Source of samples for microarray hybridization

Two groups of samples were set for hybridization, each containing experimental shrimps and control, to prepare the haemocytes for challenge, Haemolymph was collected from the shrimp by inserting a 26-gauge needle into the ventral sinus cavity and withdrawn into a syringe rinsed by precooled anticoagulant solution (0.1 M sodium citrate, 0.25 M sucrose, 0.01 M Trise HCl, pH 7.6). The diluted haemolymph was centrifuged at 3 000 rpm and 4° C for 15 min to separate the haemocytes from the plasma. The resulting haemocytes pellet was washed with the anticoagulant solution and suspended in Trizol (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) for total RNA isolation.

For *P. monodon* experiment groups to be injected with lipopolysaccharide, peptidoglycan and β -1,3-glucan, each shrimp was injected with 1µg immunostimulant per 1 g og shrimp weight. Haemolymph was collected after injection 48 h for microarray analysis. For *P. vannamei* experimental group to be with injected Poly I:C, each shrimp was injected with 1µg immunostimulant per 1 g of shrimp weight. Haemolymph was collected after injection 0 h, 12 h, 24 h, 48 h and 72 h for semiquantitative RT-PCR. The feeding experiments have two groups for Chinese herbs compound. Each 1 kg feed was added with 150 ml Chinese herbs solution. The shrimp were fed the test diets twice daily throughout the 3 day feeding trials. Uneaten food and excreta were removed each morning before feeding, and the haemolymph was collected after feeding 0 h, 12 h, 24 h, 48 h and 72 h for microarray and semiquantitative RT-PCR.

Microarray analysis

The cDNA transcribed from 20 µg of total RNA from 10 individual *P. monodon* was labeled with Cy3 or Cy5 using a SuperScriptTM Plus Indirect cDNA Labeling System (Invitrogen). The arrays were hybridized with the labeled cDNA sample pairs (one with Cy3 and the other with Cy5) overnight at 42° C. After hybridization, the arrays were washed at 30° C in 5X SSC/0.1% (w/v) SDS for 10 min, then twice in 0.5X SSC for 2 min each, and finally briefly in 0.5X SSC/0.01% (v/v) Tween 20. The arrays were scanned using a GenePix 4000B, and the raw images were analyzed with GeneSpring Analysis Platform. After normalization, the values of spot replicates were averaged. A gene was considered differentially expressed by each experiment if its expression ratio increased or decreased by 2-fold or more compared to the control samples.

Semi-quantitative RT-PCR

Total RNA was extracted from a pool of hemocyte pellets using TRI reagent (Invitrogen). The first-strand cDNA was prepared from total RNA with primer. Briefly, the total RNA (5 μ g) was mixed with 0.5 μ g of oligo dT. RNase-free water was used to make a final volume of 10 μ L. The mixture was heated at 65° C for 2 min and then cooled immediately on ice. Thereafter, the volume was adjusted to 20 μ L using 10 reaction buffer containing 3 mM MgCl₂, 0.5 mM dNTPs, 3 U MMLV reverse transcriptase (EPICENTRE Biotechnologies, USA) and RNase-free water. The first-strand cDNA was then used as the template for PCR amplification with the appropriate primers designed by the Primer Premier 5 of immune-related genes. Semi-quantitative RT-PCR analysis was performed on total RNA isolated

from control and infected hemocyte at various time-points. RT-PCR of elongation factor-1 was performed and used for normalization of total RNA variation. RNA expression levels were quantitatively analyzed using Kodak Electrophoreisis Documentation and Analysis System 290 (Kodak EDAS 290).

Data analysis

A multiple comparison (Tukey) test was conducted to compare the significant difference for each gene expression among different time courses using a SAS computer software (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA). A significant level of p = 0.05 was chosen.

RESULTS

In order to find the immune-relevant factors responsible for the virus resistance in the WSSV-resistant shrimp, a cDNA microarray method was employed to identify differentially expressed genes and their expression profile in the hemolymph of the virus-resistant penaeid shrimp. Twenty five genes were identified from more than 8000 clones, of which are related to innate immunity in penaeid shrimp.

Application of penaeid shrimp immune cDNA microarray in screening high diseaseresistant broodstocks of tiger shrimp

Hemocyanin is the most abundant gene in our cDNA microarray analysis except penaeidin, crustin, lectin, ferritin, oxygenase and chitinase of the virus-resistant black tiger shrimp; all showed up-regulation in expression compared with those of normal. The result indicated that higher mRNA level *hemocyanin* and *5HT1-receptor* were found in disease-resistant shrimp broodstocks (Fig.1).

Shrimps followed by feeding of WSSV-containing tissue at 10 % biomass daily for 3 consecutive days or injected intramuscularly with 100 μ l WSSV inoculums (10⁻⁶ dilution) resulted in a cumulative >80% death of the tiger shrimps at 4 days post infection (Fig. 2a, 2b). Control shrimp injected with dsRNA (shrimp hemocyanin siRNA) showed higher mortality from the control at 2 days following both viral infection methods. On the other hand, WSSV-resistant shrimp fed with 3% complex herbs formula showed increase in survival rate from the control start from 4 days post infection. No shrimp death was observed through the whole experimental period, indicating that shrimp hemocyanin siRNA and complex Chinese herbs formula did not give any cytotoxicity.

Application of shrimp immune cDNA microarray in nutrigenomic study

After the treatment with Chinese herbs complex formula, the hemolymph were collected to isolate total RNA and analyzed using the immune-related cDNA microarray which contained approximately 6 000 shrimp genes. Chinese herbs changed the expression of the genes related to immune response, cell growth and cell proliferation, signal transduction in *P. vannamei*. In this study, up-regulation of innate immunity genes was the most remarkable and it was suggested the mediation of *crustin, lysozyme, Mo-penaeidin, transglutaminase*



Figure 1. Selection of higher expression of endogenous innate immune genes as marker genes. (a) Pseudocolour microarray images (Cy3 and Cy5 are coloured green and red, respectively) of one of the on-array duplicate sets of probes. An equal mix of red and green results in a yellow pseudocolour; other ratios result in intermediate colours. Probes for WSSV- resistant shrimp and normal shrimp genes, as well as background and luciferase controls, are distributed randomly over the array. For probes representing shrimp genes (examples are boxed) that are red at #2 (*BGBP*), #19 (*5HT-1 receptor*), #25 (*haemocyanin*), #30 (*Transglutaminase*) and gene in WSSV-resistant shrimp. White probes (saturation) indicate a very high Cy3/Cy5 signal. (b) Expression profile of four genes in haemocyanin was analyzed by RT-PCR; β -actin cDNA fragment amplified from the same RNA samples was used as an internal loading control.

Gene Name	Gene Name
1: Anti-lipopolysaccharide factor (ALF)	16: Intracellular fatty acid binding protein
2: Beta-1,3-glucan binding protein (BGBP)	17: Kazal-type proteinase inhibitor
3: 11.5 kDa antibacterial peptide	18: Glutathione peroxidase
4: Prophenoloxidase	19: 5-HT1 receptor
5: Prophenoloxidase activating factor	20: Cytochrome b
6: Peroxinectin	21: Innexin 1
7: Serine proteinase	22: α- tubulin
8: α-2-macroglobulin	23: Ribosomal protein L27a
9: Cytosolic manganese superoxide dismutase	24: RNA virus putative RNA-dependent RNA polymerase
10: Lysozyme	25: Hemocyanin
11: Chelonianin	26: Syntenin
12: PMAV (virus resistance)	27: Mo-penaeidin
13: Astakine	28: Clottable protein
14: Heat shock protein 90	29: Heat shock protein 70
15: Heat shock protein 10	30: Transglutaminase

Table 1. Innate-immune related EST tags of tiger shrimp

Gene Name	Normalized Data	Gene Name	Normalized Data
11.5 kDa antibacterial peptide (Crustin)	37.61	Cytosolic manganese superoxide dismutase	0.399
Kazal-type proteinase inhibitor	10.27	Astakine	0.0594
Prophenoloxidase activating factor	9.111	RNA virus putative RNA- dependent RNA polymerase	0.0399
ribosomal protein L27a	7.016	Serine proteinase	0.0355
Mo-penaeidin	6.851	Heat shock protein 10	0.0304
beta-actin	5.714	syntenin	0.0278
Lysozyme	5.163	Peroxinectin	0.0277
alpha-2-macroglobulin	4.982	Beta-1,3-glucan binding protein (BGBP)	0.0276
cytochrome b	3.9	Intracellular fatty acid binding protein	0.01
Anti-lipopolysaccharide factor (ALF)	3.735	Clottable protein	0.01
Transglutaminase	3.663	PMAV (virus resistance)	0.01
beta-actin	3.237	hemocyanin	0.01
Chelonianin	2.629		
5-HT1 receptor	2.034		

Table 2. 2x expression up and down from β -glucan in *Penaeus monodon*

Table 3. 2x expression up and down from peptidoglycan in P. monodon

Gene Name	Normalized Data	Gene Name	Normalized Data
11.5 kDa antibacterial peptide (Crustin)	2.733	5-HT1 receptor	0.151
Heat shock protein 90	0.363	Peroxinectin	0.148
alpha-tubulin	0.36	Astakine	0.139
Prophenoloxidase activating factor	0.356	syntenin	0.125
Glutathione peroxidase	0.303	Clottable protein	0.105
Prophenoloxidase	0.268	hemocyanin	0.102
Heat shock protein 10	0.229	RNA virus putative RNA-dependent RNA polymerase	0.0982
Serine proteinase	0.201	Beta-1,3-glucan binding protein (BGBP)	0.0685
PMAV (virus resistance)	0.178	5-HT1 receptor	0.151
innexin 1	0.175	Peroxinectin	0.148
Intracellular fatty acid binding protein	0.167		

Gene Name	Normalized Data	Gene Name	Normalized Data
11.5 kDa antibacterial peptide	5 214	Cytosolic manganese superoxide dis-	0.255
(Crustin)	5.514	mutase	0.235
Lysozyme	4.326	Astakine	0.219
cytochrome b	3.55	Intracellular fatty acid binding protein	0.189
Peroxinectin	0.406	Heat shock protein 10	0.147
innexin 1	0.357	Beta-1,3-glucan binding protein (BGBP)	0.145
Glutathione peroxidase	0.347	syntenin	0.108
Prophenoloxidase	0.326	5-HT1 receptor	0.0995
alpha-tubulin	0.296	PMAV (virus resistance)	0.0772
Serine proteinase	0.293	RNA virus putative RNA-dependent RNA polymerase	0.0757
Heat shock protein 90	0.268	Clottable protein	0.0692
hemocyanin	0.0427		

Table 4. 2x expression up and down from lipopolysaccharide in P. monodon



Figure 2. Viral challenge test of various treatments in SPR and control shrimp (*L. vannamei*). (a) Shrimp (5 to 10 g) were injected intramuscularly with either saline (control), 12μ g of dsDNA for the shrimp haemocyanin gene, SPR shrimp and SPR shrimp with 3 % herbs added. A collective challenge system was used (n=30 to 35). (b) Control, SPR and SPR shrimp with 3% herbs added was as described above for (a). One microgram of the haemocyanin siRNA was injected per shrimp, followed by feeding of WSSV-containing tissue at 10% biomass daily for 3 consecutive days. Herbs addition = 3% combined Chinese herbs complex formula (containing *Astragalus membranaceus Bge, Lonicera japonica Thunb, Isatis indigotica Fort* and *Glycyrrhiza glabra L*.)



Figure 3. Semi-quantitative RT-PCR analysis of (a) *crustin*, (b) *haemocyanin* and (c) *penaeidin* mRNA gene expression in *L. vannamei*, β -actin served as a reference gene for the poly-I:C injection in different time course, 0hr, 12hr, 24hr, 48hr, 72hr, 96hr and normal haemocytes (control) as a positive control. Error bars represent standard error of mean (n=6, p=0.05).



Figure 4. Expression profiles of immune marker genes following two kinds Chinese herbs compound (CHC) treatment in *L. vannamei*. Semi-quantitative RT-PCR analysis of (a) *crustin*, (b) *haemocyanin* and (c) *penaeidin*, β -actin served as a reference gene for feeding CHC I and CHC II after the different time course, 0hr, 12hr, 24hr, 48hr, 72hr, 96hr and normal haemocytes (control) as a positive control. Error bars represent standard error of mean (n=6, *p*<0.05)

and *Kazal-type proteinase inhibitor* responded significantly by microbial immune elicitors (such as lipopolysaccharide, β -1-3 glucan and peptidoglycan) (Tables 2, 3, 4) and other immune challenges (such as polyI:C, Chinese medicine herbs) treatment in black tiger shrimp and Pacific white shrimp (Fig. 3 and Fig. 4). On the other hands, Chinese herbs also up- and down-regulated the mRNA expression of some immune-related genes (Fig. 5). The data also gave new information about the regulation by Chinese herbs in penaeid shrimp.





DISCUSSIONS

DNA microarray analysis could provide useful clues to investigate the intracellular regulation and cross talk between many innate immune genes and regulators, and also to explore the novel function of Chinese herbs.

Control shrimp injected with dsRNA (shrimp hemocyanin siRNA) showed higher mortality from the control at 2 days following both viral infection methods demonstrating that the hemocyanin might serve a role in protection against WSSV (Fig. 2a). The WSSV-resistant shrimp fed with 3% complex herbs formula showed increase in survival rate from the control start from 4 days post infection demonstrating that WSSV-resistant shrimp and herb addition gave a better protection against WSSV infection (Fig. 2b).

The results of present study indicated that the hemolymph is a crucial system in the immune system of penaeid shrimp and cDNA microarray is an effective approach for discovering immune relevant genes. Moreover, several immune related genes (such as *crustin, lysozyme, Mo-penaeidin, transglutaminase* and *Kazal-type proteinase inhibitor*) showed significant up-regulation in the virus-resistant shrimp suggesting that these genes may play an important role in the virus defense response of penaeid shrimp. Transcription-based data mining of genes in QTL-limited intervals followed by efficient quantitative qRT-PCR or semi-quantitative RT-PCR methods is an effective strategy for identifying genes that may contribute to complex shrimp defense processes. After viral infection, a number of genes whose expression is altered, and thus are candidates for disease-resistant QTL and/or pathways associated with shrimp defense system. The results also confirmed that the data from cDNA microarray analysis could be correlated with the *in vivo* effect of the immune-enhancing compound (Rattanachai *et al., 2005*; Wang, 2008).

In the present study, we have demonstrated that *hemocyanin, crustin, lysozyme* and *Mopenaeidin* can serve as marker genes for screening disease-resistant shrimp broodstocks and to exploit novel immunostimulants as aquafeed additives. Here, we describe how nutrigenomics could provide new insights into animal nutrition research and innovative developments through neutraceutical products in penaeid shrimps.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank the National Type Agriculture Biotechnology office and Academia Sinica for their financial support.

REFERENCES

He, N.H., Liu, H.P.,and Xu, X. 2004. Identification of genes involved in the response of haemocytes of *Penaeus japonicus* by suppression subtractive hybridization (SSH) following microbial challenge. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology* 17:121-128.

- Okumura T. 2007. Effects of lipopolysaccharide on gene expression of antimicrobial peptides (penaeidins and crustin), serine proteinase and prophenoloxidase in haemocytes of the Pacific white shrimp, *Litopenaeus vannamei*. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 22:68-76.
- Rattanachai, A, Hirono I, Ohira T, Takahashi Y. and Aoki. T. 2005. Peptidoglycan inducible expression of a serine proteinase homologue from kuruma shrimp (*Marsupenaeus japonicus*). *Fish & Shellfish Immunology* 18:39-48.
- Roux M.M, Pain, A, Klimper, K.R. and Dhar, A.Y. 2002 The lipopolysaccharide and β-1,3glucan binding protein gene is up-regulated in white spot virus-infected shrimp (*Penaeus stylirostris*). *Journal of Virology* 76:7140-9.
- Wang, Y.C., Chang, P.S., and Chen.H.Y. 2008 Differential time-series expression of immune-related genes of Pacific white shrimp *Litopenaeus vannamei* in response to dietary inclusion of β -1,3-glucan. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology* 24: 113-121.
- Garosi, P., De Filippo, C., van Erk, M., Rocca-Serra, P., Sansone, S-A. and Elliott1, R. 2005. Defining best practice for microarray analyses in nutrigenomic studies. *British Journal of Nutrition* 93: 425–432.

Molecular immunity in the interaction between fish and pathogen for DNA vaccine

TAKASHI AOKI^{1,2}, JUN-ICHI HIKIMA², CARMELO SEGOVIA DEL CASTILLO², TAE-SUNG JUNG², HIDEHIRO KONDO¹ and IKUO HIRONO¹

¹Laboratory of Genome Science, Tokyo University of Marine Science and Technology Konan 4-5-7, Minato, Tokyo, 108-8477, Japan ²Aquatic Biotechnology Center of WCU Project, College of Veterinary Medicine Gyeongsang National University Jinju, 660-701, South Korea

ABSTRACT

Cultured fish are threatened by many pathogens, especially viruses and bacteria, often with serious consequences. Vaccination is one of the most effective tools for enhancing host defense and protecting fish from pathogens. DNA vaccines are a third generation vaccine based on the administration of the gene encoding a vaccine antigen rather than the antigen itself. To date, several effective DNA vaccines that encode viral glycoproteins or other antigenic proteins have already been shown to be effective for cultured fish. This review summarizes current knowledge on fish viral pathogens and DNA vaccines against fish viral diseases, especially against hirame rhabdovirus (HIRRV), viral hemorrhagic septicemia virus (VHSV) and red seabream iridovirus (RSIV) from previous studies. Furthermore, the mechanism of interaction between the DNA vaccines and host immunity is described using mammalian evidence and data gained from using our Japanese flounder microarray chip. The efficacy of two DNA vaccines derived from pathogenic viruses such as HRV and VHSV have been evaluated through gene expression profiles. A comparison of gene expression profiles of vaccinated and unvaccinated fish suggests important evidences that DNA vaccines have a role in host immunity such as induction of MHC class I gene expression and T-cell stimulation.

Keywords: DNA vaccine, Japanese flounder (*Paralichthys olivaceus*), microarray, VHSV, HIRRV

Corresponding author: Takashi Aoki, aoki@kaiyodai.ac.jp

Aoki, T., Hikima, J., del Castillo, C.S., Jung, T.S., Kondo, H., and Hirono, I. 2011. Molecular immunity in the interaction between fish and pathogen for DNA vaccine, pp. 253-268. *In* Bondad-Reantaso, M.G., Jones, J.B., Corsin, F. and Aoki, T. (eds.). Diseases in Asian Aquaculture VII. Fish Health Section, Asian Fisheries Society, Selangor, Malaysia. 385 pp.

INTRODUCTION

Fish supplied 110 million tons of food in 2006, of which 47% (51.7 million tons) was supplied by aquaculture (FAO, 2009). The aquaculture industry grew at an amazing rate of 7.6% from 2000-2006 with an extreme growth rate of almost 40% for Vietnam (Brugère and Ridler, 2004). The industry is expected to grow more, to meet the demand of a growing global population. Japanese flounder (*Paralichthys olivaceus*, also known as olive flounder or Bastard halibut) is a major aquaculture product in Japan, Korea, and China. However, recently, the spread of an increasing array of new diseases cause epizootics that result in substantial socio-economic and environmental losses (Walker and Winton, 2010).

Fish pathogenic viruses

One of the biggest problems in aquaculture is disease caused by viruses. The OIE (World Organisation for Animal Health, originally called the Office International des Epizooties, thus its acronym) is the intergovernmental organization responsible for improving animal health worldwide (http://www.oie.int). It keeps a list of 'Fish diseases notifiable to the OIE' which means these diseases are considered to be of socio-economic and/or public health importance within countries, and significant to the international trade in aquatic animals and aquatic animal products. Of the nine fish diseases listed in 2010 by the OIE as notifiable, seven are viral. These are mostly members of the Rhabdoviridae and Iridoviridae family and they have caused tremendous socio-economic losses worldwide.

Epizootic haematopoietic necrosis (EHNV: Unassigned, *Iridoviridae, Ranavirus*) causes severe necrosis of the haematopoietic tissue of perch and rainbow trout (Whittington *et. al.*, 1996; Reddacliff and Whittington, 1996).

Infectious haematopoietic necrosis (IHNV: *Mononegavirales, Rhabdoviridae, Novirhabdovirus*) causes the hemorrhage of haematopoietic tissue and nephron cells leading to death by edema. It has caused mass mortalities of salmon and trout and occurs at low water temperatures (8-15°C) (McAllister *et al.*, 1974; Holway and Smith, 1973).

Spring viraemia of carp (SVCV: *Mononegavirales, Rhabdoviridae, Vesiculovirus*) is characterized by external and internal hemorrhages, peritonitis and ascites. It predominantly affects common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*) (Essbauer and Ahne, 2001).

Viral haemorrhagic septicaemia (VHSV: *Mononegavirales, Rhabdoviridae, Novirhabdovirus*) is known as one of the most serious viral pathogens of salmonids and marine fishes in the world (Mortensen *et al.*, 1999). It has been known to infect eels, herring, carp, cod, perch, flatfish, salmon, and flounder (Isshik *et al.*, 2001; Dopaz *et al.*, 2002). It also occurred in wild Japanese flounders during a survey on the distribution of fish viruses in wild marine fishes in Japan (Takano *et al.*, 2000). The virus causes hemorrhagic lesions in internal organs and muscular tissue. The virus multiplies in endothelial cells, leucocytes, hematopoietic tissues and nephron cells.

Infectious salmon anaemia (ISAV: Unassigned, *Isavirus*) is often associated with an haemorrhagic kidney disease (Lovely *et al.*, 1999). ISAV has caused severe economic losses to Atlantic salmon cultured in Europe, North America, and Chile (Rodger and Richards, 1998; Falk *et al.*, 1997; Mjaaland *et al.*, 1997).

Iridoviruses, including Red seabream iridoviral disease (RSIV: *Iridoviridae*) are large icosahedral cytoplasmic DNA viruses that have been isolated from a diverse number of invertebrate and vertebrate hosts (Williams *et al.*, 2000). RSIV has caused significant economic losses in aquaculture. This disease was first observed in red seabream (*Pagrus major*) cultured in Shikoku Island, Japan in 1990 (Matsuoka et. al., 1996). A survey on the extent of RSIV infection showed that this virus infects 31 marine fish species including 28 Perciformes, two Pleuronectiformes and one Tetraodontiformes (Kawakami and Nakajima, 2002). Gross pathologies can include severe anemia, petechia of the gills and enlargement of the spleen.

Koi herpesvirus disease (KHV: *Herpesvirales, Alloherpesviridae, Cyprinivirus*) is characterized by papillomas on the caudal fin region. KHV has caused enormous losses around the world (Bretzinger *et al.*, 1999; Ariav *et al.*, 1999).

Aside from these major viral diseases, several other viruses have caused much damage to fish aquaculture species around the world (Table 1). Some of the most notable are:

Viral nervous necrosis virus (VNNV: Unassigned, *Nodaviridae, Betanodavirus*) can infect several fish species (Tanaka *et al.*, 2003). It induces abnormal swimming behavior, encephalopathy and retinopathy. Since it was first discovered, several similar cases have been reported around the world. One of the most prominent species is the striped jack viral nervous necrosis virus (SJNNV).

Hirame rhabdovirus (HIRRV: *Mononegavirales, Rhabdoviridae, Novirhabdovirus*) is mostly associated with epizootics and heavy losses in aquaculture (Kimura *et al.*, 1986) and is primarily a pathogen of Japanese flounder. It is composed of five structural proteins with similarity to those of IHNV and VHSV (Nishizawa *et al.*, 1991). Transmission occurs mainly by shedding from infected fish, and the viruses are spread by waterborne contact (Wolf, 1988). The early targets for the viruses are the gills, the esophagus, cardiac stomach region, and mucus-secreting glands.

Lymphocystis disease virus (LCDV: Unassigned, *Iridoviridae, Lymphocystivirus*) causes transformation and enlargement of cells of the skin and in the connective tissue of internal organs. Infected cells undergo massive hypertrophy and encapsidation by an extracellular hyaline matrix. LCD is characterized as a chronic benign disease with rare mortality. Infection rates are increased by stress factors (Wolf, 1988).

Marine birnavirus (MABV: Unassigned, *Birnaviridae, Aquabirnavirus*) has been isolated in flounders (Jung *et al.*, 2008). It causes accumulation of ascitic fluid in the abdominal

Group ^a	Order ^b	Family	Representative Species
A. DNA Viruses			
I: dsDNA	Caudovirales/	Iridoviridae	Epizootic haematopoietic necrosis virus (EHNV)*
	Herpesvirales		Red seabream iridovirus (RSIV)*
			Lymphocystis disease viruses (LCDV)†
		Herpesviridae	Koi herpesvirus (KHV, or CyHV-3)*°
			Channel catfish herpesvirus (CCHV)
B. RNA Viruses			
III: dsRNA		Reoviridae	Golden shiner reovirus (GSRV)
			Grass carp reovirus (GCRV)
		Birnaviridae	Infectious pancreatic necrosis virus (IPNV)
			Marine fish birnaviruses (MABV)†
IV: ss(+)RNA	Nidovirales /	Caliciviridae	San Miguel sea lion virus (SMSV)
	Picornavirales	Togaviridae	Salmon pancreatic disease virus (SPDV)
			Sleeping disease virus of rainbow trout (SDV)
		Nodaviridae	Viral nervous necrosis virus (VNNV)†
V: ss(-)RNA	Mononegavirales	Orthomyxoviridae	Eel viruses (A1B, EV1 and EV2)
			Infectious salmon anaemia virus (ISAV)*
		Rhabdoviridae	Infectious haematopoietic necrosis virus (IHNV)*
			Viral haemorrhagic septicaemia virus (VHSV)*†
			Spring viraemia of carp virus (SVCV)*
			Hirame rhabdovirus (HIRRV)†
VI: RT-Transcribing		Retroviridae	Walleye dermal sarcoma virus (WDSV)

Table 1.

Viral Families causing major diseases in fish

*OIE listed disease

†Infectious to P. olivaceus

^a Viral Groups are arranged according to Baltimore classification (I, III-VI)

^b Viruses are classified using ICTV nomenclature

°KHV is classified as belonging to the Alloherpesviridae family using ICTV classification

cavity, congestion in the liver and absence of food in the intestine with hemorrhages. External signs can be hemorrhages on the body surface and white nodules in the kidney and spleen.

Advantages of vaccine use

Several strategies have been implemented to alleviate the damage caused by these diseases. One of the most commonly used strategy against disease, in general, is chemotherapy by using antibiotics. However, there is cause for serious concern regarding the overutilization of antibiotics, which can lead to serious environmental damage by upsetting the natural microbial population and can hasten the emergence of antibiotic resistant pathogens (Huovinen, 1999a; Huovinen, 1999b; Park *et al.*, 2009). Moreover, antibiotics are not effective against viruses. Therefore, an effective strategy against viral pathogens must be considered. One of the most promising techniques is vaccination (Gudding *et al.*, 1999; Hastein *et al.*, 2005).

The principal difference between antibiotics and vaccines is that antibiotics are a therapeutic strategy, to be administered upon the onset of a disease. Vaccines, on the other hand, are a preventive strategy, and depend on stimulating the immune system of the target animal. Also, antibiotics are active mostly against bacterial pathogens, and will be effective only if an appropriate concentration is maintained. Vaccines, upon stimulation of the host immune system, need not be maintained, and the duration of protection surpasses that of antibiotics (Grisez and Tan, 2005).

Administration

Vaccines can be delivered orally, by immersion, or by injection. Vaccines to be delivered orally are integrated into the diet (by mixing, top-dressing, or bioencapsulation). Oral administration is the most straightforward and easiest method, but problems with getting the vaccine intact through the digestive system are prevalent. Attempts to improve this method have mostly focused on protecting the vaccine from digestive enzymes (Ellis, 1998). Immersion relies on stimulating the immune response of the skin and gills of the fish to protect it from future infection. It can be done by dipping (higher concentration of the vaccine, shorter exposure time), or bathing (lower concentration, longer exposure) (Nakanishi and Ototake, 1997). Though it is theoretically practical for large amounts of small fish, it can suffer the same problems with oral vaccines. Vaccination by injection is more direct, and the antigenic effect may be stimulated by an adjuvant (Grisez and Tan, 2005). Protection from vaccines delivered by injection can last for 6 months to a year. The vaccine is injected into the muscle (IM) or into the body cavity [intracoelomic (ICe), or intraperitoneal (IP)]. The injection also allows for multiple antigens to be combined into a single vaccine (Evelyn, 2002). However, since all fish must be handled individually, this method requires more time, labor, and skilled personnel.

Vaccine development

Development of vaccines is a time-consuming and laborious process. As with any drugdevelopment process, it initially involves the screening of potential candidates, which will lead to the identification and isolation of the therapeutic agent/vaccine (discovery). Characterization of the epidemiology and pathogenesis of the etiological agent, in order to identify targets for immune response or key virulence factors, would help in focusing the screening effort, in the enhancement of the potential antigen by genetic engineering, or in the development of DNA constructs for 3rd generation vaccines (DNA vaccines). A challenge model, to facilitate testing, which must show consistently reproducible and significant data, must be developed (Gudding et al., 1999). The candidate vaccines must undergo several in vivo and ultimately in vitro trials to test for positive and/or undesirable effects. With the use of genetic engineering techniques, a vaccine candidate can be streamlined to attenuate any undesired traits and/or to increase desired effects. The candidate can then go to 'production process development', wherein the method for large scale production and eventual delivery must be optimized. In all this, potential expenditure for production must be realistically assessed with the potential cost of the final product. This candidate must then undergo stringent tests for quality and safety to pass registration with relevant government agencies. Finally, the product must be marketed. Ideally, the final vaccine should: a) be safe for the fish, the caretaker, and the end-user; b) have a broad and effective protective spectrum; c) provide lasting protection; d) be easy to administer; e) be easy and cost-effective to manufacture; and f) be easily licensed or registered.

Types of vaccines

First generation vaccines utilize the whole pathogen - live, weakened, or killed. These include bacterins, which are composed of killed pathogenic cells that stimulate the humoral (antibody) immune response; and live, attenuated vaccines, which can stimulate both cellmediated (killer T-cells T_K, helper T-cells, T_H) and antibodies. This is currently the most commonly used type in aquaculture (Hastein et al., 2005). The biggest danger is that live pathogens can revert to a dangerous form, while bacterins are ineffective against several pathogens. Second generation vaccines utilizes antigenic subunits of the whole pathogen, such as recombinant protein antigens (toxoids), or other components. These can elicit $T_{\rm H}$ and antibody responses but not a T_{K} response. Third generation vaccines or DNA vaccines are directly inoculated DNA constructs that encode a specific antigen under the control of a eukaryotic promoter to stimulate *in vivo* synthesis of immunogenic protein and immune responses. After the vaccinated protein is expressed, it generates an immune response against the DNA-encoded immunogen. This mechanism has been revealed in mammals, when mice were inoculated with plasmids expressing human growth, but developed antibodies instead (Tang et al., 1992). The advantage of DNA vaccines is that they have been shown to elicit antibody, $T_{\rm H}$, and cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) response. DNA vaccine techniques have been investigated in cultured fish (Lorenzen et al., 1998, 1999, 2009; Corbeil et al., 1999; 2000) and there is currently tremendous interest in the development of DNA vaccines for fish (Biering et al., 2005; Kurath, 2005; Lorenzen and LaPatra, 2005).

DNA vaccines against viral diseases in fish

To date, several DNA vaccines have been examined for use in fish viral diseases (Table 2), especially against viral haemorrhagic septicaemia virus (VHSV), hirame rhabdovirus (HIRRV) and red seabream iridovirus (RSIV).

Disease	Antigens	Species	Reference
A. DNA Viruses	0	1	
Channel catfish herpesvirus (CCHV)	Several open reading frame (ORF)59, ORF6	Channel catfish	Nusbaum et al., 2002
Red seabream iridovirus (RSIV)	Major capsid protein (MCP) and an ORF569	Red seabream	Caipang et al., 2006
Lymphocystis disease virus (LCDV)	МСР	Japanese flounder	Tian and Yu, 2010
B. RNA Viruses			
Infectious hematopoietic necrosis virus (IHNV)	Glycoprotein	Rainbow trout, Atlantic salmon	Anderson <i>et al.</i> , 1996 Leong <i>et al.</i> , 1997 Winton, 1997 Corbeil <i>et al.</i> , 2000
Viral haemorrhagic septicaemia virus (VHSV)	Glycoprotein	Rainbow trout	Boudinot <i>et al.</i> , 1998 Heppell <i>et al.</i> , 1998 Lorenzen <i>et al.</i> , 1998 McLauchlan <i>et al.</i> , 2003
		Japanese flounder	Byon <i>et al.</i> , 2005 Byon <i>et al.</i> , 2006
Infectious pancreatic necrosis virus (IPNV)	VP2	Brown trout Rainbow trout	de las Heras <i>et al.</i> , 2009 de las Heras <i>et al.</i> , 2010
Atlantic halibut nodavirus (AHNV)	Coat protein (weakly effective)	Turbot	Sommerset et al., 2005
	Glycoprotein of VHSV		Sommerset et al., 2003
Hirame rhabdovirus	Glycoprotein	Japanese flounder	Takano et al., 2004
Spring viraemia of carp virus (SVCV)	Glycoprotein	Common carp Koi carp	Kanellos <i>et al.</i> , 2006 Emmenegger and Kurath, 2008
Infectious salmon anaemia virus (ISAV)	Hemagglutinin-esterase (HE) (weakly effective)	Atlantic salmon	Mikalsen et al., 2005
VHSV and IHNV (Mixed DNA vaccine)	Glycoproteins of VHSV and IHNV	Rainbow trout	Einer-Jensen et al., 2009

Table 2.

Summary of DNA vaccines against fish viral diseases

The glycoprotein (G-protein) gene of VHSV is a highly immunogenic viral protein when used as a DNA vaccine although DNA vaccination with the nucleocapsid (N) protein, phosphoprotein, non-virion, and matrix protein genes of IHNV were shown to be inefficient in rainbow trout (Lorenzen *et al.*, 1999; Corbeil *et al.*, 1999). Immunization using the VHSV G-protein gene in Japanese flounder, however, showed a high protective efficiency with 93% relative percentage survival (RPS) (Byon *et al.*, 2005).

A DNA vaccine encoding HIRRV G-protein gene provided strong protection against HIRRV (Takano *et al.*, 2004). Fourteen days post-HIRRV-challenge, the RPSs of fish infected with 1 and 10 μ g plasmid DNA vaccine were 70.5 and 90.1%, respectively. However, a DNA vaccine encoding the N-protein gene was inefficient against HIRRV

(Yasuike *et al.*, 2010). Interestingly, the gene expression patterns during HIRRV infection between fish vaccinated with the G- and N-protein were substantially different, as shown in the next section.

Vaccination protocols, using formalin-killed virus, have been found to be highly efficient in protecting fish against RSIV (Nakajima *et al.*, 1997; Kawakami and Nakajima, 2002). However, the use of whole-killed antigen vaccines has its own limitations, which include poor induction of cell-mediated immunity and poor immunogenicity (Davis and McCluskie, 1999). DNA vaccines encoding the viral major capsid protein (MCP) and an open reading frame (ORF) containing a transmembrane domain have been successfully used against RSIV in red seabream (Caipang et. al., 2006). The RPS of fish treated with the DNA vaccines and their combination ranged from 42.8 to 71.4%. These vaccines significantly induced the expression of MHC class I transcript in the vaccinated fish 15 to 30 days post immunization (Caipang *et al.*, 2006).

Immune-related genes in Japanese flounder immunized with DNA vaccines

To understand the immunological response to DNA vaccination, it is necessary for an effective technology to comprehensively analyze the transcripts expressed by the vaccines. Microarrays are specially treated glass slides robotically spotted with thousands of genes (Schena *et al.*, 1995). We have previously analyzed the expressions of about 2000 Japanese flounder ESTs with microarray chips (Kurobe *et al.*, 2005; Byon *et al.*, 2005, 2006; Yasuike *et al.*, 2007; Dumrongphol *et al.*, 2009). These chips have been used to evaluate the effectiveness of DNA vaccines in Japanese flounder infected with three viral pathogens (such as VHSV and HIRRV).

A microarray analysis of Japanese flounder immunized with DNA vaccine encoding VHSV G-protein was conducted to understand the gene expression patterns of the non-specific and specific immune responses to the vaccination (Byon et. al., 2005, 2006). Non-specific immune response genes such as NK Kupffer cells receptor, MIP1-a and Mx1 protein gene were observed to be up-regulated at 1 and 3 days post-immunization, while the specific immune response genes containing the CD20, CD8 alpha chain, CD40 and B lymphocyte cell adhesion molecule were also up-regulated during that time. These results suggested that the VHSV G-protein gene elicits strong humoral and cellular immune responses, which may play an important role in protecting the fish during viral infections.

Microarray analyses showed differential gene expressions in Japanese flounder in response to DNA vaccination by HIRRV G- and N-proteins (Yasuike *et al.*, 2007, 2010). Five genes, including the interferon-stimulated gene 15kDa (ISG15), ISG56, Mx and two unknown genes, were strongly induced after the injection by the HRV G-protein, but not N-protein. The three genes are known as type I interferon (IFN)-inducible genes, which inhibit viral replication or protein synthesis (Caipang *et al.*, 2003; Haller and Kochs, 2000; Samuel, 2001; Guo *et al.*, 2000), suggesting that stimulation of the type I IFN system protects against HRV infection. Furthermore, a microarray analysis of pHRV-G-vaccinated flounder infected with HIRRV showed up-regulation of several genes within 3 days post-infection

(Yasuike *et al.*, 2010). These included genes with homology to mammalian T cell activationrelated (such as Cytohesin-1, CXCR3, CARD11/CARMA1, gp96, CaMKII, DAP10, DC-SIGN, PA28 α and α 2m) and complement system (such as CD59, MASP-2 and complement factor H).

Molecular and cellular interactions between DNA vaccines and host immunity

The schematic pathway of the host immune mechanisms that DNA vaccines effectively activate in mammals is shown in Fig. 1. A DNA vaccine administered to the host body can activate the host immunity in two pathways. In one pathway, the encoded antigenic protein is expressed in non-immune cells (including muscle cells and skin cells) or antigenpresenting cells (APC), such as dendritic cells (DC). The antigen peptide is presented by MHC class I or II to enhance T cell differentiation to CD4+ T cells and CD8+ CTL (Rice *et al.*, 2008). The CD4+ T cells also enhance B cell differentiation to specific antibody producing cells (Coban *et al.*, 2008; Stevenson *et al.*, 2010). In the other pathway, DNA of the vaccine is directly recognized by some receptors including CpG DNA sensor [*i.e.* Toll-like receptor (TLR)-9], B-form DNA sensor [*i.e.* Z-DNA binding protein-1 (ZBP, also known as DAI)] and inflammasome [*i.e.* NACHT-, LRR- and pyrin domain (PYD)-containing proteins (NALP3)]. Recognition by these receptors stimulates type-I interferon (IFN) and pro-inflammatory cytokine gene expressions as an adjuvant (Coban *et al.*, 2008;



Figure 1. Schematic pathway of immune response mediated by DNA vaccines (solid lines), and the adjuvanticity reaction (broken lines). Abbreviations: B-DNA, B-form DNA; TBK1, TANK-binding kinase-1; IFN, interferon; APC, antigen-presenting cell; BCR, B-cell receptor; TCR, T-cell receptor; MHC I (or II), major histocompatibility complex class I (or II); CTL, cytotoxic T-cell.

Stevenson *et al.*, 2010). In these recognition cascades, TANK-binding kinase-1 (TBK1) mediates the adjuvant effect of DNA vaccines as a key molecule, which is necessary for DNA-vaccine-induced immunogenicity (Ishii *et al.*, 2008).

The microarray results showed that DNA vaccination significantly induced the expression of MHC class I transcripts (Caipang *et al.*, 2006), and increased the expression of T cell activation-related genes (Yasuike *et al.*, 2010). These results suggest that teleosts have an interaction pathway similar to that in mammals. Therefore, development of DNA vaccines in teleost fish will be greatly aided by understanding the cellular responses and receptors to DNA vaccines.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This work was supported by a grant from the World Class University Program (R32-10253) funded by the Ministry of Education, Science and Technology, South Korea.

REFERENCES

- Anderson, E.D., Mourich, D.V., Fahrenkrug, S.C., LaPatra, S., Shepherd, J. and Leong, J.A. 1996. Genetic immunization of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) against infectious hematopoietic necrosis virus. *Molecular Marine Biology and Biotechnology* 5:114-122.
- Ariav, R., Tinman, S. and Bejerano, I. 1999. First report of newly emerging viral disease of *Cyprinus carpio* species in Israel. *In* Proceedings of 9th International Conference on *Diseases of Fish and Shellfish*. 151.
- Biering, E., Villoing, S., Sommerset, I. and Christie, K.E. 2005. Update on viral vaccines for fish. *Developments in Biologicals* 121:97-113.
- Boudinot, P., Blanco, M., de Kinkelin, P. and Benmansour, A. 1998. Combined DNA immunization with the glycoprotein gene of viral hemorrhagic septicemia virus and infectious hematopoietic necrosis virus induces double-specific protective immunity and nonspecific response in rainbow trout. *Virology* 249:297-306.
- Bretzinger, A., Fischer-Scherl, T., Oumona, M., Hoffmann, R. and Truyen, U. 1999. Mass mortalities in koi carp, *Cyprinus carpio*, associated with gill and skin disease. *Bulletin of the European Association of Fish Pathologists* 19:182-185.
- Brugère, C.D. and Ridler, N.B. 2004. Global aquaculture outlook in the next decades : An analysis of national aquaculture production forecasts to 2030. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome.
- Byon, J.Y., Ohira, T., Hirono, I. and Aoki, T. 2005. Use of a cDNA microarray to study immunity against viral hemorrhagic septicemia (VHS) in Japanese flounder (*Paralichthys olivaceus*) following DNA vaccination. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 18:135-147.
- Byon, J.Y., Ohira, T., Hirono, I. and Aoki, T. 2006. Comparative immune responses in Japanese flounder, *Paralichthys olivaceus* after vaccination with viral hemorrhagic septicemia virus (VHSV) recombinant glycoprotein and DNA vaccine using a microarray analysis. *Vaccine* 24:921-930.

- Caipang, C.M., Hirono, I. and Aoki, T. 2003. *In vitro* inhibition of fish rhabdoviruses by Japanese flounder, *Paralichthys olivaceus* Mx. *Virology* 317:373–382.
- Caipang, C.M., Takano, T., Hirono, I. and Aoki, T. 2006. Genetic vaccines protect red seabream, *Pagrus major*, upon challenge with red seabream iridovirus (RSIV). *Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 21:130-138.
- Coban, C., Koyama, S., Takeshita, F., Akira, S. and Ishii, K.J. 2008. Molecular and cellular mechanisms of DNA vaccines. *Humam Vaccines* 4:453-456.
- Corbeil, S., LaPatra S.E., Anderson, E.D. and Kurath, G. 2000. Nanogram quantities of a DNA vaccine protect rainbow trout fry against heterologous strains of infectious hematopoietic necrosis virus. *Vaccine* 18:2817-2824.
- Corbeil, S., LaPatra, S.E., Anderson, E.D., Jones, J., Vincent, B., Hsu, Y.L. and Kurath, G. 1999. Evaluation of the protective immunogenicity of the N, P, M, NV and G proteins of infectious hematopoietic necrosis virus in rainbow trout *Oncorhynchus mykiss* using DNA vaccines. *Diseases of Aquatic Organism* 39:29-36.
- Davis, H.L. and McCluskie, M.J. 1999. DNA vaccines for viral diseases. *Microbes and Infection* 1:7-21.
- de las Heras, A.I., Pérez Prieto, S.I. and Rodríguez Saint-Jean, S. 2009. *In vitro* and *in vivo* immune responses induced by a DNA vaccine encoding the VP2 gene of the infectious pancreatic necrosis virus. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 27:120-129.
- de las Heras, A.I., Rodríguez Saint-Jean, S. and Pérez-Prieto, S.I. 2010. Immunogenic and protective effects of an oral DNA vaccine against infectious pancreatic necrosis virus in fish. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 28:562-570.
- Dopaz, C.P., Bandin, I., Lopez-Vazquez, C., Lamas, J., Noya, M. and Barja, J.L. 2002. Isolation of viral hemorrhagic septicemia virus from Greenland halibut *Reinhardtius hippoglossoides* caught at the Flemish cap. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 50:171-179.
- Dumrongphol, Y., Hirota, T., Kondo, H., Aoki, T. and Hirono, I. 2009. Identification of novel genes in Japanese flounder (*Paralichthys olivaceus*) head kidney up-regulated after vaccination with *Streptococcus iniae* formalin-killed cells. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 26:197-200.
- Einer-Jensen, K., Delgado, L., Lorenzen, E., Bovo, G., Evensen, Ø., Lapatra, S. and Lorenzen, N. 2009. Dual DNA vaccination of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) against two different rhabdoviruses, VHSV and IHNV, induces specific divalent protection. *Vaccine* 27:1248-1253.
- Ellis, A.E. 1998. Meeting the requirements for delayed release of oral vaccines for fish. *Journal of Applied Ichthyology* 14:149-152.
- Emmenegger, E.J. and Kurath, G. 2008. DNA vaccine protects ornamental koi (*Cyprinus carpio* koi) against North American spring viremia of carp virus. *Vaccine* 26:6415-6421.
- Essbauer, S. and Ahne, W. 2001. Viruses of lower vertebrates. *Journal of Veterinary Medicine, Series B* 48:403-475.
- Evelyn, T.P.T. 2002. Finfish immunology and its use in preventing infectious diseases in cultured finfish. *In* Lavilla-Pitogo, C.R. and Cruz-Lacierda, E.R. (eds.), Diseases in Asian Aquaculture IV. Fish Health Section, Asian Fisheries Society, Manila, 303-324.

- Falk, K., Namork, E., Rimstad, E., Mjaaland, S. and Dannevig, B.H. 1997. Characterization of infectious salmon anemia virus, an orthomyxo-like virus isolated from Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L.*). *Journal of Virology* 71:9016-9023.
- FO. 2009. The state of world fisheries and aquaculture SOFIA. 2008. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Rome, Italy.
- Grisez, L. and Tan, Z. 2005. Vaccine development for Asian aquaculture. *In* Walker, P., Lester, R. and Bondad-Reantaso, M.G. (eds.), Diseases in Asian Aquaculture V. Fish Health Section, Asian Fisheries Society, Manila, 483-494.
- Gudding, R., Lillehaug, A. and Evensen, Ø. 1999. Recent developments in fish vaccinology. *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology* 72:203-212.
- Guo, J., Hui, D.J., Merrick, W.C. and Sen, G.C. 2000. A new pathway of translational regulation mediated by eukaryotic initiation factor 3. *The EMBO Journal* 19:6891–6899.
- Haller, O. and Kochs, G. 2000. Interferon-induced Mx proteins: dynamin-like GTPases with antiviral activity. *Traffic* 3, 710–717.
- Hastein, T., Gudding, R. and Evensen, O. 2005. Bacterial vaccines for fish-an update of the current situation worldwide. *Developments in Biologicals* 121:55-74.
- Heppell, J., Lorenzen, N., Armstrong, N.K., Wu, T., Lorenzen, E., Einer-Jensen, K., Schorr, J. and Davis, H.L. 1998. Development of DNA vaccines for fish: vector design, intramuscular injection and antigen expression using viral haemorrhagic septicaemia virus genes as model. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 8:271-286.
- Holway, J.E. and Smith, C.E. 1973. Infectious hematopoietic necrosis of rainbow trout in Montana: A case report. *Journal of Wildlife Diseases* 9:287-290.
- Huovinen, P. 1999a. Antibiotic usage and the incidence of resistance. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection : The Official Publication of the European Society of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases* 5 Suppl 4:S12-S16.
- Huovinen, P. 1999b. Bacterial resistance; an emerging health problem. *Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica. Supplementum* 92:7-13.
- Ishii, K.J., Kawagoe, T., Koyama, S., Matsui, K., Kumar, H., Kawai, T., Uematsu, S., Takeuchi, O., Takeshita, F., Coban, C. and Akira, S. 2008. TANK-binding kinase-1 delineates innate and adaptive immune responses to DNA vaccines. *Nature* 451:725-729.
- Isshik, T., Nishizawa, T., Kobayashi, T., Nagano, T. and Miyazaki, T. 2001. An outbreak of VHSV (viral hemorrhagic septicemia virus) infection in farmed Japanese flounder *Paralichthys olivaceus* in Japan. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 47:87-99.
- Jung, S.J., Kim, S.R., Joung, I.Y., Kitamura, S., Ceong, H.T. and Oh, M.J. 2008. Distribution of marine birnavirus in cultured olive flounder *Paralichthys olivaceus* in Korea. *Journal* of Microbiology (Seoul, Korea) 46:265-273.
- Kanellos, T., Sylvester, I.D., D'Mello, F., Howard, C.R., Mackie, A., Dixon, P.F., Chang, K.C., Ramstad, A., Midtlyng, P.J. and Russell, P.H. 2006. DNA vaccination can protect *Cyprinus Carpio* against spring viraemia of carp virus. *Vaccine* 24:4927-4933.
- Kawakami, H. and Nakajima, K. 2002. Cultured fish species affected by red sea bream iridoviral disease from 1996 to 2000. *Fish Pathology* 37:45-47.
- Kimura, T., Yoshimizu, M. and Gorie, S. 1986. A new rhabdovirus isolated in Japan from cultured hirame (Japanese flounder) *Paralichthys olivaceus* and ayu *Plecoglossus altivelis*. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms*. 1:209-217.

- Kurath, G. 2005. Overview of recent DNA vaccine development for fish. *Developments in Biologicals* 121:201-213.
- Kurobe, T., Yasuike, M., Kimura, T., Hirono, I. and Aoki, T., 2005. Expression profiling of immune-related genes from Japanese flounder *Paralichthys olivaceus* kidney cells using cDNA microarrays. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology* 29:515-523.
- Leong, J.C., Anderson, E., Bootland, L.M., Chiou, P.W., Johnson, M., Kim, C., Mourich, D. and Trobridge, G. 1997. Fish vaccine antigens produced or delivered by recombinant DNA technologies. *Developments in Biological Standardization* 90:267-277.
- Lorenzen, E., Einer-Jensen, K., Rasmussen, J.S., Kjær T.E., Collet, B., Secombes, C.J. and Lorenzen, N. 2009. The protective mechanisms induced by a fish rhabdovirus DNA vaccine depend on temperature. *Vaccine* 27:3870-3880.
- Lorenzen, N. and LaPatra, S.E. 2005. DNA vaccines for aquacultured fish. *Revue Scientifique Et Technique (International Office of Epizootics)* 24:201-213.
- Lorenzen, N., Lorenzen, E., Einer-Jensen, K., Heppell, J. and Davis, H.L. 1999. Genetic vaccination of rainbow trout against viral haemorrhagic septicaemia virus: small amounts of plasmid DNA protect against a heterologous serotype. *Virus Research* 63:19-25.
- Lorenzen, N., Lorenzen, E., Einer-Jensen, K., Heppell, J., Wu, T. and Davis, H. 1998. Protective immunity to VHS in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*, Walbaum) following DNA vaccination. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 8:261-270.
- Lovely, J.E., Dannevig, B.H., Falk, K., Hutchin, L., MacKinnon, A.M., Melville, K.J., Rimstad, E. and Griffiths, S.G. 1999. First identification of infectious salmon anaemia virus in North America with haemorrhagic kidney syndrome. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 35:145-148.
- Matsuoka, S., Inouye, K. and Nakajima, K. 1996. Cultured fish species affected by RSIVD from 1992 to 1995. *Fish Pathology* 31:233-234.
- McAllister, P.E., Fryer, J.L. and Pilcher, K.S. 1974. Further characterization of infectious hematopoietic necrosis virus of salmonid fish (Oregon strain). *Archiv Fur Die Gesamte Virusforschung* 44:270-279.
- McLauchlan, P.E., Collet, B., Ingerslev, E., Secombes, C.J., Lorenzen, N. and Ellis, A.E. 2003. DNA vaccination against viral haemorrhagic septicaemia (VHS) in rainbow trout: size, dose, route of injection and duration of protection-early protection correlates with Mx expression. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 15:39-50.
- Mikalsen, A.B., Sindre, H., Torgersen, J. and Rimstad, E. 2005. Protective effects of a DNA vaccine expressing the infectious salmon anemia virus hemagglutinin-esterase in Atlantic salmon. *Vaccine* 23:4895-4905.
- Mjaaland, S., Rimstad, E., Falk, K. and Dannevig, B.H. 1997. Genomic characterization of the virus causing infectious salmon anemia in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.): An orthomyxo-like virus in a teleost. *Journal of Virology* 71:7681-7686.
- Mortensen, H.F., Heuer, O.E., Lorenzen, N., Otte, L. and Olesen, N.J. 1999. Isolation of viral haemorrhagic septicaemia virus (VHSV) from wild marine fish species in the Baltic Sea, Kattegat, Skagerrak and the North Sea. *Virus Research* 63:95-106.
- Nakajima, K., Maeno, Y., Honda, A., Yokoyama, K., Tooriyama, K. and Manabe, S. 1999. Effectiveness of a vaccine against red sea bream iridoviral disease in a field trial test. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 36:73-75.

- Nakajima, K., Maeno, Y., Kurita, J. and Inui, Y. 1997. Vaccination against red sea bream iridoviral disease in red sea bream. *Fish Pathology* 32:205-209.
- Nakanishi, Y. and and Ototake, M. 1997. Antigen uptake and immune responses after immersion vaccination. In Gudding, R., Lillehaug, A., Midtlyng, P.J. and Brown, F. (eds.), *Fish Vaccinology. Development of Biological Standards*. Basel, 90, 59-68.
- Nishizawa, T., Yoshimizu, M., Winton, J., Ahne, W. and Kimura, T. 1991. Characterization of structural proteins of hirame rhabdovirus, HRV. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 10:167–172.
- Nusbaum, K.E., Smith, B.F., DeInnocentes, P. and Bird, R.C. 2002. Protective immunity induced by DNA vaccination of channel catfish with early and late transcripts of the channel catfish herpesvirus (IHV-1). *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology* 84:151-168.
- Park, Y., Nho, S., Shin, G., Park, S., Jang, H., Cha, I., Ha, M., Kim, Y., Dalvi, R.S., Kang, B., et al. 2009. Antibiotic susceptibility and resistance of *Streptococcus iniae* and *Streptococcus parauberis* isolated from olive flounder (*Paralichthys olivaceus*). *Veterinary Microbiology* 136:76-81.
- Reddacliff, L.A. and Whittington, R.J. 1996. Pathology of epizootic haematopoietic necrosis virus (EHNV) infection in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss* Walbaum) and redfin perch (*Perca fluviatilis* L). *Journal of Comparative Pathology* 115:103-115.
- Rice, J., Ottensmeier, C.H. and Stevenson, F.K. 2008. DNA vaccines: precision tools for activating effective immunity against cancer. *Nature Reviews Cancer* 8:108-120.
- Rodger, H.D. and Richards, R.H. 1998. Haemorrhagic smolt syndrome: A severe anaemic condition in farmed salmon in Scotland. *The Veterinary Record* 142:538-541.
- Samuel, C.E. 2001. Antiviral actions of interferons. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews* 14:778–809.
- Schena, M., Shalon, D., Davis, R.W. and Brown, P.O. 1995. Quantitative monitoring of gene expression patterns with a complementary DNA microarray. *Science* 270:467-470.
- Sommerset, I., Lorenzen, E., Lorenzen, N., Bleie, H. and Nerland, A.H. 2003 A DNA vaccine directed against a rainbow trout rhabdovirus induces early protection against a nodavirus challenge in turbot. *Vaccine* 21:4661-4667.
- Sommerset, I., Skern, R., Biering, E., Bleie, H., Fiksdal, I.U., Grove, S. and Nerland, A.H. 2005. Protection against Atlantic halibut nodavirus in turbot is induced by recombinant capsid protein vaccination but not following DNA vaccination. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 18:13-29.
- Stevenson, F.K., Ottensmeier, C.H. and Rice, J. 2010. DNA vaccines against cancer come of age. *Current Opinion in Immunology* 22:264-270.
- Takano, R., Nishizawa, T., Arimoto, M. and Muroga, K. 2000. Isolation of viral hemorrhagic septicemia virus (VHSV) from wild Japanese flounder *Paralichthys olivaceus*. *Bulletin of the European Association of Fish Pathologists* 20:186-192.
- Takano, T., Iwahori, A., Hirono, I. and Aoki, T. 2004. Development of a DNA vaccine against hirame rhabdovirus and analysis of the expression of immune-related genes after vaccination. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 17:367-374.

- Tanaka, S., Kuriyama, I., Nakai, T. and Miyazaki, T. 2003. Susceptibility of cultured juveniles of several marine fish to the sevenband grouper nervous necrosis virus. *Journal of Fish Diseases* 26:109-115.
- Tang, D.C., DeVit, M. and Johnston, S.A. 1992. Genetic immunization is a simple method for eliciting an immune response. *Nature* 356:152-154.
- Tian, J. and Yu, J. 2010. Poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) nanoparticles as candidate DNA vaccine carrier for oral immunization of Japanese flounder (*Paralichthys olivaceus*) against lymphocystis disease virus. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 30: 109-117.
- Walker, P.J. and Winton, J.R. 2010. Emerging viral diseases of fish and shrimp. *Veterinary Research* 41:51.
- Whittington, R.J., Kearns, C., Hyatt, A.D., Hengstberger, S. and Rutzou, T. 1996. Spread of epizootic haematopoietic necrosis virus (EHNV) in redfin perch (*Perca fluviatilis*) in Southern Australia. *Australian Veterinary Journal* 73:112-114.
- Williams, T., Chinchar, G.D., Darai, G., Hyatt, A.D., Kalmakoff, J. and Seligy, V.L. 2000. Family Iridoviridae, pp. 167-182. *In* van Regenmortel, M.H.V., Fauquet, C.M., Bishop, D.H.L., Carstens, E.B., Estes, M.K., Lemon, S.M., *et al*, (eds.). Virus taxonomy. Seventh report of the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses. San Diego, Academic Press.
- Winton, J.R. 1997. Immunization with viral antigens: infectious haematopoietic necrosis. *Developments in Biological Standardization* 90:211-220.
- Wolf, K. (1988) Fish Viruses and Fish Viral Diseases. Cornell University Press, Ithaca, NY.
- Yasuike, M., Kondo, H., Hirono, I. and Aoki, T. 2007. Difference in Japanese flounder, *Paralichthys olivaceus* gene expression profile following hirame rhabdovirus (HIRRV) G and N protein DNA vaccination. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology* 23:531-541.
- Yasuike, M., Kondo, H., Hirono, I. and Aoki, T. 2010. Gene expression profile of HIRRV G and N protein gene vaccinated Japanese flounder, *Paralichthys olivaceus* during HIRRV infection. *Comparative Immunology, Microbiology and Infectious Diseases* 34: 103-110.

Biosecurity

23	Pathogen risk analysis for aquatic animals: experiences from nine case studies	271
	Ben Diggles and Richard Arthur	
24	Development of the shrimp industry in the Western Indian Ocean - a holistic approach of vertical integration, from domestication and biosecurity to product certification	291
	Marc Le Groumellec, Vincent Rigolet, Panchayuthapani Duraisamy, Marc Vandeputte and Vemulapalli Manavendra Rao	
25	Minimum inhibitory concentrations of antimicrobials against clinical Vibrio and Streptococcus isolated from aquaculture Hathairat Maisak, Nutcharnart Tipmongkolsilp and Janenuj Wongtavatchai	309
26	Studies on the development of a vaccine against <i>Mycobacterium</i> sp. <i>Goshi Kato, Hidehiro Kondo, Takashi Aoki and Ikuo Hirono</i>	317
Pathogen risk analysis for aquatic animals: experiences from nine case studies

BEN K. DIGGLES¹ and J. RICHARD ARTHUR²

¹DigsFish Services Pty Ltd, Banksia Beach, Australia ²Barriere, B.C., Canada

ABSTRACT

Pathogen risk analysis is an internationally accepted method for deciding whether trade in a particular commodity poses a significant risk to human, animal or plant health, and if so, what measures might be applied to reduce that risk to an acceptable level. This paper provides an overview of the qualitative risk analysis process and briefly examines the results of nine risk analyses that have been undertaken for the Asia and the Pacific Region. The risk analyses examined were conducted by Australia (3), New Zealand (4) and by the Pacific Community (2) and involved the movement of finfishes (5 cases), crustaceans (4 cases) and molluscs (1 case). Two cases involved ornamentals, five cases involved live animals to be moved for aquaculture development and two cases involved non-viable finfish product. It is concluded that although the nine case studies were all hampered by a lack of basic information on aquatic animal pathogens, they were all able to meet the three main objectives of minimizing the risk of transfer of serious pathogens and diseases between trading partners, justifying the application of sanitary measures (e.g. restrictions on species and/or sources of origin, health certification requirements, quarantine, treatment, etc.) and minimizing restrictions to trade. Past experience has shown that serious diseases are often spread through the movement of live aquatic animals and their products, which, coupled with the poor knowledge base that exists for most pathogens of aquatic animals (including information on their identities, life cycles, host specificities, geographical distributions, pathogenicities, etc.) justifies the use of precautionary approaches to minimize the risk of introducing pathogens to new hosts and geographical areas.

Key words: import risk analysis, pathogen risk analysis, risk analysis for aquatic animal movement

Diggles, B.K. and Arthur, J.R. 2010. Pathogen risk analysis for aquatic animals: experiences from nine case studies, pp. 271-290. *In* Bondad-Reantaso, M.G., Jones, J.B., Corsin, F. and Aoki, T. (eds.). Diseases in Asian Aquaculture VII. Fish Health Section, Asian Fisheries Society, Selangor, Malaysia. 385 pp.

Corresponding author: Ben Diggles, ben@digsfish.com

INTRODUCTION

International trade continues to increase in volume due to the expanding human population and technological advancements in transport and communications. Liberalization of international trade has been in part facilitated firstly by establishment of the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT) in 1947, followed more recently by the adoption of the *Agreement on the Application of Sanitary and Phytosanitary Measures* (the SPS Agreement) in 1994 and the creation of the World Trade Organization (WTO) in 1995.

Under the SPS Agreement, WTO Member Countries (counting 153 as of June 2008) may employ sanitary or phytosanitary measures to the extent necessary to protect human, animal and plant health. However, they must base their sanitary measures on international standards, guidelines and recommendations, which in the case of sanitary measures for aquatic animals and their products, is the World Organisation for Animal Health's (OIE) *Aquatic Animal Health Code* (OIE, 2008). WTO members may adopt higher level of standards that those specified in the Code, however, they are required to use the *risk analysis* process as a means to justify these additional restrictions on international trade (see WTO, 1994; Murray, 2002; Rodgers, 2004).

As a result, risk analysis has become recognized internationally as an appropriate method for deciding whether trade in a particular commodity poses a significant risk to human, animal or plant health, and if so, what measures can be applied to reduce that risk to an acceptable level. Besides the SPS Agreement, there are several other international treaties, agreements and memberships that affect international trade in aquatic organisms (Table 1). Some are binding agreements that involve reporting and other requirements, and some are not.

Risk analysis is usually defined either by its components and/or its processes. The Society for Risk Analysis (http://www.sera.org/) defines "risk analysis" in the following ways:

- a detailed examination including risk assessment, risk evaluation and risk management alternatives, performed to understand the nature of unwanted, negative consequences to human life, health, property or the environment;
- an analytical process to provide information regarding undesirable events; and
- the process of quantification of the probabilities and expected consequences for identified risks.

The risk analysis process has also been simply defined as "science-based decision making" (Arthur, 2008). Risk analysis has characteristics that include consistency of process, transparency of process, emphasis on stakeholder consultation, separation of the objective (scientific fact) from the subjective (opinion), emphasis on the precautionary principle, the concept of an appropriate level of protection (ALOP) (Wilson, 2001), separation of science-based and political decisions, and the concept of unacceptable risk. Risk analysis is now

widely applied in many fields that touch our daily lives. These include decisions about risks due to natural disasters, climate change, contaminants in food and water, unemployment, public security, terrorism, safety, insurance, litigation, and so on.

Table 1

Some important international and Asia-regional treaties, agreements and memberships related to international trade in aquatic organisms and their products. Adapted from Arthur *et al.* (2004)

International Law

- SPS Agreement
- Convention on Biodiversity (CBD)
- Cartagena Protocol on Biosafety
- Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species (CITES)

International Memberships

- World Trade Organization (WTO)
- World Organisation for Animal Health (OIE)
- United Nations (UN)
- Various regional inter-governmental associations (e.g. APEC, ASEAN, SEAMEO, SAARC, EU)¹

Other Non-binding Codes and Agreements

- Asia Regional Technical Guidelines on Health Management for the Responsible Movement of Live Aquatic Animals and the Beijing Consensus and Implementation Strategy (FAO/ NACA, 2000)
- FAO Code of Conduct for Responsible Fisheries (CCRF; FAO, 1995)
- ICES Code of Practice on the Introductions and Transfers of Marine Organisms (ICES, 2005)

¹APEC – Asia-Pacific Economic Association; ASEAN – Association of South East Asian Nations; FAO – Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations; ICES – International Council for the Exploration of the Sea; SEAMEO – Southeast Asian Ministers of Education Organization, SARC – South Asian Association for Regional Cooperation, EU – European Union.

RISK ANALYSIS IN RELATION TO AQUATIC ANIMAL HEALTH AND TRADE IN AQUATIC ANIMALS

In the fields of aquatic animal health and aquaculture, risk analysis has mainly been applied to assess risks to society and the environment posed by hazards created by, or associated with, aquaculture development (Bondad–Reantaso and Arthur, 2008). These include evaluating risk associated with environmental degradation, genetic impacts, introduction and spread of pests and invasive species and introduction and spread of pathogens. While the utility of risk analysis when applied to aquatic animal health is undoubtedly extensive, this paper will concentrate only on pathogen risk analysis (often termed *import risk analysis* when applied to international trade). Pathogen risk analysis relates to the analysis of risks of introducing and/or spreading exotic pathogens or strains of pathogens into new geographic areas with the international or domestic movement of aquatic animal commodities (i.e. live aquatic animals and their products).

The main objectives of pathogen risk analysis are:

- (i) to minimize risk of transfers of serious pathogens and diseases between trading partners,
- (ii) to justify application of sanitary measures (e.g. restrictions on species and/or sources of origin, health certification requirements, quarantine, treatment) and
- (iii) to minimize restrictions to trade.

The *Aquatic Animal Health Code* (OIE, 2008) outlines the necessary basic steps in the risk analysis process that should be followed. However, the framework is flexible and decisions as to the details of the process are left to individual member countries.

Governments and the private sector must often make decisions based on incomplete knowledge and a high degree of uncertainty. Because of this, pathogen risk analysis is a structured process within a flexible framework within which the risks of adverse consequences resulting from a course of action can be evaluated in a systematic, science-based manner (MacDiarmid, 1997; Rodgers, 2004). The risk analysis process allows objective and transparent analysis of the risks of disease introduction associated with movements of living organisms and their products across international and domestic borders. Because of the transparent methodology, the risk analysis approach can permit a defendable decision to be reached on whether the risk posed by a particular action or hazard is acceptable or not, and provides the means to evaluate possible ways to reduce risks from unacceptable to acceptable levels.

Components of pathogen risk analysis

The main components of a pathogen risk analysis include hazard identification (i.e. What can go wrong?), risk assessment (How is it likely to go wrong and what would be the resulting consequences?), risk management (What can be done to reduce either the likelihood and/or consequences of it going wrong?) and risk communication (How do we communicate the risk to others in order to generate a change in management, regulation or operation?)

Risk analysis has only recently begun to be used widely to assess the potential risks associated with movements (and proposed movements) of aquatic animals throughout the Asia-Pacific region. Here we examine nine case studies where pathogen risk analysis was applied to movements of fish, crustaceans and mollusks in the Asia-Pacific region. Table 2 presents a summary of the main features of each study. All were based on qualitative analysis of available data, an approach often used when dealing with analyses of aquatic animals due to several factors (Table 3), not the least being the paucity of epidemiological data available, which tends to preclude use of the more involved and costly qualitative analysis method (Murray, 2002). The size and scope of the studies examined varied considerably. Six of the studies examined risks associated with proposed movements of single species (ranging from live and dead fish, to live adult and larval crustaceans, to live mollusks), while the remainder examined risks associated with movements of products from multiple species of salmonids (22 species, Stone *et al.*, 1997) and live ornamental fishes (two studies that encompassed 392

Table 2 Details of

ion.	
c animals in the Asia-Pacific reg	Risk management method
ts of aquati	umber
vemen	Nn
roposed mo	Number
as applied to pi	Number of
gen risk analysis w	Number of
tudies where pathog	Type of
etails of nine case st	Risk assessment

Risk assessment	Type of translocation	Number of host genera/ species considered	Number of potential hazards in preliminary list	Number of hazards fully assessed	Number of hazards requiring risk management	Risk management methods recommended or required ⁵
Salmonids for human consumption (Stone <i>et. al.</i> , 1997)	International / between hemispheres	22 species	85	71	0	 Pre-export certification Commodity headed, gilled and eviscerated Post-arrival processing at registered premises only
Live ornamental finfish to Australia (AQIS, 1999)	International / between hemispheres	605 genera	104	44	12	 Pre-export inspection and certification Post-arrival inspection and quarantine (2-3 weeks) Ad hoc disease testing and/or chemotherapy in quarantine Safe disposal of wastewater and packaging
Juvenile kingfish (<i>Seriola</i> sp.) from Australia to New Zealand for seacage culture (Diggles, 2002)	International / Regional	1 species	42	92	4	 Spatial separation and mortality cut off (5%) in hatchery High salinity, no external lesions (EUS, parasites) Virus testing programme (VER/VNN, aquabirnavirus) Post-arrival quarantine (4 weeks)
Postlarval blue shrimp (<i>Litopenaeus</i> <i>stylirostris</i>) from Brunei to Fiji (Bondad Reantaso <i>et al.</i> , 2005) ⁴	International / between hemispheres	1 species	21	8	∞	 Larvae from specific pathogen free (SPF) broodstock Spatial separation in hatchery Testing for viruses (BP, HPV, IHHNV, NHP, TSV, WSSV, YHV) and <i>Vibrio penaeicida</i> No shrimp removed from receiving facility without permit

[able 2 (continued)							
Details of nine case s	tudies where patho	gen risk analysis	was applied to pi	roposed mov	ements of aqua	ic animals in the Asia-Pacific region.	
Postlarval giant river prawn (Macrobrachium	International / Regional	1 species	61	5	2	 Virus testing programme (WSSV, MrNV, XSV) No shrimp removed from receiving facility without permit 	
<i>rosenbergii</i>) from Fiji to Cook							
Islands for land-							
based culture							
(Arthur <i>et al.</i> , 2005) ⁴							
Ornamental	International	394 genera and	>500	35	13	Rationalize permitted species to	
fish and marine	/ between	species				• 4 to 6 weeks quarantine	
invertebrates	hemispheres					Targeted passive surveillance	
from all countries						during quarantine with mortality	
to New Zealand						ingger point (20%) ior aisease investigation	
(Biosecurity New							
Lealand, 2005							
Adult	International/	1 species	76	9	4	• VITUS testing programme (MITNV, WSCV XSV)	
Macrobrachium	between					Sourced from waters free	
rosenbergii from	hemispheres					of Aphanomyces astaci and	
Hawaii to New						Angiostrongytus cantonensis	
Zealand for land-						facility without permit	
based culture							
(Biosecurity New							
Zealand, 2006)							
Menhaden	International/	1 species	42	1	1	Pre-export certification with	<u> </u>
(Brevoortia	between					• Virus testing (IPN-like	
sp.) from USA	hemispheres					Aquabirnavirus)	
to Australia						Post-arrival holding at registered	
for lobster bait						premises, for incensed users only	
(Diggles 2007a)							

continued
じ ろ
ble
Lal

Details of nine case studies where pathogen risk analysis was applied to proposed movements of aquatic animals in the Asia-Pacific region.

				_	_	
acific ovsters	Domestic/	1 species	18^{3}	13	<u>ω</u>	• VITUS LESUNG (HELPES-LIKE VITUS
					1	$O_{\alpha}HV_{-1}$
Crassostrea gigas)	interstate/ inter-					
rom Tasmania to	island					Chlorine and/or hypoxia treatment
Vew South Wales						for Carcinus maenas and Undaria
or on-orowing						pinnatifida
Digales 2007b)						5
UIEE100, 200/0)						
a aludad in Manta (Carlo Cimeriation M	0001000				

¹Included in Monte Carlo Simulation Modeling.

Due to lack of knowledge of kingfish diseases in Australia, this analysis considered not only diseases of kingfish but the likelihood that kingfish could be exposed to any of the notifiable diseases of finfish recorded from Australia.

³Includes both pests and disease agents.

⁴Analysis considered both ecological and pathogen risks.

BP - Baculovirus penaei; EUS - epizootic ulcerative syndrome; HPV - hepatopancreatic parvo-like virus; IHHNV - infectious hypodermal and haematopoietic necrosis virus (IHHNV); IPN - infectious pancreatic necrosis; MrNV - Macrobrachium rosenbergii nodavirus; NHP - necrotising hepatopancreatitis; OsHV-1 - ostreid herpesvirus -1; TSV -Taura syndrome virus; VER/VNN - viral encephalopathy and

etinopathy/viral nervous necrosis; WSSV - white spot syndrome virus; XSV - extra small virus; YHV - yellow head virus

Table 3

Comparison of features of quantitative and qualitative risk analysis.

Study type	Quantitative	Qualitative
Approach	Analytical	Pragmatic
Information needs	Comprehensive epidemiological data required	Data gaps acceptable
Expertise	Considerable	Experience preferred
Timeliness	Can take years	Usually months
Cost	Usually expensive	Relatively economical

(AQIS, 1999) and 605 genera (Biosecurity New Zealand, 2005). Only one study examined risks associated with domestic movements of Pacific oysters in Australia (Diggles, 2007b), with the remaining eight studies relating to international movements of fish or crustaceans.

Hazard identification

Hazard identification is the first step in the risk analysis process, and it centers around the process of identifying hazards that could potentially produce consequences. This process attempts to answer the general question "What can possibly go wrong ?" (Arthur *et al.*, 2004).

To be identified as a hazard, a pathogen typically:

- must have been reported to infect or is suspected of being capable of infecting the commodity;
- must cause significant disease outbreaks and associated losses in susceptible populations;
- could plausibly be present in the exporting country; and
- is absent from the importing country or is under an official control or eradication programme.

For the case studies examined here, there were large variations in the number of hazards identified per host species (Table 4). The "hazard:host" ratio varied from as high as 76 potential hazards per host (Biosecurity New Zealand, 2006, proposed movements of adult *Macrobrachium rosenbergii* from Hawaii to New Zealand) to as low as 0.17 hazards per host (AQIS 1999, live ornamental finfish into Australia). There was a general trend whereby the hazard to host ratio was much higher on average (43.3 hazards per host) for the six studies that examined only a single host species, while the studies that examined multiple host species considered on average only 0.67 hazards per host (Table 4). This difference was mainly due to the large numbers of species of ornamental fishes considered in two studies (AQIS, 1999; Biosecurity New Zealand, 2005), together with the paucity of information available on their diseases and pathogens (Corfield *et al.*, 2007, Whittington and Chong 2007). Even so, the risk analysis conducted on live ornamental fishes and invertebrates into New Zealand (Biosecurity New Zealand, 2005) still identified over 500 potential hazards from a host list of 394 genera and species.

Table 4

Hazards identified in the nine case studies.

Risk assessment	Number of host genera and/or species considered	Number of hazards in preliminary list	Hazard: host ratio
Salmonids for human consumption	22 species	85	3.86:1
Live ornamental finfish to Australia	605 genera and species	104	0.17:1
Juvenile kingfish from Australia to New Zealand	1 species	42	42:1
Postlarval blue shrimp from Brunei Darussalam to Fiji	1 species	21	21:1
Postlarval giant river prawn from Fiji to Cook Islands	1 species	61	61:1
Ornamental finfish and marine invertebrates to New Zealand	394 genera and species	>500	1.27:1
Adult giant river prawn from Hawaii to New Zealand	1 species	76	76:1
Menhaden from the United States of America to Australia	1 species	42	42:1
Pacific oysters from Tasmania to New South Wales	1 species	18 (includes pests)	18:1
Mean for single species risk analysis (6 studies)	1 species	43.3 hazards	43.3:1
Mean for multispecies risk analysis (3 studies)	340 species	230 hazards	0.67:1

Risk assessment

The next step in the risk analysis process is the risk assessment. This step is the process of evaluating the likelihood that a potential hazard will be realized, and the potential consequences of that happening. In the context of pathogen risk analysis, this usually means assessing the likelihood that a serious disease outbreak will result from the movement of a commodity over a given period of time, and estimating the likely biological, social and/or economic consequences of the introduction of that disease agent (Arthur *et al.*, 2004).

The risk assessment component of pathogen risk analysis normally consists of four subcomponents. In the release assessment, the biological pathways necessary for an importation activity to "release" (introduce) a hazard into the importing country are defined and the likelihood of that complete process occurring is estimated. Or, more simply stated, the release assessment determines the pathways that a pathogen can move with the commodity from the exporting country to the border of the importing country (Fig. 1) and the likelihood of this occurring. Similarly, exposure assessment determines the pathways by which susceptible populations in the importing country can be exposed to the pathogen and the likelihood of this occurring. Consequence assessment identifies the potential biological, environmental and socio-economic consequences expected to result from pathogen introduction, while risk estimation calculates the overall risk posed by the hazard



(the unmitigated risk) by combining the likelihood of entry and exposure with the likely consequences of establishment.

To determine whether the risk estimate for each pathogen in the risk assessment is acceptable to the importing country, the concept of a national appropriate level of protection (ALOP) is required. The ALOP (also referred to by its inverse, the "acceptable level of risk"), is the level of protection deemed appropriate by a country establishing a sanitary or phytosanitary measure to protect human, animal or plant life or health within its territory (see WTO, 1994). As such, establishing an ALOP is a political, rather than a scientific

decision, and must be made at the highest level of government. Where no formal statement of ALOP exists, a country's ALOP can often be defined by review of its import practices for various other (often non-aquatic animal) commodities. In the risk analyses examined, determination of each country's ALOP was often demonstrated using risk estimation matrixes, which can be very useful for rapidly determining whether a country enforces a relatively low ALOP (Table 5) or a relatively high ALOP (Table 6).

Table 5

Risk estimation matrix (low ALOP/high ALOR). The shaded areas indicate situations where the unmitigated risk does not meet the country's ALOP and thus risk management will be required to reduce the risk to an acceptable level.

			Estimated Co	onsequences		
		Negligible	Low	Moderate	High	Catastrophic
od of	High	Negligible	Low	Moderate	High	Extreme
ure		Risk	Risk	Risk	Risk	Risk
ikeliho	Moderate	Negligible	Low	Moderate	High	Extreme
Expos		Risk	Risk	Risk	Risk	Risk
ited L	Low	Negligible	Very Low	Low	Moderate	High
ase &		Risk	Risk	Risk	Risk	Risk
stima	Very Low	Negligible	Negligible	Very Low	Low	Moderate
Rele:		Risk	Risk	Risk	Risk	Risk
<u> </u>	Negligible	Negligible Risk	Negligible Risk	Negligible Risk	Negligible Risk	Negligible Risk

Table 6

Risk estimation matrix (High ALOP/Low ALOR). The shaded areas indicate situations where the unmitigated risk does not meet the country's ALOP and thus risk management will be required to reduce the risk to an acceptable level.

		-	Estimated Cons	equences		
		Negligible	Low	Moderate	High	Catastrophic
of	High	Negligible	Low	Moderate	High	Extreme
od		Risk	Risk	Risk	Risk	Risk
ho	Moderate	Negligible	Low	Moderate	High	Extreme
xp		Risk	Risk	Risk	Risk	Risk
č E	Low	Negligible	Very Low	Low	Moderate	High
e &		Risk	Risk	Risk	Risk	Risk
eas	Very Low	Negligible	Negligible	Very Low	Low	Moderate
stim Rel		Risk	Risk	Risk	Risk	Risk
Ē	Negligible	Negligible	Negligible	Negligible	Negligible	Negligible
		Risk	Risk	Risk	Risk	Risk

Risk management

If the country's ALOP is met, the importation can be approved without further action. However, if the risk posed by the commodity exceeds that specified by the ALOP, then additional risk management (otherwise known as risk mitigation) measures are required. For the nine case studies examined here, the risk assessment process determined that the vast majority of potential hazards did not require specific risk management. Only 8.3% of the potential hazards identified in the six single host species risk analyses and 4.6% of the potential hazards identified in the three multi-host species analyses required additional risk management measures to be implemented (Table 7).

Table 7

Results of risk assessment in the nine case studies. Note that the proportion of potential hazards that required risk management was very low.

Risk assessment	No. of hazards in preliminary list	No. of hazards assessed	No. of hazards requiring risk management
Mean for single species risk analyses (6 studies)	43.3 hazards	6.5	3.6 (8.3%)
Mean for multi-species risk analyses (3 studies)	230 hazards	26.3	10.6 (4.6%)

The option evaluation component of the risk mitigation process identifies the efficacy and feasibility of various possible measures available to reduce risks posed by the hazard. Generally, the least restrictive measure(s) found to reduce the risk to an acceptable level are selected.

During option evaluation, the risk analyst attempts to answer the question "What can be done to reduce either the likelihood or the consequences of it going wrong?" (Arthur *et al.*, 2004). The process is essentially the same at that used during risk assessment, with new scenarios and pathways being constructed that incorporate steps for possible risk mitigation measures to determine their ability to reduce the overall risk (now the mitigated risk estimate) to an acceptable level.

For pathogen risk analysis, a wide variety of risk mitigation measures are potentially available to be used singly or in combination. These include pre-export health certification, quarantine (at various levels of stringency, see Arthur *et al.*, 2008), inspection, post-arrival diagnostic testing, vaccination, prophylactic treatments, use of alternate sources (e.g. specific pathogen free stocks, hatchery stocks of known health status), use of different life-cycle stages (e.g. eggs rather than juveniles or adults), or use of various treatments (e.g. cooking or other types of post-harvest processing) that reduce the risk of pathogen transfer to an acceptable level. In the nine case studies examined here, eight of the nine required pre-export disease certification or other similar conditions and seven of nine specified post-arrival quarantine or other restrictions on post-arrival movements, in no instances did the analysts determine that movements of the commodities were impossible

(Table 8). The specific risk mitigation measures recommended understandably varied on a case-by-case basis (Table 2), depending on a wide variety of commodity and country-related factors.

Table 8

Risk management recommendations from the nine case studies

Condition	Frequency of use
Pre-export certification and conditions	8 of 9 studies
Viral testing	6 of 9 studies
Post-arrival conditions/quarantine	7 of 9 studies
No movements possible	0 of 9 studies

Risk communication

One important aspect of the pathogen risk analysis procedure is risk communication, which is the process by which stakeholders are consulted, information and opinions gathered, and risk analysis results and management measures communicated. Risk communication is an essential component of any risk analysis that is conducted or commissioned by a public-sector agency (e.g. Competent Authority) and where multiple stakeholders may be involved. Such risk analyses may involve or have potential impacts upon the mandates and current and/or potential activities of a large number of agencies, organizations and individuals.

For any pathogen risk analysis, primary among the stakeholders that need to be included in communication strategies will be the proponent, the Competent Authorities in the exporting and importing countries, and the risk analysis team. However, there are usually many other entities with an interest in the outcome, the precise agencies, organizations and individuals varying depending on the commodity being considered and its intended use. Key stakeholders should be identified early in the risk analysis process and methods of advising them and seeking input established. The importance of good risk communication throughout the entire risk analysis process cannot be overstressed (Box 1).

Benefits of pathogen risk analyses

In practice, the nine pathogen risk analyses examined in this study proved to be indispensable for identifying potential disease threats, and greatly assisted with development of strategies for managing these risks, generally without undue restriction on the proposed movements of the commodities. In most cases, the risk analysis process also delivered additional benefits, such as highlighting priorities for research in those cases where data were absent or incomplete.

Although the risk analysis process is not science, it is science-based. Well qualified risk analysts are typically scientists who have considerable research experience, and high quality risk analyses utilize large amounts of supporting scientific information based on high-quality research. In many cases drafts of the analyses examined in this study were peer reviewed.

BOX 1 Risk communication case study (Biosecurity New Zealand)

Biosecurity New Zealand recently updated its risk analysis procedures (http://www.biosecurity. govt.nz/files/pests/surv-mgmt/surv/review/revision-to-risk-analysis-procedures-10oct07.pdf). Risk analyses are now released for consultation as *drafts* – with *option*(s) for different levels of intervention and related measures as opposed to *recommended* measures. Feedback will be sought from stakeholders on these options. Risk analyses will then be finalized following this consultation and will present options – refined if appropriate –for the import health standard process to consider. (Measures will only be *recommended* to the Chief Technical Officer for decision once the import health standard process is complete.) Draft and final risk analyses will be signed off by a committee chaired by the Manager of the Risk Analysis team with the Manager, International Co-ordination and Manager of Standards as the other members of the team. Decisions will be made by consensus – if this is not possible then differences will be escalated to the Director Policy and Risk and Director Standards for resolution. Decisions about the content and measures outlined in draft and final risk analyses should be guided by the Decision Making Framework – process and principles – as endorsed by the Biosecurity New Zealand Executive Management Team in March 2007 as well as our domestic and international obligations.

The scientific information used is mainly obtained from the published scientific literature, but unpublished information obtained from colleagues, as well as expert opinion was also used in some instances.

Constraints of pathogen risk analyses for aquatic animals

Of course, the risk analysis process is not perfect. The main constraints to the risk analysis process for aquatic animal pathogens in the studies examined here included:

- a lack of baseline data for hazard identification;
- scarce data on pathogen inactivation and epidemiology;
- uncertainty regarding the ecological consequences of pathogen introduction;
- uncertainty regarding the financial consequences of pathogen introduction;
- inconsistent evaluation of risk between different commodities and analysts;
- inconsistency regarding the appropriate level of protection (ALOP) between different commodities in the same country; and
- regulatory issues, especially in developing countries (e.g. lack of disease surveillance, lack of competent authority or competent authority lacking expertise and/or diagnostic capacity in the field of aquatic animal health)

A key reason for the large amount of uncertainty that is seen during many risk analyses is the general lack of basic knowledge on the epidemiology and pathogens of aquatic animals, particularly for ornamental fishes and less commonly traded species, and especially for commodities originating from developing countries.

Are the objectives of pathogen risk analysis being met in the real world?

From the case studies reviewed here, we consider that the answer to this question is Yes, most of the time. The three main objectives of pathogen risk analysis are to minimize risk of transfers of serious pathogens and diseases between trading partners, to justify application of sanitary measures (e.g. restrictions on species and/or sources of origin, health certification requirements, quarantine, treatment) and to minimize restrictions to trade. As none of the studies examined here determined that the proposed movements of the commodities were impossible, the key criteria of minimizing restrictions to trade would appear to have been achieved. However, there have been suggestions by some authors that implementation of a precautionary approach in some instances may result in adoption of more restrictive sanitary (risk mitigation) measures that may not be justifiable in the absence of additional epidemiological information (mainly related to exposure pathways) for some commodities, such as commodity shrimp (see Flegel, 2009). However, there is also ample evidence that while the risk of transfer of serious pathogens tends to be reduced by the risk analysis process, in some cases they have not been minimized to levels consistent with the high ALOP enforced by some countries (such as Australia and New Zealand) for other commodities such as plants and terrestrial animals (Biosecurity Australia, 2009).

The precautionary principle was defined in Principle 15 of the Rio Declaration (1992) as follows:

Where there are threats of serious or irreversible environmental damage, lack of full scientific certainty should not be used as a reason for postponing measures to prevent environmental degradation.

We consider that there is sufficient evidence to warrant use of the precautionary principle during pathogen risk analysis for aquatic animals. This is particularly justifiable for hazard identification and selection of risk mitigation measures, as experience has shown that hazards can still occur even in the absence of disease identification (Gaughan, 2002). A classic example of the latter problem is the emergence of a novel herpesvirus that caused massive epizootics in Australian pilchards (*Sardinops sagax*) in 1995 and 1998 (Whittington *et al.*, 1997, Hyatt *et al.*, 1997). Both epizootics extended over 7 700 km of coastline (Murray *et al.* 2003), radiating outwards from a 250 km stretch of coastline where intensive tuna ranching operations were feeding many thousands of tonnes of imported frozen baitfish (including *Sardinops* sp.) annually. Strong association of the disease outbreaks with the tuna farming process is suggested by the fact that the statistical likelihood of both epizootics randomly originating within the same 250 km stretch is 0.001 (Gaughan, 2002). Available evidence now suggests that the pilchard herpesvirus was a novel exotic pathogen that is now endemic in Australia (Whittington *et al.*, 2008), having been introduced into the country via importation of frozen baitfish for use as aquaculture feed (Gaughan, 2002).

A precautionary approach to the hazard identification process also might have prevented a potential incursion of exotic disease with proposed movements of juvenile kingfish (*Seriola lalandi*) from Australia to New Zealand (Diggles, 2002). While nodavirus infections had never been recorded in the literature from *Seriola* spp., the precautionary approach to the hazard identification process used in that risk assessment considered that hatchery-reared juvenile kingfish may be susceptible to nodavirus strains (as well as other viruses) endemic to Australia (Diggles, 2002). Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) testing for nodavirus was subsequently included as part of the import health standard for movements of juvenile kingfish from Australia to New Zealand, and positive test results for nodavirus (Australian bass strain) were subsequently obtained from several pools of fish sampled from the proposed shipment (Crane, 2004), halting the translocation. From this, it appears that possible introduction of a pathogen previously unrecorded from New Zealand, and most significantly, also previously unrecorded from kingfish, was avoided mainly due to use of a precautionary approach to hazard identification and risk mitigation during the risk analysis process.

Further evidence that the precautionary principal is justifiable during selection of risk mitigation measures comes directly from another of the risk analyses examined in this paper (live ornamental fishes into Australia, AQIS, 1999). There is proof that despite the recommendations of that analysis, the pre-export conditions, border protection and post-arrival quarantine procedures used for live ornamental fishes in Australia remain inadequate (Whittington and Chong, 2007) and do not meet Australias ALOP (Biosecurity Australia, 2009). This has been evidenced by documentation of arrival of diseased fish into quarantine, escape of exotic pathogens from quarantine into the ornamental fish retail sector (Humphrey, 1995a, 1995b; Evans and Lester, 2001; Go *et al.*, 2005; Chong and Whittington, 2005; Go and Whittington, 2006; Corfield *et al.*, 2007) and establishment in the wild of many exotic freshwater fishes (together with their parasites and pathogens) in many parts of Australia (Humphrey and Ashburner, 1993; Lintermans, 2004; Corfield *et al.*, 2007).

CONCLUSION

Risk analysis allows for uncertainty of scientific knowledge, and for pathogen risk analyses for aquatic animals in particular, we consider that the use of the precautionary principle can be justified. This is because in most instances, critical epidemiological information is either scarce or simply not available. There are at least four points where the precautionary principle may come into play:

- during the hazard identification process;
- throughout the risk analysis process, when "cautious interim measures" are needed to ban or restrict trade until a sound risk analysis can be completed;
- during the pathways scenario portion of the risk assessment process, when sensitivity analysis may reveal key information gaps that must be addressed by targeted research; and
- during risk management, when risk mitigation measures are identified to reduce the risk to an acceptable level.

Through applying the precautionary principle, importing countries are permitted the time needed to address any important information gaps where research is needed to support sound decision-making. For the latter course of action, the risk analysis process itself also provides other important benefits, such as highlighting priorities for research in those cases where data are absent or incomplete.

REFERENCES

- AQIS. 1999. Import risk analysis on live ornamental finfish. Australian Quarantine and Inspection Service, July 1999. Canberra, 172 pp.
- Arthur, J.R. 2008. General principles of the risk analysis process and its application to aquaculture, pp. 3-8. *In* Bondad-Reantaso, M.G., Arthur J.R., and Subasinghe, R.P. (eds.). Understanding and applying risk analysis in aquaculture. *FAO Fisheries Technical Paper* No. 519, Rome, FAO.
- Arthur, J.R., Bondad-Reantaso, M.G., Baldock, F.C., Rodgers, C.J. and Edgerton, B.F. 2004. Manual on risk analysis for the safe movement of aquatic animals (FWG/01/2002). APEC/ DoF/NACA/FAO, APEC Publ. No. APEC#203-FS-03, 159 pp. (available at: http://www. apec.org/content/apec/publications/free downloads/2004.html).
- Arthur J.R., Bondad-Reantaso, M.G. and Subasinghe, R. 2008. Procedures for the quarantine of live aquatic animals. A manual. *FAO Fisheries Technical Paper* No. 502, Rome, FAO, 74 pp. (available at: http://www.fao.org/docrep/010/i0095e/i0095e00.htm)
- Arthur, J.R., Hurwood, D., Lovell, E.R., Bondad-Reantaso, M.G. and Mather, P.B. 2005. Pathogen and ecological risk analysis for the introduction of giant river prawn, *Macrobrachium rosenbergii*, from Fiji to the Cook Islands. SPC Aquaculture Technical Papers. Secretariat of the Pacific Community, Aquaculture Section, Noumea Cedex, New Caledonia, August 2004, 58 pp. (available at: http://www.spc.int/aquaculture/site/publications/documents/MacrobrachiumRosenbergii1.pdf).
- Biosecurity Australia. 2009. Importation of freshwater ornamental fish: review of the biosecurity risks associated with gourami iridovirus and related viruses. Draft import risk analysis report, March 2009. Biosecurity Australia, Canberra, Australia. Available at: http://www.daff.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0019/1056511/2009-06a_Ornamental______finfish_draft_report.pdf
- Biosecurity New Zealand. 2005. Import risk analysis: Ornamental fish and marine invertebrates from all countries to New Zealand. Biosecurity NZ, Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry, Wellington, 264 pp.
- Biosecurity New Zelaand. 2006. Import risk analysis: Freshwater prawns *Macrobrachium rosenbergii* from Hawaii. Biosecurity NZ, Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry, Wellington, 63 pp. (available at: http://www.biosecurity.govt.nz/pests-diseases/animals/risk/prawns-ra.htm).
- Bondad-Reantaso, M.G. and Arthur, J.R. 2008 Pathogen risk analysis in aquaculture production. *In* Bondad-Reantaso, M.G. Arthur, J.R. and Subasinghe, R.P. (eds.). Understanding and applying risk analysis in aquaculture. *FAO Fisheries Technical Paper* No. 519, Rome, FAO, 304 pp. (available at: http://www.fao.org/docrep/011/i0490e/ i0490e00.htm)

- Bondad-Reantaso, M.G., Lovell, E.R., Arthur, J.R., Hurwood, D. and Mather, P.B. 2005. Pathogen and ecological risk analysis for the introduction of blue shrimp, *Litopenaeus stylirostris* from Brunei Darussalam to Fiji. SPC Aquaculture Technical Papers. Secretariat of the Pacific Community, Aquaculture Section, Noumea Cedex, New Caledonia, August 2004, 80 pp. (available at: http://www.spc.int/aquaculture/site/publications/documents/ Stylirostris BruneiFiji.pdf).
- Chong, R. and Whittington, R.J. 2005. A review of Australian ornamental fish import risk management for the period 1999-2004. A report to the National Aquatic Animal Health Technical Working Group (NAAH-TWG) August 2005, 106 pp.

(available at: http://www.scahls.org.au/NAAH-TWG/docs/ornimental_fish-risk.pdf).

- Corfield, J., Diggles, B., Jubb, C., McDowall, R.M., Moore, A., Richards, A. and Rowe, D.K. 2007. Draft final report for the project 'Review of the impacts of introduced aquarium fish species that have established wild populations in Australia'. Prepared for the Australian Government Department of the Environment and Water Resources, 278 pp. (available at: http://www.environment.gov.au/biodiversity/invasive/publications/pubs/wild-aquariumfish.pdf).
- Crane, M. 2004. Diagnostic Specimen Testing Report SAN: 04-3116. Virology (IPNV and RSIV exclusion) for export certification of *Seriola lalandi* to New Zealand, including VNN PCR. Australian Animal Health Laboratory (AAHL) report. 9 November 2004. 2 pgs. Report available from BKD upon request.
- Diggles, B.K. 2002. Import risk assessment: Juvenile yellowtail kingfish (*Seriola lalandi*) from Spencer Gulf Aquaculture, South Australia. NIWA Client report WLG 2001/03, July 2002. Prepared for Island Aquafarms Ltd., 54 pp. (available at: http://www.maf.govt. nz/biosecurity/pests-diseases/animals/risk/yellowtail-kingfish-ra.pdf).
- Diggles, B.K. 2007a. Scientific submission to AQIS supporting an application for an import permit allowing entry of whole, round menhaden (*Brevoortia tyrannus*) for use as lobster bait. DigsFish Services Client Report DF07-01. January 2007, 39 pp.
- Diggles, B.K. 2007b. Risk assessment for translocation of Pacific oyster (*Crassostrea gigas*) seed spat from shellfish culture sites in Tasmania into NSW. DigsFish Services Client Report DF07-09. August 2007, 37 pp. Confidential client report, contact BKD for details.
- Evans, B.B. and Lester, R.J.G. 2001. Parasites of ornamental fish imported into Australia. *Bulletin of the European Association of Fish Pathology*, 21:51-55.
- FAO. 1995. Code of conduct for responsible fisheries. Rome, FAO, 41 pp. (available at: ftp://ftp.fao.org/docrep/fao/005/v9878e/v9878e00.pdf).
- FAO/NACA. 2000. The Asia regional technical guidelines on health management for the responsible movement of live aquatic animals and the Beijing consensus and implementation strategy. FAO Fisheries Technical Paper No. 402, Rome, FAO, 53 pp. (available at: http://www.fao.org/DOCREP/005/X8485E/X8485E00.HTM).
- Flegel, T.W. 2009. Review of disease transmission risks from prawn products exported for human consumption. *Aquaculture*, 290:179-326.
- Gaughan, D.J. 2002. Disease-translocation across geographic boundaries must be recognized as a risk even in the absence of disease identification: the case with Australian *Sardinops*. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries*, 11:113-123.

- Go, J., Lancaster, M., Deece, K., Dhungyel, O. and Whittington, R.J. 2005. Molecular epidemiology of iridovirus infection in Murray cod and ornamental fish. Abstract, FRDC Aquatic Animal Health Subprogram Scientific Conference Proceedings, Cairns, 26-28 July, 2005.
- Go, J. and Whittington, R. 2006. Experimental transmission and virulence of a megalocytivirus (family Iridoviridae) of dwarf gourami (*Colisa lalia*) from Asia in Murray cod (*Maccullochella peelii peelii*) in Australia. *Aquaculture* 258:140-149.
- Humphrey, J.D. 1995a. Australian quarantine policies and practices for aquatic animals and their products: a review for the Scientific Working Party on Aquatic Animal Quarantine, Part 1: Review and Annexes, Bureau of Resource Sciences, Canberra.
- Humphrey, J.D. 1995b. Australian quarantine policies and practices for aquatic animals and their products: a review for the Scientific Working Party on Aquatic Animal Quarantine, Part 2: Appendices. Bureau of Resource Sciences, Canberra.
- Humphrey, J.D. and Ashburner, L.D. 1993. Spread of the bacterial fish pathogen *Aeromonas* salmonicida after importation of infected goldfish, *Carassius auratus*, into Australia. *Australian Veterinary Journal*, 70:453–454.
- Hyatt A.D., Hine P.M., Jones, J.B., Whittington, R., Kearns, G., Wise, T.G., Crane, M.S. and Williams, I.M. 1997. Epizootic mortality in pilchards *Sardinops sagax neopilchardus* in Australia and New Zealand in 1995. II. Identification of a herpesvirus in the gill epithelium. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 28:17-29.
- ICES. 2005. ICES code of practice for the introductions and transfers of marine organisms 2005. International Council for the Exploration of the Sea, Copenhagen, 30 pp. (available at: http://www.ices.dk/reports/general/2004/ICES%20Code%20of%20Practice%202005. pdf).
- Lintermans, M. 2004. Human-assisted dispersal of alien freshwater fish in Australia. New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research 38:481-501
- MacDiarmid, S.C. 1997. Risk analysis, international trade, and animal health. p. 377-387. In Fundamentals of risk analysis and risk management. CRC Lewis Publ., Boca Raton.
- Murray, N. 2002. Import Risk Analysis. Animals and animal products. New Zealand Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry, Wellington, 183 pp.
- Murray, A.G., O'Callaghan, M. and Jones, J.B. 2003. A model of spatially evolving herpesvirus epidemics causing mass mortality in Australian pilchard *Sardinops sagax*. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 54:1-14.
- OIE. 2008. *Aquatic animal health code*, Section 1.4, Risk analysis. (available at: http://www. oie.int/eng/normes/fcode/a_summry.htm).
- Rio Declaration. 1992. United Nations Conference on Environment and Development, Rio, 1992.
- Rodgers, C.J. 2004. Risk analysis in aquaculture and aquatic animal health. p. 59-64. *In* Arthur, J.R. and Bondad-Reantaso, M.G. (eds.) Capacity and awareness building on import risk analysis (IRA) for aquatic animals. Proceedings of the Workshops held 1-6 April 2002 in Bangkok, Thailand and 12-17 August 2002 in Mazatlan, Mexico. APEC FWG 01/2002, NACA, Bangkok.

- Stone, M.A.B, MacDiarmid, S.C. and Pharo, H.J. 1997. Import health risk analysis: salmonids for human consumption. Ministry of Agriculture Regulatory Authority, New Zealand, Wellington, 269 pp.
- Whittington, R.J. and Chong, R. 2007. Global trade in ornamental fish from an Australian perspective: The case for revised import risk analysis and management strategies. *Preventative Veterinary Medicine*, 81:92-116.
- Whittington, R.J., Crockford, M., Jordan, D. and Jones, J.B. 2008. Herpesvirus that caused epizootic mortality in 1995 and 1998 in pilchard, *Sardinops sagax neopilchardus* (Steindachner), in Australia is now endemic. *Journal of Fish Diseases*, 31:97-105.
- Whittington, R.J., Jones, J.B., Hine, P.M. and Hyatt, A.D. 1997. Epizootic mortality in pilchards *Sardinops sagax neopilchardus* in Australia and New Zealand in 1995. Pathology and epizootiology. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms*, 28:1-16.
- Wilson, D. 2001. The appropriate level of protection. p. 159-164. *In* Quarantine and market access playing by the WTO rules, a forum held in Canberra, 6-7 September 2000. Canberra, Australia.
- WTO. 1994. Agreement on the application of sanitary and phytosanitary measures. p. 69-84. In The results of the Uruguay Round of multilateral trade negotiations: the legal texts. General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT), World Trade Organization, Geneva.

Development of the shrimp industry in the Western Indian Ocean - a holistic approach of vertical integration, from domestication and biosecurity to product certification

MARC LE GROUMELLEC¹, VINCENT RIGOLET¹, PANCHAYUTHAPANI DURAISAMY¹, MARC VANDEPUTTE² and VEMULAPALLI MANAVENDRA RAO¹

¹Aqualma. Immeuble S.C.I.M. 4, Rue Galliéni. BP 93. 401 Majunga. Madagascar ² IFREMER, Chemin de Maguelone, 34250 Palavas les Flots. France

ABSTRACT

The shrimp farming industry in the western Indian Ocean started with Aqualma's project in 1989, and now several companies farm shrimp in the Mozambique Channel. Despite the remoteness of these projects and their high investment and operating costs, they compete in the global marketplace by efficiently producing high value quality products. To address sustainability and biosecurity issues, Aqualma developed domesticated specific pathogenfree (SPF) broodstock of Penaeus monodon from western Indian Ocean stocks, which have been its exclusive source of post-larvae since 2003. Specific molecular diagnostic tools have been developed for each endemic pathogen detected since 1996, and these are used for routine surveillance of Aqualma's shrimp stocks along with histology. Biosecurity has become a major issue due to the inherent risk associated with semi-intensive farms and development of more projects in the zone. Introduction of exotic and endemic pathogens into the farms by infected wild fauna is a real concern, and reinforced biosecurity procedures are in place to mitigate this at Aqualma. Quality management through ISO 9001 helped in achieving capacity building on biosecurity. There is also a need for a national and regional level veterinary surveillance program for shrimp diseases with support from international organizations like the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) and the World Organisation for Animal Health (OIE). In order to secure our investment and sustain the industry worldwide, we intend to participate in its safe development.

Key words: shrimp, Madagascar, domestication, biosecurity, certification

Corresponding author: Marc.Le Groumellec, marc.legroumellec@unima.mg

Le Groumellec, M., Rigolet, V., Duraisamy, P., Vandeputte, M. and Rao, V.M. 2011. Development of the shrimp industry in the Western Indian Ocean – a holistic approach of vertical integration, from domestication and biosecurity to product certification, pp. 291-308. *In* Bondad-Reantaso, M.G., Jones, J.B., Corsin, F. and Aoki, T. (eds.). Diseases in Asian Aquaculture VII. Fish Health Section, Asian Fisheries Society, Selangor, Malaysia. 385 pp.

INTRODUCTION

The Western Indian Ocean shrimp farming industry was developed according to an original strategy of rearing *P. monodon* in bigger semi-intensive ponds at an industrial scale. It started in Madagascar, and then extended to Mozambique and Tanzania. The Madagascan model of shrimp farming is based on rearing of *P. monodon* in earthen ponds of 5-10 ha with continuous water exchange. It is basically a combination of South American and Asian rearing techniques. It was originally developed by Aqualma, and has then become a model for other farms in the region. The targets are a maximum biomass of 1.8 to 2.2 tons / Ha at harvest, and bigger sizes at harvest depending on the clients' demand. Grow out ponds are usually stocked with juveniles of 1-2 g shrimp coming from nursery ponds (1 Ha). The industry is totally integrated vertically with synchronized supply chain, and the capacities at each production step are optimized. The production takes place throughout the year, which facilitates production planning.

It is aimed at a consistent final product of superior quality head-on shrimp mostly for European markets, positively differentiated by the consumer. The freshness of the head is essential for the product, requiring specific methods for harvest, transport and freezing to keep the texture of the flesh crunchy and salty. The costs of production are high, mostly because of difficult logistics (no roads, transports are only through boats and planes) and high-energy costs (no public network of electricity available on production sites). Therefore production performances have to be high and sustainable in order to stay economically viable.

The Aqualma farms located at Mahajamba and Besalampy have started producing since 1992 and 1999, respectively. Since then the productions are remarkably consistent despite adverse climatic events like cyclones and floods. The site selections for the farms were mainly done on otherwise unproductive salt flats with minimum mangrove clearing and the farm design promotes semi-intensive way of rearing in big ponds of 10 Ha in average. Regarding the water use, intake and discharge are separated, and the renewal is based on continuous water exchange. The feed management requires high quality feed, to ensure very high survival rates (over 75 % in pre-growth, and 90 % in grow-out in average), faster growth and lower food conversion ratio (FCR). In order to achieve higher performances, it has been necessary to stock domesticated SPF post-larvae, and master other critical steps like good pond preparation, optimized water filtration and continuous surveillance by inhouse pathology laboratory. Due to the remoteness and absence of laboratories, competence has also been acquired on food safety analysis being run in an internal food bacteriology laboratory.

The social responsibility and community development activities have always been considered as part of the projects leading to building of hospitals, schools, electrification, and drinking water availability to ensure quality of life of the employees. Environmental responsibility is a major aspect of Madagascan shrimp industry, which has recently been acknowledged by several NGOs like WWF or third-party certifications. Activities like ecological surveillance of the bay and mangrove plantation programs are routinely undertaken on each site of production. The projects conform to the recommendations made by FAO in its international principles for responsible shrimp farming (FAO/NACA/UNEP/WB/WWF, 2006), aiming a long-term sustainable business.

As a fully vertically integrated company, Aqualma has one domestication Center, with brood stock selection and nauplii production at Moramba, industrial scale post-larval production at Nosy Be and Mifoko, shrimp grow-out ponds at Mahajamba & Besalampy and related processing plants in Besakoa & Besalampy as shown in Fig. 1. It also has a feed plant in La Reunion Island and a cooking plant in Boulogne in France.



Since the species, *P. monodon*, selected for aquaculture was quite rare in Madagascan waters constituting only around 2 % of the shrimp fishery (Fig. 2), Aqualma decided to start a domestication project in order to be sustainable on a long term, though several previous attempts concluded that *P. monodon* was difficult to domesticate and produce on a commercial scale (Pullin, Williams and Preston, 1998).



This paper presents a successful holistic approach in developing a sustainable shrimp farming industry involving various components. After a short description on how domestication program and wild broodstock selection was initiated, the importance of identification of endemic pathogens and development of adequate diagnostic tools for the sustainability of semi-intensive rearing method will be stressed out, leading to biosecurity management at different levels, from compartmentalization at a company level to global sanitary policy at National or even regional levels.

Other essential aspects ensuring success include optimizing rearing conditions and husbandry practices to ensure higher levels of animal welfare and adequate management of genetic resource, which will be further commented.

Finally, the achievement of complete traceability along the supply chain and product certifications to ensure maximum food safety and service to the customer will be described.

Initiation of the domestication program

The following were the objectives and expectations of the company from its domestication program:

- Independence from wild stocks and year round guaranteed supply.
- More consistent performances than wild stocks, allowing more precise projections and budget calculations. The aim was to obtain performances at least equal to wild brood stock (percentage of spawning females, eggs & nauplii per female, quality of nauplii, survival rate in larval rearing) with an expected improvement through domestication and natural selection after several generations.
- Providing a safe source of specific pathogen-free (SPF) seeds, certified free of all economically important pathogens (eventually to all viruses and intracellular bacteria, which is much easier to achieve in domesticated stocks), as it can be checked over several generations.
- Providing a base for further work on selective breeding of important traits like growth, resistance to stress or to a specific disease (Specific Pathogen Resistant).
- Providing a potential to develop more intensive, biosecure systems due to an enhanced control of disease.
- Opening an economical potential for brood stock / seed stock export business.

Maximizing the genetic diversity and better quarantine were considered as key elements in the initial stage of domestication. The founding populations of *P. monodon* were all endemic to Madagascar and collected in deep water from all the major fishing zones of the island, as presented in Fig. 3 along the western coast of Madagascar in order to start with a maximum genetic diversity. Particular attention was made to avoid those animals being captured in shallow water along the coasts to limit the risks of contamination of pathogens from other species of crustaceans. All incoming brood stocks were submitted to a primary quarantine; wherein a complete evaluation of sanitary status was performed through molecular biology and histology methods was done for all OIE listed shrimp pathogens in addition to local



Figure 3 Major fishing areas (yellow stars) of *P. monodon* on the west coast of Madagascar where the founding population for Aqualma's domestication programme were collected.

pathogens known at the time. During this pre-domestication phase, adaptation of wild animals to the culture environment and the continuous controlled reproduction are being considered as major issues (Bilio, 2007). Once they cleared quarantine, they were used for reproduction, and their offspring reared in batches. Systematic sanitary control was performed on each generation, for each batch produced, at each growing step (Fig. 4). Runts, animals with clinical signs or abnormal behavior were scrutinized, fixed and studied, and each suspicious batch was eliminated. The absence of all major endemic pathogens discovered / detected in Madagascar since 1999 until 2008 was ensured, progressively demonstrating an SPF status for this population.



Figure 4 Facilities involved in closing the biological cycle of *Penaeus monodon* in the Domestication Centre of Aqualma, site of Moramba

The final expected product of domestication is an SPF breeder with good growth and high fecundity, genetically defined through its pedigree and physically identified through individual tagging. Based on the post-larvae requirements of the farms, simulations are made approximately 18 months before on the number of brood stocks to be produced, in order to be able to supply the required amount of post larvae on time for stocking the ponds. The performance of first generations of domesticated breeders was variable, but stabilized to satisfactory levels due to improvements in animal husbandry and selection. They exhibited subsequently good fertility and fecundity rates, producing an average of over 400,000 nauplii per spawn, similar to what can be produced from wild females of the same weight. This demonstrated that the animals adapted well to its controlled environment, and that the chosen rearing methods were adequate.

In terms of impact of domestication on shrimp production of the company, the increasing availability of this domesticated SPF population since the year 2000, provided a safe and consistent source of seeds to Aqualma, thus playing a major role in the sustainability of its results, and allowed it to pursue its development strategy. The estimated quantity produced by Aqualma with a domesticated SPF broodstock is over 30,000 tons as of January 1st, 2007, compared to 48,000 tons of total shrimp production since the beginning in 1992. The part of domesticated animals reared progressively increased from 10% to 100 % of the total post-larvae produced from the year 2000 until 2003, and has been kept 100 % since then (Fig. 5).



Acquiring knowledge on local pathogens

At the start of the project, there was little or no information available on the sanitary status of wild populations of shrimp and other crustaceans. Consequently the company took every effort to rapidly acquire and continuously update knowledge on endemic pathogens of crustaceans that may impact its operation through pathogen surveillance programs coordinated with the group company's fishing boats. Absence of competent local scientific institutions on this domain forced the company to work with international institutions like the Shrimp Pathology Laboratory, University of Arizona, with which we signed a yearly renewed Technical Agreement, and occasionally with several other research institutes like University of Montpellier II, University Blaise Pascal-Clermont II and others. Collaboration with these institutes resulted in in-house capacity building in terms of developing diagnostic facilities (histopathology and molecular diagnostics), training of manpower and routine counter analysis. Thanks to these collaborations and its internal team, the company was able to participate actively in new discoveries of endemic pathogens (Fig. 6) and in the development of specific diagnostic tools. As Madagascar still continues to enjoy pathogenfree status with respect to many pandemic pathogens like WSSV, YHV, TSV, Brazilian IMNV and NHP, histopathology is still being considered as a principal diagnostic tool as the majority of diseases cases reported were due to local unknown pathogens, or non OIE listed pathogens. A well-equipped molecular biology laboratory with PCR and *in situ* hybridisation capabilities together with histology laboratory form an essential component in strategies to assure bio-security to various production units. Following are the endemic pathogens that were identified during this period of time, and taken into account in the surveillance program.



Figure 6 Some of the pathogens encountered in the wild and/or farmed populations of crustaceans in Madagascar: a) Madagascan strain of HPV in а wild P. monodon juvenile, H&E stain b) а parvovirus from wild P. indicus, Feulgen c) an iridovirus from Acetes erythraeus, H&E d) septic hepatopancreatic necrosis by an opportunistic Vibrio sp., H&E e) a Gram +ve micrococcus in LO, Twort and f) a microsporidian infection in striated muscle, due to Ameson michaelis, H&E.

Rickettsia-like bacterium

A rickettsia-like bacterium (RLB) was reported in 1999 to be responsible for severe mortalities of farmed *P. monodon* in the southwest region of Madagascar. Specific molecular methods, PCR and *in situ* hybridization assays, were developed (Fig. 7) for these rickettsia

(Nunan *et al.*, 2003; Nunan *et al.*, 2003). So far, it has been considered to be transmitted horizontally through wild crustacean vectors like crabs, and vertical transmission has never been observed (Le Groumellec, M. and Duraisamy P., pers. comm.).

Iridovirus

An iridovirus (tentatively named SIV, sergestid iridovirus) was reported to cause high mortality in a sergestid shrimp, *Acetes erythraeus* in 2004. However there was no mortality observed in *P. monodon* population. A PCR method and *in situ* hybridization assays were developed anyway, thus allowing monitoring the evolution of this pathogen in case it becomes a threat in the future (Tang *et al.*, 2007).

IHHNV

As for as IHHNV is concerned, neither symptoms nor lesions were observed in the massive monitoring programme spanning over 10 years. The published information (Tang *et al.,* 2003; Krabsetsve, Cullen and Owens, 2004) purportedly involving IHHNV strain from Madagascar might have been due to the false positive PCR reaction obtained with *P. monodon* from the region that are known to have an IHHNV related sequence with a high degree of similarity inserted in their genome. Development of a discriminating PCR assay is now available to distinguish real IHHNV from virus-related sequences in the genome of *P monodon* (Tang, Navarro and Lightner, 2007).

Hepatopancreatic Parvovirus

A strain of HPV is reported with high prevalence (Tang, Pantoja and Lightner, 2008) in the wild shrimps and found to be different from HPV isolates from Tanzania, Korea, Australia and Thailand based on nucleotide sequence analysis. However, this strain of HPV seems to never have been reported to cause mortality or have any negative impact in the farms that continue to depend on brood stock from the wild under the rearing condition adopted by Madagascar farmers (Le Groumellec, M. and Duraisamy P., pers. comm.).

Microsporidians

Presence of at least two species of microsporidians was reported in the wild population of penaied shrimp, *Fenneropenaeus indicus*, *P. monodon* and *Penaeus semisulcatus*, in the west coast of Madagascar (Toubiana *et al.*, 2004). Strain specific molecular diagnostic tools (PCR primers and *in situ* hybridisation probes) were developed to monitor potential carriers like several types of wild crustaceans.

Monodon Slow Growth Syndrome, local form (MSGS)

Detection of a previously undescribed virus in the lymphoid organ and gills of growth retarded population of *P. monodon* from a commercial shrimp farm has been reported in the zone, suggesting resemblance with monodon slow growth syndrome (MSGS) that has been problematic with *P. monodon* in Thailand since 2001 (Anantasomboon *et al.*, 2006). Efforts are being made to understand more about the condition and to develop a diagnostic

tool, as this syndrome could be of major concern for the industry if its presence in the zone is confirmed. Meanwhile histology diagnostic remains adequate to demonstrate the absence of such a syndrome in our domesticated stocks or farms.

Others pathogens

Wild populations of *P. monodon* are sporadically observed with MBV, but seem to have never impacted the production (Le Groumellec, M. and Duraisamy P., pers. comm.). A baculovirus was reported from crab. Similarly a parvovirus infecting the midgut caecum was observed in the wild populations of F. indicus. These findings were made thanks to the pathogen surveillance program, performed originally by Aqualma internal pathology laboratory until 2007, now extended to the whole Madagascar island and integrated with the national surveillance program. Infection by opportunistic bacterial pathogens like common Vibrio spp. infections, other specific Vibrio inducing systemic infections like *Vibrio nigripulchritudo* and a Gram+ micrococcus have also been reported.

Considering all these newly discovered pathogens, a biosecurity policy was first designed at a company level, with the future intention to amplify it to a national level.

Biosecurity strategies – company, country and regional levels

At a company level, compartmentalisation of production systems was already considered at the design stage (Fig. 7). Compartments separate animals at different phases of the production cycle with distinct health status and comfort levels (Zepeda, Jones, and Zagmutt, 2008). Biosecurity measures to prevent introduction of infections from one compartment to the others is assured by implementing control plans that are part of the standard operating

Figure 7 Different steps leading to development of molecular diagnostic tools for endemic pathogens of Madagascar, i.e. for RLB. a) Normal lymphoid organ (LO) tubules, H&E stain b) LO tubules infected with RLB, H&E c) TEM image of RLB in LO and d) positive reaction to in situ RLB probe in the hepatopancreas, showing the systemic infection, not affecting the tubules. Photos c & d are from Shrimp Pathology Laboratory, UAZ.



procedure of each compartment. A crisis management procedure is in place to react quickly to disease outbreaks in any of the compartments. Equipments, training of personnel, predefined responsibilities and preparedness are essential component of this crisis management system. Each compartment is audited by independent agencies for certifications (ISO 9001 V 2000; Label Rouge; ACC).

As the domestication centre and larval rearing facility are closed units with more indoor facilities, the production of post larva from domesticated brood stock is done in a more secured environment guaranteeing constant production of SPF seeds for stocking at the farms. All the other inputs used in the hatchery production are sourced from certified suppliers and each lot of inputs undergoes rigorous quality control before being used in the system, and complete traceability records are maintained. Quarantine facilities, filtration and sterilisation of both inlet and outlet water, systematic screening for pathogens at different life stages and control over movement of workers and materials are part of the biosecurity plan.

The grow out farms are semi-closed systems where there is total control of animal movements, but limited control over water flow. They are vulnerable to natural calamities like cyclone and flooding resulting in stress for shrimp and significant changes in the wild fauna (Fig. 8). A continuous monitoring of environmental parameters and surveillance programme is used to manage any potential biosecurity issues arising out of these natural events.



Each production site has a dedicated person in charge of biosecurity and animal husbandry issues, who works in coordination with the company's veterinary doctor and central laboratory. They are also in charge of monitoring the wild fauna and potential vector populations in the surrounding environment including the bays. Based on risk analysis, methods are developed to prevent their contact with the reared animals in the ponds. Periodic review of the process helps in constantly improving the biosecurity protocols, critical control points, surveillance programs, contingency plans, emergency harvests and secured disposal and elimination procedures.

The other major issue for Madagascar producers was to keep the status of the island free from the major OIE listed pathogens affecting the shrimp industry worldwide. As the farming industry in western Indian Ocean really started after the devastating WSSV outbreaks in Asia, the industry in the region had sufficient lessons to learn from others mistakes, and thus diseases were perceived as one of the major issues threatening sustainability. Consequently, substantial efforts and investments were made in projects like Aqualma ranging from domestication to separation of various production units to prevent the entry of pathogens and to limit the spread of any potential disease outbreaks. A law was enforced in 2003, prohibiting all entrance of live crustaceans, and fixing rules regarding the rearing conditions and animal welfare in the farms.

By virtue of isolation from other shrimp farming countries and being an island, Madagascar is free from most of the OIE listed pathogens. At country level, Madagascar is eligible to make self-declaration of disease-free zone status based on historical data and a starting epidemiology surveillance program. The Association of shrimp farming and fishing companies in Madagascar (Groupement des Aquaculteurs et Pêcheurs de Crevettes de Madagascar - GAPCM) and the competent authority (Autorité Sanitaire Halieutique - ASH) have been promoting this strategy since several years, through the raising of funds for the newly setup epidemio-surveillance national aquatic pathology laboratory and organizing seminars with an international epidemiology expert to validate the original survey plan and follow-up (Cameron, A., pers. comm.) in order to reach this goal that will benefit to all the operators in the country. To maintain the disease-free status, effective mechanisms in terms of legislation to prevent spread of diseases through trans-boundary movements of aquatic animals needs to be enforced. Adoption of codes of practice, adherence to industry standards set up in association with international groups i.e., WWF and exigencies of clients are some of the ways to assure bio security at national level, which involves the competent authority (Autorité Sanitaire Halieutique - ASH), the concerned Ministry (Ministère des Pêches et des resources Halieutiques) and the Association of shrimp farming and fishing companies in Madagascar (GAPCM) and has a clear regulatory frame (Government of Madagascar, 1990, 2001, 2001; Bis, 2004).

The region still continues to be free of pandemic pathogens that are known to cause devastating epidemics in shrimp farms. As the countries around the Mozambique Channel are far from other major shrimp farming regions of the world, a regional setup similar to the Network of Aquaculture Centres in Asia and the Pacific (NACA) is needed to coordinate with world bodies like OIE and FAO on various issues concerning aquatic animal diseases. The company, deeply conscious of the need to have a common strategy to ensure the biosecurity of this zone, is strongly promoting this regional discussion.

Optimization of rearing conditions and animal husbandry

Once the foundation for domestication of *P. monodon* was established, the objective was then to start the second phase of the domestication process, mostly by designing sustainable and optimized animal breeding techniques. We developed exhaustive rearing protocols that

are adapted to our requirements throughout many assays. As this form part of the intellectual property of Unima/Aqualma group, the details cannot be divulged, but the general method used will however be presented, as it is not yet very common in shrimp aquaculture.

In terms of management requirements, the most important aspect of this domestication project is to have a strong discipline on documenting what has been done or tested. All the performances should be recorded in databases in order to analyse and apply a continuous improvement to provide the best conditions to the breeders, respecting animal welfare as far as possible. Working with a tool for quality management also helps, as the interaction of all these aspects is critical (Fig. 9). We propose a modified version of Sniezko's diagram, more adapted in our opinion to its use in private industry. It is very important to distinguish what is controllable from what is not in the environment of the shrimp. All actions performed by the farmer which can reduce stress and improve animal welfare should be identified and put in place. The overall success of all these issues also largely depends on manpower management. We chose to work under ISO 9001:2000 certifications, with written procedures, records on critical points and continuous improvement. All the production steps are audited and certified by a third-party annually. Specific training procedures adapted to local culture were also designed. Under semi-intensive rearing conditions, in ponds without aeration, we obtained satisfactory results (Fig. 10) thanks to a dedicated farm management. Typical performance figures obtained are an FCR of 1,41 for a mean weight at harvest of 30g, with a survival rate of 86 % (stocking weight at 1,52 g).



Genetic resource management

The main purpose was to maximize the genetic diversity of the founding population. In order to obtain this diversity, as mentioned elsewhere, the breeders were collected from several locations of Madagascar Island. Considering the number of breeders collected and



selected, the domesticated population was initiated from 198 wild founders, representing more than 99.5% of the genetic variability in the wild population. They were selected from approximately 10,000 breeders, notably according to their sanitary status and their performances.

Moreover, crossing optimization was performed from the beginning in order to minimize inbreeding. Since 2003, the domestication centre functions only with this genetically optimized population: 140 families are reproduced per each generation, divided in 7 subcohorts with a rotational mating scheme. The effective population size is maintained over 300, allowing an excellent control of inbreeding, which increases less than 0.2% at each generation, which ensures the sustainability of the genetic management program. The family traceability is maintained over the generation via visible implant elastomer (Northwest Marine Technology, USA). A mild within-family selection for growth is applied to eliminate potential runts.

Figure 11 shows the evolution of growth rate with generations of domestication in *P. monodon.* The growth rate plotted here is the growth from 2 to 30 g in small outdoor ponds, corrected for variations in rearing temperature, and then gives an unbiased estimate of the trend of growth rate (15% per generation of domestication). However, this trend is not corrected for environmental effects other than temperature (i.e. improvements in husbandry techniques, feed, rearing density etc.) and therefore cannot be considered as an unbiased estimate of the genetic gain from domestication, but only as an upper limit of such an estimate.

The future of this genetic program is expected to be based not only on quantitative genetics, but also by using molecular tools to trace parentage (suppression of the separate rearing phase before tagging). It is an undergoing work in collaboration with a research team. Mass selection can also be performed, notably to better evaluate the heritability of growth in this population and for rapid improvement of this trait. In the long term, disease resistance and fertility improvement could also be included in the breeding goal.



Building databases and traceability records

Once the computer databases were built, we developed interfaces for different users, including the technicians, biologists, economists, logisticians and managers. Portability of these different databases through links results in obtaining complete traceability from founding populations to finished products including all the inputs used in the production process. Complete traceability is necessary to address our clients' enquiries about the causes of incidents, and therefore call back exercises are performed frequently. Software has been developed to help the sellers to extract information from the databases and to be able to track every batch produced.

Process and product certifications

In order to evidence these achievements and to be able to value those commercially, it has been decided to initiate product certifications.

Decision was to stress out the quality of the finished product through a famous standard called "Label Rouge", where the quality and its consistency are asserted by blind tests performed by third party. Along with very strict and detailed standards regarding the rearing methods and continuous control procedures, it assures that the consumer will consistently get a superior quality product. This required an involvement of all supply chain actors, as the certification covers all steps of production, from broodstock management to marketing, thus requiring a holistic and integrated approach.

In parallel, efforts made on respecting high standards regarding environmental and social issues were distinguished by a close partnership with the World Wildlife Fund.

In the recent years, our production sites were thus audited and certified by Aquaculture Certification Council (ACC), and continued to be for Label Rouge, WWF and several food safety standards like IFS and BRC.

CONCLUSION

We successfully domesticated *P. monodon* from Madagascar 10 years ago, and produced over 30,000 tons of superior quality head-on shrimp for European markets since then. The domesticated SPF shrimp population allowed us to produce consistently despite our open semi-intensive model that is highly susceptible to environmental changes, using better biosecurity and management control. This was notably achieved through the extensive use of ISO 9001:2000. Being fully integrated vertically allows us to provide complete traceability, therefore to obtain famous certifications, hence our products carry multiple labels like the "Label Rouge" in France, which was completed by the development of a private partnership with WWF to communicate on Aqualma's environmental and social respectful management. The genetic management program is sustainable, providing animals with good performance and future selection programs look promising. The involvement of the private sector - along with other stakeholders - in research and development, and its importance in leading biosecurity measures can also be stressed out from our experience, when initiating a shrimp industry in an new country.

We are also looking at opportunities to share experience and acquired know how with partners who have common values of long term sustainable business for mutual benefits. One objective is to assess the potential of this domesticated stock to perform well under different rearing conditions (notably the current Asian rearing model).

We used domestication program and biosecurity as elements of a sustainable strategy, by reducing impacts of shrimp culture on its environment (no catches of wild breeders, no disease dissemination). The shrimp industry has been responsible so far for the worldwide spread of many crustacean pathogens. It can be viewed as a failure, and shows that we must be pro-active and promote alternative strategies.

The domestication is required for all species in aquaculture in order to sustain at industrial level. This also helps to control the sanitary level of the reared populations, to stabilize, to optimize and then to improve their rearing performance through selective breeding. This should be done while respecting the basics of genetics to limit inbreeding. Each domestication process should be adapted to the farmers' will and needs.

Like with terrestrial animals in the past, aquaculture species should soon be fully domesticated, specific pathogen free and genetically managed in closed conditions. We plead for the development of local domestication programs, allowing each region to promote its own strains and own breeding methods, leading to the emergence of several "races" for each species reared (shrimp, crabs, etc.). In order to achieve this, we will need a strong multidisciplinary effort through all stakeholders and researchers (physiology, physiopathology),
and this should be pro-actively promoted by international organizations like FAO and OIE as major actors in regional integration strategies and providers of trainings for capacity building, for crustacean aquaculture to become really sustainable.

Moreover, the biggest danger of shrimp aquaculture in the near future is in our opinion what is currently happening with domesticated *Litopenaeus vannamei*, as it leads to worldwide uniformity and ease of production. Pressure from the market in terms of price induces drop in quality, and consequently a change in the mind of the consumer, now seeing shrimp as a commodity product. This has already caused serious economical problems to the farmers, especially in less developed countries, unable to compete with these falling prices. Product diversity, quality of finished products, eco-friendly and sustainability driven certifications are some of the alternatives to this disastrous trend, and we intend to promote this alternative strategy of development for crustacean aquaculture.

REFERENCES

- Anantasomboon, G., Sriurairatana, S., Flegel, T.W. and Withyachumnarnkul, B. 2006. Unique lesions and viral-like particles found in growth retarded black tiger shrimp *Penaeus monodon* from East Africa. *Aquaculture* 253: 197-203.
- Bilio, M. 2007. Controlled reproduction and domestication in aquaculture. Part I. Aquacult. Eur. 32: 5-14.FAO/NACA/UNEP/WB/WWF. 2006. International Principles for Responsible Shrimp Farming. Network of Aquaculture Centres in Asia-Pacific (NACA). Bangkok, Thailand. 20 pp. Bangkok, Thailand. 20 pp.
- Government of Madagascar. 1990. Law 90-033, December 21st 1990 regarding the respect of shrimp farms' environment.
- Government of Madagascar. 1997. Law 97-012, June 06th 1997. Modification of shrimp farms' environment impact assessment.
- Government of Madagascar. 2001. Law 2001 020, October 4th 2001 regarding the development of a sustainable and responsible aquaculture.
- Government of Madagascar. 2001 Bis. Order 93-022 regulating fisheries and aquaculture.
- Government of Madagascar. 2004. Law 2004-015, August 19th 2004. Modification of shrimp farms' environment impact assessment.
- Krabsetsve, K., Cullen, B.R. and Owens, L. 2004. Rediscovery of the Australian strain of infectious hypodermal and haematopoietic necrosis virus. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 61: 153–158.
- Nunan, L.M., Noble, B., Le Groumellec, M. and Lightner, D.V. 2003. Experimental infection of *Penaeus vannamei* by a rickettsia-like bacterium (RLB) originating from *P. monodon*. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 54: 43–48.
- Nunan, L.M., Poulos, B., Redman, R., Le Groumellec, M. and Lightner, D.V. 2003. Molecular detection methods developed for a systemic rickettsia-like bacterium (RLB) in *Penaeus monodon* (Decapoda: Crustacea). *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 53: 15–23.
- Pullin, R.S.V., Williams, M.J. and Preston, N. 1998. Domestication of crustaceans. *Asian Fisheries Society* 11: 59-69.

- Tang, K.F.J., Poulos, B.T., Wang, J., Redman, R.M., Shih, H. and Lightner, D.V. 2003. Geographic variations among infectious hypodermal and hematopoietic necrosis virus (IHHNV) isolates and characteristics of their infection. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 53: 91–99.
- Tang, K.F.J., Navarro, S.A. and Lightner, D.V. 2007. PCR assay for discriminating between infectious hypodermal and hematopoietic necrosis virus (IHHNV) and virus-related sequences in the genome of *Penaeus monodon*. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 74: 165–170.
- Tang, K.F.J., Redman, R.M., Pantoja, C.R., Groumellec, M.L., Duraisamy, P. and Lightner, D.V. 2007. Identification of an iridovirus in *Acetes erythraeus* (Sergestidae) and the development of in situ hybridization and PCR method for its detection. *Journal of Invertebrate Pathology* 96: 255–260.
- Tang, K.F.J., Pantoja, C.R. and Lightner, D.V. 2008. Nucleotide sequence of a Madagascar hepatopancreatic parvovirus (HPV) and comparison of genetic variation among geographic isolates. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 80:105-112.
- Toubiana, M., Guelorget, O., Bouchereau, J. L., Lucien-Brun, H. and Marques, A. 2004. Microsporidians in penaeid shrimp along the west coast of Madagascar. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 58: 79–82.
- Zepeda, C., Jones, J.B., and Zagmutt, F.J. 2008. Compartmentalization in aquaculture production systems. *Rev. sci. tech. Off. Int. Epiz.*, 27 (1): 229-241.

Minimum inhibitory concentrations of antimicrobials against clinical *Vibrio* and *Streptococcus* isolated from aquaculture

HATHAIRAT MAISAK, NUTCHARNART TIPMONGKOLSILP and JANENUJ WONGTAVATCHAI

Department of Veterinary Medicine, Faculty of Veterinary Science Chulalongkorn University, Bangkok 10330, Thailand

ABSTRACT

Four antimicrobial agents: Amoxycillin, Oxytetracycline, Sulfadiazine/Trimethoprim (SXT) and Sulfadimethoxine/Ormetoprim (ORS) were tested for their in vitro antimicrobial activity against clinical Streptococcus and Vibrio isolates from clinical cases occurring between 2005 to 2006. The specimens or moribund animals from different culture areas in Thailand were collected for laboratory microbiological analysis. Streptococcus strains were isolated from the kidney of the diseased tilapia Oreochromis niloticus and Vibrio strains were obtained from the hepatopancreas of diseased black tiger shrimp *Penaeus monodon* or pacific white shrimp Litopeneaus vannamei. All clinical bacterial isolates were identified by conventional tube media or API system (Biomerieux, France). The agar dilution method, as described by the Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI), was used to determine Minimum Inhibitory Concentrations (MICs) of each chemical against the tested isolates. The effect of the components of seawater on the antimicrobial activity of ORS was also analysed by a comparison between MIC values tested on Mueller Hinton Agar (MHA) dissolved in distilled water with an added 1% NaCl and on agar dissolved in 10 ppt seawater. MIC values suggested that Streptococcus isolates obtained from the diseased tilapia were resistant to Oxytetracycline (MIC range 0.50-8.00 µg/ml) but susceptible to Amoxicillin (MIC range 0.031-0.250 µg/ml), STX (MIC range 0.285/0.015-9.50/0.50 µg/ml) and ORS (MIC range 0.152/0.008-4.75/0.25 µg/ml). While the test conducted against Vibrio isolates revealed broader MIC ranges; Amoxicillin 1.0-512 μg/ml, Oxytetracycline 1.0-512 μg/ml, STX 1.178/0.062- >152/8 μg/ml and ORS 0.152/0 008->152/8 µg/ml, the activity of ORS was not substantially influenced by an addition of 10 ppt seawater to the tested system. The study concluded that, in respect of MIC testing and the possible implications of a seawater effect, ORS is a functional antimicrobial for the tilapia Streptococcus and penaeid shrimp Vibrio pathogen.

Corresponding author: Janenuj Wongtavatchai, janenuj.w@chula.ac.th

Maisak, H., Tipmongkolsilp, N. and Wongtavatchai, J. 2011. Minimum inhibitory concentrations of antimicrobials against clinical *Vibrio* and *Streptococcus* isolated from aquaculture, pp. 309-316. *In* Bondad-Reantaso, M.G., Jones, J.B., Corsin, F. and Aoki, T. (eds.). Diseases in Asian Aquaculture VII. Fish Health Section, Asian Fisheries Society, Selangor, Malaysia. 385 pp.

Keywords: minimum inhibitory concentrations, antimicrobials, *Streptococcus spp.*, *Vibrio spp*.

INTRODUCTION

Bacterial diseases are considered to be the most important cause of mass mortality and economic loss when present in intensive aquaculture. Antimicrobial therapy is one of the strategies frequently applied to control bacterial diseases. As part of the prudent use of animal antimicrobials, antimicrobial susceptibility testing is strongly recommended prior to treatment. The aim of this study was to determine the Minimum Inhibitory Concentrations (MICs) for 4 antimicrobial agents: Amoxycillin, Oxytetracycline, Sulphadiazine/Trimethoprim (SXT) and Sulfadimethoxine/Ormetoprim (ORS) against *Vibrio* isolated from diseased Black Tiger shrimp (*Penaeus monodon*) and Pacific White shrimp (*Penaeus vannamei*), and *Streptococcus* isolated from diseased tilapia (*Oreochromis nilotica*) in Thailand. The MIC tests reveal the antimicrobial susceptibility of bacterial pathogens associated with the aquaculture industry of Thailand and hence, provide data to direct the prudent use of antimicrobials in aquaculture production.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Bacterial Strains

Test strain: Fifty four *Streptococcus* spp. isolates were derived from tilapia from disease cases occurring between 2005 and 2006. Streptococcosis has been observed in most regions of tilapia farming; in the north-eastern, eastern and central parts of Thailand. Isolates were identified by conventional biochemical methods described in the API system (BioMerieux, Marcy l'Etoile, France). Of the fifty four *Streptococcus* strains isolated from the kidney of the diseased tilapias were 4 *S. dys. equisimilis*, 43 *S. agalactiae*, 6 *S. porcinus* and one *Streptococcus* sp. All bacterial strains were stored in a maintenance broth containing 40% glycerol and supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum, at -70 °C. Before each experiment the stored bacteria strains were transferred to Tryptic Soy Agar (TSA, Difco Laboratory, USA) supplemented with 10% sheep blood. After incubation at 30 °C for 18-24 hr, the inocula were transferred to Tryptic Soy Broth and the cell density was adjusted to McFarland standard 0.5 or approximately 10⁸ Colony Forming Unit (CFU)/ml. The inocula were then diluted ten-fold in sterile normal saline, giving a final cell density of approximately 10⁷ CFU/ml.

Vibrio isolates derived from clinical cases of diseased penaeid shrimp were obtained from the culture collection of the Department of Medicine, Faculty of Veterinary Science, Chulalongkorn University, Thailand. The collection has culture specimens from disease cases occurring between 2004 and 2006, mainly from the western and southern parts of Thailand. Previously, the identification of the isolates had been performed using conventional biochemical methods described in the API system (BioMerieux, France). Of the fifty *Vibrio* strains isolated from the hepatopancreas of the diseased penaeid shrimp were 4 *V. alginolyticus*, 7 *V. cholerae*, 7 *V. damsela*, 14 *V. fluvialis*, 10 *V. parahaemolyticus* and 8 *V. vulnificus* strains. All bacteria strains were stored in a maintenance broth containing 40% glycerol, at -70 °C. The isolates were treated with similar procedures described for streptococcal isolates, but 1%NaCl was added to Tryptic Soy Agar.

Quality control strains: Additional bacterial organisms were obtained from the American Type Culture Collection for use as quality controls: *Esteriachia coli* ATCC 25922, *Staphylococcus aureus* ATCC 25923 and *V. parahaemolyticus* ATCC 17802.

Antibacterial Agents

The antimicrobials that were tested were Amoxicillin, Oxytetracycline, Sulfadiazine, Trimethoprim (Sigma Chemical Co., USA.), Sulfadimethoxine and Ormetoprim (PHARMAQ, St Louis, MO, Norway). A serial two-fold dilution of antimicrobials dissolved in solvent was processed with distilled water, except that Trimethoprim and Ormetoprim were dissolved in solvent only as suggested by CLSI, giving a series of tested concentrations.

Minimum Inhibitory Concentration (MIC)

The procedures described here are in accordance with the international recommendations provided by the Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI). Mueller Hinton Agar (MHA) plates, containing serial two dilutions with the four antimicrobial agents, were inoculated with a standardized inoculum of the test strain (10⁷ CFU/ml). Using a standard multipoint inoculator, bacteria from mature cell cultures were allocated at approximately 10⁴ CFU/spot on the surface of MHA. After 18-20 hr., incubation, the MIC was recorded as the lowest concentration of antimicrobials with no visible growth of bacteria. The minimum concentrations of antimicrobials required to inhibit 50% and 90% of the tested isolate were reported as MIC₅₀ and MIC₉₀, respectively. Additional tests on Meuller Hinton Agar, dissolved in sea water (10 ppt salinity), were performed to evaluate any possible effects of components in the sea water that might affect the antivibrio activity of Sulfadimethoxine and Ormetoprim. Quality controls of the methods were regularly performed on each test. Inhibition of the quality control strains by antimicrobial agents are required to be comparable with the interpretive standards.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The values of the MICs of Amoxicillin, Oxytetracycline, Sulfadiazine/Trimethoprim (SXT) and Sulfadiamethoxine/Ormetoprim (ORS) against 54 *Streptococcus* isolates associated with the diseased tilapia are presented in Table 1. The MIC₅₀ and MIC₉₀ were, respectively, the minimum concentrations of antimicrobials required to inhibit 50% and 90% of the tested isolates. The data showed that Amoxicillin, SXT and ORS were effective against the tested *Streptococcus* isolates and their MIC₉₀ corresponded with the susceptible range of MIC interpretive standards against *S. pneumonia* (CLSI, 2002) (Table 2).

The distribution of MIC values also correlated with the estimated values of MIC_{50} , MIC_{90} and the MIC range, showing that ORS had a better overall MIC range than did other antimicrobials (Fig. 1).

Table 1

Minimum Inhibitory Concentrations (MICs) of antimicrobials against 54 *Streptococcus* isolates associated with tilapia disease. MIC_{50} and MIC_{90} were the minimum concentrations of antimicrobials required to inhibit 50% and 90% of the tested isolates

Antimicrobial agent	MIC (µg/ml)		
	MIC ₅₀	MIC ₉₀	MIC range
Amoxicillin	0.062	0.125	0.031-0.250
Oxytetracycline	0.500	8.000	0.500-8.000
Sulfadiazine/Trimethoprim (19:1)	2.375/0.125	4.750/0.25	0.285/0.015 - 9.50/0.50
Sulfadimethoxine/Ormetoprim (19:1)	2.375/0.125	4.750/0.25	0.15/0.008 - 4.750/0.25

Table 2

MIC Interpretive Standards (μ g/ml) for S. pneumoniae using the Agar Dilution Method (CLSI, 2002)

	MIC Interpretive Standard (µg/ml)			
Antimicrobials	Susceptible	Intermediate	Resistance	
Amoxicillin	≤ 0.5	1	≥ 2	
Tetracycline	≤ 2	4	≥ 8	
Sulfamethoxazole/Trimethoprim	≤9.5/0.5	19/1-38/2	≥76/4	

MIC testing for 50 *Vibrio* isolates associated with the diseased black tiger shrimp or Pacific white shrimp showed MIC₅₀, MIC₉₀ and a MIC range in Table 3. MIC values of antimicrobials observed in the study, in comparison to MIC interpretive standards (Table 4), indicated that most of *Vibrio* isolates were susceptible to ORS and moderately susceptible to SXT and Oxytetracycline, while being resistant to Amoxicillin. The MIC distribution figures also showed that the frequency of MICs in the susceptible range were observed more in ORS than other compounds (Fig. 2).

Changes in MIC values due to the addition of seawater to the medium have been reported for several antimicrobial agents, resulting in implications for MIC testing (Lunestad and Samuelsen, 2001). In the present study, moderate differences in the MIC values of ORS were noticed between *Vibrio* strains tested on MHA dissolved in distilled water, with 1% NaCl added and MHA dissolved in seawater. The test on MHA dissolved in distilled water, with an added 1% NaCl, showed a MIC₅₀ and MIC₉₀ of 1.178/0.062 (Sulfadiamethodoxine/ Ormetoprim) µg/ml while the MICs observed in a test on MHA dissolved in seawater was 1.178/0.062 (Sulfadiamethodoxine/Ormetoprim) µg/ml for MIC₅₀, and 4.750/0.250 (Sulfadiamethodoxine/Ormetoprim) µg/ml for MIC₅₀.



Figure 1. Frequencies of the Minimum Inhibitory Concentrations (MICs) observed for four Antimicrobials; Amoxicillin, Oxytetracycline, Sulfadiazine/Trimethoprim (SXT) (19:1) and Sulfadimethoxine/Ormetoprim (ORS) (19:1); against 54 *Streptococcus* isolates associated with tilapia disease.

Table 3

Minimum Inhibitory Concentrations (MICs) of antimicrobials against 50 *Vibrio* isolates associated with penaeid shrimp disease. MIC_{50} and MIC_{90} were the minimum concentrations of antimicrobials required to inhibit 50% and 90% of the tested isolates.

	MIC (µg/ml)			
Antimicrobial agent	MIC ₅₀	MIC ₉₀	MIC range	
Amoxicillin	64	512	1-512	
Oxytetracycline	2	64	1-512	
Sulfadiazine/Trimethoprim (19:1)	9.500/0.500	>152/8	1.178/0.062 ->152/8	
Sulfadimethoxine/Ormetoprim (19:1)	1.178/0.062	152/8	0.152/0.008 ->152/8	

The frequencies of MICs observed for ORS indicated that the distribution of isolates with different MIC values was within the susceptible range and comparable in both test conditions, distilled water and seawater (Fig. 3). Our observation that ORS did not show a significant increase in MIC values when tested on a seawater based medium, compared to a 1% NaCl supplemented medium, is necessary for the optimal therapeutic application of the compound, particularly when the compound is used in a marine environment.

Table 4

MIC Interpretive Standards (μ g/ml) for Vibrio cholerae using the Agar Dilution Method (CLSI, 2002).

Autimiaushisls	MIC Interpretive Standard (µg/ml)			
Antimicrobiais	Susceptible	Intermediate	Resistance	
Amoxicillin	<u>< 8</u>	16	≥ 32	
Tetracycline	≤ 4	8	≥ 16	
Sulfamethoxazole/Trimethoprim	$\leq 38/2$	-	$\geq 76/4$	



Figure 2. Frequencies of Minimum Inhibitory Concentration (MICs) observed for four antimicrobials; Amoxicillin, Oxytetracycline, Sulfadiazine/Trimethoprim (SXT) (19:1) and Sulfadimethoxine/Ormetoprim (ORS) (19:1); against 50 *Vibrio* isolates associated with penaeid shrimp disease.

Additional tests were conducted for SXT and ORS to compare the MIC testing system using different ratios of Sulfadiazine/Trimethoprim and Sulfadiamethoxine/Ormetoprim. The agar dilution method described by CLSI indicates the ratio to be used in the MIC testing of Sulfadiazine to Trimethoprim is 19:1, however, the ratio commonly used in veterinary formulae of these compounds is 5:1. Therefore, the present study compares MIC values of SXT and ORS of both ratios. The antimicrobial activity of SXT or ORS against 22 *Streptococcus* isolates, considering the MIC of Trimethoprim or Ormetoprim, were the same for both ratios (19:1 and 5:1) (Fig. 4). Corresponding results were also observed in MICs

Table 5

Minimum Inhibitory Concentrations (MICs) observed for Sulfadimethoxine/ Ormetoprim (19:1) that was tested on Meuller Hinton Agar dissolved in distilled water (DW) and in 10 ppt seawater (SW), against 22 *Vibrio* isolates associated with penaeid shrimp disease. MIC₅₀ and MIC₉₀ were the minimum concentrations of antimicrobials required to inhibit 50% and 90% of the tested isolates.

Antimicrobial agent		MIC (µg/ml)		
	MIC ₅₀	MIC ₉₀	MIC range	
		Sulfadimethoxine/Ormetoprim		
DW	1.178/0.062	1.178/0.062	0.152/0.008 - 19/1	
SW	1.178/0.062	4.750/0.250	0.589/0.031 - 19/1	



Figure 3. Frequencies of Minimum Inhibitory Concentrations (MICs) observed for Sulfadimethoxine/Ormetoprim (ORS) (19:1) that was tested on Meuller Hinton Agar dissolved in distilled water (DW) and in 10 ppt seawater (SW).



Figure 4. Frequencies of Minimum Inhibitory Concentrations (MICs) observed for Trimethoprim in Sulfadiazine/Trimethoprim (SXT) 19:1 and 5:1, Ormetoprim in Sulfadimethoxine/Ormetoprim (ORS) 19:1 and 5:1 against 22 *Streptococcus* isolates associated with tilapia disease.



in Sulfadiazine/Trimethoprim (SXT) 19:1 and 5:1, Ormetoprim in Sulfadimethoxine/Ormetoprim (ORS) 19:1 and 5:1 against 22 vibrio isolates associated with penaeid shrimp disease.

tested against 22 *Vibrio* isolates (Fig. 5). Consequently, the MIC values of SXT and ORS acquired from the CLSI described ratio of 19:1 were used for the study's interpretation.

In conclusion, MIC data obtained in this study suggests that *Streptococcus* spp. isolated from diseased tilapia and *Vibrio* spp. from diseased penaeid shrimp are susceptible to ORS and SXT. Seawater has a minimal influence on the antimicrobial activity of ORS and this compound is approved for use in food fish species of many countries, making it the preferred therapeutic for aquaculture.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was supported by PHARMAQ (Norway) and the Royal Golden Jubilee Ph.D Program (RGJ) the Thailand Research fund.

REFERENCES

Lunestad, B.T. and Samuelsen, O.B. 2001. Effects of sea water on the activity of antimicrobial agents used in aquaculture, implications for MIC testing. *Aquaculture* 193: 319-323.

CLSI (formerly NCCLS). 2002. Performance standards for antimicrobial susceptibility tests. Ninth Informational Supplement-Sixth Edition. 19(1): 91-93.

WHO. 2000. WHONET5 Laboratory Database Software. Geneva, Switzerland.

Studies on the development of a vaccine against *Mycobacterium* sp.

GOSHI KATO, HIDEHIRO KONDO, TAKASHI AOKI and IKUO HIRONO

Laboratory of Genome Science, Graduate School of Tokyo University of Marine Science and Technology Konan 4-5-7, Minato, Tokyo 108-8477, Japan

ABSTRACT

Mycobacteriosis, caused by Mycobacterium sp., results in severe loss of fish production in Japan's aquaculture industry. Since the bacterium can survive and grow in side host cells, chemotherapeutic agents are not effective and potent vaccines are required to control the disease. In this study, the effects of two vaccine candidates, Bacillus Calmette and Guèrin (BCG, an attenuated strain of Mycobacterium bovis) and formalin-killed cells (FKC) of Mycobacterium sp. strain 012971, on the immediate and acquired immune response were evaluated in Japanese flounder, Paralichthys olivaceus. On 1, 3 and 7 days post treatments with these candidates, gene expression levels of inflammatory cytokines encoding interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β), IL-6 and tumor necrosis factor α (TNF α) increased. This suggests that the vaccine candidates stimulate immediate immune responses. To determine if specific defenses against mycobacteriosis were acquired, purified protein derivative (PPD) from Mycobacterium sp. strain 012971 was injected intramuscularly into fish at 4 weeks after vaccine treatments and the inflammatory cytokine gene expression levels were analyzed. Gene expression levels of the inflammatory cytokines were increased only for the fish treated with BCG, but not those with FKC. Subsequently, the vaccinated fishes were challenged with Mycobacterium sp. The relative percentage survival (RPS) of BCG and FKC vaccinated groups at 12 days post challenge were 37.5 and 18.1, respectively. These data indicate that BCG might be useful as a vaccine against fish mycobacteriosis.

Key words: mycobacteriosis, live attenuated vaccine, BCG, innate immunity, cell-mediated immunity

Corresponding author: Goshi Kato, going_goushi@yahoo.co.jp

Kato, G., Kondo, H., Aoki, T. and Hirono, I. 2011. Studies on the development of a vaccine against *Mycobacterium* sp., pp. 317-328. *In* Bondad-Reantaso, M.G., Jones, J.B., Corsin, F. and Aoki, T. (eds.). Diseases in Asian Aquaculture VII. Fish Health Section, Asian Fisheries Society, Selangor, Malaysia. 385 pp.

INTRODUCTION

Mycobacterium species are gram positive, aerobic, acid-fast, non-motile bacteria that cause mycobacteriosis in various fish species. Three species of *Mycobacterium* that are major pathogens of fish are *M. marinum* (Aronson, 1926), *M. fortuitum* (Ross and Brancato, 1959) and *M. chelonae* (Bruno *et al.*, 1998). However, mycobacteriosis also has been attributed to other *Mycobacterium* species and synonyms for the three major species (Decostere, Hermans and Haesebrouck, 2004).

In 1985, an epidemic caused by *Mycobacterium* sp. affected cultured yellowtail (*Seriola quinqueradiata*) in Sukumo bay, Japan (Kusuda, Kawakami and Kawai, 1987). The symptoms of the disease in yellowtail were haemorrhagic ascites, hypertrophy of the spleen and kidney with tubercles and visceral adhesions (Kusuda, Kawakami and Kawai, 1987). Later, the disease was also shown to affect striped jack (*Pseudogaranx dentex*) (Kusuda *et al.*, 1993) and amberjack (*Seriola dumerili*) and has, to date, resulted in severe loss of fish production in Japan's aquaculture industry. The species name of the bacteria has not been identified yet, although biochemical characteristic had been examined (Kusuda, Kawakami and Kawai, 1987).

Pathogenic mycobacteria are capable of intracellular parasitism. The bacteria can avoid initial degradation in the phagosome by producing superoxide dismutase that eliminates oxygen radicals (Yamamoto, 2006). Furthermore, they can survive inside macrophages by secreting the enzyme protein kinase G out of the phagosome, assisting in the prevention of phagosome-lysosome fusion (Nguyen and Pieters, 2005). The infected macrophages are enveloped by immune cells to avoid dissemination of the bacteria, resulting in the formation of tubercules or granuloma formation in the host.

The effects of chemotherapeutic agents are limited *in vivo*, because mycobacteria can survive within host macrophages. In fact, although rifampicin, streptomycin and erythromycin can inhibit the growth of *Mycobacterium* sp., the bacteria can survive in the fish and then proliferate after the antibiotic treatment has ceased (Kawakami and Kusuda, 1990). Therefore, it is important to develop a potent vaccine against the disease.

In order to control mycobacteriosis, a potent vaccine is required to induce cell-mediated immunity in the host. *Mycobacterium bovis* Bacillus Calmette Guérin (BCG) is a live attenuated vaccine developed from the *M. bovis* strain almost a century ago, and is still commonly used worldwide. Besides its efficacy against human tuberculosis caused by *M. tuberculosis*, BCG is also known to provide protection against leprosy caused by *M. leprae* (Ponnighaus *et al.*, 1992) and Buruli ulcer caused by *M. ulcerans* (Portaels *et al.*, 2002, Portaels *et al.*, 2004 and Nackers *et al.*, 2006) in human. Live attenuated vaccine causes chronic, but weak infection in the host. Hence, these vaccines can confer specific cell-mediated immunity and long protective efficacy. Nevertheless, the exact mechanisms of BCG-induced protection in human and animal models are still unclear (Sander and McShane, 2007).

The tuberculin response, a delayed-type hypersensitivity (DTH) response, is used to test whether the host has previously been exposed to mycobacterial antigens, including BCG vaccination. Intradermal injection of mycobacterial purified protein derivative (PPD) as an antigen elicits hall mark responses including indurations, swelling and monocytic infiltration into the site of the lesion within 24 to 72 hours (Black *et al.*, 1999). Upon injection of the antigen, Langerhans cells process and present the antigen to the local memory T cells. These T cells secrete numerous cytokines and chemokines including interleukin-1 (IL-1), IL-6, IL-8, IL-12, interferon- γ (IFN- γ) and tumor necrosis factor α (TNF α) (Grabbe and Schwarz., 1998 and Black *et al.*, 1999) that result in vasodilatation, an influx of immune cells and activation of macrophages. As a result, granulomatous inflammation occurs at the site of PPD injection, ceasing only after degradation of the antigen.

The innate immune response, the first line of defense against pathogenic microbes, plays a critical role during mycobacterial infection. Toll-like receptor 2 (TLR2) which exists on the surface of the phagocyte recognizes pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) of mycobacteria and activates MyD88, resulting in the induction of inflammatory cytokines (Underhill *et al.*, 1999). The activation of the innate immune response mediated by TLRs is a vital step for triggering acquired immunity. For example, TLR2 signaling leads to the release of an instructive cytokine, such as IL-12 which drives the differentiation of naïve T cells to Th1 cells (Akira, Takeda and Kaisho, 2001). Therefore, their ligands such as mycobacterial cell wall, lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and CpG-rich DNA are often used as vaccine adjuvants.

In order to develop an effective vaccine against *Mycobacterium* sp. infection, two vaccine candidates, BCG and the formalin-killed cells of *Mycobacterium* sp. strain 012971 were tested in Japanese flounder (*Paralichthys olivaceus*) as a model. Fish treated with the candidates were evaluated by quantification of the inflammatory cytokine gene expression levels during the immediate immune response and DTH response. Furthermore, protection efficacy of the candidates was confirmed by intramuscular challenge with live *Mycobacterium* sp.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Fish rearing and bacteria propagation

Japanese flounder (*Paralichthys olivaceus*) weighing approximately 10 g were kept in 60 L tank with circulation systems maintained at 20 °C. They were fed every other day until use.

Mycobacterium sp. strain 012971, which was isolated from cultured yellowtail (*Seriola quinqueradiata*), was grown on 1 % Ogawa medium (Nissui, Japan) at 25 °C for 3 weeks. *Mycobacterium bovis* Bacillus Calmette Guérin (BCG) was grown on 1 % Ogawa medium at 37 °C for 3 weeks.

Vaccine preparation

To prepare the live attenuated vaccine, *M. bovis* BCG was suspended in sterilized phosphate buffered saline (PBS) using a glass homogenizer. One hundred microliters of the bacterial suspension was spread on Middlebrook 7H10 agar (Becton, Dickinson and Company, USA) supplemented with OADC Enrichment (Becton, Dickinson and Company, USA) and cultured at 25 °C for 4 weeks to calculate the number of colony forming units (CFU). For the preparation of formalin-killed cells of *Mycobacterium* sp. as an inactivated vaccine, the bacteria was suspended in 10 ml of PBS containing 5 % formaldehyde (Wako, Japan) and incubated at 25 °C for 48 h. Cell count for *Mycobacterium* sp. was done as described above. To confirm the complete inactivation of the bacteria, 100 µl of suspension was spread on Middlebrook 7H10B agar with OADC Enrichment and incubated at 25 °C for 4 weeks.

Immediate immune response after vaccination

BCG (1.2×10^8 CFU/fish) or FKC (2.0×10^8 CFU/fish) suspended in PBS were intramuscularly injected into Japanese flounder. The kidneys of the vaccinated fish (n=3) were collected at 1, 3 and 7 days post-vaccination. Total RNAs were extracted from the kidney using RNA iso (TAKARA, Japan), following manufacturer's instructions. RNA concentration was determined by Gene Quant (Pharmacia, USA) and stored in DEPC treated water at -80 °C until used.

First strand cDNA was synthesized with 2 μ g of total RNA using MMLV reverse transcriptase (Invitrogen, USA), following manufacturer's instruction. The changes in mRNA levels for Japanese flounder inflammatory cytokines including IL-1 β (GenBank Accession number AB070835), IL-6 (DQ267937) and TNF α (AB040448) in fish at 1, 3 and 7 day post-vaccination were determined by quantitative RT-PCR (qPCR). Primers for qPCR were designed using Primer Express Software Version 3.0 (Applied Biosystems, USA) including ribosomal protein L10 (RPL10, AU050650) used as internal control (Table 1). The reaction mixture contained 5 μ l of the diluted cDNA sample, 10 μ l of Power SYBR Green PCR Master Mix (Applied Biosystems, USA) and 0.4 μ l of the forward and

Table 1			
Primers used	in	this	study

Primer	Sequence	
IL-1 β short F	5'-CAGCACATCAGAGCAAGACAACA-3'	
IL-1 β short R	5'-TGGTAGCACCGGGCATTCT-3'	
IL-6 short F	5'-CAGCTGCTGCAAGACATGGA-3'	
IL-6 short R	5'-GATGTTGTGCGCCGTCATC-3'	
TNF α short F	5'-CGAAGGCCTAGCATTCACTCA-3'	
TNF α short R	5'-TCGTGGGATGATGATGTGGTT-3'	
RPL10 short F	5'-GCTCCTCTGGTGCAGTTTGTGA-3'	
RPL10 short R	5'-TGGTGTTTGCTGGCGTCACTCT-3'	

reverse primer (10 μ M) designed for each gene were adjusted up to 20 μ l with sterilized water. qPCR was performed using 7300 Real Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems, USA), according to manufacturer's instruction.

Preparation of purified protein derivative (PPD)

The purified protein derivative (PPD) was prepared from *Mycobacterium* sp. strain 012971. The bacteria were cultured in 200 ml of Middlebrook 7H9 broth (Becton, Dickinson and Company, USA) supplemented with OADC Enrichment for 8 weeks at 25 °C. After heat sterilization at 105 °C for 3 h, bacterial cells were removed by centrifugation at 200,000×g for 1 h and the supernatant was passed through Syringe Driven Filter Unit (Millipore, USA). The filtrate was then concentrated by boiling for 30 min and this was followed by the addition of 40% (w/v) trichloroethanoic acid (Wako, Japan). The precipitate was collected by centrifugation at 6,500×g for 15 min. After washing with 4% (w/v) trichloroethanoic acid, the precipitate was resuspended in sterilized PBS and stored at -80 °C until used.

Tuberculin response

BCG at 2.1×10^7 CFU/fish or FKC at 2.0×10^8 CFU/fish were used for this vaccine study. Four weeks after vaccination, the vaccinated fish were injected with PPD intramuscularly and the kidneys were sampled at 1 and 3 days post-injection. Total RNA was extracted and cDNA was synthesized as described above and the cDNA was used for qPCR.

The changes in mRNA levels of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF α genes after PPD injection were determined by qPCR, as described above.

Challenge test

The fish were vaccinated with BCG at 3.0×10^8 CFU/fish (23 individuals) or FKC at 1.6×10^7 CFU/fish (27 individuals) for 4 weeks before challenging with live *Mycobacterium* sp. strain 012971 (1.5×10^7 CFU/fish). The number of fish used in this experiment was shown in Table 2. A colony of strain 012971 on the 1 % Ogawa medium were scraped and suspended in sterilized PBS using grass homogenizer and CFU was determined as described above. One hundred microliters of the bacterial suspension was injected into the fish intramuscularly. The fish were then maintained in 60 L tanks with circulation systems kept at 25 °C and fed every other day. Cumulative mortality of the fishes were recorded for 12 days and relative percent survival (RPS) was calculated using the following equation; RPS = (1-[% loss of vaccinated fish/% loss of PBS control fish]) ×100.

Data analysis

Inflammatory cytokine gene expression levels during the immediate immune response and tuberculin response experiments were normalized with ribosomal protein L10 expression. In addition, the gene expression values for each group were represented as fold change relative to the value of the PBS injected group at day 1. Statistical analysis was performed with *t*-test between gene expression levels of each vaccinated groups and those of the PBS control groups at day 1.

Results

Immediate immune response after vaccination

Gene expression levels of inflammatory cytokines including IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF α in the fish injected with BCG, FKC and PBS were determined to analyze the immediate immune response at 1, 3 and 7 days post-vaccination by qPCR (Fig. 1). Gene expression levels of the inflammatory cytokines were up-regulated by BCG or FKC vaccinated fish. The IL-1 β gene expression level increased by 12-fold in the BCG-vaccinated group and 8-fold in the FKC-vaccinated group at 3 days post-vaccination. The expression level of IL-6 increased 3-fold in the BCG-vaccinated group at 1 and 3 days post-vaccination. In contrast, the FKC-vaccinated group showed 3-fold increase in IL-6 gene expression level at only 3 days post-vaccination. The expression level of TNF α increased 4-fold and 3-fold in the BCG-vaccinated group at 3 and 7 days post-vaccination, respectively. In contrast, the FKC vaccinated-group showed 3-fold increase in gene expression level only at 3 days post-vaccination.

Tuberculin response

Cytokine gene expression levels were significantly up-regulated in only the BCG-vaccinated group (Fig. 2). In the BCG-vaccinated group at 1 and 3 days post-injection of PPD, IL-1 β gene expression levels increased by 15-fold and 8-fold, respectively, and TNF α gene expression levels increased by 4-fold and 2-fold, respectively. In contrast, IL-6 gene expression level in BCG-vaccinated group increased by 5-fold at only 3 days post-injection of PPD.

Challenge test

Challenge experiments were performed using strain 012971 (2.4×10^8 CFU/fish), 4 weeks after the fish were injected with BCG, FKC or PBS. Twelve days after the challenge, cumulative mortality of BCG and FKC vaccinated fish and PBS injected fish were 56.5 %, 74.1 % and 90.5 %, respectively. RPS of the BCG and FKC vaccinated groups were 37.5 and 18.1, respectively (Table 2).

Table 2

Cumulative percent mortality (%) and calculated RPS values of BCG- and FKC- vaccinated fish.

Group	No. of dead fish/total fish	Mortality (%)	RPS ^a
BCG	13/23	56.5	37.5
FKC	20/27	74.1	18.1
PBS	19/21	90.5	—

^a Relative percent survival = $(1-[\% \text{ loss of vaccinated fish}/\% \text{loss of PBS control fish}]) \times 100$

Discussion

The Japanese flounder's immediate immune response to the two vaccine candidates against *Mycobacterium* sp. were evaluated by quantifying the inflammatory cytokine gene expression levels. In general, the inflammatory cytokine gene expression levels in the BCG-vaccinated group were higher than those in the FKC-vaccinated group during the immediate



Figure 1 Immediate immune response after vaccination. Gene expression levels of (A) IL-1 β , (B) IL-6 and (C) TNF α in vaccination groups (BCG and FKC) and PBS injected (control) group at 1, 3 and 7 days post-vaccination were shown as fold change relative to PBS injected group at 1 day post-vaccination. Data are expressed as mean \pm S.D. of three individuals and the asterisk indicates gene expression levels are significantly higher (*P*<0.05) than those of PBS injected groups at day 1. Japanese flounder ribosomal protein L10 was used to normalize the data.



Figure 2 Tuberculin response in vaccinated fish after PPD injection. Gene expression levels of (A) IL-1 β , (B) IL-6 and (C) TNF α in vaccination groups (BCG and FKC) and PBS injected (control) group at 1 and 3 days post-injection of PPD were shown as fold change relative to PBS injected group at 1 day post-injection of PPD. Data are expressed as mean \pm S.D. of three individuals and the asterisk indicates gene expression levels are significantly higher (*P*<0.05) than those of PBS injected groups at day 1. Japanese flounder ribosomal protein L10 was used to normalize data.

immune response. Akira (2003) claimed that mycobacterial secreted components such as 19kDa lipoprotein are important for the activation of the innate immune system in mammals through TLR2. These components are only produced and secreted by live bacteria such as BCG, but not by FKC. Thus, this might explain the greater up-regulation of cytokines in the BCG-vaccinated group.

In the BCG-vaccinated group, the up-regulation of TNF α was maintained until 7 days post-vaccination. TNF α plays several critical roles during mycobacterial infection. In mice infected with *M. bovis* BCG, TNF was found to inhibit the spread of the bacteria (Kindler *et al.*, 1989). It has also been reported that TNF and lymphotoxin α (LT α) signaling are required to activate cells of the immune system (Jacobs *et al.*, 2000). The loss of TNF-LT α genes in mice resulted in high susceptibility to BCG infection (Jacobs *et al.*, 2006). Therefore, the long term up-regulation of TNF α gene in Japanese flounder suggested that the host may have induced cell-mediated immune response against *M. bovis* BCG.

DTH reactions to bacterial antigens have been observed in lamprey, elasmobranches, chondrosteans and teleosts (Nakanishi *et al.*, 1999). Bartos and Sommer (1981) have also reported on DTH skin reactions against *M. tuberculosis* and *M. salmoniphilum* in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). In this study, DTH reaction was used to test whether vaccinated fish achieved specific cell-mediated immunity against *Mycobacterium* sp. antigens. Only BCG vaccinated fish showed up-regulation of the inflammatory cytokines gene expression at 1 or 3 days post-injection of PPD. During the elicitation phase of DTH, IL-1 β and TNF α play major role in the efficient priming of T cells and the activation of dendritic cell (Nambu, Nakae and Iwakura, 2006), inducing chemokine production leading to an influx of other inflammatory cells (Harumi and Goldman, 2007). In contrast, IL-6 has a pivotal role in decreasing swelling at the local site to suppress or heal inflammation during the late phase of DTH (Mihara *et al.*, 1991). These results suggested that a DTH response similar to the DTH response in mammals occurred in Japanese flounder and that the BCG vaccine induced specific cell-mediated immunity against the antigen of *Mycobacterium* sp.

BCG can protect against various mycobacteriosises such as tuberculosis, leprosy, Buruli ulcer and paratuberculosis (Heinzmann *et al.*, 2008) in mammals. All mycobacteria possess mycolic acid, a component of the cell wall. CD1 molecules present mycolic acid as a lipid antigen to restricted CD8⁺ T cells (Beckman *et al.*, 1994). Sugita (2006) suggested that the wide-spectrum efficacy of BCG is dependent on the response of CD1-restricted T cells to the lipid antigen. In this study, BCG vaccine was more effective at protecting the fish from *Mycobacterium* sp. infection than FKC vaccine. Hence, our data suggest that the Japanese flounder immune systems recognize and present mycobacterial common antigens such as mycolic acid and protect fish from *Mycobacterium* sp.

Although a return to virulence might have been concerned, live attenuated vaccine is useful for fish disease which is difficult to be eradicated by inactivated vaccine. Some mutant strains of pathogenic bacteria and some species related to pathogenic bacteria have been studied as live attenuated vaccines in fish. In fact, a mutant strain of *Edwardsiella ictaluri*

has been licensed as live attenuated vaccine against enteric septicemia of channel catfish in U.S.A. (Klesius and Shoemaker, 1999). In addition, *Arthrobacter* spp. has been also licensed as a live vaccine against bacterial kidney disease of salmonids in North America and Chile (Griffiths, Melville and Salonius, 1998). BCG vaccine has been used in mammals for a long time and shown stability of the avirulence (Calmette and Plotz, 1929), BCG vaccine may be useful against mycobacteriosis also in aquaculture industry.

In conclusion, intramuscular vaccination of Japanese flounder with BCG vaccine induced an immediate immune response and specific cell-mediated immune response against the antigens of *Mycobacterium* sp. Furthermore, BCG confers some protection efficacy against *Mycobacterium* sp. infection for Japanese flounder. It is likely that BCG will also be useful as a vaccine for other aquaculture species.

REFERENCES

- Akira, S. 2003. Review: Mammalian Toll-like receptors. *Current Opinion in Immunology* 15: 5-11.
- Akira, S., Takeda, K. and Kaisho, T. 2001. Review: Toll-like receptors: critical proteins linking innate and acquired immunity. *Nature Immunology* 2:675-680.
- Aronson, J.D. 1926. Spontaneous tuberculosis in salt water fish. Journal of Infectious Diseases 39:315-320.
- Bartos, J.M. and Sommer, C.V. 1981. *In vivo* cell mediated immune response to *M. tuberculosis* and *M. salmoniphilum* in rainbow trout (*Salmo gairdneri*). *Developmental and Comparative Immunology* 5:75-83.
- Beckman, E.M., Porcelli, S.A., Morita, C.T., Behar, S.M., Furlong, S.T. and Brenner, M.B. 1994. Recognition of a lipid antigen by CD1-restricted ^{αβ+} T cells. *Nature* 372:691-694.
- Black, C.A. 1999. Review: Delayed type hypersensitivity: current theories with an historic perspective. *Dermatology Online Journal* 5:7. (Accessed on December 26, 2008 at http://dermatology-s10.cdlib.org/DOJvol5num1/reviews/black.html).
- Bruno, D.W., Griffiths, J., Mitchell, C.G., Wood, B.P., Fletcher, Z.J., Drobniewski, F.A. and Hastings, T.S. 1998. Pathology attributed to *Mycobacterium chelonae* infection among farmed and laboratory-infected Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar*. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 33:101-109.
- Calmette, A, and Plotz, H. 1929. Protective inoculation against tuberculosis with BCG. American Review of Tuberculosis 19: 567-572.
- Decostere, A., Hermans, K. and Haesebrouck, F. 2004. Review: Piscine mycobacteriosis: a literature review covering the agent and the disease it causes in fish and humans. *Veterinary Microbiology* 99:159-166.
- Grabbe, S. and Schwarz, T. 1998. Review: Immunoregulatory mechanisms involved in elicitation of allergic contact hypersensitivity. *Immunology Today* 19:37-44.
- Harumi, J. and Goldman, K.E. 2007. Review: Delayed-type hypersensitivity. *eMedicine Allergy and Immunology* (Accessed on December 26, 2008 at http://emedicine.medscape. com/article/886393-print)

- Heinzmann, J., Wilkens, M., Dohmann, K. and Gerlach, G.F. 2008. *Mycobacterium avium* subsp. *paratuberculosis*-specific *mpt* operon expressed in *M. bovis* BCG as vaccine candidate. *Veterinary Microbiology* 130:330-337.
- Jacobs, M., Brown, N., Allie, N. and Ryffel, B. 2000. Fatal *Mycobacterium bovis* BCG infection in TNF-LT-α-deficient mice. *Clinical Immunology* 94:192-199.
- Jacobs, M., Togbe, D., Fremond, C., Samarina ,A., Allie, N., Botha, T., Carlos, D., Parida, S.K., Grivennikov, S., Nedospasov, S., Monteiro, A., Bert, M.L., Quesniaux, V. and Ryffel, B. 2007. Tumor necrosis factor is critical to control tuberculosis infection. Microbes and Infection 9: 623-628.
- Kindler, V., Sappino, A.P., Grau, G.E., Piguet, P.F. and Vassalli, P. 1989. The inducing role of tumor necrosis factor in the development of bactericidal granulomas during BCG infection. *Cell* 56:731-740.
- Kawakami, K. and Kusuda, R. 1990. Efficacy of rifampicin, streptomycin and erythromycin against experimental mycobacterium infection in cultured yellowtail. *Nippon Suisan Gakkaishi* 56:51-53.
- Kusuda, R., Inoue, M., Sugiura, H. and Kawai, K. 1993. Characteristics of a pathogenic *Mycobacterium* sp. isolated from cultured striped jack, *Pseudocaranx dentex. Suisan Zousyoku* 41:125-131.
- Kusuda, R., Kawakami, K. and Kawai, K. 1987. A fish-pathogenic *Mycobacterium* sp. isolated from an epizootic of cultured yellowtail. *Nippon Suisan Gakkaishi* 53:1797-1804.
- Mihara, M. Ikuta, M. Koishihara, Y. and Ohsugi, Y. 1991. Interleukin 6 inhibits delayedtype hypersensitivity and the development of adjuvant arthritis. *European Journal of Immunology* 21:2327-2331.
- Nackers, F., Dramaix, M., Johnson, R.C., Zinsou, C., Robert, A., Bakedano, E.D.B., Glynn, J.R., Portaels, F. and Tonglet, R. 2006. BCG vaccine effectiveness against Buruli ulcer: A case-control study in Benin. *The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 75:768-774.
- Nakanishi, T., Aoyagi, K., Xia, C., Dijkstra, J.M. and Ototake, M. 1999. Review: Specific cell-mediated immunity in fish. *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology* 72: 101-109.
- Nambu, A., Nakae, S. and Iwakura, Y. 2006. IL-1 β , but not IL-1 α , is required for antigenspecific T cell activation and the induction of local inflammation in the delayed-type hypersensitivity response. *International Immunology* 18:701-712.
- Nguyen, L. and Pieters, J. 2005. Review: The Trojan horse: survival tactics of pathogenic mycobacteria in macrophage. *Trends in Cell Biology* 15:269-276.
- Ponninghaus, J.M., Msosa, E., Gruer, P.J.K., Liomba, N.G., Fine, P.E.M., Sterne, J.A.C., Wilson, R.J., Bliss, L., Jenkins, P.A. and Lucas, S.B. 1992. Efficacy of BCG vaccine against leprosy and tuberculosis in northern Malawi. *The Lancet* 339:636-639.
- Portaels, F., Aguiar, J., Debacker, M., Guedenon, A., Steunou, C., Zinsou, C. and Meyers, W.M. 2004. *Mycobacterium bovis* BCG vaccination as prophylaxis against *Mycobacterium ulcerans* osteomyelitis in Buruli ulcer disease. *Infection and Immunity* 72:62-65.

- Portaels, F., Aguiar, J., Debacker, M., Steunou, C., Zinsou, C., Guedenon, A. and Meyers, W.M. 2002. Prophylactic effect of *Mycobacterium bovis* BCG vaccination against osteomyelitis in children with *Mycobacterium ulcerans* disease (Buruli ulcer). *Clinical and Diagnostic Laboratory Immunology* 9:1389-1391.
- Ross, A.J. and Brancato, F.P. 1959. *Mycobacterium fortuitum* Cruz from the tropical fish *Hyphessobrycon innesi. Journal of Bacteriology* 78:392-395.
- Sander, C. and McShane, H. 2007. Review: Translational mini-review series on vaccines: Development and evaluation of improved vaccines against tuberculosis. *Clinical and Experimental Immunology* 147:401-411.
- Sugita, M. 2006. Review: Immune recognition of mycobacteria-derived lipid components. *Nippon Saikingaku Zasshi* 61:405-413.
- Underhill, D.M., Ozinsky, A., Smith, K.D. and Aderem, A. 1999. Toll-like receptor-2 mediates mycobacteria-induced proinflammatory signaling in macrophages. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 96:14459-14463.
- Yamamoto, T. 2006. Review: Bacterial strategies for escaping the bactericidal mechanisms by macrophage. *Yakugaku Zasshi* 126:1235-1243.

Appendices

Appendix 1: DAA VII List of Reviewers	331
Appendix 2: DAA VII Author Index	333
Appendix 3: DAA VII List of Participants	335
Appendix 4: DAA VII Group Photo	385

Appendix 1

DAA VII List of Reviewers

- 1. Alexandra Adams
- 2. Takahashi Aoki
- 3. Ellen Ariel
- 4. J. Richard Arthur
- 5. Puttharat Baoprasertkul
- 6. Franck Berthe
- 7. Nicky Buller
- 8. Mieke Burger
- 9. Christopher Caipang
- 10. Supranee Chinabut
- 11. Flavio Corsin
- 12. Mark Crane
- 13. Melanie Crockford
- 14. Margaret Crumlish
- 15. Erlinda Cruz-Lacierda
- 16. Marty Deveney
- 17. Árun Dhar
- 18. Jeffrey P. Fisher
- 19. Timothy Flegel
- 20. Roar Gudding
- 21. Mike Hine
- 22. Brian Jones
- 23. Indrani Karunasagar
- 24. Don Lightner

- 25. Chu Fang Lo
- 26. C.V. Mohan
- 27. Kazuo Ogawa
- 28. Leigh Owens
- 29. Kerry Greer
- 30. Marc Le Groummelec
- 31. Indrani Karunasagar
- 32. Hong Liu
- 33. Lauke Labrie
- 34. Shiela Mortimor-Jones
- 35. Toshihiro Nakai
- 36. Myung-Joo Oh
- 37. Dave Raftos
- 38. Melba Reantaso
- 39. A.F. Rowley
- 40. Masahiro Sakai
- 41. Motohiko Sano
- 42. Kenneth Soderhall
- 43. Christina Sommerville
- 44. Fran Stephens
- 45. Kim Thompson
- 46. Peter Walker
- 47. Snježana Zrnčić

Appendix 2

DAA VII Author Index

Aoki, 157, 171, 197, 209, 219, 253, 317 Arthur, 271 Berthe, 103 Bristow, 39 Cha, 209, 219 Chen, 111 Cruz-Lacierda, 53 del Castillo, 253 Devakie,103 Dieu, 145 Diggles, 271 Duraisamy, 291 Endo,197 Erazo-Pagador, 53 Fagutao, 171 Firdaus-Nawi, 29 Groman, 103 Hikima, 253 Hirono, 157, 171, 197, 253, 317 Hsiao, 241 Itoh, 93 Jang, 209, 219 Jiravanichpaisala, 177 Jones,75 Juan, 111 Jung, C.Y., 209, 219 Jung, T.S., 209, 219, 253 Kato, 317 Kim, 209, 219 Kondo, 157, 171, 197, 253, 317 Kua, 103 Le Groumellec, 291 Leu, 135 Lin, 177 Lio-Po, 13 Lightner, 121 Lo, 135

Lou, 111 Lu, 241 Maisak,309 Mavichak,157 Nagasawa, 53 Nguyen, 39 Nho, 209, 219 Nur-Nazifah, 29 Ogawa, 3 Park, 209, 219 Ramly,103 Rao, 291 Rigolet, 291 Sabri, 29 Saito-Taki, 197 Seman, 63 Shaharom-Harrison, 63 Söderhäll, 177 Somboonwiwat, 229 Suhairi, 63 Takahashi, 93 Takano, 197 Tassanakajon, 229 Tipmongkolsilp, 309 Tran, 39 Vandeputte, 291 Vlak, 145 Vo, 39 Wang, 111 Wongtavatchai, 309 Wu, J.L, 177, 241 Wu, S.Y, 111 Yamamoto, 53 Yang, 111 Zahrah, 29 Zamri-Saad, 29 Zwart, 145

Appendix 3

DAA VII List of Participants

AUSTRALIA

Dr. Joy Becker University of Sydney Faculty of Veterinay Science 425 Werombi Road Camden, 2570 Australia j.becker@usyd.edu.au

Dr. Eva-Maria Bernoth Eva-Maria.Bernoth@daff.gov.au

Dr. Ben Diggles ben@digsfish.com

Dr. Ingo Ernst Department of Agriculture, Fisheries And Forestry GPO Box 858, Canberra Act Canberra, 2603 Australia ingo.ernst@daff.gov.au

Ms. Yuko Hood Biosecurity Australia GPO Box 858 Canberra Act Camberra, 2601 Australia yuko.hood@biosecurity.gov.au

Dr. Brian Jones bjones@agric.wa.gov.au

Dr. James Munro Aquabounty Technologies PO Box 129 Grafton Grafton, 2460 Australia james_munro@hotmail.com Prof. Leigh Owens James Cook University School of Veterinary & Biomedical Sciences Townsville, Australia 4811 leigh.owens@jcu.edu.au

Mr. Paul Hick University of Sydney Kanahooka, 2530 Australia phic9434@mail.usyd.edu.au

Prof. Peter Walker Peter.Walker@csiro.au

BRUNEI DARUSSALAM

Ms. Kerry Claydon James Cook University BB1714 16, Simpang 247-3 Jalan Berakas Lambak 'b' Bandar Seri Begawan Brunei kerryclaydon@gmail.com

Mrs. Wanidawati Tamat Fisheries Department Brunei Ministry Of Industry and Primary Resources Jalan Menteri Besar, Bandar Seri Begawan BB 3901 Brunei wanidawati.tamat@fisheries.gov.bn

CANADA

Dr. J. Richard Arthur jrarthur@telus.net

Prof. Tim Flegel sctwf@mahidol.ac.th Dr. Fu Ci Guo Novartis Animal Health Canada Inc. Aqua Health Business C1E 1Y1 7-148 Maypoint Road Charlottetown, Prince Edward Island Canada fuci.guo@novartis.com

CHINA

Dr. Hong Liu Key Laboratory of Aquatic Animal Diseases Shenzhen Exit & Entry Inspection and Quarantine B801 Heping Building 2049 Heping Road Shenzhen, China ciqliuhong@gmail.com

Dr. Fuhua Li Institute of Oceanology Chineses Academy of Sciences 7 Nanhai Road Qingdao, China 266071 fuhuali@yahoo.com

Mrs. Junying Ma Institute of Oceanology Chinese Academy of Sciences 7 Nanhai Road Qingdao, China 266071 majy@qdio.ac.cn

Dr. Zhao Lan Mo Institute of Oceanology Ch. Ac. of Science 7 Nanhai Road Qingdao, China 266071 zhaolanmo@yahoo.com.cn

Prof. Liande Pan Shanghai Ocean University 334 Jungong Road Shanghai, China 200090 Idpan@shou.edu.cn Dr. Bing Wang 301 Biology Building 7 Nanhai Road Qingdao, China 2660171 wangbing@ms.qdio.ac.cn

Prof. Jianhai Xiang jhxiang@ms.qdio.ac.cn

Prof. Jifang Yang Zhejiang Wanli University 8 South Qianhu Road Ningbo, China 315100 jfkwlq@163.com

Prof. Xianle Yang Shanghai Fisheries University 334 Jungong Road Shanghai, China 200090 xlyang@shfu.edu.cn

Mrs. Qinghua Zhang Shanghai Fisheries University 334 Jungong Road Shanghai, China 200090 qhzhang@shfu.edu.cn

Dr. Jiquan Zhang Institute of Oceanology Chinese Academy of Sciences 7 Nanhai Road Biological Building 320 Qingdao, China 266071 zhangjiquan@ms.qdio.ac.cn

GERMANY

Prof. Just M. Vlak just.vlak@wur.nl

FRANCE

Dr. Francois Jegou Ocialis 56250 Prisma - Talhouet St Nolff France fjegou@evialis.evls.net

Dr. Marc Le Groumellec le.groumellec@gmail.com

Dr. Emilie Walling Ifremer, French Marine Exploitation Institute Nouma-New Caledonia France 98800 emilie.walling@ifremer.fr

FRENCH POLYNESIA

Ms. Rarahu David Service De La Pêche 98713 Bp 20 Papeete, French Polynesia rarahud@gmail.com

INDIA

Prof. Indrani Karunasagar karuna8sagar@yahoo.com

Dr. R. Dinakaran Michael Centre for Fish Immunology, Lady Load College Madurai, Tamil Nadu, 635002, India rdmichael2000@yahoo.co.in

Dr. C. V. Mohan mohan@enaca.org

Ms Arun Padiyar arunpadiyar@gmail.com Dr. Jayagopal Pozhoth Rajiv Gandhi Centre For Aquaculture Marine Products Export Development Authority Ministry of Commerce & Industry Govt of India 744105 Rgca-domestication of Tiger Shrimp Project Kodiyaghat, Burmanala Po, Garacharma Via, South Andamans Port Blair, India pjayagopalmenon@gmail.com

Mr. Manoj Vr Centre For Environmental Studies Anna University Sixth Avenue, Z-block, Annanagar Chennai, India vrmmail@yahoo.com

INDONESIA

Dr. Rajeev Jha Central Pertiwi Bahari Jl. Ir Sutami Km 16 desa Sindang Sari, Keeamatan Tanjung, Bintang Lampung Selatan, 35453 Indonesia rajeev.kumar@cpp.co.id

Dr. Antonius Suwanto R&d Building, Central Proteina Prima Jl. Parang Tritis Raya Blok A-5e No. 12, Ancol Barat Jakarta, 14430 Indonesia asuwanto@indo.net.id

Dr. Yuri Sutanto Pt. Central Proteinaprima 14430 Jl. Parangtritis Raya Blok A5-e No. 12a Jakarta Indonesia yuri.sutanto@cpp.co.id

Mrs. Heny Budi Utari Central Proteinaprima-charoen Pokphand Group of Indonesia Parangtritis V Street No. 6-7 Ancol Barat Jakarta, Indonesia 14430 heny.utari@cpp.co.id Mr. Rubiyanto Widodo Haliman Pt. Centralpertiwi Bahari Jl. Ir. Sutami Km 16 Desa Sindang Sari, Kec. Tanjung Bintang Lampung Selatan, Indonesia 35361 rubiyanto.haliman@cpp.co.id

IRAN

Mr. Afshiin Akhondzadeh Basti University of Tehran Azadi Street Tehran, 14155-6453 Iran aakhond@ut.ac.ir

Dr. Hossein Khara Islamic Azad University-lahijan Branch Department of Fisheries Sciences And Aquaculture H_khara1974@yahoo.com Lahijan, 1616 Iran h_khara1974@yahoo.com

Dr. Seyed Saeed Mirzargar Department of Aquatic Animal Health, faculty of Veterinay medicine University of Tehran Faculty of Veterinay medicine Tehran University, Tehran, POBox:14155-6453 Tehran, 14155-6453 Iran zargarm@ut.ac.ir

Mr. Ali Misaghi University of Tehran Faculty of Veterinary Medicine Tehran, Iran misaghia@vetmed.ut.ac.ir

Mr. Hosseinali Ebrahimzadeh Mousavi Faculty of Veterinaty Medicine University of Tehran Azadi Street Tehran, 14155-6453 Iran hmosavi@ut.ac.ir
Dr. Rahim Peyghan Veterinary Faculty-shahid Chamran University- POBox:145 Ahvaz-iran Ahvaz, 61355 Iran peyghan_r@scu.ac.ir

Dr. Masoud Sattari University of Guilan Department of Fisheries Sciences Faculty of Natural Resorces Sowmehsara, 1144 Iran msattari647@yahoo.com

Prof. Mehdi Soltani Univsresity of Tehran Faculty of Veterinary Medicine University of Tehran, Azadi Street Tehran, 141556354 Iran msoltani@ut.ac.ir

ISRAEL

Dr. Marina Eyngor The Kimron Veterinary Institute Bet Dagan, 50250 Israel eyngor@agri.huji.ac.il

ITALY

Dr. Melba B. Reantaso Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) Via delle Terme di Caracalla, 00153 Rome, Italy melba.reantaso@fao.org

Dr. Rohana Subasinghe Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) Via delle Terme di Caracalla, 00153 Rome, Italy rohana.subasinghe@fao.org

JAPAN

Mr. Mohamed Abdelsalam Faculty of Agriculture, Miyazaki University, Japan Gakunen-kibanadai-nishi-1-1 Miyazaki State Miyazaki, 889-2192, Japan ng2704u@student.miyazaki-u.ac.jp

Prof. Takashi Aoki aoki@kaiyodai.ac.jp

Dr. Masayoshi Asagi asagi@pop16.odn.ne.jp

Ms. Hiroko Atami Laboratory of Fish Diseases, Nippon Veterinary and Life Science University Tokyo, 180-8602 Japan cooldummy9@yahoo.co.jp

Dr. Erlinda Cruz-lacierda Faculty of Fisheries Shimoarata 4-50-20 Kagoshima University Kagoshima, 890-0056 Japan eclacierda@yahoo.com

Mr. Fernand Fagutao Graduated School of Tokyo University of Marine Science and Technology Konan 4-5-7, Minato Tokyo, 108-8477, Japan ffagutao@hotmail.com

Dr. Kanako Fuji Tokyo University of Marine Science and Technology 4-5-7 Konan, Minato-ku Tokyo, 108-8477 Japan fujikana1228@yahoo.co.jp

Prof. Hideo Fukuda hfukuda@kaiyodai.ac.jp Dr. Kishio Hatai hatai@nvlu.ac.jp k-hatai.0111@scan-net.ne.jp

Prof. Ikuo Hirono hirono@kaiyodai.ac.jp

Dr. Hiroyuki Inagawa National Fisheries University 2-7-1, Nagata-honmachi Shimonoseki, 759-6595 Japan pina@fish-u.ac.jp

Dr. Toshiaki Itami University of Miyazaki 1-1, Gakuenkibana-dai Miyazaki, 8892192 Japan itamit@cc.miyazaki-u.ac.jp

Ms. Emi Iwamoto Graduate School of Biosphere Science Hiroshima University Higashi-hiroshima, 739-8528, Japan mossan1472@yahoo.co.jp

Prof. Hisae Kasai Faculty of Fisheries Sciences 041-8611 Faculty of Fisheries Sciences Hokkaido University Hakodate, Hokkaido, 041-8611 Japan hisae@fish.hokudai.ac.jp

Mr. Goshi Kato Graduated School of Tokyo University of Marine Science and Technology Konan 4-5-7, Minato Tokyo, 108-8477, Japan flying.goushi@yahoo.co.jp

Mr. Hideaki Kawara hideaki_kawara@yanmar.co.jp Mr. Yasuhiko Kawato Graduate School of Biosphere Science, Hiroshima University 739-8528 Graduate School of Biosphere Science Hiroshima University Higashi-hiroshima 739-8528, Japan m071376@hiroshima-u.ac.jp

Mr. Ryuhei Kinami The University of Tokyo Tokyo, 113-8657, Japan rkinami@hotmail.com

Dr. Shin-ichi Kitamura Center for Marine Environmental Studies (CMES) Ehime University 790-8577 Matsuyama, Japan kitamura@sci.ehime-u.ac.jp

Dr. Tomoya Kono Faculty of Agriculture University of Miyazaki Gakuenkibanadai-nishi 1-1 Miyazaki, 889-2192 Japan tomoya-kono@y9.dion.ne.jp

Dr. Akashi Kuroda Nippon Institute For Biological Sciences 198-0024 Japan akakuro@nibs.or.jp

Mr. Rapeepat Mavichak Laboratory of Genome Science Graduate School of Marine Science and Technology University of Marine Science and Technology Konan 4-5-7, Minato Tokyo, 108-8477, Japan mavichak@yahoo.com

Mr. Tohru Mekata University of Miyazaki Gakuen Kibanadai-nishi, Miyazaki-shi Miyazaki, 889-2192 1-1, Japan ng2703u@student.miyazaki-u.ac.jp Dr. Teruo Miyazaki Mie University Mie, 514-8507 Japan miyazaki@bio.mie-u.ac.jp

Dr. Toshihiro Nakai Hiroshima University Kagamiyama 1-4-4 Higashi-hiroshima, 739-8528 Japan nakaitt@hiroshima-u.ac.jp

Dr. Yasushi Okinaka Hiroshima University 739-8528 Kagamiyama 1-4-4 Higashi-hiroshima, 739-8528, Japan okinaka@hiroshima-u.ac.jp

Prof. Kazuo Ogawa aogawak@mail.ecc.u-tokyo.ac.jp

Dr. Sudhakaran Raja Faculty of Aqriculture. University of Miyazaki Gakuenkibana Dai – Nishi, 1 – 1 Miyazaki, 889 – 2192 Japan sudhakaran79@rediffmail.com

Prof. Masahiro Sakai Faculty of Agriculture University of Miyazaki Gakuenkibanadai-nishi 1-1 Miyazaki, 889-2192 Japan m.sakai@cc.miyazaki-u.ac.jp

Dr. Takamitsu Sakai National Research Institute of Aquaculture Fisheries Research Agency/diagnosis and Training Center for Fish Diseases Mie, 516-0193 Japan tasakai@affrc.go.jp Dr. Takashi Sakamoto Tokyo University of Marine Science and Technology Konan 4, Minato-ku Tokyo, 108-8477 5-7, Japan takashis@kaiyodai.ac.jp

Dr. Motohiko Sano National Research Institute of Aquaculture Natatuhamaura, Minami-ise, Watarai, Mie, 516-0193 422-1 Japan sanogen@affrc.go.jp

Mr. Mudjekeewis Santos Laboratory of Genome Science Graduate School of Marine Science and Technology Tokyo University of Marine Science and Technology Konan 4-5-7, Minato Tokyo, 108-8477, Japan mudjiesantos@gmail.com

Mr. Kohei Sonoda Faculty of Agriculture, University of Miyazaki 889-2192 Gakuenkibanadai-nishi 1-1 Miyazaki, Japan sonoda0212@yahoo.co.jp

Prof. Satoru Suzuki Center For Marine Environmental Studies Ehime University 790-8577 Bunkyo-3, Science Bldg. 2 Matsuyama, Japan ssuzuki@agr.ehime-u.ac.jp

Mr. Yoshiaki Suzuki Tokyo University of Marine Science And Technology Tokyo, 108-8477, Japan alpheus0418@yahoo.c.jp

Dr. Keisuke G. Takahashi waradica@bios.tohoku.ac.jp

Prof. Yukinori Takahashi National Fisheries University Nagata-honmachi Shimonoseki 759-6595 2-7-1, Japan takahasy@fish-u.ac.jp Dr. Tomokazu Takano Graduated School of Tokyo University of Marine Science And Technology Konan 4-5-7, Minato Tokyo, 108-8477 Japan takano5320@yahoo.co.jp

Mr. Daisuke Takuma Laboratory of Fish Disease Nippon Veterinary and Life Science University Tokyo, 180-8602 Japan daisk-t@qa3.so-net.ne.jp

Mr. Nishioka Toyohiro National Research Institute of Aquaculture(NRIA) Fishery Research Agency, Mie, Minami-ise, Japan toyohiro@affrc.go.jp

Dr. Hisatsugu Wakabayashi hisawaka@ka2.koalanet.ne.jp Old: hisa718@m2.pbc.ne.jp

Dr. Han-ching Wang Laboratory of Genome Science Graduate School of Marine Science and Technology Tokyo University of Marine Science and Technology Konan 4-5-7, Minato Tokyo, 108-8477 Japan d91225001@ntu.edu.tw

Ms. Fusako Watanabe Tokyo University of Marine Science and Technology Konan, Minato-ku Tokyo, 108-8477, Japan fusafusafusa0420@yahoo.co.jp

Ms. Natsuko Yoshida Faculty of Fisheries Sciences Hokkaido University Hakodate, Hokkaido, Japan Hokkaido, Japan w-atlas@ms7.ncv.ne.jp Dr. Terutoyo Yoshida University of Miyazaki 889-2192 889-2192 Miyazaki Japan t-yosh@cc.miyazaki-u.ac.jp

Dr. Tomoyoshi Yoshinaga The Graduate School of Agricultural And Life Sciences The University of Tokyo Yayoi 1-1-1, Bunkyo-ku Tokyo, 113-8657 Japan atyoshi@mail.ecc.u-tokyo.ac.jp

Prof. Mamoru Yoshimizu Faculty of Fisheries Sciences Hokkaido University Hakodate, 0418611, Japan hisae@fish.hokuda.ac.jp

Dr. Jinyong Zhang The University of Tokyo Tokyo, 113-8657 Japan zhy1100821@yahoo.co.jp

THE REPUBLIC OF KOREA

Dr. Myoung Ae Park National Fisheries Research & Development Institute 619-902 408-1, Shirang-ri, Gijang-up, Gijang-gun Busan 619-902, R.o.korea Busan, Korea mapark@nfrdi.re.kr

Mr. In-seok Cha Gyeongsang National University 660-701 Lab of Aquatic Animal Diseases, 501-201 College of Veterinary Medicine, Gsnu, Gazwa-dong Jinju, Korea innsnn@naver.com Prof. Jehee Lee Cheju National University 690-756 66 Jejudaehakno, Ara-dong, Jeju 690-756 Jeju, Korea jehee@cheju.ac.kr

Dr. Mi Young Cho National Fisheries Research and Develpoment Institute 619-705 408-1, Sirang-ri, Gijang-eup Gijang-kun Busan, Korea mycho@nfrdi.re.kr

Dr. Ho Bin Jang Labaratory of Aquatic Animal Disease College of Veterinary Medicine Gyeongsang National University 660-701 Labaratory of Aquatic Animal Disease College of Veterinary Medicine Jinju, Korea hobin1976@naver.com

Dr. Tae Sung Jung Lab. Aquatic Animal Diseases 660-701 College of Veterinary Medicine, Gyeongsang National University Gazwadong, 900, Jinju, Gyeongnam So Jinju, Korea jungts@gsnu.ac.kr

Mr. Yu Cheol Kim Cheju National University 690756 66 Jejudaehakno, Ara-dong Jeju, Korea hanraoldman@hotmail.com

Mr. Seong-won Nho Gyeong-sang National Unieversity, Veterinary Medicine Lab of Aquatic Animal Medicine 660-701 Laboratory of Aquatic Animal Diseases College of Veterinary Medicine Gyeongsang National University Jin-ju, Korea shyguy0126@naver.com Mr. Seongbin Park Laboratory Aqua Animal Disease College of Veterinary Medicine 660-701 Gyeongsang National University, 900 Gajwa-dong Jinju, Korea 9887035@hanmail.net

MALAYSIA

Prof. Faizah Shaharom-Harrison Institute of Tropical Aquaculture 21030 University Malaysia Terengganu Kuala Terengganu Malaysia faizah@umt.edu.my

Dr. Beng Chu Kua Natonal Fish Health Research Centre Fisheries Research Institute, Department of Fisheries Malaysia 11960 Natonal Fish Health Research Centre Fisheries Research Institute Penang, Malaysia kuabeng@fri.gov.my

Mr. Choon Kiat Khoo Malaysia Genome Institute (genomalaysia) 43600 Stroma Block, Ukm-mtdc Smart Technology Centre University Kebangsaan Malaysia, Selangor, Malaysia. Bangi, Malaysia ck791234@gmail.com

Mr. Kim Oon Leong Bta Frozen Sdn. Bhd 81700 Plo 545 & 678 Jalan Keluli 7, Kawasan Perindustrian Pasir Gudang Pasir Gudang Johor, Malaysia uncle_fishy@yahoo.com.sg

Mr. Han Pin Teoh Lab-ind Resource Sdn Bhd 48300 No.7a jalan Kemboja 1b/2,selangor Bandar Bukit Beruntung Malaysia labind@myjaring.net Mr. Mohd Firdaus Nawi University Putra Malaysia 43400 Histopathology Lab Faculty of Veterinary Medicine University Putra Malaysia Selangor, Malaysia firdausnawi_18@yahoo.com

Ms. Nur Nazifah Mansor University Putra Malaysia 43400 Selangor, Malaysia ambuliana@yahoo.co.uk

Ms. Sarimah Sabri Institute of Tropical Aquaculture (akuatrop) 21030 Kuala Terengganu, Malaysia dr_kronik84@yahoo.com

NETHERLANDS

Ms. Annette Boerlage Wageningen Institute of Animal Sciences (WIAS) Wageningen University 6709 PG Marijkeweg 40 Wageningen, Netherlands annette.boerlage@wur.nl

NORWAY

Mrs. Marianne Bordevik Bureau of Animal and Plant Health Inspection and Quarantine 0213 Marianne Oslo, Norway marianne.bordevik@pharmaq.no

Mr. Thanh Bui N. Norwegian School of Veterinary Science 0858 Oslo, Norway bui.thanhvn@gmail.com

Prof. Oystein Evensen Norwegian School of Veterinary Science 0033 PO Box 8146 Dep Oslo, Norway oystein.evensen@veths.no Ms. Kjersti Gravningen Pharmaq As, Norway kjersti.gravningen@pharmaq.no

Ms. Tz Chun Guo Norwegian School of Veterinary Science/basic Sciences and Aquatic Medicine Bjølsen Studentby Hus19 H0105 Oslo, 0445, Norway Tz-Chun.Guo@veths.no

Mr. Sung Hyun Kim Norwegian School of Veterinary Science Oslo, 0372 Norway ksh800814@hotmail.com

PHILIPPINES

Mr. Cielito Castro Bayer Philippines Inc. - Animal Health 4028 Bayer House Canlubang Industrial Estate, Calamba City Laguna, Philippines jun.castro@bayerhealthcare.com

Dr. Elena Catap University of The Philippines 1101 Institute of Biology, College of Science, University of the Philippines Diliman Quezon City, Philippines escatap@gmail.com

Dr. Leobert De La Pena Seafdec Aqd 5021 Tigbauan 5021 Iloilo City, Philippines leobertd@aqd.seafdec.org.ph

Dr. Celia Lavilla-Pitogo celiap@seafdec.org.ph

Dr. Gilda Lio-Po liopo@aqd.seafdec.org.ph Mr. Chris Mitchum Ganancial Bayer Philippines Inc. 4028 Canlubang Industrial Estate Canlubang Calamba Laguna Laguna, Philippines cmganancial@yahoo.com

Dr. Rolando Pakingking, Jr. Southeast Asian Fisheries Development Center 5021 Seafdec Aquaculture Department Tigbauan Iloilo, Philippines rpaking@seafdec.org.ph

Ms. Eleonor Tendencia Wageningen University/ Seafdec Aqd 5021 Seafdec Aqd, Tigbauan 5021 Iloilo, Philippines Iloilo, Philippines gigi@aqd.seafdec.org.ph

Mr. Boonyarit Yeesarn Charoen Pokphand Foods Philippines Corporation 6100 Door 6, San Isidro Bldg., 6th Lacson St. Bacolod City, Philippines boonyarit@mycpindia.com

SINGAPORE

Dr. Brian James Sheehan Intervet Norbio Singapore Pte Ltd 718847 1 Perahu Road Singapore brian.sheehan@intervet.com

Dr. Lauke Labrie lauke.labrie@intervet.com

Dr. Choy Len Fong choy.len.fong@appliedbiosystem.com

Prof. Jimmy Kwang kwang@tll.org.sg Ms. Elizabeth Luo Applied Biosystems B.v. 739256 Blk 33, #05-03 Marsiling Industrial Estate Road 3, Singapore 739256 Singapore elizabeth.luo@appliedbiosystems.com

Mr. Chow Yong Ng Intervet Norbio Singapore Pte Ltd 7188471 Perahu Road Singapore chowyong.ng@intervet.com

SPAIN

Prof. Luis Perez Garcia-Estaño Instituto De Biología Molecular y Celular (IBMC-UMH) 03202 Instituto De Biología Molecular y Celular Alicante, Spain luis.perez@umh.es

SRI LANKA

Mr. Pradeep Aruna Dissanayake Chandarasekara Ministry of Fisheries Nwp -sri Lanka 0094 Chilaw, Sri Lanka dissanayake.aruna@gmail.com

Prof. Mangalika Hettiarachchi manga@kln.ac.lk

Dr. Sachie Panawala National Science Foundation 00700 47/5 Vidya Mawatha, Colombo 07 Colombo, Sri Lanka sachie@nsf.ac.lk

SWEDEN

Prof. Kenneth Söderhäll Kenneth.Soderhall@ebc.uu.se

TAIWAN

Mr. Yudha Adiputra National Taiwan Ocean University 20224 Keelung, Taiwan yudha_adiputra@hotmail.com

Dr. Yen-ting Chan Bureau of Animal and Plant Health Inspection and Quarantine Taipei, Taiwan yanting@mail.baphiq.gov.tw

Dr. You-yu Chan Bureau of Animal and Plant Health Inspection and Quarantine Taipei, Taiwan yychan@mail.baphiq.gov.tw

Mr. Cheng-yen Chang National Changhua University of Education 500 No.1, Jin-de Road, Changhua City Changhua, Taiwan mjtbmjtb@hotmail.com

Dr. Chi Yao Chang Academia Sinica Taiwan cychang@gate.sinica.edu.tw

Ms. Chih Wei Chang Laboratory of Molecular Virology and Biotechnology 702 No.1, University Road, Tainan City 701, Taiwan nchu_flower@hotmail.com

Mr. Jui-shin Chang Institue of Zoology, National Taiwan University 10617 No. 1, Sec. 4, Roosevelt Road Taipei, 10617, Taiwan r96b41012@ntu.edu.tw Dr. Yun-shiang Chang Department of Molecular Biotechnology Da-yeh University 515 Department of Molecular Biotechnology Da-yeh University, 112 Shan-jiau Road, Da-tsuen Changhua, Taiwan yschang@mail.dyu.edu.tw

Mrs. Krissana Rattana-r-pa Chankaew National Taiwan Ocean University Keelung, 20224 Taiwan rcrc47@yahoo.com

Mrs. Chin-mei Chao Ntu 231 9f., No.105-2, Mincyuan Road, Sindian City Taipei County 231, Taiwan r94b41017@ntu.edu.tw

Mr. Jyun-yu Chen Institute of Biotechnology National Cheng Kung University 701 Institute of Biotechnology Tainan, Taiwan L6695403@mail.ncku.edu.tw

Dr. Shih Chu Chen National PinTung University of Science and Technology Taiwan vm@mail.npust.edu.tw

Mr. Ta-jui Chia Institute of Zoology National Taiwan University 10617 No. 1, Sec. 4, Roosevelt Road, Taipei, 10617, Taiwan saviochia@yahoo.com.tw

Dr. Pinwen Peter Chiou Institute of Cellular & Organismic Biology Academia Sinica 26242 Marine Research Station 23-10 Dawun Road Jaiosi Yilan, Taiwan ppchiou@gate.sinica.edu.tw Prof. Hau Ren Chen Institute of Molecular Biology National Chung Cheng University 621 168 University Road Min-hsiung, Chai-yi, Taiwan biohrc@ccu.edu.tw

Ms. Hui-yu Chen Institute of Zoology, National Taiwan University 106 827r Life Science Building No. 1, Sec. 4, Roosevelt Road Taipei, 10617, Taiwan r94b41011@ntu.edu.tw

Ms. Janette Chen Genmont Biotech Incorporation 74144 No.8 Nanke 7th Road Shanhua Township Tainan County, Taiwan yuchin22@gmail.com

Prof. Li-li Chen Institute Of Marine Biology 202-24 National Taiwan Ocean University, No. 2 Pei-ning Road Keelung, Taiwan joechen@ntou.edu.tw

Prof. Mark Hc. Chen Hungkuang University 433 Bil Lab, N402, No.34 Chung-chie Road, Shalu Taichung County, Taiwan blackfish@sunrise.hk.edu.tw

Ms. Meng-yi Chen Institute of Zoology National Taiwan University No. 1, Sec. 4, Roosevelt Road Taipei,10617, Taiwan r92b41014@ntu.edu.tw

Ms. Wan Erh Chen Biotechnology/ncku 701 No.1, University Road Tainan City 701, Taiwan Tainan, Taiwan 16696105@mail.ncku.edu.tw Dr. Yi-Min Chen cohen.tw@yahoo.coom.tw

Dr. Tzong Yueh Chen National Cheng Kung University Taiwan ibcty@mail.ncku.edu.tw

Mr. Young-mao Chen Institute of Biotechnology, College of Bioscience And Biotechnology National Cheng Kung University, 701 1 University Road Tainan, 701 Taiwan ymc868@yahoo.com.tw

Ms. Chin-ho Cheng Institute of Zoology, National Taiwan University 10617 No. 1, Sec. 4, Roosevelt Road Taipei, 10617, Taiwan r95b41003@ntu.edu.tw

Dr. Shau-chi Chi Department of Life Science/national Taiwan University 106 1 Roosevelt Road, Sec. 4 Taipei, Taiwan shauchi@ntu.edu.tw

Dr. Hsien-choung Chiang Bureau of Animal and Plant Health Inspection and Quarantine Taipei, Taiwan chcm@mail.baphiq.gov.tw

Dr. Hsin Yiu Chou National Taiwan Ocean University Taiwan hychou@mail.nchu.edu.tw

Dr. Yu-ching Chou Bureau of Animal and Plant Health Inspection and Quarantine Taipei, Taiwan chou@mail.baphiq.gov.tw Ms. Chia-ying Chu National Taiwan Ocean University 20224 Department of Aquaculture, 2 Pei-ning Road, Keelung 20224 Taiwan littlepig911@yahoo.com.tw

Mr. Jie Cheng Chuang Uni-president Enter. Corp Taiwan jeff@upvn.com.vn

Ms. Whae-ling Chuang National Taiwan Ocean University 202-24, Taipei, Taiwan whaeling@hotmail.com

Dr. Nagarajan Gonindarajulu Taiwan govindnafarajan@rediffmail.com

Mr. Kun-chin Ho Institute of Zoology, National Taiwan University Taipei, Taiwan 10617 No. 1, Sec. 4, Roosevelt Road Taipei, 10617, Taiwan stillschweigend@gmail.com

Mr. Li-ping Ho Institute of Biotechnology 701 No.1 University Road, East District Tainan, Taiwan 16892105@ccmail.ncku.edu.tw

Ms. Chun-yi Hsiao Institute of Zoology National Taiwan University No. 1, Sec. 4, Roosevelt Road Taipei, 10617, Taiwan r95b41006@ntu.edu.tw Ms. Yi-ting Hsiao National Taiwan Ocean University 202 No.2, Beining Road, Jhongjheng District Keelung City 202, Taiwan Department of Aquaculture Ntou. Taipei, Taiwan tinnymon@yahoo.com.tw

Prof. Shu-ling Hsieh Fooyin University 831 Fooyin University, 151 Chinhsueh Road, Ta-liao Kaohsiung, Taiwan slhsieh@ntu.edu.tw

Ms. Hui-ling Huang Institute of Biotehnology 701 No.1 University Road, Tainan City 701, Taiwan 16696403@ccmail.ncku.edu.tw

Mr. Jiun-yan Huang Institution of Zoology National Taiwan University 106 Room818, Colleage of Life Science, National Taiwan University No.1, Sec. 4, Roosevelt Road Taipei, 106, Taiwan d94b41003@ntu.edu.tw

Mr. Po-yu Huang Institute of Marine Biology National Taiwan Ocean University 20224 Abcm1042@hotmail.com Keelung, Taiwan abcm1042@hotmail.com

Dr. Shiao-wei Huang Institute Of Zoology/National Taiwan University 106 No1 Sec4 Roosevelt Road Taipei, Taiwan d2205002kimo@yahoo.com.tw Prof. Jiann-ruey Hong Institute of Biotechnology Ncku 701 No.1, Ta-hsueh Road Tainan, Taiwan jrhong@mail.ncku.edu.tw

Ms. Shiow-lian Jeng Bureau of Animal and Plant Health Inspection and Quarantine Taipei, Taiwan sljeng@mail.baphiq.gov.tw

Ms. Shih-ting Kang Institute of Zoology, Lifescience, Ntu Taipei Taiwan d94b41007@ntu.edu.tw

Dr. Huang-lin Kao Bureau of Animal and Plant Health Inspection and Quarantine Taipei, Taiwan hlkao@mail.baphiq.gov.tw

Ms. Wai-san Lam Institute of Biotechnology National Cheng Kung University 701 Institute Of Biotechnology National Cheng Kung University Tainan, Taiwan op12313@yahoo.com.tw

Dr. Eduardo Leaño National Taiwan Ocean University 20224 Department of Aquaculture 2 Pei-ning Road Keelung, Taiwan edleano2004@yahoo.com

Prof. Chi-ying Lee National Changhua University of Education 500 Jin-de Campus 1, Jin-de Road, Changhua City Changhua, Taiwan bicylee@cc.ncue.edu.tw Mr. Jian-ling Lee Livestock Disease Control of Chia Yi County 61249 No.1 Taibao 1 Road, Taibao Chiayi, Taiwan jllee@mail.cyhg.gov.tw

Dr. Pei-yu Lee Central Taiwan University of Science And Technology 406 Dakeng, Beitung District Taichung, Taiwan pylee@ctust.edu.tw

Ms. Yu-tin Lee National Changhua University of Education 500 No.1, Jin-de Road, Changhua City Changhua, Taiwan wkttyy2002@yahoo.com.tw

Ms. Yuan Ting Lee Department of Molecular Biotechnology Da-yeh University, Changhua, Taiwan 112 Shan-jiau Road, Da-tsuen, Chang-hua 51591 Chang Hua, 51591, Taiwan R9561017@mail.dyu.edu.tw

Dr. Jiann Horng Leu Institute of Zoology National Taiwan Unisversity 106 Rm 818, Life Science Building, No. 1, Sec. 4 Roosevelt Road Taipei, 106 Taiwan d92b41003@ntu.edu.tw

Mr. Ching-yu Li Institute of Zoology Ntu 10617 No. 1, Sec. 4 Roosevelt Road Taipei, Taiwan d94b41004@ntu.edu.tw

Mr. Hung Wen Li Uni-president Enter. Corp Taiwan mozu1225@mail.pec.com.tw Mr. Yi-cheng Li Genmont Biotech Incorporation 74144 No.8, Nanke 7th Road Shanhua Township, Tainan County 74144 (r.o.c.) Tainan, Taiwan peptidoglica@genmont.com.tw

Dr. Chih-hung Lin Academia Sinica 115 128, Sec. 2, Academia Road, Nankang Taipei, Taiwan windbell@sinica.edu.tw

Dr. Han You Lin Institute of Biotechnology National Cheng Kung University 70101 1, University Road Tainan, Taiwan hanyou@mail.ncku.edu.tw

Ms. Ling-juin Lin National Changhua University of Education 500 No.1, Jin-de Road, Changhua City Changhua, Taiwan zerojun6@msn.com

Ms. Pei-wen Lin Institute of Cellular and Organismic Biology, Academia Sinica 115 128 Sec.2, Academia Road, Nankang Taipei 115, Taiwan D92360004@mail.ntou.edu.tw

Mr. Yong-chin Lin National Taiwan Ocean University 202 No. 2 Pei-ning Road 2, Keelung Keelung, Taiwan apito@pchome.com.tw

Mr. Yu Shan Lin Hungkuang University 540 Nantou, Taiwan ii238@yahoo.com.tw Mr. Hsin-i Liu National Taiwan Ocean University 20224 Department of Aquaculture, 2, Pei-ning Road Keelung 20224 Taiwan , R.o.c. Keelung, Taiwan D96330001@mail.ntou.edu.tw

Mr. Huang Ming Liou Department of Aquaculture National Taiwan Ocean University No.2 Beining Road, Jhongjheng District Keelung City 202, Taiwan min0318@gmail.com

Dr. Chu Fang Lo National Taiwan University Taiwan gracelow@ntu.edu.tw

Ms. Chun-me Lu Institute of Biotechnology, National Cheng Kung University Institute of Biotechnology National Cheng Kung University Tainan, Taiwan 16894113@mail.ncku.edu.tw

Ms. Chun-mei Lu Biotechnology Institute/national Chung Kung University 701 No.1, Daxue Road, East District Tainan City 701, Taiwan 16894113@hotmail.com

Dr. Jenn-kan Lu Department of Aquaculture, Naional Taiwan Ocean University 202 2, Peining Road, Keelung Keelung, Taiwan F0008@mail.ntou.edu.tw

Mr. Tzu-chiao Lu National Chung Cheng University/institute of Molecular Biology 621 Department of Life Science Institute of Molecular Biology 168, San-hsing, Min-hsiung 621 Chia-yi, Taiwan meshif@alumni.ccu.edu.tw Mrs. Wang-jing Liu Institute of Zoology National Taiwan University 106 No.1, Sec. 4, Roosevelt Road Taipei 106, Taiwan d92b41004@ntu.edu.tw

Ms. Chieh-yu Pan Pan Sinica 262 23-10,dah-uen Re., jiau Shi, i-lan 262 Taiwan I-lan, Taiwan panjade@gate.sinica.edu.tw

Dr. Shao-en Peng Department of Planning & Research/National Museum of Marine Biology & Aquarium 944 2 Houwan Road, Checheng, Pingtung, 944, Taiwan R.o.c. Pingtung, Taiwan pengse@nmmba.gov.tw

Ms. Chih-yun Shao Institute of Zoology 23454 10f, No. 195 Jhong-jheng Road, Yonghe City, Taipei County Yonghe, Taiwan tmyont@gmail.com

Ms. Pei-shiuan Shie Institute of Biotechnology, College of Bioscience And Biotechnology National Cheng Kung University Tainan, 701, Taiwan 701 University Road Tainan City 701, Taiwan L6694105@ccmail.ncku.edu.tw

Mr. Ching-hung Shih Institute of Biotechnology National Cheng Kung University 505 No.38, Lane 95, Haiyu Road, Lugang Town Changhua County 505, Taiwan Tainan, Taiwan gnuhkun@gmail.com Dr. Yoshiko Shimahara National Pingtung University of Science and Technology 912 1 Shuehfu Road, Neipu, Pingtung Pingtung, Taiwan yoshiko shimahara@yahoo.co.jp

Prof. Yen Ling Song Institute of Zoology National Taiwan University 106 1, Sec.4, Roosevelt Road. Taipei Taiwan song@ntu.edu.tw

Ms. Yu Chin Su Laboratory of Molecular Virology and Biotechnology Institute of Biotechnology National Cheng-kung University Tainan 701, Taiwan 702 No.1, University Road Tainan City 701, Taiwan 16894101@mail.ncku.edu.tw

Mr. Chia-hsian Sung Animal Health Inspection Division Bureau of Animal and Plant Health Inspection and Quarantine 3f, No. 51, Sec. 2, Chungching S. Road, Jungjeng Chiu Taipei, 10075, Taiwan xavisong@yahoo.com.tw

Dr. Watson H.t. Sung Bureau of Animal and Plant Health Inspection and Quarantine Taipei, Taiwan watson@mail.baphiq.gov.tw

Mr. Hsu Tai-ching Biomedical Science/ Chung Shan Medical University 402 Chung Shan Medical University No.110, sec.1, jianguo N. Road Taichung City 402, Taiwan iamgum@gmail.com

Mr. Tieh-jung Tsai Institute of Biotechnology 701 Nation Cheng Kung University Tainan, 701, Taiwan porkdan@yahoo.com.tw Dr. Jyh-ming Tsai Department Of Marine Biotechnology National Kaohsiung Marine University 811 No.142, Hai-chuan Road, Nan-tzu Dist. Kaohsiung, Taiwan jmtsai@mail.nkmu.edu.tw

Mr. Kun-chan Tsai Tsai Institute of Zoology,national Taiwan University Taipei, Taiwan B90608041@ntu.edu.tw

Mr. Ming-an Tsai Department of Veterinary Medicine National Pingtung University of Science and Technology 1, Hseuh Fu Road, Neipu Hsiang, Pingtung Taiwan, R.o.c Pingtung, 912, Taiwan p9416004@mail.npust.edu.tw

Ms. Chen Yi Tsao Institute of Zoology National Taiwan University 10617 No. 1, Sec. 4, Roosevelt Road Taipei, 10617 Taiwan d96b41006@ntu.edu.tw

Mr. Chien Tu Animal Health Reaserch Institute 251 376 Chung-cheng Road. Tansui Taipei Hsien Taiwan ctu@mail.nvri.gov.tw

Ms. Hang Wang Department Of Food Science National Taiwan Ocean University Keelung, Taiwan 110-043 No.2, Beining Road Keelung 202-24, Taiwan (r.o.c.) Keelung, Taiwan sandy72066@hotmail.com Mr. Hao-ching Wang Institute of Biochemical Sciences National Taiwan University 1, Section 4, Roosevelt Road Taipei 10617, Taiwan d92b46001@ntu.edu.tw

Mr. Ren Xiang Wang Wang Institution of Zoology Ntu 10617 No. 1, Sec. 4, Roosevelt Road Taipei, 10617 Taiwan b92b01053@ntu.edu.tw

Dr. Way Shyan Wang National Chung Hsing University Taiwan vmnchu@mail.nchu.edu.tw

Mr. Wei-lun Wang Institute of Fisheries Science National Taiwan University Institute of Cellular And Organismic Biology Taipei, 11529, Taiwan sak@gate.sinica.edu.tw

Dr. Yu-chi Wang Institute of Marine Biology National Sun Yat-sen University 811 No. 105, Hui-fong St. Nan-tzu Dist. Kaohsiung Kaohsiung, Taiwan amyycwang@gmail.com

Ms. Mi-chen Wu National Pingtung University of Science And Technology 912 No. 1, Shuehfu Road, Neipu, 91201 Pingtung, Taiwan M9636006@mail.npust.edu.tw

Mr. Ming Hsun Wu Uni-president Enter. Corp Taiwan mhwu@mail.oec.com.tw Mr. Sheng Wei Wu Uni-president Enter. Corp Taiwan mullet@mail.pec.com.tw

Mr. Yu-chi Wu Institue of Zoology, National Taiwan University 10617 No. 1, Sec. 4, Roosevelt Road Taipei, 10617, Taiwan b87205219@ntu.edu.tw

Prof. Huey-Lang Yang Taiwan / R.O.C. hlyang@mail.ncku.edu.tw

Mr. Yuan Zhi Yang Institute of Biotechnology, College of Bioscience and Biotechnology National Cheng Kung University 701 No.1 University Road, Tainan City 701 Tainan, Taiwan poitr.tw@yahoo.com.tw

Mr. En-min You Institute of Zoology, National Taiwan University 116 Institute of Zoology National Taiwan University Taipei, Taiwan nmy630713@gmail.com

Dr. Hon Tsen Yu National Taiwan University Taiwan ayu@ntu.edu.tw

THAILAND

Mr. Gun Anantasomboon Centex Shrimp, Faculty of Science Mahidol University 10900 Bangkok, Thailand ananta_rsu@yahoo.com Dr. Nontawith Areechon Department of Aquaculture, Faculty of Fisheries Kasetsart University 10900 50 Paholyothin Road Chatujakr Bangkok, Thailand ffisnwa@ku.ac.th

Ms. Sutheera Arjcharoen National Center For Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology (biotec) 12120 113 Thailand Science Park Paholyothin Road Klong 1, Klong Luang Pathumthani Thailand sutheera@nstda.or.th

Mr. Narong Arunrut Centex Shrimp 10400 Chalermprakiat Building Faculty of Science, Mahidol University 272 Rama Vi Road, phayathai Rajdhevee Bangkok, Thailand arunrut t@hotmail.com

Dr. Puttharat Baoprasertkul Inland Aquatic Animal Health Research Institute Department of Fisheries 10900 Kasetsart University Campus Jatujak Bangkok, Thailand puttharat@hotmail.com

Mrs. Praparsiri Barnette Department of Aquatic Science 20131 169 Long-hard Bangsaen Chonburi Thailand psrisop@yahoo.com

Dr. Pikul Jiravanichpaisal Biotec, Nstda 10400 73/1 Rama Vi Road, Rajdhevee Bangkok, Thailand pikulji@hotmail.com Mrs. Anutara Boonnat Pokphand Aquactech Co., Ltd. 20220 99 Moo 9 Banbueng-klaeng Road T. Nong I Roon A. Banbueng Chonburi Thailand gorncp@yahoo.com

Mr. Decha Buranajitpirom Mahidol University 10400 Centex Shrimp Rama VI Phayathai Bangkok, Thailand dechabu@gmail.com

Dr. Mingdang Chen Charoen Pokaphand Foods Public Company Limited 10500 22 Nd Floor Cp Tower, 313 Silom Road Bangkok, Thailand cpmdchen@yahoo.com

Dr. Supranee Chinabut supraneecb@yahoo.com

Ms. Kannika Durongkadage Shrimp Biotechnology Business Unit 12120 Klong-luang, Thailand kannika.dur@biotec.or.th

Mr. Warachin Gangnonngiw Mahidol University 10400 Centex Shrimp Rama Vi Phayathai Bangkok, Thailand warachin101@hotmail.com

Mr. Aungkul Intaraprasong Mahidol University 10400 Bangkok, Thailand nynepalm@hotmail.com

Mr. Wansadaj Jaroenram Centex Shrimp, Faculty of Science, Mahidol University 10400 272 Rama Vi Road, Phayathai, Rajdhevee Bangkok, Thailand kungbtram@gmail.com Mr. Natapong Jupatanakul Centex Shrimp 132/6-7 Phetkaseam Road, Watthapra Bangkok-yai 10600 Bangkok, Thailand natatui@gmail.com

Dr. Somkiat Kanchanakhan Inland Aquatic Animal Health Research Insitutte (AAHRI) 10900 Department of Fisherires Bangkok, Thailand kanchanakhan@yahoo.com

Mr. Krit Khemayan Center of Excellence For Shrimp Molecular Biology and Biotechnology 10400 Faculty of Science Mahidol University, Phayathai, Rama 6 Road Bangkok, Thailand khemayan krit@yahoo.com

Mrs. Wansika Kiatpathomchai Centex Shrimp 10400 Faculty of Science Mahidol University, Rama 6 Road Bangkok, Thailand wansika@biotec.or.th

Mrs. Thitiporn Laoprasert Aquatic Animal Health Research Institute 10900 Department of Fisheries Paholyothin Road Ladyao, Jatuchak Bangkok, Thailand tpetchinda@yahoo.com

Dr. Ongard Lawhavinit Kasetsart University 10900 Bangkok, Thailand fvetonl@ku.ac.th Dr. Theerawoot Lerssutthichawal Faculty of Agriculture Rajamangala University of Technology Srivijaya, Nakhonsithammarat Campus 80000 1316/1 Buranaram Road. Tawang Muang District Nakhonsithammarat, Thailand theerawootl@yahoo.com

Dr. Suppalak Lewis Aquatic Animal Health Research Institute 10900 Department of Fisheries Bangkok, Thailand suppalak68@yahoo.com

Mrs. Hathairat Maisak Faculty of Veterinary Science Chulalongkorn University 10310 Faculty of Veterinary Science Chulalongkorn University Bangkok, Thailand ying63@hotmail.com

Mr. Sudkhate Molthathong Centex Shrimp and Dept. Of Biotechnology, Fac. of Science Mahidol University 10400 Centex Shrimp Faculty of Science, Mahidol University Bangkok, Thailand m sudkhate@yahoo.com

Mr. Tongchai Nimitphak Mahidol University 10400 Centex Shrimp, Faculty of Science Mahidol University, Ramavi Road. Phayathai Bangkok, Thailand benzjee115@hotmail.com

Mr. Wattana Panphut Centex Shrimp, Mahidol University 10400 Bangkok, Thailand wattaxol@hotmail.com Dr. Panarat Phadee Faculty of Agricultural Technology Rajabhat Maha Sarakham University 44000 80 Nakornsawan Road Muang District Maha Sarakham Thailand panaratana@hotmail.com

Ms. Kornsunee Phiwsaiya Centex Shrimp 10400 272 Mahidol University, Phayathai Bangkok, Thailand Kornsunee@yahoo.com

Dr. Amornrat Phongdara Prince of Songkla University 90112 15 Kanchanawanish Road Faculty of Science Prince of Songkla University Hatyai, Thailand pamornra@yahoo.com

Ms. Jaree Polchana Inland Aquatic Animal Health Research Institute 10900 Department of Fisheries, Jatuchuk, Bangkok Bangkok, Thailand j polchana@yahoo.com

Dr. Pattira Pongtippatee Faculty of Technology and Management 84100 Prince of Songkla University Surat Thani Campus, Surat Thani 84100, Thailand Surat Thani, Thailand pattirataweepreda@yahoo.com

Mr. Tatchanon Ponpai Cpf Thailand 92110 Trang Thailand tatchanon_009@yahoo.com

Ms. Benjamart Pratoothai Mahidol University 10400 Centxt Shrimp, Faculty of Science Mahidol University Bangkok, Thailand maew_199@hotmail.com Ms. Teeranart Puthawibool Mahidol University 10400 Centex Shrimp Faculty of Science Mahidol University, Ramavi Road Phayathai Bangkok, Thailand nokky pp@hotmail.com

Dr. Suppalak Puttinaowarat suppalap@fisheries.go.th

Mr. Aekapan Ratchatasettakul Charoen Pokphand Foods Public Company Limited 76000 59/1 M.7 T.nongkhanan A. Muang Petchaburi, Thailand aekapan.r@cpf.co.th

Dr. Vichien Rimphanitchayakit Chulalongkorn University 10330 Phyathai Road Bangkok, Thailand kpvr2@yahoo.com

Ms. Manasawan Saengsakda Prince of Songkla University 90110 Center of Genomic and Bioinformatics Science and Technology Building. Faculty of Science. Hat-yai Songkla Thailand vioheart@hotmail.com

Ms. Waraporn Sakaew Mahidol University 10400 Centex Shrimp, Faculty of Science Mahidol University Bangkok, Thailand sakaew@gmail.com

Dr. Vanvimon Saksmerprome Centex Shrimp 10400 Centex Shrimp Mahidol University Rama 6 Road Bangkok, Thailand scvsm@mahidol.ac.th Ms. Pakkakul Sangsuriya Centex Shrimp and Department of Biotechnology 10400 Faculty of Science Mahidol University Bangkok 10400, Thailand. Bangkok, Thailand pksu285@yahoo.com

Mr. Wiwat Sang-oum School of Bioresources and Technology 10150 King Mongkut University of Technology Thonburi Bangkuntien, Bangkok, 10150, Thailand Bangkok, Thailand sangoum w@hotmail.com

Dr. Saengchan Senapin Centex Shrimp 10400 272 Faculty of Science Mahidol University Bangkok, Thailand saengchan@biotec.or.th

Dr. Temdoung Somsiri Inland Aquatic Animal Health Research Institute 10900 Bangkok Thailand tsi_f@yahoo.com

Mr. Chumporn Soowannayan University of Queensland And Centex Shrimp Mahidol University 10400 Centex Shrimp Fac. of Science, Mahidol University, Rama Vi Road Bangkok, Thailand chumporn@biotec.or.th

Ms. Jiraporn Srisala National Center For Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology (biotec) 12120 Thailand Science Park, Klong Luang, Patumthani Patumthani, Thailand jiraporn.sri@biotec.or.th
Ms. Kallaya Sritunyalucksana National Center For Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology 12120 Thailand Science Park, Klong Luang, Patumthani, 12120 Thailand kallaya@biotec.or.th

Ms. Rungkarn Suebsing Asian Institue of Technology/shrimp Biotechnology Business Unit 12120 Rungkarn.sue@biotec.or.th Klong-luang Thailand rungkarn.sue@biotec.or.th

Dr. Premruethai Supungul Biotec, Chulalongkorn University 10330 Phyathai Rod Bangkok, Thailand premruethai.sup@biotec.or.th

Ms. Amornrat Tangprasittipap Centex Shrimp 10400 Centex Shrimp, Faculty of Science Mahidol University, Rama Vi Road, Bangkok 10400 Bangkok, Thailand tamornrat@gmail.com

Mrs. Thanyakamol Tansakul Pokphand Aquatech Co.,ltd. 20220 99 Moo 9 Banbueng Chonburi, Thailand yuparet_t@yahoo.com

Ms. Nuchanart Tardmee Centex Shrimp 10400 Centex Shrimp, Faculty of Science Mahidol University, Ramavi Road Phayathai Bkk, Thailand runxrunxrun@hotmail.com

Prof. Anchalee Tassanakajon Anchalee.K@Chula.ac.th Mrs. Paveena Taveekijakarn King Mongkut's Institute of Technology Ladkrabang 10520 Faculty of Agricultural Technology, Kmitl Chalongkung Road Ladkrabang, Bangkok 10520 Bangkok, Thailand ktpravee@kmitl.ac.th

Ms. Sirinit Tharntada Shrimp Molecular Biology And Genomics Laboratory Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Science Chulalongkorn University, Bangkok, Thailand 10330 Bangkok, Thailand sirinit@hotmail.com

Mr. Sanya Thonggamgaew Charoenphokphand Food Public Company Limited 10900 86/20-22 Nc.apt. Jatujak Bangkok, Thailand drs4fish@yahoo.com

Mr. Udomnan Udom Cpf Thailand 76100 Trang Thailand udomnan_udom@yahoo.com

Mr. Attasit Udompetcharaporn Centex Shrimp 10400 Centex Shrimp K442 Chalermprakiet Building Faculty of Science, Mahidol University Bangkok, Thailand attasitu@hotmail.com

Ms. Kittima Vanichkul Kasetsart University 10210 15/51 Soi Chinket 1/33, Ngamwongwan Road, Laksi, Bangkok 066 Thailand i ampraew@hotmail.com

Ms. Thanitsara Wetchateng Centex Shrimp Faculty of Science Mahidol University, Bangkok 10400 Bangkok, Thailand wnitsara@yahoo.com Prof. Boonsirm Withyachumnarnkul Mahidol University 10400 Centex Shrimp Faculty of Science, Mahidol University Rama 6 Road, Bangkok 10400, Thailand Bangkok, Thailand boonsirm@yahoo.com

Dr. Janenuj Wongtavatchai Bureau of Animal and Plant Health Inspection and Quarantine 10330 Bangkok, Thailand janenuj.w@chula.ac.th

UNITED KINGDOM

Dr. Margaret Crumlish Institute of Aquaculture, Stirling University FK9 4LA Stirling, United Kingdom mc3@stir.ac.uk

Mrs. Mayra Grano-Maldonado Institute of Aquaculture University of Stirling FK9 4LA Stirling, United Kingdom mig2@stir.ac.uk

Dr. Barry Hill barry.hill@cefas.co.uk

Prof. Patrick Smith Intervet/Schering Plough Animal Health CB10 1EJ 24-26, Gold Street Saffron Walden, United Kingdom patrick.smith7@spcorp.com

Dr. Grant D. Stentiford Centre for Environment, Fisheries and Aquaculture Science (CEFAS) Weymouth Laboratory, Weymouth Dorset Dt4 8ub, Weymouth, United Kingdom grant.stentiford@cefas.co.uk Dr. Kim Thompson University of Stirling Aquatic Vaccine Unit, Institute of Aquaculture FK9 4LA Stirling, United Kingdom kdt1@stir.ac.uk

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

Dr. Arun Dhar Advanced Bionutrition Corporation 21046 7155 Columbia Gateway Drive, Suite H Columbia, United States of America adhar@abn-corp.com

Dr. Richard Ebersole Dupont 19714 Dupont, PO. Box 6101, Glasgow Site Wilmington, DC United States of America richard.c.ebersole@usa.dupont.com

Dr. Cheng-sheng Lee Oceanic Institute 9679541-202 Kalanianaole Hwy. Waimanalo, United States of America cslee@oceanicinstitute.org

Prof. Donald V. Lightner dvl@u.arizona.edu

VIET NAM

Mr. Binh Nguyen An Bayer Vietnam Ltd; 84 1/3 Do Xuan Hop, District 9 Ho Chi Minh City, Viet Nam nguyen-an.binh@bayerhealthcare.com

Mrs. Dieu Bui Biotechnology Institute Cantho University 8471 Can Tho Vietnam btmdieu@ctu.edu.vn Dr. Flavio Corsin flavio.corsin@gmail.com

Ms. Le Ngoc Dien Fisheries Agency of Can Tho Vietnam xxx 168 Hai Ba Trung, Dist Ninh Kieu, Can Tho, Vietnam dienthuysancantho@yahoo.com.vn

Dr. Nguyen Huu Dung hdnguyen.ntu@gmail.com

Mr. Van Gon Huynh Cargill Long An Ltd. + 840710 Cantho, Viet Nam thuc-doan_luong@cargill.com

Dr. Jan Koesling Bayer Vietnam 0000 1/3 Do Xuan Hop, Phuoc Long B, Distr. 9 Ho Chi Minh City, Viet Nam jan.koesling@bayerhealthcare.com

Mr. The Hoang Nguyen Dsm Nutritional Products Ho Chi Ming City, Viet Nam hoang-nt@vnn.vn

Mr. Dinh Tho Nguyen Cargill Long An Ltd. 840710 Cantho, Viet Nam tdnguyen1982@yahoo.com.vn

Mr. Quyen Lam Cargill Long An Ltd. 840710 Cantho, Viet Nam quyencargill@hotmail.com

Mr. Cong Oanh Phan Cargill Long An Ltd. 840710 Cantho, Viet Nam Oanh_Phan@cargill.com

Mr. Ekachai Tanapattananuphap peddy101@yahoo.com

Mr. Doan Nguyen Tan Viet Thang XX Lo 4-2 Khu C, Khu Cong Nghiep Sadec Thi Xa Sa Dec Dong Thap, Viet Nam kythuat@vietthangfeed.com.vn

Mr. Lanh Nguyen Tan Greenfeed Xa Nhut Chanh, Ben Luc Long An, Viet Nam lanh.nt@greenfeed.com.vn

Mrs. Hoa Tran College of Aquaculture And Fisheries Cantho University 71 3/2 Street, Campus 2 Ninh Kieu Ward Cantho City, Vietnam ttthoa@ctu.edu.vn

Mr. Dung Vo Research Institute For Aquaculture No. 3 84 33 Dang Tat Street Nha Trang, Viet Nam vothedung2000@yahoo.com

Mr. Thanh Tung Vo Bayervietnam Ltd 084 Hochi Minh City, Viet Nam vo-thanh.tung@bayerhealthcare.com

Appendix 4

DAA VII Group Photo

